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JOUENAL OE THE SENATE,

STATE OF ISTEW YOEK:
In Senate, i

Albany, Mm/ 14, 18Y2.
j

The Senate met pursuant to a proclamation of his excellency

the Governor, in the words following :

By John T. Hoffmajst, Governor.

Proclamiation.

Pursuant to authority vested in me by the Constitution, I do

hereby convene the Senate in extra session, at the Capitol, in the city

of Albany, immediately after the adjournment sine die of the pres-

ent session of the Legislature, for consideration of, and action upon,

charges of misconduct, presented, and to be presented, against cer-

tain judicial officers, and for the transaction of such other business

as I may find necessary to bring before it.

r 1 Done at the Capitol, at Albany this 14th day of May, in
'-^' ^'-^

the year 18T2.
JOHN T. HOFFMAlSr.

By the Governor.

Jno. D. Yan Buren, Private Secretary.

In the absence of the Lieutenant-Governor, Hon. "William B.

WooDiN, president, pro tern., of the Senate, took the chair at 6:05

o'clock.

The Clerk called the roll, and the following senators answered to

their names

:

Messrs. Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock, Dijkin-

son, Foster, Harrower, Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy,

Eobertson, Tiemann, "Wagner, "Weismann, "Winslow, D. P. "Wood,

J. "Wood, Woodin—22.

A message from the Governor was received and read as follows

:
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STATE OF NEW TOEK

:

ExECtlTIVE ChAMBBE,

Albany, May 14, 18Y2

To the Senate

:

The Assembly having sent to me the following resolution :

" Resolved, That the charges and testimony taken in connection

therewith, reported to this House by the judiciary committee, be

transmitted to his excellency the Governor, vrith the request on the

part of this House that it be recommended to the Senate to take

proceedings for the removal of said John H. McCunn from his ofBce

of justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York."

I respectfully transmit herewith printed copy of the charges and

specifications so referred to me, alleging official misconduct on the

part of the said John H. McCunn, and of the testimony taken by

the judiciary committee of the Assembly in the case.

I recommend that you inquire into the truth and sufficiency of

charges so made, and if the same shall be estabKshed, that the said

John H. McCunn be then removed from office.

JOHN T. HOFFMAN.

In Senate, May 14, 1872.

Resolved, That the foregoing message be referred to the committee

on judiciary.

Mr. J. Wood, from the committee on the judiciary, presented the

following report

:

The judiciary committee, to whom was referred the message of

his excellency the Governor, recommending the removal from

office of John H. McCunn, one of the judges of the Superior Court

of the city of New York, report that they recommend that the com-
mittee be empowered to cause to be served on the accused, person-

ally, a copy of the charges made against him, transmitted by the

Governor to the Senate, with a notification that the accused be
required to appear before the committee, on a day to be named in t^'^

notification, and then and there to settle and agree upon the issues

to be tried, and to receive and serve a written list of the witnesses

to be examined, and to determine the time and manner in which
the investigation shall proceed.

The committee, therefore, propose the following resolution :

Resolved, That the recommendations of the committee on the
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judiciary be adopted, and that tlie committee be instructed to proceed

accordingly.

JAMES WOOD,
Ohawmcm.

A copy notification served on Justice John H. McCunn, pursuant

to the recommendation of the judiciary committee :

T() John H. MoCunn, one of the Justices of the Superior Court of

the City of New Yorh.

Sib—You will take notice that herewith is handed you a copy of

the complaint and charges made against you, with the depositions

on which the same are founded, and which are transmitted by

his excellency, -the Governor of this State, to the Senate, with

the recommendation for your removal from the oflBce of justice of

the Superior Court of the city of New York, in the charges here

sustained by proof before the Senate.

You will further take notice that, in pursuance of authority con-

ferred by the Senate, you are required to appear before the judiciary

committee of the Senate, on Wednesday, the 22d day of May, inst., at

7 o'clock, p. M., then and there to determine the manner in which

the investigation of the charges made against you shall be prose-

cuted, and to settle and agree upon the issues to be tried, to secure

and summon another lot of witnesses, and to determine the time and

manner of which the investigation shall proceed.

JAMES WOOD,
Chairman Judiciary Committee of the Senate.

Senate Chambee, May 15, 1872.

Mr. MuEPHT moved that a committee of three be appointed to

prepare and report to the Senate rules for its guidance in the

pending proceedings.

The Pebsident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The Peesident appointed as such committee, Messrs. Murphy,

±>.P. Wood and Eobertson.

Mr. Benedict moved that when the Senate adjourn, it adjourn to

meet on Wednesday next at 4 o'clock, p. m.

Mr. MuEPHT moved to amend by substituting Wednesday next

immediately after the adjournment of the court of impeachment.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.
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The Peesident then put the question whether the Senate would

agree to said motion as amended, and it was determined in the

affirmative.

Albany, May 22, 1872.

The Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

On motion of Mr. Bowen, the Senate adjourned until to-morrow,

at 10 o'clock, A. M.^)

Albany, Thuesday, May 23, 1872.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Glebe; called the roll and the following members answered to

their names

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock,

Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lord,

Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Robertson,

Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. "Wood, J. Wood— 26.

Mr. MuEPHY, from committee on rules, reported the following

:

To the Senate

:

The committee on rules respectfully report the following for the

consideration of the Senate

:

Rules of the Senate, whii,e srrriNG as a Couet on the Trtat,

OF Judges eeoommended foe eemoval by the Goveenoe.

I. The Senate shall, unless otherwise ordered, meet in the Senate

chamber, daily, at 9 a. m., and continue in session until 2 p. m., at which
hour a recess shall be had until 4 o'clock, p. m., when it shall meet
again and continue in session until 7 o'clock, p. m., when it shall

adjourn. But this rule may be changed by the Senate, without pre-

vious notice, at any time, and the Senate may take a recess or

adjourn at a different hour.

II. At his first meeting, the charges against the accused and his

answer thereto, as agreed to before the judiciary committee, shall

be read by the Clerk. The accused shall be called, and if he ap-

pear, shall be assigned a place within the bar with such counsel as

he shall select to aid him in his defense. The counsel for the

prosecution shall also have a place assigned them within the bar.

III. The prosecution and the accused shall alike be entitled to

the process of the Senate to compel the attendance of witnesses

signed by the Clerk and sealed with the seal of the Senate and
tested in the name of the Lieutenant-Governor and the President

of the Senate, and may be in the form following:
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The People of the State of New York, ly the grace of Ood free
and independent:

To ,

Greeting:—You and each of you are hereby commanded and
required that, laying aside all other business, you be and appear in

your own proper persons, before our Senate, at the Senate chamber,
in the Capitol, in the city of Albany, on the— day of , A. D.
187— , at o'clock, -. m. of that day, to be examined as witnesses

and to testify the truth and give evidence in our behalf (or on be-

half of the defendant hereinafter named) concerning certain charges

then and there to be tried and determined before our Senate, of onr

said State, which have been made against
,
judge

, of county, and upon which our Governor of our

said State has recommended to our Senate aforesaid that the said

be removed from his said office of . And
hereof fail not at your peril.

Witness, Hon. , Lieutenant-Governor of the State

of New York, and the President of the Senate thereof, this

day of , A. D. 187—.

Attest :
,

Glerli of the Senate.

And such subpcsna may be served and returned in the manner
usual in courts of record of this State.

IV. All motions made by senators or by the counsel for the

prosecution, or for the accused, shall be addressed to the President

of the Senate, and if he shall require they shall be reduced to writ-

ing and read at the desk of the Clerk ; and the decision thereof and

of all points and objection raised by the counsel, shall be had after

a hearing of counsel, if they desire it, and by the vote of the Sen-

ate, which, when demanded by any senator, shall be taken by ayes

and nays ; and the motions, points or objections shall be entered

upon the records of the Senate, together with the decision thereon.

The decision thereof shall be had without debate, unless a senator

shall desire debate, when on motion to that end, if it shall be

adopted by the Senate, the chamber shall be cleared of all but

privileged persons, and discussion shall be had in private ; and the

decision arrived at shall be publicly announced by the President of

the Senate.

Y. Each witness shall be, as he is called, sworn or affirmed by

the Clerk, in substantially the following form :
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You do solemnly swear {or aff/nri) that the evidence which

you shall give upon this hearing upon certain charges preferred

against , and upon which his removal from that oiEce

has been recommended by the Governor, shall be the truth and

notliiiig but the truth, so help you God. {Or this you affirm.)

All the rules legal and usual in courts of record of this State, in

regard to the introduction of evidence and the examination and

cross-examination of witnesses, must be observed.

VI. If a member of the Senate shall be called as a witness, he

shall be sworn or affirmed and give his testimony standing in his

place.

VII. The final vote of the Senate upon the charges preferred

shall be taken by the President of the Senate, who, upon each one

of the charges as it shall be separately read by the Clerk, shall, with

its number, propose to each senator in the order in which his name
stands upon the division list, the question :

" Senator, how say you,

is the first {or seoond, or whatever) item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " Each senator, when so questioned,

shall rise in his place and answer " Proven," or " Not proven ; " and

when the division list of the Senate shall have been gone through

with upon each charge, the result upon each charge shall be

announced and shall be entered upon the records of the Senate.

If a majority shall agree on the finding " and proven " upon any

one or more of the items of said charges, the President shall, in

the same manner, put, and the senators shall, in the same manner,

answer the further question :
" Shall be removed

from his office of for the cause stated in the

item {or items) of the charges preferred against him which you
have found proven % " And the final judgment of the Senate

shall be certified to the Governor by the President and Clerk of the

Senate.

VIII. The stenographer of the Senate, with such assistants as he
shall deem necessary, shall take the oral testimony, and the Presi-

dent of the Senate shall procure the same to be printed for the use

of the Senate and counsel, at the opening of the Senate on the day
after any part of such printed report shall be brought in ; anv mem-
ber of the Senate or either of the counsel may move to amend the

same in any particular, to be then stated in writing. The stenog-

rapher and his assistants shall be first sworn faithfully to perforin

their duties as such.

IX. The Clerk shall keep a book of records of the proceedings
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orders and judgments of the Senate, and the ayes and nays upon
every question in that way decided.

X. The President of the Senate shall direct all necessary prep-

arations for the Senate chamber, and all forms of proceedings not

provided for in these rules and not otherwise ordered.

Mr. MuEPHT offered the following

:

Resolved^ That the following officers and employees of the Senate

be and are hereby designated to attend this extra session of the

Senate, viz. : The Clerk, assistant clerk and journal clerk, the ser-

geant-at-arms, the assistant sergeant-at-arms, the librarian, the

President's messenger, the door-keeper, the Clerk's bank messenger

and two pages, to be designated by the Clerk.

The Peesidbnt put the question whether the Senate would

agree to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the Senate take a recess until 4

o'clock, P.M.

Mr. WiNSLow moved to amend by striking out "4 o'clock"

and inserting " 3 o'clock."

The Pebsident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion to amend, and it was determined in the negative.

The Peesident then put the question whether the Senate would

agree to the original motion, and it was determined in the affir-

mative.

FouE o'clock, p. m.

Court again met.

Present— Hon. Allen C. Beach, President, and a quorum of

members, as follows :

Messrs. Allen, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Fos-

ter, Graham, Johnson, McGowan, Murphy, Eobertson, Wagner,

Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood— 16.

Mr. J. Wood presented the following :

To the Senate :

The judiciary committee, to whom was referred the message of

the Governor, recommending the removal from his office of John

H. McCunn, one of the justices of the Superior Court of the city

of ISTew York, do report that they have been attended by said

official in person and with his counsel ; that a copy of the charges

against the said official, transmitted by the Governor to the Senate,

have been served on him and he has served and filed his answer

thereto ; that the said charges, with the evidence which accompanied

2
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the same, are hereto attached ; that the said John H. McCunn elects

to be tried on the charges against him before the Senate rather than

before its committee, and tliat the taldng of the testimony and all

other proceedings be had before the Senate. Tour committee,

therefore, submits the following resolution :

Resolved, That the committee on the judiciary be discharged

from the further consideration of the matter, and that the same be

submitted to the Senate for its action.

JAMES WOOD,
Dated May 23, 1872. Chairman.

The Pbesjcdent put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said report, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Lewis moved that the Senate chamber be cleared, and the

Senate go into private session for consultation.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. J. Wood moved that when the Senate adjourn, it adjourn

until the 18th day of June next, at 4 o'clock, p. m.

Mr. Madden moved to amend by striking out " 18th day of

June," and inserting " 15th day of August."

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said amendment, and it was determined in the negative.

Mr. BowEN moved to amend by substituting " the 16th day of

September."

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said amendment, and it was determined in the negative.

The qaestion on the original motion was then determined in the

affirmative.

Mr. MuEPHY moved that the matter of Judge McCunn be taken

up at the session of the Senate to be held on the 18th day of June,

at 4 o'clock, p. M., and that Judge McCunn, the counsel, and
counsel for prosecution, be notified.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would ao-ree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The doors were then opened and the Senate adjourned until the

IStli day of June next, at 4 o'clock, p. m.

Albany, Tuesday, June 18, 1872.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following Senators were foiiiKJ

to be present

:
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Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Chatfleld, Cock, Dickin-

son, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lowery, Murphy,
Palmer, Perry, Eobertson, Tiemann, "Wagner, Weismann, Winslow,
D. P. Wood, J. Wood, Woodin— 24.

The Cleek announced the following appointment of pages for the

extra session of the Senate : James O'Neil, Joseph McMahon.
Mr. J. Wood moved to take from the table the report of the

committee on rules, as follows :

Rules of the Senate, while sitting as a Col'et on the Teial of

Judges recommended foe removal by the Goveenok.

I. The Senate shall, unless otherwise ordered, meet in the Senate

chamber daily at 9 a. m., and continue in session until 2 p. m., at

which hour a recess shall be had until 4 o'clock, p. m., when it shall

meet again and continue in session until 7 o'clock, p. m., when it

shall adjourn. But this rule may be changed by the Senate without

previous notice at any time, and the Senate may take a recess or

adjourn at a different hour.

II. At its first meeting, the charges against the accused and his

answer thereto, as agreed to before the judiciary committee, shall be

read by the Clerk. The accused shall be called, and if he appear,

shall be assigned a place within the bar with such counsel as he shall

select to aid him in his defense. The counsel for the prosecution

shall also have a place assigned them within the bar.

III. The prosecution and the accused shall alike be entitled to the

process of the Senate to compel the attendance of witnesses, signed

by the Clerk and sealed with the seal of the Senate and tested in the

name of the Lieutenant-Governor and the President of the Senate,

and may be in the form following

:

The People of the State of New York, hy the grace of God free

and independent

:

To r,

Greeting: —Tou and each of you are hereby commanded and

required that, laying aside all other business, you be and appear in

your own proper persons, before our Senate, at the Senate chamber,

in the Capitol, in the city of Albany, on the — day of

A. D. 187—, at o'clock -M. of that day, to be examined as

witnesses and testify to the truth and give evidence in our behalf

(or on behalf of the defendant hereinafter named) concerning cer-

tain charges then and there to be tried and determined before our

Senate of our said State, which have been made against
,

judge of county, and upon which our Governor of
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our said State has recommended to our Senate aforesaid that the

said be removed from his said oiEce of . And
hereof fail not at your peril.

Witness, Hon. , Lieutenant-Governor of the State

of ISTew York, and the President of the Senate thereof, this

day of , A. D. 187—.

Attest:
,

Glerh of the Senate.

And such subpoena may be served and returned in the manner

usual in courts of record of this State.

lY. All motions made by senators or by the counsel for the pros-

ecution, or for the accused, shall be addressed to the President of

the Senate, and, if he shall require, they shall be reduced to writing

and read at the desk of the Clerk ; and the decision thereof and of

all points and objection raised by the counsel shall be had after a

hearing of counsel, if they desire it, and by the vote of the Senate,

which, when demanded by any senator, shall be taken by ayes and

nays ; and the motions, points or objections shall be entered upon

the records of the Senate, together with the decision thereon. The
decision thereof shall be had without debate, unless a senator shall

desire debate, when, on motion to that end, if it shall be adopted

by the Senate, the chamber shall be cleared of all but privileged

persons, and discussion shall be had in private ; and the decision

arrived at shall be publicly announced by the President of the

Senate.

Y. Each witness shall be, as he is called, sworn or affirmed by
the Clerk, in substantially the following form :

" You do solemnly swear {or affirm) that the evidence which you
shall give upon this hearing upon certain charges preferred against

—, and upon which his removal from that office has

been recommended by the Governor, shall be the truth and nothing
but the truth, so help you God. {Or this you qfflrm.y

All the rules legal and usual in courts of record of this State, in

regard to the introduction of evidence and the examination and
cross-examination of witnesses, must be observed.

YI. If a member of the Senate shall be called as a witness he
shall be sworn or affirmed and give his testimony standing in his

place.

YII. The final vote of the Senate upon the charges preferred

shall be taken by the President of the Senate, who, upon each one
of the charges as it shall be separately read by the Clerk, shall, with



JOURNAL, TUESDAY, JUNE 18. 13

its number, propose to each senator in the order in which his name
stands upon the division list, the question :

" Senator, how say you,
is the first {or second, or whatever) item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " Each senator, when so questioned,

shall rise in his place and answer " Proven," or " Not Proven ;

"

and when the division list of the Senate shall have been gone
through with upon each charge, the result upon each charge shall

be announced and shall be entered upon the records of the Senate.

If a majority shall agree upon the finding " and proven " upon any
one or more of the items of said charges, the President shall, in the

same manner, put, and the senators shall, in the same manner,
answer the further question :

" Shall be

removed from his office of for the cause stated in the

item {or items) of the charges preferred against him which you
have found proven ? " And the final judgment of the Senate

shall be certified to the Governor, by the President and Clerk of

the Senate.

VIII. The stenographer of the Senate, with such assistants as

he shall deem necessary, shall take the oral testimony, and the

President of the Senate shall procure the same to be printed for the

use of the Senate and counsel, at the opening of the Senate on the

day after any part of such printed report shall be brought in ; any

member of the Senate or either of the counsel may move to amend
the same in any particular, to be then stated in writing. The sten-

ographer and his assistants shall be first sworn faithfully to perform

their duties as such.

IX. The Clerk shall keep a book .of records of the proceedings,

orders and judgments of the Senate, and the ayes and nays upon

every question in that way decided.

X. The President of the Senate shall direct all necessary prepar-

ations for the Senate chamber, and all forms of proceedings not

provided for in these rules and not otherwise ordered.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Adams moved to amend the same by striking out all after

the words " Kules of the Senate," and insert the words " for the

consideration of, and action upon, charges of misconduct presented

and to be presented against certain judicial officers."

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Benedict moved to amend by striking out the word
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"accused" wherever it occurs in Rule second, and insert in lieu

thereof the word "ofScer."

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would

agree to said motion, and it was determined in the negative.

Mr. Palmee called for a division of the question, and moved

that each rule be taken up and considered separately.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

upon the adoption of Eules 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, and it was deter-

mined in the affirmative.

The Peesident stated the question to be upon the adoption of

Pule 7, when
Mr. Benedict moved that the word "judgment" in the first line

of Pule 7 be stricken out, and the word " vote " be inserted in lieu

thereof.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The Peesident then put the question whether the Senate would

agree to said motion, as amended, and it was determined in the

affirmative.

The Peesident then put the question whether the Senate would

agree upon the adoption of Knles 7, 8, 9 and 10, and it was deter-

mined in the affirmative.

Mr. J. Wood moved that the Senate now proceed to the consider-

ation of the case of John H. McCunn.
The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

By direction of the President, the Cleek proceeded to read the

charges against the said accused, as follows :

Chaege Fiest.

That said John H. McOunn, at divers times between the 17th day
of jSTovember, 1869, and the 1st day of July, 1870, then being a jus-

tice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guiltv of

mal and corrupt conduct in his office as a justice of said court, in an

action then pending in said court, wherein Abraham B. Clai-k was
plaintiif, and Abraham Binninger was defendant, in this : That said

John H. McCunn continually, while said action was pending in said

court of which he was a justice, acted as counsel of the plaintiff in

said action, and in sundry actions growing out of it, wherein the
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said plaintiff was plainti£E, and in relation to the matters therein

involved, not being himself a party to the actions or to either of

them. That he so acted as counsel in and about sundry and various

motions then pending, or, with his advice, about to be brought before

him as such justice aforesaid. That said John H. McCunn conspired

with Daniel H. Hanrahan, James F. Morgan, and other persons

unknown, to pervert and obstruct justice, and the due administration

of the laws in regard to said action ; and falsely to maintain said

actions before mentioned, and thereby to deprive the parties thereto

of their property without due process of law. That, in order to

effect the object of said conspiracy, the said John H. McOunn, at

his own private residence, a few minutes after midnight on the 18th

and on the 19th day of November, 1869, illegally granted an ex

parte order, in said action, whereby he summarily' appointed said

Hanrahan receiver of, and ordered him to sell the partnership prop-

erty (amounting to many thousands of dollars in value) of said

plaintiff and defendant, without requiring any security in any due or

legal form, or in any sufficient amount from said Hanrahan, though

well knowing him to be a man without pecuniary responsibility, of

bad habits, and utterly unfit for such a trust. That said John H.

McOunn thereafter gave written and verbal directions to certain

deputy sheriffs of the city and county of New York, that they should

take possession of said partnership property ; and conspired with,

instigated and procured them to do so, without any process or

authority known to the laws of the State of New York, but falsely

representing themselves to be acting therein as deputy sheriffs, under

directions of the sheriff, and with process from said Superior Court.

That said John H. McCunn, as said justice, thereafter, in said action,

made an order allowing to the sheriff of the city and county of New
York fees to a large amount, exceeding four thousand dollars, which

said justices ordered should be paid to said sheriff by the receiver out

of the said partnership property, no process ever having been issued

to said sheriff in the action, and no legal or lawful services having

ever been performed by him therein. That said John H. McCunn,

in a proceeding in said action brought before himself, by his own
advice and direction, wrongfully and illegally caused one John S.

Beecher to be arrested and brought before him, said justice, and de-

prived of his liberty without any process whatever, and without any

charge against said Beecher which would warrant said arrest. That

said John H. McCunn, as said justice, in said action, when an order

had been regularly, for good cause, and duly, made therein on the
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30th March, 1870, by Hon. Samuel Jones, justice of said court

(who was then holding the special term of said court, when an ap-

plication for such an order should, according to the rules and prac-

tice of said court, be made), staying and enjoining the sale of said

partnership property, illegally and corruptly granted an order, pur-

porting to modify said order of Hon. Samuel Jones, justice, but

really annulling and vacating it, and thereby directed said sale to

proceed in disobedience of said order of injunction. That said

John H. McCunn granted said last-mentioned order without notice

to any of the parties to said action, without just cause, upon no

other papers than those on which the order it vacated had been

granted, and contrary to law. That, by another order granted in

said action, said John H. McGunn enjoined and prevented John S.

Beecher and Paul J. Armour, assignees in bankruptcy of said Clark

and Binninger, duly appointed by the United States District Court

for the southern district of !New York, from performing their

duties as such assignees, never having been served with summons or

process in said action.

That all acts, orders and proceedings, and others in said action,

were done, made and had by said John H. McCunn, as justice afore-

said, with the intent and effect to accomplish the objects of said con-

spiracy. And, in consequence thereof, said plaintifi and defendant

and their just creditors suffered damage, and were wrongfully and

illegally deprived of their property, to an amount exceeding

$2o"o,000.

Charge Second.

The said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 17th day
oi" January, 1870, and the 1st day of January, 1872, then being a

justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty

of raal and corrupt conduct in his ofiBce as such justice, in this

:

That in an action pending in said court, wherein one Albert B.

Corey was plaintiff, and Walter B. Long was defendant, the said

John H. McCunn illegally, corruptly, and with the intent and effect

of thereby enabling one James M. Cano, who was a brother-in-law

of said justice, to make to himself large gains and profits, did, on
the 18th day of January, 1870, conspire with said Gano and other

persons unknown, to injure and defraud the defendant and others

of their property and just rights by making and entering an ex

parte summary order, falsely purporting to be an order <}f said

Superior Court, appointing said James M. Gano receiver of all the
partnership property (of many thousands of dollars in value) of
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said Corey and Long, though no appointment of a receiver by said

justice had been applied for, and though the only application in the

action theretofore made to said justice was for a mere judge's order,

returnable before the court, to show cause why a receiver should

not, on the return day of the order, be appointed by the court after

hearing the parties. That said justice so appointed said Gano such

receiver without requiring any security to be given by him, though

said justice well knew said Gano to be a man without pecuniary

responsibility and unfit for such trust, and dependent upon said jus-

tice for support for himself and family. That the only bond even pur-

porting to be given by said Gano, as such receiver, for the faithful

performance of his duties, was executed by the obligors, and was

approved by said justice before the said receiver was appointed,

to wit, on the 17th day of January, 1870. That said John H.

McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, illegally, and without jurisdic-

tion, granted orders for the payment of a fee to the counsel for the

plaintiff in said action, and of other fees to persons unknown by

said receiver, out of the fund in his custody, and such fees were

thereupon so paid by such receiver to persons unknown. That all

said acts of said justice were wrongful, illegal and corrupt, and were

done with the intent and effect thereby to deprive the plaintiff and

defendant in said action, and their creditors, of their property, with-

out due process of law, contrary to the laws of the State of New
York.

Chaege Thied.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 10th day

of December, 1869, and the 1st day of January, 1871, then being a

justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty of

mal and corrupt conduct in his office as justice aforesaid, in this :

That, in an action pending in said court, wherein Anna M. Elliott

was plaintiff, and Mary P. Butler was defendant, the said plaintiff,

being then a tenant of said John H. McCunn, hiring from him

the premises No. 54 "West Twenty-fourth street, in the city of

New York, sought to recover, by proceedings before said justice, the

rent alleged to be due for said premises from the defendant Butler,

as sub-tenant to the plaintiff Elliott. That, in and by the complaint

in said action, it appeared that the said plaintiff was dependent on

the rents to be received from the said defendant for said premises to

make the payment of the rents due from the said plaintiff to said

John H. McCunn, her superior landlord. That said John H.

McCunn, being a justice as aforesaid, and being so interested in the

3
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result of said action, well knowing all the facts of the case, made

and entered, on the 10th day of December, 1869, an ex 'parte order,

falsely purporting to be an order of the court, whereby he sum-

marily appointed James M. Gano, who was a brother-in-law of

said John H. McCunn, and the agent of said John H. McCunn,

for the collection of the rents of said premises, receiver, to collect,

receive and hold all money due or to become due from the boarders

of said defendant, on said premises ISTo. 64 West Twenty-fourth

street. That said order was made and entered by said justice ille-

gally, without jurisdiction, and with the corrupt intent, and with the

effect thereby to enable said Gano to receive the moneys due to said

defendant, and deprive said defendant of the same without due pro-

cess of law, and to thereby secure the said moneys to the said John

H. McCunn himself, through his said agent, and in pursuance of a

conspiracy made and entered into by said John H. McCunn, said

Gano and other persons unknown, to deprive said defendant of her

property and illegally obtain possession of the same ; in all of which

said John H. McCunn thereby succeeded to his own personal profit

and gain, and to the great injury of both the plaintiff and defendant.

Chaege Fotjeth.

That the said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 20th

day of February, 1870, and the 25th day of March, 1870, then being

a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty

of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as justice as aforesaid, in an

action then pending in said court, wherein Edward "W". Brandon was
plaintiff, and Jerome Buck and William Butler Duncan and other

members of the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and others,

were defendants, in this : That the said John H. McCunn, as a justice

as aforesaid, in said action did, on or about the 21st day of February,

1870, make and enter an order falsely purporting to be an order of

the court, summarily appointing Daniel H. Hanrahan receiver

of a fund of $12,000, more or less, then in the hands of said

Duncan, Sherman & Company, as bankers, on deposit. That by
the papers on which said order was granted, it clearly appeared that

there was no fund or property in the hands of said Duncan, Sherman
& Company in which the plaintifiE had any interest, legal or equita-

ble. That said order was so made and entered gratuitously, not
upon motion of the plaintiffs or of any of the defendants in said

action, in opposition to the wishes of them all, and without notice
to any of them. That, though the said justice then well knew said
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Hanrahan to be a man without pecuniary responsibility and unfit

for sucb trust, no legal or sufficient security was exacted from him
for the faithful performance of his duties as such receiver. That
said action was immediately and on or about the 23d day of Feb-

ruary, 1870, discontinued, without costs, by an order of the court,

duly entered, upon the consent of all the parties, and the said order

appointing said receiver was thereupon vacated, and set aside by
an order of the court, upon such consent. That, thereafter, on

the 21st day of March, 1870, said John H. McCunn, as a justice

as aforesaid, gratuitously and without notice to any of the parties

in interest, and well knowing the premises, nevertheless made
and entered a further order, falsely purporting to be an order of

the court, summarily appointing one Joseph Meeks receiver in the

same action, of the same money, and directing said firm of Duncan,

Sherman & Company to pay said money to said receiver. That

said orders were granted by said John H. McCunn corruptly, and

without any jurisdiction or authority to grant them, and with the

corrupt intent and with the effect thereby to wrongfully oppress and

harass the members of said firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company
and other defendants, and to put them to great and unnecessary

expense, and to deprive them of their property without due process

of law, contrary to the laws of the State of ISTew York, and with the

intent thereby to enable said receivers and their respective counsel

to secure large gains and profits to themselves, illegally.

Chaege Fifth.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 20th day

of June, 1869, and tho 1st day of January, 1872, then being a justice

of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty of mal

and corrupt conduct in his said office, in an action pending in said

Superior Court, wherein John O'Mahony was plaintiff and August

Belmont and others were defendants, and in certain other actions

connected therewith, in this: That said John H. McCunn, as a

justice as aforesaid, wrongfully and illegally made and entered an

order in said action, on the 16th day of July, 1869, whereby he

appointed Thomas J. Barr receiver of certain moneys, amounting

to $16,000, more or less, in gold coin of the United States, and

ordered, directed and required the defendants, August Belmont

and Ernst Lucke, to pay over to said receiver an amount, in cur-

rent moneys, equivalent to said sum in gold. That it clearly

appeared to said justice, by the papers then before him, that there
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was no fund whatever in the hands of the defendants, or of either

of them, to which the plaintiff had any claim. That said John

H. McCunn, as said justice, on or about the 18th day of July,

1869, illegally ordered and compelled one of said defendants, said

Ernst Lucke, to pay said sum of money to said receiver. That he

so compelled said payment by threats of illegal imprisonment.

That said justice so compelled such payment, well knowing that he

had no power to issue any warrant or other process for the imprison-

ment of said Lucke in the premises. That said justice granted said

order, appointing said receiver, of his own motion, and not on the

motion of any party to the action, and against the wishes and

express stipulations, in writing, of the respective counsel for both

the plaintiff and tlie defendants, and with the corrupt intent and

with the effect thereby to enable said Earr to make for himself large

gains and profits thereby, and with the corrupt intent and with the

effect to thereby deprive the said defendants of their property

without due process of law. That the said John H. McCunn, as a

justice as aforesaid, thereafter, with the corrupt intent and with the

effect aforesaid, made and entered divers illegal orders in the prem-

ises, well knowing that they were illegal. That all such orders were

so had and made in collusion and conspiracy with said receiver and

other persons unknown, with the intent and effect to thereby

wrongfully oppress and harass said defendants, Belmont and Lucke,

and to put them to unnecessary expense, and to make illegal gains

to said receiver and other persons, who had no claim whatever to

the moneys to which said actions related.

Chaege Sixth.

That said Jolin H. McCunn, in the months of July and August,

1869, then being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, was guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his oflBce of a jus-

tice of said court in an action then pending in said court, wherein

Norbury Hicks was plaintiff and P. "W. Bishop was defendant, in

this : That he, the said John H. McCunn, on or about the 30th of

July, 1869, did, in said action, grant an order directing and compel-

ling the sheriff of the city and county of New York to aiTest said

defendant Hicks, and hold him to bail in the sura of $40,000.

That it clearly appeared by the papers then before said jus-

tice, and on which said order of arrest was granted, that the

plaintiff had no cause of action against the defendant. That there-

after a motion was made and heard before said John H. McCimn,
as such justice, to vacate the said order of arrest, or reduce the
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amount of said bail, upon affidavits and papers that showed con-

clusively that the court had no discretion to refuse the application

on the merits. That said motion was denied by said justice, never-

theless. That said John H. McOunn granted said order of arrest, and

denied said motion to vacate the same, corruptly, and with the

intent and effect thereby illegally and wrongfully to deprive the said

defendant of his liberty ; and fixed the amount of his bail to an

excessive and exorbitant amount, with the wrongful and corrupt

intent, and with the effect aforesaid, contrary to the Constitution

and laws of the State of New York, and in pursuance of a conspiracy

in the premises by said justice, entered into and carried out with

said plaintiff and other persons unknown.

Charge Seventh.

That said John H. McCunn, on the 9th day of July, 1869, then

being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was

guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as a justice as afore-

said, in this : That, in an action then pending in said court, wherein

Edward Yan Ness was plaintiff" and Henry Leeds and others were

defendants, an order had been made and entered by said court,

upon consent of all the parties, referring the issues therein to

Thomas H. Edsall, Esq., as sole referee to hear and determine, and

the hearings before said referee had proceeded, all the parties had

appeared before the referee, the plaintiff had rested his case and

large expenses had been incurred therein. That, on a motion there-

after brought on before said justice by one of the defendants, for

an order vacating and setting aside the said order of reference, and

restoring the cause to the calendar, to be tried at a regular term of

the court in due course, upon the grounds and allegations that the

consent to the reference of said moving defendant was insufficient,

and that the action was not, under the statute, referable without

consent of all the parties, an order was made and entered by said

justice, granting the motion on said grounds made, but arbitrarily

and illegally referring the issues to William M. Tweed, Jr., as sole

referee to hear and determine, and summarily appointing one

Thomas J. Barr receiver of the fund and property concerning

which the litigation had arisen. The said order, so made and

entered by said justice, was not drawn or submitted by or for

either of the parties to the action, or the attorney or counsel

of either of them. That no reference to said Tweed, or to

any person other than said Edsall, as referee, had ever been
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applied for by either of the parties. That neither of the

parties had applied for the appointment of a receiver of

the fund and property in question, which were then in the

hands of the firm of " Leeds & Miner," where all the parties

desired, and had so expressed themselves, that it should remain,

pending judgment in the action, and with regard to which firm it

was not alleged or pretended that the fund and property were in

any danger of injury, waste or loss while in their custody. That

said order was so made and entered by said justice illegally, without

jurisdiction, and with the corrupt intent, and with the effect, thereby

to enable said Barr to receive and take possession of said fund and

property to his own use, and to wrongfully oppress and harass the

members of said firm of " Leeds & Miner," and said other parties

to the action, put them to great and unnecessary expense, and deprive

them of their property without due process of law, contrary to the

laws of the State of New York, pursuant to a conspiracy between

said justice and said Barr, Tweed, and others unknown, and with the

intent and effect thereby to enable said Barr, receiver, and said

Tweed, referee, and their respective counsel, to secure large gains

and profits to themselves illegally, to the personal advantage of said

justice.

Chaege Eighth.

That the said John H. McOunn, a justice as aforesaid, by his said

and manifold other wrongful and illegal and corrupt acts, has repeat-

edly oppressed and harassed citizens of the State of New York, and

deprived them of their liberty and property without any or due pro-

cess of law, but to his own personal gain and advantage, pecuniary

and other, and has thereby brought the administration of justice into

contempt, and caused deep-seated and general distrust and fear in

regard to proceedings in the courts of this State.

The respondent, by his counsel, submitted the following as his

answer thereto

:

To the Honorable the Senats of the State of New York

:

The respondent, John H. McCunn, for answer to the proceedings

taken and charges made against him as a justice of the Superior

Court of the city of New York, now pending before your honorable

body, not waiving any right to him pertaining to object, by motion
or otherwise, as he may be advised by counsel, or any or all of the

proceedings upon which said charges are based, or to the regularity
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of any or all proceedings in reference thereto had previous to the

service of the same on him, or to the said charges, or either of them,
as to their manner, form or sufficiency in law, says

:

First. That he is one of the justices of the said Superior Court
of the city of New York, and was duly elected to the said office at

a general election held in and for the city and county of New York,
in the month of November, 1869, for the term of six years, to com-
mence on the 1st day of January, 1870 ; that on or about the 1st

day of January, he duly took and filed the oath of office provided

by law as such justice of said court ; and that, on the said 1st day of

January, 1870, he entered upon the duties of his said office as such

justice, and has from thence hitherto continued to hold and occupy

the said office and to perform the duties thereof.

Second. And the said respondent, further answering, claims and
insists that this honorable body has no jurisdiction to hear, act upon
or determine the charges, or any or either of them, preferred against

him, or to remove the said John H. McCunn, or to advise his removal,

from said office, for the reason that the Governor of the State of New
Y^ork has not recommended his removal by the Senate, and no
investigation whatever has been had by the Governor into the said

charges preferred against this respondent, and no judicial deter-

mination has been arrived at by the Governor whereon he could

base a recommendation that said respondent be removed.

Third. And the said respondent, in further answer to the said

charges and each and every of them, while he does not admit any
or either of the allegations therein contained, or waive, or intend

to waive, his right to deny the same and each and every of them,

says, that he insists that any, each, and all of the acts and matters

in the said charges, and each of them alleged, if they shall be by
proper and competent proof, in the judgment of your honorable

body, shown to have occurred, or to have been committed by him,

will be shown to have occurred before his election to the said office

for the term for which he now holds the same, and before he took

the oath of office as aforesaid, as such justice, and entered upon the

performance of the duties of said office, for the said term, and he

avers and insists that for the reasons aforesaid, your honorable body

has no jurisdiction to try him upon the said charges or either of

them, or to remove him or advise his removal from the said office,

for, or on account of, or by reason of any, either or all of the acts

and matters alleged and complained of in the said several charges,

or any or either of them, and especially as to any and all acts and
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diarges alleged to have taken place prior to the said 1st day of

January, 1870.

Fourth. And for a further and separate answer to the said charges,

and eacli and every of them, the said respondent insists and avers

that the said several matters therein alleged do not, nor does any or

either of them, constitute an oifense or cause for which this respond-

ent is liable to removal, or for which your honorable body, under

the Constitution of the State of New York, are empowered to remove

him from the said office, or to advise his removal therefrom.

Fifth. And for a further and separate answer to the said charges,

and each of them, this respondent says he denies each and every of

the said charges, and each and every allegation in the said several

charges contained.

JOHN H. McCUNN
H. E. SELDEN,
A. C. DAVIS,
N. C. MOAK,
JOHN E. DEYLIN,
DANIEL K. LYDDY,

Of Counsel.

The Peesihent directed the Clerk to call the name of the respond-

ent, John H. MeCunn, who appeared in person and by his counsel,

A. C. Davis, N. C. Moak, Daniel E. Lyddy, W. S. Hevenor and

James F. Morgan, Esquires.

The following counsel appeared on behalf of the prosecution

:

Messrs. Joshua M. Yan Cott, John E. Parsons, Albert Stickneyand

Burton N. Harrison.

Mr. Davis, of counsel for the respondent, asked that time be

granted the respondent to ])repare for the hearing of the case, on

account of the absence of Hon. H. E. Selden and John E. Devlin,

of counsel for respondent.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the request be not granted, and that

the trial of Judge McCuun be proceeded with to-morrow morning
at 10 o'clock.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

On motion of Mr. D. P. Wood, the Senate adjourned until to-

morrow morning at 10 o'clock.

Albany, Wednesday, June 19, 1872.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following senators were found
to be present

:
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Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Chatfield, Cock, Dickin-

son, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lord, Lowery,

McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Robertson, "Wagner,

"Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood, Woodin— 26.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the Senate do now proceed to the

trial of the case of John H. McCunn.
Mr. MuEPHT moved to amend as follows : That the further con-

sideration of the preliminary questions of jurisdiction in the case of

Judge McCunn be deferred until next Tuesday, June 25.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said amendment of Mr. Murphy, and it was determined in the

negative.

Affirmative— Messrs. Dickinson, Johnson, Lewis, Lord, Murphy,
J. Wood— 6.

Negative— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Chatfield,

Cock, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Lowery, McGowan, Madden,
Palmer, Perry, Kobertson, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P.
Wood, Woodin— 20.

The President then put the question whether the Senate would

agree to said motion of Mr. D. P. Wood, and it was determined in

the affirmative.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the stenographer in attendance be

sworn.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. J. Wood moved that Eule 8 be amended by striking out the

words " any such printed report shall be brought in " and inserting

the words " on the day after such testimony and proceeding shall

have been had."

The President put the question -whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The counsel for the respondent, John H. McCunn, then objected

to any further proceedings by the Senate, and moved to dismiss the

proceedings herein on the ground that no recomraendatiou, by the

Governor, for the removal of the respondent has been made, nor has

the Governor acted upon or considered the question whether or not

sufficient cause for the removal of the respondent existed. And the

respondent, protesting that there is no truth in the alleged charges,

respectfully objects to any further proceedings herein by the Senate.

Mr. MoAK was heard in support of, and Mr. Yan Cott in opposition

to the motion.

4
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The hour of 2 o'clock having arrived, the Senate took a recess

until 4 o'clock p. m.

FouE o'clock, p. m.

The Senate again met.

Messrs. Davis and Peckham continued the argument in support

of the motion of counsel for respondent.

The arguments having been concluded,

Mr. Madden moved that the chamber be cleared, for consultation.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. WooDiN offered the following

:

Hesohied, That the motion made by the counsel for the respondent

be and the same is hereby denied.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Affirmative— Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Chatfield, Cock,
Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Lowery, McGowan, Madden,
Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Kobertson, Weismann, "Winslow, D. P.
Wood, J. Wood, Woodin— 22.

Negative— Messrs. Johnson, Lewis— 2.

Mr. Lewis moved that the following, as an additional rule of the

Senate in the present proceedings, be adopted

:

Rule 11. In the discussion of interlocutory motions and objec-

tions before the Senate, the party having the affirmative may be
heard in person or by counsel, and the opposite party may then be
heard either in person or by counsel, and then the' party having the

affirmative may, in like manner, be heard in reply ; no other dis-

cussion shall be had, and not exceeding thirty minutes shall be
occupied in any one address.

Mr. J. Wood moved to refer said motion to the committee on
rules.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree
to said motion of Mr. J. Wood, and it was determined in the affir-

mative.

Mr. Johnson offered the following

:

Resolved, That a committee of three be appointed to take the
testimony in the case of charges against John H. McCunn.
On motion of Mr. Palmer, said resolution was laid upon the

table.

The doors having been opened, the President announced that
the motion of the counsel for the respondent was denied.
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Mr. Johnson offered tlie following

:

Resolued, That a committee of five be appointed to take the testi-

mony in the case of charges against John H. McCimn, a judge of

the Superior Court of the city and county of New York.
Resolwed, That a copy of the testimony so taken be furnished

each senator, so soon as the testimony is taken complete and
printed.

Resolved, That the Senate meet at the Capitol to hear the argu-

ment of counsel, and determine and decide upon the charges so pre-

ferred, at such time as shall be determined by the Senate.

Mx. Benedict moved that the resolutions be laid upon the table.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion to lay on the table, and it was determined in the

affirmative.

On motion of Mr. J. "Wood, the Senate adjourned until to-mor-

row morning at 10 o'clock.

Albany, Thuksdat, June 20, 1872.

The Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following senators were found

to be present.

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Chatfield, Cock, Dickin-

son, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lord, Lowery,

McGrowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Robertson, Tiemann,

Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. "Wood, J. "Wood, Woodin—27.

Mr. Mtjbpht, from the committee on rules, reported the following

additional rule:

Mule 11. In the discussion of interlocutory motions and objec-

tions before the Senate, the party having the affirmative may be

heard by one counsel ; the opposite party may then be heard by
one counsel, and the party having the affirmative may in like man-

ner be heard in reply, and not exceeding twenty minutes shall be

occupied by each, unless by permission of the Senate.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said rule, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The counsel for the prosecution moved that Mr. Justice McCunn
be now heard in his defense upon the recommendation of the Gov-

ernor, and upon the charges and testimony by the Governor trans-

mitted to the Senate with said recommendation.

Mr. John E. Paesons, of counsel for prosecution, was heard
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in support of the motion, and Mr. Moak, of counsel for the respond-

ent, in opposition.

.
Mr. Eknedict moYed that the chamber be cleared for private con-

sultation.

The Peesedent put the question whether the Senate would agree

to'said motion, and it was determined in the negative.

Mr. Peeet renewed the motion to clear the chamber for consul-

tation.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate woxdd agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the alErmative.

Mr. D. P. Wood offered the following

:

"Whereas, The Senate holding that it has the right and power to

accept the evidence transmitted by the Governor, accompanying the

charges in this case, as evidence before the Senate, and to act on the

same subject to the right secured by the Constitution to the accused

to be heard by counsel or by explanatory, rebutting or contradictory

evidence to the fullest extent necessary to possess the Senate with

all the information requisite and proper to secure a correct determi-

nation of the charges of it, to the end that nothing shall be done in

the case that might in any way unnecessarily embarrass the accused

in prosecuting his defense ; therefore be it

Hesol/ved, That the motion of the prosecution be and is hereby

denied, and that the evidence in the case be taken or moved upon

both sides by the Senate.

Mr. MtTEPHT moved to strike out the preamble, and amend the

resolution so as to read as follows

:

" liesolved, That the motion of the counsel for the prosecution

be, and the same is hereby denied."

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Affir7native— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Cock, Dickinson,
Graham, Harrower, Johuson, Lewis, Lord, McGowan, Murphy, Pal-
mer, Perry, Kobertson, Tiemann, Weismann, Wood, Woodin—19.

Negative— Messrs. Benedict, Chatiield, Lowery, Madden, Wag-
ner, Wiuslow, Wood— 7.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to the resolution as amended, and it was determined in the affirma-

tive.

The doors being opened, the President announced the foreo-oino-

result.

Mr. Johnson moved to take from the table the following resolu-

tions :
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Resolved, That a committee of five be appointed to take the

testimony in the case of charges against John H. McCunn, a judge

of the Superior Court of the city of New York.

Hesolved, That a copy of the testimony so taken be furnished

each senator, so soon as the testimony is taken complete and

printed.

Hesolved, That the Senate meet at the Capitol to hear the argu-

ment of counsel, and determine and decide upon the charges so pre-

ferred, at such time as shall be determined by the Senate.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the negative.

Mr. Allen ofiered the following

:

Resolved, That all motions introduced by senators, or the counsel

engaged, the subject-matter of which may give rise to debate, should

be reduced to writing, and no argument shall be entered upon until

such resolution or motion shall have been read by the Clerk and

entered upon the journal.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Benedict moved that the Senate do now proceed with the

trial of John H. McCunn.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Haeeison, of counsel, opened the case on the part of the

prosecution

;

Before the conclusion of which, the hour of 2 o'clock having

arrived, the Senate took a recess until 4 o'clock p. m.

FoTJE o'clock, p. m.

Senate again met.

Spencee C. Eogees was sworn by the President as assistant stenog-

rapher.

Mr. Haeeison concluded his opening address in behalf of the

prosecution.

Mr. Benedict moved that when the Senate adjourns to-day it

adjourn to meet on Tuesday next, at 10 o'clock, a. m.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Madden moved that the Senate hold an executive session at

6 o'clock and 45 minutes, p. m.
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The Peesident put the qitestion whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. D. P. Wood offered the following

:

jResohed, That the Comptroller of the State be requested to

make provision for the payment of the necessary expenses attend-

ing the investigations, now pending before the Senate in extra

session, in the cases of John H. MeCunn, justice of the Superior

Court of the city of New Tork ; George M. Curtis, one of the

justices of the Marine Court of the city of New York ; and of

Horace G. Prindle, county judge of Chenango county.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Paesons, of counsel for the prosecution, moved that the Sen-

ate make some provision for compelling the attendance of defaulting

witnesses who have been duly subpoenaed.

Mr. J. Wood offered the following

:

Hesoived, That on filing due proof of the service of a subpcena

issued in this proceeding on the witnesses whose names have been

called by the Clerk, and who did not respond and have not attended

in pursuance of the mandate of such subpoena, an order be entered

directing the issuing of an attachment against said witnesses, respect-

ively, for contempt of the process of the Senate, and that an attach-

ment be forthwith issued against said witnesses in the usual form of

attachments against defaulting witnesses in courts of record of this

State, as provided in the Revised Statutes, which attachments shall

be returnable on Tuesday morning next, at 10 o'clock, a. m.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Thos. E. Boese was called and sworn for the prosecution.

Mr. Davis, of counsel for respondent, moved that the cross-examin-

ation of Mr. Boese be deferred until Tuesday next.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

On motion of Mr. Robertson, the Senate went into executive

session, and after some time spent therein the doors were opened,

and the Senate adjourned.

Albany, Tuesday, June 25, 1872.

The Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following senators were found

to be present

:
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Messrs. Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Cock, Dickinson, Graham,

Harrower, Palmer, Perry, Kobertson, Tiemann, D. P. Wood, J.

Wood— 13.

No quoruna being present,

On motion of Mr. D. P. Wood, the Senate took a recess until

4 o'clock, p. M.

The Senate again met.
Fotrit o'clock, p. m.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following senators were

found to be present

:

Messrs. Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Cock, Dickinson, Foster,

Graham, Harrower, Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Mur-

phy, Palmer, Perry, Eobertson, Tiemann, Wagner, D. P. Wood,
J.Wood— 21.

Mr. D. P. Wood offered the following:

Sesol/oed, That the assistant postmaster be added to the list of

officers of the Senate, heretofore designated to attend this extra

session, to serve during such extra session as an additional assistant

to the sergeant-at-arms.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Chaeles G. TmsLET was sworn as assistant stenographer.

Thomas E. Boese, witness for prosecution, cross-examined by

respondent.

Witnesses sworn on the part of the prosecution : Melville B. Clark,

Joel O. Stevens, Mansfield Compton.

The hour of 7 o'clock, p. m. , having arrived,

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the session be extended indefinitely.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senete would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Examination of witnesses on the part of the prosecution con-

tinued.

Mr. TiEMAn^iT moved that the Senate take a recess until 8

o'clock, p. M.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Eight o'clock, p. m.

The Senate again met.

Mr. D. P. Wood ofi'ered the following

:

Eesolved, That the Comptroller be requested to pay, upon the
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certificate of the presiding officer of the Senate, witnesses attend-

ing in the proceedings pending before the Senate upon charges

against John H. McCunn, one of the justices of the Superior Court

of the city of New York ; George M. Curtis, one of the justices of

the Marine Court of the city of New York, and Horace G. Prindle,

county judge of the county of Chenango, the same fees and mileage

as are allowed witnesses in courts of record.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Peret moved to reconsider the vote by which said resolution

was passed.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Madden moved to amend by striking out the words, "the

same fees and mileage as are allowed witnesses in courts of record,"

and inserting in lieu thereof the words, "the sum of three dollars

per day for each day's attendance, and five cents per mile for each

mile traveled in going to and returning from the place of trial, on
the most usual route."

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said amendment, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The Peesident then put the question on the resolution as

amended, and it was determined in the affirmative.

On motion of Mr. Allen, the Senate adjourned until to-morrow
morning at 9 o'clock.

Albany, Wednesdat, June 26, 1872.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following senators were found
to be present

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock,
Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden,
Murphy Palmer, Perry, Eobertson, Tiemann, Wagner, D. P. Wood
J. Wood— 22.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the Senate go into executive session
for consultation.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree
to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved to reconsider the vote by M'hich the fol-

lowing resolution was adopted, to wit

:
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Hesol/ved, That the Comptroller be requested to pay, upon the

certificate of the presiding officer of the Senate, witnesses attending

on the proceedings pending before the Senate, upon charges against

John H. McCunn, one of the justices of the Superior Court of the

city of New York ; George M. Curtis, one of the justices of the

Marine Court of the city of New York, and Horace G. Frindle,

county judge of the county of Chenango, the sum of three dollars

per day for each day's attendance, and five cents per mile for each

mile traveled going to and returning from the place of trial, on the

most usual route.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Allen moved to amend as follows : Strike out all after the

word " Chenango," and insert the following :
" the same fees and

mileage as are allowed witnesses in courts of record."

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion to amend, and it was determined in the affirmative,

as follows

;

Affirmative— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Chatfield,

Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Lewis, Lowery, McGowan,
Palmer, Perry, Robertson, "Wagner, D. P. "Wood— 17.

Negative— Messrs. Bowen, Madden, Murphy, Tiemann— 4.

The doors being opened, the Peesident announced the foregoing

result.

Mr. Selden, of counsel for respondent, moved that the letter of

Mr. Hanrahan, produced in evidence, be stricken from the record.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the negative.

"Witnesses sworn on behalf of the prosecution : George E. Hickey,

Thos. E. Boese (recalled), George IST. Titus, Francis IST. Bangs, John

S. Beecher, Abraham Binninger, Joseph A. HofEmire.

Mr. Madden moved that when the Senate take a recess at 2

o'clock, it meet again for executive session at 3:45 o'clock, p. m.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

On motion of Mr. Perrt, the Senate took a recess until 4

o'clock, p. M.

5
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FouB o'clock, p. m.

The Senate again met.

Witness sworn on behalf of the prosecution : James F. Morgan.

The Peesident presented the following communication :

Albany, June 26, 1872.

To the Honorable the Senate of the State of New York :

I inclose you herewith a letter just placed in my hands by my
counsel, who have been conducting, in my behalf, the investigation

now going on before your honorable body. It is impossible for me
to disregard the advice of these gentlemen, so distinguished at the

bar for ability and integrity. I therefore feel it my duty to yield

to the advice of my counsel, and leave it to your honorable body to

take such action in the premises as you may deem advisable.

Yery respectfully,

JOHJN" H. MoCUNN".

Albany, June 26, 18Y2.

Hon. John H. McCunn :

Dear Sir.— The proceedings before the Senate of this State

upon charges brought against you and communicated to it by the

Governor, have reached a point where, as your counsel, we consider

it our duty to make the following communications to you

:

Before undertaking your defense we were entirely satisfied of

your innocence of intentional wrong in the transactions on which

were based the charges against you ; and we have thus far seen

nothing to induce a change of the opinion with which we entered

upon the investigation.

Our examination of that part of the Constitution upon which

the proceedings against you are assumed to be based, viz.: "All

judicial officers, except those mentioned in this section (judges

of the Court of Appeals, and justices of the Supreme Court), and

except justices of the peace and judges and justices of inferior

courts not of record, may be removed by the Senate on the recom-

mendation of the Governor, if two-thirds of all the members elected

to the Senate concur therein," has led to the conclusion, in which we
are supported, as we believe, by the actions and opinions of two
former Governors, acting under the same or similar constitutional

provisions, that an unqualified recommendation by the Governor, of

your removal was necessary to confer jurisdiction upon the Senate.

This recommendation the Governor has not, in your case, made and
we are of opinion, therefore, that the proceedings before the Senate
are not warranted by the Constitution.
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The determination of the Senate to investigate charges for acts

alleged to have been done by you prior to the time of your election,

under which you now hold your office, involves of necessity a mere
review of the propriety of your election by the people, a power which,

we believe, is not conferred upon the Senate. If it can be done in

one case it can be done in all cases of the election of officers coming
within the provisions of the Constitution which we have quoted,

without reference to the conduct of the officers after their election.

Notwithstanding these convictions we were willing to aid you
as far as our assistance could be of service ; and the Senate having

determined that " all the rules, legal and usual in courts of record in

this State, in regard to the introduction of evidence and the examina-

tion and cross-examination of witnesses," should be observed, we
hoped not only that the investigation might lead the Senate to the

conclusion that you ought not to be removed from office, but that

nothing for which you were not properly and legally responsible

would be admitted in evidence, to operate elsewhere than before the

Senate to your prejudice. We beg leave, however, to state, without

intending any reflection upon the Senate, or upon the gentlemen

conducting the proceedings against you, that our views in regard to

the admissibility of mnch of the evidence produced against you differ

so widely from the ruling on the subject that we are disposed to

question the propriety of our continuing longer in the position we
have occupied, and to doubt whether our doing so would be of any

essential service either in your defense, or in excluding from the

record of the proceedings against jou of what we deem irrelevant

and improper evidence. We, therefore, with your approbation, are

disposed (and we would advise you to that course) to leave it to the

senators, unimpeded by you or by us in your behalf, to make such

disposition of the charges against you as in their judgment or their

power and duty shall seem just and right.

If their judgment should be against you, which we earnestly

desire may not be the case, the jurisdictional question to which we
have alluded will, as we believe, be open to review by another tri-

bunal, if it should be your choice to present them there.

Very truly yours,

H. E. SELDEK
JOHN E. DEVLIJSr.

A. C. DAVIS.
N. C. MOAK.
W. S. HEVENOE.
DANIEL E. LTDDT.
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Mr. Chatfield moved that the hour of adjournment be indefi-

nitely postponed.

Mr. Perey moved, as an amendment, that the Senate adjourn

until to-morrow morning at 9 o'clock.

Mr. Palmee moved, as an amendment to the amendment, that

the Senate take a recess until 8 o'clock this evening.

Pending which questions, the hour of 1 o'clock having arrived,

the Senate adjourned until to-morrow morning at 9 o'clock.

Albany, Thuesday, June 27, 1872.

The Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following members were

found to be present

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock,

Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Lewis, Lowery, McGowan,
Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Pobertson, Tiemann, "Wagner,

Weismann, D. P. Wood, J. Wood— 24.

The case of John H. McOunn was then proceeded with.

The following witnesses were sworn in behalf of the prosecution

:

George iN". Bangs, Edward Van Ness, Joseph Larocque, James F.

Morgan, James M. Gano, William Van Wyck, Lewis H. G. Erb-

hardt, Hiram E. Tallmadge.

Mr. Paesons, of counsel, announced that the testimony on the

part of the prosecution was closed.

Mr. Stickney ask leave to offer in evidence the following

:

SUPEEME COURT— OE the City of New Yoek.

NOKBUET Hicks, Plaintiff, I

agst.

P. W. Bishop, Defendant.

To the Sheriff of the City and County of New York :

It having been made to appear to me by affidavit, that Norbury
Hicks, the plaintiff, has a sufficient cause of action against P. W.
Bishop, the defendant, it being one of the class of eases mentioned
in section 179 of the Code of Procedure, you are required forth-

with to arrest P. H. Bishop, the defendant in this action, for the

cause aforesaid, and hold him to bail in the sum of $40,000, and to
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return this order of Charles L. Halberstadt, Esq., plaintiff's attor-

ney, at his office, 202 Broadway, on the 29th day of August, 1869.

(Signed) J. H. McCUNN, J"Msfo'ce.

Chas. L. Halbeestadt, Plaimtiffh Attorney.

Dated New York, July 3, 1869.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Peeet moved to reconsider the vote.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the prosecution be allowed to furnish

the original order and put it in evidence, or that the charge (6) be

withdrawn.

Mr. Allen submitted as an amendment, that the evidence read in

reference to the order be stricken out.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion of Mr. Allen, and it was determined in the affirmar

tive.

Mr. D. P. Wood moved that the chamber be cleared for private

consultation.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. Allen moved that the counsel for the prosecution, if so desired

by them, have liberty to briefly review the testimony taken bearing

on the charges against Judge McCunn.

Mr. Benedict moved to amend by adding thereto, " and that the

Senate proceed to vote upon the charges on Tuesday next."

Mr. BowEN moved to lay the whole subject upon the table.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the negative.

The hour of 2 o'clock having arrived,

Mr. Madden moved that the session be extended indefinitely.

The Pebsidbnt put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to the amendment offered by Mr. Benedict, and it was determined

in the affirmative.

The Peesident then put the question whether the Senate would

agree to the resolution of Mr Allen, as amended, and it was deter-

mined in the affirmative.
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Mr. Madden moved that the Senate take a recess until 4 o'clock.

The Peesidbnt put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the negative.

Mr. Allen moved that when the Senate adjourn it adjourns to

meet to-morrow morning at 9 o'clock.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion and it was determined in the afSrniative.

The doors were then opened, the result of the deliberations an-

nounced, and the Senate adjourned until to-morrow morning at 9

o'clock, A. M.

Albany, "Wednesday, July 2, 1872.

The Senate met pursuant to adjoiimment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following senators were

found to be present

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock, Dickin-

son, Foster, Graham, Hari-owcr, Johnson, Lewis, Lord, Lowery,

McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Robertson, Tiemann,

Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood, Woodin—27.

Mr. Parsons, of counsel in case of John H. McCunn, proceeded

to sum up the case on the part of the prosecution ; at the conclusion

of which,

Mr. Lewis moved that the chamber be cleared for private consul-

tation.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was decided in the affirmative.

On motion of Mr. Perry, the Clerk called the roll, when the fol-

lowing senators were found to be present

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock,

Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lord,

Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Eobertson,

Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood,
Woodin—28.

Mr. Chatfield moved that the roll be called and the question he
taken upon the charges immediately after the opening of the doors.

Mr. Allen moved as an amendment that the vote upon the
charges he taken in private session.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree
to said motion to amend, and it was determined in the negative.

Affirmative—Messrs. Allen, Foster, Graham, Harrower. Johnson,
Lord, McGowan, Eobertson, J. Wood, Woodin— 10.
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Negative—^Messrs. Adams, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield,
Cock, Dickinson, Lewis, Lowery, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry,
Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood— 18.

The Peesident then put the question on the original motion, and
it was determined in the affirmative.

The doors were opened, and in pursuance of the seventh rule, the

Cleek read the first charge preferred against the accused, as follows :

Chaege Piest.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 17th

day of ISTovember, 1869, and the 1st day of July, 1870, then being

a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was
guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as a justice of said

court, in an action then pending in said court, wherein Abraham B.

Clarke was plaintiff, and Abraham Binninger was defendant, in this:

That said John H. McCunn continually, while said action was pend-

ing in said court of which he was a justice, acted as counsel of the

plaintiff in said action, and in sundry actions growing out of it,

wherein the said plaintiff was plaintiff, and in relation to the mat-

ters therein involved, not being himself a party to the actions or to

either of them. That he so acted as counsel in and about sundry

and various motions then pending, or, with his advice, about to be

brought before him as such justice aforesaid. That said John H.
McCunn conspired with Daniel H. Hanrahan, James F. Morgan,

and other persons unknown, to pervert and obstruct justice and the

due administration of the laws in regard to said action ; and falsely

to maintain said actions before mentioned, and thereby to deprive

the parties thereto of their property without due process of law.

That, in order to effect the object of said conspiracy, the said John
McCunn, at his own private residence, a few minutes after midnight

on the 18th, and on the 19th day of I^ovember, 1869, illegally granted

an ex parte order in said action, whereby he summarily appointed

said Hanrahan receiver of, and ordered him to sell the partnership

property (amounting to many thousands of dollars in value) of said

plaintiff and defendant, without requiring any security in any due or

legal form, or in any sufficient amount from said Hanrahan, though

well knowing him to be a man without pecuniary responsibility, of

bad habits, and utterly unfit for such a trust. That said John H.

McCunn thereafter gave written and verbal directions to certain

deputy sheriffs of the city and county of ]S"ew York , that they

should take possession of said partnership property ; and conspired
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with, instigated and procured them to do so, without any process

or authority known to the laws of the State of New York, but

falsely representing themselves to be acting therein as deputy sher-

iffs, under directions of the sheriff, and with process from said

Superior Court. That said John H. McCunn, as said justice, there-

after, in said action, made an order allowing to the sheriff of the

city and county of ISTew York fees to a large amount, exceeding

$4,000, which said justice ordered should be paid to said sheriff

by the receiver out of the said partnership property, no pro-

cess ever having been issued to said sheriff in the action, and no

legal or lawful services having ever been performed by him

therein. That said John H. McCunn, in a proceeding in said action

brought before himself, by his own advice and direction, wrongfully

and illegally caused one John S. Beecher to be arrested and brought

before him, said justice, and deprived of his liberty, without any

process whatever, and without any charge against said Beecher

which would warrant said arrest. That said John H. McCunn, as

said justice, in said action, when an order had been regularly, for good

cause and duly made therein on the 30th Marcli, 1870, by Hon.

Samuel Jones, a justice of said court (who was then holding the

special term of said court, where an application for such an order

should, according to the rules and practices of said court, be made),

staying and enjoining the sale of said partnership property, illegally

and corruptly granted an order, purporting to modify said order of

Hon. Samuel Jones, justice, but really annulling and vacating it,

and thereby directed said sale to proceed in disobedience of said

order of injunction. The said John H. McCunn granted said last-

mentioned order -svithout notice to any of the parties to said action,

without just cause, upon no other papers than those on which the

order it vacated had been granted, and contrary to law. That, by
another order granted in said action, said John H. McCunn enjoined

and prevented John S. Beecher and Paul J. Armour, assignees in

bankruptcy of said Clark & Binninger, duly appointed by the

United States District Court for the southern district of New York,
from performing their duties as such assignees. That he granted

such order without any authority and contrary to law, no facts

being in evidence before him on which said order could be granted,

and said assignees never having been served with summons or pro-

cess in said action.

That all such acts, orders and proceedings, and others in said

action, were done, made and had by said John H. McCunn, as jus-
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tiee aforesaid, with tlie intent and effect to accomplish the objects ot

said conspiracy. And, in consequence thereof, said plaintiff and

defendant and their just creditors suffered damage, and were wrong-

fully and illegally deprived of their property, to an amount exceed-

ing' $200,000.

The Pkesident then proposed to each senator the question :
" Sen-

ator, how say you ; is the first item of the charges preferred against

the accused proven ? " with the following result

:

Affirmative— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,
Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,

Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Kob-
ertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J.

Wood, Woodin— 27.

Negative— None.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called, he asked to be excused

from voting.

The President put the question on excusing Mr. Lord, and it

was determined in the affirmative.

The Cleek then read the second charge preferred against the

accused, as follows

:

Chaege Second.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 17th

day of January, 1870, and the 1st day of January, 1872, then

being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was

guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as such justice, in

this : That in an action pending in said court, wherein one Albert

B. Corey was plaintiff, and Walter B. Long was defendant, the said

John H. McCunn illegally, corruptly, and with the intent and

effect of thereby enabling one James M. Gano, who was a brother-

in-law of said justice, to make to himself large gains and profits,

did, on the 18th day of January, 1870, conspire with said Gano

and other persons unknown, to injure and defraud the defendant

and others of their property and just rights by making and entering

an ex parte summary order, falsely purporting to be an order of the

said Superior Court, appointing said James M. Gano receiver of all

the partnership property (of many thousands of dollars in value) of

said Corey and Long— though no appointment of a receiver by

said justice had been applied for, and though the only application

in the action theretofore made to said justice was for a mere judge's

order, returnable before the court, to show cause why a receiver

6
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should not, on the return day of the order, be appointed by the

court after hearing the parties. That said justice so appointed said

Gano such receiver without requiring any security to be given by

him, though said justice well knew said Gano to be a man without

pecuniary responsibility and unfit for such trust, and dependent

upon said justice for support for himself and family. That the

only bond ever purporting to be given by said Gano as such

receiver for the faithful performance of his duties, was executed by

the obligors, and was approved by said justice before the said

receiver was appointed, to wit, on the iTth day of January, 1870.

That said John H. McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, illegally, and

without jurisdiction, granted orders for the payment of a fee to the

counsel for the plaintifE in said action, and of other fees to persons

unknown by said receiver, out of the fund in his custody, and such

fees were thereupon so paid by such receiver to persons unknown.

That all said acts of said justice were wrongful, illegal and corrupt,

and were done with the intent and efiect thereby to deprive the

plaintiff and defendant in said action, and their creditors, of their

property, without due process of law, contrary to the laws of the

State of JSTew York.

The President then proposed to each senator the question

:

" Senator, how say you ; is the second item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " with the following result

:

Affirmative— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,
Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,
Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Rob-
ertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weissman, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J.

Wood, Woodin— 27.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called he asked to be excused

from voting.

The President put the question on excusing Mr. Lord, and it

was determined in the affirmative.

The Clerk then read the third charge, as follows

:

Charge Third.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 10th
day of December, 1869, and the 1st day of January, 1871, then
being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was
guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his ofiice as justice as afore-

said, in this : That, in an action pending in said court, wherein Anna
M. Elliot was plaintiff, and Mary P. Butler was defendant, the said
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plaintiff, being then a tenant of said John H. McCunn, hiring from

him the premises No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street, in. the city of

New York, sought to recover, by proceedings before said justice, the

rent alleged to be due for said premises from the defendant Butler

as sub-tenant to the plaintiff Elliott. That, in and by the complaint

in said action, it appeared that the said plaintiff was dependent on

the rents to be received from the said defendant for said premises to

make the payment of the rents due from the said plaintiff to said

John H. McCunn, her superior landloi'd. That said John H.
McCunn, being a justice aforesaid, and being so interested in the

result of said action, well knowing all the facts of the case, made
and entered, on the 10th day of December, 1869, an ex parte order,

falsely purporting to be an order of the court, whereby he sum-

marily appointed James M. Gano, who was a brother-in-law of said

John H. McCunn, and the agent of said John H. McCunn for the

collection of the rents of said premises, receiver, to collect, receive

and hold all money due or to become due from the boarders of said

defendant, on said premises No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street.

That said order was made and entered by said justice illegally,

without jurisdiction and with the corrupt intent, and with the effect

thereby to enable said Gano to receive the moneys due to said

defendant, and deprive said defendant of the same without due

process of law, and to thereby secure the said moneys to the said

John H. McCunn himself, through his said agent, and in pursuance of

a conspiracy made and entered into by said John H. McCunn, said

Gano and other persons unknown, to deprive said defendant of her

property and illegally obtain possession of the same ; in all of which

said John H. McCunn thereby succeeded, to his own personal

profit and gain, and to the great injury of both the plaintiff and

defendant.

The Pbesident then proposed to each senator the question:

" Senator, how say you, is the third item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven % " with the following result

:

Affirmative— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,

Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,

Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Kobert-

son, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood,
Woodin— 27.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called, he asked to be excused

from voting.

The Peesedent put the qaestion on excusing Mr. Lord, and it was

determined in the aiBrmative.
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The Oleek tljen read the fourth charge, as follows

:

Chjlrge Fotieth.

That the said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 20th

day of February, 1870, and the 25th day of March, 1870, then being

a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty

of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as justice as aforesaid, in an

action then pending in said court, wherein Edwin "W". Brandon was

plaintiff, and Jerome Buck and William Butler Duncan and other

members of the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and others,

were defendants, in this : That the said John H. McCunn, as a jus-

tice as aforesaid, in said action did, on or about the 21st day of Feb-

ruary, 1870, make and enter an order falsely purporting to be an order

of the court, summarily appointing Daniel H. Hanrahan receiver of

a fund of $12,000, more or less, then in the hands of said Duncan,

Sherman & Company, as bankers, on deposit. That by the papers

on which said order was granted, it clearly appeared that there was

no fund or property in' the hands of said Duncan, Sherman & Com-
pany in which the plaintiff had any interest, legal or equitable.

That said order was so made and entered gratuitously, not upon
motion of the plaintiff or of any of the defendants in said action, in

opposition to the wishes of them all, and without notice to any of

them. That, though the said justice then well knew said Hanrahan
to be a man without pecuniary responsibility and unfit for such trust,

no legal or sufficient security was exacted from him for the faithful

performance of his duties as such receiver. That said action was
immediately and on or about the 23d day of February, 1870, discon-

tinued, without costs, by an order of the court, duly entered, upon
the consent of all the parties, and the said order appointing said

receiver was thereupon vacated and set aside by an order of the court,

upon such consent. That thereafter, on the 21st day of March, 1870,

said John H. McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, gratuitously and
without notice to any of the parties in interest, and well knowing the

premises, nevertheless made and entered a further order, falsely pur-

porting to be an order of the court, siimmarily appointing one Joseph
Meeks receiver in the same action of the same money, and directing

said firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company to pay said money to said

receiver. That said orders were granted by said John H. McCunn
corruptly and without any jurisdiction or authority to grant them,
and with the corrupt intent and with the effect thereby to wrongfully
oppress and harass the members of said firm of Duncan, Sherman
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& Company and the other defendants, and to put them to great and
unnecessary expense, and to deprive them of their property without

due process of law, contrary to the laws of the State of New York,
and with the intent thereby to enable said receivers and their respec-

tive counsel to secure large gains and profits to themselves illegally.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator the question:

" Senator, how say you, is the fourth item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " with the following result

:

Affirmatvue— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,
Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,
Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Maddeu, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Robert-
son, Tiemann, Wagner, "Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood,
Woodin— 27.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called, he asked to be excused

from voting.

The President put the question on excusing Mr. Lord, and it was

determined in the aifirmative.

The Olbek; then read the fifth charge.

Chauge Fifth.

The said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 20th day

of June, 1869, and the 1st day of January, 1872, then being a jus-

tice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty of

mal and corrupt conduct in said office, in an action pending in said

Superior Court, wherein John O'Mahony was plaintiff, and August

Belmont and others were defendants, and in certain other actions

connected therewith, in this : That said John H. McCunn, as a jus-

tice as aforesaid, wrongfully and illegally made and entered an order

in said action, on the 16th day of July, 1869, whereby he ap-

pointed Thomas J. Barr receiver of certain moneys, amounting to

$16,000, more or less, in gold coin of the United States, and

ordered, directed and required the defendants, August Belmont

and Ernst Lucke, to pay over to said receiver an amount in current

moneys, equivalent to said sum in gold. That it clearly appeared

to said justice, by the papers then before him, that there was no fund

or property in the hands of either of the defendants, whereof a

receiver could be lawfully appointed, and that there was no fund

whatever in the hands of the defendants, or of either of them, to

which the plaintiff had any claim. That said John H. McCunn,

as said justice, on or about the 18th day of July, 1869, illegally

ordered and compelled one of the said defendants, Ernst Lucke, to
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pay said sum of money to said receiver. That he so compelled said

payment by threats of illegal imprisonment. That said justice so

compelled such payment, knowing that he had no power to issue

any warrant or other process for the imprisonment of said Lucke in

the premises. That said justice granted said order, appointing said

receiver, of his own motion, and not on the motion of any 'partj to

the action, and against the wishes and express stipulations, in writing,

of the respective counsel for both the plaintiff and the defendants,

and with the corrupt intent, and with the effect thereby to enable

said Earr to make for himself large gains and profits thereby, and

with the corrupt intent, and with the effect to thereby deprive the

said defendants of their property without due process of law. That

the said John H. McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, thereafter with

the corrupt intent, and with the effect aforesaid, made and entered

divers illegal orders in the premises, well knowing that they were

illegal. That all such orders and proceedings were so had and made
in collusion and conspiracy with said receiver and other persons

unknown, with the intent and effect to thereby wrongfully oppress

and harass said defendants, Belmont and Lucke, and to put them to

unnecessary expense, and to make illegal gains to said receiver and

other persons, who had no claim whatever to the moneys to which

said actions related.

The Pbesident then proposed to each senator the question :
" Sen-

ator, how say you, is the fifth item of the charges preferred against

the accused proven ? " with the following result

:

Affirmative— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,
Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,
Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Rob-
ertson, Tiemann, "Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, T>. P. Wood, J.

"Wood, Woodin— 2Y.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called, he asked to be excused

from voting.

The Pebsident put the question on excusing Mr. Lord, and it

was determined in the affirmative.

The Cleek then read the sixth charge, as follows

:

Chaege Sixth.

That said John H. McCunn, in the months of July and August,
1869, then being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of

New York, was guilty of n^al and corrupt conduct in his office of

a justice of said court, in an action then pending in said court
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wherein !N'orthbury Hicks was plaintiff and P. "W. Bishop was de-

fendant, in this : That he, the said John H. McCunn, on or about the

30th of July, 1869, did, in said action, grant an order directing and

compelling the sheriff of the city and county of New York to arrest

said defendant Hicks, and hold him to bail in the sum of $40,-

000. That it clearly appeared by the papers then before said

justice, and on which said order of arrest was granted, that the plain-

tiff had no cause of action against the defendant. That thereafter a

motion was made and heard before said John H. McCunn, as such

justice, to vacate the said order of arrest, or reduce the amount of

said bail, upon aflEidavits and papers that showed conclusively that

the court had no discretion to refuse the application on the merits.

That said motion was denied by said justice, nevertheless. That

said John H. McCunn granted said order of arrest, and denied said

motion to vacate the same, corruptly, and with the intent and effect

thereby illegally and wrongfully to deprive the said defendant of

his liberty ; and fixed the amount of his bail at an excessive and exor-

bitant amount, with the wrongful and corrupt intent, and with

the effect aforesaid, contrary to the Constitution and laws of the

State of New York, and in pursuance of a conspiracy in the prem-

ises by said justice, entered into and carried out with said plaintiff

and other persons unknown.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator the question

:

" Senator, how say you, is the sixth item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " with the following result

:

Affirmative—Messrs. Benedict, Johnson, Madden, Tiemann—4.

Negative—^Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock,

Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Lewis, Lowery, McGowan,
Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Robertson, "Wagner, Weismann, Winslow,

D. P. Wood, J. Wood, Woodin—23.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called, he asked to be excused

from voting.

The Pkbsident put the question on excusing Mr. Lord, and it was

determined in the affirmative.

The Cleek then read the seventh charge, as follows

:

Charge Seventh.

That said John H. McCunn, on the 9th day of July, 1869, then

being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was

guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as a justice as afore-

said, in this : That, in an action then pending in said court, wherein
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Edward Van llTess was plaintiff and Henry Leeds and others were

defendants, an order had been made and entered by said conrt, upon

consent of all the parties, referring the issues therein to Thomas H.

Edsall, Esq., as sole referee to hear and determine, and the hearings

before said referee had proceeded, all the parties had appeared

before the referee, the plaintiff had rested his case and large

expenses had been incurred therein. That, on a motion thereafter

brought on before said justice, by one of the defendants, for an

order vacating and setting aside the said order of reference, and

restoring the cause to the calendar, to be tried at a regular term

of the court in due course, upon the grounds and allegations

that the consent to the reference of said moving defendant was
insufficient, and that the action was not, under the statute, refer-

able without consent of all the parties, an order was made and

entered by said justice, granting the motion on said grounds

made, but arbitrarily and illegally referring the issues to William M.
Tweed, Jr., as sole referee to hear and determine, and summarily

appointed one Thomas J. Barr receiver of the fund and property

concerning which the litigation had arisen. That said order, so

made and entered by said justice, was not drawn or submitted by or

for either of the parties to the action, or the attorney or counsel of

either of them. That no reference to said Tweed, or to any person

other than said Edsall, as referee, had ever been applied for by either

of the parties. That neither of the parties had applied for the
appointment of a receiver of the fund and property in question,

which were then in the hands of the firm of " Leeds & Miner,"
where all the parties desired, and had so expressed themselves, that

it should remain, pending judgment in the action, and with regard
to which firm it was not alleged or pretended that the fund and
property were in any danger of injury, waste or loss, while in their

custody. That said order was so made and entered by said justice

illegally, without jurisdiction, and with the corrupt intent, and with
the effect, thereby to enable said Barr to receive and take possession
of said fund and property to his own use, and to wrongfully oppress
and harass the members of said firm of " Leeds & Miner," and said
other parties to the action, put them to great and unnecessary ex-
pense, and deprive them of their property without due process of
law, contrary to the laws of the State of 'New York, pursuani; to a
conspiracy between said justice and said Barr, Tweed and others
unknown, and with the intent and effect thereby to enable said Barr
receiver, and said Tweed, referee, and their respective counsel to
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secure large gains and profits to themselves illegally, to the personal

advantage of said justice.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator the question, " Sen-

ator, how say you, is the seventh item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " with the following result

:

AffirmaUve—Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Boweri,
Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,
Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Rob-
ertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J.

Wood, Woodin— 27.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called, he asked to be excused

from voting.

The Peesident put the question on excusing Mr. Lord, and it

was determined in the affirmative.

The Cleek then read the eighth charge, as follows

:

Chaege Eighth.

That the said John H. McCunn, a justice as aforesaid, by his said

and manifold other wrongful and illegal and corrupt acts, has

repeatedly oppressed and harassed citizens of the State of JSTew York,

and deprived them of their liberty and property without any or due

process of law, but to his own personal gain and advantage, pecuniary

and other, and has thereby brought the administration of justice

into contempt, and caused deep-seated and general distrust and fear

in regard to proceedings in the courts of this State.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator the question :
" Sen-

ator, how say you, is the eighth item of the charge preferred against

the accused proven ? " with the following result

:

Affirmative—Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Chatfield, Cock,
Dickinson, Foster, G-raham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lowery,
McGowan, Madden, Murph^^, Perry, Robertson, Tiemann, Wagner,
Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood, Woodin—24.

Negative—Messrs. Benedict, Bowen, Palmer—3.

When the name of Mr. Lord was called, he asked to be excused

from voting.

The Peesident put the question on excusing Mr. Lord, and it was

determined in the affirmative.

The Peesident then put the question : " Shall John H. McCunn
be removed from his office of justice of the Superior Court of the

city of New York, for the cause stated in the charges preferred

against him, which you have found pro^^en ? " which each senator as

7
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his name was called by the Clerk, rose in his place and responded as

follows

:

Affirmative—Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,
Chatfleld, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,
Lewis, Lord, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry;
Bobertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood,
J. Wood, Woodin—28.



STATE OF NEW YOKK.

IN SENATE,
May 14, 1872.

PEOCEEDINGS

On the heaeing of the defense of JOHIST H. McCUNN', a justice

OF THE StJPEEIOE CoTTET OF THE CITY OF New YoEK, TO CHAEGES

SUBMITTED TO THE SenATE BT THE GoVEENOE, WITH A EECOMMEN-

DATION FOE THE EEMOTAL FEOM OFFICE OF THE SAID JUSTICE OF THE

SUPEEIOK COUET OF THE CITT OF NeW YoEK.

Senate Chambee, )

Albany, May 14, 1872. f

The Senate convened at (6) six o'cloct, p. m., the Hon. William B.

Woodin, President ^/-o tern, of the Senate, in the chair.

The Cleek, Charles E. Dayton, Esq., proceeded to read the

proclamation of his excellency the Governor, under which the

Senate had convened, in words as follows

:

Proclamation.

Pursuant to authority vested in me hy the Constitution, I do

hereby convene the Senate in extra session, at the Capitol, in the

city of Albany, immediately after the adjournment sine die of the

present session of the Legislature, for consideration of and action

upon charges of misconduct, presented and to be presented against

certain judicial officers, and for the transaction of such other busi-

ness as I may find necessary to bring before it.

Done at the Capitol, at Albany, this 14th day of May, in the

C^- ^-J year 1872.

JOHN T. HOFFMAN.
By the Governor.

Jno. D. Van Bueen, Private Secretary.
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The Cleek called the roll, and the following senators answered to

their names

:

Messrs. Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock, Dickin-

son, Foster, Harrower, Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy,

Eobertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. "Wood,

Woodin— 22.

The Pkesident announced a quorum present.

A message from the Governor was received and read, as follows

:

State of ISTew Toek, Executive Chambee, )

Albany, May 14, 1872. f

To the /Senate

:

The Assembly having sent to me the following resolution :

^'Resolved, That the charges and testimony taken in connection

therewith, reported to this House by the judiciary committee, be

transmitted to his excellency the Governor, with the request on the

part of this House that it be reconamended to the Senate to take

proceedings for the removal of said John H. McCunn from his office

of justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York."

I respectfully transmit herewith printed copy of the charges and

speciiications so referred to me, alleging official misconduct on the

part of the said John H. McCunn, and of the testimony taken by

the judiciary committee of the Assembly in the case.

I recommend that you inquire into the truth and sufficiency of

charges so made, and if the same shall be established, that the said

John H. McCunn be then removed from office.

JOHN T. HOFFMAN.

Mr. J. "Wood moved that the message be referred to the commit-

tee of the judiciary.

The Pbesident put the question and it was decided in the affirmative.

Mr. J. Wood, from the committee on the judiciary, presented

the following report

;

The judiciary committee, to whom was referred the message of his

excellency the Governor, recommending the removal from office of

John H. McCunn, one of the judges of the Superior Court of the

city of New York, report

:

That they recommend that the committee be empowered to cause

to be served on the accused, personally, a copy of the charges made
against him, transmitted by tlie Governor to the Senate, with a noti-

fication that the accused be i-equired to appear before the committee
on a day to be named in the notification, and then and there to
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settle and agree upon the issues to be tried, and to receive

and serve a written list of the witnesses to be examined, and to

determine the time and manner in which the investigation shall

proceed.

The committee, therefore, propose the following resolution

:

liesoVoed, That the recommendations of the committee on the

judiciary be adopted, and that the committee be instructed to pro-

ceed accordingly.

JAMES WOOD, Chairman.

Mr. MuEPHT moved that a committee of three be appointed to

prepare and report to the Senate rules for its guidance in the pending

proceedings.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The Peesident appointed as such committee, Messrs. Murphy, D.

P. Wood and Robertson.

Mr. Benedict moved that when the Senate adjourn, it adjourn to

meet on Wednesday next at 4 p. m.

Mr. MuEPHY moved to amend by substituting Wednesday next,

immediately after the adjournment of the court of impeachment.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative .

The Peesident then put the question whether the Senate would

agree to said motion as amended, and it was determined in the

affirmative.

Albany, May 22, 1872.

The Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

On motion of Mr. Bowen, the Senate adjourned until to-morrow

at 10 o'clock, A. M.

Albany, Thitesdat, May 23, 1872.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, and the following members answered

to their names

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock,

Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lord,
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Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Mnrphy, Palmer, Perry, Eobertson,

Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood— 26.

Mr. Mtjepht, from committee on rules, reported the following

:

To the Senate ;

The committee on rules respectfully report the following for the

consideration of the Senate

:

KrLES OF THE SeNATE, WHILE SITimG AS A CoUET ON THE TbIAL
OF Judges, kecommended foe eemoval by the Goteejstoe.

I. The Senate shall, unless otherwise ordered, meet in the Senate

chamber daily at 9 a. m., and continue in session until 2 p. m., at

which hour a recess shall be had until 4 o'clock, p. m., when it shall

meet again and continue in session until 7 o'clock, p. m., when it

shall adjourn. But this rule may be changed by the Senate, with-

out previous notice, at any time, and the Senate may take a recess

or adjourn at a different hour.

II. At its first meeting, the charges against the accused and his

answer thereto, as agreed to before the judiciary committee, shall be

read by the Clerk. The accused shall be called, and if he appear,

shall be assigned a place within the bar with such counsel as he

shall select to aid him in his defense. The counsel for the prosecu-

tion shall also have a place assigned them within the bar.

III. The prosecution and the accused shall alike be entitled to

the process of the Senate to compel the attendance of witnesses,

signed by the Clerk and sealed with the seal of the Senate and

tested in the name of the Lieutenant-Governor and the President

of the Senate, and may be in the form following

:

Tke People of the State of New Torh, hy the grace of God free
and indejpendent

:

To ,

Greeting :— You and each of you are hereby commanded and
required that, laying aside all other business, you be and appear in

your own proper persons, before our Senate, at the Senate chamber,
in the Capitol, in the city of Albany, on the — day of

,

A. D. 187—, at o'clock, - m. of that day, to be examined as
witnesses and to testify the truth and give evidence in our behalf
(or on behalf of the defendant hereinafter named) concerning cer-
tain charges then and there to be tried and determined before our
Senate, of our said State, which have been made ao-ainst

, judge of county, and upon which our Gov-
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ernor of our said State has recommended to our Senate aforesaid

that the said be removed from his said office of
. And hereof fail not at your peril.

Witness, Hon.
, Lieutenant-Governor of the State

of New York, and the President of the Senate thereof, this

day of , A.D. 187—.
Attest :

,

CUrh of the Senate.

And such subpoena may be served and returned in the manner
usual in courts of record of this State.

TV. All motions made by senators or by the counsel for the pros-

ecution, or for the accused, shall be addressed to the president of the

Senate, and if he shall require they shall be reduced to writing and
read at the desk of the Clerk ; and the decision thereof and of all

points and objections raised by the counsel, shall be had after a hear-

ing of counsel, if they desire it, and by the vote of the Senate, which,

when demanded by any senator, shall be taken by ayes and nays

;

and the motions, points or objections shall be entered upon the

records of the Senate, together with the decision thereon. The
decision thereof shall be had without debate, unless a senator shall

desire debate, when on motion to that end, if it shall be adopted

by the Senate, the chamber shall be cleared of all but privileged

persons, and discussion shall be had in private; and the decision

arrived at shall be publicly announced by the President of the Senate.

V. Each witness shall be, as he is called, sworn or affirmed by the

Clerk, in substantially the following form

:

You do solemnly swear (or affirm) that the evidence which you
shall give upon this hearing upon certain charges preferred against

, and upon which his removal from that office has

been recommended by the Governor, shall be the truth and nothing

but the truth, so help you God. {Or this you affirm.)

All the rules legal and usual in courts of record of this State, in

regard to the introduction of evidence and the examination and

cross-examination of witnesses, must be observed.

VI. If a member of the Senate shall be called as a witness he shall

be sworn or affirmed and give his testimony standing in his place.

YII. The final vote of the Senate upon the charges preferred

shall be taken by the President of the Senate, who, upon each one of

the charges as it shall be separately read by the Clerk, shall, with its

number, propose to each senator, in the order in which his name

stands upon the division list, the question :
" Senator, how say you,
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is the first {or second, or whatever) item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " Each senator, when so questioned,

shall rise in his place and answer " Proven," or " Not proven ; " and

when the division list of the Senate shall have been gone through

with upon each charge, the result upon each charge shall be announced

and shall be entered upon the records of the Senate. If a majority

shall agree on the finding "and proven " upon any one or more of

the items of said charges, the President shall, in the same manner,

put, and the senators shall, in the same manner, answer the further

question :
" Shall be removed from his office of

for the cause stated in the item {or items) of the

charges preferred against him which you have found proven ? " And
the final judgment of the Senate shall be certified to the Governor

by the President and Clerk of the Senate.

VIII. The stenographer of the Senate, with such assistants as he

shall deem necessary, shall take the oral testimony, and the Presi-

dent of the Senate shall procure the same to be printed for the

use of the Senate and counsel, at the opening of the Senate on the

day after any part of such printed report shall be brought in ; any

member of the Senate or either of the counsel may move to amend
the same in any particular, to be then stated in writing. The stenog-

rapher and his assistants shall be first sworn faithfully to perform

their duties as such.

IX. The Clerk shall keep a book of records of the proceedings,

orders and judgments of the Senate, and the ayes and nays upon
every question in that way decided.

X. The President of the Senate shall direct all necessary prepara-

tions for the Senate chamber, and all forms of proceedings not

provided for in these rules and not otherwise ordered.

Mr. J. Wood moved that the report of the committee on rules be
laid on the table.

The President put the question and it was decided in the affir-

mative.

Mr. MuEPHT offered the followina:

:

Resolved, That the following officers and employees of the Sen-

ate be and are hereby designated to attend the extra session of the

Senate, viz : The Clerk, assistant clerk, and journal clerk, the ser-

geant-at-arms, the assistant sergeant-at-arms, the librarian, the Presi-

dent's messenger, the door-keeper, the Clerk's bank messenger and
two pages, to be designated by the Clerk.

The President put the question whether the Senate would ao-ree

to said resolution, and it was determined in the affirmative.
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Mr. J. Wood presented the following

:

To the Senate

:

The judiciary committee, to whom was referred the message of the

Governor recommending the removal from his office, of John H.

McCunn, one of the justices of the Superior Court of the city of

New York, do report that they have been attended by said official

in person and with his counsel ; that a copy of the charges against

the said official, transmitted by the Governor to the Senate, have

been served on him and he has served and filed his answer thereto

;

that the said charges, with the evidence which accompanied the same,

are hereto attached : that the said John H. McCunn elects to be

tried on the charges against him before the Senate rather than before

its committee, and that the taking of the testimony, and all other

proceedings, be had before the Senate. Tour committee, therefore,

submits the following resolution

:

ResoVoed, That the committee on the judiciary be discharged from

the further consideration of the matter, and that the same be sub-

mitted to the Senate for its action.

JAMES WOOD,
Dated May 23, 18Y2. Ohairmam,.

The President put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said report, and it was determined in the affirmative.

Mr. MuEPHT moved that the matter of Judge McCunn be taken

up at the session of the Senate to be held on the 18th day of June,

at 4 o'clock, p. M., and that Judge McCunn, the counsel, and counsel

for prosecution, be notified.

The Peesident put the question whether the Senate would agree

to said motion, and it was determined in the affirmative.

The doors were then opened and the Senate adjourned until the

18th day of June next, at 4 o'clock, p. m.

Albaht, June 18, 1872.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Clekk called the roll, when the following senators were found

to be present.

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Chatfield, Cock, Dick-

inson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lowery, Mur-

phy, Palmer, Perry, Eobertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann,

Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood, Woodin— 24.

8
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The Cleek announced the following appointment of pages for

the extra session of the Senate : James O'Neill, Joseph McMahon.

Mr. J. Wood moved that the report of the committee on rules

be taken from the table. (Agreed to.)

Mr. Benedict said : I move that the heading of the rules reading

" rules of the Senate, while sitting as a court on the trial of judges,

recommended for removal by the Governor," be amended by striking

out all after the word " Senate," so that it shall simply read " rules

of the Senate." I am quite clear that we do not sit as a court, but

simply as the Senate. We are not judges now, although we are

judges in the court of impeachment, but we are simply to investigate

the charges presented, and vote upon their being substantiated by

ayes and nays. We are simply the Senate, called together in special

session by the Governor ; and, as the Constitution says the person

so charged shall be furnished with a copy of the charges and have

an opportunity of being heard, we are to give him a hearing, and

do that as the Senate.

Mr. J. Woods—I will submit to the gentleman from the fifth

(Mr. Benedict) whether this is not a trial, and whether the Governor

has not submitted to us to try whether the complaints submitted to

him are true. In the Smith case the witnesses were called and ex-

amined for the purpose of determining whether the charges were

true, and that examination was a trial and not a hearing. A hear-

ing is merely listening to the arguments of counsel as to whether

the trial shall proceed, and not the examination of witnesses.

Mr. Benedict—I regard this question as one of very great im-

portance to the parties, and my objection to the rules as they now
stand is, they give to this thing the character of a criminal trial,

which would be very unjust to the parties concerned. He is not

brought before us as a criminal or to be tried, and it is not a trial

in any sense. The Constitution says he shall have an opportunity

of being heard, and this is the opportunity. Now, the mode of

appearing is subject to the control of the Senate, and we may take

the depositions and hear the whole case as the Senate may please,

but it is an injustice to the party to call him the accused party to be

put on trial, when the vote really is, whether he shall not turn out

and give some one else his place. The moment you make it a crime,

you do what has never been done before, and shut out a good many
witnesses. The question for us to decide is, whether we shall

remove him or not; and I pt-otest against giving it the appear-

ance of a trial, and saying whether he shall be acquitted or convicted.

In a court of impeachment it will be different, because we there sit
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as judges; and the Constitution says the accused shall either be
acquitted or convicted. Again, if you do so in this case you do an

injustice to the executive power, and the party brought before it.

Instead of saying " accused," therefore, I would say " officer." "Why
should you not do so ? I would also strike out the words " in his

defense " in the second rule, as it is not a defense in a technical

sense. Then you say " the prosecution should have a seat within

the bar," but there is no prosecution at all. I would call him " offi-

cer charged," for it is somewhat of an assumption to call it a crime, as

a man can be turned out of office without being charged with a crime.

Mr. Adams moved that the heading be amended so as to read

" rules of the Senate for the consideration of certain charges against

judicial officers, recommended for removal by the Governor."

Mr. J. "Wood— Mr. President : The Governor does not recom-

mend his removal. He sent the case here for trial by examination

of witnesses. He says substantially the sufficiency of those charges

shall be tried by the Senate and not by the Governor. The final

decision is to be made by you and not by me. In the " Smith case
"

I find the words there used, " tried by the Senate." We are to sit

here as a court and examine and take testimony and adjudicate

;

that makes a court without reference to what name you call it. We
are to adjudicate upon these charges, that is, if the Governor is

correct in this case. This message, with the accompanying papers,

was sent to the judiciary committee to recommend such action as

they saw fit. In looking at the precedents we find the case of a

county judge that had been before the Senate in the case of the

county judge of Oneida county, and that was referred to the judici-

ary committee and that judiciary committee reported, as the judi-

ciary committee of the present Senate reported, that they had no

knowledge of any precendents or proceedings in such a case, it being,

as the committee is advised, entirely novel. That report was adopted

in 1866, and, under that, issues were settled, and he was tried before

the Senate the same as he would if he had been impeached, except

that the Assembly and the Court of Appeals took no part in it.

When this matter was submitted to the judiciary committee they

found this precedent, and they reported to the Senate that they

recommended that the proceedings in the case of Judge Smith shall

be the precedent in this case, and that report was unanimously

adopted. In this case Judge Prindle was summoned before the

committee for the purpose of settling the issues. He submitted his

demurrer and that demurrer has been argued. In the action here-

tofore taken in the Senate, it seems to me we have established the
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mode of proceeding, and that these rules are in substance a tran-

script of the rules adopted by the Senate in '66 ; if the Senate is to

adopt some new method, the sooner we do it the better.

Mr. Bekediot— Mr. President: Senators seem to have misappre-

hended my views in this matter, somewhat. I do not deny that it

may be right and expedient that we should go on ; I suppose we are

to go on and hear witnesses in all these eases ; hear what the party

is to show by his witnesses, and witnesses may be called on the

other side. The question now is, whether under our rules it is a fit

thing to say that the party is the accused and that he has a trial

;

and what the learned senator from the thirtieth district (James

Wood) says, in regard to the Governor, does not, it seems to me,

aifect the case at all. The Governor cannot confer any powers upon

the Senate ; he cannot make us a court ; he has no more power over

us than a king of England ; it is the Constitution that says what we
are, and what we are to do, instead of the Governor. The Gover-

nor issues his proclamation in the first place, and his message in

regard to this matter is eminently fit and proper ; he does not mean

to say the judge shall have a trial, but he says it shall belong to the

Senate, or not, to investigate.

Mr. J. Wood— That is a trial, is it not ?

Mr. Benedict— No, sir
;
you are to investigate charges, not to try

the man. We will decide whether we will remove him or not ; it

is not the trial of the man at all ; that is an entirely different

thing from trying a man. Suppose you try him for a thing that he

might be indicted for; can he set that up as a trial for defense?

Certainly not. The Constitution never dreamed of such a thing as

setting this up as a trial. An impeachment is a trial and the party

cannot be tried again after impeachment, except for that clause that

says that he may be tried again, and there is no such language in

legard to this.

Mr. WooDiN— Mr. President: Suppose one of the charges or

accusations made against the judge do amount to a misdemeanor;

if the charges be sustained and he be removed, would he be liable

for indictment for misdemeanor, if the statute has not run against him ?

Mr. Benedict— I think he would ; the reason that is so is, that

this is not a trial ; it is simply an investigation of the truth of the

charges the Governor has sent up ; the question submitted to us is,

did he do such a thing ? not is he guilty of such an offense ; we do
not punish him at all ; removing a man from an office that he has

no right to, as against the law and as against the public, is not a

punishment ; how many men are turned out of office every year at



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN. 61

Washington ? We do not turn them out here as often as they do in

Washington ; they are turned out at Washington by the thousands

every year. A great many of them have a hearing; a hearing

before the President and before the Senate, just as these parties are

entitled to a hearing here ; I do not propose to change it, so far as

the hearing is concerned, but to allow the parties to call the witnesses

to prove or disprove the charges, but not to try the judge or any

other man. It is not any part of our function ; and no man who
reads the Constitution, it seems to me, attentively or thoughtfully,

believes that there is a trial of the judge here ; I simply desire to

modify the rules so that we shall not get into a way of conducting these

things, that a subsequent Senate may disapprove of; I fully approve

of the message of the Governor, and I think there is nothing in that

that in the slightest degree militates against my view of the subject.

The rules were then adopted as follows

:

EUJLES OF THE SeNATE EOE THE CONSDDEKATION OF AND ACTION UPON
CHAEGBS OF MiSCONDUCT PKESENTED, XNT) TO BE PEESENTED, AGAINST

CERTAIN JUDICIAL OFFICEES.

I. The Senate shall, unless otherwise ordered, meet in the Senate

chamber daily at 9 A. m., and continue in session until 2, p. m.,

at which hour a recess shall be had until 4 o'clock, p. m., when it

shall meet again and continue in session -until 7 o'clock p. m.,

when it shall adjourn. But this rule may be changed by the Senate,

without previous notice, at any time, and the Senate may take a

recess or adjourn at a difEerent hour.

II. At its first meeting, the charges against the accused and his

answer thereto, as agreed to before the judiciary committee, shall be

read by the Clerk. The accused shall be called, and if he appear,

shall be assigned a place within the bar with such counsel as he

shall select to aid him in his defense. The counsel for the prosecu-

tion shall also have a place assigned them within the bar.

III. The prosecution and the accused shall alike be entitled to the

process of the Senate to compel the attendance of witnesses, signed

by the Clerk and sealed with the seal of the Senate, and tested in

the name of the Lieutenant-Governor and the President of the

Senate, and may be in the form following

:

The People of the State of New York, ly the grace of God, free

and independent

:

To ,

Greetmg:—You and each of you are hereby commanded and

required that, laying aside all other business, you be and appear in
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your own proper persons, before our Senate, at the Senate Chamber,

in the Capitol, in the city of Albany, on the— day of , A. D.

187—, at o'clock — m. of that day, to be examined as witnesses,

and to testify the truth and give evidence in our behalf (or on behalf

of the defendant hereinafter named) concerning certain charges then

and there to be tried and determined before our Senate, of our said

State, which have been made against ,
judge

,

of county, and upon which our Governor of our said State

has recommended to our Senate aforesaid that the said

be removed from his said office of . And hereof fail not at

your peril.

Witness, Hon. , Lieutenant-Governor of the State

of 'New York, and the President of the Senate thereof, this

day of , A. D., 187—.

Attest .
,

Clerk of the Senate.

And such subpoena may be served and returned in the manner

usual in courts of record of this State.

lY. All motions made by senators or by the counsel for the pros-

ecution, or for the accused, shall be addressed to the President of

the Senate, and, if he shall require, they shall be reduced to writing

and read at the desk of the Clerk ; and the decision thereof and of

all points and objection raised by the counsel shall be had after a

hearing of counsel, if they desire it, and by the vote of the Senate,

which, when demanded by any senator, shall be taken by ayes and

nays ; and the motions, points or objections shall be entered upon

the records of the Senate, together with the decision thereon. The
decision thereof shall be had without debate, unless a senator shall

desire debate, when, on motion to that end, if it shall be adopted

by the Senate, the chamber shall be cleared of all but privileged

persons, and discussion shall be had in private ; and the decision

arrived at shall be publicly announced by the President of the

Senate.

V. Each witness shall be, as he is called, sworn or affirmed by
the Clerk, in substantially the following form :

You do solemnly swear {or affirm) that the evidence which you
shall give upon this hearing upon certain charges preferred against
——

•

, and upon which liis removal from that office has

been recommended by the Governor, shall be the truth and nothing

but the truth, so help yoit God. {Or this you affirm.)

All the rules legal and usual in courts of record of this State, in
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regard to the introduction of evidence and the examination and
cross-examination of witnesses, must be observed.

YI. If a member of the Senate shall be called as a witness, he
shall be sworn or affirmed and give his testimony standing in his

place.

VII. The final vote of the Senate upon the charges preferred

shall be taken by the President of the Senate, who, upon each one

of the charges as it shall be separately read by the Clerk, shall, with

its number, propose to each senator in the order in which his name
stands upon the division list, the question :

" Senator, how say you,

is the first {or second, or whatever) item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " Each senator, when so questioned,

shall rise in his place and answer " Proven," or " Not Proven ;

"

and when the division list of the Senate shall have been gone

through with upon each charge, the result upon each charge shall

be announced and shall be entered upon the records of the Senate.

If a majority shall agree upon the finding " and proven " upon any

one or more of the items of said charges, the President shall, in the

same manner, put, and the senators shall, in the same manner,

answer the further question :
" Shall be

removed from his office of • for the cause stated in the

item (or items) of the charges preferred against him which you

have found proven ? " And the final judgment of the Senate

shall be certified to the Governor, by the President and Clerk of

the Senate.

VIII. The stenographer of the Senate, with such assistants as

he shall deem necessary, shall take the oral testimony, and the

President of the Senate shall procure the same to be printed for the

use of the Senate and counsel, at the opening of the Senate on the

day after any part of such printed report shall be brought in ; any

member of the Senate or either of the counsel may move to amend
the same in any particular, to be then stated in writing. The sten-

ographer and his assistants shall be first sworn faithfully to perform

their duties as such.

IX. The Clerk shall keep a book of records of the proceedings,

orders and judgments of the Senate, and the ayes and nays upon

every question in that way decided.

X. The President of the Senate shall direct all necessary prepar-

ations for the Senate chamber, and all forms of proceedings not

provided for in these rules and not otherwise ordered.

XI. In the discussion of interlocutory motions and objections

before the Senate, the party having the affirmative may be heard by
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one counsel, the opposite party may then be heard by one counsel,

and the party having the affirmative may in like manner be heard in

reply, and not exceeding twenty minutes shall be occupied by each

unless by permission of the Senate.

The Clerk then read the charges against Judge McCunn as

follows

:

Charges of Mal and Coeeupt Conduct m Office against Honoe-
ARLE John H. McCunn, a Justice of the Supbeioe Court of the
City of New Yoek.

Chaegb Fiest.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 17th day

of November, 1869, and the 1st day of July, 1870, then being a jus-

tice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty ot

jjaal and corrupt conduct in his office as a justice of said court, in an

'Action then pending in said court, wherein Abraham B. Clarke was

plaintiff, and Abraham Binninger was defendant, in this : That said

John H. McCunn continually, while said action was pending in said

court of which he was a justice, acted as counsel of the plaintiff in

said action, and in sundry actions growing out of it, wherein the

said plaintiff was plaintiff, and in relation to the matters therein

involved, not being himself a party to the actions or to either of

them. That he so acted as counsel in and about sundry and various

motions then pending, or, with his advice, about to be brought before

him as such justice aforesaid. That said John H. McCunn conspired

with Daniel H. Hanrahan, James F. Morgan, and other persons

unknown, to pervert and obstruct justice, and the due administration

of the laws in regard to said action ; and falsely to maintain said

actions before mentioned, and thereby to deprive the parties thereto

of their property without due process of law. That, in order to

effect the object of said conspiracy, the said John H. McCunn, at

his own private residence, a few minutes after midnight on the 18th

and on the 19th day of November, 1869, illegally granted an ejc

pcMfte order, in said action, whereby he summarily appointed said

Hanrahan receiver of, and ordered him to sell the partnership prop-

erty (amounting to many thousands of dollars in value) of said

plaintiff and defendant, without requiring any security in any due or

legal form, or in any sufficient amount from said Hanrahan, though
well knowing him to be a man without pecuniary responsibility, of

bad habits, and utterly unfit for such a trust. That said John H.
McCunn thereafter gave written and verbal directions to certain

deputy sheriffs of the city and county of New York, that they should
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take possession of said partnership property ; and conspired with,

instigated and procured them to do so, without any process or

authority known to the laws of the State of New York, but falsely

representing themselves to be acting therein as deputy sherifi's, under

directions of the sheriff, and with process from said Superior Court.

That said John H. McCunn, as said justice, thereafter, in said action,

made an order allowing to the sheriff of the city and county of New
York fees to a large amount, exceeding four thousand dollars, which

said justice ordered should be paid to said sheriff by the receiver out

of the said partnership property, no process ever having been issued

to said sheriff in the action, and no legal or lawful services having

ever been performed by him therein. That said John H. MeCunn,
in a proceeding in said action brought before himself, by his own
advice and direction, wrongfully and illegally caused one John S.

Beecher to be arrested and brought before him, said justice, and de-

prived of his liberty without any process whatever, and without any

charge against said Beecher which would warrant said arrest. That

said John H. McCunn, as said justice, in said action, when an order

had been regularly, for good cause, and duly, made therein on the

30th March, 1870, by Hon. Samuel Jones, a justice of said court

(who was then holding the special term of said court, where an ap-

plication for such an order should, according to the rules and prac-

tice of said court, be made), staying and enjoining the sale of said

partnership property, illegally and corruptly granted an order, pur-

porting to modify said order of Hon. Samuel Jones, justice, but

really annulling and vacating it, and thereby directed said sale to

proceed in disobedience of said order of injunction. That said

John H. McCunn granted said last-mentioned order without notice

to any of the parties to said action, without just cause, upon no

other papers than those on which the order it vacated had been

granted, and contrary to law. That, by another order granted in

said action, said John H. McCunn enjoined and prevented John S.

Beecher and Paul J. Armour, assignees in bankruptcy of said Clarke

and Binninger, duly appointed by the United States District Court

for the southern district of New York, from performing then-

duties as such assignees. That he granted such order without any

authority and contrary to law, no facts being in evidence before him

on which said order could be granted, and said assignees never having

been served with summons or process in said action.

That all such acts,orders and proceedings, and others in said action,

were done, made and had by said John H. McCunn, as justice afore-

said, with the intent and effect to accomplish the objects of said con-

9
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spiracy. And, in consequence thereof, said plaintifi and defendant

and their just creditors suffered damage, and were wrongfully and

Hlegally deprived of their property, to an amount exceeding

$200,000.

Charge Second.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 17th day

of January, 1870, and the 1st day of January, 1872, then being a

justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty

of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as such justice, in this

:

That in an action pending in said court, wherein one Albert B.

Corey was plaintiff, and Walter B. Long was defendant, the said

John H. McCunn illegally, corruptly, and with the intent and effect

of thereby enabling one James M. Gano, who was a brother-in-law

of said justice, to make to himself large gains and profits, did, on

the 18th day of January, 1870, conspire with said Gano and other

persons unknown, to injure and defraud the defendant and others

of their property and just rights by making and entering an ex

parte summary order, falsely purporting to be an order of the said

Superior Court, appointing said James M. Gano receiver of all the

partnership property (of many thousands of dollars in value) of

said Corey and Long, though no appointment of a receiver by said

justice had been applied for, and though the only application in the

action theretofore made to said justice was for a mere judge's order,

returnable before the court, to show cause why a receiver should

not, on the return day of the order, be appointed by the court after

hearing the parties. That said justice so appointed said Gano such

receiver without requiring any security to be given by him, though

said justice well knew said Gano to be a man without pecuniary

responsibility and unfit for such trust, and dependent upon said jus-

tice for support for himself and family. That the only bond even pur-

porting to be given by said Gano, as such receiver, for the faithful

performance of his duties, was executed by the obligors, and was

approved by said justice before the said receiver was appointed,

to wit, on the 17th day of January, 1870. That said John H.

McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, illegally, and without jurisdic-

tion, granted orders for the payment of a fee to the counsel for the

plaintiff in said action, and of other fees to persons unknown by

said receiver, out of the fund in his custod}'', and such fees were

thereupon so paid by such receiver to persons unknown. That all

said acts of said justice were wrongful, illegal and corrupt, and were
done with the intent and effect thereby to deprive the plaintiff and
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defendant in said action, and their creditors, of their property, with-

out due process of law, contrary to the laws of the State of New
York.

Chauge Thied.

That said John H. McOunn, at divers times between the 10th day

of December, 1869, and the 1st day of January, 18Y1, then being a

justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty of

mal and corrupt conduct in his office as justice as aforesaid, in this :

That, in an action pending in said court, wherein Anna M. Elliott

was plaintiff, and Mary P. Butler was defendant, the said plaintiff,

being then a tenant of said John H. McCunn, hiring from him
the premises No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street, in the city of

New York, sought to recover, by proceedings before said justice, the

rent alleged to be due for said premises from the defendant Eutler,

as sub-tenant to the plaintiff Elliott. That, in and by the complaint

in said action, it appeared that the said plaintiff was dependent on

the rents to be received from the said defendant for said premises to

make the payment of the rents due from the said plaintiff to said

John H. McCunn, her superior landlord. That said John H.
McCunn, being a justice as aforesaid, and being so interested in the

result of said action, well knowing all the facts of the case, made
and entered, on the 10th day of December, 1869, an ex 2yarte order,

falsely purporting to be an order of the court, whereby he sum-

marily appointed James M. Gano, who was a brother-in-law of

said John H. McCunn, and the agent of said John H. McCunn,

for the collection of the rents of said premises, receiver, to collect,

receive and hold all money due or to become due from the boarders

of said defendant, on said premises No. 54 "West Twenty-fourth

street. That said order was made and entered by said justice ille-

gally, without jurisdiction, and with the corrupt intent, and with the

effect thereby to enable said Gano to receive the moneys due to said

defendant, and deprive said defendant of the same without due pro-

cess of law, and to thereby secure the said moneys to the said John

H. McCunn himself, through his said agent, and in pursuance of a

conspiracy made and entered into by said John H. McCunn, said

Gano and other persons unknown, to deprive said defendant of her

property and illegally obtain possession of the same ; in all of which

said John H. McCunn thereby succeeded to his own personal profit

and gain, and to the great injury of both the plaintiff' and defendant.
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Chabge Fotieth.

That the said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 20th

day of February, 1870, and the 25th day of March, 1870, then being

a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty

of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as justice as aforesaid, in an

action then pending in said court, wherein Edward W. Brandon was

plaintiff, and Jerome Buck and William Butler Duncan and other

members of the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and others,

were defendants, in this : That the said John H. McCunn, as a justice

as aforesaid, in said action did, on or about the 21st day of February,

1870, make and enter an order falsely purporting to be an order of

the court, summarily appointing Daniel H. Hanrahan receiver

of a fund of $12,000, more or less, then in the hands of said

Duncan, Sherman & Company, as bankers, on deposit. That, by

the papers on which said order was granted, it clearly appeared that

there was no fund or property in the hands of said Duncan, Sherman

& Company in which the plaintiff had any interest, legal or equi-

table. That said order was so made and entered gratuitously, not

upon motion of the plaintiff or of any of the defendants in said

action, in opposition to the wishes of them all, and without notice

to any of them. That, though the said justice then well knew said

Hanrahan to be a man without pecuniary responsibility and unfit

for such trust, no legal or sufficient security was exacted from him
for the faithful performance of his duties as such receiver. That

said action was immediately and on or about the 23d day of Feb-

ruary, 1870, discontinued, without costs, by an order of the court,

duly entered, upon the consent of all the parties, and the said order

appointing said receiver was thereupon vacated, and set aside by
an order of the court, upon such consent. That, thereafter, on

the 21st day of March, 1870, said John H. McCunn, as a justice

as aforesaid, gratuitously and without notice to any of the parties

in interest, and well knowing the premises, nevertheless made
and entered a further order, falsely purporting to be an order of

the court, summarily appointing one Joseph Meeks receiver in the

same action, of the same money, and directing said firm of Duncan,
Sherman & Company to pay said money to said receiver. That
said orders were granted by said John H. McCunn corruptly, and
without any jurisdiction or authority to grant them, and with the

corrupt intent and with the effect thereby to wrongfully oppress and
harass the members of said firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company
and the other defendants, and to put them to great and unnecessary
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expense, and to deprive them of their property without due process

of law, contrary to the laws of the State of New York, and with the

intent thereby to enable said receivers and their respective counsel

to secure large gains and profits to themselves, illegally.

Chaege Fifth.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 20th day
of June, 1869, and the 1st day of January, 1872, then being a justice

of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty of mal
and corrupt conduct in his said ofl&ce, in an action pending in said

Superior Court, wherein John O'Mahony was plaintiff and August

Belmont and others were defendants, and in certain other actions

connected therewith, in this : That said John H. McCunn, as a

justice as aforesaid, wrongfully and illegally made and entered an

order in said action, on the 16th day of July, 1869, whereby he

appointed Thomas J. Barr receiver of certain moneys, amounting

to $16,000, more or less, in gold coin of the United States, and

ordered, directed and required the defendants, August Belmont

and Ernest Lueke, to pay over to said receiver an amount, in cur-

rent moneys, equivalent to said sum in gold. That it clearly

appeared to said justice, by the papers then before him, that there

was no fund or property in the hands of either of the defendants,

whereof a receiver could be lawfully appointed, and there was no

fimd whatever in the hands of the defendants, or of either of

them, to which the plaintiff had any claim. That said John H.

McCunn, as said justice, on or about the 18th day of July, 1869,

illegally ordered and compelled one of said defendants, said

Ernest Lucke, to pay said sum of money to said receiver. That he

so compelled said payment by threats of illegal imprisonment.

That said justice so compelled such payment, well knowing that he

had no power to issue any warrant or other process for the imprison-

ment of said Lucke in the premises. That said justice granted said

order, appointing said receiver, of his own motion, and not on the

motion of any party to the action, and against the wishes and

express stipulations, in writing, of the respective counsel for both

the plaintiff and the defendants, and with the corrupt intent and

with the effect thereby to enable said Barr to make for himself large

gains and profits thereby, and with the corrupt intent and with the

effect to thereby deprive the said defendants of their property

without due process of law. That the said John H. McCunn, as a

justice as aforesaid, thereafter, with the corrupt intent and with the

effect aforesaid, made and entered divers illegal orders in the prem-
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ises, well knowing that they were illegal. That all such orders and

proceedings were so had and made in collusion and conspiracy with

said receiver and other persons unknown, with the intent and elFect to

thereby wrongfally oppress and harass said defendants, Belmont and

Lucke, and to put them to unnecessary expense, and to make illegal

gains to said receiver and other persons, who had no claim whatever to

the moneys to which said actions related.

Chaege Sixth.

That said John H. McCunn, in the months of July and August,

1869, then being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of J^ew

York, was guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his office of a Jus-

tice of said court in an action then pending in said court, wherein

ISTorbury Hicks was plaintiff and P. W. Bishop was defendant, in

this : That he, the said John H. McCunn, on or about the 30th of

July, 1869, did, in said action, grant an order directing and compell-

ing the sheriff' of the city and county of ISTew York to arrest said

defendant Hicks, and hold him to bail in the sum of $40,000.

That it clearly appeared by the papers then before said jus-

tice, and on which said order of arrest was granted, that the

plaintiff had no cause of action against the defendant. That there-

after a motion was made and heard before said John H. McCunn,
as such justice, to vacate the said order of arrest, or reduce the

amount of said bail, upon affidavits and papers that showed con-

clusively that the court had no discretion to refuse the application

on the merits. That said motion was denied by said justice, never-

theless. That said John H. McCunn granted said order of arrest, and

denied said motion to vacate the same, corruptly, and with the

intent and effect thereby illegally and wrongfully to deprive the said

defendant of his liberty ; and fixed the amount of his bail at an

excessive and exorbitant amount, with the wrongful and corrupt

intent, and with the effect aforesaid, contrary to the Constitution

and laws of the State of New York, and in pursuance of a conspiracy

in the premises by said justice, entered into and caxried out with

said plaintiff and other persons unknown.

Chaege Seventh.

That said John H. McCunn, on the 9th day of July, 1869, then
being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of JSTew York, was
guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as a justice afore-

said, in this : That, in an action then pending in said court, wherein
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Edward Van JSTess was plaintiff and Henry Leeds and others were
defendants, an order had been made and entered by said court,

npon consent of all the parties, referring the issues therein to

Thomas H. Edsall, Esq., as sole referee to hear and determine, and
the hearings before said referee had proceeded, all the parties had
appeared before the referee, the plaintiff had rested his case and
large expenses had been incurred therein. That, on a motion there-

after brought on before said justice by one of the defendants, for

an order vacating and setting aside the said order of reference, and
restoring the cause to the calendar, to be tried at a regular term of

the court in due course, upon the grounds and allegations that the

consent to the reference of said moving defendant was insufficient,

and that the action was not, under the statute, referable without

consent of all the parties, an order was made and entered by said

justice, granting the motion on said grounds made, but arbitrarily

and illegally referring the issues to William M. Tweed, Jr., as sole

referee to hear and determine, and summarily appointing one

Thomas J. Ban- receiver of the fund and property concerning

which the litigation had arisen. That said order, so made and

entered by said justice, was not drawn or submitted by or for

either of the parties to the action, or the attorney or counsel

of either of them. That no reference to said Tweed, or to

any person other than said Edsall, as referee, had ever been

applied for by either of the parties. That neither of • the

parties had applied for the appointment of a receiver of

the fund and property in question, which were then in the

hands of the firm of " Leeds & Miner," where all the parties

desired, and had so expressed themselves, that it should remain,

pending judgment in the action, and with regard to which firm it

was not alleged or pretended that the fund and property were in

any danger of injury, waste or loss while in their custody. That

said order was so made and entered by said justice illegally, without

jurisdiction, and with the corrupt intent, and with the effect, thereby

to enable said Barr to receive and take possession of said fund and

property to his own use, and to wrongfully oppress and harass the

members of said firm of " Leeds & Miner," and said other parties

to the action, put them to great and unnecessary expense, and deprive

them of their property without due process of law, contrary to the

laws of the State of New Tork, pursuant to a conspiracy between

said justice and said Barr, Tweed, and others unknown, and with the

intent and effect thereby to enable said Barr, receiver, and said

Tweed, referee, and their respective counsel, to secure large gains
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and profits to themselves illegally, to the personal advantage of said

justice.

Chaege Eighth.

That the said John H. McCunn, a justice as aforesaid, by his said

and manifold other wrongful and illegal and corrupt acts, has repeat-

edly oppressed and harassed citizens of the State of New York, and

deprived them of their liberty and property without any or due pro-

cess of law, but to his own personal gain and advantage, pecuniary

and other, and has thereby brought the administration of justice into

contempt, and caused deep-seated and general distrust and fear in

regard to proceedings in the courts of this State.

Dated JSTew Yoek, March 18, 1872.

JOSHUA M. YKE COTT,
JOHIS" E. PAESONS,
ALBEET STICKNET,

Committee of the Bar Association.

The Cleek then read the answer of the respondent, as follows

:

IN THE SENATE OF THE STATE OF NEW YOEK.

In the Matter of the Chakges against
John H. McCunn, a Justice of the
Superior Court of the City of New
York.

To the Honoralle the Senate of the State of New York :

The respondent, John H. McCunn, for answer to the charges
against him as a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, now pending before your honorable body, not waiving any
right to him pertaining to object by motion or otherwise, as he may
be advised by counsel, to any or all the proceedings iipon which said

charges are based, or to the regularity of any or all proceedings in
reference thereto, had previous to the service of the same on him,
or to the said charges, or either of them, as to their manner, form or
sufficiency in law, says

:

First. That he is one of the justices of the said Superior Court of
the city of New York, and was elected to the said office at a general
election held in and for the State, city and county of New York in
the month of November, 1869, for the term of six years, to commence
on the 1st day of January, 1870 ; that, on or about the 1st day of
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January, 1870, he duly took and filed the oath of oihce provided by
law, as such justice of the said court, and that on the said 1st day of

January, 1870, he entered upon the duties of his office as such justice,

and has from thence hitherto continued to hold and occupy the said

office and to perform the duties thereof ; and the said respondent, in

further answer to the said charges and each and every of them,

while he does not admit any or either of the allegations therein con-

tained, or waive or intend to waive his right to deny the same, and

each and every of them, says, that he insists that any, each and all of

the acts and matters in the said charges, and each of them alleged,

if they shall be, by proper and competent proof, in the judgment

of your honorable body, shown to have occurred, or to have been

committed by him, will be shown to have occurred before his election

to the said office for the term for which he now holds the same, and

before he took the oath of office as aforesaid, as such justice, and en-

tered upon the performance of the duties of the said office for the said

term; and he further avers and insists, that for the reasons aforesaid,

your honorable body has no jurisdiction to try him upon the said

charges, or either of them, or to remove him or advise his removal

from the said office, for, or on account, or by reason of any, either,

or all of the acts and matter alleged and, complained of in the said

several charges, or any or either of them.

Second. And for a further and separate answer to the said charges,

and each and every of them, the said respondent insists and avers

that the said several matters therein alleged do not, nor does any or

either of them, constitute an offense for which this respondent is

liable to removal, or for which your honorable body, under the Con-

stitution of the State of Jfew York, are empowered to remove him

from the said office.

Third. And for further and separate answer to the said charges,

and each of them, the respondent says he denies each and every of

the said charges, and each and every allegation in the said several

charges contained.

Albany, May 23, 1872.

JOHN" H. MoCUNN, by

A. 0. Davis, of Counsel.

Mr. Davis— I would suggest, Mr. President, that it was under-

stood at the former meeting of the Senate, that we should have leave

to amend our answer, and we desire, with the leave of the Senate,

to interpose an amended answer.

The Peesibent— Is the amended answer prepared ?

10
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Mr. Davis— It is, sir.

Tlie Cleek then read the amended answer, as follows

:

To the Honorable the Senate of the State of New York

:

The respondent, John H. McCnnn, for answer to the proceedings

taken and charges made against him as a justice of the Superior Court

of the city of New York, now pending before your honorable body,

not waiving any right to him pertaining, to object by motion or

otherwise, as he may be advised by counsel, to any or all the pro-

ceedings upon which said charges are based, or to the regularity of

any or all proceedings in reference thereto, had previous to the ser-

vice of the same on him, or to the said charges or either of them, as

to their manner, form or sufficiency in law, says :

First. That he is one of the justices of the said Superior Court of

the city of New York, and was duly elected to the said office at a

general election held in and for the city and county of JSTew York,

in the month of November, 1869, for the term of six years, to com-

mence on the first day of January, 1870 ; that, on or about the first

day of January, 1870, he duly took and filed the oath of office pro-

vided by law as such justice of said court ; and that, on the said first

day of January, 1870, he entered upon the duties of his office as

such justice, and has from thence hitherto continued to hold and

occupy the said office, and to perform the duties thereof.

Second. And the said respondent, further answering, claims and

insists that this honorable body has no jurisdiction to hear, act upon,

or determine the charges, or an}', or either of them preferred against

him, or to remove him the said John H. McCunn, or to advise his

removal from said office, for the reason that the Governor of the

State of New York has not recommended his removal by the Senate,

and no investigation whatever has been had by the Governor into

the said charges preferred against this respondent, and no judicial

determination has been arrived at by the Governor whereon he

could base a recommendation, that said respondent be removed.

Third. And the said respondent, in further answer to the said

charges and each and every of them, while he does not admit any or

either of the allegations therein contained, or waive, or intend to

waive, his rights to deny the same, and each and every of them, says

that he insists that any, each and all of the acts and matters in the

said charges and each of them alleged, if they shall be by proper

and competent proof in the judgment of your honorable body shown
to have occurred, or to have been committed by him, will be shown
to have occurred before his election to the said office for the term
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for -which he now holds the same, and before he took the oath of

office as aforesaid, as such justice, and entered upon the performance

of the duties of said office for the said term ; and he avers and insists

that for the reasons aforesaid, your honorable body has no jurisdic-

tion to try him upon the said charges, or either of them, or to

remove him, or advise his removal from the said office, for or on

account of or by reason of any, either or all of the acts and matters

alleged and complained of in the said several charges, or any or either

of them, and especially as to any and all acts and charges alleged to

have taken place prior to the said first day of January, 1870.

Fourth. And for a further and separate answer to the said

charges, and each and every of them, the said respondent insists and

avers that the said several matters therein alleged do not, nor does

any or either of them, constitute an offense or cause for which this

respondent is liable to removal, or which your honorable body, under

the Constitution of the State of New York, are empowered to re-

move him from the said office, or to advise his removal therefrom.

Fifth. And for a further and separate answer to the said charges

and each of them, this respondent says he denies each and evei-y of

the said charges, and each and every allegation in the said several

charges contained.

JOHN li. 'MoCUNN,
H. E. SELDEN,
A. 0. DAVIS,
N. C. MOAK,
JOHN E. DEVLIN,
DANIEL E. LYDDY,

Counsel.

The Peesident— The Clerk will call John H. McCunn.

Judge McCunn appeared in person and by the following counsel

:

Messrs A. C. Davis, N. C. Moak, Daniel E. Lyddy and W. S.

Hevenor.

The following appeared as counsel for the State : Joshua M. Van
Oott, John E. Parsons, Albert Stickney and Burton N. Harrison.

Mr. Van Cott—Mr. President : It was ordered that witnesses be

called to substantiate the charges, by direction of the chairman of

the Senate judiciary committee; the process was returnable at 10

o'clock, A. M., to-morrow, at which time the witnesses will be in

attendance and we will be ready to proceed in the case.

The President—^The Chair will suggest to the counsel of the

prosecution that this seems to be an issue of law. I would inquire

whether that will be disposed of preliminarily.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : On behalf of Judge McCunn, I wish
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to state that but two of his counsel are here to-day. Judge Selden of

Rochester is unable to be here ; Mr. Devlin is engaged in the trial

of the case of Stanton v. Butler, which has proceeded for some time,

and which seems to be running on indefinitely ; a very important

case ; and I have a letter from Judge Selden, in which he states his

inability to be present, just at the present time. He can be present

very soon ; he has a case at Batavia, awaiting trial. The counsel of

Judge McCunn had supposed that, in the natural order, the case of

Judge Prindle would be tried before the case of Judge McCunn.

That the same points which are raised in Judge McCunn's case were

raised in Judge Prindle's case ; and our position had been that if the

demurrer was overruled in this case, that the Prindle case would go

to trial. "We have one or two other points raised in the case of Judge

McCunn, which we consider questions of very grave importance

;

questions that go to the very basis of this investigation, and we are

exceedingly reluctant to attempt the argument of those questions,

without the presence of Judge Selden and Mr. Devlin. "We are not

anxious for any postponement for any considerable length of time,

but just long enough that Judge McCunn may have the benefit of

their great learning in this matter, upon these preliminary questions.

We therefore ask the Senate, Mr. President, to postpone the hearing

of this case for such length of time as may be necessary to have the

assistance, on the part of Judge McCunn, of Judge Selden and Mr.

Devlin.

Mr. Yan Cott— Mr. President : This is a question in which the

public have a great interest. We do not wish to interpose any

unreasonable objection to any reasonable claim made on the other

side for time. We are here at great inconvenience, and we have files

from the records of the courts of Wew York that cannot be kept

from the files, without serious inconvenience to the court and to the

suitors. On our part, the application which was made on the other

side, is opposed, and we have made our arrangements with reference

to them, upon the expectation of meeting the engagement and

performing it promptly. Nevertheless, we shall submit ourselves

to the direction of the court, of course.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President: I suggest that these witnesses can

all be reached by telegram this afternoon, in season to prevent them
from coming here, and thus inconveniencing them, and it will be a

great hardship to Judge McCunn, under the circumstances, to be
deprived of the able assistance of Judge Selden and Mr. Devlin,

especially in arguing the preliminary questions.

Mr. Murphy— Mr. President : When this matter was before the
Judiciary Committee, it was distinctly stated by Judge McCnnn and
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his counsel, that they were ready to submit the case upon the printed
matter that was before the Assembly. During the interval that has
taken place since our last meeting, one of the counsel for the

prosecution has stated to me the fact, that they were willing, on their

part, to submit the case upon the printed testimony taken before the

Assembly. I want to know what would be the course of the Senate
in the matter. I stated to him that it was the right of Judge
MeCunn to have this testimony taken over again before the Senate,

if he thought proper; but from intimations I have received from
both sides, it has left an impression upon my mind, that they were
willing to have the testimony that has already been taken once, and
reduced to writing and printed, read here as evidence upon the trial

of these charges. If that be so, then all diiBculty vanishes in regard

to this proposed adjournment ; if it be understood, on the adjourn-

ment, that this testimony can be read, and these witnesses need not

be called. I refer to it, to know if such be the disposition on both

sides.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : I was here at the former meeting of

the Senate at the time the demurrer in Judge Prindle's case was
argued ; I remained in the ante-room an hour or two after the Senate

went into secret session, and was compelled to leave before the Senate

adjourned. I understood then, that the case of Judge Prindle

would be first taken up, and this is the first time that I have heard

an intimation that the case of Judge McCunn would be now moved
for trial ; I saw what appeared in the newspapers, and that was all

;

that it was determined until to-day with the case of Judge Prindle.

On examining this printed case, I, of course, am unable to say what
was suggested by counsel at the time when this answer was put in,

for I was not present. I find that this testimony, instead of being

taken under the ordinary rules of law, which would apply to the

taking of such testimony, it is interspersed with all sorts of supposi-

tions of witnesses, called inferences, that would be entirely illegal,

and the committee even went so far, in one case, as to call a gentle-

man as a witness, and ask their own witness whether he had not

made a statement in going down on the cars in the city of ISTew

York to a certain place, and then the committee called a witness to

dispute him.

Mr. MuEPHT—Mr. President : I do not propose to make an argu-

ment in this matter. I am asking whether they are willing to abide

by that printed evidence. I do not want any reasons assigned.

Mr. MoAK—Mr. President : I was giving that as a reason why I

advised Judge McCunn, if that testimony was to be introduced it



78 PEOCEEDINGS IN THE

would prejudice his case by getting extraneous matters before the

Senate. If we desire, of course, the testimony must be taken orally.

Mr. J. Wood—Mr. President : The question of whether Judge

McCunn's case should be taken up, was discussed in the Senate

previous to our last adjournment. The Senate passed a resolu-

tion, directing it to be served upon the counsel of Judge McCunn,

that his trial would be taken up at this hearing. With that

view, I, as chairman of the Judiciary Committee, supposing the

trial would proceed, caused subpoenas to be issued, and the witnesses

subpoenaed. I had heard of this oifer to take the testimony as it

was taken before the Judiciary Committee of the Assembly, and I

called upon the counsel of Judge McOunn, and he informed me
that he should advise Judge McCunn that the better way would be,

to have the testimony taken over again. I supposed that had been

agreed upon, and hence I advised them that subpoenas would be

furnished them by the Clerk if they desired to examine witnesses.

Mr. Van Cott—Mr. President : We are entirely willing to pro-

ceed with the case upon the printed testimony, subject to any objec-

tion to that evidence. I think the criticism will be found to be

pretty small criticism, when examined in connection with the evi-

dence. I suggest here, that I hope it will not be regarded as a set-

tled question by the Senate, that this printed evidence is not per-

fectly competent evidence for this inquiry. I think I am prepared

to convince any senator open to conviction, that that body of evi-

dence is perfectly competent here, and such as the Senate may say,

may be acted upon, unless it is repelled by evidence adduced from

the other side.

Mr. D. P. Wood—Mr. President : For the purpose of bringing

this matter before us to a determination, I move the trial of Judge

McCunn be proceeded with to-morrow morning at ten o'clock.

Whilst I am ready at all times to grant all reasonable adjournments

for the accommodation of counsel and all parties that can in reason

be asked, I fail to view the application made to-day, in good faith)

why thi? case should be postponed. It appears it was set down for

trial at the last meeting of the Senate, and it was understood by the

counsel for the prosecution, that the trial was to go on and the wit-

nesses should be subpoenaed for the prosecution, and I understand
from the counsel, they are to be here to-morrow morning. Counsel
upon the other side, could not have anticipated their case would not

be reached, and that the Senate could not be expected to take it up,

because they knew that the decision, whatever it might be upon the
demurrer in Judge Prindle's case, placed that case out of the way of
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tiieir case, and leave theirs first upon the calendar ; for, if the demur-
rer had not been overruled then, that disposed of the case. The
overruling of the demurrer, the counsel, ofcourse, understood, allowed

the judge either to put in his plea and time to prepare for trial, or

else judgment was to be entered against him upon the demurrer ; in

either case it left the calendar clear for Judge McCunn's case.

Counsel of the Judge must bear in mind that here are some twenty-

eight or thirty men who have left their business to come here, at a

great sacrifice to themselves, to dispose of this case, and they cannot,

1 submit, be asked to make any greater or any unnecessary sacrifice,

such as is proposed, to meet the convenience of counsel, one or two
men employed upon some other case in which they have been

engaged as counsel. The State is full of counsel ready to sit down
and try this case. I submit we ought not to be asked (the Senate

of the State of l^ew York) to postpone this case and come back here

again simply to serve the convenience of one or two men, and for

that reason I am in favor of proceeding with the case to-morrow

morning. I do not understand the counsel of the Judge as raising a

question of law, except as it may arise during the progress of the

trial. I understand that to be the position that they have placed

themselves in, and, therefore, we commence with the trial, and, for

aught we know or think, their counsel may be here prepared to

meet those questions whenever they shall be reached.

Mr. D. P. Wood's motion was carried.

The Senate then adjourned until to-morrow morning at 10 o'clock.

SECOND DAY'S PROCEEDINGS.
Albany, June 19, 1872.

The court met pursuant to adjournment, and proeeedings were

resumed.

Messrs. Davis, Moak and Peekham, appeared for the respondent.

Mr. Johnson— Mr. President: It seems to me, if it would be

agreeable to the prosecution and the defendant to save the time- of

the Senate, it would be exceedingly appropriate and proper if a com-

mittee were appointed by this body to take the testimony, and that

committee might visit the locality. It would be a great saving of

time to the Senate if that committee would take that testimony.

The testimony could be given to each senator, and the argument

might be heard before the Senate, and it would also save expense.

If agreeable to the parties interested, I hope this case might take
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that direction, and therefore, I would move an amendment to the

motion from the senator from the twenty second (Mr. D. P. Wood),

that a committee of three from the-Senate be appointed to take the

testimony in this case. I will not make the motion, unless agreeable

to both the prosecution and defense, and, if agreeable, I would like

to hear from both the prosecutor and respondent, whether such a

course would be agreeable to them.

Mr. WooDiN— Mr. President : It is my purpose to ask of the Senate

indefinite leave of absence, and desire to state the circumstances

under which I am placed. I expect, of course, to be here at the

opening of the proceedings, and at the conclusion of the trial. I

expect to avail myself of such means as the Senate may place in my
power, to acquaint myself with the evidence that may be taken before

the Senate, and to take part in the final judgment or disposition of

the matter. Senators very well know that it is an impossibility for

me to be present during the trial of this case, and I trust that no

proceeding may be had to compel my attendance during the trial.

That counsel may know, as well as the Senate, I may state that my
family are very much indisposed, and it is very improper that I should

be away from home. I ought to be there this hour. I can read the

testimony, and I expect to be quite as well able to take part in the

final disposition of the case, as I should have been could I have been

present and listened to the entire trial.

Mr. MiTEPHY— Mr. President : I would like to inquire of counsel

whether they conceive it necessary that the senators voting upon the

charges must be present during the whole investigation ?

Mr. Peckham— Mr. President: I don't know that it is absolutely

and legally necessary that every senator who assumes to vote on the

final disposition of the case should have been present during the time

when the testimony was taken ; but while the testimony is being

taken, it seems to me that it is highly proper and right that all the

senators who are to assume to vote upon the question should have
been present during the taking of that testimony in order that they

may have the benefit of the oral examination thus had, and see the

general demeanor of the witnesses, and have all the means of testing

the truth of the witnesses thus upon the stand, that nothing short of

a personal examination can give. I do not know that it is legally

necessary where a senator assumes to vote upon the question that he
should have been present during the whole of the examination, but I

think it extremely appropriate and right that he should be, and it is

certain that he would be more fitted to discharge the high duty of
voting upon the questions that will come before him after he has
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seen the witnesses and heard all the testimony, than he could possibly

be by perusing the written or printed evidence laid before him.

Mr. WooDiN— Mr. President : Before the Senate shall adjourn, I

shall make application to the Senate for an indefinite leave of absence.

I desire to remark that it was proper for either, of the accused judges

to have elected to have had this testimony taken before a committee,

and not before the whole Senate, and the whole Senate would have

been called upon to act upon that testimony.

Mr. Johnson— Mr.President : If, as it would now seem, that the

testimony in. each one of these cases of the accused judges is to be

taken orally before the Senate, it is evident that the entire term of

the Senate must be taken up until the first of next January. It seems

to me to be too much to expect this body, elected as a Senate, whose

ordinary duties extend scarcely beyond one hundred days, that the

private business of senators should be engrossed in attending the

sittings of this Senate in this investigation, when business of so much
importance is requiring their attention in their respective localities

;

as for me, I can only say that it is literally impossible for me to

remain here during the entire summer, and I was in hopes a com-

mittee would be agreed upon by which this testimony could be taken

and reported to the Senate, and the argument listened to, and we
could have been prepared to act and vote upon it, as in our judgment,

seem to be right. But, while I shall make it my business to attend at

the opening of the cases, and, if possible, at the consummation of the

final closing of each case, as for remaining here during the entire

season, it is simply impossible. I cannot do it ; my business has

been neglected during the session, somewhat protracted, which re-

quired my attention, and how other senators may be circumstanced,

I have no means of knowing. I hope no action submitted by the

counsel for the prosecution, will be taken by the Senate, which, I

believe, the senators will, with a very great degree of unanimity,

attend and acquaint themselves with the testimony as published and

will be on hand at the final conclusion of the cases ; I do not expect

that the Senate will be here in a body, to attend the taking of this

oral testimony during the entire summer ; the case of Judge McCunn
is important, containing a great many charges involving the exami-

nation of a number of witnesses, and it will necessarily take a con-

siderable length of time ; the case of Judge Prindle with fifty-four

charges, must necessarily take a long time, and should not be hur-

riedly gone over. Our duty to the accused should prompt the Senate

to deliberate calmly upon each one of the charges, and to give to the

accused every opportunity of exonerating himself, and we must take

11
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a considerable length of time ; and then the case ot Jadge Curtis,

sent by the Governor tons yesterday, is equally important, requiring

the attendance of a large number of witnesses, and a very consider-

able length of time, and I do not see how it is impossible, to say

nothing of the impeachment case, but that the entire season, from

now until January, must be consumed in the investigation of these

cases.

Mr. MiJEPHT— Mr. President : We had a distinct statement from

one of the gentlemen representing the prosecution in the Prindle

case, that, in his opinion, the actual presence of senators, during the

taking of testimony, was not necessary ; there has been no response

from any other quarter, and from the silence—
Mr. Van Cott—We are quite ready to respond.

Mr. Mttepht—• I was going to say, there being no response from

any other quarter, and the seeming acquiescence in the views taken

by the counsel, I suppose it may be taken as granted, that in view

of the position of the counsel on both sides in both eases it is not

actually necessary that the senators should be constantly present

during these trials. Mr. President, it has been my fortune to be

present during two trials before a Senate, one forming a component

part of the court of impeachment, and another in the capacity in

which we are now assembled here, and therefore have had some ex-

perience in regard to them. I know that they are necessarily dila-

tory in their proceedings. I have not the least expectation, if we
proceed to take the testimony in these cases orally, that we can get

through with either of them under several weeks for each. It is

utterly impossible to do it from the nature of the case ; from the

number of the counsel employed ; the magnitude of the question,

and the numerous other facts. I have never shrunk from the per-

formance of an official duty. I will not now ; but I appear here

to-day quite an invalid. I have been under surgical attention for

the last six weeks, daily, and should be home. I had intended to

ask to be excused, but I will not. I will attend here as often as I

can, and will be here at the linal judgment. I give this notice to

all parties.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : We do not consider the inquiry

was addressed to the counsel in the McCunn case. .But I, on the

authority of Judge McCunn, will make this suggestion. Of course

I deem it of great importance that those who should pass upon the

case, should see the witnesses and the manner of their giving their

testimony. In view of the suggestion made by various senators,

this idea occurs to me : It is quite probable that, during the taking
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the testimony the attendance of senators might be so small for a great
portion of the time, that practically it might amount to the same
thing as the taking the testimony before a committee. We had
intended in this case of McCunn's to raise a preliminary question
and ask its decision before the taking the testimony. It has been
suggested by senators here, and I think a resolution' has been passed
that the taking of the testimony in the Prindle case be commenced
a week from to-day. We are willing to do this, and I would suggest
it to counsel upon the opposite side, to postpone the examination
and discussion of that question and its decision until the meeting of

the Senate on that occasion, so that Judge Selden, who is now
absent, may be present ; and if that decision shall be made against

us, and the Senate should hold the examination of the case must be
had, that tlie trial must go on, we think it is quite likely that, so far

as the attendance of senators is concerned, justice might be done us,

and we-are willing that a committee of three or five (which ever the
Senate may desire; of course we should prefer as many as possible

of them should be lawyers) may be appointed to take the evidence

in the city of Eew York, if that will accommodate the senators, if the

Senate think that is a proper disposition of the case, and will give us

until next week to examine the question and have a decision at that

time. The discussion can be had at the meeting for the trial of

Judge Prindle's case, and we will discuss the question and have it

disposed of ; and if against us, we are willing that the testimony

shall be taken in the city of New York. I understand from a

reading of the printed case, which has been submitted to the Senate,

or sent to the Senate by the Governor, that a considerable portion

of the proceedings in the case are matters of record in the Clerk's

ofiBce. I can see, very readily, from the preliminary examination

which I have made in this case, that it may be impossible to get

them here without great trouble. Taking into consideration all the

circumstances of the case, it has been suggested by Judge McCunn,
and my associates concur in it, that perhaps that will be as fair a

disposition of the case as could be made ; and we ask a careful con-

sideration of the case. The proposition suggests that we should

postpone the examination, or discussion and decision of the prelimi-

nary question, for a week, and if we are right in that, that would

end the trial. It is not proposed that we shall go on and take the

testimony now. If that question is decided against us, all the

testimony will be taken in the city of New York.

Mr. Madden— I would like to inquire what the question before

the Senate is, if any ?
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The Peesident— There is no question formally before the Senate.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I move that we proceed with

the business at hand, the trial of Judge McCunn.

Mr. Johnson— Mr. President: While there was no question,

perhaps, before the Senate, perhaps at that time, it seems to me it

was very wisely considered, for the purpose of expediting these

trials, avoiding the necessity of attendance of senators during the

entire deliberation. If the Senate are to meet a week from to-day

to commence the proceeding in the case of Judge Prindle ; and, as

alleged by the counsel of Judge McOunn, that they would be ready

at that time with their counsel to argue a legal proposition, and if

the decision of the Senate was adverse to them, that then they

would be quite willing to take the testimony in ISTewTork. It

seems to me that would be an advantageous step in advance, and I

think it well worthy of our consideration, and I hope that suggestion

may meet the approval of senators, provided it meets the approval

of the prosecution in that case, and therefore I would move, as an

amendment (perhaps my motion should be to reconsider), but I

make the suggestion to the Senate, that, in view of the possibility

of getting rid of the necessity of keeping us here three or four

weeks, and whether it would be wise to accept the suggestion of

Judge McCuun, hearing the legal argument ; and upon that decision,

if adverse, a committee might be appointed to take testimony. I

think it is well worthy of the attention of the Senate.

Mr. Van Cott— If we are called upon, we do not hesitate to

express our views and our preference. We do not see any reason, il

there is a preliminary question in this case, why it should not be

heard now, and the disposition the Senate is to make of the case

made now. If that question is argued now and disposed of, then

the other question may be disposed of, as to whether the Senate will

proceed with the hearing of the testimony, or will send the case to a

committee. We have a very decided opinion upon the subject

of the evidence which we have never been able to present,

and which I hope for an early opportunity to present ; and it

seems to me if we are right, it obviates much of the difficulty

arising on the question of time. Our view is, that the Senate is

sitting as a branch of the executive, and that it is acting upon infer,

mation, as the executive always acts upon information satisfactory

to its own conscience, and that the hearing provided for by the Con-
stitution is a hearing of the parties sought to be removed. That the

case is already before this branch of the executive, the Senate, upon
the evidence on which it was before the Governor ; upon which it
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is perfectly competent for the Senate to act, except that the Consti-

tution requires that parties sought to be removed shall be heard, and

if the party has any evidence to offer it is permissible to offer it. If

the party has any argument to make, such argument shall be enter-

tained. This opinion, which I have merely suggested, rests upon a

careful scrutiny of all the Constitutions of the State, and all our

experience during our existence as a State. The varying provisions

in the Constitution and the course of procedure is such, as I think it

demonstrates, that this application to the discretion of the executive

to remove an oificial is a mere application to its discretion, and that

it exercises that discretion as it exercises all its discretion in legisla-

tive as well as in executive business upon information deemed by itself

to be sufi&cient, and satisfying its conscience. I trust I may be par-

doned for saying, in a very few words, that the body of the evidence

now before the Senate, sent by the Governor, has all the attributes

of judicial proof; that it was taken by a body competent to admin-

ister oaths ; that the testimony was all taken on oath ; that it was all

taken in the presence of the party affected by it ; that it was taken

with an opportunity to him to cross-examine witness, and that it was

taken with the protection of rebutting testimony ; that there is not

a single circumstance of judicial proof lacking in the evidence that'

is now before the Senate. I address a body of lawyers, and I say

there is not the absence of one element of judicial proof in this case.

The witnesses were cross-examined, and it is such a body of evidence,

that anybody acting upon a responsibility such as attaches to the

action in this case as would always be deemed prima facie proof,

sufScient proof until rebutted ; and we are prepared when the

moment comes to send to the Senate, the evidence sent here by the

Grovernor, and ask the Senate to receive it, and then, I apprehend

that the rebutting proof will fall within a very short limit. It ought

to be seen right here what is involved in the suggestion on the other

side. If we come here a week from to-day. Judge Prindle's case is

to be heard, and it will take a week or two, and we are then carried

to about the time the' Court of Impeachment is to convene in

another place, and, of course, the time of the Senate is pre-occupied

by the sitting of the Court of Impeachment, running indefinitelj'^

through the summer. How long that trial may last, no one kuows
;

but the efFe3t of the motion is to throw this case entirely over. "We

cannot fail to see that on our side, and we wish to avoid it. We see

no reason why the testimony should not be taken before a committee,

if this body of the testimony is to be taken again. We have no

doubt it is competent for the Senate to act upon the testimony taken
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before all, or some of the members, or taken in some other judicial

form. It is suggested by my associate, that frequently these cases

are brought before the Governor, on evidence, when the matter is

all ex jparte, and it would be competent for the Senate, as it is for

the Governor, to act upon that. The Senate might, in its discretion,

very well say :
" "We won't act upon that, we will require something

further ; " but this evidence is entirely different from that upon

which the Senate has ordinarily acted in such cases.

Mr. Benedict—Mr. President : I never heard these charges and

had not the slightest idea of what they were until I heard them read

yesterday in the case of Judge McCunn ; but I find here a body of

testimony and I desire to know from either side how we shall stand

any differently after we have gone through a committee from what

we now do. Here we have the testimony taken already before a

committee. It is child's play to say that testimony which happens

to be taken in another room here should not be acted upon by us,

but that we should appoint another committee to go to New York
and take it. It seems to me that the gentlemen upon both sides

might agree that this book of testimony should be put in as it stands,

subject to any criticism, modification or rebuttal by the same or

other witnesses before the Senate or committee, subject to any ob-

jection. Then we shall have before us just what we shall have after

we have gone on, as has been suggested, until next January, and

have the testimony taken by the committee when they find it con-

venient to sit after the hot weather has gone by and it suits their

convenience. I think the Senate has the right to say that this tes-

timony shall proceed. It is the very thing that is sent to us as the

proof of the charges taken in the presence of the parties. Judge

Prindle's case is entirely different ; there was no testimony sent to

us at all in the Prindle case ; they have got to have their case heard.

This case has been heard for six weeks more or less in another room
in this Capitol, or in the city of New York, as the case may have

been, and what is the testimony ? It will be like this, as I might

say to a lawyer if I had a deposition taken in a case de iene esse, and

the question would be whether we should not go and take the

deposition over again. There is no injusticem taking the testimony

as it stands, subject to the limitation I have suggested, and the privi-

leges I have suggested, that either party may call the same witnesses

to rebut, explain, extenuate, to do any thing they please, but not to

repeat testimony taken simply for the purpose of repetition, and then

we shall have cut off a great burden of time in this case, and shall

have saved this Senate from the necessity, as has been well suggested



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNK. 87

by the senator from the twenty-sixth, from sitting till l^ew Tear's

day, and then go into the next Senate. We are in the dog days be-

fore we get into it, and before we get through with it we shall be in

December. Is it expedient or proper for the Senate to take such a

course as that ? I think it is not. "We have the right to say that

testimony shall be received. It comes from the Governor. They
may go and extend the calling of witnesses for any explanation or

rebuttal, or any correction of the testimony, and put in new testi-

mony if they please, and we can try the case in one-twentieth part

of the time with just as ample justice to the accused as though we
dragged along the whole summer.
Mr. MuEPHY— Mr. President: It is perhaps a little out of order

in this discussion, yet after all it may save us a great deal

of time and trouble. I rise to repel the position taken by the

senator from the fifth (Mr. Benedict), and to express my dissent

also from the position assumed by the prosecution in the case of

McCunn ; it is undoubtedly competent for the party, if I may use

the remarks of counsel upon the two sides, to agree to accept this tes-

timony, on the hearing of this case by the Senate. I do not see any

impropriety in their doing it. There may be, as stated by counsel of

Judge McCunn, irrelevant matter introduced here, which should be

stricken out, and I should think, by a conference between the coun-

sel upon the two sides, they might purge this book of all such matter,

and then the testimony might be put before the Senate. That is a

matter, I conceive, of agreement between them, of consent, and not

within the power of the Senate to impose upon them. "What is this

paper ? It is testimony, which purports to have been taken before

the judiciary committee of the Assembly, for a specific purpose ; for

an entirely different proceeding from that which is being had here

;

it was taken before the committee of the Assembly, for the purpose

of sending charges of impeachment to the Court of Impeachment, or

another tribunal. "We are sitting here as a distinct tribunal, under

another provision of the Constitution, and under other powers, and

there is no more connection between the two courts, if I may use the

phrase, with due deference to my friend from the fifth (Mr. Benedict),

than there is between any other two courts in the State. "We are

here to-day for the purpose of trying these charges presented to the

Governor, under a distinct provision of the Constitution. We get

our jurisdiction in this matter, by the recommendation of the

Governor. After that, the Governor's connection ceased, and in

that respect, I wish to dissent from the position taken by the hon-

oi'able counsel here, that we are merely advisory to the Governor.
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No ! We are sitting here in the highest capacity known to tha

government, a tribunal to determine whether this man shall or shall

not continue in his ofEce as a judge of one of our courts. We
have now complete and perfect jurisdiction of this matter. What
may have transpired before the Governor or elsewhere, we have

nothing to do with. We are to take this matter up for ourselves,

and determine for ourselves upon testimony which shall be properly

presented to us, either before the Senate, or upon the consent of the

two parties. We are not a mere board of reference to determine the

matter. Perhaps I am traveling a little out of the record, but I

do not think the Governor here, nor did he in the Smith case,

present the question as it should have been presented. I think it

is the duty of the Governor to inquire into the charges and convince

himself whether they are or are not true, and upon being convinced,

then to recommend to us. Eut that has not been the course. He
has chosen to recommend us to remove this man in case we find the

charge true. We propose to do so. We have got to do that in a

proper way, by the taking of testimony ourselves, originally, or, if

the parties consent, to the taking of this testimony, or any other

course that may be agreed to in the determination of this matter.

I think the proposition made here by the defendant is a very reason-

able one. It appears that they have selected eminent counsel to

argue particular questions in this case, who are unable to attend.

They wish to have the benefit of their learning, and they propose

to relieve us, as a Senate, from the labor, if we only give them time

to have such counsel here, and to have the testimony taken before a

committee. I would rather they would modify the proposition, and
wish they would take this testimony, or such testimony as they may
deem necessary to be introduced.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : In answer to the senator, I may make
this suggestion in regard to this testimony. It is true, as a matter of

form, this testimony was taken in Judge McCunn's presence, and it

is equally true that on an examination before a justice of the peace

for the purpose of determining whether they shall hold the alleged

. criminal for trial, or for indictment by the grand jury, that the statutes

require that he shall be present ; but it is true, also, that so far as

the taking of this testimony was concerned, Judge McCunn practi-

cally had no counsel, considering the proceeding as a mere fishing

expedition, for the purpose of getting at testimony to see whether
charges would actually be presented to the Assembly ; and these

charges that were drawn up and presented by the Bar Association,

were just as much extrajudicial as if they had not been presented at
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all ; because if he was impeached, the charges should be presented by
the Assembly to the Senate, and it was in consequence of the view
which Judge McCunn took of this proceeding, that even the wit-

nesses who were called, and whose examination this book will show
were examined very limitedly, and the whole was substantially

allowed to go by default, and there is so much in this case— and I saj

it without deference, and without desiring to take any time of the

Senate, because these preliminary proceedings are sometimes the

mostimportant in the case— it is because of this that Judge McOunn
asks that this testimony be again taken. We are willing it shall be

taken before a committee. ISTo man can read the insinuations of a

newspaper, however unfounded, without their making some impres-

sion upon his mind, and it is because we desire to avoid the necessity

of discussing the propriety or impropriety of portions of this testi-

mony ; it is because we desire—and we shall ask when this case is

heard, that it be decided by the Senate upon the evidence which is

competent, entirely irrespective of any insinuations, or any thing of

the kind that we shall ask—that this testimony be again taken ; and

although it may take some of the time of the Senate, although it may
be a matter of some consequence to the senators how much time

may be taken, it is a matter of some consequence to Judge McCunn.

It involves to a certain extent his reputation ; an imputation which

may follow him through life, and as one of his counsel I should feel

to have illy discharged my duty if I consented that any thing I re-

garded as improper and immaterial should be admitted. When we
get before the committee we may consent that certain portions of it

may be read ; but to make a wholesale agreement that this testi-

mony, or portions of the testimony, that the Senate, after discussion,

might rule as incompetent, I do not feel competent, as Judge Mc-

Cunn's counsel, to consent to any such thing.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I cannot exactly agree with my
learned friend, the senator from the third (Mr. Murphy) in the view

he has taken in relation to the obligations of the Senate in this pro-

ceeding, or the rights of the defendant. It appears perfectly plain

to me that we may proceed to act as a Senate upon the evidence pre-

sented before us, sent to us by the Governor ; the evidence pre-

sented to him, whatever that evidence is, so far as that side of the

question is concerned, giving only to the defendant the rights which

the Constitution secured to him, by a full hearing, not only by argu-

ment, but by rebutting testimony. Now, sir, I take it the senator

from the third (Mr. Murphy) will not dispute the proposition that

these complaints may be made to the Governor on affidavits, and

12
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they furnished here. The Governor may act upon those affidavits,

and recommend the Senate to remove, but the Constitution provides

that the Senate shall not remove without serving the party with the

charges and giving him an opportunity of being heard. Being

heard for what ? Being heard in rebutting the testimony brought

before him in the executive chamber, whatever it is, whether the

report of the committee or the affidavits. Of course, if the defend-

ant comes with rebutting testimony, if it is claimed on the other

side that that testimony varied the case and made it necessary to

put in new evidence, or supplemental evidence, that they would

appeal to the Senate for permission, and it would be granted. But

1 ao not understand that it is the duty of the Senate, nor that any

man can demand of the Senate, to commence de novo in this proceed-

ing, and take testimony all over that has once been taken. I appre-

hend it makes very little difference whether that testimony was

taken before the judiciary committee of the House, or before the

judiciary committee of the Senate. Suffice it to say, it was done by

a competent committee to administer oaths and to compel the

attendance of witnesses. That is the form in which this testimony

was taken. If it had been taken by the committee of the Senate,

I take it the senator from the third (Mr. Murphy) would not dis-

pute it would be competent testimony for the Governor to act upon

and for this Senate to act upon. I take it is just as competent

testimony taken before a House committee, provided it is the testi-

mony presented to the Governor, and the testimony upon which he

presents the case to the Senate. ISTow, sir, if I am correct in this is

it not necessary that we should go over this testimony <?e novo unless

the Senate, in their discretion, shall see fit to order, and the parties

to be affected by it shall ask it. If the judges complained of ask to

have this testimony taken de novo, I do not know but I would sub-

ject myself to the inconvenience and labor of granting their request.

I am inclined to think I would, for I am disposed to give them the

utmost latitude ; to give them every opportunity of defense that they

can reasonably ask for. "When I accepted the office of senator I

accepted it with all that was to attend it. I admit as things have

turned we have all of us drawn an elephant—a large one. We had

no anticipation that we had taken upon ourselves a year's continuous

duty ; a thing unprecedented in the past, and unexpected by any-

body; but as things have turned we find ourselves here with these

various complaints which under the Constitution we are to meet. I

am prepared to meet them at whatever personal sacrifice and incon-

venience, and I expect and hope that every senator will meet those
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duties in the same way, and will not be absent except in cases sucb as

have been stated to us to-day, which may arise and will arise where it

is physically impossible for some one or two senators to attend at all the

meetings of the association ; and in a case of that kind, of course they

could not be expected to attend ; but I take it that every senator who
can will attend every court that testimony is being taken, to the

end that he may have all the benefits of seeing the witnesses as well

as hearing what is testified to. In regard to taking the testimony

by a committee, of course, if a majority of the Senate shall decide

that they will be so greatly inconvenienced in sitting here to hear

the testimony as to feel justified in adopting that course, I shall sub-

mit to it ; but for one, from what experience I have had in the

trial of causes, I do not feel that I can discharge my duty satisfac-

torily to myself, and certainly entirely satisfactory to all the parties

concerned, as well by reading the testimony as hearing it from the

lips of the witness, whose action, whose countenance, and whose

very soul I can reach when he is giving his testimony. Sir, as I

said before, I will take the course of reading the testimony, and

attempting to decide upon it if the Senate shall so decide, but I do

not think the Senate will gain any thing by that course. Such has

not been my experience. I have found the labor of arriving at a

conclusion upon testimony taken where I did not see the witnesses,

and hear the testimony developed than I have where I have seen the

witness and heard the testimony through. I find it takes more

time in the first instance than in the last, and I am not as well sat-

isfied with the result. Sir, it appears to me, counsel upon both sides

might agree upon the testimony that has been taken, that part of it

which is unobjected to, and qiiestions to which no legal or proper

objection can be interposed. The motion of the senator from the

fifth (Mr. Benedict), secures to the defendant and the prosecution

every right, and to the Senate all the convenience of the saving of

the time that has been consumed in taking that testimony that has

to be repeated if we have to go back over the whole subject-matter.

That appears to me to be a compromise. Under my idea, I should

consider it a concession, because I should rather see the witnesses

and hear the testimony taken. If this is referred, it will be refer-

red to a judiciary committee. I came here to do my duty as a

senator, and a senator upon every committee that I am placed upon.

If it shall be sent to a committee upon which I am placed, I shall

discharge that duty without hesitation.

Mr. WooDiiT— Mr. President : May I ask of the senator a question ?

Mr. D. P. "Wood — Certainly.
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Mr. "WooDiN— Mr. President : I desire to ask the senator, suppos-

ing the Senate should order against the consent of the counsel that

the testimony in this book should be received as evidence in the

case, and it should result in the removal of the officer against whom
accusations are made, and it should turn out that material testi-

mony or evidence which was within this book and was false, I ask

whether in the senator's judgment an indictment for perjury would

lie in this proceeding.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I have no doubt but that it

would. The perjury would date from the date of the evidence.

The evidence was taken before a committee before whom to testify

falsely, was perjury by the statute, and the perjury would date from

the giving of the testimony, and not from the use of it.

Mr. WooDm—Mr. President : The testimony was in a proceed-

ing before the G-overnor, which was another distinct and separate

proceeding. It may have been false there, but if it had ended there

and no further proceeding were had, I ask if an indictment in that

case would lie for false swearing ?

Mr. D. P. "Wood— Mr. President : I understand the question to

by hypothetical :
" If the testimony was taken before the Gov-

ernor."

Mr. WooDnsr— ISTo, sir.

Mr. D. P. Wood— This was not taken before the Grovernor. I

suppose if this testimony was in the form of affidavits, as is usually

the case, and as I think was the case in Judge Smith's trial, at least

in nearly all of the cases, and I do not know but in every case that

wJis ever presented to the Grovernor for removal, is upon affidavit,

and I never heard it suspected before or intimated that false swear-

ing upon an affidavit of that kind, if taken before a competent offi-

cer to administer oaths, would be perjury whether used before the

Governor and then transmitted to the Senateor used before

the Governor and ending there. We have taken an order of the

Senate to proceed with this case this morning. All the ques-

tions of law in the case can be raised at any time in the case.

They are raised in the answer. They are not in the demurrer.

That question is already decided by the judgment of this Sen-

ate in another case. They are raised in the case in a manner
that they can be taken advantage of at any stage of the pro-

ceedings. We can proceed with the testimony and the coun-

sel for the accused can have the advantage of their coun-

sel to argue those questions at any time when they may see fit.

We can save the time of the Senate in taking the testimony.
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Of course, I have no objection to listening to another argu-

ment upon the same points we decided yesterday, if the

counsel, in their good judgment and discretion, should think

they can add any thing to the force of the argument pre-

sented upon the questions decided. I am ready to hear any thing

and every thing the accused wish to offer in the way of testimony

or argument, patiently, but I desire to proceed and save the time

of the Senate, and not waste it in adjournments, for when we
have adjourned from one week to another, we gain nothing by
adjourning a week. A week is not time enough for us to attend to

our private business.

Ml-. WooDUsr—Mr. President: I understand there is another

preliminary question raised by the coujisel for the defense, and

that is upon the form of presenting this case to the Senate. That

is taken by the answer. I don't know why we cannot proceed

with the hearing of that, and then take action whether the Senate

will order the testimony to be taken before a committee or before

the Senate.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : We have been endeavoring to have

this delay, for the purpose of seciu-ing the services of Judge Selden,

in the argument. This point in the case is peculiarly his point,

and we had been willing to submit to the taking of this evidence

Ibj a committee against our wish in the matter. We much pre-

ferred to have the entire testimony taken before a full Senate, in

order that the senators might see the witnesses, and view all the

surroundings; but, for the sake of presenting that preliminary

question in the manner we desired to present it, we were willing to

save the Senate the burden of sitting here all summer. It occurred

to us a good deal might be saved both to the prosecution and the

defense, inasmuch as the witnesses are mostly in JSTewTork, and if it

should be the pleasure of the committee to sit there they could do

so. There is no wish for delay on the part of Judge McCunn.

Judge Selden was compelled to go away ; we wanted him, and now
very much want him, to argue the preliminary question ; and the

moment that is decided, Judge McCunn will be ready every day,

(excepting such unforeseen contingencies as we cannot provide

against,) until all the evidence in the case is taken. We would

prefer to get that question before the Senate in advance of the evi-

dence, because, if Judge Selden's opinion should prevail in the

matter, there would be nothing more for the Senate to do.

Mr. Palmee— Mr. President: I would like to ask the counsel if

he has any objection to stating what that question is ?
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Mr. Davis— The question relates to the manner in which the

case has been brought before the Senate.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President: In regard to the manner in

which the Governor presents it ?

Mr. Davis— That is the idea ; that the Governor has not taken

the steps made necessary by the Constitution in order to give this

honorable body jurisdiction of the case. It is purely a jurisdic-

tional question.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— Mr. President : It is a question that may be

raised at any time during the trial.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : I agree with the Senator in that

regard.

Mr. Lewis—Mr. President : The counsel for the defense propose

to raise the question, whether the Senate has jurisdiction in the

matter. If there is any thing in that matter, we should hear it, and

decide it before we sit here for a month to take testimony, because if

we sit here a week or a month and take testimony, and that question

should be then argued, and the Senate should decide that it had

not jurisdiction, we should not only lose our time, but would make
an exhibition of the matter, that would be rather unpleasant for us

to contemplate. It seems to me, then, practically, the only ques-

tion before us, at this time, is, whether the Senate will reverse

their decision of yesterday, and give counsel for the defense the

time asked for by them, to prepare themselves to present this ques-

tion to the Senate ; because there cannot be any two opinions upon

the subject, whether it should be presented now or presented at a

subsequent time. It should be now presented to us, or should be

presented to us prior to our taking any testimony. The question

is, whether we will adjourn a few days, in order to allow them to

avail themselves of the services of eminent counsel they have

employed to assist them.

Mr. Madden-— Mr. President : It strikes me, that if we are to

take the Constitution as it reads, and apply to it a few rules

of common sense, and throw aside the technicalities of the

court, we should make the matter much more clear. I take it, that

in the case of almost all officers appointed, there is some power of

removal ; a few only by impeachment. In all executive departments

the charge is made against the person, and they may be removed.

The Constitution gives us absolute power of removal under certain

circumstances. In regard to the question of recommendation by the

Governor, I shall not express any opinion at present. The Constitu-

tion says : " No removal shall be made by virtue of this section,
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unless the cause thereof be entered on the journals, not unless the

party conaplained of shall have been served with a copy of the com-

plaint against him, and shall have had an opportunity of being

heard in his defense." And how heard ? Is it absolutely neces-

sary that thirty-two senators shall be present ? We can hear by a

full Senate, by two-thirds of the Senate, by one-half of the Senate,

or through a committee of the Senate, in my judgment. Certain

parties are charged with committing certain offenses connected with

the office which they hold. The Constitution says, the Senate may
remove. How are we to satisfy ourselves ? In any way. In this

case, the testimony has been taken by a committee of the Senate

;

it is sent to the Governor, and he sends it to us ; and whether he

has done his whole duty is another question. We are to give this

party an opportunity of being heard, either by thirty-two or sixteen

senators, or by three, five, or seven upon a committee. These

officers, though removed by our action, can be re-elected. When a

person is brought up to be impeached, where his character is

destroyed forever, and where he is disqualified, in that case he

should be heard as before an ordinary court of justice ; and we sit

here, to some extent, as an executive, to make removals of those

who have been unfaithful to their duty. I should like to see this

divested of all these legal technicalities, and all these attempts at

delay. I think the jurisdictional questions should be decided first,

and after that we should take the testimony in such a way as we
deem right and proper. I think all this discussion about testimony,

if the other question should be raised, should be decided first ; that

is all there is in the case. We simply sit here, as it were, appointed

by the Governor, if you please, upon his recommendation, to hear

certain charges, and decide and hear them in such a way as we deem

fit. I hope the lawyers in this body will try and divest their minds

of the idea that we are acting as a judicial body, and not as an

executive body, to remove for certain causes.

Mr. J. Wood— Mr. President : Every question discussed so far

before the Senate, in regard to this case, was raised and elaborately

discussed in the arguments published in the Smith case. The ques-

tion as to what should have been the action of the Governor, was

discussed, and as to what was the duty of the Senate, under his

recommendation, if he gave it ; what was the cause for removal,

and upon what the Senate could act. It was referred to the

judiciary committee, for the purpose of recommending to the Senate,

in that case, what course to pursue. The judiciary committee

stated, it being a novel proceeding, that, in its judgment, the Senate
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could proceed in taking the testimony before a committee, or that

the testimony could be taken before the Senate ; but there was no

pretense that the Senate should act upon the papers which were

submitted by the Governor as the testimony upon which they were

to remove. But they said the manner of proceeding in the taking

of the testimony should be left to the accused, as the party most

interested in it ; and in that case. Smith, as McCunn, in this case,

elected to have the testimony taken orally, and all the procee(iings

had before the Senate. When the first case came up before the

Senate this year (the Prindle case) the Senate solemnly resolved

that they would adopt the Smith case as the precedent, and that

they would follow that, for the purpose of avoiding, as I suppose,

the argument and examination of the case again, and then we would

have a precedent solemnly adopted by the Senate, and to go along

and discharge our duty under it.

Mr. Benedict— Did the Senate take any such action as that ?

Mr. J. Wood— Certainly. The judiciary committee recom-

mended that we proceed in the same way as in the Smith case, and

that resolution was adopted by the Senate. I mean as to the form

of proceeding. The case of Judge McCunn is novel in every respect

from any other case that ever came up. In the first place, proceed-

ings are instituted in the Assembly, for the purpose of inquiring

whether he ought to be impeached and tried by the Court of Impeach-

ment for mal-administration, or such conduct as would warrant his

removal. Under the proceedings of the Senate the judiciary com-

mittee were authorized to examine and to see whether it was a ease

where an impeachment should be had ; and they took the testimony,

and it was discussed before them. What did they do ? A thing

unheard of before. Instead of acting upon it themselves, they sent

it to the Governor, without any authority whatever, so that they

stand as the impeachers of Judge McCunn before the Governor,

instead of before the court, for the trial of impeachment. This testi-

mony was laid before the Governor, and it seems fi-om his message
that he sent to us that he did not examine it, except to see that it

was a,primafacie case made out. Not even that, because the same
day it went before the Governor he transmitted to this body,

with the recommendation, that if the charges contained, with
the testimony, were true, that Judge McCunn be removed. We
have this case, in which we are to determine the solemn ques-

tion, of whether Judge McCunn conducted himself so that he
ought to be removed. The Governor has not stated the evi-

dence is sufficient; he has allowed the other party to be heard
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before him. He has sent it to us for the very purpose that if it was
a proceeding to remove a sheriff, he would send it to the county

judge to take the testimony and return it to him for his action.

Here we take the testimony and decide. "What testimony shall we
take ? Of course it is competent for the parties to agree that the

testimony already taken shall be the testimony upon which we shall

decide. It seems to me the accused should have the right to say

whether we shall act upon this testimony or upon the testimony

which he shall compel the prosecutors to produce here that will war-

rant his removal. What misconduct should warrant his removal ?

Should it be any thing short of an impeachable offense ? They are

questions discussed in the Smith case and will probably be discussed

in every case that may come up. My friend from the tenth (Mr.

Madden) thinks that the lawyers are setting up some technical objec-

tions or some technical proceedings for the purpose of delay. I

know lawyers are charged in that way sometimes when they are

prosecuting or defending men charged with crime ; and my learned

friend will find that the rules which have been laid down by law-

yers are the only safe rules by which an investigation of fact for

judicial determination can be arrived at. Where a man's reputation

is involved, it seems to me he should have the benefit of all those

questions. The learned senator says that we are not to punish any-

body. I submit to him if it is not a very severe punishment when

you charge a judicial officer with so conducting himself that he ought

to be removed, and if the Senate or Governor or anybody else shall

decide those charges to be true and remove him, is not that a pun-

ishment ? It is a punishment severer than death.

Mr. Madden— Mr. President: I stated, not punishment in the

ordinary way, by disqualificatio.n. Of course it is. A man's own

conscience should punish him if he is guilty.

Mr. J. Wood— In a trial by the court for impeachment, we

do not necessarily disqualify. It seems to me when you have agreed

upon the course we shall adopt in these cases, when we have the

precedent already established by the Senate, it should be the course

we should pursue;, and it seems to me there is no occasion for any

long argument in regard to the preliminary proceeding.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : The Smith case was not like this,

for the reason, the senator from the third (Mr. Murphy) will recol-

lect, that the Governor sent a message to the Senate, in which he

recommended removal, and stated, we must take the evidence as

true, and that, in his judgment it established his guilt, and stated

that unless he should disprove it he should be removed. That was

13
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taken from the files of the Senate by somebody, and taken down to

the executive chamber, and those words were stricken out. When it

came back to the Senate a motion was made on behalf of Judge

Smith to dismiss the proceedings, on the ground that the Senate

had no jurisdiction. The Governor was then put on trial. The

then Lieutenant-Governor (Alvord), and the private secretary of

Governor Fenton, and a clerk of the Senate were sworn, and the

Senate finally resolved that the alteration was without any author-

ity whatever, and, therefore, the recommendation must stand as

originally presented to the Senate, and, therefore, there was a recom-

mendation of the Governor for removal, I refer to pages 130 and 131

of the Smith trial, and the Senate will, upon examining that case,

find that the paper as it was originally sent was then read, and that

was the paper upon which Judge Smith was tried ; so that the

point which was decided in the Smith case is entirely different from

this case.

Mr. Mtjepht— Mr. President : The real question I think we have

before us, is, whether we will adopt the suggestion made by the

counsel for Judge McCunn, and that is, to assign a day for the argu-

ment of this preliminary question, which concerns the jurisdiction

of the Senate to try this case, and then refer the taking of the testi-

mony, in case we should decide to proceed by a committee. I am
rather surprised, sir, at the remarks made by the honorable senator

from the twenty-seventh (D. P. Wood) ; he has been very strenuous

that we should take this testimony which was had before the Assem-
bly, and which comes to us from the Governor, as it is ; as a part of

the testimony before us. He considers it testimony and proper

testimony here.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : May I correct the senator ?

Mr. MuEPHT — Certainly.

Mr. D. P.Wood— Mr. President : The senator misquotes me when
he says I am very strenuous, that we must take the testimony as it

is before us. I simply said it was competent for the Senate to

change it. I am not strenuous at all. I should much prefer to have
the witnesses before us.

Mr. MuEPHT— I accept the explanation, when it is proposed to

take this testimony, as I think' it can be only taken ; the only legal

way. He finds it extremely hard for him to read and understand it.

He thinks that would be very objectionable. Senators cannnot con-

sider testimony which is had before a committee of their own body,
under their own rules, within there own jurisdiction, but they may
read the testimony which has been sent here informally by the
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Governor. I take it we are to be governed in this matter bj the

constitution and bj the established practice of this court. "Where a

question has been properly presented to us as a Senate, I take it

it will be a rule for our guidance. If there is any doubtful proposi-

tion (I mean doubtful under the constitution) it has been duly con-

sidered here and determined, and that is to govern us in the future,

else we will be all at sea. The constitution is explicit : "All judicial

officers, except those mentioned in this section, and except justices

of the peace, and judges and justices of inferior courts not of record,

may be removed by the Senate on the recommendation of the

Governor ; but no removal shall be made by virtue of this section

unless the cause thereof be entered on the journals, nor unless the

party complained of shall have been served with a copy of the com-
plaint against him, and shall have an opportunity of b^ing heard in

his defense." In order to obtain jurisdiction of this case, we must
have the recommendation from the Governor. I do not propose to

discuss the question of whether there has been or not a recommen-
dation by the Governor. There is no provision that the Gov-
ernor shall send us the testimony or affidavits. He is merely

to send us the charges. He has to satisfy himself as to those

charges, whether or not he will make the recommendation for us to

remove. The grounds upon which he may do it—the motives that

may actuate him—-we have nothing to do with. He has discharged

his duty when he has sent us his recommendation for removal, and

the grounds upon which he makes the recommendation. The
charges must come from him, and cannot come from any other source.

The charges are presented to us as a tribunal, free from all prejudice,

free from all bias or knowledge of the case, its supposed, and we try

them as they come from the Governor. How are we to try them

unless we take the testimony for ourselves ? How fire we to be jus-

tified in taking affidavits or testimony before any committee of the

Assembly not connected with this investigation? Could not that

testimony have been improperly taken ? May it not have been im-

properly introduced ? May it not have been, as alleged here, ex

parte ? Is that the way of giving a party an opportunity of being

heard ? We must take that testimony de novo, if it is to be the

same testimony, or whatever is the testimony, and give the accused

the opportunity of examining the witnesses, and testing that testi-

mony before us in our presence, either as a body or by proxy, if

with the consent of the party through the committee. We do not

give the party the opportunity of being heard in regard to the

charges, unless we give him a full opportunity of hearing all the
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testimony and having an opportunity of a cross-examination. You
may say you may object to such portions of it, and contradict it if

you please ; in my judgment that is not a way to try a case. The

Senate had this question fully before them in the Smith case, and

the judiciary committee reported in that case, as they have here, that

it was the right of the accused to have the case heard before the full

Senate ; but as it was this matter, they might consent if they chose

to have it heard before a committee. That was the proposition

established in the Smith case by the Senate, adopted in both of these

eases. Therefore I conceive, according to the Constitution, and of

the precedent and the Constitution adopted here, the accused here

have the right, are to be made before the full Senate, or they waive

that right and have the testimony before a committee appointed by

the Senate for that purpose ; but it is their right ; it concerned them

personally, and they must be free to act in the matter. I would like

to save an all-summer's sitting in these cases ; I do not feel myself

equal to the task, and yet, perhaps I should be here. If we can

avoid this long sitting by taking a vacation of one week, as I under-

stand the counsel upon the part of Judge McCunn distinctly to pro-

pose, it appears to me we have a right to suit our own convenience,

when we do not imperil the interests of the community, and I am
in favor of the motion that we shall adjourn this case until a week
from to-day, for the purpose of hearing this preliminary question

argued and disposed of. I move that, bat I am willing to hear the

counsel on the other side, if they desire to hear any thing.

Mr. Pbckham— Mr. President : As one of the associate counsel

of Judge McCunn, I desire to say in his behalf that we have no

desire to interpose any more technical delays to the charges preferred

in this case. But we do desire that these charges shall be heard

upon evidence which is proper and legal. We deny the assertion

made by the honorable counsel for the prosecution in this case, that

the evidence taken heretofore is or can be adjudged in any sense legal

evidence to the accused here upon his defense, in any form or in any

manner. The Bar Association of the city of New York made cer-

tain charges ; they had the right, the same as any other body or

man, to make a charge against the judge, and that charge was made
in the Assembly, preferred to the Assembly, and the Assembly, for

its own information entirely, sent it to the judiciary committee, and

that committee went to the city of IS'ew York and had an examina-

tion in regard to these charges. Here, in the first place, we state

that there was, upon the part of the accused, no legal right to appear

before that committee, and no legal light whatever to cross-examine
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the witnesses there ; that whatever was done upon that occasion, or

before that committee, was done from the mere grace of the com-

mittee itself in allowing them one moment, or whatever time was
necessary in their judgment, and in their judgment alone, the

accused to examine or cross-examine any evidence whatever, and

that is, as I understand it, the truth in this case. With no right

whatever to examine any witness before that committee, with no

right whatever to appear before that committee, with no right

whatever to examine any witness, he was allowed, em graoia, to

come before the committee, and simply and solely to put a ques-

tion that he might deem proper as a mere act of grace. Under such

circumstances senators can readily see that a man would not feel

himself at liberty, or certainly he would not have that same desire

to examine or cross-examine the witnesses to that end, or with that

directness, vigor and force that he would if it were a proceeding he

was then taking part in as an accused party that was to report upon

his case one way or the other. There were few cross-examinations

made upon the part of Judge McCunn, as I understand it, and they

were all of very small account. The judge says that he has no

desire, as I have said before, to put in technical defenses or any

technical delay in the way. He is ready and, in all probability, will

agree when any committee may be appointed, that it shall be ap-

pointed by the Senate to take this testimony de novo ; I say we can,

upon all probability, agree upon a large amount of the testimony

already taken, and agree that that shall stand as the testimony before

the Senate, with the power and proviso that we are to have the

liberty to examine or cross-examine one way or the other, as to us

shall seem right or proper, but we do not wish to take the testimony

that has been taken before that committee and have this Senate pass

upon it, and say it will take that testimony, as if it were taken before

them now, and then call upon us for a defense, asking us at the

same time to bring forward those witnesses who are not half cross-

examined.

Mr. "WooDiK—Mr. President : I do not wish to interfere with any

course counsel may see fit to adopt. The precise question the Senate

is to consider is whether they will at present order the hearing and

disposition of their preliminary to-day ; and if counsel wish to be

heard upon that, we shall be pleased to hear them.

Mr. Peokham—Mr. President : That is exactly the question
;
but

the debate has taken rather a desultory manner, and I thought it

proper that the Senate should have the views of counsel of the

accused upon these different points. As I understand it, the single
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question is now, whether the Senate will adjourn for one week, and

then allow the preliminary question to be argued, and if decided

adversely to the claims of the accused, that then we consent that the

testimony shall be taken before a committee of this Senate, and

heard in the city of ISTew York ; and upon the testimony having

been thus taken, the Senate shall act as if the whole testimony was

taken before them ; and it seems to me, under these circumstances,

it is something that will add to the dispatch of this case, and will

give the Senate and members an opportunity of escaping, and, what

is, of course, very unusual, and what all are reluctant to undergo, a

very long and tedious summer session upon these questions of fact.

And if then this question should be decided adversely to the defense,

we can go on and have that testimony taken before a committee

;

but if it should, on the other hand, be decided in favor of the accused,

then the whole time of this Senate has been wasted up to the time

when that decision has been reached ; and that decision, it seems to

me, can be arrived at earlier, by giving that week delay, if the

Senate decide the argument well founded.

Mr. Benedict—Mr. President : If we put over the hearing of the

preliminary question until next week, we shall not be a step further

forward than we are this moment. We made a mistake a month ago

or less, that we did not decide Judge Prindle's demurrer on the spot.

We should have saved time and should have been hearing him to-day

and his facts ; and now, if we wait until next week and hear that pre-

liminary question argued, which will take a couple of days to argue,

without any doubt, with all the counsel, and for what purpose ? That

we may hear Judge Selden! Judge Selden is an exceedingly sen-

sible, able and honest man, and I like to hear him argue always ; but

I do not mean to say that he is the only man who can argue the

question before the Senate, and I do not mean to say that the coun-

sel for Judge McCunn are not able to present that question to-day.

Two weeks ago these gentlemen knew this question was to arise. They
are quite as able to present it as Judge Selden, for whom I have the

very highest respect ; but he will not argue it any better than they

will (if it is argued), this morning. We shall be so far, then, ahead,

and we will see what is to come on to-morrow. I should like to go
home to-day as much as any member of the Senate, but I am exceed-

ingly reluctant to postpone these things, and by and by they will go
over, and we shall accomplish nothing. I propose that the Senate
hear this preliminary question argued this morning, and then we
shall know what it is ; and then both of these parties will have some
forecast of the future in regard to their cases, and not be jumping
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all the time in the dark. I was one of the men who recommended
the putting over of Judge Prindle's case, but I made a great mistake.

It ought to have been decided then. I don't want to put this case

over. When we have heard this argument, how many will say,

"put this over until after the impeachment trial," and then the

political canvass will be on hand, and then Judge Prindie may want

to address some political body, and it will drift along, and we will

accomplish nothing.

Mr. Palmbe— Mr. President ; It has been said that we will have

an opportunity to try our patience this summer. I submit we have

had the first lesson this morning ; and, for my part, although the

discussion may have been necessary, I have heard about enough of

it. We come here from all parts of the State to decide these ques-

tions and go on with the cases now. It has been with some trouble

and diificulty that we have reached here, and I do not propose to go

home again and come back next week, although I would like to

gratify the counsel for the accused. When we leave here to-day, if

we do so, we ought to known about what we are going to do. I

think we should decide it, whether we should go on with this case

of Judge McCunn. We can just as well open the case and stay

here two or three days this week ; and we have made arrangements

to be away two or three days, I presume, and we can hear the argu-

ment on the subject, and we can go as far as we can with this case

to-day, and we may find we can leave out certain portions to the

committee, and we certainly will be making some progress. I,

therefore, call for the motion of the senator from the third (Mr.

Murphy), and I trust that motion will be voted down.

The President— The question is upon the amendment, moved

by the senator from the third (Mr. Murphy), to postpone further

consideration of the case of Judge McCunn until Tuesday next.

Mr. Johnson— Mr. President : I believe this question this morn-

ing, upon this preliminary question before the Senate, will not prolong

the time in which this investigation will be made, but rather have a

tendency to shorten it, and, therefore, I think it is important. The

questions, in all their bearings, should be discussed, however valuable

will be the time. It seems to me the proposition before the Senate

is simply this. Judge McCunn is called upon to answer the charges

preferred against him ; in reply to that, he says there is an important

legal proposition which he wishes to submit to this body before enter-

ing upon his defense in giving testimony. That ease, in all of its

bearings, has been submitted to counsel most eminent ; to a gentleman

Jearned in the law, and who is prepared to make the argument upon
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that proposition. And he asks this delay that that argument, which

must necessarily precede the taking of the testimony, be made ; and

for that reason he asks a delay of one week, which will not necessa-

rily involve the reassembling of the Senate for that purpose, it being

already designated for the hearing of another case. I ask if that will

be an unreasonable action, upon the part of the Senate, to give him

that time ; and I venture to say the simplest proposition, the simplest

constitutional question which may be submitted to this body, you

could not find a counsel, however eminent, in the city of Albany,

who could prepare, or would agree to undertake to make a constitu-

tional argument before this body, where that argument is to pass

into history and to pass as a portion of the record of this trial, with-

out exhaustive research, and without time to prepare for the argument.

Possibly it is the duty of the Senate, without regard to the position

these parties occupy. I believe that justice should be held with an

even scale and an even beam, with these parties asking that. I

believe it is reasonable, and I believe it is the usual practice where
interests, very much inferior in their consequences and results than

this, are depending; where not only the moral character, the status

and effect it produces upon that individual, is to attach to him for-

ever. Therefore, I believe in " making haste slowly in this instance

;

and then, too, if that legal question is decided adversely, then he

agrees to accept the committee to take the testimony, which will

obviate the necessity of the continuing of the Senate in taking that

oral testimony, as I understand ; and as the senator from the twenty-

second (Mr. D. P. Wood) has declared his preference to hear his tes-

timony, I hope he may be added to that committee, so that we can

have the advantage of his legal learning and his experience in the

investigation of causes, the ofEenses ; that we have the benefit of

his experience and legal knowledge ; therefore, I do hope that not

only the case will be postponed until that time, but I hope, in the

meantime, that the counsel of Judge Prindle, in conference with
his colleagues in charge of that case, will finally conclude that it

is better that the testimony in that case should be taken by a

committee.

Mr. D. P.Wood— Mr. President : Last evening, when we adopted
the resolution to proceed with the McCunn case this morning at

10 o'clock, this question, I supposed, of the application or the sug-
gestion, wa? made by a counsel for the judge, that they were not
willing to proceed, for the reason that they required and desired the
presence of Judge Selden here, to argue this preliminary question.
That having been decided deliberately, after consideration of the
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question and tlie arguments, that they have had sufficient time to

prepare, and that the Senate of the State, laying aside all of its

business, coming here from all parts of the State, twenty-eight or

thirty men, their convenience was somewhat to be considered, and

that they were not likely to be asked to go home and come here

again, to consult the convenience of one or two counsel, when the

State is so full of eminent counsel, able to meet and handle this

question ; and when, as we have seen here already, the judge him-

self is fully prepared now, with counsel, eminent and competent,

to meet this question. This is not a new question ; the senator from

the twenty-sixth (Mr. Johnson) says, it is a grave question, and one

which should be considered well and decided carefully. If this

application was addressed to the court instead of the Senate, what

would be the reply ? They would say that precise, identical ques-

tion was fully argued— elaborately argued in the Smith case, and

was decided after an elaborate argument by some of the ablest

counsel in the State. I would not take that position, although I

would say this case is and has been argued in that case, and fully

decided
;
yet, in the Senate, I would depart from the strict rules of

a court of law ; and if counsel think they can add any thing to the

argument presented on that trial, I would listen to them patiently

;

but I would not consider it of sufficient importance, or that their

interests were so far imperiled, by being forced to argument to-day,

without having had two weeks' notice that they must meet it to-day,

as to grant them an adjournment, and go home and waste another

week and fortnight, and come back here to hear that argument. It

appears to me it is asking too much. Not only argued and decided

full in the Smith case, but incidentally in the Prindle case, which

we disposed of yesterday. Let us proceed, under the order taken

last night, with this argument, and save the precious time of the

Senate. If the senators will look into the record of the Smith trial,

and of all the impeachment trials that have taken place before the

Senate and Court of Appeals, forming the Court of Impeachment,

they will find the greater portion of the time of the court has been

occupied just as we are occupying it to-day. Not in taking testi-

mony, or proceeding to ascertain the facts in the case, but in listen-

ing to arguments upon preliminary, extraneous and collateral

questions. Let us avoid that. We have too much of the business

of the Senate on hand, during the dog days of this year, to spend

unnecessary time upon argument, which certainly does not require

that we should adjourn and go to all parts of the State, and come

back here to listen to it. I do hope that the action taken by the

14
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Senate last night will be adhered to, and that we shall proceed with

the case. When we adjourned two weeks ago to consider the

Prindle case, it was understood that the case of Judge McCunn
would be taken up now, and it was fully understood by them what

their position would be. They were good lawyers. They knew if

the demurrer was overruled, that brought their case immediately

upon the calendar before the Senate, and they are not taken by

surprise. They knew we intended to go on with the case, and that

was really the first business in hand.

Unless we do begin, we certainly shall be until the first of January

next before we get through. If we fritter away the whole season

in adjournments, for the purpose of allowing counsel to be heard

upon preliminary questions, we shall not have any time this year to

listen to questions of fact. In relation to the remark that dropped

from the senator from the third (Mr. Murphy), and misquoting my
position in relation to this testimony, I will say a word. I did not say

that I insisted on or desired to have the testimony that was taken

before the House committee, treated as the testimony in this case.

I was simply commenting on the constitutional provision, that I

thought it was in the power of the Senate to treat that as evidence

before them, and to take it as priTna facie evidence upon which we
were to act, giving to the defendant full power to meet it in any shape,

and to recall the same witnesses, and examine them in extenso and de

novo upon the part of the defendant, as a part of their hearing within

the words of the Constitution, and its true meaning and import.

There is nothing in the Constitution, or in the laws of this State, that

requires us to disregard the prima facie evidence that is brought

before us. The Governor may have recommended the Senate to

remove one of these ofiicers upon affidavit presented to him, if he
saw fit. Then when it came before us, within the language of the

Constitution, we are compelled to give the defendant a hearing; and
what is a hearing ? It is, of course, to hear all the testimony he may
offer, and all the arguments he may adduce to show why he should

not be removed. There is nothing in the law or Constitution which
provides and declares that we shall enter upon the testimony de
novo ; but, as I said before, I would do even that, if the counsel for

the defense ask it. I would subject myself to that inconvenience, if

the counsel for the defense asked it ; but I simply stated that I

hoped that the counsel for the defense and the prosecution could
agree upon a large portion of that testimony, and relieve us from
taking it over again, although, as I said, I would prefer to have it

taken over, so I might hear the witnesses.
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Mr. WooDiN— Mr. President : I submit one or two observations

which I had intended to submit in consultation with my associates.

My idea is that it is our duty to hear and decide— investigate. If

a stranger were to come into this Senate, and look upon this scene

aiid hear what was said, and see who takes part in it, he would at once

conclude that these gentlemen in the front (the counsel) were the

court, and that the senators were the counsel. I apprehend the

counsel in fact employed in this case would enter upon the argument

of these questions, at this period of time, under some embarrassment.

Having heard from quite a number of senators their views expressed

in a qualiiied manner, they would hardly expect to appeal to their

judgment and their reason for a verdict or judgment adverse to

what they had said. I hope if there is to be any more talk upon

this question that we shall listen to the counsel. If I am mistaken

as to whom the counsel are, my remarks are out of order. I hope

we shall hear the counsel who are here present, on both sides of these

questions, and then, if the senators desire to air themselves, we will

have a private consultation, and go through with the airing.

Mr. Madden— Mr. President : I think the point of the senator

from the twenty-fifth (Mr. Woodin), is quite well taken. At the

same time, I think it is entirely competent for the Senate to decide

whether they will adjourn one week or not. I admit, that, as to

the remarks upon important matters, we had better have the coun-

sel first, and then decide in regard to obtaining the facts in the

case ; and we have a right to do it in the way we deem best, with-

out regard to counsel. The senator from Brooklyn can read the

testimony in Brooklyn.

Mr. MuEPHY— Mr. President : I expect to be here, and if I am
not I wish to have an excuse for my absence.

Mr. Madden— I believe he said he would be here, at judgment.

That is not the question. The question now is, shall we adjourn

one week or not in the McCunn case. I would ask the chair the

question.

The President— The question is upon the amendment of the

senator from the third (Mr. Murphy), that the case of Judge

McCunn be postponed till next Tuesday. That is an amendment to

the motion from the senator from the twenty-second (Mr. D. P.

"Wood), that we proceed at once to the consideration of the case.

Mr. Madden— I am opposed to adjournment.

Mr. Le^vis— I arise to a point of order. The debate is in viola-

tion of the fourteenth rule we have adopted, which provides that

the decisions of these questions shall be had without debate, unless a
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senator shall desire a debate ; and if, on motion to that end, that

shall be adopted by the Senate, the chamber shall be cleared for con-

sultation.

Mr. Madden—The point is well taken.

The Peesident— The chair is obliged to the senator from the

tenth for deciding it.

Ml-. Van Cott— Mr. President: The position of the counsel

upon the other side of the chamber is somewhat anomalous. We
are here aiding, as we suppose, the Senate in an investigation. The

position is very awkward, to enter into a discussion with the senators

themselves with the questions that are in dispute. It is rather

embarrassing for us to contest what senators say and what senators

may wish to do upon the questions submitted. I understand

the question now pending is upon the amendment to adjourn

the hearing of this case until Tuesday. I understand the ques-

tion to be predicated upon an intimation that Judge McCunn

will consent that the testimony taken in the case shall be

taken by a committee of the Senate, provided the objection

taken to the jurisdiction of the Senate is not sustained. I

have heard intimations at different stages of the investiga-

tion about what Judge McCunn and his counsel would do in

certain events. There have been very unfortunate misunderstand,

ings here between parties and counsel, as to what would

be done in certain events ; and if the Senate adjourns for a

week upon an understanding of that kind, I hope the understand-

ing will be put in such a shape that it will take effect ; because if

that motion prevails, and if the counsel who have appeared here to

assist the Senate in the prosecution of this inquiry shall come here

next Tuesday, they will come without witnesses, and without the

expectation of proceeding further in the investigations before the

Senate, to be heard only upon the questions taken as to the juris-

diction of the Senate. And as we have some responsibility in

bringing witnesses here one hundred and fifty miles in midsummer,

eager to leave town with their families, some of whom are sick, and

whose families are sick, the position we occupy is one of responsi-

bility and difficulty in procuring the attendance of witnesses, and

we wish to be distinctly informed by the Senate now, by its action,

whether we are to be responsible for the production of witnesses

required in the prosecution before the Senate. We owe, we suppose,

a duty to the public. I know this is a matter of great public expec-

tation, and I know that those who have ventured to pursue this

investigation against a judge of a court in which they are obliged
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to practice as counsel, have taken upon themselves very serious

responsibilities, and very serious hazards for themselves and for their

clients ; and, in addition to that, the responsibility of producing, on
the call of the Senate, evidence to substantiate these charges. We
have responded to the call. "We have, in midsummer, taken this

responsibility upon ourselves. We are here and ready to proceed.

We want to know whether we are to proceed. We want it distinctly

settled that if the Senate adjourns it adjourns upon the understand-

ing that the Senate is not further to proceed here ; I mean in the

taking of testimony, but is to proceed before a committee of the

Senate, in the city of 'New York.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : I desire to be expressly understood

that if we are granted this adjournment we will consent to the

taking of testimony in New York or elsewhere, by a committee of

three or four, which the Senate may appoint, and, of course, be

heard finally before the Senate.

Mr. Yan Cott— Mr. President : I wish further to submit this

suggestion, that if the Senate shall adjourn until next Tuesday to

hear the arguments upon the jurisdictional question that we may
have discussed, the further question whether it is competent for the

Senate to act upon the evidence received from the Governor, so

much of the testimony need not be taken over again on the part of

the prosecution. It will leave the defendant to adduce such evidence

on his part as he may deem material in the exercise of his constitu-

tional right to be heard in answer to the charges. I do not mean to

say a word upon that question here. I think it rather unfortunate

that it was brought into discussion this morning, though it seemed

inevitable in the situation of the question before the Senate ; but

after all the discussion, I am prepared to demonstrate to the Senate

an authority that this is competent evidence, and that the Senate

might, upon the refusal of the judge to adduce evidence (to be heard

by evidence adduced on his part), proceed to remove him from

office. I shall not discuss that question, but I hope the objection to

the question of jurisdiction, if overruled, now or upon the adjourn-

ment, that that question will then be disposed of as another prelimi-

nary question to the investigation, before a committee of the Senate.

Of course, we are very anxious, and know the difficulty of getting

witnesses, who are going out of town, some abroad and some over

other sections of the country, to keep them in town, where we can

get their testimony ; and knowing the difficulty we have had in pro-

curing the attendance of witnesses, we are very anxious to go on

;

but it is a question for the convenience of senators, and a sense of
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justice to the accused, and we do not wish to be considered as strenu-

ously pressing the question.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I desire to ask the counsel a

question, whether you have your witnesses now here on the part of

the people ?

Mr. Van Cott— "We have witnesses enough to occupy the day,

and I trust a part of to-morrow ; and we sent down subpoenas last

night for additional witnesses to be subpoenaed, to appear here to-

Liorrow.

Mr. Peckham— Mr. President : We wish to say, on the part of

Judge McCunn, if this adjournment be granted for one week, we
shall be entirely prepared to discuss the question that Judge Selden

is unable to take part in, and also to discuss the other question which

the gentleman says he will not now discuss, as to the propriety of

the admissibility of the evidence taken before the committee of the

Assembly, being properly in evidence here. Those two questions we
shall then be prepared to discuss ; and then as has been said, if the de-

cision shall be adverse to us, we will be ready to go on before the com-

mittee of the Senate, and have the testimony taken in the city of

New York, and the final end, of course, had before the full Senate

;

and in addition to that, as far as regards the witnesses on the part of

prosecution, where subpcsna had been sent down, a telegram would

reach them in time to prevent their coming up to-day or for to-raor-

row, and the witnesses that are here will probably take up the day

(certainly cannot be very many in number), and it seems to me not

only the convenience of the Senate, but the time of the Senate

would be materially saved by granting this adjournment of one

week.

Mr. MuEPHY—The motion I recollect is until Tuesday next.

Mr. Lewis—I withdraw my motion to go into secret session.

The amendment was lost.

The motion of the senator from the twenty-second (Mr. D. P.

Wood) was carried.

The President—The Chair now desires to ask the counsel for

Judge McCuun if they desire now to raise any more preliminary

questions ?

Mr. MoAK—The second answer which the defendant has inter-

posed here, is this :
" And the said respondent further answering,

claims and insists that this honorable body has no jurisdiction to

hear." It is fit and proper that the discussion of this question,

which is a constitutional question, and which involves, certainly,

grave rights so far as the respondent here is concerned, and, so far
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as tlie establishment of a precedent for the future is concerned, should

be discussed by more eminent counsel than myself; and yet, the

duty is thrown upon me, and I propose to meet it as best I may.

The discussion of questions of this character is not a mere idle cere-

mony; and the arrival at a correct conclusion upon them, involves

not only the rights of the citizens, but it involves the rights of the

people. The people have established a Constitution, and they have

a right that that Constitution shall be observed, and shall be

observed in its minutest particular. This question involves not

simply the rights of John H. McCunn ; it involves not simply the

establishment of a precedent here, but it involves a question of

whether a fundamental law, which has been passed upon by the

electors of this State, if it means what we say it does, shall be

observed, or whether its observation may be dispensed with. It has

been suggested by senators here, and, of course, I assume without

examination, that this question was decided in the case of Judge

Smith, in this State. With all deference, I beg leave to suggest

that the question which we now present, was not in the case of

Judge Smith. By referring to that case the senators will find on

page 1, the proclamation, as it is called in this trial of Judge Smith,

of the Governor, which was sent to the Senate, and is entered upon

the records. Upon the journal of the Senate originally, it read in

this wise

:

" STATE OF NEW YOEK

:

" Executive Depaetment,
"Albany, April 21, 1866.

"Whereas, The Senate of the State of New Tork, by reso-

lution, bearing date on the 23d of March, 1866, requested me to

call the Senate together in extra session at the Capitol, on the 2d

of June following, for the purpose of proceeding to the trial of

the charges against the county judge of Oneida county, now, there-

fore, I, Keuben E. Fenton, Governor of the State of New Tork, by

virtue of the authority conferred by section 4, article i of the Con-

stitution of said State, do order and proclaim that the Senate of the

State 01 New York do convene in extra session at the Senate Cham-

ber in the city of Albany, on the 2d of June, 1866, at 11 o'clock

in the forenoon, for the purpose of proceeding to the trial of the

charges against the county judge of Oneida county," etc.

By referring to the proceedings of the Senate, in this case, it will

be found that the defendant in that case interposed a special plea

that this document was not the document which had been sent to
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this Senate by the Governor of the State. He alleged in his spe-

cial plea, that a document was sent by the Governor, by his private

secretary, to the Senate ; that it was submitted to the Senate ; was

announced by the President; and that after that time it had been

taken from the possession of the Senate to the executive chamber,

and changes had been made in that document, and he objected to

the Senate trying the questions, because it was not the paper upon

which the Senate was asked to act by the Governor, and upon which

it was convened ; and evidence was taken, as the proceedings wiU

show, by which it was permitted to the respondent in that case

(George "W". Smith) to prove, if he could, that that was not the doc-

ument which had emanated from the executive chamber, and which

had been submitted to the Senate. In accordance with that evi-

dence the private secretary of Governor Fenton, Mr. G. S.

Hastings, was called, and four or five other witnesses were called, as

the proceedings will show. Commencing at page 50 of these pro-

ceedings, the first witness called for the respondent was George S.

Hastings. He was examined by the respondent, and cross-examined

by Mr. Sedgwick, the counsel for the prosecution. James Terwilli

ger, who was then the Clerk of the Senate, was sworn (page 55).

Thomas G. Alvord, who was then the Lieutenant-Governor, was

sworn, on page 56 ; and the Senate finally adjourned, the counsel for

the prosecution, Mr. Sedgwick, saying that they might give further

evidence, or thej' might not. On the ensuing day, his excellency,

the Governor of the State, appeared in the Senate chamber here,

as shown by these proceedings, and was himself sworn as a witness,

and gave testimony, in which he himself said that this document, at

the time it was sent to the Senate, was not in the form in which it

was entered on the roll. The original document was produced, and

erasures and interlineations were made ; and it was claimed by the

respondent that this alteration amounted to a forgery, and, conse-

quently, that the Senate had no jurisdiction of the proceedings.

On pages 13 and 14 the following appears

:

" Mr. GmsoN offered the following resolution

:

" Resolved, That the document entered upon the journal of the

Senate on the 14th of February, 1866, as a message from his excel-

lency the Governor, in relation to the removal of George W. Smith,

county judge of Oneida county, be amended by inserting the word
' as,' which was stricken out thereof ; by restoring the phrase 'I must
assume that the charges presented to me, and duly verified, are true ;'

expunging the words written on erasure, as follows : ' he shall, upon
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a full and fair investigation, be convicted of the charges made against

him,' and inserting in the place thereof the words as follows :
' upon

trial, he shall fail to disprove the charges which are made against

him.'

"

That resolution was adopted. It was decided that the original

message which was sent to the Senate by the Governor and entered

upon the record, was the charges and the proclamation upon which

the Senate should act.

Let us see what further occurred. At pages 130 and 13J of this

trial will be found the document as originally sent to the Senate, and

the document upon which George W. Smith was tried, and this

occurs in regard to it. "By Mr. Shaffer. We now call for the

reading of the original message as read from the Clerk's desk on

the lith February last. By the President. The Clerk will read

the message." (The Clerk proceeded to read the message.) That

was the document upon which GeorgeW. Smith was tried ; whether

it complied with the law or the Constitution is not the question here,

I think. And that question was not finally passed upon, because it

was assumed that the burden of proving the affirmative of the case

when it came to the Senate, rested upon the prosecution. Some of

the senators in that case said they thought the Governor had gone

too far when he said the respondent should be called upon to dis-

prove the charges, or he should be removed ; but he said, substan-

tially, " I must assume that these charges presented to me, duly veri-

fied, are true. I do assume they are true. I recommend his removal,

and recommend that you investigate the case." That was the case

of Judge Smith. There the Governor did assume to, and did pass

upon that question of whether the party was guilty or not of the

charges. He says he assumes they are true. He recommends his

removal, and upon that he was tried, and the practice of the Senate,

which in that case required the prosecutors to call their witnesses

and swear them before the Senate and prove their case. The case

showed that the Senate did not adopt the theory of the executive of

the State at the time that the respondent was called upon to prove

his innocence before a court or before a tribunal, to pass upon the

case before his guilt was established. That being so, the case of

Judge Smith, in my estimation, and I think every senator should

examine this case, and I ask him to examine it, before assuming the

same question is in that case that is in this, and you will say that the

question of whether the Governor must pass upon the probable ques-

tion of the guilt or innocence of the charges, must be first determined

by the executive. And now let us see what the Constitution of our

15
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State requires. This question of whether one man should hold an

office or not, perhaps so far as he is concerned, may not be a very

important one, except so far as it involves his reputation, perhaps

through life, but the question of whether a man who is chosen by

electors of the district, or by the electors of the State, shall be un-

seated, and their action nullified, is a question in which every elector

has a vital interest, and whenever that right is invaded, one of- the

rights which they have attempted to guarantee to themselves in the

Oonstitiition, which is so carefully framed, is frittered away. Section

2, article 6, of our Constitution, I refer to.

" A justice of the Supreme Court may be removed by concurrent

resolution of both houses of the Legislature, if two-thirds of all the

members elected to the Assembly and a majority of all the members
elected to the Senate concur therein."

Let us see what is the theory upon which this Constitution proceeds

in the removal of an officer like that in the case which we now have

under consideration, and it is fair to reason by analogy ; a gentle-

man who would be put on trial for assault and battery, where the

punishment might not exceed a fine of six cents, by this Constitu-

tion, is guarantied that before he shall be put on trial, his case, if he

elects to have it, shall be presented to the grand jury of the county.

Pie shall be indicted. The charges shall be specifically made by a

grand jury, and then he shall have a fair trial before a petit jury.

J\[y theory of this provision of the Constitution is this (and I shall

show the senators before I get through, that that has been reviewed

by the Supreme Court of this State, in an able opinion written by
Judge Bronson, concurred in by Judges Xelson and Cowen), that

before a man could be put on trial, and deprived of an office in,

which he has an interest, in which the electors who have elected

him have an interest, he shall first be indicted, not perhaps in an

offensive sense, not perhaps in the sense of being charged with a

crime
;
but that somebody, acting under an official oath as a grand

juror, when the case is presented to him, shall say, whether upon
sufficient evidence, is not the question, but that he shall say " I have
examined this case and I believe there is probable cause to ask his

removal. I do ask his removal ; and I ask the Senate, the body
designated by the Constitution, to investigate this case, and, if estab-

lished, to remove him." Let us see why this should not be so,

because there is common sense in every thing, in law, or should be,

and in the Constitution. Is the Governor a mere conduit through
which the Senate may be reached ? Is it true that if I desire a law
to be passed, under which I may go through my neighbor's lot with
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a private way, that I may appi'oach the bar of the Senate and ask a

senator to present my petition, and to pass a law ? Is it true that,

in the most important law which can be passed by the Senate, I

may approach the Senate and ask that it be investigated as a private

individual ; and when I make a charge against a judicial officer that

I must come to the Governor and merely go through the form of

asking him to come here as my representative ? This Constitution

was not designed for any such purpose. It was designed that when
charges were made against an executive officer ; and if every charge

that was made was investigated the Senate would certainly be busy,

because no party was ever defeated yet, that, in the heat and excite-

ment of the defeat, he did not imagine there was corruption— is it

true that all he has got to do (and I care not, although I have the

utmost respect for this Bar Association, whether it is an association

of individuals or a single individual) is simply to come to the Gov-

ernor and say, I ask this investigation, and the Governor sends in a

basket of affidavits to the Senate and say I ask you to investigate it ?

What would any gentleman in this Senate, who is a lawyer, think

of a grand jury that should take the evidence and have it all written

out by their clei'k, and instead of saying we iind a true bill in this

case, and indict this man for burglary, would say to the petit jury

and to the court, " Plere is the evidence ; ^ve cannot say whether

this man is probably guilty or not, to be put to trial on the charge

;

here is the evidence, yon investigate it, and if you find he is guilty

convict him." Can that be tolerated for a moment ? Perhaps it does

very little good to elaborate these things, because analogy and every

man's common sense will see how that is. Let us see what the

theory of the Constitution is. As I understand it (and I think

every man who studies will understand), it is not every charge of a

judicial officer that may be examined by the Senate, because the

Senate might be kept very busy ; but a man comes to the Governor

of the State, acting under his official oath, charged with the duty

of protecting every individual in the State, in his life and liberty,

and in a fair and honest administration of justice. He comes to

him as a public officer, charged with the duty, and, in certain cases,

exercising the duty of removal without the concurrences of the Sen-

ate at all. To illustrate, take the case that was recently investigated

here, with which some senators are familiar ;
the superintendent of

the poor of the county of Rensselaer, charged with no very onerous

duty. Charges were made against him, and the Governor investi-

gated it. The Eevised Statutes is careful to provide, that where an

officer has been elected by the people, that the Governor can't
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remove him without hearing him, and it provides how the tes-

timony shall be taken. It provides that the Governor may
appoint a competent person to take the testimony, and ma^

designate the district attorney of the county to appear on behalf of

the people, and take it and give to the accused the right to appear

and cross-examine the witness. If an officer was unimportant, and

this is so of all officers, then a coroner cannot be removed, nor a

sheriff. There is a class of officers, and these may confuse unless

they are examined. There is a class of officers, like health officers,

or I believe surveyors of the port of New York, and various other

officers, who may be removed by the Governor without a hearing,

because he appoints them, or the Senate and he. He appoints them,

and the Senate concur. That is the class of officers he may remove

without any hearing ; but whenever it comes to an elective officer,

who is chosen by the people, and occupies his position through the

suffrages of the people, the law has been very careful to provide that

the Governor shall not remove him at his arbitrary will, but after a

full and fair hearing. That is the difference. Under the Constitu-

tion of 1821, the Governor appointed, substantially, all the officers,

with the concurrence of the Senate ; and, under that, it was held,

however arbitrary the Governor's removal might be, or unjust, there

was no remedy. Why ? He was made the officer charged with the

duty and responsibility of doing it, and there was no court that

could investigate the fairness of his proceedings ; but in an elective

officer the rule is entirely different, and so it was under the Consti-

tution. If I have sufficiently shown— and I will not spend much
time, because several of the senators are lawyers— if I have suffi-

ciently shown that this Constitution guaranties the right to a man,

before he shall be put on trial, that the Governor shall investigate

the charges, that he shall set ont, either himself or through the

procurement of somebody else, the charges which he believes the

evidence in that case establishes, and ask that the Senate then try

him, or give the party a hearing on them ; and if he finds them to

be true, that he then removes them ; then 1 have gone one step in

these proceedings, and I think this case of Judge Smith's is not at

all ill the way ; not a particle. In the case of "Judge Prindle, the

Governor seems to have proceeded upon that theory, and ho says

(and it is true, I believe, as a matter of fact), that in that ease he

heard both parties, and heard them by counsel. He says, in his

message to the Senate (I refer to page 26 of the argument ia the

Prindle case)

:

" It would seem, therefore, to be the duty of the Governor, if a
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prima facie case be made out before liim, to send it to you for

adjudication," clearly showing that, in that case, he had heard the

counsel ; and, I think, somewhere in it, he recites the fact that he

has heard counsel. He says :
" The charges in this case are pre-

sented by respectable citizens, and substantially indorsed by the

county board of supervisors," etc. He says, in this proclamation,

that the charges, in his estimation, make out a prima facie case

;

or, in other words, that, acting as a judicial officer, upon the evidence

which has been submitted to him, as such, no matter whether it is

exparte, or taken after an examination, that is not material ; but that

he thinks &primafacie case is made out, and that the Senate should

investigate. Let us see what the Governor does in this case ; and,

I believe, as a matter of fact, the records of the Assembly and

Senate, of course, of which this body will take judicial notice, show

that these charges were sent to the Governor, I believe, in the

afternoon of the last day of the session of the Legislature, by the

Assembly ; and that in the same afternoon they were sent here by

the Governor, showing no examination of the voluminous testimony

could have been made ; nor is there any pretended in the message

the Governor sent to the Senate. I read the message of the Gov-

ernor in this case

:

" State of New York,
"Executive Chamber, Albany, May 14, 1872.

" To the Senate :

" The Assembly having sent to me the following resolution

:

"Resolved, That the charges and testimony taken in connection

therewith, reported to this House by the judiciary committee, be

transmitted to His Excellency, the Governor, with the request, on

the part of this Plouse, that it be recommended to the Senate to

take proceedings for the removal of said John H. McCunn from his

office of justice of the Superior Court of New York city."

There is not an allegation in this message, from beginning to end,

that the Governor has ever looked inside of that testimony. There

is not a pretense, from beginning to end, of this document, that the

Governor ever opened it ; but the Assembly, believing that there

was not (and it is fair to assume they believed it) sufficient

evidence which would justify an impeachment, they exercised

the same rights which any private citizen would have a right

to exercise, and they sent the matter to the Governor. They said

to the Governor, by their resolution :
" We recommend that you

investigate this. The Constitution has confided this duty to you,
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iind lias guaranteed to every man who holds an office your examina-

tion and your action in the premises. We don't think there is suffi-

cient cause for impeachment, and we send it to you for your action,

and do with it as you please." The Governor, instead of discharging

that duty, says to the Senate :
" I send it to you, and you do as you

please about it." To illustrate this case, a little practical illustration

:

Suppose, if the Senate please, what we cannot anticipate now,

that the Senate, after the examination of this case, should say, by

their vote, that we will remove Judge McCunn. Suppose the Gover-

nor, acting upon that resolution, should appoint a successor, and that

siiecessor, in going into the Superior Court, should find Judge Mc-

Cunii, upon the bench, and Judge McOunn should say I claim the

right to exercise the office of justice of the Superior Court. If,

gentlemen, he commence through the Attorney-General proceedings

qiw warranto, and he should assume to say that he was the real

justice ofthe Superior Court, and that MeCunn had no right to intrude

into the office, what must he establish in order to make his case ?

Every lawyer who will consider the method of proceeding will see

he must prove, first, that the Governor recommended his removal

that is one thing he must prove ; and, secondly, that the Senate,

on the recommendation of the Governor that he be removed after

a fair hearing, adjudicated that he should be removed. Suppose he

should attempt to prove it, and he brings into court as the first

piece of evidence this document, signed by the Governor ; Judge
MoCunn's counsel says " we object to that ; that is not a recommen-
dation that Judge McCunn be removed from office ; the Governor

nowhere recommends that ; he did not say ' I think he ought to be

removed.' He did not recommend his removal, but he says to the

Senate, ' I i-ecommend that you investigate, and if you find the

charges established, then that you remove ; that I recommend it ; I

don't throw my official responsibility into the scale at all, I leave it

entirely to you ;
" and what court, called upon to act according to the

practice of law, and to administer justice under the Constitution of

the State, could hold for an instant that the document showed that

the Governor had acted upon this matter, or that he had made any
recommendation for removal ? If they could, then they could go
farther than any case yet has gone either by the Senate or any court.

We are not entirely without authority on this point. The statutes

of our State have provided, and I refer to Edmonds' Statutes, and
still provide as follows : I read from page 113 of Edmonds' Stat-

utes, section 41, first volume, 123 of the marginal paging of the

statute : "All officers appointed by the Governor with the consent
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of the Senate, except the chancellor, the justices of the Supreme
Court and the circuit judges, may be removed by the Senate on the

recommendation of tlie Governor. This statute of course is not

applicable so far as it has been changed by the Constitution. It

was adjudicated in the 9th of Ploward's Practice Reports, to apply

to all officers, except so far as the Constitution changed it. Senators

will bear in mind that here there is no provision for a hearing by

the party. Why ? Because the Governor appoints with the con-

sent of the Senate. This section of the statute eame under

consideration of the Supreme Court of this State in the case of the

People V. Cadracue, in the 2d of Hill, 93, and that case arose in

this way : Under the then existing Constitution of our State the

Governor had a right to appoint justices of the peace and inferior

judicial officers in cities ; the Governor appointed a justice of the

peace in the city of Hudson, and the old officer said precisely as

Judge McCunn might say in this case, if this Senate should remove

him, " I never was legally removed, and hence I claim a right to

atill execute the duties of the office." The Attorney-General, enter-

taining the same view which my friends on the other side entertain

in this, says, " Your argument is not good for any thing
;
you have

not been removed ; " and he brought a qtw warranto, and the defend-

ant in that case set up the fact that he was legally the officer, and

the relator or the Attorney-General set up, on behalf of the rela-

tor, that he had been removed, but he did not say on the recommen-

dation of the Governor. ISTow let us see what the replication was :

•' That, on the 2d of March, 1846, the Governor duly nominated and,

with the consent of the Senate, appointed Spencer Whiting," etc.

The commission is signed by William H. Seward, Governor. An
elaborate opinion (several questions being discussed) was delivered

by Judge Cowen and Judge Bronson, and they all hold. Judge

JSTelson, who was then the other judge of the Supreme Court,

concurring with Judge Bronson, that the replication was defective,

because the recommendation and action of the Governor, that the

particular act be done was just as much necessary in order to create

a vacancy in the office or removal as the action of the Senate. The

case states that Judge Kelson concurred in the opinion of Judge

Bronson, and Cowen substantially concurred in that ; for on one of

the pages he discusses it and arrives at the same conclusion. If T

understand this case rightly we have an adjudication by Judges

Bronson, Nelson and Cowen, certainly three judges of the court not

inferior to any now in existence, and by that I mean no disrespect to

our present courts, in which all of them say that when even a statute,
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which is the creature of the Legislature, jDrescribes a certain measure

for the removal of an officer, to wit, a recommendation by the Gover-

nor, and the action of the Senate on the recommendation, that both

must concur before the officer is legally removed ; and I would refer

the senators, although perhaps it is noc very important except as a

matter of argument and for examination, to the case entitled The

amplication ofHenry E. Barker, in the 9th of Howard's Practice

Reports, page 417, where the question is considered, as to the power

of removal and appointment to office, by the Governor, during the

recess of the Senate, of certain officers ; and then he says that the

Constitution has not changed the statute upon this subject as it

existed at the time of the adoption of the Constitution of 1846,

pointing out in that case between the action of the Governor— the

arbitrary action of the Governor— which is necessarily somewhat

arbitrary in a case where he has the appointing power, and in a case

where the officer holds his office by virtue of election, and is

removable only pursuant to some provision of law, and not upon

the mere arbitrary action of the Governor. Now, I do not desire

to discuss this question at any very great length, until the views of

the counsel on the other side are heard. It strikes me, that by the

Constitution itself, by the decision of the Supreme Court, where

the statute used precisely the same language, except that it did not

provide that the party should not be removed until after a hearing,

that two acts must concur, and the action of the Governor, acting

judicially, considering the case ; and, perhaps, it is not necessary to

determine now whether it must be upon ex parte testimony or other-

wise ; but the Governor must say, by his action, " this case has

sufficient magnitude, in my judgment, to require the removal of

this officer, and I recommend it, and ask you, the Senate of the

State, to examine the case ; and if, after doing so, you concur with

me in my view of the case, then remove him." But the Governor

did not say anywhere in this message— he does not even intimate—
that he has an idea that this officer ought to be removed ; and as

this is a question of jurisdiction, it can be raised now or at any

time. It can be raised, even after the action of the Senate, on a

quo warranto ; and I have shown that the case of Judge Smith is

not decisive of this, and that the question we now raise was not in

that case, and could not have been.

Mr. Van Con— There is no dispute between the learned counsel

and myself as to the character in which the Senate acts in a case of

this character. It acts as a part of the executive department of the
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government. The Governor and the Senate, acting together, con-

stitute the complete executive in appointing to office in cases where
appointment to office is devolved by the Constitution or the laws

upon the Governor and Senate. They act in the same character in

removals from office where their conjoint action to removal from

office is required by the Constitution or laws and these proceedings.

The steps taken by these two branches of the executive are taken, of

course, in the order of time. There is a certain chronology in the

order of proceeding ; the Governor and Senate, not sitting together

and acting simultaneously, but acting separately to a common end.

They act in the order prescribed by the Constitution. Now, if the

Governor were to send a nomination to the Senate (the Constitution

being expressed that the Governor shall nominate and the Senate con-

firm, or the appointment shall be made in a nomination of the Gov-

ernor, with the consent of the Senate) ; if the Governor, exercising

this point of the executive function, should send a message to the

Senate, and say, " not I nominate A. B. as judge of the Supreme Court,

bnt I nominate A. B. as judge of the Supreme Court ;

" if the Senate,

upon inquiry, is satisfied as to the fitness of A. B. to be judge of the

Supreme Court, and the Senate (exercising its functions as a part of

the executive upon a nomination in that form, upon an inquiry insti-

tuted by itself) should confirm the nomination, would any one doubt

that the nomination, confirmation and appointment had been made in

a competent manner under the Constitution? Now, what is the

criticism upon this recommendation of the Governor? It is the

purest verbal criticism, such as we are not accustomed to in high

courts, which look at the substance of things, and not upon the

mere quibble of words. What is the objection? The Governor

being appealed to, in a competent manner, with charges against ajudge

of a high court, examines certain evidence, and sends to the Senate the

charges and the evidence, and says to the Senate, " if these charges

are found to be substantiated, I recommend the removal of the per-

son named." What is the objection to the message ? What does

the Constitution say? The Constitution says, "that all judicial

officers, except, etc., may be removed by the Senate on the recom-

mendation of the Governor." We are dealing with the Constitution

and not with the Code. If with the Code, you might have a book

of forms without a formal recommendation prescribed ; but there is a

single word used by the Constitution, "the Senate may act on the

recommendation of the Governor." In what way shall the Governor

put his recommendation? How may he qualify it? What words

may he use and yet perform the constitutional duty or recommenda-

16
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tion to the Senate ? What does the Constitution further say ? The

Constitution says, " that the charges thus communicated, upon which

the Senate shall act, having been communicated to the party charged,

and he having an opportunity to be heard in his defense, the Senate

may then exercise its functions and reiTiove." You take this provis-

ion as a whole : That the Governor may recommend the removal,

and that the Senate may then remove, in compliance with the recom-

mendation, if certain things happen. If the party charged is served

with a copy of the charges, if he is heard or has an opportunity to

be heard in answer to them, and if after the service of the charges,

and the answer or the opportunity to answer on the part of the

accused is had, if the Senate shall then be of the opinion

that the charges are sustained, the Senate shall ren.ove, on

the recommendation of the Governor. Suppose the Gover-

nor, instead of adopting the formula that he has adopted,

had sent the name of the judge to the Senate with a recom-

mendation that they should serve the charges ; should give him

an opportunity to be heard ; should hear him, and should come to a

conclusion upon the truth of the charges ; and then, if the charges,

were, in the judgment of the Senate, established, that the Senate

should remove him, I ask if there would not then .have been a libe-

ral conformity with the requirement of the Constitution % Is it not

mere child's play to say that this action of the Senate, being con-

tingent upon certain other things prescribed by the Constitution ; that

the executive, acting under an oath of ofhce— acting under high

responsibilities of office, instead of making a recommendation with

reference to the actual Constitution, and to what is actually required

to be done under the Constitution to make the action effective and

consummate, instead of having reference to that and inviting the

action of the Senate with reference to its constitutional obligations

that the Governor was bound to recommend the Senate, in absolute

terms, to remove the judge? Does it mean that? Does it mean
that the Governor was bound, no matter whether the charges were
true or false— no matter whether the charges were served or not—
no matter whether the accused had his defense before the Senate—
his opportunity to be heard or not, that the Governor was absolutely

and unconditionally to request the Senate to remove Judge McCunn ?

The Constitution don't mean that. The Constitution means a removal
subject to all the objections which attach to the action of the Senate
and the act of removal. The Governor, therefore, instead of look-

ing at the mere letter of the Constitution, the words that recommend
removal, looks to the substantial requirement of the Constitution

;
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looks at all that has to be done before the removal can take place ; and
he says : Ho, I don't absolutely recommend a removal ; I do not, in dis-

regard of these constitutional provisions, unqualifiedly recommend a

removal ; I recommend you to remove Judge McCunn in conformity
to the Constitution. That is, I recommend you, after you have served

the charges and after you have given him the opportunity to be heard,

and after you have concluded the charges are substantiated, to remove
Judge McCunn. What difference does it make, as to the compliance

with the Constitution, whether the Grovernor has followed the dry

literalness of the Constitution, which do not convey its substantial

purpose, instead of doing what he don't mean to do, and what tlie

Constitution did not mean that he should do— make an absolute and
unconditional recommendation of removal ? He proceeded according

to the spirit of the Constitution and recommended the Senate to do

what the Constitution required that the Senate should do. He
recommended not absolutely, but with an " if." Now the letter of

the Constitution don't express the whole purpose of the Constitution
;

it don't mean the Governor shall recommend the removal absolutely.

It means the recommendation shall be with this '
' if," which the

framers put into the Constitution itself; and the whole criticism

upon the recommendation ofthe Governor is that he has regarded the

spirit of the Constitution and put the " if," in his message ; not

remove absolutely, which I do not mean, but remove " if," which I

do mean ; and he adapts the " if" of the Constitution. These charges,

which are deemed sufficient as charges, supported by this evidence, 1

send to the Senate; and if, after pursuing the course prescribed

by the Constitution, in the judgment of the Senate, after hearing

the other party, after hearing this evidence explained ; if in

the judgment of the Senate, the accused is guilty of the charges,

then I recommend his removal ; and that is just what the Consti

tution intended should be recommended. Here is a mere inver-

sion of another order that may be pursued. I find in the Con-

stitution of Louisiana and Pennsylvania, and Massachusetts,

the order of the action of the two branches of the executive is

changed. In Pennsylvania, the Governor removes upon the evidence

of the two Houses. In Louisiana, the Governor removes upon the

evidence of the Houses. In Massachusetts, the same order of pro-

ceeding is observed. Suppose this proceeding had been invested

here; that these charges had been made to the Senate ; that the evi-

dence had been adduced to the Senate, and in the judgment of the

Senate the charges had been sufficient and the evidence prima faole,

to make out a case, and the Senate had then, upon an invested pro-
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eedure, sent this case to the Governor, and said we recommend you,

if you have any duty of further inquiry here, or any duty to judge

upon the sufficiency of this evidence ; we recommend you, if you

deem the case to be made out which has been presented to us, upon

which we made our recommendation ; we recommend you to

remove this judge
;
you would have had the same case in this sub-

stance but with a different formula, and that is all. It is not the

case of the judgment of two branches of the executive upon an iden-

tical state of facts upon one record. The Governor adhering now
to the spirit of the Constitution, and looking at that as controlling

;

the Governor upon the case that is made to him, presents to the

Senate a case for removal, subject to the provisions of the Constitu-

tion ; those provisos being, if upon the further inquiry which is

opened by the Constitution to the accused. If, in the judgment of

the Senate, the constitutional case shall be made out, and the Gov-

ernor having regard to the two records, and the further inquiry,

says, I send you these charges, and the evidence, and I look to the

further requirements of the sixth article of the Constitution. If,

after the charges have been presented to the party, and after he has

been heard, or had his opportunity to be heard, you shall adjudge

that the charges are established, I recommend you to remove him.

Now you might of course have found an authoritative exposition of

the Constitution which seemed to violate this letter and its spirit,

and if the authority of the Senate in a previous case establishing a

different Constitution, requiring a different practice under this sec-

tion, had been produced, I should have bowed to this authority, or

if a judgment of any of the higher courts of the State had been pro-

duced, I should have bowed to this authority. But, until you come
to an authority asking you to depart from the spirit of the Constitu-

tion, to these plain substantive requirements, and to follow the mere
cold and narrow form and letter, instead of the spirit, 1 hold myself

at liberty to follow the substantive requirements of the Constitution,

instead of the imperfect letter. I do not contradict the letter ; the

spirit is in harmony with the letter, but it is an expansion of the

letter ; it is a removal, with the Constitutional " if's " instead of a

removal recommended without the " if " expressed which if the

Governor would be bound to imply, and which the Senate would
understand just as well if it hadn't been expressed, as if it had been
expressed. Would the Senate, if that message had come with the

bare words of the Constitution " I recommend this removal," would
they have understood it to mean any thing more than that the Sen-
ate should proceed in the constitutional way, and hear the evidence.
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and determine the question ? That shows the sense of the Constitu-

tion— the substantial thing that we are after. The Grovernor has

used no more words than j'ou would have interpolated in his mes-

sage by a reasonable and just implication. You would not have

regarded it as an arbitrary message of the Governor to remove this

person without a hearing. But a message that you should proceed

according to the Constitution and hear him and remove him after

the "if" had been disposed of by your commission. I ask what

there is in the way of precedent ? We have the case of Judge

Smith, and several comments are made in connection with that case.

A part of the argument of my learned friend has been this : It

must appear to the Senate that the Governor has considered the

case, and has exercised his . judgment, and has exercised that final

judgment on his part which the Constitution requires of the Gov-

ernor before the Senate can get jurisdiction of the case. That is to

say, he must say :
" I have had evidence ; I have deemed the evi-

dence sufiicient to convict the accused ; I have convicted him ; that

is my judgment, that he is guilty ; " and when the case has reached

that point, and the record shows the executive judgment has reached

that point, that then the Senate may, through his message, acquire

jurisdiction. What becomes of his precedent ? You produce the

record in the case of Judge Smith, and the Governor told the Sen-

ate precisely the i-everse of that. I have presumed to leave tlie

entire ease for your consideration, without any preliminary exami-

nation on my part, with a view of forming correct conclusions as to

the guilt of the party charged with malversation in office, or leaving

his defense, believing this proceeding is wholly within your jurisdic-

tion. " I recommend George W. Smith be removed from his office,

if, in the judgment of the Senate, upon a trial, he shall fail to dis-

prove the charge made against him." So that the precedent

expressly contradicts the argument and the position of the counsel.

If appears affirmatively that the Governor had not tried the case,

but only said, here is a body of evidence sufficient to put me upon

the duty of forwarding the case to the Senate, and sufficient to put

the Senate upon the exercise of its constitutional function to inquire

into this abuse of office, or alleged abuse of office, and if, upon that

inquiry, this charge is substantiated, then I recommend his removal

;

and, although this point was taken there, it was overruled by the

Senate. What doee the Constitution say about the Governor's hav-

ing exercised any judgment in the case ? There is nothing of that

kind. " May be removed by the Senate on the recommendation of

the Governor. " Not a word said as to the evidence upon which the
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Governor shall act; that he shall have affidavits or witnesses, or

proper judicial evidence ; that he shall have a certain amount of evi-

dence. ISTothing of the kind. The Constitution gives notice to the

]>eople of the State that if they desire a removal from office, that the

Governor is the door through whicli they are to pass for that removal.

Thej are to make a case before the Governor such as he may deem

sufficient to induce him to send the case to the Senate, where the

tinal inquiry and investigation must be made. That was what was

done in the Smith case, and what is done in every other case. It

was done in the Prindle case. In the Prindle case the recommen-

dation is, that if the Senate shall be of the opinion, after the party

has been heard, that the charges are substantiated, that then they

shall perform their constitutional function and do the final act to

vacate the office. It is the same as in the case of Judge McCunn.

What is this case in the 2d of Hill ? It seems to me it required a

considerable amount of professional courage to bring that case

before the Senate to establish the principles for which it is cited

here. It decides, as a legal proposition, that where an office can

only be vacated by the action of the Governor and Senate, it is not

vacated merely by an appointment by the Governor and Senate

;

that that did not empty the office ; that the vacancy must exist

before the Governor and Senate have authority, under the Consti-

tucion, to make the appointment. All there was in the case was

that the relator had been appointed to the office. The answer to

that was, that the respondent had been previously appointed to the

office for a term which has not expired ; and you don't pretend upon

your pleadings (and that was all the court could say, the question

being raised on a demurrer or a motion to quash), that the respondent

was ever removed from the office. All you do is to make an agreement,

which is illogical and unsound, that because the relator was appointed

l)y the Governor and Senate, therefore the office had been emptied

by a constitutional removal, and the court says that is not a legal

inference. The office having been shown to liave been full and the

term not expired, and no cause existed for appointment until a due

constitutional procedure to remove the incumbent from the office, we
cannot say that the incumbent has been removed until you own the

fact that he was removed upon the recommendation of the Governor.

There is only one constitutional mode; you must aver that that con-

stitutional mode -was followed ; that the Governor recommended
the removal, and that the Senate, having power to act upon that

recommendation, removed ; of coui-se the question there was not as

to the formula. As to the manner in which the Governor confessed
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to have exercised his function to remove the case, vs^as decided upon

an entire absence of any allegation, or pretense of an averment

upon the record that any proceeding had been made upon any

recommendation of the Governor to remove the incumbent, and

vacate the office so that it could be filled by the appointment, which

%vas alleged by the relator ; I submit, therefore, " That looking to

the substance of this, to what the j^eople intended should be done,

that every thing has been done here that the people and the Consti-

tution intended. The case lias been presented to the Governor,

The Governor has sent his message to you with the constitutional

" if" in it. .ISTot absolutely and aj-bitrarily to remove this man, but

to remove him if, pursuing the steps prescribed by the Constitution,

you come to the conclusion that the charges are established and that

he ought to be removed.

Adjourned to 2 p. m.

Two o'clock, p. m.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

In the few remarks which I shall make upon this preliminary

question of jurisdiction, I am taking upon myself a duty and

responsibility which I did not expect when I came into this case as

one of the counsel in defense of Judge McCunn. The argument

of this point was assigned to Judge Selden, and left wholly to him,

but he is not here, and Judge McCunn cannot have the advantage

of his great learning and ability.

The question is, however, one of such grave importance in my
judgment that I should do less than justice to my client, under the

circumstances, if I did not present one or two ideas which have

occurred to me in listening to the arguments of the learned counsel

who are conducting the prosecution. It occurs to me that in the

determination of this question Judge McCunn is not to be consid-

ered as before you at all.

To be sure your decision upon this point will affect his case, as it

will affect all future cases of a like nature that may coine before the

Senate ; and I wish to appeal to you to deliberate and decide this

jui'isdictional question without any reference whatever to surround-

ing circumstances which may be peculiar to this ease.

The question is, what does the Constitution dictate shall be done

in order to give you jurisdiction to try a case of this kind ?

I know there has been a strong feeling engendered in the public

mind with reference to several judges in New York and their mode

of conducting business. But, certainly this place, gentlemen, is
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one that should divest your minds from prejudice against any par-

ticular individual.

In what capacity do you sit here ? Can it be contended for a

single moment under the law and the Constitution, and the duties

that you have to perform, that yon sit in any other capacity than

that of a court ? By your own rules you have resolved that in mat-

ters of evidence you will be controlled by the same rules that pre-

vail in courts of 'record of this State. At the initial step of this

proceeding you admit that you should be governed by those rules

which are recognized in courts of justice. Why? Because you are

performing here a judicial function. You are trying an issue. The
first question that arises is : Have you jurisdiction of the case that

you are about to try ? Is it before you at all ? And I take it for

granted that, lifted by your oaths above any personal or partisan

considerations, you will decide that question without reference to

this or that man.
Have you jurisdiction of this case? You are now convened as

the highest tribunal in this great State. You are making prece-

dents which will affect the whole future of the State, and in so

doing you will agree with me that the law and the Constitution are

your only safe guides.

The Constitution authorizes you, in a case like the one before you,

to do a certain thing after a certain other thing has been done. In

other words, you may remove a judge, but only after the Governor

recommends that he be removed.
How shall the Governor recommend that a judge be removed ?

The precedents in a case like this, gentlemen, are very few, and I

shall have occasion to speak of them so far as they exist in a

moment. Let us see what the evident intent of this provision of

the Constitution is. Why was it made necessary that the Governor
should recommend the removal of the judge before you could act

upon it, or, as we claim, before you could acquire jurisdiction ? Was
it not because it was presumed that the chief executive of the State

of ISTew York would be a man of intelligence and integrity ? One
in whom the people would confide to make such recommendation
only on a careful and intelligent scrutiny of the case. Can you
presume that it was the intention of the Constitution that the Gov-
ernor should make such recommendation without any investigation?

If so, why should his recommendation be made necessary at all ?

Why not permit the Senate to remove any judge of its own motion ?

It is conceded on all hands that the Governor must take some action

in order to give the Senate jurisdiction.

Does the language of the Constitution mean nothing, when it

says that your action in a case like this must be preceded by the
recommendation of the Governor ? I contend, Mr. President, that

that provision of the Constitution was intended to throw around the

judiciary, in proceedings like this, some safeguards such as have
been thrown around it in other proceedings which have been pro-

vided for, to secure the removal of judges. There are two other
ways whereby a judge can be removed.
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The first is by impeachment. In. that case three bodies must act
before the jud^e can be removed. The Assembly has its part to
perform, likewise the Senate and the Court of Appeals.
A judge may also be removed by concurrent resolution, but in

that case both the Assembly and Senate must investigate ; both
these bodies must spread the charges upon their respective journals,
and each must hear and decide upon the case.

There is a third mode for removing a judge where the Governor
recommends the removal, and the Senate hears and determines the
case. It is under this provision of the Constitution that these pro-
ceedings have been brought before you. It is not now the Court of
Appeals and the Senate and Assembly ; it is not now the Senate
and Assembly, as in the first and second cases cited, but it is upon
the Governor and the Senate each discharging their respective

duties that the responsibility here rests. The Governor shall recom-
mend, and the Senate shall try and decide. The act of the one
being as important as the act of the other in efiecting the removal
of the officer contemplated. It is not enough that the Governor
calls attention to a particular case, or recommends the Senate to

examine the case ; he must say in effect :
" I have heard and exam-

ined this case, and I have arrived in my own mind at a judicial

determination of the same, and I recommend that this officer be
removed from office."

"When the Governor shall thus have heard the case and arrived at

a judicial determination of the same, and in proper form recom-
mended the Senate to act, then and not till then the Senate is

authorized by the Constitution to assemble as a court and hear and
determine the case.

I am not able to find another case in the whole history of the

State of New York where the Governor has referred a case of this

kind to the Senate, in which he does not say that he has investigated

the case and has come to a judicial determination upon the same.

In the case of Judge Prindle the Governor in his message, says:
" I have heard the counsel for the petitioner and for the said judge
respectively, upon the charges, some of which relate to official mis-

conduct. They were both before me," etc. In the case of Judge
Curtis the Governor in his message, says :

" After examining the

same and hearing counsel, I deem it my duty," etc. In both cases

the parties were before the Governor. In both cases he examined
into the charges against them, and arrived at a determination as

stated in his message that they should be removed.

Gentlemen, if you will take the message which the Governor has

sent you with reference to Judge McCunn, you will find that there

is not an intimation that his Excellency ever read or heard a word
of evidence relating to these charges, or that Judge McCunn or his

counsel were ever informed that the Governor had any thought of

taking any action whatever in the premises.

This case comes belore you in a remarkable manner, and I

earnestly desire that you will bring your minds to the point in

which it differs from every other, because my learned friend on the

17
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other side has insisted so strongly upon the precedents which' he
claims should be your guide.

In the cases of Smith and Prindle and Curtis, the charges were
filed with the Governor ; he was appealed to to consider the case

;

he certifies to you in his message that he did consider it, that lie

did hear counsel, that he did arrive at a conclusion, and that that

conclusion was that the officer had a right to be removed.
Now, how does this case corae before you for consideration ?

Not because any party in the world has been before his excellency

the Governor, and claimed that Judge McCunn should be removed
from office.

Not because the Governor has ever officially heard a word that

reflected upon the official character of Judge McCunn.
He nowhere tells you in his message that he thinks any charge

against Judge McCunn can be substantiated, and he nowhere
recommends his removal from office. He simply recites to you the

fact in his message, that the Assembly of the State of New York
have requested him to send in these charges to the Senate, and that

he has done so in accordance with their request.

Now, gentlemen, I contend that this whole proceeding is unpre-
cedented, and nowhere finds warrant in the Constitution or the

laws governing such cases. The Assembly of the State of New
York sent out a roving commission to inquire into the conduct of

several of the judges of New York city. And for what purpose?
Notoriously for the purpose of bringing in articles of impeachment
against Judge McCunn with others. The committee performed its

duty.

They came back to the Assembly and reported. There were then
two ways in which the Assembly, with that evidence of their own
committee before them, could assume their just and proper share of
the responsibility in removing this judge if in the opinion of that

body he ought to be removed.
First, they could have prepared articles of impeachment if they

thought the evidence wan-anted such a proceeding. Or, they could
have moved a concurrent resolution for action by both the Senate
and Assembly, had the evidence been found sufficient to justify
them in so doing. By proceeding in either of these two ways the
Assembly would have acted in accordance with the plain provisions
of the Constitution. What did they do ? Shirking the responsi-
bility which the Constitution put upon them, and assuming a duty,
or rather assuming a task, which is nowhere imposed upon them,
the task of going out and gathering up this evidence ; they then
performed the extraordinary act of sending it to the Governor and
asking him to do what they had no right to ask him to do, to
transmit it to your honorable body, and ask you to remove him.
The Governor seeing the Assembly throwing off the responsibility
from their shoulders upon his, takes this basket of papers and tosses
it over from his shoulder to you, without intimating to you that he
knew what it contained, or cared what it contained. The Assembly
not daring to bring articles of impeachment against Judge McCunn,
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and not daring to introduce a concurrent resolution for his removal
handed over the papers to the Governor, saying to him that they
desired him to take part in removing an officer against whom they
could not find sufficient evidence to warrant them in taking the
steps pointed out by the Constitution. The Governor was doubt-
less aware that the Assembly had no right to make the request of
him which they did, yet, out of deference to that body, he sends
you the papers stating the fact that he did so at the request of the
Assembly. Bear in mind that this message is sent to you on the
last day of the legislative session. I have made the best effort I
could to get the proceedings of the Assembly which are not yet
printed.

But I am credibly informed that upon the very last day of the
session these papers were sent to the Governor, who, in the multi-

plicity of his duties on that day, wrote the hasty message which
brought this case before your honorable body. His message shows
that the Governor did not examine this case. The surrounding
circumstances show that he could not have examined it. Every
precedent, however, which has been cited by the learned counsel

upon the other side, shows that every message which has been sent

to the Senate by any executive, suggesting the removal of an officer,

states the fact that the Governor has had a hearing of the case

before him ; that the party implicated has appeared before him

;

and has either stated it as a fact, directly or by fair implication, that

he has arrived at a judicial determination in his own mind that the

implicated party should be removed from office. In every case the

message has contained a distinct recommendation that the officer

be removed. Bear in mind, gentlemen, that the removal of a judge
from his office is one of the highest and most important acts that

you can perform. Every step which you take in such a weighty
proceeding should find a full and express warrant in the Constitu-

tion. Let me appeal to you whether you can subserve the public

interests, whether you can benefit the State by violating one principle

of the Constitution. Grant that the defendant is as guilty as his

worst enemy would charge him to be, can you do the State any
service by effecting his removal from office by proceedings in direct

conflict with the provisions of the Constitution ?

Will you not rather benefit the State by saying to the co-ordinate

branches of the government, that you will take no cognizance of

these charges until they, on their part, have taken such steps as

gives you rightful jurisdiction and authority to act ?

What motive may have induced the Governor to send this ]nes-

sage, I am sure I do not know. It occurs to me that the action of

the Assembly in sending him the resolution which they did, was so

extraordinary and unwarrantable that he might well have treated

it with silent eontempt.

He saw fit, however, to comply with the request of the Assembly,

but I contend that he has wholly failed to take the steps
_
made

necessary by the Constitution in order to give you jurisdiction to

try this case. Precedents in proceedings of this kind are few, but
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every one which has been produced goes to show that something

more is required on the part of the Governor, than merely trans-

mitting to the Senate charges which he has not examined, and there

is nothing to be found in the whole history of the State, either in

law or precedent, which entitles the action of the assembly to any

weight whatever. All other messages in similar cases assure the

Senate that the Governor has examined the charges and deems it

his duty to recommend the removal of the officer. In this case, the

Governor says he sends the charges to you at the request of the

Assembly, and fails to make any recommendation that Judge
MeCunn be removed. The message shows upon its face that it is

the result only of the request on the part of the Assembly. The
Constitution requires the adjudication of the case both by the Gov-
ernor and the Senate, and that the decision of the Governor shall

precede the decision of the Senate. What evidence is there before

you that there has been any concurrent action on the part of the

Governor, to secure the removal of this officer? He, to be sure,

has complied with the unauthorized resolution of the Assembly

;

but that was an act of official courtesy, not an act of official duty.

I find, nowhere, until I come into this case, any thing that would
bear the name of an argument in favor of the position that the

Governor has no duty to perform, except to hand over papers to you.

My learned friend upon the other side says, " suppose the Gover-

nor, when it is his duty to appoint, and you to confirm, should add
to his request that you appoint if you find the man fit and capable."

I do not think that is a parallel case. Suppose the Governor, instead

of that, when his duty was to appoint a captain of the port of New
York, should say to the Senate, " I do not care to name a man, but

you select who you please to be captain of the port of New York,"
does that comply with the law ? Can you get together and make a

captain of the port ? A duty is devolved upon him to send in the

name of a man. The Governor must do his part before you can do
yours ; so, in this case, the duty devolves upon him of recommend-
ing the removal of the officer, before you can stir one step toward
his removal. In this case you have before you a message from the

Governor, suggesting that you inquire into a batch of papers, which
was taken, so far as you are concerned, by an irresponsible commis-
sion, and if on examining those papers you see fit to turn out Judge
McCunn, to do so, and that is the end of the message. Judge Me-
Cunn has presided thirteen years upon the bench in the city of New
York. How long a tinae was spent last winter in this investigation

you are as well aware as I. That committee were aided by the very
able counsel of the Bar Association, for the purpose of impeaching
him, but it was found that impeachment could not be maintained,
and then these able counsel united with the investigating committee
in a persistent effort to secure his removal by a concurrent resolu-

tion of the Assembly and Senate, but the Assembly refused to

second their efforts in that direction as they had already done in the
case of impeachment. On the last day of the session, however,
after the thirteen years of this man's official life had been raked
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over from one end to the other, that Assembly said by their votes,
" we are unable to impeach Judge McCunn ; we have no evidence
to warrant ns in moving a concurrent resolution for his removal,
hence we will put these papers Avhich have been gathered up by our
committee into a basket and send them to the Grovernor, and request
him to take a part in this performance which we dare not and will

not assume," and the Governor in his turn in effect says, "I know
nothing about this case, and hence I have no recommendation what-
ever to make. The Assembly asked me to transmit these papers to

the Senate, and, out of courtesy to that body, I comply with their

request."

Mr. MtJEPHY— I desire to ask the counsel if you are not in error

in saying they took action by concurrent resolution ?

Mr. Davis— I was so informed ; I may be mistaken about it ; I

have endeavored to get at the action of the Assembly, but have been
unable to do so ; if I am wrong I desire to be corrected. I learned

from my associates that both eiiorts were made in the Assembly.
Certain it is, that the Assembly did not bring articles of impeach-
ment. Certain it is, that they passed a resolution asking the Gov-
ernor to take action in the matter, and that the Governor bases his

whole action upon that resolution, and does not certify that he has

investigated the case and does not recommend the removal of Judge
McOunn.

So far as the last clause of the Governor's message is concerned,

I submit that the argument of my learned associate upon that

point was exhaustive, and I shall not attempt to strengthen the

position which he so ably maintained. To my mind, it is clear that

the Constitution requires the judicial action of both the Governor
and the Senate to secure the removal of a judge. If there is any
force whatever in that provision of the Constitution, which requires

action on the part of the Governor to precede the trial bsfore the

Senate, it must mean that the implicated officer shall not be sub-

jected to such trial until he has been heard before the Governor,

nor until the Governor shall have judicially determined that he

ought to be removed, and shall have signified such judicial deter-

mination to the Senate by an unqualified recommendation that he

be removed. Until the Governor has taken these prescribed

preliminary steps, I do not believe the Senate has any more
jurisdiction to try the case than they would have had these charges

and this evidence come to them directly from the Assembly, without

the interposition of the Governor.

Judge McCunn has not yet had a hearing before the Governor,

and to that he is entitled by this provision of the Constitution,

beforehe can rightfully be put upon trial before your honorable

body. In my judgment, it is your clear duty to dismiss this case,

for it has not come before you in the manner required by the Con-

stitution. I will not occupy the attention of the Senate longer.

Mr. J. Wood— Mr. President : For the purpose of enabling the

Clerk to keep the proper record, there should be some pending
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motion. I suppose the motion is to dismiss the proceedings for

want of jurisdiction upon the ground stated in the second answer.

Mr. Feckham— Mr. President: I desire the attention of the

Senate for a few moments while I make a few remarks in regard to

the position that we take upon this motion to dismiss all further

proceedings in the case of Judge McCiinn, on the ground that this

body never has acquired jurisdiction to proceed in the matter to

any final judgment, and that it lacks that jurisdiction on the ground

that there never has been, within the meaning of the Constitution,

that recommendation on the part of the Governor which the Con-

stitution calls for. This is no mere technical defense. I know that,

to the laymen generally, a motion of this kind might seem to be

what is termed a mere technicality, but it is an objection, which, if

time deprives this Senate of the right to hear this case, and to

decide it as much as if no message had ever been sent from the

executive upon the question whatever. If we be right in our inter-

pretation of this defense, of the construction which should be given

to this article of the Constitution, then the Senate has no more right,

legal jurisdiction to hear or try this case than the board of supervi-

sors of this county. The defense is, as we claim, meritorious. That

is, so far as the jurisdiction of the court, or of a tribunal or body

assembled to act upon any question. If you will look for a moment
at this recommendation, so called, of the Governor, it states, in the

first place, that certain charges and testimony taken by the com-

mittee of the Assembly have been transmitted to the Governor,

with a request, on the part of the House of the Assembly, that it

be recommended to the Senate to take proceedings for the removal

of McCunn. "What says the Governor ? "I respectfully transmit

herewith printed copy of charges and specifications, so referred to

me, alleging ofiicial misconduct on the part of the said John H.
McCunn, and of the testimony taken by the judiciary committee of

the Assembly in the case. I recommend that you inquire into the

truth and sufiiciency of the charges so made, and if the same shall

be established, that the said John H. McCunn be then removed

from oflice." Is that the recommendation, within this provision of

the Constitution, that all judicial officers may be removed by the

Senate, on the recommendation of the Governor, if two-thirds of

that body concur therein ? Does it mean that the Governor is to

be the mere instrument through which street charges or rumors are

to be presented to this Senate, and that the Governor is to take no

responsibility upon himself by way of recommending to you not

only the removal of this man, but stating the conclusions that he
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has himself come to iipon the charges which have been made ? We
say, and our interpretation of that clause is, that the Governor him-

self, to whom these charges are preferred, shall himself come to a

conclusion that the charges are true, and that the charges, being

true, are sufficient of themselves to warrant and to call for the

removal of the party charged, and that then the Governor is to

transmit those charges thus investigated by him, the truth of them,

as far as the case having been looked into, and having been trans-

mitted to you, with a recommendation on his part that this man
should be removed ; otherwise, why should it be that this mere

utterly meaningless formality should be gone through with ; that

charges should be brought before the Governor, and he is to take no

responsibility ; he is to form no sort of opinion upon them, either

as to their truth or as to their sufficiency, if true, to warrant remo-

val ; but the charge being made he delegates to this body a part

of his own duty, and says, without any inquiry upon this ques-

tion, without any knowledge whatever upon the truth or falsity of

these charges, without any opinion based upon their sufficiency or

insufficiency : " I simply say to you, investigate yourself; find out your-

self whether they are true ; and, second, whether they are sufficient

;

and if they be true and sufficient, then I recommend you to remove."

Is that the recommendation within the meaning of the Constitution ?

If it be, it seems to me that it is a perfectly useless performance ; it is

a meaningless performance. The idea that the Governor of the State is

to be invoked, and his high authority and character are to come into a

case of this kind simply for the purpose of transmitting a charge made

by a body corporate, or by an individual, and that charge thus made to

the Governor, without an opinion from him as to its truth or as to its

sufficiency, is to be simply sent to this body, with a recommendation

that if they find it true and sufficient, then they are to remove. If I

see that be in accordance with the true construction, it seems to me it

is a perfectly meaningless piece of business to ask the Governor to do

any thing of that kind. It seems to me the proper way, and the

proper construction of it is to give each individual word proper

weight, and to look at the remedies to be given under that construc-

tion. The Governor is no figurehead in matters of State concern;

he is no mere automaton, moved by springs, where he has himself no

sort of right, and where there is no necessity on his part to come to

any conclusion or opinion one way or another. He is the chief magis-

trate of the whole State ; he has the power with other and inferior

officers not being judicial, with sheriffs, county clerks, and officers of

that kind ; he has power alone where charges are preferred against



136 PEOOEEDINGS IN THE

chem to give them an opportunity of being heard, and when heard,

he comes to a conclusion in regard to these charges, and himself re-

moves. There he has the whole power of unquestionable removal,

after giving to these particular officers a chance of being heard.

"Well, now, when you come to officers of the higher grade, when you

come really to the highest officer in the land, those who have, next to

the legislative, the most delicate duty to perform, is it possible that

the framers of the Constitution put in here the necessity of going to

the Governor with these charges against justices of courts of record,

and, before the Senate would have the right to remove one individual

member of the judiciary, under that article, that it should have the

recommendation of the Grovernorto that eflfect? Is it possible they

meant, when they said that, that the Governor was to do nothing

more than to transmit the charge that was brought before him, with

a recommendation to the Senate that if they find it true, and find it

sufficient, that then they remove, agreeing with the mere wording

of that, that there be a recommendation on the part of the Governor

to remove, if it be seen that he has in fact not investigated the

charges himself, that he has taken no responsibility himself upon
this question, is it possible then, by a fair and honest construction

of this Constitution and this section, it can be alleged that the

Governor has recommended the removal of a man from office when
he says simply and solely :

" I transmit charges, and if they are

true and sufficient, then remove him. " I deny that that is a recom-

mendation within the spirit and the meaning of this article of the

Constitution ; if it were, it is utterly foolish, utterly useless, the

merest matter of form in the world to have these charges sent to

the Governor and the Governor send them to the Senate. They
may just as well be sent to the Senate in the first instance, so far as

the responsibility on the judgment of the chief magistrate is con-

cerned. We claim, before a judicial officer can be removed, he has

the right, it is his undoubted and jurisdictional right, that his case

shaU be investigated and determined ; that it shall be investigated,

determined and decided, not merely by the Senate, but that it shall

be thus investigated, determined and decided by the Governor ; that

these two bodies, the executive and, to a certain extent, the legisla-

tive department of the government must consent, must concur. They
must consent and concur after they have had an honest and a fair

and a full investigation, and an honest and a fair and a full

opportunity to make up their mind. That a man is not to be
deprived of his office, which he has been elected to fill by the

electors of his district, without the opportunity of being heard by
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the Governor, and -without the opportunity of having his recom-

mendation to charges being heard by him come to the Senate, and
the Senate act upon them with the recommendation and responsi-

bility which that recommendation brings of the chief magistrate of

the State, where he has himself investigated that matter, and him-

self taken the responsibility of advising the Senate that these facts

have been brought, that these facts thus proved are sufficient, and

that thus being proved and being sufficient, he recommends to this

body also to remove. We claim, and I say that we have the right

to the judgment of the Governor upon these questions. We have

the right to ask of him, and he has not the right to shirk that

responsibility. That when a charge is presented to him ask-

ing that we be removed from our judicial station, that charge

shall be so far investigated by him as to allow him to come to an

opinion founded upon some kind of an investigation, and, having

investigated it, to come to an opinion founded upon that investiga-

tion. That is not only true, but it is sufficient; otherwise we
say the fair import of this Constitution and this section of that

article is entirely done away with. It cannot be possible that the

framers of this article of the Constitution ever thought it was simply

and solely the part of the Governor of the State— the part of the

legislative department, so far as regards the enacting of the laws, and

the executive, so far as execution of them is concerned— that that

officer, thus empowered with all the powers that he has, was simply

and solely to be made the mere conduit of charges made by any

person, and, having been presented to him, that he should immedi-

ately present them to the Senate, and when he did so it was true,

and recommended it, then, and then only, should the charges be inves-

tigated. In his recommendation here, the only thing he states about

it is, that he asks you to inquire whether the charges are true, and

whether they are sufficient, and, if true and sufficient, then he recom-

mends you to dismiss. Sir, would it be an appointment or recom-

mend on the part of the Governor if he should send in, for the

appointment to some office for which he had the appointment,

to the Senate, " I recommend that you appoint that man to the

office of health officer of New York, and by a majority of your votes

shall assume him to be the proper person." In what respect does

that differ from this ? He makes no recommendation in the one ease

or the other, predicated upon his own judgment in the case ; that

judgment in both cases is wholly and entirely lacking, and we claim

that in this case we have the legal right, before we are placed on

trial before this tribunal, to have the solemn adjudication of the

18
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Governor, made upon investigation, that those charges are true, and

that, being true, those charges are sufficient to warrant the removal.

Is it a recommendation for the Governor to say tliat this health

officer he nominates, and appoints that man to be a health officer

who shall receive the majority of the votes of senators to that office ?

Is that a nomination or is this ? But the learned counsel on the side

of the prosecution speaks also in regard to the precedent. There

has been, as has been stated, but one case under this article, that of

Judge Smith, where the Senate has acted really in the case, and,

although precedents may be well, and generally are fitly followed

out, yet, wherever the case is a new one, wherever the construction

of the statute on Constitution is a new thing, wherever there have

been but few cases, and especially where, as in this case, the result

is to be highly penal, because the removal from office of a man who
is holding the position of judge of the Superior Court of the city of

New York, and who, we assume, is of that class of men where the

removal would be the same as ifhe were forever after disqualified from

holding office, and where the punishment would be the same as in a

different grade and class of men sentenced to imprisonment for life

would be. Where the decision of this court is so highly penal, and

where there has been but one single instance where the construction

practically put upon the section of the Constitution by the Senate,

in one particular case, I say, that if upon a calm scrutinizing review

of that case, the senators who now compose the Senate of the State

of New York should themselves come to the conclusion, that the

precedent set, as has been stated by the case of Judge Smith, is one

fraught with great danger to the accused, is one which ought not to

be followed, is one which is at war with all our principles, and with

all our ideas of criminal justice, then I say, that, under such circum-

stances, this Senate would be doing an injustice, not only to the

accused, but doing an injustice to every man who may, by any

possibility, in the long years of the future, come before a jfuture

Senate upon provisions similar to these, in our Constitution. And
with the highest respect for the Senate which made that decis-

ion, and that precedent in the case of Judge Smith, I think that

any man who has been bred to the law, any man having within his

own mind and brain those grand principles of common law, in

regard to criminals, those ideas that until we are proved guilty, we
are presumed innocent; any man, I say, starting out to read this

case of Judge Smith, under those circumstances, and with those

principles, it seems to me woiild be shocked, when they come to

look at the decision of the Senate of the State of New York upon
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that particular message of the Governor, under those circumstances.

Why, it seems to me, that that decision, so far as it regards the mere
record of it, was simply and solely a proposition, that unless a man
proves himself innocent, he is to be deemed guilty ; a reversal in

every form and in every degree of all the principles of common
law justice, and of honest justice between man and man; pre-

sumed guilty, unless we prove ourselves innocent ; the result of

which is, or may be, removal from office, by the Senate of the State

of ITew York, where he had failed to prove himself innocent of

charges that he never was proved guilty of ; so that under that con-

struction, and under that precedent made in the case of Judge

Smith, by the Senate, at that time,— I say it might occur, and may
occur in the future, if that precedent be followed, that a man may
be turned out of office, to which he has been elected by the electors

of his district ; that he can be turned out of that office simply and

solely because he may have failed to prove himself innocent of the

charges which he never was shown to be guilty of. If that be law,

if that be justice, if that be the ordinary justice that be meted out

to the commonest criminal, certainly it is contrary to the few ideas

I have been able to acquire in regard to the principles upon which

criminal justice is administered. That a man should be deemed

guilty until he proves himself innocent, and that a failure to prove

his innocence is a conclusive presumption of guilt, is something so

utterly at war with all principles of justice, and all principles of law,

that any precedent, or any case which assumes to establish such a

precedent, I think this Senate will be very slow in following, and

simply following it because it made a precedent. I say take away

that precedent in the case of Judge Smith, and we do not rest upon

the same foundation at all that Judge Smith's case did. I am not

going into that, because my learned associate, who iirst addressed

you, showed you all the difference there was in that case. We are

brought down here to first principles, and that is, to inquire, as

intelligent men, as judges acting and assuming to act in the case

and in the capacity of a judge at any rate, what is the meaning of

this clause in the Constitution which says that a man may be

removed from a judicial office by the Senate, if two-thirds of their

number concur, on the recommendation of the Governor. That

recommendation, as I have already claimed, is not fulfilled when

the Governor merely used the words of the article of the Constitu-

tion, and yet has utterly failed to investigate or to find out either

the truth of the charges or tlieir sufficiency ; and that the accused

here is therefore deprived wholly of the opportunity and the right
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of being tried by the Governor, as well as by the Senate, upon the

question whether in fact we have been guilty ot these charges,

and if guilty, whether in fact these charges are sufficient to warrant

our removal.

Mr. Madden— I move the hall be cleared for the purpose of con-

sultation. (Motion was carried.)

On the opening of the doors, it was announced by the President

that the motion of respondent to dismiss the proceedings was denied.

Mr. MtTEPHT— I understood the counsel for the prosecution to

intimate that, in case this motion was denied, they had a motion to

make in regard to the testimony. I move you that they be allowed

to make it now.

Mr. Van Cott— Mr. President : The motion we propose to sub-

mit is, that the testimony transmitted by the Governor, with and

as a part of his message, be received by the Senate as evidence in

the case. I suppose that tlie evidence is jprvma _facie competent.

That is the view entertained bymy associates. A very considerable

part of the evidence is documentary ; it consists of mere transcripts

of pleadings and orders in the Superior Court. Those documents

present the case, or series of cases, on which the defendant acted,

and in which the irregularities we complain of were committed.

They are supplemented to some extent by oral testimony, that oral

testimony having been given by witnesses under oath, the witnesses

having been sworn by the judiciary committee of the House. All

that testimony, the documentary and the original documents there

produced, as the records show, being admitted by the defendant

himself to be the original documents, they being marked regularly

as having been filed, they having been produced by the officers of

the court from the files, and stated by him to be original docu-

ments taken from the files ; and upon that basis of fact, recognized

as fact through the whole investigation, we proceeded to give oral

testimony connecting the defendant with the proceedings, and char-

acterizing the proceedings. That is the general offer that we wish to

make. If it is accepted, I see no occasion for discussion ; if it is

objected to, I should like to hear the objection and the grounds to it

before we proceed to the discussion.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : "We certainly shall object to it. It

is the first time in my experience as a lawyer that I have heard the

argument advanced that evidence taken for one purpose can be read

as a matter of right for another and entirely different one. Let us

see the circumstances under which that evidence was taken. Certain

gentlemen presented what they claimed to be charges against Judge
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McCunn for official misconduct. The committee was appointed by
the Assembly, for the purpose of ascertaining whether there was
reasonable or probable cause for the impeachment of Judge McCunn

;

and that was all that committee could have done. They could not

remove Judge McCunn ; they could not do any thing except to put

Judge McCunn on his trial. I might be perfectly willing, were I

placed in Judge McCunu's place, that, where a commission was a

mere roving fishing excursion, and conscious of my innocence and

integrity, I might be willing to give them any latitude ; I might be

perfectly willing to let the cross-examination of those witnesses go,

and allow the case to be presented in the strongest aspect in which

it could be, knowing that if the Assembly, a body which appointed

that committee, on investigation, should say there vias,prima facie

evidence or sufficient evidence to put him on trial for the purpose of

impeachment, we would have an opportunity for a full and fair and

candid examination of those witnesses before the court could pass

upon our case, and can it be claimed ?

Is there any man who has ever read the first principle of law, tliat

evidence in one case and for one purpose is admissible in another

case, in another court, and for another purpose ? It is the first time

in my limited experience in the law where it has been claimed, and

we most certainly and earnestly protest against it ; and if this rule

would obtain, I would like to know what man could be safe.

Instead of calling the witnesses seriatim, giving us a fair chance of

cross-examining them, and of developing any fact which may tend

to exculpate us, they read that portion of the testimony which tends

to charge us with an offense, and throw the burden upon us of pro-

ducing each one of those witnesses and making them our witnesses

for the purpose of the direct examination. This is a question of

more importance than the one we have been discussing. The ques-

tion of whether Judge McCunn is to be tried here or not may not

be deemed of much importance, but the question of whether he is to

have a fair trial is of some question, and upon this question we
respectfully claim as a right to be confronted, under the Constitu-

tion, with the witnesses who are to give the testimony against us,

and of the right of cross-examination in the same manner that it

may be properly brought before the Senate. If this thing is to be

tried in this way, and this is evidence against us, we have the entire

responsibility of producing every witness who may be necessary in

the case. Instead of coming here presumed innocent and that there

is nothing against us, we have the presumption against us, and this

doctrine that my associate has referred to would certainly be invoked
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against us. Updn this subject we respectfully, but at the same time

earnestly, and I must say somewhat feelingly, insist that the wit-

nesses who are to give the testimony upon which it is asked that the

verdict or the decision of this bqdy shall be rendered, that Judge

McCunn may be removed from office or shall be acquitted, that

these witnesses may be produced in the usual manner. Certainly,

this case involves almost as much consequence, and should be tried

as fairly and in the same manner, as a six penny trespass suit in a

justice's court. There cannot a case be found in the book, and I

defy the gentleman to find one, where evidence read in one pro-

ceeding before one tribunal has ever been used, except by consent, in

any other tribunal and in another proceeding.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : I wish to say, that it seems to me,

this is a question that should be left for the counsel to arrange between

themselves. If the counsel has some evidence that is documentary,

if we can satisfy ourselves of it, we do not care to send to New
York to get that, if the trial goes on here. Any thing that would

be a matter of convenience back and forth, of course, we can arrange

between ourselves ; but I do not presume that this tribunal will say,

as the accused had no counsel, there was only one or two there, a

day or two. " We want to hold you to the rigid rules of evidence

and cross-examination." If we do not think it is proper evidence,

we will claim our right to have it brought here and tested before the

Senate. It is stated to me by one of the gentlemen who was pres-

ent, a portion of the time they did not have any of the privilege of

objecting to evidence ; that they were told it was an investigation,

an inquisition to see what had been going on ; that it was not con-

trolled by the usual rules of evidence ; that they were not attempting

to connect anybody, but to ascertain how this man had been con-

ducting affairs there. Mr. President : I submit that all this honor-

able body should do would be to say to the respective attorneys on

the respective sides, to labor together as much as possible to save

time and trouble, which we are willing to do. The moment we
satisfy ourselves that any thing in the line of documentary evidence

by examination is genuine, of course we will take it. I simply want
to know that we are dealing with genuine papers. The moment I

ascertain they are genuine, I should not want to bring the clerk

from N'ew York to testify to them. I should hate very much to

have a mass of papers that we do not know any thing about voted

to be competent evidence.

Mr. Peckham— Mr. President: I see by one of the rules adopted
by your body, you lay down the following proposition : " All the



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN. 143

rules usual and legal in courts of record in this State, in regard to

the introduction of evidence, the examination and cross-examina-

tion of witnesses must be observed " Starting out with that assump-

tion, it seems to me there is no possible ground upon which the

learned counsel on the other side can claim that evidence thus

taken, under the circumstances that this evidence was taken, can be

properly admissible in this proceeding. "When the Assembly judi-

ciary committee were investigating this case, Judge McCunn was

allowed to be present out of grace, not of any right that he had to

be present at all. He had not the legal right to examine or cross-

examine a single witness. No witnesses that he had for the purpose

of exculpating himself from any alleged wrong were allowed to be

brought before the committee, and in addition to that, the rules of

evidence, as stated to be the rules to exist in this tribunal for this

occasion, were not in use then, and were declared by the committee

not to be binding upon them under the circumstances under which

they were then making that investigation. But, on the contrary,

being there simply and solely as a committee of investigation for the

purpose of finding out what, if any, wrong-doing had been committed

by this accused official, for the purpose of having this testimony

reported to the House, in order to give that House a chance to see

whether those facts being proved hereafter, upon an investigation on

articles of impeachment being preferred, were such as were right

and proper for the Court of Impeachment to hold that the official

should be condemned to a removal, and perhaps disqualified from

holding any office in the future.

It seems to me to say, that evidence thus taken before a committee

of the House for that purpose, that the accused is to be bound by

that evidence before this tribunal is violative of every principle

upon which evidence is admitted in courts of record. What is the

effect of it ? We are called upon then, very likely, for the purpose

of proving our innocence ; we are compelled to call as witnesses the

very persons called there as witnesses against ua, and we are to pro-

duce them here for the purpose of qualification, of denial, if we can,

and we are to produce them here, clothed with an assumption that

they are worthy of credit and are to be believed by this Senate,

whereas the truth may be the reverse. We may claim that this evi-

dence, thus taken, aside from the documentary evidence, was the

evidence of men not entitled to credit in any form or manner ; and

yet, how is that question to be brought up here ? When they pro-

duce them we have the right to cross-examine them, and to let it be

seen by senators whether the witnesses brought by them are worthy
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of credit and belief; but, if the other course is taken, we are to pro-

duce them ourselves, and then we are entirely concluded from any-

right to impeach those witnesses ; and yet, we cannot get that evi-

dence in any other form or shape.

Mr. MuEPHT— Mr. President : It appears to me this is a most

extraordinary course being pursued ! We have had three counsel

arguing the negative of the proposition, and none in the affirmative.

I trust the counsel for the prosecution will state their views upon

the subject.

Mr. Palmee— Mr. President : I would like to state to the coun-

sel that we have a rule which will cut off discussion by allowing one

counsel to appear on each side upon every question that may come

up ; we had that rule pending, and it will certainly be carried if we

call it up.

Mr. Yan Cott—Mr. President : We have observed that rule in

the discussion on our side, and I should say in reference to this par-

ticular discussion we are pursuing precisely the course pursued on a

judicial trial. An offer was made of certain evidence, and it was

objected to, and the party making the objection is being first heard

according to the usual practice of the courts. The party ofiering

evidence does not support his offer, until he has heard the objections,

when objections are made to it. If no objection is made, it is

received of course. I may be permitted to make a suggestion to the

Senate that may economize much time. It has been intimated by

counsel on the other side that by getting together we might compare

notes and agree upon the body of the documents in the case. That

being agreed upon, the Senate has that body of documents which

makes the basis of the case for the prosecution in print, and it would

leave nothing then but the oral testimony for the subject of this

discussion. It might be that we could agree as to considerable parts

of that oral evidence, for considerable parts were adduced by the

defendant himself. It will require some elaborate examination of

the record to put the Senate really in position to see whether that

evidence was so taken that it can be received by the Senate and

acted upon with confidence. I would suggest, therefore, as we are

already past the hour of 6 o'clock, that if the Senate will adjourn

for the day, and we will see if we can agree upon the testimony, and
if we cannot agree upon the whole matter, we will leave the margin
that we cannot agree upon to the direction of the Senate.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : In order that there may be no mis-

understanding, I will inform the Senate that I was quite unwell

during the recess, and whether I will be able to go through this
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testimony at this time, I am not prepared to say. I will do what I

can with my present strength. I understand we are talking of the

documentary evidence ?

Mr. Van Cott— Yes, sir.

Mr. MuEPHT— Mr. President : I think the counsel for the prose-

cution might as well' understand that the sense of the Senate is, that

this testimony cannot be introduced, although we have taken no

action upon the subject. And still, if the counsel wish to be heard

on that question, let us have some reason given for that proposition

at once. If they do not intend to insist upon that, I have no objec-

tion to adjourning.

Mr. Yah Cott—We shall press the proposition, but I am too

unwell to proceed with the discussion at this moment, and if we
can agree upon something I prefer to do so.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : If it is the sense of the Senate that

the testimony be taken before a committee, we have no objection.

That will, perhaps, obviate the whole difficulty.

Mr. Johnson— Mr. President : I offer the following resolution

to appoint a committee to take the testimony. I wish it understood

that I could not accept a position on the committee under any

circumstance.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President : I move to lay that resolution on

the table.

This motion was carried, whereupon the Senate adjourned until

to-morrow, at 10 o'clock, a. m.

THIED DAY'S PEOCEEDINGS.

The Senate met Thursday, June 20, 1872, at 10 o'clock, a. m.,

pursuant to adjournment.

Mr. MuEPHT— Mr. President : The committee on rules, to which

was referred the resolutions submitted by Senator Lewis in reference

to limiting debate, have instructed me to make the following report.

(The report was read by the Clerk and adopted.)

Mr. Lewis— Mr. President : For reasons stated by the senator

from the twenty-fifth (Mr. "Woodin) yesterday, I move that he have

indefinite permission to be absent during the session of this body.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President: I understood it yesterday to be,

with a modification, that the senator expected to be here to vote

upon the question.

19



146 PEOCEEDINGS IN THE

Mr. Lewis— I modify the motion in that regard, if necessary

;

but it seems to me unnecessary.

Mr. Benedict— Very well ; I do not make any point about it.

Mr. Madden— I think no motion is necessary ; we have not been

in the habit of making these motions ; I hope the motion will be

withdrawn.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I agree with the senator from

the tenth (Mr. Madden), while every one in the Senate will accord to

any senator who is necessarily absent from his duties here, the

privilege of going, I think we ought not to put upon the record

that there has been anybody excused. If it is necessary for anybody

to go home, let him go and return as soon as he can, providing there

shall always be a quorum here. If we commence by granting

excuses, I do not know where we shall end.

The Peesident j>ro tern.— It is not my intention or desire to be

excused at the final disposition of the case.

Mr. Lewis—- Mr. President : I had supposed this was rather an

exception from the ordinary rule, of senators being absent ; and

having noticed some pretty severe comments on the part of some

newspapers, I thought that perhaps it was due to the senator from

the twenty-fifth (Mr.Woodin), whose family is in the condition that

he is not able to be away from home, that there should go upon the

record of this proceeding, this consent, that he might be absent from

the proceedings of the Senate.

Mr. Madden— Mr. President : I do not see that this is different

from any other case ; we simply meet as a Senate for a certain class

of business ; we are to obtain information in relation to it just as

we would in relation to legislation, with the addition that the party

has the privilege of being heard. It is not like a court where the

judge should be present ; we meet as a Senate ; we are to obtain

information in any way we can, by oral testimony, or through a

committee, or in any other way. I do not deem it different from

any other ordinary duty.

The President— Is the motion withdrawn ?

Mr. Lewis—Yes, sir.

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : The question which is under dis-

cussion was opened on behalf of that side which has been called the

prosecution by the senior counsel (Mr. Yan Cott), who is unable,

through illness, to be present this morning, and with the permission

of the President I will continue that discussion. The wish of those

who appear to press these charges, they come here on the invitation

of the Senate, is to reach, as speedily as possible, a determination of
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these questious, to save as far as is possible the time of the Senate,

and both with respect to the rights and interest of the accused judge,

and as well of those for whom we appear, to reach as speedily as possi-

ble a solution of the question which the Senate is called upon to con-

sider. In this view, therefore, it seems to be suitable, unless there

is some necessity which requires otherwise, that the case shall be got

before the Senate as rapidly as can be, consistent with the circum-

stances of the case, and that the accused judge shall be treated fairly

and shall have every right which he can fairly claim at the hands of

the Senate, to have his case fairly presented, and to be in his defense.

The President—This is upon a motion to proceed with proof

before the Governor as evidence in this case.

Mr. Pahsons—It is, Mr. President. I understood the motion was

made yesterday, the discussion having partially proceeded yesterday.

The view we take of the question is this, that the Senate has the

right to hear this case upon any testimony which is satisfactory to

itself ; and, in fact, we might go farther than that and say that we
think there is no question of the power of the Senate to determine

this case without taking testimony upon any information upon which

the Senate felt satisfied to proceed to judgment in this case. The

discussion, so far as has proceeded, and all that has been said in the

Senate upon the various questions which have been presented, they

assumed that the Senate is sitting here as a court ; that witnesses are

necessarily to be examined ; that testimony must be taken ; that there

is a prosecutor ; and that all the forms and ceremonies which suiTOund

the presentation of a case in court is to attend the consideration of

the case by the Senate ; but I think that those who have jumped at

that conclusion can scarcely have considered the language of the

Constitution, and certainly cannot have had their attention called to

the debates which threw light upon what was intended by the frani-

ers of the Constitution in the adoption of the article under consider.

ation. The Constitution of 1777 contained no provision for the

removal of judges of the higher courts. The Constitution of 1821

contained no such provision. There was the right of removal of

recorders, of judges of county courts, of other inferior judicial offi-

cers. But the only way in which the people could relieve themselves

of a judge of one of the higher courts, was by the dilatory and com-

plex process of removal by impeachment. In 1845 there was passed a

special amendment to the Constitution of 1821, providing, that in

respect to those judicial officers who could be removed under that

Constitution, the Constitution of 1821, there should be the same

right which the Constitution of 1846 incorporated in respect to the
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process of removal of all judicial officers, that is to say, the accused

are to be furnished with a copy of the charges, and had tlie right—
"the opportunity" is the expression used in the Constitution, or in

the amendment rather— had the right of being heard in his defense.

Senators will see that still there was no provision made in respect

to subordinate judicial officers for any presentation, by testimony,

of a case on the part of the prosecution. The Senate was supposed,

by the fact of the presentation of the charges by the Governor, to

be possessed of the case, and there was accorded to the accused the

right to be heard in his defense. That there was no intention what-

ever in the framers of the Constitution that the case shoiald be pre-

sented as in the ordinary common-law court, is put beyond question, I

think the senators will conclude, by a very brief consideration of the

debate in the constitutional convention on the adoption of section

11 of article 6, which is the section in question. The section

is reported incorporated into the Constitution of 1S21, the amendment

of 1845, and it reads thus: "Justices of the Supreme Court and

the justices of the Court of Appeals may be removed by joint resolu-

tion of both Houses of the Legislature, if two-thirds of all the mem-
bers elected to the Assembly, and a majority of all the members

elected to the Senate, concur therein. Surrogates and all judicial

officers, except those mentioned in this section, and except justices of

the peace, may be removed by the Senate on the recommendation

of the Governor ; but no such removal shall be made tmless the

cause thereof be entered on the journal, nor unless the party com-

plained of shall have been served with a copy of the complaint

against him, and shall have had an opportunity of being heard in

his defense. On the question of removal, the yeas and nays shall

be entered on the journal. I must ask the indulgence, Mr. Presi-

dent, of the Senate for a very short period, while I show what was

the action of the constitutional convention in respect to that section,

becax^se it furnishes a strong argument for the action of the Senate

;

it was the convention of 1846.

Mr. Morris shortly before had been removed from his office of

recorder of the city of New York without being heard, and it was

in deference to his case that the amendment was incorporated. Mr.

Morris moved to insert the following: "The accused shall have the

opportunity to introduce witnesses," which is exactly what is

claimed under this Constitution as it now is, as the right of the

judge against whom these charges have been preferred. That
amendnjent of Mr. Moi-ris was agreed to, and, as the Constitution

then stood, there was the right to call witnesses ly the defense, and.
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in addition to that, the same right he has now to be heard in his

defense. On the following afternoon Mr. Brown asked consent to

move a reconsideration of the amendment made to the pending
section on the motion of Mr. Morris ; that is, the amendment which
gave the right to the accused judge to be heard, and, in addition, to

introduce witnesses for his defense. Mr. Morris' amendment was
reconsidered and rejected ; and the Constitution of 1846, as re-enacted

by the last constitutional convention, so far as this clause is con-

cerned, therefore, brings this case before this Senate with a provis-

ion that there is no express right, and no right according to the

interpretation given to this section by the debates of the constitu-

tional convention, of the accused to be heard by witnesses, or do
any thing other than that which the plain language in the constitu-

tion implies, the right to be heard in his defense, and no provision

whatever that there shall be any thing in the nature of the trial, that

there shall be any prosecutor, that there shall be any right to call

or examine witnesses on behalf of the complainant, or any other

duty on the part of the Senate than to take the charges which come
from the Governor, and to hear the accused in his defense against

those charges. What we insist upon, Mr. President, is this, that the

accused has just the right which the Constitution confers upon him,

and that is, a right to an opportunity of being heard in his defense.

We don't deem it necessary here to challenge his right. If he needs

to be heard in that by the introduction of evidence or the presenta-

tion of documents to the Senate by calling and examining witnesses

before the Senate, but all the right that he has is a right to be heard

in his defense against the charges which come from the Governor,

and against such information as the Governor communicates with

these charges, it is necessary by the mere fact of receiving them from

the Governor, before the Senate, for their consideration.

One thing, it seems to me perfectly clear, here are two proceed-

ings provided by the Constitution by which judges may be removed

from office. One looks to a regular trial, the Senate is to convene

as a court of impeachment, in order that the highest judicial ability

of the State may aid the Senate ; the judges of the Court of Appeals

become a component part of the tribunal. There is the right to

the accused to be present and to be heard, and the Assembly attend

before the Senate as prosecutors, and therefore there is all the

machinery of a court, a prosecution, a prosecutor, a tribunal, the

right to examine witnesses, as I shall presently call the attention of

the Senate, an oath to be administered to the Senators, that they

shall hear the case on evidence.
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No such provision in reference to this matter, and the accused is

to be tried on the charges presented against him ; but what is this

proceeding ? In the first place it is intended to be summary ; it is

a co-ordinate proceeding. It may meet the same case, with this dif-

ference, that while there is in the case of trial by impeachment, the

necessity of delay, here there shall be no necessary delay, here the

process shall be speedy ; the public interests are involved, charges

have been made that a judicial officer should not keep his seat, that

he should not do what the judge in this case has been doing, since

the Assembly have, by unanimous vote, determined that he has been

guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in office, and the rights of the

people demand that there shall be a speedy and immediate deter-

mination of the questions and charges presented against him, with-

out the delay which becomes necessary if there is to be all the

formality of a trial, and which has been sufficiently indicated to the

Senate in the discussion already taken place, as likely to occupy

between now and the 1st of January unless we proceed to trial, on

any form which the Senate shall see fit to give to the proceeding.

My associate suggests, bearing upon this very matter, that to obviate

this difficulty, to subserve the public interests, and to protect against

the exercise by a judge of his judicial functions when charges of

this kind are pending against him, after the articles of impeachment

shall be preferred to the Senate against him, he becomes by that act

suspended from the exercise of his judicial functions, but here there

is no suspension. This judge has, since these charges have been

presented to the Senate, and since he has been arraigned before the

Senate, been holding his court, and been proceeding in the exercise

of his judicial functions as if no such charges had been presented

against him. Here there is no limitation upon the grade of the

offense for which the accused judge shall be removed. That is left

entirely to the Senate as the body charged with the protection of the

interests of the people. The people have reserved to themselves the

right of summary removal ; of removal without the necessity of

going through all the form and ceremony of a trial, and the neces-

sary delay consequent thereon. All the discussion which has taken

place on this subject has assumed that the Senate was sitting here

as a court ; that the ordinary rules of evidence apply, but I wish to

know where in the Constitution there is any warrant for any assump-
tion of that kind ?

When the Senate sits as a court, section 1 of article 6 pro-

vides that, before the trial of impeachment, the members of the

court shall take an oath or affirmation truly and impartially to try
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the impeachment according to the evidence. " No person shall be
convicted without the concurrence of two-thirds of the members
present. Judgment in cases of impeachment shall not extend fur-

ther than to removal from office, or removal from office and disqual-

ification to hold and enjoy any office of honor, trust or profit undei

this State." Is there no significance in the fact that no provision of

this kind appears in the article which relates to the removal of judi-

cial officers ? Here there is no oath provided for the members of the

Senate ; there is no provision made for evidence, and I have made
some little examination this morning with my associates, which, it

seems to me, justifies us in the assertion that there is no provision

whatever of law which permits the Senate to administer an oath to

witnesses who shall be presented here on either side. The right to

administer an oath is conferred by the Eevised Statutes, which give

the right to the chairman or other officer of the committee of the

Senate or Assembly to administer an oath. The witnesses who
were examined before the judiciary committee of the Assembly

were examined under the provisions of the Eevised Statutes, and

with the sanctity of an oath administered by the power thus con-

ferred. I ask the Senate where is the right to administer an oath

in this proceeding ? I have been unable to find it. I speak with

great diffidence, of course, in respect to the want of any thing which

may be supplied by the statutes, particularly as the opportunity we
have had for an examination on this subject has been so very slight,

and yet we have made some examination and failed to find any pro-

vision whatever for the right of the Senate either to call witnesses

here, or when witnesses come to the bar of the Senate, to adminis-

ter such oath to them as that the testimony received from them shall

be received under the sanctity of an oath, or that there may follow

from any false statement which they shall here make any prosecu-

tion for perjury against them. Will the Senate be so good as to

consider this difference between this proceeding and the ordinary

trial in a court ? When an indictment is prepared, there is a dis-

trict attorney to prosecute ; when this Senate sits as a court of

impeachment, the Assembly appear here to prosecute with their

managers selected to conduct the prosecution, but who appear here

to prosecute ? It is true we come here by the invitation of the Sen-

ate, but so conscious were we of the fact that no provision was made

for the prosecutor, that when the accused judge attended here to

be arraigned, we staid away ; we had received then no invitation

from the Senate on the subject, and we, therefore, being charged

with no duty, notwithstanding the earnest duty we felt in this mat-
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ter, it was not until, in view of that fact, the action of the Senate

upon the subject, that invitation in response to which we appear

here to assist the Senate in any respect they may permit. "What

provision can be found in the Constitution that the Senate shall get

together evidence in respect to these charges by the examination of

witnesses— by procuring documents to be brought here from the

city of New York ? There is another argument which the Constitu-

tion furnishes, and it seems to me that is unanswerable. There is

precisely the same provision in respect to the process of removal of

judges of the Court of Appeals and of the Supreme Court, by con-

current resolution. There is the right there to the accused to be

heard in his defense. Bear in mind the leading difference and dis-

tinction between the two processes, one of removal, and the other

hj trial of impeachment. The one intended to be summary, and

the other to be hampered by all the ordinary restrictions, which

apply to the investigation of questions in court. The interpreta-

tion which is claimed for this section of the Constitution involves

this necessity, and the Senate must permit me to follow up the

absurdity, that when the attempt is by summary process to remove

a judge, that there shall be the right, on his part, to two trials, one

in the Assembly, and another in the Senate, and if the interpretation

contended for be correct, then there are to be two trials in the speedy

proceeding against one, which is followed by the immediate suspen-

sion of the judge, in the exercise of the duties of his office. What is

meant by a hearing of the accused judge in his defense ? I suppose

that which was running through the minds of the members of the

(Constitutional convention, was that hearing which was provided in

tthe Court of Chancery, upon testimony which came from the master

!to the chancellor. The chancellor did not confront the witnesses.

'The chancellor did not hear the testimony taken, but he received from

'the master the evidence which was gathered together before him, and

the expression used to distinguish that proceeding from an ordinary

trial, was that which took place before the chancellor, was " a hearing,"

the very expression which was adopted by the constitutional conven-

tion to designate this proceeding. It is a hearing of the ease. It is

not a hearing of the complaint. It is not a hearing by prosecutors

• or of the prosecution, but solely a hearing of the accused in his

defense, the groundwork of which shall be the charges, and such

I testimony in support of the charges, as come to the Senate from the

Governor. The next question is, whether it is fair to the accused,

that the Senate shall receive this testimony, which thus comes from

the Governor and act upon that? Can there be any question about
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that ? Suppose, for example, by way of illustration, that one of the

witnesses whose testimony was taken by the Assembly committee

had died. On ordinary rules of evidence, if one of the witnesses

then examined had died, and this were an impeachment trial, there

could be no question whatever of the right of the prosecution to

read the testimony of that witness. The charges are precisely the

same. There have been placed upon our table the charges now be-

fore the Senate, and they are precisely the charges in support of

which testimony was offered before the judiciary committee of the

Assembly ; the issue, therefore, is precisely the same. The accused

was present and represented by counsel. I am at a loss to under-

stand what is intended by the expression made use of by the counsel

for the defense, that Judge McCunn was only present before the

judiciary committee of the Assembly, ex gratia, as a matter of favor

to him. The learned counsel who made that statement says he was

only informed of what took place before the judiciary committee of

the Assembly ; in this respect he has been entirely misinformed

;

because the fact is, that the judiciary committee, before entering

upon the discharge of the duties devolved upon them by the resolu-

tion under which they communicated to both sides ; to the bar asso-

ciation which had presented these charges, and to the accused the

action they had taken, which permitted both parties to be present,

both parties be represented by counsel, and both parties to examine

and cross-examine witnesses, both parties to introduce evidence on

their own side which was all that the law requires, but that opportu-

nity was availed of by the accused judge, as well as by those who

appeared to prosecute the charges ; witnesses, not one being exam-

ined in his behalf, but he being represented by counsel, counsel

who now appear here, and who do not merit the terms in which

their associates spoke of them, as being either incompetent, or neg-

ligent in the discharge of their duties. They attended to look after

the interests intrusted to them, and they did so with ability and

vigilance, and the learned judge was present and exercised his

privilege to examine and cross-examine witnesses who appeared

before that committee. The case, as sent here by the Grovernor,

states " Judge McCunn was present in person with his counsel,

James F. Morgan, Esq., Daniel H. Lyddy, Esq.," both of whom
I see among the counsel. What is the objection taken to this

testimony, which has not been covered by the general observation

which has been made? If the Senate please, Mr. President, the

objection taken is this, that Judge McCunn desires an opportunity

of again having these witnesses examined. TJpon what principle ?

20
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They were examined, when examined before the judiciary committee,

under oath ; an indictment for perjury lies in respect to the tes-

timony they then gave. "What right is there to the accused, to

insist upon the second examination of witnesses upon the second

charge ? I mean what right, in ordinary fairness, can be insisted

upon by him, when there is no obligation on the part of the Senate

that they shall go through this ceremony of again examining the

same witnesses in respect to the same charges ? These are questions

which are of very great importance, because this case, as no other

case has been, is likely to become a precedent, in respect to the

provisions of the Constitution under consideration. No such point

was taken in the Smith case. The right there to have the case pre-

sented by testimony was conceded at once. In that case no testi-

mony had been taken in the manner in which this testimony has

been taken. The case being different, the question could not arise.

If the question had been the same the point was not there raised,

and this question now first comes before the Senate for considera-

tion. It may be argued that the Senate has already taken action,

by their rules, in respect to this matter. I find the Senate has

adopted a rule for its guidance on this investigation, applicable to

'the examination of such witnesses as shall be produced, but not a

rule which involves the necessity of having all the testimony

which is presented to the Senate presented from the examination

of witnesses, and a rule which does not at all interfere with the

Senate's rights to receive this testimony sent by the Governor with

his message, and this is a rule of which the Senate, of course, has

entire control.

Mr. Mttepht— Mr. President : Before Mr. Parsons sits down, I

should like to ask him a question. Do I understand you to main-

tain the position that witnesses cannot be examined as in the trial

of impeachment 1

Mr. Paesons— ISTo, not at all, sir. There is that right conferred

in the impeachment trial, and no such provision here which, it

seems to us, demonstrates there is no right here to administer an

oath.

Mr. MuEPHY— Mr. President : I understand the counsel to make

the suggestion, in case a witness who has been examined before the

Assembly committee, for the purpose of founding articles of impeach-

ment, dies, this testimony, as there taken, could be introduced in

the trial in the Court of Impeachment.

Mr. Paesons— If he were dead ! That very question came before

the Supreme Court, in the 2d of Johnson, page 17, where the
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court lield the testimony competent under such circumstances. It

is a mistake to say the sole authority of the judiciary committee of

the Assembly, under the resolution under which they acted, was to

obtain testimony looking to the impeachment of the accused, or

rather to the charges against whom was presented the charges of

the Bar Association. The resolution directing the action of that

committee was of the broadest character, and looked either to pro-

ceedings by impeachment, removal by concurrent resolution, in the

case of a judge of the Supreme Court, removal through the action

of the Governor, as in this case, or a general examination into the

complaint which had been made of the administration of justice in

the city of I^Tew York.

Mr. RoBEETSON— Mr. President: Before the counsel for the

defense proceed, I desire to ask the counsel, upon the part of the

Bar Association, a question, with a view of hearing the counsel for

the defense on that question. If I understand the counsel correctly,

his view is this, that the provision of the Constitution, or that por-

tion of the Constitution under which the Senate is now acting, con-

templates that the Senate will only act on the papers transmitted to

the Senate by the Governor, at the time he transmitted the charges,

and that, if any additional testimony is taken by the Senate, it is a

matter of grace on the part of the party requesting it. Is that

correct ?

Mr. Paesons— Very nearly, Mr. Senator ; the position we take

is, the Senate primarily acts upon the documents Avhich attend the

Governor's message, with the right then to the accused to be heard

on his defense, and such right as results from that necessarily to any

person interested in the prosecution, on the invitation of the Senate

to introduce further testimony.

Mr. J. "Wood— I desire to ask Mr. Parsons whether the Gov-

ernor is bound to send any thing more to the Senate than the charge,

with a recommendation of removal? "Whether the Governor is

required by the Constitution, or in any way, to transmit the evidence

before him for the reason why he recommends ?

Mr. Paesons— "We think not. And that only suggests a question

of the authentication of the evidence, which we think is sufficiently

authenticated, by the fact that it accompanied the Governor's

message.

Mr. D. P. 'Wood— Mr. President: I desire to ask the counsel

whether, under his construction, if the case had been presented to

the Governor on expa/rte affidavits, and the Governor had sent it to

the Senate upon those affidavits, whether, in his view, it would be a
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matter of grace to the defendant whether he be allowed to call wit-

nesses upon the case in his defense ?

Mr. Paesons— "We think exactly that. "We think there is no

question whatever of the power of the Senate to act upon evidence

which they obtained in any way, provided it is satisfactory to them-

selves. Any evidence, however it comes, in support of these charges,

gives jurisdiction to the Senate to act, with the right, of course, on

the part of the Senate, to determine whether evidence, thus coming,

shall be satisfactory; and with the right on the part, of the Senate to

determine what they shall allow to the accused, as matter of grace,

if the expression be preferred, what shall be conceded to the accused

in the way of introduction of evidence, the absolute right being to

him to be heard in his defense, which, I suppose, means to be by

himself and by counsel.

Mr. MiTEPHT— How are we to get evidence unless we have a

right to examine witnesses ?

Mr. Paesons— There is no provision, and I have no objection to

press upon the Senate the fact there is no provision that evidence

shall come before the Senate, in the legitimate significance of that

term. "When the Senate sits as a court of impeachment, senators are

to be sworn to try the ease fairly and impartially upon evidence,

which, I suppose, means such evidence as courts of law receive ; but

there is no such provision in respect to this process of removal by the

action of the Senate on the recommendation of the Governor, and,

therefore, the Senate themselves are to interpret and to determine, I

should say, that which they will regard sufficient—call it evidence if

you like, call it what you choose—that which shall be sufficient to

justify the removal.

Mr. MuEPHT—I understood the counsel to say that as matter of

favor we may permit the defendant to introduce testimony. I think

the Senate has the full control of the proceeding. If we have the

right to permit him to introduce testimony, how can we introduce it

when we swear the witnesses on the question ? How do we intro-

duce testimony and who is to take the testimony either ? Must we
not take it, or somebody deputed by us ?

Mr. Paesons—"We think not. "We think the Senate acts under

such authority as is conferred upon the Senate, and that no authority

is to be necessarily implied ; but there are ways of course in which

the testimony for the defense may be presented here which did not

involve the necessity of having witnesses examined in the exercise

of the legislative duties of the Senate. They act upon information

satisfactory to themselves ; and the same kind of information coming
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to the Senate from different sources, we insist, so far as concerns the

provisions of the Constitution, will justify action on their part in the

removal of the accused judge.

Mr. Peeet—If the counsel will permit me I would like to ask

him one question. In case the charges had been transmitted to the

Senate, unaccompanied with any testimony or documents whatever,

of any kind, and recommended the removal of the accused, is the

counsel of the opinion the Senate could remove on such a paper

without taking testimony ?

Mr. Paesons—I have no question about it, that if the accused saw

lit to waive his right to be heard in his defense upon these charges,

the right of the Senate to remove cannot be gainsaid; but the

accused has the right to be heard, and that right may involve the

propriety or necessity of further proceedings before the Senate. I

hope the Senate will understand clearly the position which we take.

"We do not insist that the power of the Senate is limited. We do

not deny the power of the Senate, if they cannot administer oaths to

hear testimony ; but we say the Senate has the right to act upon the

testimony which thus comes from the Governor, and our motion is

that the Senate do act upon that testimony which has been taken

under such circiimstances as assume that justice has been done to

the accused judge, if the Senate shall act upon that evidence alone.

Mr. MoAK—Mr. President : When I commenced the reading of

the law, the first book I read was Blackstone's Commentaries, and

in that I learned that the parliament of Great Britain was omnipotent,

and had a right to pass any law ; and it was inherently a court, and

the highest court of the kingdom of Great Britain. I learned that

in that respect, it had absolute power, and was the final resort of

every person who desired to have his rights determined, and that it

was originally a court of itself, and that it was only by common
usage that it acquired power to make laws by consent of the sovereign

of England. I learned that the proper theory of reading law was

to commence with the common law, and then come to the statute,

instead of commencing with the statute ; and going along a little

farther, I learned that the Governor of this State, the Assembly and

the Senate, took the place, so far as this State government was con-

cerned, of the parliament of Great Britain ; that they had absolute

rights without any restriction, except so far as they were restricted

by the State Constitution ; and going a little farther in the history of

the administration of justice in this State, the question arose in this

class of cases : The Legislature said that a town, or a majority of

the tax payers of a town, might consent to the bonding of the town.
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and if so, that the town should issue its bonds, and it should become
a debt against the town.

The question arose and was discussed, and it went to the Court of

Appeals, as to whether even a majority or two-thirds of the tax

payers signing and consenting that a debt should be created against

the town, could bind the other without their consent ; and the Court

of Appeals, in considering that question, said :
" The Legislature is

omnipotent," within its proper provisions, of course, except so far as

the Constitution has restricted its powers ; and I learned, when I read

Story's Commentaries upon the Constitution of the United States, that

the Legislature ofthe general government was a delegated Legislature,

and that they had no power except such as the State had sur-

rendered them. If we take the common-law principles, we shall see

very readily why there is no provision, and why the gentleman has

not been able to iind one. It has not been taken from it, and the

senators will recollect that it was only since 1846 that a senator, with-

out taking any additional oath, without changing his seat at all, trans-

ferred himself from the position of a legislator to that of a member
of the Court of Impeachment, a Court of Errors, and heard causes

decided ; and that is the reason why the gentleman has not found any

power in the Senate to administer oaths. They have got that power

by virtue of their inherent rights, and by virtue of the authority

under which they sit ; but it is true that when they come to the

question of whether a committee could administer an oath or not,

they were not the Senate. Whenever a judicial body attempts to

act by proxy, of course the proxy has not the power to administer

the oath, and a statute had to be passed allowing them to do it. It

strikes me, as a full answer to so much of the gentleman's argument,

that the Senate has not the power to administer an oath.

Mr. Benedict— Does the counsel mean to suggest that the Senate

has the omnipotence of the parliament of Great Britain ?

Mr. MoAK— It has all within its proper jurisdiction ; within any
power granted it. It has the same power, so far as any act of the

Senate or of the House of Lords in England is concerned, as decided

by the Court of Appeals, as I understand the decision, except so far

as restricted by the statute or Constitution.

Mr. Parsons— Is this a legislative proceeding ?

Mr. MoAK— I do not know how to answer that question. It is

legislative in one sense, and it is judicial in another. It is somewhat
anomalous. I do not propose to christen the child ; it is here, and we
have got to take care of it. The gentleman cites the proceedings in

the constitutional convention of 1846. The gentleman well knows,
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and so do I, and so does every member of the Senate, that, tip to

184:6, the Governor appointed all the officers, almost, of the State

;

appointed judges of the Supreme Court, the Chancery, the circuit

judges, and the judges of this very court, I believe, although I am
not certain ; and he appointed the judges of the Court of Common
Pleas in the city of New York. That being so, it was an inherent

principle, that the power which had authority to appoint could

remove ; but, in 1846, for certain reasons, a revolution was created,

which provided that most of the officers should be elected; and

hence, the same power which gave a man an office only could deprive

him of it, unless some method was provided for removal. That

being so, the very instrument that provided how they should be

elected, provided how they might be removed. I do not desire to

discuss this question at any very great length. It strikes me that I

cannot, for I have not the patience to. A man charged with a high

crime and misdemeanor, and to be put on trial for an offense which

blackens his reputation for life, has a right to have witnesses sworn

;

and a man can be removed for a much less one without an oppor-

tunity to be heard at all. He may have the benefit of a trial in one

case, but in another, which involves much less, and for which he

could not be impeached at all, according to the rule of the gentle-

man, he may be summarily disposed of. In other words, when the

electors have elected a man, and when you want to get him, as an

opponent, out of the way, all the Governor has got to say is, " we
will get rid of this man ;" and the Senate says, " we will concur in

it ; we do not desire to hear any thing ;" and you remove him sum-

marily. It strikes me it is a wheel within a wheel ; and I do not

think that is the theory of our State Constitution.

Mr. Mttepht— Mr. President: Is discussion in order?

The President—Yes, sir.

Mr. Lewis— I rise to a point of order ; that the discussion is not

in order on the part of senators.

The Peesidbnt—Will the senator state wherein it is not ?

Mr. Lewis— It is not, under the fourth rule.

Mr. D. P. Wood— I think the senators can say all they wish to

on a motion to be excused from voting.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President: I have something to say on the

subject ; I have no objection to discussing it in open session of the

Senate, if it is the wish of the Senate, but I understand the rule to

preclude that.

Mr. Peeet— I renew the motion, that the Senate now proceed

to hold a private consultation. (Mr. Perry's motion was carried.)



160 PROCEEDINGS IN THE

Upon the opening of the doors, it was announced by the

President, that a resolution was passed, denying the proposition

of the counsel for the prosecution.

Mr. Davis — Mr. President : A question arose as' to taking this

evidence before the Senate or before a committee of the Senate

;

I am desired, by Judge McCunn, to say, that he ia contented to

abide by the judgment of the Senate on that question, so that

the proper safeguards shall be thrown around the proceedings, if

they are taken by the committee, and he has no proposition to

make, except that he will accept the decision of the Senate upon

that question.

Mr. MuEPHT— I think we cannot take the responsibility ; the

question rests between the prosecution and the respondent whether

they will agree to that mode; we cannot undertake to judge of that

matter.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : I had understood it was Judge

McCunn's right to demand a hearing here ; he waives the right to

demand that, and expresses his wish and willingness to abide by

any decision which the Senate may arrive at, as being the best

under the circumstances of the case.

Mr. MuEPHT—Mr. President: Our judiciary committee reported

that it was competent for the respondent to say whether the testi-

mony should be taken before the Senate, or a committee of the Sen-

ate, but with him alone must rest the decision ; if he elects to take

it before the Senate, the Senate will hear it ; if he elects to take it

before a committee, the Senate will appoint a committee.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Do I understand the senator to say, that the

Senate will appoint a committee if the judge elects ?

Mr. MuEPHT— What I say is, that the judiciary committee re-

ported that it is within the power of Judge McCunn to say whether

the testimony should be taken before the Senate or before a com-

mittee of the Senate. He elected to take it before the Senate.

Now, we cannot undertake to say to Judge McCunn, " we want it

taken before a committee." All we say is (as I suppose; lam
only speaking of one member of the Senate), that we are willing to

take it before a committee.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I rise at the earliest opportu-

nity, to say to the honorable senator from the third (Mr. Murphy),

that I am not willing to take it before a committee. I understand

the senator to speak for the Senate ; that they are willing.

Mr. MuKPHY— Mr. President : No, sir.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I wish the counsel for the



TEIAL OF JOHlSr H. McCUNlSr. 161

respondent, in deciding upon their course, to decide irrespectively

of what may be the views or wishes of the Senate. They have
expressed no opinion upon the subject yet, whatever. That would
be a subject for their opinion, whenever the counsel for the respond-

ent expresses his wishes.

Mr. Palmee— The report of the judiciary committee, after the

taking of the evidence in this case, was accepted by the Senate, and
Judge McCunn has already elected to be tried before the Senate.

Unless these proceedings here are reconsidered, we will have to pro-

ceed with the trial before the Senate.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : The only point in my speaking at

all was, because I understand it would be a convenience to the Sen-

ate not to have it tried before that body ; and in order that the feel-

ings of Judge McOunn might be known on the resolution, I stated

what I did. I understood that there was a resolution pending, offered

by Senator Johnson.

Mr. Johnson— Mr. President : I believe there is such a resolution

which was offered last evening, and that it now lies on the table. In
offering the resolution I said I would not offer it if it was not in

accordance with views of counsel on the part of the prosecution and

of the defense, and if there is any objection from either of those

sources, I would ask the sense of the Senate upon that resolution.

For that reason, I ask that the resolution be taken from the table.

Mr. Peeet — Mr. President : Before that question is put, I would

like to inquire whether there is any objection on the part of the

respondents to the adoption of the resolution ?

Mr. Peckham— No, sir.

[ Mr. Johnson's motion was lost.
J

[Mr. Allen offered a resolution which was carried, designating

that all motions and resolutions be sent to the desk in writing.
]

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President : I move tliat the trial now proceed.

Mr. Davis— Mr. President : If that is the next order of business,

I have a word to say—a suggestion to make to the Senate. It seems

that all the preliminary questions which arise in this case have been

disposed of, and we stand here at this time about to enter upon the

trial. The counsel for the respondent in this case have believed

that some of those preliminary questions would have been decided

in their favor, which would have prevented the entire trial. "We

desire very much to have Judge Selden here. I submit to the Sen-

ate, under the circumstances, whether this case should not be so far

continued, as to allow Judge Selden to be present. I have his tel-

egram, stating "I cannot go until Tuesday." Whether he meant
21
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he could not arrive here until Tuesday, or leave there, I cannot

state. I wish to submit to j'ou, gentlemen, under the circumstances,

the importance of this trial, particularly to my client, Judge

Selden's well-known ability, and the fact that he (McCunn) relied

upon him mainly as his counsel in the matter ; the fact that we have

argued and disposed of all these preliminary questions, whether, in

justice to Judge McOuun, this matter could not be continued until

next Tuesday to give time for Judge Seldea to get here. I will

state further, that I hold in my hand a telegram that my brother-in-

law has died at Medina, and is to be buried to-morrow. He was

taken sick very suddenly, leaving my sister entirely alone. I feel

the very deep importance of my going there. Under all the cir-

cumstances, I think it right and proper that the Senate should give

Judge McCunn an opportunity to have his own chosen counsel

present. He simply wants to have his trial under such circum-

stances as, perhaps, others would desire to have. I feel as one of

the associate counsel in this case, that I shrink from the responsi-

bility of trying a case of this kind when Judge Selden can be here

so soon, and, if possible, I trust the Senate will give us until some

day next week. [The question was here taken on the motion of

Senator Benedict that the Senate proceed with the trial, which was

adopted. ]

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : The Senate having determined,

and having ordered that the case shall proceed as an ordinary trial,

the first proceeding on our side would be the presentation of the

case on the part of the prosecution as an opening, and Mr. Harrison

is now prepared to address the Senate.

Mr. Haeeison— Mr. President, and Senators : I think it proper

to state for myself, at the outset of my remarks, as it has already

been stated by my associates who have addressed you, that we do

not appear here in the character of counsel for a prosecution. We
are here upon the invitation of the Senate, familiar with the facts

of the case, and prepared to assist the Senate in the investigation

which it shall make into the truth of the charges which have been

submitted to the Senate by the Governor with his recommenda-
tion for your action.

These charges were originally preferred against Justice McCunn to

a committee of the Assembly, which came to the city of New York
under a resolution of that branch of the Legislature, directing the

committee to inquire into the complaints which had been made
against certain judicial ofiicers, not naming them. The resohition

contemplated the possibility of action of difierent kinds in difier-
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ent cases by the Assembly upon the reports to be made by that

committee ; for example, it contemplated, either that articles of

impeachment be preferred against an officer against whom charges

should be made before the committee, and for whose case impeach-

ment might be the proper proceeding ; or that legislation be had if the

committee should report that the testimony had satisfied them that

such action by the Legislature is necessary to the due administra-

tion of justice in the city of New York ; or that there be a concur-

rent resolution of the Senate and Assembly for the removal of a

justice of the Supreme Court against whom charges had been made
and proved ; or that there be such other action which the committee

might recommend to the Assembly for any particular case.

That committee sat for many days in the city of New York, and

for about a week it was employed in investigating these charges

made against John H. McCunn, a justice of the Superior Court of

the city of New York. When the testimony was all in, and the

committee had returned to Albany and was prepared to report upon

this case, the session of the Legislature was very nearly at an end.

It was conceded that a trial before the Court of Impeachment

would be a very long and tedious proceeding. The members of

the committee were unanimous that the charges had been substan-

tiated against Justice McCunn, to a degree showing that he had

been guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in office and, though they

have stated no reason for the action they took in preference to rec-

ommendation that the accused be impeached, it is fair to assume

that they were of opinion that the case is not one for the tedious

proceeding of impeachment, and trial before a court of impeach-

ment, but that it is so plain, that the facts in support of

the charges are so clear, as to demand that the summary

method of removal by the Senate, as allowed by the Constitution,

should be adopted. What they did was to make a report, signed by

every member of the committee, setting forth, by preamble and

resolutions, that they find the accused to have been "guilty of mal

and corrupt conduct in office," and recommending the Assembly to

call upon the Governor to institute proceedings for his removal by

the Senate. That report of the committee was unanimously

adopted by the Assembly, upon the call of the ayes and noes ; and

the Governor promptly transmitted the charges to the Senate with

his own recommendation that the judge be removed by you from

office.

The Bar Association was a party to the proceedings before the

Assembly committee, when it sat to hear complaints in the city of
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New York. That association was established, as it declares in its

constitution " to maintain the honor and dignity of the profession

of the law, to cultivate social intercourse among its members, and

to secure a proper administration of justice." It has nothing to do

with politics, or with political parties. It is composed of many-

hundreds of lawyers residing in the city of New York, or elsewhere

in the State, who have been forced, by observation of many recent

cases of tyranny', wrong and corruption, by several of the members

of the judiciary, to adopt vigorous measures to correct that evil.

We preferred these charges against Justice McCunn, because we

find that the usefulness of the Superior Court of the city of New
York is greatly impaired, yes, paralyzed, by his presence there.

It is not necessary that I should assume now to instruct the

members of the Senate as to what the demeanor and character of a

judge in the State of New York should be. The history of this

State is made luminous by the illustrious lives and learned and right

decisions of its judicial officers ; and pvery one of you is personally

familiar with the manner of life and daily conduct of many of the

justices now upon the bench, who are themselves examples to all

times.

All that I shall now do will be merely to attempt to sbow you a

living instance of what a judge should not be, but what the accused

man now before the bar of the Senate is.

"With regard to Justice McCunn, then, we claim that, in the ad-

ministration of his office, he has been guilty of such gross partiality,

such arbitrary disregard of right, and such willful interference for

his own selfish and corrupt purposes in cases pending before him,

as to have destroyed the confidence of all the people of the State, in

his ability to deal fairly and justly in the trust confided to him by

the electors in the city of New York, and to have brought the

court in which he sits into contempt.

Of course, the charges upon which we rely relate principally to his

conduct in matters brought before him upon motions for orders, or

where he has the jurisdiction of a chancellor. It is there he acts

without the intervention of a jury, and it is there he is solely respon-

sible for any wrong that may be done to the citizen. We have not

thought it necessary to consume your time by speaking of a great

many cases of particular wrong-doing. The general conduct of the

man is notorious. His presence upon the bench is an outrage upon

us of the bar, and upon all the people of the State of New York.

No litigant is safe before him. I shall show you why it is so, by
sketching, briefly and hurriedly, the outlines of the history of sev-
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eral cases which have recently attracted public attention, and con-

cerning which we shall go into evidence. I shall tell you what he
actually did in those certain particular cases— shall inform you to

what a regular and well-ordered system he has reduced his tactics

for oppression and plunder, by showing you how he outraged the

individuals who were the unfortunate parties then at his mercy. I

shall not presume to indulge in declamation before you, but shall

make a plain statement of facts merely, with only so much of com-

ment as to give continuity to the narrative, leaving it to you to

draw the unavoidable inferences. And I beg you, senators, to bear

it in mind that the matters about which we shall go into evidence

concerning the hardships put by this man upon the particular par-

ties to the suits mentioned, not only indirectly but directly affect

the constituents of every one of you here present to-day. The peo-

ple of the whole State are deeply concerned and interested in the

administration of justice in every portion of the State; and, though

the judicial oflBcer in any particular locality is elected by the people

of that locality only, and holds his court there only, he has to pass

upon questions of liberty and property which come home to the

firesides of all the citizens of this State, and, indeed, of all the citi-

zens of all the States. ISTew York is the great commercial emporium

of the country. When the wheels of justice are clogged here, the

effects are felt everywhere throughout the United States. It is an

evidence of the wisdom of our fathers, therefore, that they provided,

in the Constitution of the State, that the people of the State, here

assembled, by you, their chosen representatives, in this body, shall

have the power at any time to correct the mistake of a mere major-

ity of the voters of a county or district who may have put a bad

judge on the bench, by removing him from office summarily.

The first case in the order of charges preferred is that of Clark

V. Bininger.

The firm of A. Bininger & Co. was one of the oldest and

best known in the city of ITew York ; they were wholesale dealers

in liquors. The firm consisted of two members (Mr. Clark and Mr.

Bininger). Their articles of agreement provided that the copart-

nership should be terminable at any time, on a notice of fifteen

days, to be given by either party to the other. In November, 1869,

such a notice was given by Mr. Bininger to Mr. Clark. Mr.

Bininger was entitled to the sole continued possession of the assets,

and to wind up the affairs of the firm. A consultation was imme-

diately had by Clark with a lawyer, who, while yet considering how
he should be able to secure to his client the possession of the assets
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of the firm, and to retain for him control of the business, chanced

to meet one Hanrahan. Hanrahan was then the partner of James

F. Morgan, and James F. Morgan is the brother-in-law of Judge

McCunn. The firm of Morgan & Hanrahan, attorneys, etc., was

the successor in business to Judge McCunn himself, and in what I

shall now say I shall assume— and by what we shall prove here,

we shall, I think, conclusively show— that there was a conspiracy

between the two members of that firm and Justice McCunn him-

self and some others, to accomplish the very things which were

afterward done, to their own gain and advantage, and to the very

great injury of the parties litigant, and to the creditors of A.

Bininger & Co. Counsel for Clark, while talking to Hanrahan

(at McCunn's old office, and where the judge was still a frequent

visitor and kept a desk) about another matter, chanced to remark

that he was about to bring a suit of some sort or other for settlement

of the affairs of the copartnership of A. Bininger & Co., and to secure

possession of its assets. Hanrahan said: "Why, lean help you;

I am here with Judge McCunn, you know ; bring your suit in the

Superior Court; I will have myself appointed receiver of that

property, if you ask for a receiver ; and we will see if you and I

can't be of advantage to each other." A bargain was made between

them. There was an appointment, in compliance with that agree-

ment, that Judge McCunn be at his own private residence, at a

certain time, which was to be the end of the fifteen days' notice

required for the termination of the copartnership. Until those

fifteen days should expire, the^partnership was to be still in exist-

ence, and Clark could have nothing to complain of against his

partner. With the first minute of the sixteenth day, however,

every thing would be changed. The notice which had been served

by Bininger would then have terminated the copartnership, and
Clark's imaginary wrongs would then instantly become full-grown

and clamorous.

At midnight then, the last moment of the very day the copart-

nership should end, it was arranged that Justice McCunn should be

at home to hear the plaintiff''s complaint and to appoint a receiver,

without reference to the facts or merits of the case.

It is not necessary for me to refer now to the rules and practice

of the courts, as we shall prove them here, further than to explain,

in the briefest way, the bearing of those rules upon the salient

facts of this case. The Superior Court has six justices. They are

assigned to the different departments of the court in turn. In any
particular month, two of those justices are assigned to hold trial

(
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terms, and another is assigned to try an equity calendar. The other

three may be sitting for a part of the day during the month at the
general term, but one of them always holds the chambers of the
court during at least an hour or two in the morning, to hear motions
for orders. There is a special term of the court at chambers, where
the judge sits as a court, in the chambers of the court; and where
many of the orders made are orders of the court, made in matters

in which only the court can make a valid order. Every justice has

also his private chambers where he sits as a judge merely, not as the

court ; and orders made by him there are judge's orders merely, not

orders of the court, or of the same force or effect. They are of no
force or effect in cases in which only the court, and not the judge
merely, is empowered to act. Those of the Senate present who are

lawyers, and who practice in places other than the large cities of

this State, are not likely to have encountered the particular tempta-

tions and difficulties which beset lawyers in the city of New York
in attempting to get orders from a judge. It is only in Brooklyn,

JSTew York and Buffalo, I believe, that there can be found more
than one judge of the same court residing in any one county. So,

that, when applications are to be made, elsewhere than in those

three cities, to a judge for orders in a case pending in his court, or

about to be brought there, there is no temptation, because there is

no opportunity to bring into the case the sympathies and influence

of another person who sits upon the same bench. The application

is made to the one justice resident upon the spot, and can generally

be made in court or in the office he uses as his chambers, as easily

as at the judge's private residence. It is only in case of such emer-

gency that the interests of a client may be prejudiced by even the

delay necessary to get the judge into court or into his chambers
;

that it is usual to make application to him at his private house. In

the Superior Court of the city of ISTew York, the rule requires that,

to the justice who is assigned to hold the chambers of the court

shall be made every application for an order, which, to be operative,

must be an order of the court at special term ; and the rule prevails

there, as everywhere, of course, that in matters wherein the court

must act, application must be made during a term of the court, and

at a sitting of the court. Those rules require also, that even an

application for a mere judge's order must be made only to the justice

then assigned to hold the chambers of the court, unless there be good

cause and excuse shown for applying for the order to another justice.

Justice McCunn was not assigned to hold the special term at

chambers of the Superior Court, at the time of which I am speak-
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ing. He was not entitled to receive an application, or to make an

order in any matter that should be addressed to a judge holding

special term of the court at chambers—he was not authorized to

make even a simple " judge's order," unless the applicant for it

could show that the justice assigned to the chambers of the court

at that time was inaccessible, or that there was other good reason

for not taking the usual course. But he found no difSculty in that

fact, or in the lateness of the hour selected for the meeting. He
cheerfully agreed to sit up at his house until midnight to make

—

not a mere "judge's order," which, in a case in which he was author-

ized to make it at all, he could make wherever he should chance to

be— but an order appointing a receiver of the copartnership prop-

erty of A. Bininger & Co., which was to be considered an order of

the court, which could be made only by the court, and which could

be regularly made only by some justice assigned to sit as the court,

and then actually holding the special term of the court at chambers.

Just before midnight, then, of the 18th of JSTovember, 1869, we
have this collection of people in the Justice's private library, at his

residence, pursuant to the appointment : First, the Judge himself

;

then the plain tifE in the case ; the counsel for the plaintiif ; and one

or two others, friends of all the conspirators. The plaintiff had

brought along some bottles of wine and a cork-screw, supposing

that the session might be long and the members of the company
thirsty. He presented them to the Judge, innocently, expecting

that functionary to play the part of host in his own house, and to

use them to enliven the company during the anxious vigil before

the witching hour of midnight should arrive. The Judge accepted

the -n'ine and the cork-screw, with profuse expressions of thanks

;

but it did not seem to occur to him that tlie cork-screw was available

for immediate service, and the bottles still remained unopened and

the cork-screw unused when the company departed.

The plaintiff is, I believe, of the opinion, to this day, that Justice

McCunn is a solitary drinker.

When the clock struck midnight, the Judge—very punctilious

about the precise moment at which he should begin his proceedings

in this memorable case, though he never seems to have known when
to stop, so long as the money held out—-called attention to the fact

that he was now ready to hear the complaint. The papers were
laid before him, the complaint and an afBdavit were sworn to by
the plaintiff on the spot ; and the Judge, thereupon, immediately
made one order enjoining Bininger from disposing of or interfering

with his own property, and another appointing Hanrahan receiver
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of all the copartnership property of A. Bininger & Co. The latter

order directed the receiver to go on and sell the assets, converting

them into money. The only papers before the Judge, and upon
which the appointment was made, were the affidavit of the plaintiff

and the complaint, which were sworn to before the Judge himself.

Those papers disclose the fact, which was mentioned also to the

Judge, in conversation at the time, that the assets of the firm then

amounted to several hundred thousand dollars in value—the per-

sonal property alone. The stock of goods on hand was worth

$120,000. In selecting a receiver, the Court appoints a person to

be its own officer, and who is to take charge of the property in dis-

pute, to keep it from being lost or wasted, and to preserve it in the

interest of the parties to the suit and of their creditors. The

selection should, of course, be a man of good character and habits

;

and, when there are large sums of money in question, he should be

also a person of pecuniary responsibility. Justice McCunn had

known Hanrahan for many years. Hanrahan was, to all intents

and purposes, one of his own private clerks. With all the city of

New York from which to choose ; from among all the lawyers, to

select one who, as a sworn and practiced officer of the court, would

be likely to know how to conduct himself in the difficult questions

that might arise ; among all the merchants from whom to designate

one familiar with the best methods for conducting the business of

wholesale dealers in liquors, and able to carry it on to the advantage

of all the parties in interest ; .with all the State of New York to

choose from, he selected this man, Daniel H. Hanrahan, who, as

the Judge himself afterward admitted, was a drunken, worthless

fellow. He was entirely without pecuniary responsibility, and

Justice McCunn knew it. But the judge exacted from the receiver

an undertaking in only $1,000, as a bond of security for the adminis-

tration of the trust which was placed in him, to dispose of and

account for property amounting to several hundred thousand dollars

in value ; and even the bond, actually approved, was so drawn as to

have been unavailable to any person who might have tried to enforce

it against the obligors.

It is not usual, under the practice of courts of equity, to appoint

a receiver, ex parte, at any time, unless it is shown that the rights

of the person applying for the appointment are in great peril, and

will be irreparably injured by even the delay necessary to inform

the opposite party of the application which is made. There was no

suggestion of any such peril or danger in this case ; and if a judge

should have made any ex parte order in reference to a receivership

22
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at all, it should have been merely an order requiring the defendant

to show cause, before the court, why a receiver should not be

appointed by the court at a time stated.

Hanrahan, the receiver in this case, executed his bond early the

next morning after the midnight meeting in the library. His

partner, James F. Morgan, the justice's brother-in-law, and another

—

a notoriously impecunious clerk of theirs, a hanger-on in their

office— were the two sureties on the bond. Justice McCunn
indorsed that bond with his official approval, at Morgan's request,

though he very well knew the insufficiency of both the sureties.

The bond was filed in the office of the clerk of the court as soon as

the door was opened, and Morgan and Hanrahan walked thence

down to the warehoiise of A. Bininger & Co., and took immediate

possession. Mr. Bininger had not yet arrived ; when he came in

he was met by Hanrahan, who informed him that he was there,

with the fiat of the court, as receiver of all that property ; that he

had possession of it, and that Mr. Bininger's presence was no longer

required. Mr. Bininger, very naturally, expressed himself greatly

surprised, informed Hanrahan that he should institute proceedings

to have that order set aside, and walked off", wondering what next.

As we are proving a conspiracy between the parties, we shall prove

the individual declarations of all of them, and their individual acts

;

and shall charge Justice McCunn with his share of responsibihty.

Hanrahan followed Bininger to the street, with the assurance

that it could make no manner of difference what application

Bininger might make to have the proceedings set aside ; that this

was Justice McCunn's case; that Justice McCunn had put him
there, and would keep him there ; and, that, whatever order might
be made by any other judge, all that would be required of the re-

ceiver would be to ask for such order thereupon as he might want,

and to get it from Justice McCunn. He afterward, repeatedly, made
good that boast.

As soon as the creditors of the firm became aware of the proceed-

ings by the plaintiff, of, the character of the man actually appointed

receiver, and of the probability that they would get nothing out of

the case—as the receiver was himself a vagabond. Justice McCunn
the manager of the case, and the receiver's bond utterly worthless

—

they instituted proceedings in bankruptcy against the firm, and had

assignees in bankruptcy appointed, to rescue the property, if pos-

sible, from the hands of the highwaymen who had got control of it.

Their object in going into the United States Court in bankruptcy

was to get not only beyond the reach of McCnnn, but beyond the
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jurisdiction of the court in which, he sat, and which was itself

tainted with suspicion by his acts !

The moment McCunn learned what was going on he began to

bestir himself. He had frequent consultations with the plaintiff and
plaintifE's counsel at Hanrahan's office, where, as I have said, the

judge kept a private desk in an inner room
;
paid frequent visits to

the plaintiff's house ; advised plaintiff what to do ; suggested what

motions counsel should make, telling counsel to bring those motions

before him ; sometimes he drew the forms of orders to be entered,

promising to sit in the court room and after, for form's sake, hearing

what had to be said by both sides, to grant the order as arranged

beforehand. In fact, the orders were generally drawn either by, or

in the presence of, the judge, in Clark's library, late at night, and

before the first papers, upon which to make the motion, had been

drawn up.

He enjoined the officers of the United States Court from perform-

ing their duties ; issued all sorts of fiats against them and threatened

them with the penalties of contempt, imprisonment and fines, if they

should presume to do what the United States Court, of proper juris-

diction in the case, had ordered them to do. Not content with that,

he determined to employ something even more unusual than his

very remarkable orders in this case. On the 4th of December,

about two weeks after the original order appointing the receiver had

been made, McCunn went in person to the sheriiPs office in the city

of New York with a paper which we shall produce before you, of

a sort the most remarkable ever heard of in a case in which a judicial

officer has been concerned anywhere within the limits of civilization

—a fiat over his own hand and seal, and not even purporting to be

an order of the court. It is in these words

:

" Whereas, It has been made to appear to this court upon oath,

that certain persons unknown, who call themselves United States

deputy marshals, have taken forcible possession of the partnership

property belonging to the plaintiff and defendant in this suit, which

they are not entitled to take possession of

:

" Be it known, therefore, that I hereby direct the sheriff of the

city and county of New York, to take possession forthwith, of the

said property belonging to the said firm, now in store Nos. 92 and

94r Liberty street, or wheresoever the same may be found, and to

keep the same safely until the farther order of this court.

" Witness my hand and seal, this 4th day of December, 1869.

" (Signed) JOHN H. McCUNN,
" Justice Superior Courts
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He took that paper liimself, I say, to the under-sherifF of the city

and comity of New York. Fortunately for the interests of the peo-

ple of New Yoi-k, the uuder-sheriflF has been a long time in oiSce, is

a man of character and determination, is familiar with the powers

and duties of sheriffs, and has been accustomed for so many years to

deal with the orders of courts as to be himself quite competent to

measure the extent of his powers, under any particular order

assumed to be given him. He read the paper and told Justice

McCunn that he could not receive such a document upon the files

of the office, saying, " You have no more power to make that order,

or I to execute it, than you have to order me to go into the park

and to shoot the first man I may meet there. How can you send a

man down there to punch the heads of the officers of the United

States Court ? " With that, the under-sheriff handed the paper

back to the judge, who, very well knowing that he had no power

to give such an order as that, and the sheriff no power to execute it,

put it into his pocket and walked into the sherifPs outer office. From
among the hangers-on there he selected two or three, and told them

to come to his house that night for private instructions in a matter

of importance. It was a dull season for sherifFs officers and their

needy followers, and the justice easily drummed up recruits ready

to undertake the performance of any enterprise which promised an

agreeable pastime, and some money. After mustering his recruits,

in the presence of Morgan and of the receiver, he told them that

they should be well paid for what was to be done, and that they had

better have several friends with them ready to act very early the

next morning upon the instructions to be given, at his (the judge's)

house, that night. These fellows went to the judge's house, and got

their instructions from McCunn himself, with liberty of plunder and
promise of money. Thence they proceeded, before daylight, to

Bininger's warehouse, and took possession. When the United
States marshals arrived in the morning, McCunn's bullies undertook

to keep them out of the premises, and there was a free fight in the

street, upon which the justice himself looked down from a neighbor-

ing window, with expressions of satisfaction at the sight of the

prowess of his auxiliaries.

From that time he identified himself entirely with Clark, inducing
Clark to believe that he was his friend. His visits to Clark's house
were almost nightly. He assured Mr. and Mrs. Clark what a trucu-

lent fellow he was, and what he could do in an emergency ; that, if

necessary, he would even arrest the judge of the United States Court
in bankruptcy, and lock him up for contempt of the mighty orders
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of a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York. The
plaintiff mildly suggested : "But suppose the other judges in the
Superior Court should set aside your orders ? " to which the doughty
McOunn made smiling reply :

" Oh, they can't interfere with me.

I will set aside their orders as fast as they can make them," and
thereupon, with winks and mysterious nods, he prescribed the pro-

ceedings necessary at the moment to be taken in furtherance of his

plans.

After a while, these communings became so frequent that the

justice was himself smitten with some sense of the possible impro-

priety of his conduct, and began to be alarmed lest his visits should

be observed. On one occasion when at Clark's house at night in

consultation with a member of the family, the front door bell was

rung ; the judge withdrew into a corner and whispered : " Don't let

me be seen here, this is confidential, it would not look well for a

judge to be seen here and advising a party."

At one juncture he thought it better to have motions for orders

made before some of the other justices of the court, but told Clark

not to fear ; that it would be all right ; that he would still manage
the business himself in some way ; that all the judges in the Superior

Court would comply in this matter with his wishes. He confessed

to the kind of influence he himself was amenable to in making orders

in cases before him, by selecting particular counsel for Clark to

argue special motions before particular judges. He suggested that

one of the motions should be made before a certain judge, saying:

" And you had better go and get ' so and so ' to make that motion

before him, because he is his partner; give that lawyer a good

retainer and you will be very likely to get your order ; but when

you are ready to move for the order about so and so, go and retain

the reeular counsel to the sheriff— because the sheriff will have to

be called into play there ; and we want to be sure of him by buying

his counsel." Clark gave his retainers and he got his orders.

It is proper to say here, that, notwithstanding MeCunn's boasts

as to his influence over his brethren on the bench, with the excep-

tion of the two cases to which I have referred, the one where the

sheriff's attorney was brought into play, and the other where the

partner of the judge was called upon to argue the motion before

him, there was no application granted upon Clark's motion by any

judge other than McCunn himself. They refused to have any thing

to do with the case, some of them said, " we won't touch it, it is a

case which ought not to be in the court." And I should add that,

in the particular instance where the application was made before



174 PKOOEEDINGS IN THE

another justice and argued by a lawyer who had been a partner of

that justice before liis elevation to the bench, the application was

reasonable enough, and ought to have been granted of its own merit,

on the motion of any body. There was no necessity whatever for

McCunn's naive disclosure of the kind of considerations which

influenced him, by advising that the judge's former partner should

be brought to argue the case.

The assignee in bankruptcy once went to the warehouse and,

standing outside and talking through a small opening in the door,

informed the receiver— who was constantly there in possession,

entrenched with his troops behind barred doors, like soldiers in a

beleagured fortress— that he was an officer of the United States

Court in Bankruptcy, and that he had come there to make formal and

personal demand of surrender of the property. The receiver des-

patched a trusty courier to McCunn with the news, and MoCunn,
thereupon and without any application by a party to either of the

suits, himself instituted proceedings to punish the assignee in bank-

ruptcy as for contempt of his authority, and issued a new manifesto

for his arrest for violation of orders of the Superior Court, warning

the unhappy man not to attempt again to interfere, even in that

mitigated way, with the property in the possession of the receiver,

lest a worse thing should befall him. He several times dragged

officers of the United States before him, upon those charges of con-

tempt ; and, finally, he grew so bold, as on one occasion, to dispense

with even the formality of a written order on the subject, but gave

oral directions to two or three people lounging about the court room,

his bullies and auxiliaries, to go to the office of John S. Beecher, one

of the assignees in bankruptcy, and to bring him to the court-house

without any process or any pretense of process. He stated that if

Beecher should ask for sight of a warrant for the proceedings, they

might tell him that their warrant was Judge McCunn's direction.

Two ruffians thereupon went forth, found Beecher in Wall street,

and collared and dragged him before McCunn. The judge's trucu-

lent tit was passed, by the time they reached there, however, and

he contented himself with threatening Beecher and letting him
depart with a warning not to do so any more, but without explain-

ing as to what the oflEense was which was forbidden to be repeated.

Thus, and in many other ways, the regular proceedings in the

United States Court were constantly obstructed.

The receiver put into possession by McCunn was constantly sell-

ing off the property and dividing the proceeds as spoils, thus accom-

plishing the immediate object on McCunn's part of all these pro-
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ceedings. The bargain between McCunn, the receiver and Morgan,
was neither more nor less than a vulgar conspiracy to absorb all the

property of both litigants for their own use, if possible. To be sure

of that, it was necessary to keep the property out of the hands of

the custodian in whose charge it was ordered by the United States

Court in bankruptcy to he surrendered. And to that end McCuun
had to keep his mercenaries in good humor, by occasional largess.

While they were actually shut up in the besieged citadel, these wor-

thy gentlemen had to content themselves with the costly wines and

old whiskies there stored. But when they got out, after whipping

off the United States marshals and holding the castle for several

weeks against all comers—after performing their whole duty as

auxiliaries—they wanted money and clamored for it. Of course,

McCunn could not afford to pay them out of his own pocket

—

though he will I suppose try to prove before you, as he did before

the committee of the Assembly, that he has a fortune of a million

and a half of dollars. He has it on the record of the proceedings

before the committee, too, that he was once a soldier himself ; and

his whole career shows that he knows how to subsist his men upon

the supplies of the enemy. Since he has got to be a judge, the

enemy is any unhappy litigant before him who chances to have

money. In this case he caused a motion to be made before him that

the sheriff be paid his reasonable fees and allowances for executing

the orders of the Superior Court—very well knowing that no order

had been directed to the sheriff or any body else in the matter by

the Superior Court, and that the sheriff had executed no orders made

even by McCunn personally. Upon the hearing, he actually ordered

the receiver in this case to pay over $4,000 of Bininger's money to

the three men, who, as he says, " were sent there by me," to whip

the. United States officers off the premises ! So much of the order

was a sop to the mercenaries, to stay their clamors for pay. The

judge shrewdly followed that direction with a proviso that the

money should be actually paid to them only when the receiver

should find himself with a surplus of cash on hand for which there

was no better use. Unfortunately for the mercenaries, that time

never came, the officers needed all the funds for themselves ; the

private fighters never received their pay

!

When matters had got to such a pass that the creditors saw very

well they were not going to get any thing out of the assets of the

copartnership if the conflict should be protracted, their counsel, the

counsel for Bininger and the counsel for Clark entered into a pre-

liminary agreement for an amicable compromise and settlement of
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all matters in dispute. By that agreement, the creditors were to

take so much of the assets of the firm as then remained in the hands

of the receiver, as settlement in full for the debts of the concern, and

were to give receipts for payments in full, though they could not

thereby realize the full ariiounts of their claims, by a considerable

discount. This proposition was reduced to writing and was sent to

Clark, who by that time had got so completely into the power of

Judge McCunn as to be afraid to do any thing without his judicial

advice. He saw McCunn for a moment during the morning and

mentioned that there was a proposition for settlement.

The judge said : " Don't do any thing abont this until I see you."

McCunn went to Clark's house that night, and read over the agree-

ment. Seeing that, under a settlement of that sort, the property

would all go out of the hands of the receiver, and be beyond his

reach, he said :
" Don't do this ; this is all wrong ; this will ruin

you ; I will draw an agreement that you can settle upon." He sat

down, and did draw, thereupon, a proposition which he left with

Clark ; he himself hurried home, aroused Morgan, and instructed

him of the danger there was of an amicable settlement between the

parties. The next morning, a large part of the stock of goods, then

in the warehouse, was mysteriously hurried off and sold. The con-

spirators had evidently determined to convert every thing into

money. Clark, acting under McCunn's direction, refused, next day,

to sign the agreement for settlement, already drawn. The proposed

terms of settlement, advised by McCunn, the creditors considered

preposterous. While counsel were still considering what to do,

information came of the sudden removal, that morning, and private

sale, by the receiver, of a large part of the stock tneretofore in the

warehouse; and that brought the creditors to the precise result

McCunn desired. They refused any further consideration of any

proposition of settlement.

McCunn availed himself of the temporary lull in the conflict thus

secured, to instruct the receiver to sell all the rest of the property

at auction, and for cash ; and the sale was advertised. That sale, at

auction, seemed likely to be a sacrifice of the property, and some of

the creditors of the firm went before the judge of the Superior

Court, then holding the chambers of the court, and to whom, as I

said before, application for an order should regularly be made—and,

upon proper afiidavits, asked for, and got an order, requiring the

receiver to show cause why that sale should not be stayed, and,

mean time, restraining the receiver from selling, until all the parties

could be heard in open court and a further order be thereupon made
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by the court. Immediately, upon the service of that order upon the

receiver, he walked up to the judge (McCunn), who, upon the back

of the papers (the order and affidavits on which it had been made),

without reading or inquiring into the case they disclosed, ordered

that that order be modified so far as to allow the sale to go

on. He thus practically reversed the order, without pretense of

knowledge of the facts on which it had been made. The sale was

proceeded with ; the property was sacrificed ; and, as the result of

all these things, the members of the firm of A. Bininger & Co. lost

$120,000. The creditors were left to the proceedings in bank-

ruptcy, in which all the copartnership property (other than the

stock of goods which went into the possession of the receiver) has

been taken and the real and personal property of both the mem-

bers of the firm has been seized. It has all been applied upon

account of the debts and lawyers' fees, expenses, etc. ; and the debts

are not yet paid.

When Judge McCunn began his beneficent proceedings, the firm

was solvent ; its assets, alone, much more than sufficient to pay its

debts, and each of the individual partners had a private, separate

fortune.

W^e shall show that the receiver was constantly drunk during

these proceedings; that the business was done by Morgan and

McCunn all the time ; that the receiver kept no bank account ; that

as sales occurred, the money was brought to the office of Morgan &
Hanrahan, and there divided up. Morgan admits that he, himself,

took what, by a generous estimate of the value of his services, he

considered a sufficient fee. He says he gave some to Hanrahan,

and that some of it he gave to Thomas J. Barr, of whom I shall

have more to say in another case, and who was appointed to be

co-receiver with Hanrahan in this case. Barr pretends to have

deposited in a savings bank all that he got— and the savings bank

has failed. It matters little to Bininger, or to his creditors, who

got the money ; they did not, and never will. We shall, however,

trace a portion of that money to Justice McCunn ; how much of it

we shall prove to have gone directly to him, I am not now prepared

to say. The witnesses are all unwilling. Most of those who can

testify to these particular matters are parties to the outrages we

complain of; and it is very difficult to get the truth out of any of

them.

Hanrahan, upon whom we relied for disclosures, has fled beyond

the jurisdiction of the State, and cannot be reached by process upon

which to bring him before the Senate. But we shall show that

33
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Morgan, having lived for many years in one of Judge McCunn's

houses, at a small rent, and being just at this particular time flush

with Bininger's money, bought the house from his brother-in-law,

at a fancy price ; and the judge thus pocketed a handsome dividend

of the plunder, knowing, at the time, where the moneys came from,

and that Morgan had no right whatever to use them.

The second case in the order of the charges is Corey v. Long. It

is this : Corey and Long had been copartners in business, as deal-

ers in silk goods. Corey had, in December, 1869, sold all of his

interest in the copartnership and its assets, to Long— had made an

absolute sale and assignment of all his right, title and interest, in

what had been copartnership property— and Long had paid him in

full for it. In January, 1870, Corey found himself out of business,

and also out of money ; and it occurred to him that it would be a

masterly stroke of policy to make a living out of Long, and to

assume, if possible, absolute control of the old business. Having an

intimate friendship with James M. G-ano (another brother-in-law of

Justice McCunn), and a slight personal acquaintance with McCunn
himself, through Gano, he readily devised a scheme for getting into

possession of Long's property. His proceedings were simple, but

ingenious. Corey went to a lawyer, informed him that he desired

to institute an action to secure the appointment of a receiver of the

sometime copartnership property coloring the facts, so far as he

disclosd them at all, so as to make a specious case. Upon the state-

ments made, the attorney drew a complaint and affidavit, which

were sworn to by Corey. Thereupon were drafted an order

enjoining Long from disposing of or interfering with his own prop-

erty, and another order that the defendant show cause before the

court, on a day certain, why a receiver of the property should not

be appointed. The lawyer had just at the moment an engagement
in his own office, and so a young gentleman, a friend of Corey's, vol-

unteered to carry the papers to the court-house, and to submit them
to the scrutiny of Justice McCunn. The judge, who knew more
about the facts than was disclosed in the papers, was prompt to

assume the role in the drama which Gano and Corey had arranged
with him for. He granted the order, enjoining Long from inter-

fering with the property ; and then, instead of signing the draft

order requiring defendant to show cause why a receiver should not
be appointed by the court after hearing the parties, he proceeded,

not upon motion of the plaintiff in court made, but pursuant to the

previous private understanding, to so erase and interline the draft

order submitted to him, as to make it a present absolute order,
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appointing Gano receiver, and requiring him to sell the property.

Gano walked immediately to the defendant's store, accompanied by
Corey, and announced to the people on the premises that he assumed

possession. The stock of goods was worth some $12,000, but, as

his brother-in-law, the judge, had not required him to file the usual

bond with sureties for his conduct as receiver, little did Gano care

for the consequences to the defendant of what might happen to the

property. Gano was quite a youth, impecunious, irresponsible

and dependant on Judge McCunn for support. That amiable

brother-in-law had, in fact, not only maintained Gano and Gano's

family in his own house for several years, rent free and without

charge for board, but he had several times paid Gano's improvident

debts.

I repeat, that, not upon motion in court, but pursuant to an

arrangement secretly made behind the bench, Justice McCunn
assumed to make his own needy brother-in-law the receiver of the

defendant's property, and to order him to convert it as soon as pos-

sible into cash, without even the formality of exaction of the usual

bond and sureties for proper administration of the trust.

At this point, the Senate upon motion, took a recess for dinner.

AFTEENOON SESSION.

The Senate re-assembled at 4, p. m.

Mr. S. C. RoGEBS appeared and took the required oath as a stenog-

rapher.

Mr. Haeeison continued his opening speech explanatory of the

charges, as follows

:

Mr. President and Senators ; when the Senate took its recess, I

had commenced to state the facts we shall prove in support of the

second of the charges against Justice McCunn. I repeat only so

much of what I said as to give the story coherence.

That charge relates to the conduct of the accused in the case of

Corey v. Long in which an application was made to him for an order

that the defendant show cause why there should not be appointed a

receiver of the assets which had been of the then late firm of " Walter

P. Long & Co.," but which careful examination of even the specious

papers submitted to him, shows to have been then the absolute and

sole property of the defendant, in which the plaintiff did not really

claim an interest. Instead of signing the draft order submitted,

Justice McCunn, pursuant to a previous private understanding with
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the plaintiff, arbitrarily and illegally, thereupon made an absolute

order, of his own contriving, appointing his own brother-in-law to

be receiver of the property, and directing him to sell it without fur-

ther ado—that person being an amiable and weak young man, a

dentist by occupation, with no knowledge of the business he was

appointed to carry on as receiver, but being, withal, a personal friend

of the plaintiff. ISTo security was exacted from the receiver for an

accounting for the proceeds of his sales. The property was worth

about $12,000. The dentist took possession immediately, and pro-

ceeded to obey the order he had received, as cheerfully as if he were

about to j)ull a tooth. The property consisted, as I have said, of

assorted silk goods. As Gano had no personal knowledge of the

manner in which such goods should be handled, he immediately put

Corey, the plaintiff, into possession of defendant's property, and

directed him to sell it, under the name and style of deputy receiver

;

all, of course, in performance of the bargain made before the suit was

instituted. Corey did sell the goods, as fast as possible, and turned

over to Gano as his superior ofl&cer, $8,000 of the proceeds.

As soon as he could. Long got both the orders made by McCunn
vacated and set aside ; and while his proceedings for that object

were still pending the creditors of the firm instituted proceedings in

bankruptcy, to make sure, if possible, of rescuing something upon

account of their own claims. Mean time, however, Corey had been

brisk with his sales ; he had got off all the goods—^had pocketed what

he could of the proceeds, and had turned over the $8,000 I have

mentioned of the balance, to the receiver. The creditors with much
difficulty, extracted about $4,000 from the dentist, the other $4,000

they have not yet got, and probably never will get ; some of it Gano
has expended for his own entertainment ; some of it the judge

ordered to be distributed to the attorneys who, in one way or another

had to do with the proceedings.

You will find that in all such cases this worthy justice attempts

in that way to bribe lawyers to advise their clients, who have been

plundered, to submit to the situation.

One, at least, of the lawyers in this particular ease, never got his

share of the booty, though the judge had caused a special order to

be entered, allotting him $350 ; but somebody got it, and the fact,

that the order was entered, is supposed by the persons in interest,

to be a bar to the recovery of the amount by Long or his creditors.

The receiver certainly charges that payment to " somebody," as a

proper disbursement. To be sure, he confesses that he kept no books

of account as receiver, and that he never drew checks in these mat-
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ters ; that he never, in fact, had any bank account, except as agent

to collect Judge McCunn's rents, to which account he deposited all

the moneys that came into his hands, when they accumulated in

amounts large enough to be worth depositing. About this particu-

lar $350, of Long's moneys, Gano says he does not remember to

whom he paid it, or when ; that he recollects nothing about it,

except that the order is certainly signed by Justice McCunn ; that

it was presented to him (Gano) one afternoon, at his up-town (den-

tist) office, and that he paid the money to whoever handed him the

order, in bank notes.

You will find that the particular friends and relatives of the sev-

eral judges who are arraigned before you this summer, never use

checks ; they settle their transactions with bank notes only, which

tell no tales. The faces in the vignettes, upon greenbacks, are faces

of the dead only.

The next case upon which we have based a charge, is Elliott v.

Butler.

Mrs. Elliott had rented a house from Justice McCunn himself,

No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street, in the city of New York, which

she had kept as a boarding-house. She ^ub-let that house to Mrs.

Butler. Mrs. Butler paid her $800 in advance, for the first month,

$300 of the amount as rent for the furniture, which belonged to

Mrs. Elliott, and $500 as the rate of rent Mrs. Elliott had herself to

pay to Justice McCunn, her landlord. The agreement was, that

Mrs. Butler should pay monthly, in advance, the whole sum of

$800 to Mrs. Elliott, who was to settle with Justice McCunn.

Some dispute arose between the ladies, and Mrs. Elliott sued Mrs.

Butler, her complaint showing an ordinary cause of action at law

upon contract to recover money which plaintiff claimed to be due

to her by defendant.

Plaintiff's counsel, at a time when several of the judges in ITew

York were freely granting injunctions to all comers, conceived the

theory, that this was a good chance for a receivership of defendant's

property; and he submitted to Judge McCunn the plaintiff's com-

plaint and affidavit, which informed the learned justice that the

defendant had been guilty of a breach of her contract with plain-

tiff; that defendant was poor and had nothing wherewith to be

compelled to make her stipulated payments to plaintiff, except the

weekly income from the boarders in the house ; that the plaintiff'

was herself impecunious, and could not pay her own rent to the land-

lord unless she could somehow manage to appropriate the amount of

the weekly bills as they should become due by the boarders to
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defendant. The complaint concluded with a prayer that the land,

lord himself appoint a receiver forthwith of defendant's property,

for satisfaction of his own claims against the plaintiff! The judge

was struck with the frankness of his tenant, and took the warning

kindly. He immediately granted the prayer of the plaintiff, and

appointed his own brother-in-law, our old friend Dr. Gano, the den-

tist, to be receiver of all the property of the defendant, and especially

of all the sums of money dne and to become due to her from the

boarders in the house ! What do you think of that ? I will guar-

anty it to be one of the most remarkable proceedings ever heard of

in any tribunal called a court of justice.

Judge McCunn admits, as is shown by the printed evidence trans-

mitted to the Senate by the Governor, that he selected Dr. Gano,

as the receiver in this case, because the Doctor was his own agent

to collect the rents of, among others, that very property, and was

familiar with it—admits that he perfectly understood that the money

to be collected by the receiver, when appointed, was to go into his

(McCunn' s) own pocket—that it was his own case, that he was acting

as a judge in his own pecuniary interest ; admits that he selected

his own dependent brother-in-law to be receiver, that there might be

no leakages and that he might be sure to secure every penny to

himself

!

Dr. Gano walked straight to the house, accompanied by McCunn,

and took possession. Their first precaution was to post a policeman

at the front door, to prevent (as they explained to Mrs. Butler) any

of the boarders from escaping from the premises with their trunks

without payment to Dr. Gano of their dues to defendant ! And
when one of the boarders attempted to pass out with his luggage

—

having already paid his board in full to date to Mrs. Butler before

the appointment of the receiver — the policeman stopped him, and

seized the trunks— and Judge McCunn, who was appealed to by

the boarder, and was begged to interfere, actually refused to allow

him to get away his luggage uutU the man had paid again half

the amount of his board bill to the receiver.

Dr. Gano remained there several days in that attitude— practically

keeping the boarders prisoners in the house. Of course Mrs. Butler,

after spending several days in useless entreaties to McCunn, stopped

keeping a boarding-house, where all the expenses were hers and all

the gross proceeds were appropriated by the judge's brother-in-law.

But the receiver succeeded, mean time, in collecting from the board-

ers several hundred dollars— and pocketed them. He had made
the collection really as McCunn's agent, and he act^^ally turned over
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tlie money to McCunn ; the evidence shows that the judge got every

penny.

Though the amount of money involved in that case was small,

the conduct of Justice McCunn was, throughout, so shameful as to

be, of itself, cause sufficient for summary removal from the bench.

The next charge is founded upon the proceedings of Justice Mc-

Cunn, in a case entitled Srandon v. Buck et al.

The facts as we shall prove them, are these : A charter had been

got for a company, to be known as the " Hansom Cab Company of

the city of New York." There had been subscriptions to the capi-

tal stock, amounting to something over $12,000, and that amount

had been paid in. The charter had provided, that, until a certain

sum (in excess of $12,000) should be paid in by subscribers to the

capital, the company could not be organized. The amount paid up

was placed with Duncan, Sherman & Co., bankers, as an ordinary

deposit, upon the understanding that if the company should be

thereafter organized, those bankers should pay over the amount to

the treasurer of the company, to be selected ; but that, if the com-

pany should not be organized under the charter, the money should

be returned by Duncan, Sherman & Co., to the several individuals

who had paid it in.

There was a meeting of the subscribers, and it was ascertained

that the moneys paid in did not amount to a sum sufficient to entitle

the corporators to organize the company. Some quarrel ensued,

and one Brandon, who had expected to be president of the com-

pany, brought an action in the Superior Court against every body

else interested in the enterprise. The litigants expected the suit

to go on regularly to judgment, until, one bright day, they learned,

to their astonishment, that Daniel H. Hanrahan (the man who figured

as receiver in the Clark-Bininger case, and was admitted, even by

McCunn, to be a drunken, worthless fellow) had walked into the

office of Duncan, Sherman & Co., informed them that he had been

appointed by Justice McCunn, in the suit of Brandon v. Buoh

etal., to be receiver of the funds of the Hansom Cab Co., and

demanded possession of the moneys on deposit there. The bankers

sent for counsel, who, after looking at the order brought by Han-

rahan, called his attention to the facts that Duncan, Sherman & Co.

were thereby directed to pay over to him, as receiver, not a par-

ticular fund or sum, but only "the moneys mentioned in the com-

plaint;" that no copy of the complaint had been served on the

bankers, and that, until the copy complaint should be served, they

could not know to what moneys the order referred. Hanrahan was
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rather disconcerted at that view of the matter, and departed,

promising to serve the complaint.

JSTone of the parties to the suit had applied for, or had heard of,

any application for a receiver ; so far as they knew, Judge McCunn
had issued the manifesto assuming to appoint one, entirely of his own
motion ; and when they ascertained who Hanrahan was, they were

all so filled with fear that the moneys might yet get into his hands

— and so be lost to every body but that worthy himself, and

McCunn and Morgan, his pals— that they made haste to compose

their own causes for strife with each other, signed a stipulation,

and actually entered an order discontinuing the action of record.

It was on the 23d of February that Hanrahan had been appointed

receiver ; a few days afterward the consent for discontinuance was

filed, and the order of discontinuance was entered. But, notwith-

standing that last fact, the persistent judge, on the 21st of March,

not upon application by any body a party to the suit, but tempted

only by the fact that Duncan, Sherman & Co. are rich bankers,

and that he knew of a certain deposit of $12,000 in their hands,

ready to be grabbed by somebody, made another order— this time

relieving Hanrahan from further performance of his arduous duties

as receiver in Brandon v. Such et al., appointing Joseph Meeks,

then a clerk in the Superior Court, to be " deputy receiver " of the

same property of which Hanrahan had been receiver, and directing

Duncan, Sherman & Co. to pay over the balance of the $12,000

to Meeks, after first paying Hanrahan $500 for his fees, etc.,

for the services I have mentioned, actually rendered by him as

receiver.

To be sure, there was no suggestion that there was any fund in

the hands of those bankers which could properly be made the sub-

ject of a receivership; there were no papers to show that the

plaintifi" had any right to appointment of a receiver of any fund

;

.no application had been made to the court for appointment of any-

body to be receiver of any fund whatever ; there was not a whisper

(that the particular fund aimed at was insecure in the hands of

Duncan, Sherman & Co. ; and as the suit oiBrandon v. Buck et al.

had itself actually been discontinued of record, there was no case

pending in the court in which any order whatever could be made.

But those facts were mere bagatelles to Justice McCunn.
Meeks walked down to the bank, and had an interview with

Duncan, Sherman & Co., in which he told them of the new order,

and they, through their counsel, told him of the old facts ; Meeks
then begged to assure them that he had never had any thing to do
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with the matter, and that, until that moment, he had known nothing

about the facts—and he thereupon pohtely withdrew.

The facts of that case show two deliberate attempts by Justice

McCunn to rob $12,000 on deposit in the hands of Duncan, Sher-

man & Co., which could not have been properly reached by a receiv-

ership, under any circumstances, and for which those well known
bankers were abundantly responsible to the persons who had made
the deposit with" them, or to any body else who could show a good

claim to it.

The next of the charges relates to a portion of the moneys called

by the newspapers, a few years ago, the " Fenian Fund."

One John O'Leary had, sometime in 1865 I believe, come to the

banking house of August Belmont & Co., and bought bills of ex-

change upon the correspondents of that house in London, the Messrs.

Eothschild, for something over $16,000 in gold. The bills had been

sold over the counter, in the usual course of business ; and the

money had been immediately remitted to the Kothschilds, to meet

the bills when they should be presented for payment. The fact is,

that the bills never were presented, and for the reason, I believe,

that the indorsees learned that the British government had insti-

tuted some sort of proceeding in London to seize tlie funds, upon

allegation that they were intended to be used in Ireland by the

Fenians in fomenting treason.

Afterward, and in 1869, one O'Mahoney, claiming to be an officer

of the " Fenian " organization in New York, brouglit an action

against Belmont and Ernest B. Lucke (who was at that time the

" Co.," in the house of " A. Belmont & Co.,") to recover that amount

of something over $16,000 in gold, which had been paid by O'Leary

for the bills of exchange. Neither his complaint nor his affidavit

alleged that he then was or ever had been the owner of the bills of

exchange, or that the bills had been presented and protested for non-

payment, or that they had been destroyed, or that any thing what-

ever had happened to deprive them of their original character of

outstanding obligations of both the drawers and the drawees. He
did not allege any thing tending to make Belmont & Co. account-

able to any body for the payment of that money. And yet plaintiff

prayed that a receiver of that amount of the monej'S of A. Belmont

& Co. be appointed.

The motion for a receiver was made before Justice McCunn ; of

course, that excellent judge had had an understanding in advance as

to what he should do. It was midsummer. The judge's term of

office was drawing to an end. He desired to be selected for renom-

24
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ination by Tammany Hall— and the Tammany candidate was to

be chosen early in the autumn. Another and a formidable aspirant

for the place was already in the field— and had been making large

promises to the gentlemen supposed to control the nomination.

Judge McCunn is a veteran politician, and knows how to take his

measures in advance. He improved this application as an oppor-

tunity for himself, granted the prayer of the complaint, and

appointed Thomas J. Earr (a political magnate, influential in Tam-
many Hall, and greedy for plunder) to be receiver of the so-called

" fund." It mattered not that the application was ex parte, or that

the papers before the judge contained no allegations upon which he

could be justified in appointing a receiver.

Barr understood that the appointment meant plunder— and that it

was to be upon account for services in helping to secure McCunn's
nomination. He went cheerfully to the banking house, and demanded
that the moneys be forthwith paid over to him. Mr. Lucke and

his counsel explained that there were difficulties in the way, and

suggested that Mr. Barr had better withdraw both his pretensions

and himself. He departed, but only for consultation with his friend

McCuun.
The papers had been served on Mr. Lucke, but never on Mr.

Belmont. When McOunn heard from Barr what had occurred in

the interview at the bank, that astute justice, who is never at a loss

for an expedient, made au order requiring Mr. Lucke to show cause,

before him, why he should not pay over the moneys to Barr, or be
committed as for a contempt.

On the return day of that order, Mr. Lucke appeared with counsel

before Judge McCunn, and read an affidavit, setting forth the facts

about the bills of exchange, and showing that he personally had, in

1869, but just became a partner in the house, and that he had had
no share or interest in the firm at the time the bills had been drawn,
and no responsibility for any thing that might have happened to

those bills, or to the money they represented. That affidavit would
have been enough, under any ordinary circumstances, and before

any reasonable judge, to put a final stop to the proceeding against

Mr. Lucke, then and there ; but the receiver's counsel asked for an
adjournment of the motion, and for leave to read counter afiidavits

— saying that Mr. Lucke's assertion that he was a new partner in

the house, took the receiver by surprise, that they expected to prove
Mr. Lucke personally accountable for plaintiff's supposed wrongs,
etc. Of course, the judge granted the request for an adjournment,
but there was a stipulation between counsel in open court, that the
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additional affidavits to be prepared for the receiver, should be served

on Mr. Lucke before proceeding with the motion. ITotwithstanding

that fact, however, and Judge McCunn's full knowledge of it, he,

in a few days afterward, issued another fiat, ex parte and this time

peremptory ordering Mr. Lucke to pay over the moneys to Barr

forthwith out of his own pocket, or be committed to the common
jail of the county, as for a willful contempt of an outraged court

!

The pretended fnud, with interest thereon, amounted, by this

time, to $26,000 in currency. The weather was very warm, the

judge utterly arbitrary and violent in conduct, and abusive in lan-

guage from the bench ; the vision of the county jail was not reassur-

ing. Mr. Lucke is a banker, not a hero ; he was not covetous

of the fame of a martyr ; and so he made up his mind that it would

be better to trust his $26,000 to the court, than to go to prison

with a prospect of there remaining until the demand against him
should grow to still larger sums. He drew his check for the amount
named, payable to Barr's order, handed it to the judge, and was

graciously allowed to leave the court room ! The check was cashed.

The order appointing the receiver, and that extorting the check

from Mr. Lucke, have long ago been vacated and set aside as utterly

illegal, and the suit itself, in which these proceedings were had, has

been discontinued ; but Mr. Lucke has never been able to recover

more than a few hundred dollars of the amount taken from him

.

The files of the court show that, as soon as the cash had been got

in hand, the judge proceeded, according to his usual method, to

make allowances out of it for all of the attorneys in the case, friends

alike and foes, actually giving a part of the largess to Mr. Lueke's

own counsel, who returned so much of the money to Mr. Lucke

himself, and that is all the owner has ever seen of his $26,000

!

Shortly after these proceedings, the newspapers began to comment

on them, and the readers thus ascertained that there was a " Fenian

fund " in New York, among them, some who had " Fenian bonds "

which they were anxious to have paid. Judge McCunn met, in a

street car, an acquaintance of his (a lawyer), and had a conversation

with regard to an action to be instituted upon some of these bonds

to recover some of the " fund." The judge ended the talk by advis-

ing the lawyer to bring such a suit in the Superior Court, and to

move before him for the appointment of a receiver of all the

" Fenian funds," who should be directed to proceed to apply the

moneys, as fast as collected, in payment of the bonds sued on. The

lawyer wasprompt to perceive that the suggestion meant plunder,

and fancied he saw that he could get some of it into his own pocket.
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He had an Irish client who owned a few of the bonds, and arranged

with . him for an action, which was instituted ; the summons and

complaint naming, as one of the defendants, the receiver who had

been appointed in the Belmont case, and who still had in hand some

of the booty got from Mr. Lucke.

Besides the amount of that balance there was then $18,000, said to

be "Fenian" moneys, in the hands of the chamberlain of the city

of New York, deposited there by an order of the Supreme Court,

made in an action then still pending in that tribunal. Two persons

had laid claim to that sum, which was theretofore in the possession of

a third party, who had been separately sued in the Supreme Court

by both claimants. The defendant had come into that court, show-

ing that he was merely custodian of the moneys, a stakeholder, ready

and willing to pay it over to either of the claimants who could

prove his title, and praying that the two plaintiffs be interpleaded.

The court so ordered, and required the money to be paid over to the

chamberlain, to await the event of the action between the conflicting

claimants.

The new suit, instituted at McCunn's suggestion, as I have said,

was Bailey v. O'MaJwney et al. The judge granted the prayer for

a receiver therein, pursuant to arrangement made in the street car

—

appointing his political friend Barr to be receiver of the $18,000

also, and ordering the chamberlain to pay it over to him. The
chamberlain very well understood that he had no power to pay over,

upon an order of a justice of the Superior Court, moneys deposited

with him by the Supreme Court for a special purpose. But Barr

was the chamberlain's brother-in-law, it was all among friends, you
know, and the $18,000 got into Barr's hands, where it swelled his

account of " Fenian funds " to $44,000. McCunn thereupon went to

work making allowances to counsel again, but this time showing dis-

criminati(m in favor of his special, particular friends only. Some
who thought they ought to liave come in for a share didn't get any,

among them, the lawyer who had had tlie talk in the street car, and
had then fired the first gun in the brilliant campaign which

i-esulted in the capture of the $18,000. McCunn did not need his

assistance any longer ; could afford to dispense with his services

;

indeed, wanted for better use so much of the money as Barr would
allow him to dispose of.

The $18,000 went the way of what had been taken from_Mr.
Lucke—so far as the original claimants for it were concerned. They
could never get trace of it again.

"When there is plunder within easy reach. Justice McCunn acts
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upon a rule like that to be found in rustic almanacs wliich predict
changes of the Weather. " About this time " he " looks out for
brothers-in-law"— and for himself !

And so it happened here. He and James F. Morgan arranged a
nice little plan of their own. An item appeared in the JSTew York
Sun newspaper stating that, at a certain hour on a day mentioned,
Justice McCunn would pay off the " Fenian Bonds " at the chambers
of the Superior Court—having the funds in hand for the purpose.

When that time came, there was a large assemblage of Irish laborers

and servant girls in the chambers of the court, with their bonds in

their hands, ready to receive their pro rata shares. An officer of

the court was there, who answered inquiries on the subject, by say-

ing that his Honor had just stepped out, but that the bondholders

had better see the judge's brother-in-law, Mr. Morgan. With that,

the speaker distributed to the crowd cards printed with the legend

of " Morgan & Hanrahan, successors to John H. McCunn," etc., and
assured his hearers that those gentlemen could arrange their matters

for them. Thereupon, a number of the servant girls and laborers

went to the address indicated on the card, and handed their bonds

to Morgan for " collection."

Morgan brought suit against somebody on those bonds and he
and McCunn certainly got something handsome from Barr on them

;

we do not expect McCunn to be able to show that they divided with

the servant girls and navvies !

The case which furnished the material for the sixth charge is

Hides V. Bishop.

The papers there disclose this as what the plaintiff called his case

against the defendant: that the plaintiff was the owner of $1,500

worth of the capital stock of an incorporated company, and that the

defendant had defrauded that company of $35,000 ; the plaintiff's

complaint did not state how large a proportion of the capital stock

that $1,500 was, but his allegation was merely that, by reason of

his own ownership of that amount of stock, and of the defendants'

alleged fraud upon the company, he, the plaintiff, had sustained

damages. He thereupon moved before Justice McCunn for an

order that the defendant be arrested and held to bail, and McCunn
forthwith made an order to the sheriff of the city and county of

New York, to arrest the defendant and to hold him in bail in the

sum of $40,000. Even if the plaintiff could, upon the allegations he

made, have sustained an action in his own name against the defendant

at all, it is not likely that he could have recovered more than $1,500,

which was the par value of the plaintift's stock in the company. A
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defendant is never held to bail in a civil action in a sum in excess

of the amount of the plaintifPs demand against him. But here,

you observe, Bishop was required to find bail in $40,000 at the suit

of a plaintiff whose demand against him was, if any thing at all, not

more than $1,500.

Counsel for defendant, very naturally, supposed that the judge

had, by mere inadvertence and oversight, fixed the bail at a sum so

oppressive to his client.

He promptly moved that the order of arrest be vacated, or that,

at the least, the amount of bail be reduced.

He was astonished to find that the righteous judge had an interest

in the pursuit of his victim, not disclosed by the papers in the ease.

The application should have been granted, of course. It was

denied— the judge positively refusing to reduce the bail— and so

Bishop, who was poor and without friends, lay in the common jaU,

while justice marched with tardy steps toward final judgment in a

court where a case is many months on the calendar before it can be

reached for trial.

"With charge No. 7, we come to the proceedings in Van JVess v.

Leeds et al.

There, there was a sum of money in the hands of Leeds & Minor,

well known auctioneers in New York, the proceeds of a sale

of property by that firm. There were several persons who
made conflicting claims to the amount. It was agreed between

them that there should be instituted an amicable suit to procure a

judicial decision as to who was entitled to it. By general consent,

the money was to remain, mean time and until judgment, in the

hands of the auctioneers, who were pecuniarily responsible, and who
had agreed to pay seven per cent interest on the amount, as long as

it should be left with them.

"Van Ness, one of the claimants, brought suit in the Superior

Court against every body in interest—his complaint praying judicial

construction of the rights of the several parties. "When the answers

were all in, it was consented that the issues be referred to Thomas
H. Edsall, Esq., a reputable lawyer, as sole referee to hear and
determine; and an order to that effect was entered, upon the

consent. The parties all made formal appearance before the

referee, and there were several hearings. The plaintiff proved

his case and rested. One of the defendants perceived that the

plaintiff's case was made out, and that his own chances were poor.

Just then, he fell in with one of Judge McCunn's intimates, to

whom he expressed his regret that he had gone to trial of his rights
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instead of having taken what he thought he might have got upon a

compromise of his claim. The judge's friend was amiable, and
assured the fellow that he would make it all right for him— would
get Justice McCunn to block the proceedings, and thus force the

plaintiff to a compromise.

Upon motion thereupon made before McCunn, he gi-anted an

order that the plaintiff show cause why the order of reference to

Mr. Edsall should not be vacated and set aside, and why the case

should not be restored to the calendar, to be tried at a regular term

of the court, in due course— upon the specific ground and allegation

that the case was not one which, under the statute, could be referred

without consent of all parties, and that there had been no such

consent.

Plaintiff did not suspect that the judge had been " seen." He
supposed the proceedings to be merely an ill-advised attempt of the

moving party to extort a settlement with him. Upon the return-day

of the order, plaintiff appeared before the learned justice and admit-

ted that the case was one which could not be referred without

consent of parties. He conceded that, iinless the consent for refer-

ence to Edsall was valid and operative, the case would have to be

restored to the calendar to be tried before the court. He contented

himself with reading the order of reference and the stipulation of

the parties on which the order had been entered— supposing that,

in so plain a case, the motion would be denied, of course. The
learned judge had his doubts— he took the papers and would con-

sult the authorities. A few days afterward, Yan Ness found upon

the files of the court, an order that the order of reference to Edsall

be vacated and set aside ; but that the issues in the action be referred

to "William M. Tweed, Jr., as sole referee, to hear and determine,

while our old friend, Thomas J. Barr, was appointed receiver of the

funds, pending judgment by the new referee with the ominous

name

!

Tweed had not been asked for by any of the parties. There was

no pretense that there was any danger to the funds while in the

hands of " Leeds & Miner." No receiver had been suggested by

any body

!

Barr, as receiver, got possession of the money, and held on to it

for many months. The plaintiff felt sure of his case ; was willing

to try it before any body, and he thought that his shortest way to

even a share of his money, was to press the action to trial, instead

of encountering any more of MeOunn's orders, by attempting to

get rid of that one. He, therefore, proceeded before young Tweed,
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as referee, who kept the case going, and kept on charging $10 a day,

for his valuable services as referee, until he got tired of hearing or

adjourning it, and then made a report on which there was judgment

for the plaintiff.

Van Ness, finally, got some of his money in the judgment. But

as the immediate result to him of McCunn's arbitrary and illegal

order, he had to pay two referee's bills instead of one ;
was mulcted

in a large sum for commissions to Barr, as receiver ; he lost all the

interest he would otherwise have got from " Leeds & Miner," dur-

ing the time Barr had the money ; and, after all that, he had an

expensive law suit with a fellow who turned up as the receiver's

counsel, claimed from Van Ness seven or eight hundred dollars for

services to Barr in robbing him, and who finally got nothing.

In that case, McCunn seems to have entirely renounced the friend

who made the motion itself, which proved such a boomerang. His

final object seems to have been partly to torment Van Ness, for

whom he cherished a personal dislike
;
partly to pay Barr and Tweed

a little more (by allowing them to plunder this plaintifl") upon ac-

count of the renomination they were to secure for him— which they

afterward did secure for him, and which resulted in his re-election

by the mob in the city of New York, and necessitated these proceed-

ings for his removal, by all the people of the State, from the bench

where he disgraces them.

That, Senators, is the substance of the charges, on which you are

asked to remove John H. McCunn from his place as a justice of

the Superior Court of the city of New York, for mal and corrupt

conduct in otfice. And, that those of you who are practising law-

yers and who sometimes see, in the books of current reports of

cases in the Superior Court, readable opinions delivered by this man,

may not be misled into supposing him to be a capable writer upon

questions of law, we shall prove, finally, the fact that every opinion

published by him during the last six years has been written for him

by somebody else ! In a habeas corpus proceeding, indeed, to

which we shall call your attention, there were not only two opinions

of difi'erent results, but they were both written for the learned

judge, and both by the same man ! The first opinion decided that

the relator could not be held and should be discharged. The judge

read it privately to relator's counsel ; told him he had sat up nearly

all night writing it, and promised to file it and to enter the order

immediately. In a day or two, counsel found that an order had

been made sustaining the return made to the writ and remanding

the prisoner ! He called on the judge for an explanation ; McGunn
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had the frankness to tell him that he still thought the prisoner should

have been discharged, on the facts and the law of the case, but that

some of his (McGunn's) friends had suggested that if that fellow was

released he might interfere with some political combinations which
were of personal interest to the judge himself, and that he had,

therefore, decided to hold the prisoner, and had filed an opinion

which mustered reasons for doing so !

"When you shall have heard the witnesses we shall produce, you

will, I am sure, be of the opinion that their testimony bears me out

in the statements I have made. That testimony has nearly all been

once taken before the Assembly Committee on the judiciary, and it

appears in the printed report by that committee, which I see lying

on your desks. Upon it, that committee unanimously found that

Justice McOunn has been guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in

office, and submitted to the Assembly for adoption by it, a preamble

and resolutions calling upon the Governor to recommend his removal

by the Senate ; the Assembly adopted those resolutions by a unan-

imous vote ; and the Governor promptly sent you his recommenda-

tion. Judge McOunn is as effectually condemned by those proceed-

ings of the Assembly, as he could possibly have been by presentation

of articles of impeachment against him. All that articles of impeach-

ment could have charged, would have been " mal and corrupt con-

duct in office," which is precisely what is charged here, with a

nnanimity unparalleled in proceedings by legislative bodies. The

manifest object of the Assembly, in pursuing this course, was to

attain the more speedily in a case so flagrant, and where the facts

are so plain, the result which would b.e the immediate effect of con-

viction by the court of impeachment— a summary removal from

office, of this man, who ought not to be upon the bench for a single

day longer.

Wc adjure you, then. Senators, to proceed immediately with the

investigation into the truth and sufficiency of the charges, and to

deliver us forthwith from the opprobrium of the presence of John

H. McOunn in the Superior Court of the city of New York, where

he has had the audacity and shamelessness to show himself, sitting

upon the bench— not only since these charges came to the knowledge

of the committee on the judiciary, but even since the vote taken on

them by the Assembly itself— yes, since he was formally arraigned

here, and since the day was actually set by you, for commencing

these proceedings for his removal from office— to the great scandal

and shame of the city of New York— destroying the usefulness of

that court, and bringing all the machinery of government in this

25
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State for the administration of justice, into contempt throughout

the civilized world.

I shall be greatly surprised and disappointed, if your final vote,

Senators, upon these charges shall be less expressive of reprobation

of the things we now complain of, against John H. McCunn, than

was the unanimous vote of the members of the other branch of the

legislature.

Mr. Benedict—• I arise to make a motion that when the Senate

adjourns this evening, at the end of this session, it adjourn to meet

on Tuesday morning next. I make this motion because, in the first

place, one of the gentlemen who are counsel for the defense has

informed the Senate this morning that he desired to have the case

adjourned to that time, that it was important that he should attend

the funeral of his brother-in-law, and be present in the afiiiction of

his sister at Medina, which is in Niagara county. In the next place,

upon two occasions it has been asked that a postponement be had

for the presence of Judge Selden. I had been informed incidentally

yesterday, that Judge Selden would not, or could not be here at all.

But I am now informed he is certain to be here on Tuesday next.

Now while, so far as I am concerned, I am quite satisfied with the

gentlemen who have charge of this case on the defense, and their

ability to manage it, still I think, really, when they have such a

senior and leading counsel in the case as Judge Selden, whom they

greatly desire to have present, that there is some reason why the case

should be put over to that time, and the request of the gentleman to

attend the funeral of his kinsman is a reason why he should be

excused, and that that may have an important influence upon other

gentlemen who are conducting the cause. They are comparatively

young men I may say, to a certain extent, much younger than Judge

Selden, and for these reasons I move when this Senate adjourn to-

night (I think it has been understood by some of the senators that

any way we should adjourn to-morrow, in the middle of the day),

that we might, without inconvenience to ourselves, and would pro-

mote the cause of justice if we adjourn over this evening until

Tuesday morning next. I do this now, because it might influence

the, gentlemen in putting in their testimony.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : Before a vote is taken on this

question I would like to inquire of the counsel for the prosecution

whether they have witnesses here ready to proceed with now ?

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : "We proposed as soon as Mr. Har-

rison completed his opening to send to the Clerk the names of the

witnesses who have been subpoenaed by the sergeant-at-arms, that
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the Senate might inform itself who of those witnesses are here, and
might take some action looking to the enforcement of the attendance

of witnesses. Some are not here, and some have said they will not

come, and unless the witnesses are all here, it is impossible that the

case can be presented in that orderly manner which, it seems to me,

will best promote the consideration of the case suitably by the

Senate. Again, of the witnesses who have been subpoenaed, some

are here, and have been here for two days ; some are very desirous

of returning to the city of New York, and all are very anxious to

know what provision is to be made by the Senate for their over

expenses in coming here, and for the time consumed while detained.

It has seemed to me suitable that we bring to the consideration

of the Senate these questions for the action of the Senate in

the premises.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. Parsons, will you not be able to go on with

your testimony this afternoon ?

Mr. Paesons— We can go on, but not in the order the case really

requires. I think, however, that a good part of the time that still

remains may be occupied in producing documentary evidence to be

put in charge of the Senate, so as to dispense with the presence of

the clerk of the Superior Court.

The PBEsmENT— The Clerk will call the names of the witnesses

who have been subpoenaed.

The Clerk here called the names of the witnesses, whereupon the

following persons answered : James F. Morgan, James M. Gano,

Joel O. Stephens, Eoeellus Gurnsey, Roger A. Pryor, L. Gustavus

Erhardt, Abram Bininger.

The Pebsident— I would inquire of Colonel Davis whether it is

necessary for him to go to-day; whether, if we are to have a morn-

ing session to-morrow, it would be in time for him to go to his

brother-in-law's funeral ?

Mr. Davis— I would not be in time, but if the Senate decided it

was important to go on, I should leave it to my associates. It

requires about thirteen hours' ride to reach Medina.

The Peesident— There are a number of witnesses present, and

it is important to take all the testimony we can before adjourning.

Mr. D. P. Wood— The reason of my making my inquiry of the

counsel for the prosecution, was for the purpose of ascertaining from

them whether they would be able to go on with the case until to-

morrow at two o'clock, with the view of offering as an amendment

to the motion of the senator from the fifth (Mr. Benedict), that when

we adjourn to-morrow, at 2 o'clock, we adjourn over until Tues-
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day. It is to save the time, if counsel for the prosecution are

prepared to go on with the testimony. I suppose the counsel upon

the other side (Mr. Davis) would be able to attend his brother-in-

law's funeral, and the taking of the testimony, if proceeded with,

as much of it would be documentary, and, in any event, would be

only one session of testimony, which, I suppose, his associates would

attend the taking of. If it was desirable to retain the right to cross-

examine witnesses after his return, that right would be granted, and

the time of the Senate saved between now and to-morrow at two

o'clock. The counsel started an inquiry here which is of importance,

and upon which I will offer a resolution, before we adjourn, and

that is in relation to the payment of the expenses of this proceed-

ing ; it is a question that has been before started in various ways.

The clerks have frequently called upon me to ascertain whether any

provision was made during the session for the expenses of this court.

I am sorry to say there was none. It was entirely an oversight on

the part of the Legislature, bujt I will offer a resolution inviting the

Comptroller to make provision for the payment of the expenses of

this proceeding and the other proceedings before the Senate, and he,

undoubtedly, will make those provisions; he, undoubtedly, can

procure the advance of money, to be taken care of by the next

Legislature. It is a thing that has been done heretofore in other

matters, and of course these expenses must be paid in some way,

and there can be no question about the justification of the Comp-
troller in making such temporary provision, particularly under the

resolution of the Senate requesting him so to do.

JMr. Parsons— The testimony of many of the witnesses would

be quite unintelligible, unless produced in the regular order. The
first witness to be examined in support of the first charge, is Abra-

ham B. Clark, who has been regularly suspoenaed, but who has

asserted, under the advice of counsel, that he did not feel called

upon to obey the subpcena of the Senate. The next witness is

Melville 13. Clark, who was here this morning, but whom we have

missed since noon to-day. If the Senate is to adjourn at 2 o'clock

to-morrow, I doubt if any thing is gained to the convenience of the

Senate, if we ask them to remain here until 2 o'clock to-morrow,

as against adjourning at the close of this evening's session.

Mr. BowEN— Mr. President : I would like to know what com-

pensation witnesses are entitled to.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President: I suppose, in the absence of

any special provisions, it would be the ordinary fees of witnesses in

a court of record. They have been paid in tlie Smith case, three
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dollars a day, arid ten cents mileage. I do not know of any author-

ity to pay it, unless it was by some special provision. I think spe-

cial provision was made in that case, for the expenses of that trial.

Most of it took place during the session of the Legislature ; and I

think it will be, although I have not consulted the books, ascertained

that special provisions were made for the payment of that sum. It

is not an unreasonable sum, but it is a proper sum ; and if the Sen-

ate, by resolution, request the Comptroller to pay that amount, he
would do it, and the next legislature would make whatever provision

the Senate indicated they wished to have made to meet the action

of the Comptroller, under the request of the Senate.

The Peesident— The question is upon the motion of the senator

from the fifth (Mr. Benedict).

Mr. D. P. Wood—My attention was drawn from the last remarks
of the counsel who has just taken his seat. I would ask whether he
has documentary evidence which will take up the time ?

Mr. Paesons— I think we can, in what remains of this afternoon,

examine the clerk of the Superior Court in regard to the papers,

and then they can be put into the case as is deemed necessary.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— I withdraw the motion.

Mr. Madden— Mr. President : I move we go into executive ses-

sion at half-past six o'clock, for the purpose of receiving communi-
cation from His Excellency the Governor ; I will modify it by
saying a quarter to 7 o'clock.

The Peesident— The first question is in regard to the resolution

of the gentleman from the fifth Mr. Benedict).

Mr. Palmee— I have to make my usual amendment, and I move
to make it half-past 4 o'clock in the afternoon.

The amendment being offered was withdrawn, and the motion of

the senator from the fifth (Mr. Benedict) was carried.

The Peesident— What is the pleasure of the Senate in regard

to the executive session of the Senate at a quarter to 7 o'clock ?

The motion of the senator from the tenth (Mr. Madden) was then

carried.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : That we may not overlook it,

as it is a matter of some importance, I move that the Comptroller

of the State be requested to make the necessary provision to pay

the expenses of the proceedings in the trial of the various judges,

now pending before the Senate. Motion carried.

Mr. Paesons— We now ask the Senate as to what action shall be

taken in respect to compelling the attendance of witnesses, who
apparently have intentionally abstained from obeying the subpcBna
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of the Senate, and I call particular attention to the case ofAbraham
B. Clark, who, I understand, was regularly subpcsnaed, and who is

asserted to have stated that under the advice of counsel he would

not come here. It is important that the Senate should take appro-

priate action in regard to the matter now, because when we meet

here on Tuesday morning, if he or other witnesses are not in attend-

ance of course it is impossible that the case proceed.

The Pkesident— The sergeant-at-arms will make return in

regard to the service of subpoenas.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President: I move Mr. Clark show cause

why he has not appeared before this body.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : I suggest to the counsel upon the

other side, inasmuch as Judge Selden will undoubtedly be here

Tuesday, and as we shall desire to cross-examine the clerk of the

Superior Court, as to some matters, certainly, and we have been in

some little consultation among ourselves as to how far that exami-

nation should go, whether the prosecution will consent with the

concurrence of the Senate to wait until Tuesday, and then put in

the evidence in the order in which it will occur. I very much doubt

whether it will facilitate tnatters much by simply proving those are

the records of the court.

Mr. Paesons— The clerk of the court has been here two, and

possibly three days. It is a matter which concerns his convenience

largely as well as the convenience of his court. We can scarcely assent,

and think whatever is required of him should be taken advantage

of now, and save him from the very great inconvenience of coming

back here again from New York and being detained here, and we
shall also ask to examine Joel O. Stevens, the under-sheriff of New
York.

Mr. MoAK—Mr. Boese has an entirely competent clerk, I under-

stand.

Mr. Benedict—Mr. President : It seems to me that the experience

of every lawyer will suggest that we shall have removed the possible

obstacle to proceeding next week if we give in the testimony of

Boese, the clerk, in regard to the documents. If the documents are

put in now we can go right along next week. If Mr. Boese is sick

or somebody else is out for an hour, we cannot put in the papers,

and I am free to say that I cannot see any reason why all these

documents should not bo consented to.

Mr. Davis—Mr. President : I wish the senators might take into

considei'ation that it is now 5 o'clock and after, and Judge Selden

will be with us on Tuesday, and we will be very happy to commence
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the case, and with the day I shall devote to it in New York, I

think the most of this might be arranged. I very much dislike to

open this case now in Judge Selden's absence. We very much
wish this ishort time might be bridged over. I think it is due to

Judge McCunn, and I believe my brothers upon the other side

will hardly care to press us into the trial of the case, under the

circumstances.

Mr. Paesons—^We must oppose that. It is proper to state that

we have no confidence in our ability to agree upon testimony. "We

made an efibrt in that direction last night, and we did not succeed

very well. We think it is much better that the testimony of Mr.

Boese should be taken now, and these documents authenticated, and

we will receive their authentication until Judge Selden's presence

here Tuesday morning.

The Pkesident—Regarding the first suggestion made by the

counsel for the prosecution in regard to the presence of witnesses

who did not respond to the call, I will say there is no return made
here of the services of subpoena upon Mr. Clark. The sergeant-at-

arms is not present ; he has gone home.

Mr. Gkaham—The sergeant-at-arms has gone home, but his

deputy is here, however.

The Fkesident—The deputy did not make the service, and the

sergeant-at-arms is not here. Of course, we cannot make any order in

regard to compelling the attendance of Mr. Clark on account of that.

Mr. Paesons—May I inquire of the President whether we are

considered as being charged with any responsibility, in regard to the

attendance of witnesses ? We have not so regarded it.

The Peesident—I do not know that you are ; at the same time

you have the general charge of the attendance of witnesses on behalf

of the prosecution. I suppose the proper course now would be to

have a new subpoena served upon Mr. Clark to attend on the day

to which we adjourn.

Mr. Palmee—^What is the question before the Senate ?

The Peesident—We are now considering what is to be done in

regard to the non-attendance of witnesses who have been subpoenaed,

and where there is no return by the sergeant-at-arms.

Mr. Palmee—I propose that without delay we enforce the at-

tendance of witnesses.

The Peesident—Our officer has gone away and we cannot have

the return.

Mr. Madden—Mr. President : Tou had better put in some other

officer who will attend to his business.
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Mr. J. Wood—Mr. President : I move that upon the filing of

due proof of service of subpoenas upon witnesses and their non-

attendance, that an attachment issue against them, returnable on

Tuesday morning, at 10 o'clock. The attachment is not to issue

unless there is proof of service. The names of the witnesses have

been called and they do not answer.

Mr. Madden—I wish to ask the Chair to appoint some officer who
understands his duty, and will do it intelligently and properly. The

sergeant-at-arms has not been sick. The idea that the respondent

and Senate shoidd be detained, owing to the neglect and ignorance,

or some other cause, of the sergeant-at-arms ! If he does not under-

stand his duty, does his assistant ? If he does, I hope he will attend

to it. I understand there are some witnesses attending here. Is

there any objection to hearing them, though the sergeant-at-arms

has not made his returns? Why should the prosecution object,

even if the return is not here ?

Mr. J. Wood—Mr. President : I move the following resolution

:

ResoT/oed, That, on filing due proof of the service of a sub-

poena issued in this proceeding on the witnesses whose names have

been called by the Clerk, and who did not respond, and have not

attended in response to the mandate of said subposna, an order be

entered directing the issuing of an attachment against said witnesses,

respectively, for contempt of the process of the Senate ; and that an

attachment be forthwith issued against said witnesses in the usual

form of attachments against defaulting witnesses in courts of record

in this State, and as provided in the Revised Statutes, which attach-

ments shall be returnable on Tuesday morning next at 10 a. m.

Motion carried.

Thomas Boesb, a witness called on behalf of the people, being

duly sworn, testified as follows

:

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. Mr. Boese, do you hold any official position, and, if so, state

what it is, and how long you have occupied that position ? A. I am
clerk of the Superior Court of the city of New York ; I have occu-

pied it since January 1st, 1872.

Q. Have you been subpoenaed to produce for this investigation or

proceeding certain records from the files of the clerk's office of that

court ? A. I have.

Q. Produce such papers as in obedience to that subpoena you

have brought here ? (Witness produced same.)

Q. Have you any list or statement of the papers which you have

produced ? A. I have.
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Q. Will you produce that, if you please? ("Witness produced

same.)

Q. Is that an accurate list of such papers, as in obedience to the

subpoena, you have produced ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Parsons — We ask that, for convenience, that be marked by
the clerk.

The same was here marked " Exhibit A," and considered read in

evidence, and read as follows

:

Papers required before the Honorable Senate of the State of

!Rew York in the matter of John H. McCunn, Justice Supe-

rior Court, Oitt op ITew York, June 19, 1872.

Clark v. Bininger.

(Papers In italics are those particularly named in requisition.)

ISTo. 1. Petition of Bininger. Order Judge HcCunn, November

19, 1869. Order Judge McOunn a/ppointing Hanrahan receiver.

Order Judge Fithian. Eeceivers' bonds.

No. 2. Petition of Beecher. Complaint. Affidavit C. W.
Bangs. Order Judge Jones, March 30, 1870. Order Judge Jones,

March 31, 1870. Affidavit W. B. Nassau. Affidavit C. W. Bangs.

Order Judge Jones, April 2, 1870. Affidavit of Robert Smith.

No. 3. Order Judge McGunn modifying order ofMarch 30, 1870.

No. 4. Order Judge McCunn taxing sheriff ''sfees.

No. 5. Injunction order Judge McCunn, January 19, 1870.

Nos. 6 and 7. Have not heen filed in this court at any time.

(Papers in same suit not particularly designated.)

No. 8. Petition of Bininger, April 7, 1870. Affidavit Chas.

Thies, April 16, 1870. Injunction order Judge McCunn, Novem-

ber 19, 1809. Order Judge Fithian, November 27,1869. Order

Judge Jones, March 30, 1869. Affidavit G. N. Titus. Affidavit

L. H. Dunkin. Affidavit W. B. Gifford. Affidavit John Jacques.

Affidavit L. BE. Dunkin.

No. 9. Affidavit G. N. Titus. Order Judge Monell, April 27,

1870. Order Judge Monell, April 30, 1870. Supplemental com-

plaint. Letter from G. N. Titus to 0. W. Bangs, May 10, 1870.

Notice of appeal. May 12, 1870. Notice of appeal. May, 16, 1870.

Notice of appearance. May 11, 1870. Order Judge Blatchford, U.

S. Court, February 23, 1870.

No. 10. Affidavit of Henry Howard, April 22, 1870. Order Judge

Monell, April 20, 1870. Petition Bininger, April 20, 1870. Affi-

davit A. B. Clark, April 18, 1870. Letter from Conway, Gordon

26
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& Garnett, to T. L. Brown, April 6, 18T0. Letter from W. A. Eit-

ter to T. L. Brown, April 7, 1870. Telegram from C. G. & G. to

T. L. Brown, April 18, 1870. Letter from same to same, April 18,

1870. Letter from Better to Brown, April 18, 1870.

No. 11. Affidavit of Hanrahan, March 31, 1870. Order Judge

Jones, March 30, 1870. Petition Bininger, March 29, 1870. Order

Judge McOunn, November 19, 1870. Order Judge McCunn,

November 19, 1870. Order Judge Fithian, November 27, 1869.

Keceivers' Bonds.

No. 12. Order Judge Fithian, November 22, 1869, and affidavit

of Bininger. Order Judge McCunn, November 19, 1869. Order

Judge McCunn, November 19, 1869. Summons and complaint,

November 19, 1869. Agreement June 1, 1869.

No. 13. Petition of creditors, March 18, 1870.

No. 14. Order Judge McCunn, March 30, 1870.

No. 15. Petition Hardy, Blake & Co.

No. 16. Order Judge Jones, April 2, 1870.

No. 17. Order Judge Monell, May, 1870.

No. 18. Order Judge McCunn, May 31, 1870.

No. 19. Judge Monell, April 9, 1870.

No. 20. Affidavit John Jaques, April 27, 1870.

No. 21. Petition of H. Tiffany and order of Judge Monell, April

5, 1870.

No. 22. Order Judge Fithian, November 27, 1869.

No. 23. Affidavit C. W. Bangs, May 20, 1870.

No. 24. Affidavit J. S. Beecher, January 26, 1870.

No. 25. Letter of Planrahan to Compton, November 23, 1869.

No. 26. Order Judge Jones, March 30, 1872.

No. 27. Affidavit of Bininger, and order Judge Jones, December

8, 1869.

No. 28. Affidavit of Bininger, December 9, 1869.

No. 29. Notice of appeal. May 20, 1870.

No. 30. Affidavit of merits, April 14, 1870.

No. 31. Keceiver's bond, April 30, 1870.

No. 32. Petition and order Judge Monell, April 19, 1870.

No. 33. Notice of appeal, May 14, 1870.

No. 34. Order Judge Fithian, November 27, 1869.

No. 35. Order Judge McCunn, January 11, 1870.

No. 36. Affidavit G. N. Titus, May 25^ 1870.

No. 37. Notice of appeal, May 18, 1870.

No. 38. Petition of creditors, April 9, 1870.

No. 39. Affidavit for injunction, December 15, 1869.
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'So. 40. Affidavit of Hanrahan, January 11, 1870.

No. 41. Order Judge Monell, June 8, 1870.

No. 42. Order Judge Jones, April 12, 1870.

No. 43. Order Judge Monell, May 24, 1870.

No. 44. Order Judge Monell, May 13, 1870, and summons and

complaint.

No. 45. Two notices of appeal. May 24, 1870.

No. 46. Order Judge Fitbian, November 27, 1870.

No. 47. Order Judge Spencer, February 24, 1870. Proceedings

IJ. S. Court.

No. 48. Order Judge Barbour, July 11, 1870.

No. 49. Order Judge Monell, April 25, 1870.

No. 50. Bond, November 19, 1869.

No. 51. Bond, November 9, 1869.

No. 52. Order Judge Monell, April 30, 1870.

No. 53. Order Judge Monell, May 24, 1870.

No. 54. Order Judge Jones, April 5, 1870.

No. 55. Answer, June 13, 1870.

No. 56. Judgment roll.

No. 57. Affidavit Morgan, April 18, 1870, and Hanrahan, March

30, 1870. Order Judge McGunn, March 30, 1870. Affidavit Han-

rahan, April 18, 1870.

No. 58. Affidavit Hanrahan, June 16, 1870. Order Judge

McCunn, May 31, 1870. Affidavits of J. Purroy and others.

No. 59. Memoranda.

CoEET V. Long.

No. 1. General Term order, Maroh, 1870.

No. 2. Order Judge MoOuTvn, January 1870.

No. 3. Summons and complaint. Affidavits A. IF. Corey, Jacob

Beck. Agreement, undertaking of Corey and Morgan, not filed.

No. 4. Order Judge McCunn, January 15, 1870. Order Judge

McCunn, January 15, 1870. Summons and complaint, January

15, 1870. Affidavit A. B. Corey and Jacob Beck, January 15,

1870. Agreement.

Nos. 5 and 6. Order Judge Freedman, January 7, 1870, not on

file. Order Judge- McCunn, January 17, 1870, not on file.

No. 7. Affidavit W. P. Long, January 20, 1870, and four

letters.

No. 8. Affidavits ofA.B. Corey, James S. Blake, January 21,

1870. A. Meller, January 6, 1870. C. B. Corry, January 21,

1870. Jacob Beck, Janua/ry 21, 1870.
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'No. 9. Order Judge Barliour, Jcmuary 28, 18T0.

~Eo. 10. Opinion not filed.

No. 11. Notice of appeal, February 23, 1870.

ISTo. 12. Order of Judge Jiarhour, January 29, 1870.

No. 13. Affidavits ofA. B. Corey and G. L. Simonson, January

29, 1870. W. p. Long, January 26, 1870, not on file. Order of
Judge Barbour, January 31, 1870. Affidavit of W. P. Long,

January 31, 1870.

No. 14. Points on appeal.

No. 15. Notice of appeal, February 23, 1870.

Nos. 16 and 17. Appellants and respondents, points not filed.

PAPERS EEQUIEED IN 8AJVIE NOT PAETICULAELY DESIGNATED.

No. 18. Affidavit of C. B. Corey, March 7, 1870. Order June 8,

1870, Judge Jones. Affidavit of E. Garretson, March 9, 1870.

Examination of C. B. Corey, March 9, 1870.

No. 19. Deposition of W. P. Long, Nov. 28, 1868.

No. 20. Order of Judge MeCunn, May 9, 1870.

No. 21. Keceiver's bond, Jan. 31, 1870.

No. 22. Order of Judge Barbour, March 1, 1870.

No. 23. Order of Judge Freedman, July 28, 1871.

No. 24. Order of Judge McCunn, May 24, 1871. Affidavit of

Morgan, May 25, 1871.

No. 25. Petition of McFarlane, May 25, 1870.

No. 26. Affidavit of merits, February 7, 1870.

No. 27. Exceptions.

No. 28. Order of Judge Barbour, January 22, 1870.

No. 29. Order of Judge McCunn, May, 1870.

No. 30. Affidavit of W. P. Long, May 25, 1870. Complaint, Jan.

15, 1870. Answer, Feb. 7, 1870.

No. 31. Order of Judge Freedman, July 26, 1870. Affidavit of

Morgan, July 26, 1870. Order of Judge Freedman, July 19,

1871.

No. 82. Affidavit of A. Monell, July 17, 1871. Order of Judge
Freedman, July 17, 1871.

No. 33. Judge Barbour, January 27, 1870. Order.

No. 34. Affidavit and order of Judge Freedman, May 12, 1871.

No. 35. Petition of James M. Gano, Feb. 4, 1870.

No. 36. Order of Judge Freedman, July 19, 1871.

No. 37. Report of referee, June 10, 1872, and certified copies of

orders of Judges Barbour and McCunn.
No. 38. Eeport of referee. May, 1871.
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O'Mahony v. Belmont.

No. 1. Affidmit of E.J. Page. Order Judge MoCutm, June
30, 1869.

No. 2. Summons and complaint, June 29, 1869.

No. 3. Affidavit of E. B. Lucke, July 9, 1869.

No. 4. Order of Judge MoCunn, July 16, 1869.

No. 5. Order of Judge MeCunn, July 17, 1869. AMdavit of T.
J.Barr,JulyVl,\^^%. ' ^ '

•» J

No. 6. Affidavit of W. W. MgFarland, notfiled ; found on page
30, printed pam,phlet, marked JVo. 57.

No. 7. Order of Judge McCunn, July 20, 1869.

No. 8. Affidavit of T. J. Barr, July 21, 1869. Order of Judge
McCunn, July 21, 1869. Order of Judge McCunn, July 27, 1869.

No. 9. Order of Judge McCxmn, July 20, 1869.

Papers nr same Suit not paeticulaelt Designated.

No. 10. Affidavit of T. N. Dwyer, E. J. Page, M. Cavanagh, "W".

M. Curry, J. O. Mahony, July 9, 1869.

No. 11. Exceptions.

No. 12. Notice of appeal, July M, 1869.

No. 13. Affidavit of J. Henderson, Nov. 22, 1869.

No. 14. Affidavit of T. J. Barr, Feb. 13, 1872. Bill and affidavit

of J. Henderson, Feb. 4, 1871.

No. 15. Affidavit of merits, Sept. 22, If

No. 16. Notice of appeal, July 8, 1869.

No. 17. General Term order, Nov. 14, 1870.

No. 18. Order Judge Sedgwick, March 8, 1872.

No. 19. Affidavit of J. Larocque, July 20, 1869.

No. 20. Order of Judge McCunn, July 2, 1869.

No. 22. Order of Judge Freedman, Dec. 18, 1869.

No. 23. Notice of trial, August 31, 1869.

No. 24. Clerk's certificate, Nov. 14, 1870.

No. 25. Affidavit of merits, Sept. 22, 1869.

No. 26. Order of Judge McCunn, May 19, 1870.

No. 27. Order of Judge McCunn, Jan. 10, 1871.

No. 28. Exceptions, Feb. 24, 1872.

No. 29. Order of Judge Spencer, Nov. 1870. Affidavit of J. W".

Weed. General Term order, Nov. 14, 1870. Printed orders Judge

McCunn, July 16 and 20, 1869.

No. 30. Affidavit of J. Henderson, February 14, 1871. Order of

Judge Barbour, September 23, 1871.
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No. 31. Eeceiver's bond, July IT, 1869.

No. 32. Notice of appeal, Nov. 28, 1869.

No. 33. Affidavit of A. G. Eein and order of Judge Monell, July

9, 1869. Affidavit of A. De Eudder, July 12, 1869.

No. 34. Order of Judge Spencer, Dec. 2, 1870. Affidavit J.

Henderson, Dee. 1, 1870.

No. 35. General Term order, Dec. 16, 1870.

No. 36. Order of Judge Sedgwick, March 16, 1872.

No. 37. Notice of appeal. May 21, 1870.

No. 38. Petition and order of Spencer, Judge, Nov. 21, 1871.

No. 39. Affidavit and order of Judge McOunn, August 18, 1869.

No. 40. Order of Judge Monell, Feb. 20, 1872.

No. 41. Order of Judge McCnnn, September 25, 1871.

No. 42. General Term order, Jan. 13, 1871.

No. 43. Notice of argument, Oct. 20, 1870.

No. 44. Referee's report.

No. 45. Notice of motion, Jan. 9, 1871.

No. 46. Petition Thos. J. Barr. Affidavit of J. Henderson and

order of Judge Sedgwick, March 6, 1872.

No. 47. Order of Judge Monell, Feb., 1872.

No. 48. Order of Judge Sedgwick, March 16, 1872.

No. 49. Order of Judge Spencer, Nov. 22, 1870.

No. 50. Affidavit of J. Laroeque, March 16, 1872.

No. 51. Notice of appeal, June 21, 1870.

No. 52. Affidavit H. E. Tallmadge, Jan. 9, 1871.

No. 53. Affidavit of J. W.Weed, Jan. 6, 1871. Affidavit of T.

J. Barr, July 29, 1869.

No. 54. Petition of J. P. Lindsay, Feb. 1, 1872. Order of Judge
Barbour, Feb. 2, 1872. Affidavit of E. E. Williams, Feb. 5, 1872.

No. 55. Order of Judge McOunn, July 27, 1869. Order of Judge
Jones, March 16, 1870. Affidavit of J. Henderson, May 16, 1870.

Order of Judge Freedman, May 16, 1871.

No. 56. Affidavit of W. W. McFarland.

No. 57. Papers on appeal, Sept. 25, 1871 (printed pamphlet).

Beandon t. Buck.

No. 1. JVoi filed.

No. 2. Order of Judge MoCunn, Feb. 28, 1872.

No. 3. Ordor of Judge McCunn, Ma/rch 21, 1870. Consent,

summons and complaint, March 8, 1870. Charter Hansom Cab
Company.

No. 4. Undertaking, Joseph Meeks and James F. Morgan,
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Hicks v. Bishop.

No. 1. Affidmit of N. EicTcs, June 30, 1869.

No. 2. JSTot filed.

No. 3. Affidavit of P- W. Bishop, July 29, 1869, am,d order of
Judge Freedmcm.

No. 4. Affidavit of J. "W. Hand and orders by Judge Jones.

No. 5. Order of Judge McCunn, Aug. 16, 1869.

Bailey v. O'Mahont.

No. 1. Order of Judge McGunn, July 21, 1869. Summons com-

plaint.

No. 2. Order of Judge MeCum^n, Aug. 4, 1869.

No. 3. Ifot filed.

Elliott v. Butlee.

No. 1. Order of Judge McCunn, Dec. 10, 1869.

No. 2. JSTot filed.

No. 3. mt filed.

Yan Ness v. Taliapeeo.

No. 1. Order of Judge MeCunn, June 4, 1869.

No. 2. Receiver's bond.

No. 8. Order of Judge McCunn.

No. 4. Answer.

No. 5. Brief.

No. 6. Consent, May 21, 1869.

No. 7. Notice of appearance, April 21, 1869.

No. 8. Order of Judge McCunn, June 4, 1869. Affidavit of

Taliafero, June 4, 1869.

No. 9. Summons, March 27, 1869.

No. 10. Notice of reference, May 22, 1869.

No. 11. Order of Judge McCunn, June 5, 1869.

No. 12. Order of Judge McCunn, June 6, 1869.

Indorsed : Catalogue—Papers to be used before Court of Appeals

and Senate, from Superior Court, in the matter of Hon. John H.

McCunn. Exhibit "A."
Transmitted to the Clerk and printed.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. Is there any record of the court on the subject ? A. I do not

think it is formally entered as such, with the exception of the man-

ner in which it is printed through the newspapers and published

throughout the country.
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Q. State whether, during the time that certain justices hold the

terms to which they are so assigned, it is the practice during any

part of the term for other judges to take their place ? A. Yery

common practice for other judges to take the place of the judge

assigned to a particular part of the court.

Q. Is there any record or minute of any kind kept by the clerk

of the court showing what particular judges sat in particular parts

of the court on any particular date ? A. Yes, sir. It is always the

custom, and it is necessary to keep a proper record, that the judge

holding the special term, if you please, may have his name appear

and the particular day. For instance, Judge McCunn presides, or

Judge Barbour, etc. That is a necessary record of the court.

Q. How many judges of the Superior Court are there ? A. Six.

Q. How are they divided in any particular term ? A. We have

two parts of the trial term ; one to each. One holds chambers and

special term. Generally one judge holds both. Probably there

will be three holding general term.

Q. How frequently are terms held ? A. They hold special term

every month during the year, and chambers every month, except in

cases of absence or sickness of judges. Trial terms are held with the

exception of July, August and September, and general term more or

less every month, with the exception of July, August and Septem-

ber. Generally in September, however.

Q. How long has that been the order of business of the court 1

A. It has been so for years. Probably for the last eight or nine

years, at least. I was looking over the record the other day.

Q. Have you prepared a statement show

—

Q. State whether or not such orders or other papers among those

produced by you as purport to be signed, either with the full name
or by the initials of Judge McCunn, are so signed in his original

handwriting ? A. They are.

Q. Are the justices of the Superior Court of the city of New York
assigned to special judicial duty ; to hold certain special terms ?

Mr. MoAK— I object on the ground that the records of the court

will show whether that is the fact or not. The statute so requires.

They are assigned in writing.

Witness— I can explain how it is done.

By the Pbesident :

Q. Answer whether they are assigned ? A. The judges meet

generally in December and assign themselves to particular parts of

the court, and that is generally printed. The assignments arc made
by the court.
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Q. Is this an order of tlie court ? A. Yes, so considered ; it is

not formally entered except as printed
;
generally the justices regu-

larly sitting at the special terms and chambers of the Superior Court

of the city of IsTew York during the years 1868 down to 18Y2 inclu-

sive, so far as 1872 has proceeded ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. MoAK—Do you mean regularly sitting, or assigned to sit ?

Mr. Paesons— Kegularly sitting ?

Witness— Yes, sir.

Q. (Showing witness paper.) Will you look at that paper and

state whether that is the paper of which you speak? A. Yes, sir,

that is the paper.

Q. And does that paper, Mr. Boese, correctly and accurately show

the judge regularly holding special term and chambers branch of the

Superior Court at the date specified in the paper ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Paesons— We offer that paper.

The same is considered read and marked " Exhibit B," and is as

follows

:

Names of the Justices holding the Special Term and Chambers of
the Superior Court of the city of New York for the years 1868,

1869, 1870, 1871 a?i'f? 1872.

January 2 Garvin, J.

January 3 McCunn, J.

January 4 Jones, J.

January 6 to 25 inclusive Monell, J.

January 27 to 28 inclusive Barbour, J.

January 29 to 30 inclusive Jones, J.

January 31 McCunn, J.

February 1 to 29 inclusive Jones, J.

March 2 to 30 inclusive Kobertson, J.

March 31 Barbour, J.

April 1 Monell, J.

April 2 Garvin, J.

April 3 McCunn, J.

April 4 Jones, J.

April 6 to 25 inclusive Garvin, J.

April 27 Jones, J.

April 28 Barbour, J.

April 29 to 30 inclusive Monell, J.

May 1 ,
McCunn, J.

May 2 Jones, J.

May 4 to 8 inclusive McCunn, J.

May 9 Jones, J.

27
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May 11 to 13 inclusive Garvin, J.

May 14 to 30 inclusive McCunn, J.

June 1 to 27 inclusive Garvin, J.

June 29 to 30 inclusive McCunn, J.

July 1 Jones, J.

July 2 and 3 McCunn, J.

July 6 to 8 inclusive Kobertson, J.

July 9 Garvin, J.

July 10 and 11 inclusive Robertson, J.

July 13 to 31 inclusive Jones, J.

August 1 to 4 inclusive Jones, J.

August 5 to 19 inclusive Garvin, J.

August 20 to 31 inclusive Robertson, J.

September 1 to 3 inclusive Robertson, J.

September 4 to 30 inclusive Jones, J.

October 1 to 3 inclusive Jones, J.

October 5 Robertson, J.

October 6 to 14 inclusive Jones, J.

October 16 to 31 inclusive Robertson, J.

ISTovember 2 Robertson, J.

November 4 to 6 inclusive Barbour, J.

November 7 Garvin, J.

November 9 to 30 inclusive Barbour, J.

December 1 to 3 inclusive Barbour, J.

December 4 to 19 inclusive Jones, J.

December 21 to 31 inclusive Garvin, J.

1869.

January 2 Fithian, J.

January 4 to 21 inclusive Barbour, J.

January 22 and 23 Freedman, J.

January 25 to 29 inclusive Barbour, J.

January 30 Freedman, J.

February 1 to 27 inclusive Freedman, J.

March 1 to 31 inclusive Jones, J.

April 1 to 3 inclusive Jones, J.

April 5 to 30 inclusive Monell, J.

May 1 Monell, J.

May 3 to 31 inclusive McCunn, J.

June 1 to 30 inclusive McCunn, J.

July 1 to 3 inclusive McCunn, J.

July 5 to 19 inclusive Monell, J.

July 20 to 31 inclusive Freedman, J.
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August 2 to 3 inclusive Freedman, J.

August 4 to 18 inclusive McCunn, J.

August 19 to 31 inclusive Jones, J.

September 1 and 2 Jones, J.

September 3 to 18 inclusive MeCunn, J.

September 20 Freedman, J.

September 21 to 23 inclusive Barbour, J.

September 24 to 30 inclusive Freedman, J.

October 1 and 2 Freedman, J.

October 4 to 6 inclusive Jones, J.

October 7 Freedman, J.

October 8 to 30 inclusive Jones, J.

November 1 to 19 inclusive Fithian, J.

November 20 to 21 inclusive Jones, J.

November 22 to 30 inclusive Fithian, J.

1869.

December 1 to 5 inclusive Fithian, J.

December 8 to 11 inclusive McCunn, J.

December 13 and 14 Freedman, J.

December 15 Fithian, J.

December 16 to 31 Freedman, J.

1870.

January 3 to 31 inclusive Barbour, J.

February 1 to 5 inclusive Barbour, J.

February 7 to 28 inclusive Spencer, J.

March 1 to 5 inclusive Spencer, J.

March 7 to 31 inclusive Jones, J.

April 1 and 2 inclusive Jones, J.

April 4 to 14 inclusive Monell, J.

April 16 Spencer, J.

April 18 to 30 inclusive Monell, J.

May 2 to 16 inclusive McCunn, J.

May 18 Barbour, J.

May 19 to 31 inclusive McCunn, J.

June 1 to 5 inclusive McCunn, J.

June 6 to 30 inclusive Freedman, J.

July 1 and 2 Freedman, J.

July 5 to 23 inclusive Barbour, J.

July 25 to 30 inclusive Freedman, J.

August 1 and 2 Freedman, J.

August 3 to 19 inclusive Spencer, J.

August 22 to 31 inclusive Monell, J.
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September 1 and 2 inclusive Freedman, J.

September 5 to 9 inclusive Barbour, J.

September 10 to 30 inclusive Jones, J.

October 1 to 31 inclusive Jones, J.

November 1 to 5 inclusive Jones, J.

November 7 to 30 inclusive Spencer, J.

December 1 to 3 inclusive Spencer, J.

December 5 to 31 inclusive Monell, J.

1871.

January 3 to 31 inclusive Barbour, J.

February 1 to 4 inclusive Barbour, J.

February 6 to 28 inclusive Freedman, J.

March 1 to 4 inclusive Freedman, J.

March 6 to 31 inclusive Jones, J.

April 1 Jones, J.

April 3 to 29 inclusive Spencer, J.

May 1 to 31 inclusive McCnnn, J.

June 1 to 4 inclusive .... McCunn, J.

June 5 to 30 inclusive Monell, J.

July 1 Monell, J.

July 3 Spencer, J.

July 5 to 7 inclusive Monell, J.

July 10 Spencer, J.

July 11 to 14 inclusive Monell, J.

July 17 to 31 inclusive Freedman, J.

August 1 Freedman, J-

August 2 to 11 inclusive Barbour, J.

August 14 to 17 inclusive McCunn, J.

August 18 to 31 inclusive Spencer, J.

September 1 to 15 inclusive Jones, J.

September 16 to 30 inclusive. McCunn, J.

October 1 to 31 inclusive Jones, J.

November 1 to 4 inclusive Jones, J.

November 6 to 29 inclusive Spencer, J.

December 1 and 2 inclusive Spencer, J.

December 4 to 30 inclusive Freedman, J.

1872.

January 2 to 31 inclusive Barbour, J.

February 1 to 3 inclusive Barbour, J.

February 5 to 29 inclusive Monell, J.

March 1 and 2 Monell, J.

March 4 to 30 inclusive Sedgwick, J.
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April 1 to 4 inclusive McCunn, J.

April 5 to 7 inclusive'. Bai-bour, J.

April 8 to 18 inclusive McCunn, J.

April 19 and 20 Curtis, J.

April 22 McCunn, J.

April 23 and 24 Monell, J.

April 25 Curtis, J.

April 26 Sedgwick, J.

April 27 Curtis, J.

April 29 Barbour, J.

April 30 Monell, J.

May 1 Freedman, J.

May 2 Curtis, J.

May 3 Sedgwick, J.

May 4 to 31 inclusive Curtis, J.

June 1 Curtis, J.

June 3 to date Freedman, J.

Dated June 18, 1872.

Indorsed : Names of justices holding special terms and chambers

of Superior Court of the city of ISTew York, for the years 1868,

1869, 1870, 1871 and 1872. June 18, 1872. Exhibit " B."

Q. The list " Exhibit A," refers to certain papers by members, for

example, in the case of Ola/rh v. Bininger, numbers six and seven,

with the memorandum have not been filed in this court at any time

;

and, again, for example, in the case of Bt'cmdon v. JSuok, number one

not filed; in the case of Bailey v. O'Maliony, number three not

filed, correspond to what; to what refer the numbers, and what is

the meaning of the memorandum that papers have not been filed ?

A. It means no such papers were filed in the court ; we keep a

record of all papers filed, and that record shows that no such papers

as mentioned in the subpoena was filed at all.

Q. To what do the numbers mentioned in my question refer ; in

the case of Bininger v. Clark, for instance ? A. They refer to

corresponding numbers on the subpcena.

Q. Is that true with reference to all the numbers which appear

upon the paper marked "Exhibit A?" A. Yes, sir.

Q. For the sake of showing what papers are not produced, and

that such papers are not filed, which we mentioned in the subpoena ?

A. Yes, sir.

Same offered in evidence ; considered read ; marked '' Exhibit C,"

and reads as follows

:
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The People of the Sta.te of New Yoek, bt the Grace of God
Free and Independent.

To Thomas E. Soese :

Greeting: Tou and each of you are hereby commanded and

required, that, laying aside all other business and all pretenses and

excuses whatsoever, you be and appear in your own proper person,

before the Senate, at the Senate chamber, at the Capitol, in the city

of Albany, on the 19th day of June, A. D. 1872, at 10 o'clock a. m.

of that day, to be examined as witnesses, and to testify the truth,

and to give evidence on our behalf concerning certain charges then

and there to be tried and determined before our Senate of our said

State, which have been made against John H. McCunn, justice of

the Superior Court of the city of New York, and upon which our

Governor of our said State has recommended to our Senate afore-

said, that the said John H. McCunn be removed from his said

office of justice, and that you bring with you and produce on said

trial the papers hereto annexed, and all other papers, books, deeds

or documents pertaining to the matter to be inquired about and

investigated on said trial and determination.

And hereof fail not at your peril.

Witness, Hon. Allen C. Beach, the Lieutenant-

Governor of our said State of New York,

[l. s.J and the President of the Senate thereof, this

14th day of June, in the year of our Lord

1872.

Attest: CHAS. E. DAYTON,
Cleric of the Senate.

The following papers in the action wherein Abraham B. Clarke

was plaintiff and Abraham Bininger was defendant

:

No. 1. The order signed by J. H. McCunn, justice, dated Novem-
ber 19, 1869, appointing Daniel H. Hanrahan, Esq., receiver; and,

No. 2. The order signed by S. Jones, judge, dated March 30,

1870, requiring Daniel H. Hanrahan, Esq., receiver, to show cau&e,

etc., and enjoining the said Hanrahan and Thomas J. Barr, etc.

No. 3. The order signed by John H. McCunn, justice, dated

March 30th, 1870, annulling, vacating and setting aside the last-

mentioned order of S. Jones, justice, and ordering a sale, etc., and

the proceeds thereof to be deposited, etc.

No. 4. The order of John H. McCunn, justice, dated at the top

June 1, 1870, and at the bottom June 16, 1870, taxing, and adjust-

ing and allowing to the sheriff |4,234 for fees, etc.
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No. 6. The order signed by John H. McCunn, dated January 19,

1870, enjoining John S. Beecher and Paul J. Armour, etc., from

interfering, etc., with the said receiver.

ISTo. 6. The order signed John PI. McCunn, justice, dated Decem-
ber 4, 1869, directing sheriff, etc., to take possession, etc.

No. 7. The order dated 6th of December, 1869, signed John H.

McCunn, justice, at Special Term, directing sheriff' to take posses-

sion, etc.

The following papers in the action, wherein Albert B. Corey was

plaintiff, and Walter P. Long was defendant

:

No. 1. The order of the General Term of the Superior Court,

dated March, 1870, signed C. L. M., reversing the order dated

lJ8tli of January, 1870, denying a motion to dissolve an injunc-

tion, etc.

No. 2. The order signed John H. McCunn, justice, dated January

18, 1870, appointing James M. Gano, receiver, etc.

Eo. 3. The summons, complaint, affidavit of Albert H. Corey;

affidavit of Jacob Beck ; agreement between Long and Corey, dated

7th of December, 1869 ; undertaking of C. B. Corey and James

F. Morgan.

The following papers in the action, wherein Anna M. Elliott was
plaintiff, and Mary P. Butler was defendant

:

No. 1. The order signed John H. McCunn, justice, dated 10th

day of December, 1869, appointing James M. Gano, receiver, etc.

Xo. 2. The order signed John H. McCunn, dated December 10,

1869, enjoining said Mary P. Butler, etc., from, etc.

No. 3. The summons, complaint in the said action, dated and

sworn to December 10, 1869.

The following papers in the action, wherein Edward W. Brandon^

was plaintiff, and Jerome Beck and others, were defendants

:

No. 1. The summons dated February 23, 1870. The complaint

sworn to 8th February, 1870. The order signed John H. McCunn,

dated February 23, 1870, appointing Daniel H. Hanrahan, receiver,

etc. The order signed J. H. McCunn, dated March 21, 1870,

appointing Joseph Weeks, receiver, etc. The undertaking signed

Joseph Weeks and James F. Morgan, to the clerk of the Superior

Court, in the sum of $5,000.

The following papers in the action wherein John O'Mahony was

plaintiff, and August Belmont and Ernest B. Lucke were defendants

:

No. 1. The order requiring the defendants to show cause why a

receiver should not be appointed, dated June 30, 1869, signed John

H. McCunn, justice. The summons for relief, dated June 29, 1869.
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No. 2. The affidavit of Eoger J. Page, sworn to June 30, 1869.

No. 3. The affidavit of Ernest B. Lucke, sworn to Jnly 9, 1869.

The order dated 16th July, 1869, signed John H. McCunn,
appointing Thomas J. Barr receiver, etc., and the notice annexed

thereto.

No. 6. The order signed John H. McOunn, dated July 17, 1869,

requiring the defendants in said action to show cause on the 20th

July, 1869. The affidavit of Thomas J. Barr, sworn to lYth July,

1869.

No. 6. The affidavit of W. W. McFarland, sworn to July 20,

1869.

No. 7. The order signed John H. McOunn, dated 20th July,

1869, providing for the payment of $16,738.70, etc.

No. 8. The order to show cause why Thomas J. Barr should not

be made a party defendant in the said action, signed John H.

McCunn, dated July 21, 1869.

No. 8. The order signed J. H. McCunn, dated 27th July, 1869,

making Thomas J. Barr a party defendant to said action.

No. 9. The order signed John H. McCunn, dated 20th July,

1869, filed 29th July, 1869, requiring the receiver to pay $1,000 to

Boger J. Page.

No. 1. The order of injunction dated July 21, 1869, signed John

H. McCunn, justice, restraining John O'Mahony, in the action

wherein William H. Bailey was plaintiff and John O'Mahony.

Thomas J. Barr, August Behnont and Ernest B. Lucke, were

defendants.

No. 1. The complaint in said last-mentioned action.

No. 2. The order signed John H. McCunn, dated 4th August,

1869, appointing Thomas J. Barr, receiver, etc.

No. 3. The answer of Ernest B. Lucke, sworn to 9th July, 1869.

The following papers in the action wherein Norbury Hicks was

plaintiff, and P. W. Bishop was defendant

:

No. 1. The affidavit of Norbury Hicks, sworn to 30th June,

1869.

No. 2. The order signed J. H. McOunn, dated New York, July

3, 1869, requiring the sheriff of New York city and county, to arrest

P. "W. Bishop, and hold him to bail, etc.

No. 3. The affidavit of Phiteus W. Bishop, sworn to July 29,

1869.

No. 3. The order signed John J. Freedman, requiring plaintiff' or

his attorney to show cause why the foregoing order of arrest should

not be vacated.
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The following papers in the action wherein Edsvard Van Ness

was plaintiff, and Sarah A. Talafero and others, were defendants.

No. 1. The order of John H. McCunn, dated 4th June, 1869, to

show cause and stay pi'oceedings.

The following papers in the action wherein Albert H. Corey was

plaintiff, and Walter P. Long was defendant.

The order signed John H. McCunn, dated January 15, 1870,

enjoining Walter P. Long, etc.

The summons in said action.

The complaint, sworn to 15th January, 1870.

The affidavit of Albert B. Corey, sworn to 18th January, 1872.

No. 4. The affidavit of Jacob Beck, sworn to 15th January, 1870.

No. 5. The order signed John J. Freedraan, J. S. C, dated Jan-

uary, 1870, requiring the plaintiff to show cause, etc.

No. 6. The order signed John H. McCunn, J. S. C, dated Janu-

ary 17, 1870, modifying said order of John J. Freedman, J. IS. C,
January 17, 1870.

No. 7. The affidavit of Walter P. Levy, sworn to Jan. 20, 1870.

No. 8. The affidavit sworn to by Albert B. Corey, dated 21st of

January, 1870 ; the affidavit of James S. Blake, swoi-n to January

21st, 1870 ; the affidavit of Alfred Meller, sworn to January 6th,

1870; the affidavit of Cornelius B. Corey, sworn to Jan. 21st, 1870;

the affidavit of Jacob Beck, sworn to 21st day of January, 1870.

No. 9. The order of John M. Barbour, dated 28th January, 1870,

denying motion to vacate order, etc.

No. 10. The opinion of the court upon said motion.

No. 11. The notice of appeal, dated February 23d, 1870, in said

action.

No. 12. The order signed John M. Barbour, dated January 29th,

1 870, requiring the defendant, etc., to show cause, etc.

No. 13. The affidavit of A. B. Corey, dated 29th January, 1870.

The affidavit of G. L. Simonson, sworn to 29th January, 1870. The

affidavit of Walter P. Long, dated 26th January, 1870. The order

of John M. Barbour, dated 31st January, 1870, appointing James

M. Gano receiver.

No. 14. The points upon the appeal.

No. 15. The notice of appeal, dated February 23d, 1870.

No. 16. The defendant and appellant's points.

No. 17. The respondent's points, together with any and all other

papers in said action, or either of them, or referring to them, or any

of them now upon file in the Clerk's office of the Superior Court of

the city of New York, and also a tabular statement of the names

28
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of the justices presiding at Special Term Chambers of the said

Superior Court, dm-ing the years 1868, 1869, 1870, 1871, 1872.

Said statement to show which of the justices of said court there

presided on each and every day during said years when a special

term was held at Chambers.

By Mr. Moak :

Q. Did you compare the numbers with the numbers on the

subpoena? A. Yes, sir; I did this for the convenience of the

Senate and counsel upon both sides; I thought it would be much

more convenient.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. Has a search been made for those papers required to be pro-

duced by the subpoena, which on examination are stated not to be

on file ? A. Tes, sir.

Q. And are such papers now found upon the files of your clerk's

oificel A. Tes, sir.

Q. Are such papers, which are marked on Exhibit A. on the list

as not filed now on file in yonr office? A. Eo, sir.

Q. You have satisfied yourself by the search made for them ?

A. Yes, sir ; by a personal search.

Q. Have you any personal knowledge as to whether such papers

have been on file or not ? A. No, sir, only from the records ; we

keep a record of every paper filed ; so- if it had been filed, as near

as I can judge, the record would show it.

Q. The papers which are stated not to be on file you did not find

on file, and those papers which are stated not filed yon judge not to

have been filed, for the reason that you find no appropriate entry of

tiling in the book ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. In some cases it says, " have not been filed in the conrt at any

time," and in other cases, " not filed ; " is there any difiBrence in

those two cases? A. No, sir; there is no difterence ; it's barely

possible that— no, there is no difl'erence; there is a mere distinc-

tion in the language, although it is possible that the paper so

marked might at one time have been marked ; but from the exam-

ination of tlie record it is equivalent. Eor instance, it is possible

that the summons and complaint might have been inside of another

paper ; the clerk, in making up the record, would naturally say, if

in case it was a motion for an injunction, " injunction order filed
;

"

and he might not see every paper inside of it.
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Q. Is it your custom to certify copies of papers which are not

actually ou tile ? A. No, sir.

Q. Is there an invariable rule? A. Yes, sir; that's the rule.

Q. Is it a fact then in respect to papers in the case of Wright v.

Butler, that if your office has certified copies of papers Nos. 2 and

3, mentioned on the subpoena in the case, that at the time of the

certifying, the original papers were on file ? A. There is no ques-

tion about it in my miud ; I don't think any clerk would certify a

paper to he a correct copy unless the original was on file.

Q. Is that true in reference to all papers of which there are certi-

fied copies certified by your office, now outstanding, although the

originals are not now on file ? A. I should judge so ; I cannot

swear positively as to what the practice of those who were before me
might be, but the invariable rule of the clerk is never to certify a

paper unless the paper is on file.

Q. Did you state, sir, and is it a fact that the papers yon

have produced are produced from the original files in your office ?

A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Davis — I wish to ask the indulgence of the Senate to allow

the cross-examination of this witness to delay until Judge Selden

arrives on next Tuesday. I know I have pressed this request very

strongly. I think my brother on the other side will appreciate my
feelings in the matter. It is an important part of the case, and we do

not come here expecting to take the position of managing this case.

In any event, if we cross-exa:nine him, for a half hour or an hour,

I think the Senate would allow Judge Selden to further continue it,

if he saw fit. I beg the indulgence of the Senate to allow us to

' cross-examine on Judge Selden's arrival. I do not think we gain a

particle of time by going on. I make the motion that we be

permitted to suspend the cross-examination of this witness till next

Tuesday.

Mr. Paesons —Will there result from that an inability on our

part to put these papers in evidence, and have them placed in the

charge of the Senate as evidence in the case, to be brought in as

evidence when the occasion arrives for them?

Mr. Peckham— They can be put in the custody of the Senate.

Mr. Paesons—We wish to put them beyond the reach of techni-

cal objections ; we want the matter disposed of at the present time.

Mr. Davis—We wish to say that this is a matter of so grave

importance and magnitude that inasmuch as we have but about an

hour left to examine this witness, that the Senate, as it occurs to me,
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should agree with me and my friends upon the other side, that we

should have the advantage of our leading counsel in this case ; I do

not desire that these papers shall be put beyond the reach of what is

called technicalities ; I desire that Judge McCunn should have the

advantage of his counsel in examining this witness ; we only ask to

suspend this examination until counsel, upon whom we depend, shall

be present ; I do not desire that one paper be put beyond the reach

of what my friend terms technicalities until leading counsel is pres-

ent in this case ; we all know his reputation ; it is not only a State,

but a national reputation ; let him be with us in this trial ; I trust

the Senate will grant us so much as a right ; I move that the cross-

examination be suspended until next Tuesday. [Motion carried.]

Mr. Paesons— I offer in evidence the papers. I do not know
what the effect of the granting of the motion is.

Mr. MoAK—^ I will inquire whether Mr. Parsons has copies of

the papers marked A, B and C.

Mr. Parsons— "We have not.

The President— All who have been subpoenaed to attend as

witnesses in this trial, will appear here next Tuesday morning at

10 o'clock.

"Whereupon the Senate adjourned until Tuesday, June 25th, at

10 o'clock, A. M.

Albany, June 25, 1872.

The Senate met at 10 A. m., pursuant to adjournment.

The President, Hon. Allen C. Beach, in the chair.

The Clerk called the roll, and the following senators were found

to be present

:

Messrs. Baker, Bowen, Cock, Dickinson, Graham, Harrower,

Palmer, Perry, Robertson, Tiemann, D. P. "Wood, J. "Wood.

The President— There is no quorum present ; what is the pleas-

ure of the Senate ?

Mr. Graham— I move, sir, that we take a recess until four

o'clock.

Mr. Parsons—- Before the question is put, we should like to have

the names of the witnesses who have been subpoenaed called.

Mr. Graham— I withdraw my motion.

Mr. Parsons— "We should be glad to have a list of the witnesses

sent to the clerk's desk, and called.
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The clerk then read the following list of witnesses

:

Mansfield Compton, Abraham B. Clark, Melville B. Clark, Henry
B. Herts, Francis JST. Bangs, John S. Beecher, Abraham Bininger,

Thomas F. Morgan, Joel 0. Stevens, Michael J. Kelly, Joseph A.

Hoffman, George N. Titus, Allen B. ]S"iver, George E. Hickey,

John E. McGowan, Thomas J. Barr.

Of whom the following responded :

Mansfield Compton, Melville B. Clark, Francis N. Bangs, John

S. Beecher, James F. Morgan, Joel O. Stevens, Joseph A. Hoffman,

George N. Titus, George E. Hickey, John E. McGowan, Thomas J.

Barr.

Mr. Stickney— "We should be glad to have the witnesses informed

of the necessity of their attendance here at the hour to which the

Senate may adjourn.

The Peesident— The witnesses will be required to attend at-i

o'clock.

Mr. D. P. Wood — Before any adjournment is taken, I would

like to inquire whether there are not some trains coming in from the

east and the west that will arrive before 2 o'clock, that would be

likely to bring enough senators to make a quorum ? If there is we
had better take a short recess until after such trains shall arrive.

Mr. Pai.mee— There is no train from New York before two

o'clock.

Mr. D. P. Wood— There is one from the west about two o'clock.

I move, Mr. President, that the Senate take a recess until about 4

o'clock.

Mr. Palmee— If the senator will withdraw his motion for a

moment

—

Mr. D. P. Wood— Certainly.

Mr. Palmee— I have no idea that the Senate will have a quorum

to-day. I move that the clerk be instructed to telegraph the absent

senators that there is no quorum.

Mr. J. Wood— I woxild like to have it that if the senators

are not present, a call of the Senate will be made and they will be

sent for.

The President— There being no quorum present, we can trans-

act no business, except to adjourn ; and the clerk will telegraph the

senators, as requested by the senator from the 11th (Mr. Palmer).

The President then put the question, upon the motion of Mr. D.

P. Wood, to take a recess until 4 o'clock p. m., which was carried.



222 PROCEEDINGS IN THE

Afternoon Session.

The Senate re-eonvened at 4 p. m., June 25, 1872, when the pro-

ceedings were resumed.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— Mr. President: At the last session of the

Senate there was some difficulty in procuring the attendance of wit-

nesses, and getting returns on subpoenas from lack of force in the

department of the sergeant-at-arms, and after consultation with some

of the senators it was determined to call in the assistance of another

of the regular officers of the Senate, there being no power to employ

a new one, and, with a view of carrying out their wishes, I ofl'er the

following resolution

:

" Rosolved, That the assistant post-master be added to the list of

officers of the Senate heretofore designated to attend this extra ses-

sion, to serve during such extra session as an additional assistant to

the sergeant-at-arms."

The question was put on said resolution and was adopted.

By the President— At the close of the last session, Mr. Boese

was on the witness-stand, and the counsel fur the prosecution will

cross-examine the witness.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President: One of the assistant steno-

graphers, not having been sworn in, I move that Chas. G. Tinsley be

sworn as an assistant stenographer. The question was put on said

motion and it was declared in the affirmative, when Mr. Tinsley

was duly sworn.

The following counsel appeared on behalf of Judge McCunn :

Hon. Henet E. Selden, N. C. Moak, Esq., A. C. Davis, Esq., "\V.

S. Hevenoe, Esq.

Messrs. Parsons, Stiokney and Harrison appeared as counsel for

the prosecution.

Ceoss-Examixation of Mr. Boese.

Cross-examined hy ^Ir. Selden :

Q. Have you a list of the papers referred to in your testimony on

the direct examination ? A. Ko, sir ; it was left with the Senate,

and I have not seen it since.

Q. "What was that list ? what did it contain ? A. It was a memo-
randa of all the papers I was required to produce on this trial ; some

specially designated ; and the latter part of the subpoena directed

me to bring all papers appertaining to the suit.
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Q. You brought all the papers that you could find that was

specially referred to in the notice ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And all the other papers that you find in the cases that were

referred to ? A. Yes, sir ; of every kind and nature, and the memo-
randa contained the list of all.

Mr. Parsons— Mr. President : Allow me to say to the counsel

of Judge McCunn, that we have the draft of the list of papers from

which the subpoena was prepared, and if that will facilitate the

examination of the witness, it is at their service.

Mr. MoAK— Does that contain all the papers in the different

causes, or all that yon desired ?

Mr. Paesons— It contains all the papers that tlie witness was

subpcenaed to produce here ; I couldn't tell you whether it contains

a list of all the papers in the suits ; I presume not, however.

The Witness— The subpcena reads :
" Together with any and all

papers in said action, or either of them ; or referring to them or any

of them filed in the clerk's ofiiee." I supposed that meant all papers

of ever}' kind and nature, and, under that, I brought every thing.

Q. I understood you to say in your examination that you did not

file all the papers that were mentioned in that memoranda? A.

jN"o, sir.

Q. That appeared at some time to have been in the ofiiee? A.

Yes, sir ; I didn't— I would like to state here—
Q. I wish you to explain about that? A. I may have been mis-

understood on the direct examination ; on my memoranda there are

two notes, one of papers on file, and others not on file and never

been filed, and I think I was understood to say the mark on the

papers not on file and never been filed, meant to imply the same

thing ; they do not ; those marked not on file meant to imply they

had been on file and were not on file . at the present time ; that

explanation I would like to make.

Q. The inquiry I wish to make is whether, when you say they

are not on file, you mean any thing more than you did not find

them? A. That is what I mean; it means more than that, that

they were once on file.

Q. Doesn't it happen sometimes that papers get out of their place,

and are not found on searches, and are still in the office ? A. Yes,

sir ; sometimes in a multitude of papers ; take, for instance, the

Benedict case ; the papers were taken out of court probably twenty

times, and they were used before the judiciary committee of the

Assembly, and they took them from the custody of the clerk, and

said they had the right to do it, and kept them, and from the markil



224 PEOOEEDINGS IN THE

on the papers, they bore indications that the original orders were

used by the printers in setting them up, and I think some of them

were mislaid by that committee, or their officials.

Q. They were also used before Mr. Darlington, as referee ? A.

Yes, sir ; used in the United States Court, I think, and twenty

times, I suppose, altogether, and when motions have been made

before the special terms.

Q. Among the papers that you handed up and put in before was

a list of the judges assigned to hold special terms ? A. It was a

statement giving the names of judges that held the special terms,

I think, from '67 ; there is a distinction between those who were

assigned to and those who held the courts.

Q. Did that indicate any thing more than the judges who com-

menced holding the terms on those respective days? A. That is all

that it did indicate.

Q. Did it happen occasionally there was a change of judges

during the day that did not appear in that list ? A. If you will

permit me to explain, I will state how that is.

Q. Do so. A. It is a common thing, after the judges have made
their assignments for the year, from sickness or any other pur-

pose, other judges to agree to act for them ; and on such occa-

sions, the record always shows the name of the judge who presided

at special term or chambers during that time, but independent of

that I presume that is what you want to ascertain ; it is a common
thing for judges, if you please, occasionally to relieve their associate

an hour or so in a special term or chambers ; sometimes the judge

will want to go away for an hour, or half a day, and the record

don't show that change for an hour or so.

Q. The orders which are made in that case would show the name
of the judge who made the order ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Does it also occasionally happen, that when a matter comes

before a judge in some cause that has been before another judge,

that the judge that it is brought before requests the counsel to take

it before the other judge, and have him dispose of it, because he is

familiar with it ? A. That is sometimes done ; of course it is an

exception to the rule ; it is a very common thing in courts, when an

application is made of counsel in the proceeding with which another

judge is very familiar, for the judge at special term to say, you

had better take that order before judge so and so, as he is familiar

with the case, and he will know whether the order should be granted

or not ; that, of course, is no unusual thing, I suppose, in any of
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the courts ; that is sometimes done, but not very often ; it has hap-

pened occasionally when a judge is engaged in the trial term, that

during the trial, he sometimes makes an order in some non-

enumerated matter that comes before him, or ex parte matter ; for

instance, a judge holding a special term is through his business

and leaves at 1 or 2 o'clock, and the judge in the adjoining room
holding the trial term and counsel who want an ex jparte order, the

judge very often grants it.

Q. Go before the judge at trial term and to get the order from

him ? A. Yes, sir, when he can do so without interfering with his

business ; that is often done in all the courts.

Q. How long have you been clerk of the Superior Court?

A. Since January, 1872.

Q. Have you been clerk of other courts there, previously %

A. I was clerk of the Common Pleas and Special Term and

Chambers.

Q. You are an attorney of the court ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you also been in practice to some extent ? A. Yes, sir

;

more or less for the last twenty years.

Q. Have you been very familiar with the ordinary course of prac-

tice \ A. Yes, sir.

Q. At the chambers, and at the trial terms, and motion terms ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. During all that time ? A. Yes, sir ; visiting the courts

weekly.

Q. When an exfarte order is made by a judge, does he usually

hand it with the papers to the attorney to be filed ? A. Usually so.

Q. That is the usual practice % A. Yes, sir.

Q. It is the business of the attorney to see they are filed ordina-

rily ? A. Yes, sir. The judge to sign it, and for him to hand the

papers to be filed to the clerk, to get a certified copy.

Q. Is the pressure of business upon the judges for orders and the

like very continuous ? A. At times, very ; in all the courts in the

city of New York.

Q. At what hour do the courts usually sit for special terms ? A.

Erom ten to one, and running through to two or three ; the cham-

bers and special term are held in the same room, and the same judge

holds both ; the special term from 10 to 12, and the calendar right

through ; orders generally granted from 10 to 12.

Q. The number of cases on the calendar is very large ? A. In the

vicinity of 2,000 ; for instance, in the Superior Court, over 1,900.

29
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By Mr. Benedict :

Q. That is on a trial term ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. About how many orders does the judge usually gi-ant during

the sitting of a day there ? A. That is almost impossible to answer

;

sometimes in the heated term, for instance, there are very few ; a

dozen; sometimes may be 30 or 40.

Q. Sometimes even more than that ? A. It is possible, but not often.

Q. Is it usual or regular to apply to another judge for chamber

orders that the judge regularly assigned, when sitting at chambers ?

Mr. Moae;— We object to whether it was regular or not.

Mr. Paesons— Then I will subdivide the question.

Q. Is it regular ? A. ISTo, sir.

Q. Please now to produce and hand to the clerk of the Senate the

papers mentioned in your direct examination, and produced here by

you on the subpoena of the Senate. [The same were produced by
the witness.]

Mr. Davis— We wish to inquire the object of presenting that

bundle of papers on the part of the counsel ?

Mr. Paesons—We desire to have the papers placed in the custody

of the Senate on the testimony of Mr. Boese, so that when the papers

be put in evidence we can call for them from the clerk of the Senate

and consider them authenticated by the testimony of Mr. Boese.

Judge Selden— I do not consider the papers as evidence against

us upon the testimony of Mr. Boese. I simply wish not to be fore-

closed upon that question. The question as to whether the papers,

as authenticated are against us, can be determined when it arises.

Mr. Paesons— What we think is, that the Senate will require the

continued attendance of Mr. Boese during the whole session of the

Senate, and we take it for granted, that his testimony, so far, authen-

ticates these papers as being brought here from the iiles of the court,

as that, if his testimony entitles the papers to be received in evidence,

we may offer them as evidence in the case after further examination

of Mr. Boese. We desire, if there is to be a cross-examination of

Mr. Boese in regard to these papers, that that cross-examination be

now completed.

Judge Selden— That explanation is sufficient ; we simply wish

not to be foreclosed as to any particular papers, and such as are

records would be authenticated here afterward by this witness. We
do not wish to have Mr. Boese stay here.

Mr. Paksons— That is all, then. It may be entered that the clerk

of the Senate takes possession of the papers, so that they will be

considered in his possession from this time.
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The President— It is so noted.

By Mr. Parsons :

Q. Since you were subpoenaed as a witness, have you been re-

quested to produce from the files of your clerk's office, other papers,

and if so, have you produced the papers which I now place in your

hands [handing the same to the witness] ? A. I have.

Q. State whether those are original papers, also produced by you

from the files of our court ? A. Yes, sir ; those have been taken

from the files of the court.

Q. Are they original papers ? A. Original in what sense ?

Q. Original in the sense of being originals, and not copies of

originals ?

By Mr. Benedict— Originally filed do you mean ?

By Mr. Paesons— Original files of papers
;
placed on file as origi-

nals ? A. I will have to look at them to see.

Q. Please to do so.

Judge Selden—-Don't the papers themselves show it?

Mr. Parsons— Perhaps so ; but it will be better to take the

answer of the witness ? A. I can say in reference to these papers,

that they appear to be two copies of summons and complaint ; this

is the regular file mark of one of my clerks, and this other paper

appears to be an original undertaking ; the mark I think of Judge

McOunn.
Judge Selden— Be kind enough to state the numbers.

Mr. Parsons— I will indicate the papers. Summons and com-

plaint, affidavit for injunction— two papers are in two suits. One,

that of Abraham B. Claris v. The Bank of America and others ;

and the other Abraham B. Clark v. Milton J. Hardy wnd others ;

an undertaking in injunction in the suit of Abraham B. Clark v.

Milton J. Hardy and others.

The Witness— The undertaking is approved by the judge.

Q. The affidavit to the complaint, and the affidavit for the injunc-

tion in the suit of Abraham B. Cla/rk v. The Bank of America

and others, purporting to be verified before J. H. McCunn, justice

—

state whether or not the signature J. H. McCunn, justice, is the

original signature of Judge McOunn ? A. [Looking at same.] Tes,

sir.

Mr. Parsons— The answer is " yes " as to both papers.

Q. The affidavit verifying the complaint, and the affidavit for

injunction in the suit of Abraham B. Clark v. Milton B. Hardy

and others, purporting to be verified before James P. Morgan, com-
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missioner of deeds, state whether the signature, "James F. Mor-

gan," is the original signature of James F. Morgan now present as a

witness ? A. I don't know his signature.

Q. The undertaking on injunction in the suit of Abraham B.

Clarlc V. Miltoti B. Hardy and others has upon the back, " approved

J. H. M ; " state whether the initials " J. H. M." are in the hand-

writing of Judge McCunn ? A. I should say it was, sir.

Mr. Paesons, to the witness

:

Q. Please now hand to the clerk of the Senate the file papers

about which you have been last examined. [Whereupon the wit-

ness gave the same to the clerk of the Senate.]

Q. Look at the two affidavits of Abraham B. Clark, made in the

suit of Abraham B. Clarlc v. Abraham Bininger, both verified

19th November, 1869, and purporting to be verified before J. H.

McCunn, justice, and state whether the signature to the verification

is in the original handwriting of Judge McCunn ? A. Yes, sir ; 1

should so judge it to be.

Mr. Paesons—We desire to have those papers marked for indenti-

ficafion, by the clerk. You will mark them " For indentification,

June 25, 1872." They will not be put in evidence now.

Mr. MoAK— What propriety is there in singling out various

papers and producing them ?

Mr. Paeson"S— They are not papers from the files of the courts

;

they are papers produced by the witness which we desire to authen-

ticate now, and to be introduced in evidence, subsequently.

Mr. Moak— If the counsel will be kind enough to state what

they are, so the stenogragpher may take upon his minutes what they

are, in order that we may know what they are, perhaps it will facih-

tate matters.

Mr. Paesons— They are affidavits in the suit of Olarh v. Bin-

inger, approved November 19, 1869. You can examine them

for yourself. [Handing some to respondent's counsel.]

Q. [Showing witness papers.] Look at the two injunction orders

now produced to you, one in the suit of Abraham B. Olarh v.

Milton B. Hardy and others, dated December 16, 1869, and the

other in the suit of Abraham P. Clark against Frederick C. Ives,

dated December 10, 1869, and both purporting to be signed by

J. H. McCunn, justice, and state whether those orders are signed

by Judge McCunn in his handwriting ? A. I should say they are

both signed ; after all the signature to both orders was that of Judge

McCunn.
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Mr. Paksons—We wish to have those papers marked by the

clerk of the Senate for identificatioa as of this date. [The papers

were so marked.]

Mr. Paesons— That is all.

The President—Any thing further from this witness:

By Judge Selden—A single other question.

Q. Do you know, Mr. Boese, whether it is customary when a

pressing necessity occurs for lawyers to go the judge's house, and

obtain orders there out of court ? A. I have known cases of that

kind where counsel have gone to the residence of judges.

Q. And obtain orders ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Besides Judge McOunn ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Orders to show cause were obtained in that way very fre-

quently ? A. Sometimes, but it is the exception and not the rule.

Q. Orders to show cause are not entered until the motion is

heard, usually, are they ? A. It is not usual ; I might state that

sometimes counsel obtain orders from the court and neglect to file

them for a long time, and sometimes never do it, when they should

be on file : but the rule is as suggested.

By Mr. Devlin :

Q. The cause is this : if I get an order from the judge to grant an

injunction, and an order to show cause why it should not be con-

tinued, or a default be taken, it is usual to file that order until the

motion is made ? A. E"o, sir ; it is not ; it is usually filed when the

papers are submitted to the judge.

By Mr. Pabsons :

Q. I desire you to state to the Senate to what extent it is usual to

apply at the house of a judge, or out of court, for chamber orders

;

you say it is sometimes done, but it is exceptional ? A. Yes, sir ; I

would state here that it is very seldom done by the judges ; as a rule,

they consider it wrong to receive applications of that kind at their

houses; sometimes under extraordinary circumstances, the judges

grant such orders ; I do not know that I could express it any better

than by saying that it is the exception and not the rule.

Q. Is it very rare ? A. Yes, sir ; it is rare so to do.

Mr. Paesons— That is all.

By Mr. Devlin :

Q. Is not the reason, if you know the reason, they decline such

applications because they don't want to be disturbed at their resi-
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dence, about matters of business, and not because they don't think

they have the right, or that there is any impropriety of the counsel

coming to them in that way ? A. I think it is proper to state, Mr.

Devlin, that one reason is, that judges think that the judge holding

the special term should attend to the business ; and another reason

is, that they don't like to be disturbed.

Q. But they never put in on the ground that they haven't tlie

right to do it, or that it is improper to do it ; did you ever hear

that ? A. "Well, I think, as the rule, that the judges are inclined

to think that it is best to have the business done in the court ; and

after that, vfhen the papers are submitted to the judge, at his resi-

dence, of course, then he judges of the propriety of sending the

papers to him ; I will state here that orders are often granted at

their residence, and I have been present myself on such occasions.

Bj Mr. Paesons— Answer the question if you please. Do you

not know that there is a well-understood feeling on the part of the

judges that it is improper to make an application for an order to a

judge, at the house, when the application can be made to the judge

regularly assigned to hold the chambers ?

Mr. MoAK— "We object to that question, unless confined to the

time in controversy here.

Mr. Paesons:

Q. I am covering that period of course ? A. The very idea of

making assignments, is that the judges who perform this duty, in

the particular part to which they are assigned, and it is fair to state

that judges think as a rule that it is wrong, and sometimes they are

subject to censure, for granting orders away from the courts ; that

has been the case in some of the other courts ; although I might

state here, that there have been orders granted out of court by most

of the jiidges ; orders of a certain kind ; it is proper to state that it

is not considered the best method of obtaining orders ; not con-

sidered the best method by the judges.

Q. What is the feeling of the judges so far as it is generally

understood, and what is the rule in respect to what judge application

shall be made, when application is made out of court ; whether to

the judge holding the chambers at the time, or to some other judge.

Mr. MoAK— If the counsel will confine his question to a year

ago, or some other time, it may be proper. I do not know what the

feeling may be now ; but I suppose judges now won't dare hardly

to grant any order without examining the papers ; but the question

should cover the period complained of.
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Mr. Paksons— I always mean covering that period ; and the wit-

ness will answer with that qualification.

The "Witness— I can state that the rule, so long as I can recollect,

has been, that when counsel apply for an order he should go to the

judge who has charge of the particular department of court when
the application should be made.

Q. Do you mean when the application is for a chambers order, or

for a special term order, that the application should be made to the

judge assigned to hold chambers or special term ? A. Yes, sir ; I

might explain, and it is fair to state, that sometimes counsel go to

the judge's house, and they state that they could not find the judge

who holds the chambers regularly ; and so they would make appli-

cation to another judge, who, upon the statement of counsel, would

grant the order.

By Mr. Benedict :

Q. I was going to ask whether when you apply to another judge

than the judge at chambers, whose business it is to attend to that

portion of the business, the judge to whom you apply requires any

explanation why you came to him ? A. Yes, sir, that is the rule ; as

a rule, it is so ; of course, it is just as the judge sees fit ; sometimes

it is ; he may not do it ; I don't know that they always do.

Mr. Devlin :

Q. Do you remember the order of prohibition upon the old board

of aldermen on the first day of January last ? A. Yery well, sir.

Q. Do you know who granted that order ? A. I do.

Q. Who was it ? A. Judge Brady.

Q. Where was it granted ? A. I am not. sure where it was.

Q. What day of the month was it ? A. I think it was the first

day of January.

Q. Were there any courts holding on the first day of January.?

A. No, sir.

Q. If it was granted on that day it must have been granted out

of court ? A. I have no doubt it was ; I have known of many

cases—
Q. That particular case ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That was granted out of court ? A. Yes, sir ; I wish to be

understood as saying that often writs are granted out of court, about

which no complaint is made whatever, I presume by every judge on

the bench of a court of record in our city.
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Melville B. Clabk, a witness called in behalf of the people

being duly sworn, testified as follows

:

Mr. Paesons :

Q. Mr. Clark are you the son of Abraham B. Clark ? A. I am.

Q. Was Abraham B. Clark the plaintifE in a suit brought in the

Superior Court of the city of New York by him against Abraham
Bininger, for the dissolution of a copartnership between these two

parties ? A. He was.

Q. Do you remember the date when that suit was commenced ?

A. As near as I can recollect it was about the 4th of November

;

about that time, I think.

Q. What year? A. 1869.

Q. Can you tell by reference to papers what was the exact date

upon which the suit was commenced ? A. I could.

Q. Had there been a copartnership between Mr. Clark and Mr.

Bininger? A. I had always understood they were partners; I

never saw the copartnership agreement.

Q. What was the business of the copartnership ? A. Wholesale

wines and liquors and family groceries.

Q. Where was the business conducted ? A. 92 and 94 Liberty

street.

Q. How long had you known of the existence of the copartner-

ship, or of the business done by them prior to November, 1869 ?

A. As long as I had known any thing at all ; they had always been

copartners.

Q. About how many years back of November, 1869 ; can you

recollect ? A. Well, I can recollect fifteen or eighteen years, I sup-

pose.

Q. Where did your father reside at that time ? A. 117 Park
avenue.

Q. In the city of New York ? A. In the city of New York.

Q. Did the firm have a stock, and of what, generally, did the

stock consist at the time of the dissolution of the firm ? A. It was
principally liquors.

Q. G-ive the Senate some idea of the extent of the stock ? A. Yery
large stock ; at that time I was not in that business at all, and of

course didn't known its real value ; I knew it was an immensely valu-

able stock, but the exact amount I could not say ; I supposed always

that the stock was—
M. Selden— One moment.
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Mr. Parsons :

Q. I do not desire to know what you supposed. A. I did not

know its exact value.

Q. Have you ever had any thing to do with that business ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. And have you any knowledge of the value of a stock of that

character ? A. I have now
;
yes, sir.

Q. Please state some sum beyond which, at all events, was the

value of that stock ? A. Well, it was worth fully $100,000 ; I should

judge more.

Q. At least that? A. At least that.

Q. "When did the firm become dissolved, and how, if you know ?

A. I believe it was on the 19th of November, and by a suit of my
father against Mr. Bininger.

Mr. BmmGEE

:

Q. "What if any thing had happened before the commencement of

the suit ; had a notice of any kind been given ; and if so state what

kind of a notice ?

Mr. MoAK— "We want to object to that, unless he was present

;

unless the gentleman knows the fact that the notice was given ; and

if so, it should be produced.

The "WrTNESs— I merely know by hearsay.

Mr. Parsons :

Q. Look at the paper now handed to you, and state if you can fix

the date when the firm became dissolved, and also state whether

there was such a notice, and, if so, when the notice of dissolution was

served ?

Mr. MoAK— "We desire to object to that unless this witness was

present when the notice was served. His mere conclusion that it was

served we certainly desire to object to.

Mr. Paesons—I ask him to state if he knows, and only ifhe knows ?

A. I do not.

Q. Can you, by the aid of the paper, fix the date when the firm

became dissolved? A. Tes; it became dissolved on the 19th day

of November, 1869.

.. Q. Tou state that your father on that day commenced a suit

ao-ainst Mr. Bininger ; did any proceeding in that suit take place

before Judge McCunn, and if so, when, on that day ?

Mr. MoAK— That we object to, unless the witness was present.

Mr. Paesons— Precisely ; he was present, as we suppose.

30
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Mir. MoAK— The counsel's intention may be very good, but from

the way the question is put, it would be quite likely for the witness

to answer, if he knew only by hearsay.

The Peesident— There is no presumption that the witness will

answer any question than the one asked him.

Mr. Stiokney requested the stenographer to read the question,

which was done.

A. Suit was commenced, I believe, on the last hour of the 18th

of ISTovember ; that is, midnight of the 18th of November.

Q. Now state what, you being present, took place that evening

in reference to that suit ? A. Papers were drawn up by counsel.

Q. By what counsel ? A. Mr. Mansfield Compton.

Q. Now present ? A. Now present ; my father's attorney ; and

were proceeded with in the regular way ; he went to the judge's

house and received the papers frona him necessary to go on with the

suit, whatever it was.

Q. What judge do you speak of? A. Judge McCunn.

Mr. Devlut:

Q. Did you go there with him ? A. I was at the house.

Mr. Paesons :

Q. Who went to the judge's house, and at what hour ? A. Mr.

Compton, my fatlier and myself, shortly before 12 o'clock on the

night of November 18th, 1869.

Q. About what hour of the evening was it that you went to

Judge McCunn's house ? A. That was about the hour, sir ; I don't

know more definitely than that.

Q. How shortly before midnight ? A. I suppose fifteen minutes

would cover the time.

Q. Did you take any papers with you, or Avere papers drawn on

that occasion ? A. Papers were taken by Mr. Compton, my father's

counsel.

Q. Did you see what the papers were ? A. I know it was in this

suit to settle this copartnership and appoint a receiver.

Q. Was any thing taken with you other than the papers of which

you speak, on this visit to Judge McCunn's house ? A. Not par-

ticularly that I remember of, except that my father took a couple,

of bottles of wine.

Q. What kind of wine ? A. It was German wine.

Q. Any thing else;> any convenience for getting at the wine?

A. Not that I know of ; there might have been a cork-screw.
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Q. Only state what you know, please, sir ? A. Well, there was

a cork-screw there.

Q. What took place between the time of your reaching Judge
McCunn's house, and the time when the clock struck twelve ; was

there conversation; and if so, what was said, so far as you now
remember ? A. There was conversation carried on relative to the

character of the paper; precisely what it was I don't remember
any thing more than it was relative to the papers generally ; the

subject-matter.

Q. You have stated that the paj^ers were prepared for the appoint-

ment of a receiver ; was any thing said in this conversation before

the clock struck twelve, in reference to the proposed application for

the appointment of a receiver, and was any person named who was

suggested to be receiver? A. I think that I heard the name ot

Murray Hoffman suggested ; and I heard one or two other names

there, but that is the only one I remember distinctly, because I

happened to know him by reputation, and I remember his name.

Q. Do you remember who suggested the name of Murray Hoff-

man ? A. I do not.

Q. Was Murray Hoffman appointed receiver ? A. He was not.

Q. Was any other name that you can now recall mentioned?

A. I cannot recall it.

Q. Was the name of Mr. Hanrahan mentioned ? A. Not to my
knowledge.

Q. Did you, at that time, know a person by the name of Daniel

H. Hanrahan ? A. I did not.

Q. Had you heard the name ? A. I had not.

Q. Had you been in communication with your father, in respect

to the proposed proceedings for the dissolution of this firm, prior to

the visit to Judge McCunn's house ?

Mr. Devlin—^We object to that.

Mr. Pabsons— I merely desire to know the fact ; I am not going

to ask what they said; merely whether you was then in consultation

and communication with him in regard to these proposed proceed-

ings ? A I don't think I was there at that time ; no, sir.

Q. ISTow state what took place when the clock struck twelve ? A.

The papers were signed.

Q. Signed by whom? A. Judge McCunn.

Q. Look at the two afiidavits which have been marked this day

for identification ; each entitled in the suit of Abraham L. Olarh

V. Abraham JBminger <& Co., purporting to be verified before

Judge McCunn on November 19, 1869, and state whether they were
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affidavits which on that occasion were signed by your father and

verified by Judge McCunn ? A. Those I should judge to be the

papers.

Q. And are they papers which were taken on that occasion to

Judge McOunn's house by Mr. Compton ? A. They are.

Q. How shortly after twelve were those papers signed? A.

Well, it was just shortly after twelve ; when they presumed it was

12 o'clock; I believe there was a short allowance made after it

should be 12 o'clock.

Q. An allowance for difference of time, or difference in watches ?

A. Difference of time
;
yes, sir.

Q. In the conversation on that occasion, was there any thing said

about the stock of this firm, or the value or extent of its stock ? A.

I remember it was generally alluded to, as a very valuable stock.

Q. Do you remember any amount was stated as being the value

of the stock ? A. I think my father spoke of an account of stock

having been taken a short time previous ; I think those were his

words, but the amount exactly, I don't remember.

Q. "What is your best recollection, if you have any ? A. Well, it

was a large amount ; over $100,000 ; the exact amount, I do not

remember.

Q. Look at the complaint now produced, being the first paper of

the judgment roll in the suit of Clarh v. Bininger, that being

one of the papers produced by Mr. Boese from the files of the clerk's

office of the Superior Court, and state whether that also is one of

the papers then signed by your father, and verified before Judge

McCunn ? A. That is verified on the 19th of November by my
father before Judge McCunn.

Q. And is it one of those papers, according to such recollection

as you have ? A. According to such recollection as I have
;
yes, sir.

Q. How long after the papers were signed did you, your father

and Mr. Compton remain at Judge McCunn's house ? A. A very

short time ; I cannot recollect now how long it was ; we sat there in

conversation probably half an hour, I should judge.

Q. At any time while you were there, did you hear mentioned

the name of Hanrahan ?

Mr. Devlin— The counsel has asked that question before and the

witness answered " no."

Mr. Paesons— I asked him if he heard that name mentioned

before the papers were signed ; I now ask him if he heard it men-

tioned at any time while they were there ? A. I did.

Q. Where, according to such recollection as you now have, did
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you first hear mentioned the name of Mr. Hanrahan ? A. I don't

think it was in Judge McCunn's house ; I think that was on the return

from Judge McCunn's house; I don't think I heard Hanrahan's

name mentioned in Judge McCunn's house that evening.

Q. When you left Judge McCunn's house, what became of the

papers which had heen signed while you were there ? A. That I

don't recollect.

Q. Did you see what became of any of them ? A. No, I did not.

Q. "What, if any thing, was done by yourself the next morning

with reference to any person, as receiver, taking possession of the

stock of the firm ?

Mr. Seldek— That I object to. I don't know that we are re-

sponsible for what they did. If Judge McCunn was present, then

it may be competent.

Mr. Pabsons—We suppose, sir, that when an illegal act is done,

the person by whom the act is done is responsible for the conse-

quences. But we offer this testimony for the further purpose of

showing what proceedings were subsequently done and taken before

and by Judge McCunn upon the facts that transpired the morning

succeeding, or the same morning the appointment of this receiver.

We desire to show by the testimony of the witness that this man,

Hanrahan, on the moi-ning of his appointment took possession of

this stock, and as soon as we can find the order we shall introduce

that order showing his appointment as receiver.

Mr. Selden-— All he knows about Mr. Hanrahan is, that after he

left Judge McCunn's house, he thinks his name was mentioned.

The Witness— I had the papers in my possession before 10

o'clock the next morning. [The question was put as to whether

Mr. Selden's objection should be sustained, and decided in the

negative.]

Mr. Parsons— You may state whether, the next morning, Mr.

Hanrahan, as receiver, took possession of the stock ?

Mr. Devlin— 0, no ; ask him what he did.

Q. State then what transpired the next morning, within your

knowledge, so far as it concerns any possession taken by anybody,

of the stock of this firm ? A. I received certain papers and proceed-

ings at Mr. Hanrahan's office before 10 o'clock in the morning.

Q. Fromwhom did you receive those papers ? A. That I cannot

recollect ; but I did have them in my possession before 10 o'clock

the next morning.

Q. Can you state what the papers were ? A. They were the

order appointing the receiver and injunction ; one thing and another
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of that kind ; I don't remember the exact nature of the papers ; it

was the appointment of the receiver and the injunction, or some-

thing of that sort, in connection with the suit.

Q. Had you seen these papers previously, and if so, at what time ?

A. The papers, I suppose, were those I had seen at Judge McCunn's

the night previous ; the identical papers.

Q. State whether they correspond with the papers you received

at Judge McCunn's house ?

Mr. Sblden— I think that won't do.

By Mr. Parsons :

Q. "Well, what is your recollection as to whether they were the

same papers that had been at Judge McCunn's house the previous

night? A. They were.

Q. "What did you do with those papers ? A. I handed them to

Mr. Hanrahan, and after waiting some time in his office, I went with

him and Mr. Gorham to the firm store, 92 and 94 Liberty street,

and I pointed out Mr. Bininger to Mr. Hanrahan ; Mr. Hanrahan

served him with the papers, and took possession of the store.

Q. You haven't yet stated what was the former name of the

copartnership
;
please do so ? A. Bininger & Co.

Q. How early in the morning was that ? A. That was about

11 o'clock, as near as I can recollect.

Q. "Where did you find Hanrahan ? A. In "Wall street ; I think

his office is No. 14.

Q. "What was his occupation ? A. A lawyer.

Q. "What was the firm ? A. I think it was Morgan & Hanrahan.

Q. Do you know Mr. Morgan ? A. I do.

Q. Is he now present ? A. I don't see him.

Q. Have you seen him during the session of the Senate ? A. I

saw him in the morning session.

Q. Do you know whether he is any connection of Judge McCunn,

and, if so, what ? A. I believe he is a brother-in-law of Judge

McCunn.

Q. What was the relation between him and Mr. Hanrahan ? A.

I think they were partners.

Q. In the law business ? A. In the law business.

Q. Do you know any thing about any succession by them to the

business of Judge McCunn, or of any connection between them and

Judge McCunn in business ? A. I do not.

Q. Did you see the sign over their office door, or at their office?

A. I don't distinctly recollect ; I remember seeing the letter heading.
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Mr. Selden— "We submit that is a good ways away from us.

Q. Have you subsequently seen Judge McCunn at that office ?

A. I hare not ; no, sir.

Q. Look at the paper now handed you, being a receiver's bona
in the suit of Clark v. Bininger, and being one of the papers pro-

duced by Mr. Boese from the clerk's office of the Superior Court,

and state whether that is one of the papers that was presented before

Judge McCunn on the occasion of which you have spoken ?

Mr. Selden— The counsel don't intend to pat the question in

that form, I think ; the proper question is, I think, whether he has

ever seen that paper before, and where he has seen it.

Q. Look at the paper shown you, and state whether you have

ever seen it before, and if so, where ? A. I never saw that before

to my knowledge.

Q. Have you ever seen the signature of James F. Morgan ? A.

I have.

Q. Are you acquainted with his handwriting ? A. Pretty well

;

yes, sir.

Q. State whether this receiver's bond, this paper, is signed by

him, or whether that handwriting is his ? A. I don't recognize that

as being his ; it may be ; I don't recognize it.

Q. Do you know the signature of Mr. Hanrahani A. I hardly

know it well enough to swear to it.

Mr. Paesons—We now introduce the original complaint in the

suit of ClarlcY. Bininger ; the two affidavits made by Abraham

B. Clark, and verified before Judge McCunn on the 19th of Novem-

ber, 1869, in the suit to each of which the witness has testified; and

we also introduce the receiver's bond in that suit produced by Mr.

Boese from the files of the clerk's office of the Superior Court.

Q. While those papers are being examined, let me ask you what

became of the two bottles of wine ? A. I don't know, sir.

Q. What ? A. I don't know what became of it.

Q. Where were they, and what became of them down to the time

you left Judge McCunn's house? A. I guess we left them behind.

Q. What became of the cork-screw ? A. Must have had that, too.

Q. How did that happen to remain there ? A. Probably was

forgotten.

Q. Was the wine opened when you were there ? A. I think one

bottle was.

Q. And the other remained ? A. Tes, sir.

Q. Was the one bottle that was opened drank? A. I think it

was, or the greater portion of it.
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Q. Did they all take a part ? A. I think they did, if I recollect

right.

Q. "What part did the judge take? A. That I don't remember.

Q. Did he take any part ? A. I suppose he did.

M-T. Selden— That part of the judge

!

Mr. Paesons— That is the part for which he is suited.

Q. Is there any objection to those papers ?

Mr. Selden—• Yes, sir ; we object to the papers on the ground

that -they are transactions prior to the time when the judge came

into office ; we do not suppose it is allowable to go back of the time

when he came into office for his acts, as not furnishing a ground

upon which he can be removed ; I don't know that we have any

other objection to the papers.

The Peesident : Do counsel desire to be heard upon the subject ?

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : We desire to say this ; these are

papers upon which was founded Judge McCunn's own act present

before him, and upon which was made this order, and we are unable

to see what objection can be successfully made to them.

Mr. Paesons—We had supposed that question was passed upon

by the Senate in overruling the demurrer in Judge Prindle's case

;

although this act was prior to the present term of office of Judge

McCunn, it is one of a series of acts which continue right down
into his present term of office and almost to the present time, as a

mere history of the case, with a view of the introduction of evi-

dence of such acts as transpired during his present term of office,

and we suppose it is competent in view of the action of the Senate

in Judge Prindle's case.

Mr. Selden— I do not wish to argue this question now; I am
willing it shall be passed upon by the Senate without argument ; we
don't waive any thing by neglecting to argue the question. [The

question was put as to the objection, and it was decided in the

negative, and the papers were received in evidence.]

The summons and complaint are in the words following:
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Exhibit 4.

SUPERIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abraham B. Clark, Plaintiff,

agst.

Abbaham BiifiNGEB, Defendant.

Summons for relief.

To the defendcmt, Abeaham Biningeb :

You are hereby summoned and required to answer the complaint
in this action, of which a copy is herewith served upon you, and to

serve a copy of your answer to the said complaint on the subscriber

at his office, No. 238 Broadway, New York city, within twenty
days after the service hereof, exclusive of the day of such service

;

and if you fail to answer the complaint within the time aforesaid,

the plaintiff in this action will apply to the court for the relief

demanded in the complaint.

M. COMPTON,
Plaintiff's Attorney.

Dated New York, Novenriber 19, 1869.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abeaham B. Claek, Plaintiff,
j

agst.

Abraham Biningbk, Defendant.

The plaintiff, by this, his complaint, states

:

I. That on or about the 1st day of June, 1861, this plaintiff and
the defendant entered into a copartnership, under the firm name
and style of " A. Bininger & Co." for the purpose of carrying on
the importation and sale of liquors, etc., under the following articles

of copartnership heretofore annexed, marked Exhibit "A," and

made a part of this bill of complaint.

II. That the plaintiff hath kept and performed said articles of

copartnership on his part to be kept and performed.

III. The plaintiff and defendant continued to act as such partners

and carry on said business, at the city of New York and elsewhere,

under said articles of copartnership, in conformity therewith, from

said 1st day of June, 1861, until the 4th day of November, 1869, on

which last-mentioned day the said defendant gave this plaintiff the

following notice

:

31
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" New Yoek, November 4, 1869.

Abraham B. Claek, Esq.

:

Dear sir— Please take notice that under the existing articles of

our copartnership agreement providing for its dissolution on giving

fifteen days' notice in writing of such dissolution, I hereby give you

notice that, on and after the 19th day of November, 1869, the part-

nership heretofore existing between us, under the firm of A. Bin-

inger & Co., will be dissolved.

Very respectfully yours,

ABRAHAM BINHSTGEE."

Whereby said partnership became dissolved on said 19th day of

November, 1869.

lY. That the plaintifi" and said defendant made their contribu-

tions to the capital of said copartnership pursuant to said articles,

and thereupon the business contemplated therein was commenced

and carried on by them, at numbers 92 and 94 Liberty street in

this city and elsewhere, and that they now own said premises,

which is very valuable, and other real estate, and a large and val-

uable stock of goods. That they have also a large amount of debts

due them, and a valuable good-will of ninety- three years' standing,

which are of far greater value taken together than if separated ; and

that no equitable division of the assets and good-will of said copart-

ship can be made without great loss to both parties, except by a sale

thereof and a division of the proceeds. That said good-will is of far

greater value than the entire assets of said firm.

V. The plaintiff further states and shows that at the time of the for-

mation of the said copartnership, and simultaneous with the execu-

tion of said articles, this plaintiff", in consideration of the defendant's

advancing to this plaintiff the sum of $45,000, to be contributed to

the capital of said copartnership, as his portion or share thereof, this

plaintiff executed to this defendant under his hand and seal his indi-

vidual half interest or share in the stock, trade, goods, wares and

merchandise, choses in action, book accounts, belonging to the old

firm of A. Bininger & Co., prior to said 1st day of June, 1861, of

which this plaintiff and the defendant were equal partners and

equally interested therein, excepting certain book accounts and

claims in a schedule annexed to said bill of sale ; that exhibit B,

hereto annexed and made a part of this bill of complaint, is a copy

of said bill of sale and schedule annexed thereto.

YI. That, on said 1st day of June, 1861, and at the time of the

execution of said bill of sale, and simultaneously therewith, the said
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defendant executed to this plaintiif an agreement wherein and
whereby for a valuable consideration, therein expressed, the said

defendant agreed to and with this plaintiff, that if he would pay or

cause to be paid out of his shares and proportion of the net profits

of said copartnership to the said defendant on or before the dissolu-

tion of said copartnership the sum of $45,000, in said bill of sale

expressed, he would retransfer and reconvey to this plaintiff all the

property proportions, right, title and interest, or the proceeds

thereof, so conveyed by this plaintiff to said defendant ; that exhibit

0, hereto annexed and made a part of this bill of complaint, is a

copy of said agreement last mentioned.

YII. The plaintiff further states and shows that said defendant

did not pay to or contribute toward the capital stock of said copart-

nership the said sum of $45,000, as in said bill of sale expressed,

and in accordance with his agreement, as a consideration for the

execution of the same ; but on the contrary thereof, he only advanced

to and contributed the sum of $40,501.

VIII. The plaintiff further states and shows that since the forma-

tion of said firm there has been collected and placed into said firm,

of said debts, claims and demands, receipts from the operation of

said bill of sale, the sum of $35,000, one-half of which sum belongs

to this plaintiff, and which the plaintiff claims was a payment on

said sum of $40,501, so advanced as aforesaid.

IX. The plaintiff further shows and states that on or about the 22d

day of July, 1865, this plaintiff paid to the said defendant, by the sale

or purchase by him (the defendant) of certain lands on Eiver Creek, in

the State of Virginia, $22,363.13, of which sum this plaintiff stands

credited on the books of said firm as against said advance hereinbefore

mentioned by said defendant, which sum, together with the interest

thereon from the day of said sale, this plaintiff is entitled to set off

against said $40,501.

X. The plaintiff further shows and states that, on the 9th day of

November, 1869, the plaintiff notified the said defendant in writing,

that he appropriated so much of his share, proportion and interest

of the net profits of said farm as would pay and liquidate the said

sum of $45,000, in said agreement provided, and at the same time

demanded a reconveyance over, and transfer of said real estate prop-

erty, assets, claims and demands fn said bill of sale so conveyed to

said defendant on the I'st day of June, 1861 ; that exhibit " D,"

hereto annexed, is a copy of said notice, and made a part of this bill

of complaint ; that said defendant has not reconveyed and retrans-
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ferred said property, or any part thereof, but, on the contrary, has

refused and still refuses to retransfer and reconvey the same.

XI. The plaintiif further shows and states, that the said defend-

ant has, since the formation of said copartnership, without the con-

sent of this plaintiff, withdrawn from said firm the sum of $50,000,

in cash and notes, for the benefit of his brother, Andrew Bininger,

and for which he has taken security to himself individually, and not

to said firm, and that said sum is a dead and outstanding claim

against the said Andrew Bininger ; and that said defendant denies

to this plaintiff any and all interest in and to said seciirity or par-

ticipation therein.

XII. The plaintiff further shows and states, that the said defend-

ant has, since the formation of said copartnership, withdrawn from

said firm, without the consent of this plaintiff, the sum of $25,000^

of the firm's notes, which he loaned to one David "Wagstaff, a

brother-in-law of said defendant, a part of which notes have been

paid by said firm ; and a part of which are still an outstanding claim

against said firm ; that the said Wagstaff has failed, and said sum of

$25,000 is a dead and outstanding claim in the hands of said firm

against the said "Wagstaff.

XIII. The plaintiff further shows and states, that the said defend-

ant has, since the formation of said partnership, without the con-

sent of this plaintiff, withdrawn large and exorbitant sums from said

firm for private uses and personal expenses ; that during the defend-

ant's absence in Europe, in the years 1865 and 1866, as hereinafter

stated, the defendant drew enormous sums of money from said firm,

amounting, in the aggregate, to $40,000, and upward ; that said

drafts upon said firm greatly embarrassed and crippled their business,

and made it necessary to raise money on the stock.

XIV. The plaintiff further shows and states that, in July, 1865,

the defendant went to Europe, and returned in November, 1866,

that during said defendant's absence the entire control and manage-

ment of the business of said firm was left to this plaintiff, as a part-

ner thereof; that he bought goods, signed notes and checks, all of

which acts and doings have been ratified by the said defendant ; and

he, the plaintiff, further says, that he signed the checks of said firm

as such partner up to the said 9th day of November, 1869.

XV. The plaintiff further shows and states, that the period covered

by the defendant's absence in Europe, as aforesaid, was the most

profitable year of any time during the continuance of said copartner-

ship ; and that said firm made, during said year, over $60,000 ; that

said firm has done a large and profitable business since said 1st day
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of June, 1861 ; that the profits of said firm since said 1st day of

June, 1861, to the 4th day of November, 1869, amount to, in the

aggregate, $300,000, upwards.

XVI. That by reason of the withdrawal from said firm said sums

of money and notes, the said firm became crippled and embarrassed

in their business, and were compelled to borrow large sums of money
at difi'erent times, at ruinous rates, to replace the moneys so with-

drawn by said defendant ; that, on or about the 4:th day of Novem-
ber said firm was compelled to suspend payment, and the plaintiff

charges that said suspension was attributed mainly to the acts and

doings of said defendant, as hereinbefore mentioned, and in the

fiscal management of the affairs of said firm.

XYII. The plaintiff further shows and states, that said defendant

has, since said suspension, usurped the entire control and manage-

ment of said business, and has deprived to this plaintiff any right or

voice in the liquidation or management of the same, and has threat-

ened to kick this plaintiff out of their said store, Nos. 92 and 94

Liberty street, on and after the 19th day of November instant (1869),

if he interferes in any manner with the settlement of said business.

XVIII. The plaintiff further shows and states, upon his informa-

tion and belief, that said defendant has since said suspension, opened

an account in the Atlantic Bank in the city of New York, as exe-

cutor, in which he has deposited all the receipts of money received by

said firm since said suspension, as executor ; and the plaintiff chai'ges

and verily believes that the opening of said account and the deposit-

ing of said moneys as aforesaid, is for the purpose of converting said

moneys to his own use, and to deprive this plaintiff of his rights in

said firm.

XIX. The plaintifffurther shows and states that the assets of said

firm amount to the sum of $500,000, or thereabouts. That the

entire indebtedness of said firm does not exceed the sum of $200,000,

$135,000 of which is borrowed money at enormous and ruinous

rates, some part of which is due to friends of said defendant, and

which the said defendant is interested in, in some manner, as the

plaintiff' is informed and believes, and so charges this fact to be, and

if the management and settlement of said business be left to said

defendant, the right and interest of this plaintiff' and creditors of

said firm will be greatly jeopardized, if not sacrificed.

XX. The plaintiff further shows and states that the said defen-

dant has drawn, since said 1st day of June, 1 869, from the assets of

said firm, for interest on said $45,000, the following sums ; In Jan-

uary, 1869 the sum of $1,019.65 ; February 28, $950.12 ; March 31,
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$953.36; April 30, $990.40 ; May 31, $1,018.69 ; June 80, $930.55

;

June 3, $650 ; July 31, $1,094.24, and tliat previous to said 1st of

January, 1869, from said 1st day of June, 1861, about $7,000 a year.

XXI. The plaintiff farther shows and states that the stock in

trade and assets of said firm on said 1st day of June, 1861, at the

time of the execution of said bill of sale amounting to and were of

the value of $156,227.78, and their book accounts, notes, etc.,

belonging to said firm, were of the value of $50,000 ; real estate on

Liberty street, $125,000, subject to a mortgage of $24,000 ; on

Thames street about $40,000, subject to a mortgage of $4,000.

XXII. The plaintiff further shows and states that at the time of

the serving of said notice by this plaintiff on said defendant, herein-

before mentioned, there was • a sufficient sum of the net profits, or

share thereof, belonging to this plaintiff, to have paid and discharged

any sum due and owing to said defendant by reason of said advance

or loan to this plaintiff on said first day of June, 1861.

XXIII. The plaintiff further shows and states that upon a final

acconnting between this plaintiff and said defendant, there will be a

large sum found due to this plaintiff (after paying all just debts of

said firm) over and above all advances or other sums made by said

defendant to this plaintiff or said firm.

Wherefore, the plaintiff demands judgment that the said partner-

ship be dissolved ; that a receiver of the property, rights and good-

will of said partnership, be appointed, with power to dispose of the

same for the benefit of all parties entitled thereto, and that the pro-

ceeds thereof be divided, after the payment of all just debts of said

partnership and costs of this action between the parties hereto,

according to their respective rights, and that the defendant be

enjoined and restrained from interfering with the property, rights

and good-will of said partnership.

M. COMPTOlSr,

Plaintiff ^s Attorney.

City ast) Cotintt of New Toek, ss. :

Abraham B. Clark, the plaintiff above named being duly sworn,

says the feregoing complaint is true of his own knowledge, except

as to the matters therein stated on information and belief, and as to

those matters he believes it to be true.

Subscribed to before me this ] . -dtii- t, ra k -dtt
19th day of Nov., 1869.

\

ABM. B. CLAEK.

J. Kenton, Justice.
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N"ew Toek, Novemher 9, 1869.

AiEAHAM BiNiNGEE, Esq.

:

Sir— Take notice that I hereby appropriate so much of my share,

proportion and interest of the net profits of the firm of " A. Binin-

ger & Co.," as will liquidate the sum ot $45,000, provided for in the

agreement of the undersigned and yourself on June 1, 1861. And
I hereby demand of you the immediate reconveyance to me of all

my share, proportion and interest of, in and to, the stock in trade,

goods, wares and merchandise belonging to the firm of " A. Binin-

ger & Co.," of which was conveyed to you under and by virtue of a

"bill of sale" dated the 1st day of June, 1861. And, also, a recon-

veyance of all those certain pieces and parcels of land situate, lying

and being in the city and county of New York, distinguished by

numbers 92 and 9t Liberty street, and 18 and 20 Thames street, as

provided in said agreement of June 1, 1861, and as conveyed to

you by a certain indenture bearing date the 1st day of June, 1861,

between the undersigned and Isabella, his wife, and Abraham Bin-

inger, and recorded on the 6th day of July, 1861, in liber 843, page

214, in the register's office of the city and county of New York.

ABEAHAM B. CLAEK.

Served by J. W. J., Nov. 9, 1869, on Abraham Bininger, corner

Thames and Liberty streets.

Aeticles of copaetneeship made this 1st day of June, in the year

one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one, between Abraham
Bininger, of the city of New York, of the first part, and Abror-

ham B. Clark, of the said city, of the second part.

"Wheeeas the said parties to these presents have heretofore been

partners in trade, transacting business under the name and style of

A. Bininger & Co., in pursuance of articles of copartnership here-

tofore made and executed between them.

And wheeeas, the said party of the second part hereto, hath sold,

assigned, transferred and set over, unto the said party of the first

part, all his share, proportion and interest, stock in trade, goods,

wares and merchandise, book accounts, promissory notes, things in

action, property, assets, and effects, of what nature and kind soever,

and wheresoever situate, belonging to said firm, saving and except-

ing sundry specified book accounts, claims and demands, to have and

to hold tlie same for his own sole use and benefit forever.

And wheeeas, the said party of the first part desires to retain the

benefit and advantage of the knowledge and skill of the said party
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of the second part in the business heretofore carried on by them,

and the said parties have determined to continue their said copart-

nership, but it has been agreed between the said parties, that the

covenants, stipulations and agreements contained in the said articles

of copartnership, heretofore made and executed, shall cease, and that

the affairs of the said copartnership, and the rights, shares and

interests of the said parties respectively, shall be as the same are

hereafter established. Now, therefore, these presents witness, that

the said parties have agreed to and with each other, in manner and

form following, that is to say

:

First. The said partnership shall be carried on as heretofore, under

the name, style and firm of A. Bininger & Co.

Second. All the fiscal transactions of the said firm, of what nature

or kind soever, shall at all times be and remain under the sole and

exclusive control and management of the said party of the first part.

Third. That the said party of the second part shall not, nor will

sign nor indorse any bill, bond, note, specialty, nor make use of the

name of the firm at any time during the continuance of this copart-

nership, without the express license and consent of the said party of

the firso part, and no longer and for no other purpose than for the

period and purpose such express license shall justify.

Fourth. All the stock in trade, goods, wares and merchandise of

the said firm, and all money in banks and elsewhere, book accounts,

promissory notes, claims and demands, and all assets, property and

eflTeets whatsoever, used in or belonging to the said joint trade and

business, shall be the sole and exclusive property of the said party

of the first part ; and on the termination of this copartnership, as

herein limited or sooner, dissolution thereof shall be held and

jetained by the said party of the first part ; subject to an accounting

for the proportion of the said party of the second part in the net

profits of the said copartnership, as hereinafter provided.

Fifth. An account of all the stock in trade and of the debts and

fcredits of the said copartnership, shall be made on or about the 1st

day of March, in each year, during the copartnership, and the net

j)rofits of the said joint trades shall then be ascertained and deter-

mined, and the same shall be appropriated to the said parties as fol-

lows, that is to say : The sum of $7,000 shall be first set apart to the

credit of the said party of the first part, as compensation for the use

of his capital and stock in trade in said copartnership, the residue

of said net profits shall then be divided into two equal parts, and one-

half thereof shall be set apart to the credit of the said party of the

'first part and the remaining half to the said party of the second part.
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Sixth. The said party of the first part may draw from the concern

the whole or such part of the net profits to be set apart to him as

aforesaid, as he shall deem proper, and also so much of the capital

used in the said concern as he may deem proper, over and above the

sum of $100,000, which sum shall always be retained therein. The
said party of the second part shall not draw from the portion of the net

profits which shall be set apart to him as aforesaid, more than $6,000

in any one year, and not exceeding $500 in any one calendar month.

Seventh. Each of the said parties shall be allowed lawful interest

on his portion of the net profits of said firm as shall not be with-

drawn by him.

Eighth. This copartnership shall continue until the 1st day of

March, in the year 1866, subject, however, to be previously dissolved

by either of the said parties after fifteen days' notice to the other of

them.

In witness whereof the said parties to these presents have here-

unto set their hands and seals, the day and year first above written.

ABKAHAM BININGER. [l. s.]

ABEAHAM B. OLAEK. [l. s.]

Sealed and delivered in the presence of Edward De Witt.

STATE OF NEW YOEK, )
^^ .

City and County of JSTew Toek, j
"

On this ninth day of July, A. D. 1861, before me came Edward

De Witt, the subscribing witness to the foregoing instrument, to me
known, who being by me duly sworn, saith that he resides in the

town of Tonkers, in the county of Westchester ; that he knows

Abraham Bininger and Abraham B. Clark, the individuals described

in and who executed the said instrument, and that the same was

executed and acknowledged by them in deponent's presence, and that

he, the deponent, thereupon subscribed his name as a witness thereto.

JAMES G. COOPEE,
Commissioner of Deeds.

Whekeas, Abraham B. Clark has sold, assigned, transferred and

conveyed to Abraham Bininger all his share, proportion and right,

title and interest in and to all the partnership assets, property and

effects of what nature and kind soever, in possession or belonging

to the mercantile firm of A. Bininger & Co., saving and excepting

sundry specified boak accounts, claims and demands, and also in and

to certain real estate situate in the city of New York, distinguished

by the numbers 92 (ninety-two) and 94 (ninety-four) Liberty street,

and 18 (eighteen) and 20 (twenty') Thames street.

32
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And whekeas, The said Abraham B. Clark and Abraham Binin-

ger have entered into new articles of copartnership under the said

name and style of A. Bininger & Co., whereby it is agreed that

the net prolits of the said copartnership shall be equally divided

between the said parties, after paying thereout to the said Abraham
Bininger the sum of $7,000 per annum, as compensation for the use

of his capital and stock in trade.

And wheeeas. The said Abraham B. Clark, desires an opportu-

nity to re-purchase from the said share and proportion, and right,

title and interest in the said assets, property and effects of the said

copartnership and in said real estate.

Now, therefore, this agreement witnesseth that the said Abraham
Bininger, party of the first part, to these presents, in considera-

tion of these premises and of the sum of one dollar, hereby promises

and agrees, to and with the said Abraham Bininger Clark, party

hereto of the second part, that if he, the said Abraham B. Clark,

shall and will pay, or cause to be paid, to the said Abraham Binin

ger the sum of $45,000, on or before the dissolution of the said

copartnership, either in accordance with the limitation thereof, speci-

fied in said agreement, or in accordance with the notice for that pur-

pose in said agreement, provided then, that he, the said Abraham
Bininger, shall and will re-transfer and re-convey to the said Abra-

ham B. Clark all the said share and proportion, right, title and

interest so conveyed and transfei'red by said Clark to said Bininger,

as above mentioned, or the proceeds thereof. And the said Abra-

ham Bininger Clark hereby promises and agrees that he will pur-

chase the said share, proportion and interest, and pay for the same

in the manner aforesaid, and for that purpose will appropriate all his

share and proportion of the net profits of the said copartnership

over and above the annexed sum of $6,000 specified in the said arti-

cles of copartnership.

Signed and sealed this first day of June, in the year one thou-

sand eight hundred and sixty-one.

ABEAHAM BININGER. [l. s.j

ABM. B. CLAEK. [l. s.]

Witness : The words " saving and excepting sundry specified book

accounts, claims and demands," interlined between the fifth and sixth

lines on first page, and the word " argument," at the end of the

instrument, erased, and "articles of copartnership " interlined, all

before execution.

Edwaed De Witt.
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STATE OF NEW YOEK,
CiTT AND County of New Toek, \

**'

On this ninth day of July, A. D. 1861, before me came Edward
De Witt, the subscribing witness to the foregoing instniment, to me
known, who being by me duly sworn, saith that he resides in the

town of Yonkers, in the county of Westchester ; that he knows
Abraham Bininger aiid Abraham B. Clark, the individuals described,

and who executed the said instrument, and that the same was exe-

cuted and acknowledged by them respectively in deponent's presence,

and that the deponent thereupon subscribed his^ name as a witness

thereto.

JAMES G. COOPEE,
Commissioner of Deeds.

Know all men by these peesents, that I, Abraham B. Clark,

of the city of JS'ew York, of the first part, for and in consideration of

the sum of $45,000, lawful money of the United States, to me in

hand paid, at or before the ensealing and delivery of these presents,

by Abraham Binninger, of the said city of New York, of the

second part, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, have bar-

gained and sold, and by these presents do grant and convey unto

the said party of the second part, his executors, administrators and

assigns, all my share and proportion, and interest of, in and to the

stock in trade, goods, ware and merchandise belonging to the firm

of A. Bininger & Co., of which I am a member, now being in the

city of New York, or wherever else the same may now be ; and

also all the book accounts, promissory notes, things in action, claim

and demands whatsoever ; and all other assets, property and effects

belonging to the said firm, saving and excepting all my share, right,

title and interest in and to the book accounts, claims and demands

specified in the schedule hereto annexed ; to have and to hold the

same unto the said party of the second part, his executors, admin-

istrators and assigns forever. And I do for myself, my heirs,

executors and administrators, covenant and agree to act with the

said party of the second part, to warrant and defend the sale of the

said property, share, proportion and interest hereby sold unto the

said party of the second part, his executors, administrators and

assigns, against all and every person whomsoever.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and seal, the first

day of June, in the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one.

ABEAHAM B. CLAEK. [l. s.]

Sealed and delivered in the presence of Edward De Witt.
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Schedule referred to in the within bill of sale

:

Blair & Chamberlayne, Eiehmond, Va $1,224 32

J. P. & S. E. Ballard, Richmond, Ya 1,287 42

J. P. Ballard, Richmond, Va 10,230 00

E. W. Tompkins, Richmond, Va 1,985 58

Minnis & Co., Richmond, Va 447 57

White & Toung, Petersburg, Va 71 26

Henry Paunill, Petersburg, Va 63 68

G. W. Sutherland, Petersburg, Va 359 98

J. L. Carrington & Co., Richmond Va 1,212 52

J. L. Carrington, Petersburg, Va 533 87

Alex. Wilson, Petersburg, Va 721 98

A. D. Thompson, Petersburg, Va. ($657.50, $48.28) .

.

405 78

S. R. Ausman, Hampton, Va 153 70

Walker Mears, Wilmington, IS". C 336 20

Jas. Cassidy, Wilmington, N. C 671 05

I. G. Burr, Wilmington, IST. C 36 00

J. H. Elamm, Wilmington, IST. C 192 00

37 25

S. J. Carter, Nashville, Tenn 2,984 40

Kendig & Cook, Memphis, Tenn 50 00

T. T. Tobin, Houston, Tex 545 55

A. G. Rathburn, Galveston, Tex 102 78

J. M. Hall, Hall's Bluff 1,284 21

T. A. Caswell, St. Louis, Mo 1,774 21

Scanlan Bros., St. Louis, Mo 2,539 05

R. M. Scanlan, St. Louis, Mo 441 36

C. Gautier, Washington, D. C 1,771 49

M. D. & T. R. Fields, Washington, D. C 1,677 41

Jno. Libby, Washington, D. C 1,264 58

-, Charleston, S. C 4,222 50

M. S. Foote, Savannah, Ga 556 40

M. Duggan, Savannah, Ga 1,097 06

V. R. G. Ross, Savannah, Ga 253 44

A. Bhuee, Savannah, Ga 67 38

R. Bradley, Savannah, Ga 18 00

S. B. Robbins, Augusta, Ga 934 55

H. Sanford 20 00

Van Marcus, Columbus, 1,193 56

H. Cook, Columbus, 515 93

Wm. Whippier, Macon 1,662 34

E. Manssenst, Macon 573 28
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Asa Holt, Mobile, Alabama $2,441 48
M. H. Kayford, Mobile, Alabama 680 53

, Huntsville, Alabama 2,52Y 23
W. C. Eaymond, New Orleans, La 605 To
McLean & Obi, New Orleans, La 451 55

Jas. Syms, New Orleans, La 2,348 00
James Donovan 976 18

ABM. B. OLAEK.

Indorsed: Superior Court. Ahraham B. Cla/rJc v. Abraham
Bininger. Summons and complaint. M. Compton, plaintiff's

attorney, 231 Broadway. "Exhibit 4." C. E. D. Filed Novem-
ber 24, 1869.

Mr. Paesons— "We desire now to have it noted that unless the

other side desire, we do not put in evidence the two alEdavits which
were testified to by Mr. Boese, and the present witness. "We next

read the receiver's bond.

Mr. Devlin— Mr. President: If the counsel will allow me to

interrupt him, the counsel on this side of the chamber consider it

vital that all these papers should be printed in full, in order to see

that a good case was made out before Judge McCunn in issuing an

injunction, and appointing a receiver on the dissolution of the part-

nership. Not only the complaint, but all the affidavits which were

submitted to him.

Mr. Parsons— Do the counsel on the other side deem it neces-

sary first to print the original complaint and the copy ?

Mr. Devlin— Only the original. We think it was proper to

show by the witness all the papers before Judge McCunn at the time

the order was made, but one of those papers consists of a copy of

the original complaint, then also before him, with two afiidavits

referring to that copy. "We don't think it material to put in evidence

those papers, inasmuch as they are not much more than a duplica-

tion of the original complaint, then the afiidavits should go in, and

the reference will be the original complaint, and the afiidavits ?

Mr. Paesons— No objection to that. The two afiidavits, testified

to by the witness as being verified November 19, 1869, before Judge

McCunn, is also offered in evidence, but that the copy complaint

referred to in one of those affidavits is not to be printed, it being

copy of original complaint, which has been marked "Exhibit 4,"

and the affidavits will be marked Exhibit 5 and 6.
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Exhibit "C."

SUPEEIOK COTJET— City of New Toek.

Abraham B. Clark
agit.

Abraham Bininger.

City and Goimty of New York, ss.

:

Abraliam B. Clark, the plaintiff above named, being duly sworn,

says that this action has been actually commenced against the said

defendant for a settlement of partnership between the plaintiff and

defendant, upon the summons and complaint of the plaintiff, a copy

of which is hereto annexed and made a part of this affidavit ; that

he has read the said complaint in this action and knows the contents

thereof ; that he is familiar with all the material matters stated in

said complaint, and has actual knowledge, except as to the matters

therein stated on information and belief, and as to those matters he

believes to be true, and that, from such knowledge, he knows that

the matters of fact therein are true.

ABRAHAM B. CLAEK.
Subscribed and affirmed to before me )

this 19th day of November, 1869. j

J. Kenton, Justice.

Exhibit 5.

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Abraham B. Clark
ag%t.

Abraham BiuiNaBB.

City and County of New Yorh, ss.

:

Abraham B. Clark, the plaintiff above named, being duly sworn,

says : That on the breaking out of hostilities between the North and
South, known as the " southern rebellion," and the general discredit

of the houses, having done business with the South, together with the

sudden cutting off of remittances from that quarter, rendered it pru-

dent for said firm of " A. Bininger & Co." to increase their working
capital. That said defendant proposed to this deponent, on or about

the said 1st day June, 1861, to furnish the amount of capital required,

if deponent would execute to him a bill of sale of his interests in

the assets of said firm at that time, as a security for his proportion of

said loan or advance. That in this extremity, deponent executed to
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said defendant in confidence, said " Exhibit B " in said complaint

mentioned, reserving his one-half interest in the collection of debts

due from Southern debtors to said firm, and took back from said

defendant a defieience of the same, marked " Exhibit C," mentioned

in said complaint. That said " bill of sale " was not intended as an

absolute conreyance of said deponent's in said firm, but only a secu-

rity for said advance or loan. That said advance or loan is the same,

and is the only consideration for the execution of the said " bill of

sale " or " Exhibit C," mentioned in the complaint. Deponent further

says : That he and said defendant entered into copartnership with

one Fisher, in the year 1821 ; that said defendant did not take any

active part in said business until the year 1836 ; that, from the year

1821 to said 1836, the business was conducted and managed by this

deponent and said Fisher, and that from 1836 to the 1st day of June,

1861, this deponent chiefly conducted and managed said business.

ABM. B. CLAEK.
Subscribed and affirmed before me

)

this 19th day of November, 1869. f

J. Kentoit, JusUce.

Indorsed: Exhibit 5, C. E. D.

The next read in evidence, the receiver's bond in the same suit,

upon which was made the order appointing the receiver. It is a

bond executed by Daniel H. Hanrahan as principal, and of Jas. F.

Morgan and Wm. E. Grorham as sureties. It purports to be in the

sum of $10,000. It is acknowledging and the justification of the wit-

ness dated November 19, 1869. The bond is dated November 18,

1869. It is indorsed " I approve of the within bond, and of the

sufficiency of the sureties, November 19, 1869."

JOHN H. McCUNN, Justice.

Filed Novewher 19, 1869.

The Peesident—Any thing further from this witness ?

Mr. Paesons— Yes, sir.

Q. Mr. Clark, where did you reside in November, and succeeding

November, 1869 ? A. 47 Park avenue.

Q. "With your father ? A. Yes, sir, with my father.

Q. You have spoken of your going to Judge McCunn's residence

;

where was his residence at that time ? A. Twenty-first street, west

of Seventh avenue.

Q. Down to that time, had there been any acquaintance between

your father and Judge McCimn, or any member of your father's

family, so far as you know ? A. There had not.
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Q. Did you, subsequent to Mr. Hanrahan's taking possession of

the stock of the firm, have any interview, or were you present at

any interview with Judge McCunn ? A. Yes, sir, I was.

Q. When and where was it ? A. Shortly after the commencement
of the suit, at my father's house.

Q. How shortly after the commencement of the suit ? A. I do

not remember exactly ; I should judge it was six or seven days after-

ward ; five or six days.

Q. At what hour ? A. Generally quite late ; near midnight.

Q. From the time Hanrahan was appointed receiver, on how
many occasions do you know Judge McCunn to have called at your

father's house ? A. Oh, several times ; I don't remember, precisely.

Q. How many such occasions do you remember ? A. Distinctly,

I could remember three or four occasions.

Q. State what took place on the first occasion when Judge McCunn
so called ? A. I think it was in relation to the federal suits which

had been commenced, or something of that nature.

Q. How long was he present there ? A. On that occasion I think

he was present probably upward of two hours, as near as I can

recollect.

Q At what hour did he come ? A. Probably 11 o'clock, or may
be half-past 10.

Q. Do you remember an order, or any order made in the suit of

Clark against Bininger, by Judge Fithian ? A. I remember the

suit before him.

Q. Some proceedings before Judge Fithian ? A. Tes, sir ; some
proceedings before him.

Q. Do you remember any conversation at your father's house,

between Judge HcCunn and your father, in respect to any order

granted by Judge Fithian ? A. Yes, sir ; I remember he advised

the employment of Clark, Fithian's partner.

Q. When was that ? A. That was shortly after the commence-
ment of the proceedings.

Q. Can you state whether or not that was the first occasion when
Judge McCunn was to your father's house ? A. I think it was.

.
Q. And how shortly after the commencement of the suit? A.

Well, it could not have been more than five or six days ; five days,

probably.

Q. What was said at that time in respect to any order which had
been made by Judge Fithian, that had been made or would be made ?

A. I don't remember positively; I know that Judge McCunn ad-
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vised the employing of Clark ; he said he was a very able lawyer

and advised his employ.
^

Q. What was it that Olark was to be employed to do, according

to what was said at that time ? A. That I don't really recollect

;

some motion to be made or something of that kind.

Q. Before what judge was such motion to be made ; what was said

in that interview in respect to the proceeding that was to take place

before Judge Fithian ? A. I don't remember what the case was

about, except that Clark was to be employed, and the case was to

come up before Judge Fithian ; what the exact nature of it was I do

not at this time remember.

Q. Did your father know Mr. Clark at that time 1 A. He never

had met him before to my knowledge.

Q. What did Judge McCunn say in reference to Clark ? A. He
said he was a very able lawyer, and that he was a partner of Judge

Fithian, and would have great weight with him, or matter to that

effect.

Q. Was Judge Fithian a judge of the Superior Court. A. He
was.

Q. The same court as Judge McCunn presided over ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long was Judge McCunn present at your father's house

on that occasion ? A. Probably an hour.

Q. Who were present at the interview besides yourself and Judge

McCunn, if anybody ? A. I believe Mr. Compton and Mr. Hoff-

man, my brother-in-law, and one on two members of the family.

Q. What members do you refer to ? My mother was present,

and my sister, and probably my brother.

Q. Do you remember any occasion when Judge McCunn was at

your father's house and any thing taking place about any proposed

settlement of this suit of your father against Mr. Biainger, and if

so, I desire you to state what transpired on that occasion while

Judge McCunn was present ? A. I remember the proposition made

by Mr. Bininger, through Mr. Titus ; was presented to my father,

and he in courtesy to Judge McCunn, and the kindness he had

apparently taken about our family, asked Judge McCunn's opinion

about it, and Judge —
Q. Where did this take place ? A. At our hoTise.

Q. What time 1 A. Probably 11 o'clock at night.

Q. What time did Judge McCunn reach your house, after 11

o'clock ? A. Probably a little earlier, or about that.

Q. Do you know how he happened to come ? A. I believe he

was invited to tJie house for this purpose.

33
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Q. Now you may state what took place in the interview ? A.

Their proposition for a settlement, drawn up by, I think, Mr. Titus,

on behalf of the creditors, and also of the parties to their suit, pro-

posing a settlement, which Judge McCunn seriously objected

—

Q. One moment, sir
;
proposing a settlement of what ? A. Pro-

posing a settlement of the difficulties and claims of the creditors

upon the concern generally.

Q. "What had the settlement to do with the suit pending between

your father and Mr. Bininger ?

Mr. Devlin— Suppose you let the witness make the explana-

tion.

Mr. Paesons— He can make it if he knows.

Mr. Devlin— May it please, Mr. President, the counsel upon the

other side, almost all through this examination, has been asking

questions involving the answer, being leading, or taking the wit-

ness' inference instead of what was said and done :
" "What did you

understand ? what did you consider ? and matter of that sort. I

respectfully submit that the proper way to examine him, is to ask

him to state what was said on that occasion. Undoubtedly, he has

a right to call his attention to any particular topic, but not to ask his

understanding, or consideration, or conclusion, but let us know what

was said and done.

"Witness— All suits were to cease between my father and Mr.

Bininger—
Mr. Devlin— I object to that kind of an answer ; let him state

what was said and done.

Mr. Paesons — Mr. President : I think we shall keep within any

rule that the other side will be disposed to lay down.

Q. What, Mr. Clark, was said, if any thing, in the interview, as

to what the settlement was to be in regard to any pending suits 1

A. It was a settlement of the copartnership debts, and the payment

of the existing debts, by their surrendering their joint property, and

they were to be released from their individual property, should the

partnership property fail to cover an amount sufficient to pay the

creditors, and all suits between the two parties, then existing, were

'to cease.

Q. Were there at that time pending any suits between your father

and Mr. Bininger, except their suit in which Judge McCunn had

appointed a receiver, and which was pending in Judge McCunn's
court ? A. I think there was not.

Q. "Were any papers produced in that interview. A. There was

this original agreement.
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Q. You have spoken of Mr. Titus as having prepared this pro-

posed settlement ; who was Mr. Titus? A. Mr. Bininger's counsel.

Q. Is Mr. Titus now present as a witness ? A. He is now pres-
ent.

Q. He is the gentleman to whom you referred ? A. Tes, sir ; I

believe he drew up the paper as Mr. Bininger's counsel, as I sup-

posed he was.

Q. When did you iirst see this paper? A. That afternoon.

Q. Prior to the interview when Judge McCunn was present?

A. Tes, sir.

Q. State what was said or done by Judge McCunn on that occa-

sion in respect to this proposed amendment ? A. Judge McCunn
objected.

Mr. Devlin:

Q. What did he say ; how did he object; what were his words?

A. He said, " Mr. Clark, if you sign that paper you sign your death

warrant ; I will draw you up a paper and you can offer that to the

weditors, and if they accept that then you will be all right ; but this

will be your death warrant if you sign it."

Q. How long did that interview last ? A. Quite a long time ; I

should say fully two hours, if not over.

Q. Did Judge McCunn draw up any thing while you were there ?

A. Yes, sir ; he drew up a memorandum and he read a number of

points in it, and said he would draw up another one difEerent from

that at his house more fully.

Q. Was that paper left with your father, or was it taken away by

Judge McCunn ; what became of it ? A. It was taken away by

Judge McCunn, so far as I know.

Q. Did you hear it read ? A. I heard the points read.

Q. State what you heard read ? A. I can't remember that exactly

;

the subject-matter of it I cannot remember exactly ; it was in rela-

tion to some new startled proposition to settle pending difficulties,

but what the precise language of it was I cannot state now.

Q. Did you hear it read, or did you read yourself the paper which

had been prepared, as you understood, by Mr. Titus ? A. I had

read it
;
yes, sir.

Q. (Showing paper). Will you look at the paper now handed

you and state whether you can now recognize that? A. It is

written ; that is a copy made by myself.

Q. Copy made when ? A. On the 24:th of March, 1870.

Q. Made from what ? A. It must have been made from some
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original document, because this is my handwriting, and I certainlj

copied it.

Q. Fix as near as you can the date of this interview? A. I can't

tell that ; I can't recollect that unless I could think for a while, and

bring together some surrounding events ; it must have been probably

about this time.

Q. About what time ? A. Twenty-fourth of March, 1870.

Q. Do you remember making that copy ? A. Yes, sir, I do, very

well.

Q. Did you make that copy before or subsequent to the interview

when Judge McCunn was present ? A. I think, sir, that was pre-

vious, but as to that I am somewhat at a loss.

Q. Can you remember whether the paper presented at the inter-

view was the original from which you made that copy, or whether

it was that copy ? A. That is a copy.

Q. That's not my question ; can you recollect which was present

at the interview ? A. The original, from which I prepared this copy.

Q. That you are sure about ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Pajjsons—We propose to read in evidence this copy.

Mr. Davis—Let us look at it ?

Judge Sblden, to witness

:

Q. Those four or five lines at the end are whose writing ? A.

They are not my handwriting ; I refer to the sixth line succeeding

the blank date.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. The paper contains memoranda on the margin in a different

handwriting; do you know the handwriting of the memoranda
there? A. I do.

Q. Whose is it ? A. My father's.

Q. When made, so far as you know ? A. It must have been

made subsequent to the writing of that.

Q. When, with reference to the interview at which Judge McCunn
was present, as to whether before or after that interview ? A. Prob-

ably about that time ; I dont know.

Q. In whose handwriting are the six lines upon the paper, being

the lines succeeding the attestation clause? A. In my father's

handwriting, but it is evidently written in a hurry, or with a bad pen.

Q. Was there any thing said in the interview as to whether your

father was, or was not, satisfied with the terms proposed by this

paper ? A. My father was perfectly satisfied with the terms of the

paper up to the time.
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By Mr. Devlin :

Q. What did your father say? A. He was perfectly satisfied

with the terms of the paper.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. What was said by your father in the interview when Judge
McCunn was present ? A. He expressed himself satisfied but asked

for Judge McOuim's opinion.

Q. Was any determination arrived at the close of the interview

as to whether the proposed settlement should or should not go

through ? A. It was abandoned.

Q. And abandoned on what— what had happened in reference

to that ?

Mr. Devlin— No ! no ! Mr. President, I object to his giving his

conclusion ?

Mr. Paesons— I will put the question in a different form.

Q. Had any thing— any other thing— happened in respect to the

paper between the time when your father was satisfied, as he ex-

pressed it to Judge McCunn, to execute tlie prepared settlement, and

the time when that prepared settlement was abandoned, except the

interview with Judge McCunn ? A. Ifone that I know of.

Mr. Paesons— Shall we read the paper ?

Mr. Devlin— It is printed in the book.

Exhibit 8.

AGREEMENT AND SETTLEMENT.

This agreement, made this 24th day of March, 1870, between

Abraham Bininger, of the late firm of A. Bininger & Co., of the

first part, Bininger Clark, of said late firm, of the second part, and

the creditors of said late firm of Bininger & Co., parties of the

third part,

Witnesseth that the said Abraham Bininger and the said A.

Bininger Clark, parties of the first and second parts, for and in

consideration of one doUar to them in hand paid, the receipt whereof

is hereby acknowledged, and in consideration of the stipulations,

agreements and releases hereinafter mentioned on the part of the

creditors of A. Bininger & Co., hereby agree to transfer all the

property of every name and kind belonging to said late firm of A.

Bininger & Co.

To wit, all the property and stock now in their stores, Nos. 92 and
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94 Liberty street, the real estate as follows : The stores and premises

known as Nos. 92 and 94 Liberty street ; the premises known as 18

and 20 Thames street, all in the city of New York. The two estates,

one in "West Virginia, the other in "Virginia, together with all debts,

bonds and book account of every name and kind belonging to said

late firm ; and also all mortgages given to said firm, and all life

policies and endowment policies taken out, for said firm's benefit, or

in their name ; also all goods in bond ; all such property to be taken,

subject to all liens, mortgages and incumbrances now upon the same.

To any person or persons designated by such portion of the said

creditors as represents two-thirds of the indebtedness of the said A.

Bininger & Co. And the person or persons thus designated, except

Mr. Beecher and Bininger, shall receive the property aforesaid, and

have and hold the same, to and for the use and benefit of said

creditors, and for the purpose of the payment of said firm debts, and

in consideration of such conveyances and transfer by said A. Binin-

ger & Co., and in consideration of one dollar to each of said credit-

ors, paid by said parties of the first and second parts, the receipt

whereof is hereby acknowledged. We, the said creditors, hereby

agree to release and discharge the two parties of the first and second

parts individually, as well also as members of the late firm of A.

Bininger & Co., of and from all claims and demands of every name
and kind which they owe to us, either due or to become due up to

the present date. The property so transferred to be taken posses-

sion of subject to all the legal claims and liens of the receiver.

That said creditors to discontinue or procure a discontinuance of

all proceedings taken in the Bankrupt Court of the United States

against the said A. Bininger & Co.

This agreement to be void and of no effect unless such portion of

the creditors of said A. Bininger & Co., as own or represent, befoi'e

stated, shall sign the same, and unless the said Bininger and Clark

shall sign the same, as members of said late firm.

"Witness our hands and seals, this day of , 1870.

And the said Abraham Bininger, and the said Abraham B. Clark,

each hereby covenant and agree to with the other that they will dis-

continue all suits against each other, without costs to the other, and

exchange mutual releases with the other.'ti^

Mr. Devlin— I understand the counsel on the other side not to

introduce the marginal writing, or the writing at the end of the

paper.
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Mr. Paesons— I think the paper should be reproduced in print,

so far as possible, to indicate the handwriting.

Mr. Devlin—It is not pretended, as I understand it, that either the

marginal writing, or the writing below the attestation clause, was in

the paper at the beginning.

Q. You copied, did you not, in your own handwriting, all that

was in the original paper ? A. All that was in the original paper.

Mr. Parsons •— The point is here, that the witness cannot state

whether the paper was copied before or after the interview.

Mr. Detlin— I submit, Mr. President, that it is for the counsel

on the other side to show that the marginal writing and the writing

below the attestation clause, was put in this paper before the inter-

view, and it is now for us to prove that it was not.

Mr. Paesons— The whole object of the offer is to show that

Judge McCunn broke up the settlement to which the parties had

assented. I submit that the only way this paper can be fairly before

the Senate is to print the paper as the paper now appears.

Mr. Devlin— Mr. President: There is what I deem essential

matter in the subscription part of the paper— that is the writing

below the attestation clause—just introduced. It reads, " and the

said Abraham Bininger and the said Abraham B. Clark, each hereby

covenant and agree to and with the other that they will discontinue

all suits against each other, without costs to the other, and exchange

mutual releases with the other." ITow all that is in a different

handwriting from the other part of the instrument, except what is

on the margin.

Mr. Parsons— May I inquire what is the pleasure of the Senate

in respect to the paper ?

The President— How does the counsel offer the paper ?

Mr. Parsons—We offer the paper as it now appears.

The President— Does the counsel object to it ?

Mr. Devlin—Yes, sir. In addition, the marginal writing is this

:

" the said creditor to discontinue or procure a discontinuance of all

proceedings taken in the Bankrupt Court of the United States

against said A. Bininger & Co." That does not seem to have been

in the original.

Mr. Parsons— May I, before the question is put, ask the writer

a further question ?

The President— Certainly.

Mr. Parsons :

Q. Mr. Clark, do the marginal memorandum and the clause at
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the end of the paper, which have just been read by Mr. Devlin,

refresh your recollection on the subject of whether the paper con-

tained those portions before the interview with Judge McCunn ?

A. I think it did ; I have been thinking over it just now ; I have

not seen this paper or heard any thing of it since the time of the

suit. I have been thinking over it, and I believe they did.

Q. Do they refresh your recollection as to whether the paper then

present, was the paper from which you made this copy of this

original paper now produced to you, with your father's handwriting

upon it? A. That I don't know.

Q. Have you no recollection on that subject ? A. It must have

been the original paper from which I copied this.

Q. The question is, do these portions which have been read refresh

your recollection as to whether the paper, present at the interview,

was the paper which has now been handed to you ? A. No, sir ; it

was not that paper.

Q. Well, can you remember whether the paper then present con-

tained these portions in the handwriting of your father? A. I

believe they did.

Mr. Devlin:

Q. Do you recollect, not what you believe ? A. Well, I am a

little doubtful on the subject ; I would a little rather say I don't

recollect than that I do.

Mr. Paesons:

Q. Have you any recollection as to whether the original paper

then present contained any provision with respect to a settlement of

the bankruptcy proceedings, and the suit pending between your

father and Mr. Bininger ? A. Undoubtedly it did.

Mr. Devlin :

Q. Have you any recollection on the subject at all 'i A. 1 have.

Q. Now, is that recollection based upon a renewal of the tact as

your memory, or because you see it in that paper, and suppose from
that it was in the original ? A. No ; I recollect distinctly the sub-

ject of the proposition made.

Q. What was that ? A. As I said before, it was a settlement of

the pending difficulties ; that is, that the firm make arrangements
to give up their joint property to pay their creditors ; and in return

they were to have their private property entirely released, even
should there not be enough to pay the fall debts of the concern.
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Q. That was all ? A. That was in the original document.

Q. Do you recollect any thing else that was in ? A. I do ; con-

siderable other writing ; a general disposition of all the suits, etc.

Q. Have you any recollection that those words on the bottom

and on the margin of that paper, were in the paper that was under

discussion that night ? A. 1 have not seen those words in the mar-

gin.

Q. Then how do you know what it is ? A. I can recognize the

document from hearing it read. [The paper was handed to the wit-

ness that he might read the words on the bottom and margin.] I

have read it, sir.

Q. Now, Mr. Clark, without relying upon the fact that those

words are on the paper, but simply relying upon your recollection,

do you recollect that those words were in the paper submitted that

night ? A. I recollect the whole sense and substance of it, and I

suppose those words must have been there.

Q. Have you any recollection on the subject ? A. I have recol-

lection on the subject.

Q. That those words were in the paper ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When did you make the copy of this paper? A. I believe the

24th of March.

Q. From whom did you get the original to make the copy ? A.

It was handed to me by my father or Mr. Compton.

Q. At home or in the store ? A. At home, I believe ; might

have been in the store.

Q. Before the interview with Judge McCunn, and up to that

time, did you go out of the house, or did that original paper go out

of the house after you made the copy ? A. I don't know what dis-

position was made of it.

Q. Well, did you go out of the house after this, before the

interview for any business connected with the original paper ? A.

I didn't go out of the house.

Q. Did your father go out ? A. No, sir.

Q. What time in the evening was it you made this copy ? A.

That I don't remember, when I drew it up, precisely.

Q. You don't remember whether it was on that day or not ? A.

Yes, I have testified that it was on the Sith of March.

Q. And that was the day of the interview ? Yes, as near as I

can place it.

Q. Who did you say drew the original paper? A. That paper

was drawn by Mr. Titus.

Q. Was Mr. Titus up at the house with the paper ? A. ISTo, sir.

34
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Q. How did it rcacli your house ? A. It reached our store in the

afternoon through Mr. IBowen ; the paper that Mr. Titus drew up,

he said.

Q. Then it was hronght up to your house, by M'hom ? A. It was

given to my father at the store, or rather I should say, that I recol-

lect now that the paper that was brought by Mr. Compton was

given by him to Mr. Titus.

Q. On the 24th of March ? A. I don't know exactly the day ; I

believe that was the time.

Q. Then it was brought up to tlie house ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then you made the copy ? A. I didn't make any copy

of Mr. Titus' proposition.

Q. I thought you said this was in your handwriting ? A. So it is.

Q. "Well, what is it ? A. It is a copy of the proposition of settle-

ment.

Q. Who drew that proposition ? A. That is the one that Judge

McCunn drew.

Q. "Where is the one that Mr. Titus drew ? A. That I haven't

seen.

Q. Then I understand you now to say, that this is the proposi-

tion Judge McOunn made? A. Will you allow me to look at that

again, sir ; I will have to read it over clearly.

Q. Certainly. [Handing witness the paper referred to.]

Mr. Devlin:

Q. ISTow, Mr. Clark, perhaps I may refresh your recollection a

little. Do you remember that Judge McCunn, in our oiBce, made
a sketch, or dictated to you as much as he thought ought to be exe-

cuted, to you among the papers ? A. I remember he dictated such

a paper.

Q. Is that the paper? A. This is not the paper; no, sir; he

made his own sketch in his own handwriting that evening.

Q. Didn't you copy it off? A. I didn't that evening ; he read

it to the family generally.

Q. Didn't you make that as a copy from it then? A. Not that

evening.

Q. Well, is not that a copy of it ? That I don't know.

Q. Then you don't recollect really whether it is Titus' paper or

Judge McCunn's ? A. That is the document proposed by Judge
McCunn.

Q. That is what we supposed ; and those marginal notes or mem-
orandums, and the memorandum at the bottom were additional sug-
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gestions that were made by yonr father to make the paper complete

in his judgment, were they not ? A. I don't know who made the

suggestions.

Q. They were suggestions of your father, were they not ? A. I

don't know, sir.

Q. The memorandum I am speaking of now ? A. Tes, sir ; I

don't know whether these were or not.

Q. I mean those suggestions were written by your father ? A.

They were written by him.

Q. As proper to be incorporated or added to what Judge McCunn
had already suggested ? A. That I don't know ; but I think they

are in his handwriting.

Mr. Berry :

Q. At this interview that evening, when Judge McCimn was at

your office, was there more than one paper present ? A. There

was.

Q. "Well, there was only one paper proposed, but subseqently this

second paper was made ; at the commencement, then, there was one

paper ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And before you adjourned there was another, in consequence

of his having suggested one ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, a short time ago, you made this statement, that Judge

McCunn said that if your father signed that paper he would sign

his death warrant ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "What paper did he refer to when he made that remark ? A.

The paper drawn up by Mr. Titus ; it was the paper that Judge

McCunn alluded to, as being a written paper for my father to

accede to.

Q. Now, did you say that this paper was not the paper that the

judge referred to ? A. "Well, sir, that I could not tell clearly, but

I could give the sum and substance of what he said about the

papers.

Mr. Devlin :

Q. As I understand this matter, the paper that come from Titus

was a proposition of settlement to your father, and the other one

was intended to be a counter proposition back to your side ? A.

Yes, sir.

Mr. Parsons :

Q. You stated that, down to the time that Judge McCunn came
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there, your father was satisfied with the proposition of settlement

which had come from Mr. Bininger ? A. Perfectly.

Q. Is that paper with which you say your father was satisfied, the

paper which had been received from Titus 1 A. It was the paper

;

yes, sir.

Q. And whether this is the paper, or whether that is the paper

drawn up on the memorandum made by Judge McOunn, you are

in doubt ? A. I am in doubt.

Q. Where was your place of business at this time ? A. 96 Liberty

street.

Q. How near to the place of business of A. Bininger & Co. ? A.

Next door.

Q. How frequently were you in the habit of visiting their place

of business from the commencement of this suit ? A. I was in there

quite frequently.

Q. Do you know whether, on the 24:th of March, 1870, there had

been made any sales, or any considerable sales, of any portion of

their stock by the receiver ? A. The store was open as usual for

quite a little while afterward, just as xisual ; their business was con-

ducted as usual ; only the moneys received were paid into the hands

of the receiver, Hanrahan.

Q. Do you mean that the ordinary sales were made ? A. Just as

usual ; that is, the ordinary cash sales ; I believe there was no letter

orders.

Q. What do you know, if any thing, of any considerable sale—
any unusual or extraordinary sale— about the time and after this

interview between Judge McCunn and your father ? A. I remem-

ber on the following day that there was a large quantity of whisky

sold.

Q. What amount ? A. There was 110 barrels on the floor of

whisky, which I was told the next morning, had been sold.

Q. Never mind what you had been told, but did you go into the

store and see if that had been removed ? A. Tes, sir ; 110 barrels

of whisky ; I believe that was the quantity.

Q. Do you know what was the value of that 110 barrels of

whisky? A. I don't know positively.

Q. Have you any knowledge on the subject of the value of that

whisky, and can you state some sum which the value certainly

exceeded ? A. I should say it was worth $3.25 or $3.50 per gallon.

Q. How large would that make the value of the 110 barrels?

A. About $120 a barrel, I should judge ; according to the quantity

of whisky which was in the barrel.
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Q. That would be in the neighborhood of $13,000 2 B. About
$13,000.

Q. When, prior to the day succeeding this interview at your

father's house, had you seen this whisky there ? A. The day before.

Q. And the next day you were there and it was not there 2 A. It

was not there ; it was being shipped then ; I saw it.

Q. That was the day preceding the interview at your father's

house? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Down to that time had there been any other than the usual

and ordinary sales in the business of the firm ? A. No, sir.

Q. You have spoken of a Mr. Gorham who accompanied Mr.

Hanrahan and yourself on the occasion when Ilaurahan took pos-

session. Who is Mr. Hanrahan? A. That I don't know, sir.

Q. Where did you find him 2 A. In Mr. Hanrahan's office.

Q. What do you know with reference to whether he is or is not

the same as the surety on the receiver's bond? A. I have heard

stated that he was.

Q. Did you learn what relation, if any, he had to Judge McCunn,

or to Judge Morgan, Judge McCunn's partner, or to Hanrahan, the

receiver, and if so, what was it ? A. No, sir ; I never heard any

thing particularly, except that they were in business together in

California, or were there at the same time-; nothing further than

that.

Q. What, if any thing, did he have to do with the receivership ?

A. Nothing that I know of; he was charged as surety by the

sherifE ; he was sheriff and was in charge of the firm property.

Q. From what time ? A. From the time of the appointment ot

Hanrahan as receiver down to almost the sale of the entire goods.

Q. During the time that the stock remaimed in the hands of the

receiver? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You say sheriff,' what do you mean by sheriff ? A. Well,

he was the sheriff in charge of the goods, as I understood it.

Q. Do you mean an officer? A. An officer of the court.

Q. An officer of which court ? A. The Superior Court.

Q. Judge McCunn's court ? A. Judge McCunn's court.

Mr. Devlin :

Q. You say he was an officer of Judge McCunn's court ; do you

know that fact ? A. Not positively, only I was told so.

Mr. Pabsons — Mr. Devlin : The fact that he was stating was

that he was in possession under the receiver, and I suppose it is

sufficiently inferred from that that he held that kind of office of
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Judge McCunn's court ; I desire to know what he meant by stating

that he was a sheriff.

Q. On any occasion when Judge McCunn has called at your

father's house, have you heard any thing said by hina with reference

to whether or not it should be permitted to be known that he was

coming -to your father's house ? A. I can't clearly remember

whether he ever warned us not to say any thing about it ; it was

usually done in such a quiet way that we all understood we were

not to say any thing about it.

Mr. Devlin— No, no, that won't do.

Mr. Paesons :

Q. Don't state what was understood ; I desire to know whether

you ever heard him say any thing on the subject ? A. I don't know
that I can say.

Q. Do you know why it was that he came out so late an hour in

the evening when he made these calls ? A. Yes, sir ; I know why
he came at that hour.

Mr. Selden— It is a mere matter of opinion any way.

Mr. Paesons:

Q. Do you know it from any thing said by Judge McCunn ? A.
No, sir.

Q. You have spoken of these kindnesses received by your father

from Judge McCunn as occasioning his being invited to your

father's house at this interview in March, 1870. To what did you
refer ? A. Well, Judge McCunn had, seemingly—

Q. Don't state what he had seemingly done ; but if there is any
fact that you can state I desire you to state it '? A. Judge McCunn
stated that he would protect the property for my father, and would
see that he was righted in this matter, and that he would replace

him in the firm and in possession of the gooods, and such talk

;

assured my mother that he would see this thing done and done
properly ; stand by them, and such allusions as that.

Q. How often did you hear Judge McCunn talk in that strain?

A. Oh, almost every time ; express a great deal of friendship and
kindness.

Q. You have spoken of interviews at your father's house ; were
there also interviews at Judge McCunn's house between Judge Mc-
Cunn and your father of which you know ? A. I know that he
went once or twice to Judge McCunn's house

; I was not with him
on many of these interviews that I heard of.
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Q. Oa how many occasions were yon with your father, when he
called at Judge McCunn's house before the commencement of this

suit ? A. T think about twice.

Q. Can you fix the dates ? A. I cannot fix the dates exactly ; I

called on business there, and asked him to the house, and asked him
if he would be in, that my father would be in in the evening, or

something of that notice ; I can't fix the dates of it, at all.

Q. Do you remember any thing said by Judge McCunn on the

subject of an allowance to be made by him to Mr. Compton ? A.

I remember very well that he said he would make an allowance of

$10,000 to Mr. Compton.

Q. When was that said ? A. That was going from our house I

think one evening ; I was walking down with him toward his

;

what time it was exactly I don't remember.

Q. Won't you state all of that conversation that you remember 1

A. Well, he said Mr. Compton had worked very faithfully in this

case, and that he wanted to do well by him ; and that he wanted

my father to have some money, and he would make an allowance

of this sum, with the understanding that Mr. Compton was to

divide it.

Q. Divide with whom ? A. With my lather.

Q. Your father the plaintiff in the suit ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember any conversation with Judge McCunn, when
any thing was said on the subject of Mr. Vanderpoel being em-

j)loyed ? A. I remember that there was a time that Judge McCunn
advised the engagement of Judge Vanderpoel, of the firm of Brown,

Hall & Vanderpoel.

Q. Won't you fix, as nearly as you can, the time ; state the con-

versation and when it took place ? A. I think it was at our house,

and, if I am not mistaken, it was at the time of the bankruptcy pro-

ceedings.

Q. What reason, if any, did Judge McCunn assign for the em-

ployment by your father of Mr. Vanderpoel ? A. That he had a very

great degree of influence with the sheriff ; that was one reason that I

can remember very distinctly ; there were various other reasons.

Q. State them so far as you recollect them ? A. I don't recollect

any thing positive further than that, except that he had very great

influence with the sheriff.

Q. Who was present at this interview ? A. I don't remember

positively ; Mr. Hoffmire, I think, was present.

Q. Your brother-in-law ? A. My brother-in-law, also my father

was present ; I am not sure but Mr. Compton was present also.



272 PROCEEDINGS IN THE

Q. Had Mr. Yanderpoel ever been employed by your father

down to tbat time ? A. He had not.

Q. Did you ever hear Judge McCunn apeak in any disparaging

terms of Mr. Hanrahan at any time ? A. I do not remember to, up

within a very short time.

Q. Have you within a short time ? A. I have heard him say

recently

—

Mr. Devlin— Wait a moment ; that we object to.

Witness— During the proceeding of the case

—

Mr. Paksons— Wait a moment ; an objection is taken.

Mr. Devlin— How is it material what Judge McCunn's opinion

now is ? The question is what the opinion then was.

Mr. Paesons— It does not appear and could not be known,

whether the opinion expressed by him relates to the present time

or to his opinion at the time he appointed him receiver.

Judge Sblden— You can ask the witness that question.

Mr. Paesons— The proper question is to ask him what Judge

McCunn has said at any time in reference to Mr. Hanrahan.

The Peesident— Is the question pressed and objected to ?

Mr. Devlin— It is.

The Peesident— The question is, whether the objection shall be

sustained.

Mr. Devlin— Before the question is put, let me say we do not

object to the question, except as to its form. That it should give

the witness an opportunity to say whether or not this expression of

Judge McCunn, as to his opinion of Hanrahan, was as to his opinion

at the time he appointed him receiver, or his opinion at the time he

made the remark. We do not object to the inquiry, if the question

is changed.

Mr. Paesons—We do not think it suitable that the witness him-

self should put his construction to the expression of Judge McCunn.
Mr. Devldst—You ask him whether he said any thing disparaging.

Mr. Paesons—-If that is the objection I will modify the form of

my question. I will ask whether he ever heard him speak in terms

of praise ot Hanrahan.

Mr. Devlin— That is equally objectionable.

Mr. Paesons— I will ask him whether he ever heard him say

any thing in regard to Mr. Hanrahan.

Mr. Devlin— That is objected to.

The Peesident— The question is whether that objection shall be

sustained.

[The question was then put and decided in the negative.]
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Q. Answer, sir ? A. Judge McCunn said that Daniel H. Hanra-

han was one of his boys, and he would see that he did well ; that he

was a deserving man, and he would see that he would be right.

Q. When was this ? A. That was at the time he was appointed

receiver.

Q. Have you since heard Judge McOunn speak about him ? A.

Yes, sir, I have.

Q. "What did he say? A. He said he was a scoundrel.

The Peesident— Any thing further of this witness.

Mr. Paesons— Nothing further.

The Peesident— Cross-examine.

By Mr. Devlin :

Q. Mr. Clark, when did he say he was a scoundrel ? A. I heard

Judge McCunn say so in this very hall, last week.

Q. Mr. Clark, when he said it the other day, didn't he say that he

considered him a good man when he made him receiver, or he would

not have made him receiver ? A. Yes, sir ; he said so.

Q. I want to call your attention to the interview between yourself

and your father and Mr. Compton and Judge McCunn ; take your

recollection back to that ; don't you recollect that it was Judge

McCunn who suggested the appointment of Murray Hoffman as

receiver in that case ? A. I think I heard him mention his name as

a very proper man.

Q. Did Mr. Compton say " no," he would prefer to have Hanra-

han ? A. That 1 did not hear at all ; I know subsequently Hanrahan

was appointed.

Q. We know that too, but you did not hear Mr. Compton or any

one else, excluding Judge McCunn, say they did not want Murray

Hoffman, but would prefer Mr. Hanrahan ? A. No, sir.

Q. Did you not hear Judge McCunn object to Mr. Hanrahan as

the receiver, and Mr. Compton say " no, he was a good man and he

was a judge in California, and I knew him there ? " A. I heard

Mr. Compton make those remarks.

Q. What was the reason of his making those remarks ? A. That

I don't remember.

Q. You don't remember that it arose from the objection that

Judge McCunn made to the appointment of Mr. Hanrahan ? A. I

remember that is the first knowledge I had of Hanrahan, that Mr.

Compton said he had been a judge of some court in California.

Q. Was there any body raising objection to Mr. Hoffman &nd sug-

gesting Mr. Hanrahan that night ? A. Not that I heard of.

35
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Q. "When this wine was brought to the house, in regard to which

the counsel on the other side has spoken, did not Judge McCunn say

he did not like to have wine brought there, or any thing of that sort ?

A. Not that I remember of ; I did not hear him say any thing of

that kind.

Q. Did Judge McCunn drink any of that wine? A. I don't

really know ; I am inclined to think he did not do any thing more

than to taste it.

Q. Just enough to judge ? A. Yes, just enough to judge.

Q. [N'ow, when these papers were brought to Judge McCunn's

house on that evening and your father swore to them there before

him, did not Judge McCunn retain the papers and say he did not

sign the order that night, and that he would meet the counsel at

the court in the morning at 9 o'clock or half-past 9 o'clock, and

then give him the order, if it was proper ? A.I did not hear him

say so.

Q. You didn't hear him say so ? A. No, sir.

Q. Don't you recollect that he retained the papers at his house

that night ? A. No, sir, I do not.

Q. Do you recollect that either Compton or your father took them

away? A. No, sir.

Q. You do not ? A, I did not.

Q. Where did you first see those papers after you had seen them

at the house that evening? A. From either Compton or my father

I took them, and had them in my possession before 10 o'clock next

morning ; I received them from one or the other of them.

Q. Where did you receive them ? A. Up town ; either at my
house— I received them that night, but I cannot positively place

my recollection as to where.

Q. Why are you positive you received them before 10 o'clock

next morning ? A. Because I was in Hanrahan's oflice.

Q. How do you recollect that ? A. I was to be there by appoint-

ment; Mr. Compton told me to be there sure at 10 o'clock.

Q. For what ? A. To hand those papers to Hanrahan.

Q. When did Mr. Compton tell you that? A. During our walk

from the judge's house to our room.

Q. Did he tell you where to get the papers ? A. No, sir.

Q. How did you know where to go for them ? A. I don't remem-

ber whether he gave them to me, or whether he gave tliem to my
father, and my father gave them to me next morning.

Q. Are you sure whether your father or Compton took them away

that evening ? A. I am not sure, but I suppose not.
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Q. Did you meet Mr. Compton somewhere before you met him
at court next morning ? A. No, sir.

Q. Didn't he say he would step into the office and get the papers

and then meet you in the morning ? A. No, sir.

Q. Your mind is an entire blank as to when and where you got

them ? A. No, sir ; not as to when I got them it is not ; I got

them preTious to 10 o'clock.

Q. You don't know what hour before 10 o'clock? A. Yes, sir:

I had them at that hour.

Q, When did you get them ? A. I don't know, I say.

Q. Then your mind is a blank upon that point ? (No answer.)

Q. Nor where you had them ? A. I had them in possession before

10 o'clock next morning.

Q. With that exception, your mind is an entire blank from the

time you left Judge McCunn's house, in regard to the papers, as to

where you got them, or from whom? A. I don't recollect from

whom I got them.

Q. Nor where ? A. No, sir ; nor where.

Q. Nor when ? A. No, sir ; except it was previous to 10 o'clock

next morning.

Q. I understand that; it might have been 8:48 or 9:49? A.

Yes, sir.

The President :

Senators, in pursuance of their own rules, and also for the con-

venience of their own rules, should have the kindness to rise and

address the chair when they wish to make any observation.

Mr. J. Wood— Mr. President : I would like to ask the witness

a question.

By Mr. J. Wood :

Q. When you left home in the morning on an engagement to

meet Mr. Compton at Mr. Hanrahan's office, did you have these

papers ? A. I had those papers in my possession when I left my
house the following morning, but had no appointment to meet Mr.

Compton, but an appointment to take them to Hanrahan's office.

Mr. Benedict— How did you go down town to meet Mr. Han-

rahan ?

The President— The senator from the fifth (Mr. Benedict) is

out of order.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President: I beg to ask one question.
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By Mr. Benedict :

Q. You know you liad the papers before you started to go down

town ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What time did you go down town ? A. About 9 o'clock.

Q. Do you know you had them at 9 o'clock ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Any earlier period than that ? A. I might, possibly.

Q. You have no memory whether you had or not ? A. No, sir

;

I certainly had them in time to take them to Hanrahan's office at

10 o'clock next morning.

By Mr. Devlin :

Q. Did you stop anywhere on your way down town that morning ?

A. I did not that I remember of.

Q. How did you go down ? A. I think I took the Fourth avenue

down to the City Hall, and walked down to Wall street the rest of

the way.

Q. Did you meet Compton at Hanrahan's office ? A. No, sir.

Q. You met no one except the counsel and attorneys, and Han-

rahan there ? A. I met nobody there except Hanrahan.

Q. He was the only one you met there ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How is it that you recollect now that you had these papers at

9 o'clock in the morning, if you did not recollect a few minutes

ago that you had them, except that it was 10 o'clock ? A. I started

about that time to go with them to go to Hanrahan's office ; I was

there at ten (10) o'clock, and of course that I am perfectly able to

swear to.

Q. That is the only reason ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How do you know it was 10 o'clock when you were at Han-

rahan's office ? A. I was to be there at 10 o'clock ; so I was there

at the time of my appointment.

Q. That is the reason ; did you carry a watch with you and look

at it, and make any observations as you went down, to know you

was there at 10 o'clock ? A. Yes, sir ; I did.

Q. What did you look at ? A. City Hall clock.

Q. Did you look at Trinity church clock as you went down ? A.

I might.

Q. You spoke of Judge McCunn coming to your father's house

;

do you not know that he was invited to come there ? A. I don't

know that he was not ; he was there.

Q. Was he expected to be there by the family ; by your father?

A. Yes, sir ; I believe they had expected him.
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Q. E"ow, Mr. Clark, was there not a great deal of bitterness of

feeling between your father and Mr. Bininger regarding the busi-

ness they had been so long transacting together ? A. Yes, sir

;

there was.

Q. There is a relationship existing between your father and Mr.

Bininger ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What is it ? A. First cousins.

Q. How many years have they been in partnership together ? A.

I don't know.

Q. About ? A. I suppose about twenty years.

Q. Your father had given his attention principally to the busi-

ness, had he not ; in the conducting of it ? A. I don't know, sir

;

I know he attended to it all the time.

Q. Bininger, on the other hand, was abroad a good deal of the

time ? A. I know he was abroad sometimes.

Q. Your father attended to the business all the time ? A. Yes,

he attended to the business in the mean time.

Q. Don't you know that your father was dissatisfied with Mr.

Bininger's inattention to the business of the firm? A. I never

heard him say so.

Q. Do you know the fact ? A. I do not.

Q. Were not the relations very cordial between your father and

Mr. Bininger up to within a short period of time before the dis-

solution occurred ? A. I believe they were, sir.

Q. Did not the dissolution arise from a notice that had been

served by Bininger upon your father, that has been read here from

the complaint ? A. I believe that was the first step.

Q. How long had Bininger been from Europe when that notice

was served ; how long had he been away from the city ? A. I think

he arrived home about two years before, as near as I can reckon.

Mr. Benedict— Two days ?

Witness— Two years.

By Mr. DEVLnsr

:

Q. Was he attending to business from the time he arrived up to

the time of the receiving of the notice ? A. As far as I am able to

know, he was.

Q. Gave the same attention to business that your fatlier did ? A.

I suppose he did, sir.

Q. Do you know what was the cause of difficulty between your

father and Mr. Bininger ? A. I have heard various reasons, but I,

at that time, didn't know.
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Q. Do you know now ?

Mr. Paesons—May I inquire whether counsel deem this import-

ant ?

Mr. Devlin— I deem it important to show why the application

was made to Judge McCunn, at midnight, on the night of the 18th,

for an injunction and receiver was that Bininger should not get

ahead of him in the same mode of action, which would go to show

the bitterness between these people.

Mr. Paesons—We do not object, if the witness does not object.

Q. State what the origin of the diflBculty was between the two?

A. I don't know, sir ; I believe there was some financial difficulty,

one way or the other.

Q. Didn't your father attend to the financial afi"airsof the concern

generally? A. I think not; I think Mr. Bininger attended to

that ; that I don't know, hoM^ever.

Q. Do you not know that your father objected to Mr. Bininger's

large expenditures of money and drawing so much money from the

firm ? A. I didn't know it at the time ; I knew it since.

Q. Were jonr father and Bininger on speaking terms, except in

mere matters of business, at the time this notice was served of the

dissolution ? A. They were up to that time.

Q. At that time ? A. I don't know ; I wasn't there.

Q. Is Bininger a gentleman of family ? Yes, sir.

Q. Does his family live in New York ? A. No, not now.

Q. Did they at that time? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Up to what time did they reside there ? A. I don't know
precisely.

Q. Were your family and Bininger's family on terms of intimacy

and visiting each other frequently ? A. No, sir.

Q. Never? A. We never had been particularly intimate; no,

sir.

Q. You were cousins, and your father and he partners in busi-

ness? A. Yes, sir.

Q. The families not intimate ? A. Not particularly ; my mother

and his wife visited frequently.

Q. Did he have any sons or daughters ? A. Yes, sir ; we had

been to school, and therefore not thrown together.

Q. The heads of the families were intimate— in a social way, I

speak ? A. Yes, sir, as far as I know.

Q. About the 18th of November, 1869, did that intimacy cease

between them ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You a member of the family and don't know the cause of the
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difiSciilty between your father and Bininger? A. I don't know
positively ; no, sir.

Q. What do you know about it, whether positive or not ? A. I

don't know any thing farther than the papers speak of.

Q. What do the papei'S say ?

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. What papers do you refer to ? A. The general papers, the

complaint ; that is all that I know about it ; I suppose the declara-

tions of Clark himself, or contents of the papers are not to be

brought in evidence in this way.

Q. Are you not aware that Bininger said he would drive your

father out of business, and make him a beggar, or words in sub-

stance ; that the house was his, that he had established it ; that it

bore his name ? A. I had heard something of that kind.

Q. That property was the cause of the difficulty ? A. That was

so probably after the suit was commenced.

Q. I don't ask you about the time ; they ceased to be visitors

before that ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Had not they quarreled before the 18th of K^ovember, 1869 ?

A. I don't know.

Q. Don't know any thing on the subject ? A. I don't know
whether they quarreled or not.

Mr. Paesons—Will you have him tell whether this is what he

heard Bininger say, or what he heard Clark ?

Mr. Devlin—What they both said ?

Mr. Parsons—We object to what Clark said.

Mr. Devlin—You can cross-examine him on that.

Q. When your father and you and Compton was at Judge

MeCunn's house, did your father state to Judge McCunn the

grievances he had against Bininger, and what Biniuger had done

to him, and how he had treated him ? A. Not that I remember

particularly.

Q. Was there any conversation on that subject? A. If there

was I don't remember.

Q. What ? A. I don't remember precisely.

Q. Do you remember at all, whether precisely or not ? A. I

don't.

Q. Don't remember ? A. No.

Q. Are you aware of any conversation that occurred between

Judge McCunn and your father, previous to this interview at Judge

McOunn's house— conversation that occurred between your father
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and Judge MeCunn on the subject of the differences between Bin-

in ger and your father? A. At what time, sir?

Q. Any time previous to the interview at your house on the 18th

of November ? A. ISTo, sir ; never saw them together before that

time.

Q. Never knew they were together ? A. Never saw father and

Judge McCunn, before that time, together.

Q. Had you visited Judge McCunn's house, or seen him before

that? A. No.

Q. Had any of your family ? A. No.

Q. Not that you are aware of ; have you heard any conversation

between your father and Bininger in regard to their difficulties

previous to the 18th of November ? A. No, sir ; I wasn't present

at any of their conversations ; never heard any of them.

Q. Didn't your father, or Compton, or yourself, apologize to

Judge McCunn for calling on him so late on the evening of the 18th,

and tell him the reason? A. Not that I know of ; no, sir.

Q. They didn't say any thing at all ? A. No.

Q. They rang the bell, and the girl came to the door, and you

asked if Judge McCunn was in ; was that it ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Then you were shown to the library ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. There was no explanation made of the cause of their late visit,

or any thing of that sort ? A. I was the last one in, and naturally

wouldn't hear what was said first ; I did not hear any such thing

myself.

Q. Behind your father, or Compton, were you ? A. The stair-

case was a narrow one, and I was quite a little distance behind them.

Q. You didn't hear what the conversation was? A. I didn't

when we entered the room.

Q. Then the papers were handed to Judge McCunn ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. He read them over ? A. Yes, sir ; I suppose so.

Q. Which of them did he sign ? A. There were three papers ; I

•don't know exactly which they were.

Q. You don't know which he signed first ? A. No.

Q. Don't you know that he signed the affidavit of your father

;first ; didn't your father swear to the papers ? A. I believe he did.

Q. Didn't he sign that affidavit first ? A. Yes, sir ; I believe so.

Q. Did he sign any other papers than that one ? A. Yes, sir; I

believe he did.

Q. If you mean the word believe in the sense of recollect, say I

recollect. A. I recollect Judge McCunn's signing these papers that

night.
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Q. Three papers ? A. Whatever papers they were.

Q. Who signed the affidavit ; what other paper did he sign ? A.
Whatever papers there were to be signed on that occasion, he

signed.

Q. You are arguing in your own mind ; I want to know what
you recollect he signed ; if you have any recollection on the subject

say so ? A. He signed those papers I have already sworn to, which-

ever papers they were.

Q. What were they ? A. If you will show me the papers I will

identify them.

Q. When you went to Hanrahan's office, were there any papers

signed there ? A. Not that I know of; no, sir.

Q. Were you in the room with Hanrahan all the time ? A. I

was there, sir.

Q. When you went in you took the papers and went out with

him ? A. I staid and waited for him.

Q. If any papers had been signed you would have seen it ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Wasn't that bond executed in Hanrahan's office that morning ?

A. It might have been.

Q. You said no paper was signed there that morning 1 A. Not
to my knowledge ; it might have been signed there ; I don't know
that it was.

Mr. Paesons :

Q. Did you take this bond with you to Hanrahan's office that I

show you ? A. I don't remember whether I did ; I handed what

papers there were.

Q. Is this one of the papers that Judge McCunn signed that

night? A. I couldn't say.

Q. Look at it and see ? A. I couldn't tell by looking at it.

Q. You will see his indorsement on the back of it ? A. No, sir

;

I believe not.

Q. Do you know whether that is one of the papers he signed that

night ; did he make that indorsement that night ? A. I don't

know ; I didn't see his signature on it, and therefore didn't suppose

he signed it.

Q. Is that Judge McOunn's signature in the middle of that paper ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he sign that that night ? A. I don't know.

Q. How would you know, when you don't know whether he

signed this when I show it to you ? A. I saw him sign those papers

36
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that were taken down there ; they were the affidavits and the order

for the receiver.

Q. Wasn't that paper taken down there ? A. I don't know ; it

might have been.

Q. Some of those might not have been taken down there under

that theory ? A. The two affidavits were taken down there, and the

appointment of the receiver was signed there that night.

Q. Did you read that over on your way down ? A. No, sir.

Q. How do you know they were the same papers as at McCunn's

house that night ? A. I saw them there enough to recognize the

papers, and have seen them since.

Q. How do you know there wasn't something put on the outside

of the paper ; did you examine on the inside of the paper ? A. I

didn't.

Q. How do you know it was the same paper? A. Had a knowl-

edge of it, and recognized it in a general way.

Q. You don't know whether this paper was among them or not ?

A. I am not positive.

Q. Tou say there was no paper signed in Hanrahan's office after

you went there ? A. Wot to my knowledge.

Q. Wouldn't you have seen it if it was so ? A. I might not.

Q. Tou didn't see him sign any paper that morning ? A. No,

sir.

Mr. Devlin— This paper is a bond on the injunction, and it is

acknowledged by the notary public on the 19th of November, 1869.

The paper must have been signed at Hanrahan's office, no doubt.

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : I submit that is not a proper

statement. The papers all bear date the 19th of November.
Mr. Devlin— Here is a notary public entirely disconnected with

the matter. It is not pretended that Hanrahan was there, or that

the sureties were there. This is executed by them and acknowl-

edged by them on the 19th.

Mr. Paesons—We submit it is not competent for counsel to

make a statement of facts which are not in evidence. We submit

there is no testimony that justifies the statement that that paper

veas executed at Hanrahan's office on the morning of the 19th of

November.

The President— The senator will probably discover that fact.

Mr. D. P. Wood— The hour of adjournment having almost

arrived, I move that this session be extended indefinitely.

Mr. Paesons— There are witnesses in attendance who have been

here during the whole day, and who made their arrangements to be
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in New York to-morrow morning in the expectation that their testi-

mony would be taken during the morning session, and they have
been disappointed, and many of them will be very seriously incon-

venienced unless they leave during the night ; and it has occurred

to us possibly, under the circumstances, that the Senate would hold

an evening session.

Mr. Devlin— That would run it into 10 or 11 o'clock at night.

Mr. Parsons— I hope so.

Mr. D. P. Wood— If we have an evening session the printers can-

not print the testimony so as to have it on our files in the morning.

Mr. Benedict— I don't think that is necessary ; it is more import-

ant that we should accommodate these witnesses, I think.

The Senate took a recess until 8 p. m.

The Senate re-convened at 8 p. m.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— Mr. President: There has been a question

raised in relation to the pay of witnesses in attendance upon these

proceedings, and there is a question as to the amount they should be

paid. Witnesses are claiming three dollars a day and mileage. To
put an end to all controversy, and designate what shall be paid them,

not only for their own benefit, but for the guidance of the Comp-
troller, I offer the following resolution :

Resolved, That the Comptroller be requested to pay, upon the cer-

tificate of the presiding officer of the Senate, witnesses attending

in the proceedings pending before the Senate upon charges against

John H. McCunn, one of the justices of the Superior Court of the

city of New York ; George M. Curtis, one of the justices of the

Marine Court of the city of New York, and Horace Gr. Prindle,

county judge of the county of Chenango, the same fees and mileage

as are allowed witnesses in courts of record.

The question being put upon the resolution, it was declared

adopted.

Mr. J. Wood— Mr. President : I hope the Senate will not

adopt any such narrow rule as that.

The Peesident— The resolution is adopted.

Mr. Peeet— Mr. President : I move to reconsider the vote by

which this resolution was adopted.

Mr. Perry's motion to reconsider was put and declared adopted.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : It will be seen that under the

provisions of that resolution, the witnesses attending from New York
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will get for one day's attendance between $13 and $14:, wMch will

cover their expenses. That resolution was offered after consulting

with the Comptroller upon this very question, as there is no author-

ity for paying any more, that any body has been able to find, and the

Comptroller is willing to pay the legal fees paid witnesses, and I put

the resolution in that form. If there was any authority for paying

more, of course, I should have no objection to putting it in the reso-

lution. In the Smith case more was paid, that is to say, it would be

more in some cases and in some cases it would be less, if we should

say $3 a day.

Mr. J. Wood— And ten cents mileage was allowed, and it has

been suggested at $5 a day and the actual traveling fees. That, in

some cases, would be less than this, and in some cases it would be

more.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— It was put in this form because we knew of no

authority for paying more. If the senator from the thirtieth (Mr.

James Wood) or from the second (Mr. Perry) can state any law

authorizing any larger fee than thifi, there will be no objection to

putting it in the resolution.

Mr. Pebey—Mr. President ; I would like the senator to state how

he makes it out that a witness attending one day from New York

gets $12 or $15.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I suppose the mileage allowed

by law, as provided by this resolution, is eight cents a mile from New
York to this city, and that would be $12. One day's attendance

would be 50 cents ; that will pay his expenses, yet I have no objec-

tion to making it more if any body can show authority for paying

more.

Mr. J. Wood— There is just as much authority for paying $3

a day, and ten cents mileage as there is for paying legal fees to wit-

nesses in courts of justice ; I suppose there is no law, and we will

have to provide for the expenses of witnesses as we do for the other

of&cers of the Senate, by the supply bill of next winter, but it seems

to me in this matter before this Senate, when we are calling wit-

nesses to come away from their business, and subject them to a large

expense, that we ought to pay them a reasonable compensation. This

fee which the senator from the twenty-seiond (Mr. D. P. Wood) pro-

poses is the amount fixed by the statutes to be paid by the losing

party to the successful antagonist in a court at law ; it is as large

perhaps as ought to be imposed upon a defeated party in a litigation,

but it ought to form no precedent for the payment of witnesses' fees

here before this tribunal. If the Comptroller will not pay now, let
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it be paid some time. It seems to me it is small business to subject

witnesses to coming here and pay simply their expenses ; it is bad

enough to compel senators to come here and spend their time at

three dollars a day ; don't let us subject the witnesses here to any

such picayune compensation.

Mr. Peeet— Mr. President: I fully agree with the remarks of

the senator from the thirtieth (Mr. D. P. Wood) ; I think, so far as

the statute is authority, we have, in fact, more authority for adopt-

ing the precedent laid down in the Smith case than we have for

adopting this resolution. The statute referred to by Senator D. P.

Wood has no application to a proceeding of this kind, and I see no

reason why we should depart from the precedent in the Smith

case. The witnesses in this case are inconvenienced as much as in

that case, and this proceeding has been enforced upon us by the

people, and we are here doing our duty for the people, and I don't

think we are justified at the present in adopting this picayune prin-

ciple, of paying the witnesses. For one, I would like to reconsider

the vote by which this resolution was adopted, with the view of hav- *

ing the resolution laid upon the table for the present, and having a

conference to see if we cannot reach a conclusion, so that we can pay

a fair compensation to the witnesses, and I want no farther justifica-

tion for my own vote in this matter, than the precedent in the Smith

case. In the Smith case there was paid three dollars a day and ten

cents mileage.

Mr. Madden— I have no objection to reconsidering the question,

and I hope we will not spend much more time in these preliminaries.

I diSer from the senator from the second (Mr. Perry) that this

matter has been forced upon us by the people of this State.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President: I lise to a point of order.

My point of order is, that this debate is out of order. If we debate

these questions, we shall never get through with this trial.

The Peesident— The Chair is of the opinion that the question

is well taken.

The question being put upon the motion to reconsider, the motion

was declared adopted.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : If the gentleman will give way

for a moment, I will say that this resolution has been offered to-night

with a view of meeting the urgent necessities of some witnesses who

are here without any provision to pay them, and if this case goes

over the Senate will see in what position it leaves these witnesses.

Mr. Madden— Mr. President : I move to amend to pay them

five cents a mile each way and three dollars a day.
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The question was put on said motion, and it was declared

adopted.

Q. In your examination you made some statement about a suit

pending before Judge Fithian ; what was tbat suit ? A. I don't

know the nature of it.

Q. Was it a suit against your father ? A. I think so.

Q. Arising out of the partnership affairs ? A. That I don't

remember ; it was a suit in connection with the affairs of A. Bininger

& Co. and their liabilities.

Q. Was it brought between Bininger and your father, or between

other parties and your father and Bininger ? A. It was brought

against nij father.

Q. Who was the plaintiff? A. I am not aware of that.

Q. It was not Bininger ? A. No, sir.

Q. Mr. Fithian was judge of the Superior Court at that time ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How many judges are there of the Superior Court ? A. I

don' t know ; I have heard there were five or six.

Q. There are six ; in that suit your father was not plaintiff ?

A. My father was defendant in that suit.

Q. How did you know it was brought before Judge lithian ?

A. Because it was already brought, and it was to be defended.

Q. It was brought in the Superior Court ? A. Tes,. sir.

Q. Was there any body that could tell what judge it would come
before ; was it to come before him upon a motion, or what ? A. I

don't know ; we were advised to employ the partner of Judge
Fithian, Mr. Clark.

Q. What do you mean by "we" were advised? A. My
father.

Q. Tou mean him when you say " we ? " A. Yes, sir.

Q. You don't know the nature of the suit, and you don't know
what reason there was to suppose it was coming before Judge
Fithian ? A. No, sir.

Q. Did you know Clark was his partner at the time he (Fithian)

was judge ? A. I was told so
;
yes, sir.

Q. You did not know of your own knowledge ? A. No further

than I know of any firm.

Q. Do you know Judge Fithian ? A. I do, slightly.

Q. Do you know his partner, Mr. Clark ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did either of them tell you he was his partner when the judge

was upon the bench ? A. Not that I remember of.

Q. It was only from mere rumor that you supposed at that time
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that Clark was the partner of Fithian ? A. Only a rumor, and I saw
his name directly over Clark's.

Q. That was an office he had before he was judge. Didn't the

judge recommend the retaining of Clark because he was an able

lawyer ? A. That was one of the reasons
;
yes, sir.

Q. The other reason that he was Judge Fithian's partner ; that it

was coming before Judge Fithian, if at all, had not reference to

Judge Fithian's action in the suit ? A. I believe that was the reason

he was engaged, because he was a partner ; that was the reason he

wab engaged.

Q. Your father engaged him because he was a partner of Judge

Fithian ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Mr. Yanderpoel was suggested as a proper party to be retained

as counsel in what suit ? A. In some of the bankruptcy suits.

Q. That was a proceeding taken by the creditors of Bininger &
Co., in the bankruptcy court, against members of that j6.rm, and have

an appointment in bankruptcy ? A. Yes, sir ; the suit had been

commenced in bankruptcy.

Q. There was a difficulty arose between the State and Federal

authorities in regard to this property ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the United States authorities undertook to take the prop-

erty from his possession ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you know that Mr. Yanderpoel was the counsel of the

sheriff of ISTew York ? A. 'So, sir.

Q. Did you know that Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel were ? A.

I knew that firm was.

Q. Was not this suggestion made by Judge McCunn for the pur-

pose ofstrengthening the sheriff in his holding on the State laws to the

property as against the Federal authorities ? A. It might have been so.

Q. Don't you know it was said it was important the sheriff should

be well advised as to securing the property, as Yanderpoel was his

counsel, so as to secure your father's rights as against the Federal

authorities ? A. I know Judge McCunn advised the retaining of

Yanderpoel.

Q. For that reason ? A. I don't know ; I know Judge McCunn
advised the retaining of Yanderpoel, because he had influence with

the sheriff and was an able lawyer.

Q. What idea did you get that there was any necessity of having

the influence of the sheriff ? A. That would be one aid ; that he was

a very able lawyer and would assist the case.

Q. Assist it against whom ? A. Against whoever brought the

bankruptcy suit.
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Q. Tou have spoken something about an allowance to be made to

Mr. Crompton ; where did that conversation occur ? A. It occurred

as I was accompanying the judge in his walk from my father's house

toward his own.

Q. Wliich evening was that? A. Some evening along about

December, as near as I can remember.

Q. Have you told any thing about the judge being at you house

at that time ? A. I suppose I have alluded to it
;
yes, sir.

Q. How did the subject of allowance come up ? A. It was in

speaking of Mr. Compton ; I don't know but what Compton was to

make the application to him.

Q. You heard Compton was about to make an application to him ?

A. He probably said something of that kind, and the judge

said—

•

Q. Was Compton in your company ? A. ISTo, sir.

Q. What do you mean by saying that Compton probably said some-

thing to the judge on the subject ? A. Because the judge made the

remark that night that he would make an allowance to Compton of

$10,000, provided and with tlie understanding that he was to give

one-half that amount to my father.

Q. What brought up the subject of allowance between you and

the judge ? A. I don't remember ; I presume we were talking

about the suit.

Q. Didn't the judge say Compton had a great deal of work to do

and had labored very hard in this matter and ought to be very well

compensated ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did not he say that your father was not at the time in circum-

stances, owing to the litigation and tying up of the property, to pay

him as much as he ought to receive ? A. The judge didn't say to

me that my father was not able to pay him.

Q. Didn't he suggest it to you that he being all tied up with these

suits, that the property was not in money, to compensate counsel, and

therefore an allowance ought to be made him ? A. I don't remem-

ber any thing farther on that particular point than that the judge

said he would make an allowance of $10,000.

Q. How do you come to recollect that suit and nothing that pre-

ceded it ? A. Because that was a very important point.

Q. Important to who ? A. To my father and to Mr. Compton

;

half of $10,000.

Q. You don't recollect how the conversation succeeded that? A.

I remember that very distinctly.

Q. Was your father in a condition at that time to compensate his
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conr.r;el as they ought to be ? A. I didn't know any thing about his

finances.

Q. Didn't Judge McCunn say that Compton, considering the

circumstances of your father, if he got such a large allowance, might

well afford to lend him some of it until he got his affairs straight-

ened out ? A. No doubt, the judge's intentions were very pleasant

and friendly ; but I don't remember any such remarks or suggestion

particularly.

Q. He simply volunteered that outright, that the judge said he

was going to give Compton an allowance of $10,000, with the

understanding it was to be divided with your father ; were those

the very words ? A. About the very words, as near as I can

recollect.

Q. How far did you accompany Judge McCunn ? A. As far as

the Fifth Avenue Hotel.

Q. There you left him ; what part of the journey was it that this

conversation took place ? A. It was on the way down.

Q. You lived at 47 Park avenue ? A. Yes, sir ; that is at

Thirty-seventh street.

Q. Fifth Avenue Hotel is corner of Twenty-third street ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Park avenue is Fourth avenue ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That was a good mile that you walked ? A. Yes, sir ; about

a mile.

Q. What time in the evening was it ? A.I should judge it was

quite late ; it was when we reached the hotel ; it must have been

nearly 12 o'clock, or after that ; after that.

Q. Do you remember what particular part of the journey down

this conversation occurred ? A. That I cannot remember ; not what

block it was upon ; I should judge it was about Twenty-eighth or

Thirtieth street.

Q. What took you to the Fifth Avenue Hotel ? A. I was invited

by the judge to take a walk with him.

Q. As far as the Fifth Avenue Hotel ? A. Pie didn't mention

particularly.

Q. You left the judge at the Fifth Avenue Hotel? A. Yes, sir

;

bid him good evening there.

Q. Did you communicate this conversation to any body at any

time ? A. I think I remarked it several times.

Q. To who ? A. Both to my father and to Mr. Compton, also.

Q. Plow soon after the conversation did you tell ComjDton? A.

Just as soon after as I saw him.

3T
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Q. How long was that ? A. Probably the next day ; I cannot

remember how long it was.

Q. What did he say? A. He said he was very much pleased,

indeed.

Q. You recollect that distinctly ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Was any body with him when he told him ? A. ISTot that I

remember of.

Q. Was any body there when you told Compton, besides yourself

and him? A. Not that I remember.

Q. Where was it that you told him ? A. I don't remember ; I

don't remember at what point the conversation took place.

Q. Where did you tell your father ? A. At the house.

Q. That evening ? A. JSTo, sir ; I did not see him until the fol-

lowing morning.

Q. Did your father say so ? A. I don't remember what he did

say particularly.

Q. What did Compton say when you communicated the fact to

him about dividing the money with your father ? A. He seemed

to understand it perfectly.

Q. I did not ask that; what did he say ? A. 1 don't remember

what he said, any thing more than he was pleased ; I don't remem-

ber what he said particularly.

Q. If you don't remember particularly, do you remember gener-

ally, what he said ? A. No, nothing more than he was pleased

;

that is about as general as I can get at it.

Q. I am speaking of the matter of dividing it with your father ?

A. That was perfectly understood.

Q. What did he say ? A. He acceded to it as far—
Q. What did he say ? A. I don't remember.

Q. Do you remember any other conversation you had with Mc-

Cunn in that walk from your father's house to the Fifth Avenue
Hotel that night ? A. Yes, sir ; at that time my father was in very

miserable health, and the judge invited me to accompany him ; and

he gave me advice to be very careful of my father ; to be careful of

his health
; that he was breaking down, etc. ; I remember that par-

ticularly.

Q. Any thing else ? A. No, sir.

Q. How long did it take you to walk from your house to the

Fifth Avenue Hotel ?

Mr. Madden— Mr. President : It seems to me we are taking up

a considerable time with an unimportant matter ; I wish to give the

largest latitude.
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Mr. Devlin— If the senator will take my place and defend Judge

McCunn, I will yield it willingly ; I am very nearly through, and it

is usual to test the witnesses' recollection about the circumstances

connected with the conversation ; and we consider this an important

item of testimony.

Q. Judge McCunn was at your father's house the night that the

papers were drawn by Titus ; was he invited to be there ? A. I

think he was.

Q. Did he take the invitation to him? A. No; I don't know
who took it, exactly; it might have been me, and it might have

slipped my memory.

Q. Who was there besides the members of the family and Judge

McCunn ? A. Mr. Compton ; that was all.

Q. Compton brought this paper ; do you recollect what he said

when he brought it? A. He advised the acceptance of the

paper.

Q. Did he say who it came from, or any thing of that kind ? A.

"We all understood that.

Q. You understood that was a proposition from the other side to

settle ? A. Tes, sir.

Q. You said your father was entirely satisfied with it, but asked

the opinion of Judge McCunn on the subject ? A. Yes, sir ; my
father said he was satisfied with it, and would sign it ; but that the

judge had displayed so much sympathy for him in his case, etc., that

he thought it a matter of courtesy to ask his opinion.

Q. Said so then in the presence of the judge ? A. No ; said so to

me, when the document was handed to him.

Q. I asked what he said there ? A. He showed Judge McCunn

the proposition, and asked his opinion.

Q. After Judge McCunn gave him his opinion upon it, was he

then satisfied to sign it ? A. Not after he was told it would be a

death warrant? he was influenced then; he refused to sign it

then.

Q. Was any thing further done about the transaction then ; about

that one paper ? A. No, sir ; the proposition was then presented to

Bininger, through his attorneys.

Q. This one you had here to-night ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When did your father's health begin to break down ? A. His

health commenced to fail probably a month or two preceding any

struggles ; commenced to be in very poor health.

Q. What is your age ? A. Twenty-six years old.
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By Mr. Paesoks :

Q. On your examiuatioii the matter has been left in a rather con-

fused condition?

Mr. Devlin— Tlie only objection we have is to leading the wit-

ness.

Q. Do you know enough of the machinery of the courts, or know
any thing about the special terms, to answer in reference to any

thing about any particular judge who might be holding in any par-

ticular motion to be heard ? A. No, sir ; I do not.

Q. You have been asked by Mr. Devlin in reference to your

going to Judge McCunn's house that evening, and what was said

immediately on entering the house; do you know whether an

appointment had been made with Judge McCunn prior to your

going there, or whether any thing of that kind had occurred ?

Mr. Devlim", to the witness

:

Q. It is of your own knowledge, Mr. Clark ? A. ISTot of my own
knowledge ; I had no information of it.

Q. Do you know nothing of the subject? A. Nothing, except

through hearsay.

Q. You have also, on your examination by Mr. Devlin, spoken

about the sheriff being in possession of the stock of A. Bininger &
Co., and some conflict for possession of the property between the

sheriff and United States authorities ; was it the sheriff who was

in possession, or Mr. Hanrahan, the receiver ? A. It was Mr. Han-
rahan, the receiver.

Q. ISTow, can you state what it was they did state at this time in

respect to what the sheriff could do in regard to the possession of

Hanrahan, and what was the occasion of any action on the part of

the'sheriff to influence which Mr. Yanderpoel should be employed?
A. I don't clearly understand your questictn so as to know what you
mean, so that I can give a proper answer.

Q. At the time when Mr. Yanderpoel's name was mentioned, I

understood you, the receiver was appointed and in possession ? A.
Yes, sir.

Q. Was there any occasion to have the possession of the receiver

protected ? A. Yes, sir ; there were proceedings brought by some
of the creditors in bankruptcy, in the United States court, to take

possession of the store, over the head of the receiver.

Q. What was said, if any thing, in any interview, in Judge Mc-
Cunn's presence, in respect to any instrumentality of the sheriff to
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protect the interests of the receiver ? A. I don't really rememher
clearly.

Q. Tou have testified in regard to your accompanying Judge Mc-
Cunn to the Fifth Avenue Hotel ; did any little circumstance hap-

pen at the Fifth Avenue Hotel ? A. No, sir ; nothing very par-

ticular.

Q. If any thing happened there, I should be glad to have you

inform the Senate ? A. Well, I believe we had a cigar together, or

something of that kind.

Q. "Was there not something more than that ? A. ITothing more
than that.

Q. I wish you to tell all there is of that matter? A. That is all.

Q. Don't you recollect any thing further ? A. l^To, sir.

Q. Mr. Clark, since the adjournment of the Senate, or rather

since the recess, have you reflected at all in reference to the agree-

ment, the copy of which, in your own handwriting, was produced,

and can you now state (I mean of positive recollection, don't give

us any guesses) whether that agreement is the agreement that was

prepared bv Mr. Titus, or the agreement prepared upon the memo-
randum drawn up by Judge McCunn ? A. Since leaving here I

have thought over the matter, and I have come to the conclusion

that that is the memorandum drawn up by Mr. Titus, and I can tell

you how I fasten it in my memory. The first proposition by Mr.

Titus, by the advice of my father's counsel, wanted one or two small

corrections.

Q. These are the corrections that are on the margin of the agree-

ment, in the handwriting of your father? A. Tes, sir; that propo-

sition was again submitted and adopted by him.

Q. With this change? A. They were willing to assent to those

changes, and that is the proposition that would have been agreed to

by all parties ; that is the proposition that was brought before us by

Judge McOunn ; I remember it distinctly, and I fasten it in my
memory in that way.

He-examination by Mr. Devlin :

Q. It is not five minutes since you said the papers that were here

this evening were a counter-proposition to the one introduced by

Mr. Titus ? A. Tou alluded to that, and I said that was the propo-

sition by Mr. Titus.

Q. Have you had any conversation since the Senate adjourned,

on this subject, with any body ? A. Yes, sir ; I have told this ques-

tion.
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Q. I mean in regard to this paper ? A. Nothing more than I

spoke to Mr Titus about it, and told him I had called it Co my
memory ; I spoke to Mr. Parsons about it in the hotel, and told him

that I was thoroughly convinced, and could explain it to the Senate.

Q. How did yon come to think you were mistaken, when you

were quite positive, when you were on the stand before, that this

was the paper that Judge McCunn had drawn ? A. I was not very-

positive before, because I had not seen any of those papers since

they were drawn up, which was in 1869, or 1870, and of course my
memory is a little bit confused about it ; but since I have thought

il; over, I am perfectly clear upon the matter.

Q. You have talked with nobody except Mr. Titus, and Mr. Par-

sons, to communicate that matter ? A. No, sir.

Q. Has any body spoken to you about the subject ? A. No, sir.

Q. Where is the counter-proposition that you propose to give to

these people ? A. That I have not seen.

Q. Do you know where it is ? A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know what the contents were ? A. No, sir ; I don't

know exactly.

Q. How did it differ from this one ? A. It must have differed

very materially.

Q. I ask you how ? A. I don't remember that at all.

Q. How long after you left here did you communicate with Mr.

Titus, in regard to the paper ? A. "When I walked to the foot of

the Senate, I remembered the marginal writings then.

Q. Didn't you remember it when you were sitting there upon

the witness' stand ? A. No, sir.

Q. "Walking out of the chamber you recollected it was the Titus

paper ; that this marginal writing was intended as a proposition ?

A. Yes, sir ; I recollect the whole circumstance.

Q. What did you make a copy of the Titus paper for ? A. It was

to bring in these alterations.

Q. The alterations are not copied ? A. It had been altered once

or twice ; this is the second time it was altered ; this is the paper

that was agreed upon by both of them.

Q. You had altered it before ? A. It had been altered, princi-

pally by my father.

Q. It was sent to you as complete, I understand you ? A. That

one now is complete.

Q. It was sent to you that evening, as complete, and then you

wanted these alterations ? A. Not that afternoon ; this proposition

that was agreed to that afternoon, that we all agreed to adopt.
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Mr. Parsons— That is all, Mr. Clark. Mr. President : May I be

pardoned ? there is a subject I had a memorandum of, which, with

the leave of the Senate, I will ask a question in regard to.

Me-direct examination hy Mr. Paesons :

Q. Mr. Clark, do you remember, at any time, an interview with

Judge McCunn when any thing was said about the injunction to be

obtained by your father to protect against bankruptcy proceedings ?

Mr. Devlin— Mr. President : I do not want to make any techni-

cal objections, but this is going to reopen the whole matter.

Mr. Paesons—We withdraw it, if it is objected to. It was unin-

tentionally forgotten, but certainly if there is objection we shall not

press it.

The Peesident to the witness : That will do, sir.

Joel O. Stevens, a witness called on behalf of the people, being

duly sworn, testified as follows :

By Mr. Stioknet :

Q. Mr. Stevens, your position is what, now ? A. I am under-

sheriff of the county of New York.

Q. How long have you been acting in that capacity ? A. Some
nine years in that position.

Q. How long have you been connected with the sheriff's office in

any capacity ? A. Since 1854.

Q. You were, as I understand you, under-sheriff in December,

1869 ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember the suit of Cla/rk v. Bi/n,inger in the

Superior Court ? A. I have heard of such a suit, sir.

Q. Did you, at any time, see Judge McCunn in relation to the

matters involved in that suit ? A. I saw him on one occasion in

reference to it.

Q. Where ? A. At the sheriff's oflSce.

Q. As near as you remember, at what time \ A. Well, it must

have been about that time, but I cannot recollect exactly, as we have

no record of it in the office.

Q. What took place then
;
give the whole of the conversation %

A. There was an order of some kind prepared by Judge McCunn,

directed to the sheriff, the tenor of which I cannot distinctly state

now, but it was of such a nature that I refused positively to exe-

cute it.
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Q. The order in this suit of C'lai'h y. Bininger? A. Yes, sir.

Q. (Sliowiiig paper) Will you look at that paper and state as near

as yon can whether that was the paper or a copy of it ? A. I can-

not identify it as being exactly the verbiage of the paper presented,

but it was something very similar to that.

Q. (Showing the second paper) Will you look also at that paper,

and see if that, or a copy of that, was presented to you ? A. I am
inclined to think, Mr. Stickney, that this is the paper presented to

me, instead of the first one ; I think so.

Mr. Stickm-et—We will offer in evidence this jDaper.

Mr. MoAK— That is not the original paper, but we served a sub-

poena upon Mr. Boese, the clerk of the Su]Derior Court, to produce

it, and the original does not appear on the files of the court. It is a

paper of Judg-e McCunn's, on the hearing before the Assembly

judiciary committee. It may be a coiTect copy. This paper, if the

President please, we desire to object to. In the first place, it does

not appear to be the original, and in the next place it turns out that

Judge Woodruff and Judge Blatchford, sitting together, decided

that the receiver was entitled to the possession, and that Judge

McCunn was a better lawyer than either. That is a reported case.

Certainly we object to the admission of the copy, until it is shown

that the original is lost.

The PeesidenT'— Shall the objection be sustained?

[The question upon the objection being put to the Senate was

overruled.]

Q. Did you ever receive this paper in your office ? Did the

sherifi', or you, as the representative, ever receive this j^aper that

you have mentioned as executed, which Judge McCunn brought to

you ? A. There was a paper brought to me, which I presume was

the original, of which that is a copy, but this paper I have never

seen before.

Q. The original, that was brought to you or the sheriff, did you

take it ? A. E"o, sir ; I emphatically refused to receive it, notwith-

standing what Mr. Moak, says ; Judge Woodruff and Judge Blatch-

ford did not decide as he states, although they are better lawyers

than

—

Q. Did Judge McCunn take away the paper ? A. Yes, sir ; he

said if I would not execute it he would go to some marshal to exe-

cute it.

Mr. Stickney—We will read as follows

:
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Exhibit —

.

NEW TOEK SUPERIOR COURT.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of Xew York,
held at the city and county of New York, the 6th day of Decem-
ber, 1869, at the court-house thereof, in said city.

Present— Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice.

Abkaiiam B. Clakk

acjst.

Abraham Bininger.

"Wheeeas, on the 19tli day of November, 1869, Daniel H. Hanra-

han, Esq., was duly appointed receiver in this action of the property

and effects of the firm of A. Bininger & Co. ; and whereas the said

Hanrahan, duly took possession of said property belonging to said

firm, situate at 92 and 94 Liberty street, in said city, and was in the

lawful possession of the same under said order of appointment, and

it having been made to appear to this court by the affidavit of the

said plaintiff that certain persons unknown, but calling themselves

United States deputy marshals, have forcibly entered said store, and

claim to have possession of the same and said property, and are ex-

ercising or claiming to exercise control over said property, and the

receiver thereof;

Now, therefore, be it known that I order and hereby direct the

sheriff of the city and county of New York, or any marshal or mar-

shals in and for the city of New York, or any person whom the

receiver may call upon, to forthwith take possession of said property,

and remove, by force, if necessary, all persons whomsoever, except-

ing those acting under said I'cceiver, and that the said sheriff protect

and assist the said Daniel H. Hanrahan, receiver, as aforesaid, in his

possession of said property, and in holding and keeping possession

of the same in conjunction with said receiver, from all persons whom-

soever, until the further order of this court.

[seal] JOHN H. McCUNN,
Justice Superior Court.

Q. Will joxi state the whole of the conversation that Judge Mc-

Cunn had with you ? A. I have stated it generally ; the order was

presented to me, and I refused very positively to receive it ; Judge

McCunn then withdrew.

Q. What reply did you give him ; what did you say to him ?

38
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A. I made the remark that he had just as good a right to order me
to assassinate the first man I saw in the park, as to issue that order.

Q. What year did I understand you to say that you first began

your connection with the sheriff's oflice? A. In 1854.

Q. Since 1854, has there been any such process, or similar pro-

cess in the sheriff 's office, except on this one occasion ?

Mr. Devlin— I don't think that is of any consequence.

The Pbesident— Do you insist upon the question ?

Mr. Sticknet— I am ready to withdraw it on any intimation of

the President ; I believe we will ask the question to be answered.

[The question upon the objection being put to the Senate, was sus-

tained.]

Q. Who, do I understand you, brought this order to the office ?

A. I don't recollect who it was that presented it to me ; I don't

think it was Judge McCunn who came with the paper originally

;

it was left with me by some other person, if my memory serves nie

;

and Judge McCunn came subsequently to see me in reference to it,

and to know why I refused to execute it, or something of that kind.

Q. You have no recollection who it was presented by 1 A. No,

sir ; I cannot call to mind who it was.

Q. Do you recollect whether James F. Morgan was there in re-

lation to the same paper, or was it Judge McCunn ? A. I really

cannot fix my mind upon whom the person was that brought it.

Q. Did you ever have any writ or process issued by the sheriff,

or executed by him, in this suit unless you call this paper a process ?

A. None, sir.

Cross-examined ly Judge Selden :

Q. I suppose all process issued out of the Superior Court is

directed to the sheriff of the county ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. At what time was it that this order came to you ? A. I can-

not fix the date ; it was about the latter part of the year 1869.

Q. Are you sure it was before 1870 ? A. Yes, sir ; I am quite

clear it was.

Q. How long before do you think ? A. It was sometime in the

latter part of 1869 ; nearly the close of the year.

Q. How long did the interview between you and McCunn last ?

A. Perhaps ten minutes.

Q. Nothing more was said or done about it, as far as you were

concerned than you have related ? A. No, sir ; nothing.

Judge Selden— That is all, I believe.



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN. 299

Mansfield Compton, a witness called in behalf of the people,

having been duly sworn, testified as follows :

Examined by Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Mr. Compton, you are the attorney for the plaintiff in this suit

of Ola/rk V. Bininger in the Superior Court ? A. I was.

Q. When did you first have an interview with Mr. Justice

McCunn in relation to the proceeding in that snit ? A. The even-

ing of the 19th of November, 1869.

Q. By what do you mean between the 19th and 20th, or between

the 18th and 19th ? A. The 18th.

Q. Where was that ? A. In his house in New York.

Q. At about what time ? A. Well, I think that it was about 9

o'clock in the evening of the 18th.

Q. Will you state what took place. A. I went there for the pur-

pose of making an appointment with him at midnight.

Q. And what did you say ? A. I told him I wanted to have

some papers issued immediately after the expiration of the 18th

;

the 18th was Thanksgiving day.

Q. Did you state what the papers were ? A. I think I did; I won't

be sure though, whether I did then or when I went with the

papers.

Q. Did you say any thing to him at that time, 9 o'clock I mean,

as to what kind of proceeding you wished to take ? A. I don't

remember distinctly ; I think very likely I said I wished to get a

receiver appointed and have an injunction.

Q. Did you mention the name of any receiver ? A. Not at that

time.

Q. Was there any thing else that took place, that was said then ?

A. I don't think there was on the evening of the 18th ; I merely

called there and asked him if it would be convenient for him to be

in about 12 o'clock ; that I would call with some papers ; he said he

would be there.

Q. Then at what time did you go there next ? A. Well, it was

just before 12 o'clock.

Q. With whom ? A. With Abraham B. Clark and Melville B.

Clark.

Q. What took place then ? A. I submitted my papers to him
;

told him what I wanted, and suggested the name of Hanrahan as

receiver.

Q. What did you say ? A. He took the papers and looked at

them ; swore Mr. Clark.
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Q. To what papers did lie swear Mr. Clark 1 A. lie swore liim

to the complaint and the affidavit on injunction.

Q. What was next done ? A. Well, I am not clear now ahout

whether any thing further was done that evening, or the next morn-

ing.

Q. At what time was the order appointing the receiver signed ?

A. Well, that is what I am not clear about ; whether it was that

evening or not.

Q. Won't you reflect, and state as near as you can ? A. I have

been trying to do that, Mr. Stickney, but I have no distinct recol-

lection abont those papers being signed that night or the next morn-

ing ; they may have been signed that night, or they might have

been signed the next morning; I would not undertake to say.

Q. Have you any recollection of seeing him any where else, except

at his house ? A. I have no distinct recollection of seeing anj- one

the next morning, except Melville B. Clark, and that was when he

came to my office to inform me that the receiver had taken posses-

sion of the store.

Q. At about what time of day was that? A. About 11 o'clock.

Q. Then he told you the receiver had taken possession ? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. But you have no recollection of seeing Judge McCunn at any

time, except at his house ? A. I don't recollect whether I did or

not.

Q. What did you do with the papers when you left Judge

McCunn's house ? A. Well, if he signed them that night, I gave

them over to Melville B. Clark or Abraham B. Clark ; if he didn't

sign them that night, why, I probably didn't give them to them

until the next morning.

Q. Did you see Melville B. Clark at any time after you left Judge
McCunn's house, until the time you have mentioned ? A. I have

no recollection.

Q. Or his father '. A. I have no recollection of seeing any of

them until after I was informed by Melville B. Clark that the sheriff

had taken possession of the property.

Q. That the sheriff had taken possession ? I mean the receiver.

Q. Will you look at the paper now shown you and state whether

that is a copy made in your office ? A. This was made in my office
;

that is indorsed in my handwriting; the original injunction

order.

Q. Will you examine those papers and state whether or not all

of those papers, except the first one, were not served from your
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office ; except that first paper, the order of Judge Fithian, and that

back sheet ; I ask yon if those are not from your office ? A. The
first and the last are not.

Q. Well, I will ask you the question in another form ; this copy

of an injunction by order, the copy of order of appointment of

receiver, the copy of summons, complaint and affidavits, in a suit

of OlarJc V. JBiningm', were copies served from your office ? A.

"Yes, sir, they were made at our office ; I don't know whether they

were served from there.

Q. Is that copy of order of appointment of receiver, in the suit

of Clark v. JBininger, a true copy of the order made on the 19th

of November, 1869, by Judge McCunn ? A. 1 think it was.

Q. Have you any doubt about it ? A.I have no doubt about it

at all ; I don't know that I have seen the order since ISTovember

19, 1869.

Mr. Stickney— It appears, Mr. President, from the record pro-

duced by Mr. Boese, that the original order of appoining a receiver

on the 19th l^ovember is not now on the files of the court, so that

we offer in evidence this copy of the order which is now testified to

by Mr. Compton.

Mr. Devlin :

Q. Do I understand that you cannot testify positively that there

is a correct copy of that order ? A. No, I wouldn't want to say

positively.

Q. Did you ever compare it ? A. ISTo, sir.

Q. Do you know whether that order is the same one or not ? A. I

don't know ; it seems to me it purports to be that order ; I have

not read it over.

Mr. Davis— "We object to it, Mr. President ; I submit that it is

rather hard to compel us to take as orders that are supposed to be

sufficient to remove a judge, a copy which the witness says he could

not swear to. That such a copy should be taken as the basis of the

removal of a judge from office.

Mr. Stickh-et :

Q. In whose handwriting is that ? A. That I don't know.

Q. But you say these papers were served from your office ? A.

Tliese papers were served from our office, and this paper was served

on me as a copy of the order for appointment of a receiver.

Q. How many times have you examined the original order of
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Judge McOunn of the 19th of Ifovember, appointing a receiver 2

A. I don't know that I have seen that order since he signed it.

Q. Will you examine that paper and state to the best of your

recollection whether it is an exact copy ? A. According to my rec-

ollection I should think that was a copy ; I couldn't swear to it posi-

tively.

Q. Have you any doubt about it ? A. !No ; I have no doubt

about it ; it was served on me as a copy.

Q. "Was it not first served from your office ? A. That paper was

not ; these other papers were.

Q. In whose handwriting is that indorsement ? A. I don't know
handwiiting ; if this paper came out of my package that I brought

up—I see it is marked " filed."

Q. These papers are from the tiles of the court ? A. I don't

recognize that handwriting ; I think Mr. Titus might be able to

explain that.

Mr. Stioknet— "W"e will offer the paper as it is, and take the

judgment of the Senate upon it.

The question being put as to whether the objection to the paper

should be sustained, was decided in the negative. The paper was

marked exhibit No. 10, and read as follows :

Exhibit l^o. 10.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abkaham B. Clakk I

«?**• y Order ofappointment ofreceiver.

Abraham Biningbk. \

The above named plaintiff having commenced an action against

the said defendant for a settlement of partnership and for an account-

ing, and it appearing to my satisfaction by the complaint and affida-

vits hereto annexed, that a cause of action exists against the said

defendant, and that the acts and doings of the said defendant have

been and are contrary to equity and good conscience, and that no

equitable division of the assets and good will of said partnership can

be made without loss to both parties, except by sale thereof and a

division of the proceeds, I do hereby order that Daniel H. Hanrahan,

Esq., of the city, county and State of New York, be and he is

hereby appointed receiver of all the debts, property and equitable

interest, rights and things in action of the said partnership, with

power to dispose of the same for the benefit of all parties concerned.
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according to law ; that such receiver, before he enter upon the execu-

tion of his trust, execute to the clerk of this court a bond, with

sufficient sureties, to be approved by me, in a penalty of $1,000,

conditioned that he will faithfully discharge the duties of such trust,

and file the said bond with the clerk of said court, and that the said

receiver, upon filing such bond, be invested with all rights and
powers as receiver, according to law.

Dated New Yoke, Novevih&r 19, 1869.

J. H. McCUNN, Justice.

By Mr. Stickney :

Q. "What conversation had you had with Mr. Hanrahan, prior to

your meeting with Judge McOunn and prior to Mr. Hanrahan's

appointment by Judge McOunn as receiver, in relation to those mat-

ters?

Mr. MoAK— That we object ^ ^ ; the conversation Hanrahan and

the witness had in Judge McCunn's absence, on the ground that

such a conversation is clearly inadmissible withia the rules of law.

Mr. Stickney— We expect to prove, as it was testified to before

the Assembly judiciary committee that, before Mr. Oompton had his

interview with Judge McCunn, he saw Mr. Hanrahan and spoke to

him in relation to these matters, and that Mr. Hanrahan said to

him : "If you bring that suit in the Superior Court and apply to

Judge McOunn he will appoint me receiver." That the application

was made to Judge McOunn in pursuance of that arrangement, and

that Judge McOunn did appoint Hanrahan receiver.

A Senatoe:

Q. Was this communicated to Judge McOunn ?

Mr. Stigkney—We shall not claim to show that.

[The question being put as to whether the objection should be

sustained was decided in the negative.]

A. I was at Hanrahan's office on another reference, or on a refer-

ence, and after the reference was over he asked me if I could not do

something for him, and placed it upon the ground that he had met

me in Oalifornia ; that Oalifomians ought to help one another when

they get to New York ; I stated to him that I was about bringing a

suit wherein I should want a receiver, and he asked me or requested

me to bring it in the Superior Oourt, and asked me to suggest his

name to Judge McOunn ; that is the substance of it.

Q. What did he say, if any thing, as to what Judge McOunn

would do ?
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Mr. Selden— That we object to. The whole subject of what

Hanrahan and this man said together seems to bear very little upon

Judge McCnnn in any way.

Mr. Stiokney— Certainly, if the testimony fails to connect it, we
should be perfectly willing to have it stricken out.

Q. Was any thing said about Judge McCunn in that conversa-

tion ? A. I think he said if I would suggest his name, Judge

McCunn would appoint him; I am under that impression.

Q. Do you know what relations between Judge McCunn and Mr.

Hanrahan there were ? A. No, I do not.

Q. Do you know whether they were on terms of intimacy or not ?

A. That I don't know only from—
Q. Have you at any time, seen Judge McCunn in Mr. Hanra-

han's office ? A. Yes, sir ; I have seen him in that office several

times ; I don't know how many times.

Q. During this litigation ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Mr. Hanrahan was whose partner ? A. Mr. Morgan's partner.

Q. The firm name was what ? A. Morgan & Hanrahan.

Q. How many tiixies, according to your best recollection, did yoi?

see Judge McCnnn in that office? A. Oh, I would not undertake

to say, Mr. Stickney ; I could not say.

Q. Did you see Judge McCunn in their office in relation to any

thing except the matters in litigation in this suit ?

Mr. Seldei7— He has not said that he saw him in relation to those

matters.

By Mr. Stickney :

Q. Did you see him at any time, in their office, in relation to

matters involved in that suit ? A. I think I did once ; whether I

did more than that I could not undertake to say.

Q. Have you no recollection whether you did more than once ?

A. I have not a distinct recollection.

Q. Did you see him at any time there in relation to any thing else ?

A. Not that I am aware of ; I may have done so.

Q. Who was Mr. Morgan ; what relation or connection was he to

Judge McCunn ? A. I tmderstood that he was a partner of Judge
McCunn ; I don't know of my own knowledge.

Q. Do you know what business connection he had ever had with

Judge McCunn ? A. No, I don't know that I do.

Q. Who did Morgan succeed in business ? A. I believe the sign

was that they were the successors to McCunn and Moncrief, or Jno.

H. McCunn ; I don't recollect distinctly which.
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Q. Do you know whether or not Judge McCann had a desk or

small apartment in their office ? A. "Well, I think when I saw him
there he was in the office that Mr. Hanrahan occupied ; there were
three rooms ; an outside room and two inside rooms ; Mr. Morgan
had one and Mr. Hanrahan had the other; when I saw Judge
McCunn there, he was in Mr. Hanrahan's department, if I recollect

right.

Q. That don't quite answer my question. Do you know whether
he had a desk or small room there ? A. I don't recollect whether

he had a distinct desk ; I don't know whether it was his desk ; there

were one or two desks in that room
;
perhaps a desk and table.

Q. Have you seen him several times occupying or using one. A.

I don't know that I ever saw him using a table there ; I may have

done so ; my recollection is not distinct about those matters that

took place at that office.

Q. Will you look at the paper now shown you signed by Mr.

Justice Fithian, dated [N'ovember 22, 1869, and state whether you
recollect what time that was served upon you ? A. Tliei'e was such

an order as that served upon me, I believe.

Mr. Stickney-— This is the original order to show cause, which

we offer to read in evidence.

The paper referred to was marked exhibit No. 11, and reads as

follows

:

Exhibit No. 11.

SUPEEIOK COUET— City of New Yoek.

1
ABEAHAit B. ClAEK

agst.

Abbaham Biningbr.

On the annexed affidavits, and upon the summons, complaint,

affidavits and papers upon which the injunction order, and order

appointing a receiver in this action were made on the 19th instant,

and upon said orders, copies of which were served upon the said

defendant, it is hereby ordered that said plaintiff, or his attorney,

show cause before one of the judges of this court, at special term, at

City Hall, on the 25th day November instant, at 10 o'clock, in the

forenoon, why said injunction order should not be vacated, and why
said order appointing a receiver, and the receivership in this action

should not be set aside, or why said orders, and each of them should

not be modified as may be just, or why such order, or further or

35
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difEerent order, or relief, should not be granted and made as the

nature of the case may require, and in the mean time, and until the

further order of this court, that Daniel H. Hanrahan, Esq. , the re-

ceiver so appointed, do refrain from selling or disposing of any of

the copartnership property and effects of the firm of A. Bininger

&Co.
T. J. FITHIAN,

Justice.

November 22, 1869.

City and County of New Toek,.«s. :

John Jacques, being duly sworn, says that on the 23d day of

November, 1869, at the city of New York, he served the foregoing

order to show cause, together with the affidavits of Abraham Ein-

inger, made the 22d day of November 1869, and Edward W. Cone,

made the same day, on M. Compton, the attorney for the plaintiff

herein, at his office, by delivering to and leaving with a clerk in

charge of the said Compton's office, during the temporary absence

of said Compton, true copies thereof, and at the same time exhibit-

ing to the said clerk the original order to show cause, under the

signature of the justice thereto affixed. Defendant says that the per-

son he so served informed him that the said Compton was tempo

rarily absent. Defendant further says that at the same time and place,

he served a regular notice of appearance and retainer of Edward W.
Cone, Esq., for the defendant, Abraham Bininger, by delivering to

and leaving with said clerk a copy of such notice.

JOHN JACQUES.
Sworn to before me this

)

day of November, 1869. j

John Hayes,

Notary Piihlic in andfor Neio ITork County.

Mr. Stickney:

Q. Mr. Compton, will you state whether you received the letter

now shown you at any time? A. Yes, sir ; I believe I did.

Q. Whose signature is that? A. I believe that is Mr. Hanra-

han's signature ; it purports to come from him.

Q. Did you see Judge McCunn at his office, about the date of

that letter? A. I think that was the time that I saw him there.

Q. As stated in this letter ? A. Yes, sir ; I think so.

Q. "What is your best recollection ? A. I recollect seeing Judge
McCunn at their office once or twice, but I could not state the date.
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Q. "What is your best recollection as to whether you saw Judge
McCunn at Hanrahan's office just after you received that letter?

A. I think it is very likely I went down ; I am not positive about it

.

Q. What is your best recollection ? A. "Well, my recollection is

that I did ; I think I did ; where did you get that from, Mr. Btick-

ney ?

Mr. Stiokney— That was in the files of the court.

Mr. Stioknet— I offer to read the letter in evidence; Mr.

—

Mr. Seldkn— If that letter was shown to Judge McCunn, if he

knew any thing of it, it might be evidence ; but not without, cer-

tainly ; it is a letter from Hanrahan to this witness.

Mr. Stickney— The letter requests Mr. Conklin to meet Judge

McCunn at Hanrahan's office.

Mr. Selden— Suppose it does ; what does Judge McCunn know
about that ?

Mr. Stickney— The witness then testifies that he did meet Judge

McCunn at Hanrahan's office, in pursuance of the request or appoint-

ment, whatever it may be called, contained in this letter.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— Does the witness testify that he met Judge

McCunn at the office i,n accordance with the request of that letter 1

Mr. Stickney— He says that is his best recollection.

Mr. Selden— It does not appear that Judge McCunn ever knew
any thing about that letter ; not a particle of evidence that he ever

heard of it.

Mr. Stickney— The letter appoints a meeting with Judge

McCunn, and it appears that the meeting took place.

Mr. Selden— But there is no evidence that Judge McCunn ever

knew any thing about that letter.

Mr. SnoKNEY—We do not conceive that it is possible for him to

have gone without knowing about that letter.

The question being put as to whether the objection should be sus-

tained, was decided in the negative.

The letter was read in evidence by Mr. Stickney, as follows :

Exhibit No. 12.

New York, November 23, 1869.

M. CoMPTON, Esq. :

Dear sir— Please remain in your office or be where you can be

found at any time during the day. The judge has granted the order

modifying the order of yesterday, and giving me again the power to

sell, etc. The judge will be at my office during the day, and when
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he comes Mr. Morgan will send for you, as lie (the jndge) wishes to

see you both together.

Very respectfully,

DAN. H. HANRAHAN.

Mr. Stickstet - - According to your recollection, was or not Judge

McOunn there to meet you, as stated in that letter ? A. I don't

recollect, sir, that Judge McCunn was there; I don't recollect

whether I saw the judge positively.

Q. Well, I ask you what is your best recollection ? A. Well, I

think it is very likely I went down ; I have no distinct recollection

about it.

Q. Was any thing said at that meeting, as nearly as you can

remember, as to the modification of this order of Judge Fithian ?

A. At what meeting ?

Q. At Hanrahan's office ? A. I don't recollect distinctly of going

there and ever meeting any body there ; I can only say this : that I

presume I went.

Q. Have you any doubt about it? A. I can't say any thing

more.

Mr. Sblden— The counsel will see now that the ground upon

which that letter was admitted utterly fails.

Mr. Stiokney— He said that, according to his best recollection,

he did go there.

Mr. Devlin— He said he had no recollection of seeing Judge

McCunn there.

Mr. Sticknet—• He says he cannot swear positively that he saw

him there.

Q. Where did an interview take place that you certainly remem-

ber you had with Judge McCunn ? A. I couldn't say, particularly.

Q. Can you state how many interviews you did have at that

office ? A. I can only state that I saw Judge McCunn there once

or twice ; but when it was, on what occasion, or what business was

done, I couldn't say.

Q. Did you at any time meet Judge McCunn at Mr. Clark's

house? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Will you state when the first time that you met him there was 1

A. I couldn't state that.

Q. Can you state any time when you met him there ? A. I can

only state that I met Judge McCunn there, the only time that I can

speak of positively is at the time the agreement spoken of here was

submitted to him for his opinion.
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Q. Will you look at the paper now shown yon, marked Exhibit

No. 8, and state whether you saw Judge McCunn in relation to that

or some agreement of settlement between these parties, Clark and

Bininger ? A. I saw him there one night in relation to some settle-

ment between Clark, Bininger & Co., and the creditors ; it must
have been after this, I think.

Q. "Will you state every thing that took place at that time ? A.

Mr. Titus and myself had been some time trying to settle these mat-

ters between Clark and Bininger ; we had talked the matter over

between ourselves, until we had arrived at a basis of settlement

which we thought both parties would agree to, I was trying to think

this agreement here, without these marginal alterations, was the

agreement that Titus and I agreed upon in the first instance, I don't

think it was exactly the agreement that was submitted.

Q. Come as quickly as you can to what took place in Judge Mc-

Cunn's presence ? A. "Well, the agreement that was submitted here

amounted to this ; I don't think it was exactly like this ; I had

advised Mr. Clark to sign the agreement ; Mr. Bininger had signed

the agreement, and I advised Mr. Clark to do it, Mr. Clark promised

me he would do it, but he said he wished to see Judge McCunn
before he signed it, and he took the paper to go to Judge McCunn's

house to see him ; that evening I called at Clark's house to see what

the result was ; he said he had called at Judge McCunn's house and

he was not in, but he left his name ; I remained at the house until

about 9 o'clock, when the judge came in, and the paper that Binin-

ger had signed was submitted to him, and he disapproved of it.

Q. "Will you give us, as nearly as you can, the words that were

used? A. I couldn't undertake to say the exact words he used ; all

I can say is, he disapproved of that agreement.

Q. Is that all you can remember ? A. I couldn't state his words.

Q. Is that all you remember that took place there ? A. If you

suggest any thing, there may be something else ; I was a little pro-

voked that that agreement was not carried out ; I had promised Mr.

Titus it would be carried out.

Q. "What did you say there ? A. Oh, I didn't say much of any

thing ; I found Mr. Clark was disinclined to carry out the agreement

when the judge thought it was not exactly the agreement that should

be made, and I was somewhat provoked, and went out of the room

and left them talking ; there was very little transpired before me.

Q. I understood you to state that there was one interview at Mr.

Hanrahan's office which you do remember about ? A. I remember

seeing Judge McCunn there once.
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Q. Do you remember what took place then or what was spoken

of ? A. Well, I don't recollcict.

Q. Did Judge McCunn, at any time in your hearing, say any thing

about retaining Mr. Barr ? A. Not in my hearing.

Q. Was there any other proceeding that you remember, except

this order to show cause, which has been put in evidence, that was

coming up before Judge Fithian 1 A. No, sir.

Q. Did Judge McCunn, in your hearing at any time, say any thing

in relation to the employment or retainer of Mr. Vanderpoel ? A.

I am inclined to think Judge McCunn did say something about

retaining Mr. Yanderpoel in some contempt proceedings ; I think it

was contempt proceedings ; no it was not contempt proceedings; it

was a motion that Mr. Bangs made in the Superior Court for the

Superior Court to order the receiver to deliver over the partnership's

property.

Q. State what was said in Judge McCunn's presence ? A. Well,

I couldn't act on that motion for the reason that the United States

had enjoined me from appearing on that motion, and enjoined my
client ; and I think I spoke to Judge McCunn once about it ; and I

think he spoke of retaining Mr. Yanderpoel ; I know Mr. Yander-

poel appeared on that motion.

Q. What did he say about it ? A. He suggested that Mr. Clark

employ Mr. Yanderpoel, I think.

Q. Did he give any reason for it ? A. Not that I am aware of,

any further than that he was an able man.

Q. Did Judge McCunn say any thing at that time in your hearing

about giving you an allowance ? A. Yes, sir ; he said several times

that he would give me an allowance.

Q. Did Judge McCunn ever say any thing in your hearing about

protecting Mr. Clark, or getting his rights, or any thing of that

nature ? A. I don't remember.

Q. Do you know who was holding chambers on the 19th of

November, 1869 ? A. Judge Fithian.

Q. Do you know of any practice of the court requiring that appli-

cation for a receiver, or for an injunction, or similar applications

should be made to the judge holding chambers or special term ? A.

Well, it was usual to make them to the judge holding chambers.

Q. And what was your reason for going to Judge McCunn ? A.

Well, my reason was— one reason for going there was— I wanted to

get my suit initiated as early as possible ; from what my client told

me, and from the notice of dissolution that had been served upon me,

we anticipated a counter movement from Biniuger, and I wanted to
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get the start ; and I knew where Judge McCunn lived, and I didn't

know where Judge Fithian lived ; I think I told Judge McCunn
my reasons for coming to him ; I believe I did ; it is very likely

I did.

Q. Did Judge McCunn refer you to Judge Fithian ? A. I don't

remember that he did ; he may have done so.

Q. Have you any recollection that he did ? A. I have no recol-

lection about it ; I know I was extremely anxious to get that suit

initiated as early as possible on the morning of the 19th, because the

partnership was dissolved on that day.

Q. Did you make any inquiries as to where Judge Fithian was ?

A. I don't remember ; there was another reason for going to Judge
McCunn.

Q. What was it ? A. Mr. Hanrahan had stated to me, as an induce-

ment to bring that suit in the Superior Court, that he would give

one-half his commission ; and if I had gone to Judge Fithian, he
probably would not have appointed Mr. Hanrahan, and then I would
not have made CLuite so good a speculation out of the suit.

Cross-examination hy Mr. Selden :

Q. At what time did you go to Judge McCunn, on the occasion

when you applied for the injunction ? A. It was just 12 o'clock, a

little before.

Q. There was nothing done, I suppose, with the papers, until

after 12 o'clock ? A. The judge may have looked at the papers, but

nothing was done ; we waited some little time.

Q. Clark was not sworn, nor any of them signed the papers ? A.
No, sir ; I think that Judge McCunn stated, after the clock struck

twelve, that he would wait a little while for variance in time, I won't

be sure whether he did or not ; some body did, I believe.

Q. Now, in relation to the receivership ; was there any other

name mentioned besides that of Hanrahan, in connection with the

receivership at that time ; did any one mention Murray Hoffman ?

A. Well, I have heard Murray Hoffman's name mentioned, two or

three times, in connection with the receivership, but whether it was

mentioned then and there, I couldn't say ; I don't recollect.

Q. Tour application was to have Mr. Hanrahan appointed ? A.

Yes, sir ; and my reason for having Mr. Hanrahan appointed, was,

that he had made me a proposition which was beneficial to me.

Q. You had been acquainted with Mr. Hanrahan before that ? A,

I knew Mr. Hanrahan as early as 1855.

Q. Did you regard him as a very suitable man to be appointed at
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that time as receiver ? A. "Why, yes ; I thought he was a suitable

man.

Q. In what capacity had he acted in California, while you were

there? A. He was a judge of one of the justices' courts there, and

he was connected with the sherifE 's office at one time ; I think he

had charge of Adams & Company's property at the time of their

failure.

Q. Was he a man, down to that time, so far as you knew, of tem-

perate habits ? A. When he was in California, I regarded him as a

man of temperate habits ; I was not aware that he was intemperate

until some time after his appointment as receiver.

Q. Ite was a lawyer ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. A good business man, and a man of intelligence ? A. Tes, sir,

he was a good business man ; he was a rapid business man.

Q. An uncommonly good business man ; how do you recollect

distinctly whether the papers that were signed there were not left

with Judge McCunn to be delivered on the next morning after the

court opened ? A. It may have been so ; I have no recollection

about it ; I couldn't undertake to swear whether I carried those

papers away, or left them there, or some body else carried them.

Q. You don't know whether the order for a receiver was signed

that night or not, do you mean to say ? A. I wouldn't undertake

to say it was or was not.

Q. Do you recollect when the receiver's bond was executed ? A.

I dont know any thing about that ; I had nothing to do with that

;

that was the receiver's business.

Q. What is the penalty of the bond as given ? A. I never saw

the bond ; I may have seen it, but I do not remember now ; all I

know about that bond is, that there was a copy served on me onCe
;

I may have seen the bond.

Q. Is the paper I now show you the bond ? A. Yes, sir ; this is

tthe bond ; the penalty is $10,000.

Q. When does it purport to have been acknowledged first, and

the affidavits of the sureties sworn to ? A. the 19th of November,

1869.

Q. Before whom ? A. Levi Gray.

Q. Do you know where his office is ? A. 'So, sir ; I do not know
Ihim at all.

Q. Do you know whose handwriting that bond is in ; is it not Mr.

Hanrahan's handwriting ? A. I don't think it is ; I may be mis-

taken ; 1 think it is likely it was done in his office by some of his

clerks.
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Q. You had n.o bond with you biit Judge McCunn's ? A. ]S"ot

for a receiver ; the only bond I had there was a bond on injunction

;

an undertaking on injunction.

Q. Did you draw the order for the appointment of the receiver ?

A. I did.

Q. You had the draft of that order before you went to Judge

McCunn's, did you? A. Oh, I had the original order.

Q. You had drawn it before you went there ? A. Yes, sir ; cer-

tainly, I had all the papers drawn before I went there.

Q. In the original order, what was the amount of the security

required from the receiver? A. I do not remember the exact

amount ; all I know about it is what has been read in this order ; I

don't recollect what the amount was.

Q. The order expresses $1,000 ; what I want to know is, whether

it was not a mistake in copying ? A. I wouldn't undertake to say,

sir ; for I don't recollect any thing about it.

Q. You don't know that the bond was given for any more than

the order required ? A. That I don't know, for I don't know what

the order did require ; I don't recollect.

Q. Were joxi present when the motion before Judge Fithian was

argued on that order to show cause? A. I was, and participated in

the argument.

Q. "What was the result of that motion ? A. The motion was

denied.

By Mr. Moak :

Q. I show the witness the order ; is that the order ? A. I think

it is ; it is signed by J udge Fithian ; I won't be sure
;
yes, I think

that is the original order, as near as I can recollect.

By Mr. Selden :

Q. You think that is the order made by Judge Fithian ? A. I

think it is.

Q. Is that his signature ? A. I believe it is ; I couldn't swear

positively, but it looks like it, as I recollect his signature ; I am not

very familiar with it.

Mr. Benedict— I would like to hear the order read.

The order was read by the Clerk, and marked Exhibit ISTo. 13.

40
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Exhibit No. 13.

SUPERIOE, COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abeaham B. Clark

agst.

Abraham Bininger.

The motion to dissolve the injunction and to set aside the receiver

appointed, having been this day heard before Judge Fithian, and

being under,

Now, on motion of Edw. "W". Cone, defendant's attorney, and on

hearing M. Compton, of counsel for plaintiii, in opposition, it is

ordered that Daniel H. Hanrahan, Esq., the receiver appointed

herein, until the further order of this order, make no disposition of

the property and effects of the firm of A. Bininger & Co. , except to

sell and dispose of the same, in the usual course of business, and on

the usual terms, and collect all debts due said firm, and that he

deposit all money heretofore received by him, from v^hatever source,

and which may hereafter be received by him, in the United States

Trust Company, except such as may be necessary for current

expenses of said business and the expenses of litigation.

T. J. FITHIAN,
Justice.

Mr. Selden :

Q. Did Judge Fithian write an opinion on that ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know whether the case has been reported 1 A.I pre-

sume the opinion is among my papers that I was subpoenaed to

bring here.

Q. "Will you produce it ? A. If the gentleman will hand me the

papers, I presume the opinion is among them? [Mr. Stickney

handed some papers to the witness.] This is a certified copy of the

decision.

Mr. Selden— We offer that decision in evidence as sustaining

this particular order of Judge MeCunn.
The paper was marked Exhibit No. 14.



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN. 315

Exhibit JSTo. 14.

JSTEW YOEK SUPEKIOR COUET.

Abraham Clark, Plaintiff. \ tj i a • i m ht' ' [Jxea^aopeffiao 2erm,jVov.,
agst.

Abraham Biningek, Defendant.
1869.

This is an action by one copartner against another, for an account-

ing and settlement of partnership assets and business, and praying

for an injunction and the appointment of a receiver.

Upon the complaint, schedules and exhibits and affidavits annexed,

an order of injunction was granted and a receiver appointed ex parte

by one of the justices of this court. The defendant now moves

this court at special term on notice, and on the same papers, for an

order dissolving such and setting aside the order appointing a

receiver.

Decided December 6, 1869.

G. W. TITUS AND E. CONE,
Jfor the Motion.

M. COMPTON AND L. B. OLAEK,
Oj)posed.

EiTHiAN, J.— The papers on which the motion is made show
substantially among other things the following facts, which I deem
material.

It appears that as long ago as the year 1821, the parties to this

suit, together with one Fisher, entered into partnership in the wine

and liquor business, in this city, upon what terms does not appear.

That from 1821 to 1836, the defendant Bininger, although a part-

ner, took no active part in the business, but the same was conducted

and managed by plaintiff and Eisher. That from 1836 to June,

1861, the business was chiefly managed and conducted by the plain-

tiff himself, from which I infer that Fisher went out in 1836. That

in June, 1861, the firm was crippled by the stagnation of business

consequent upon the breaking out of the war, and the suppression

of payment of debts owing to the firm by the South. That for

these reasons it was found necessary to increase the capital to be

used in the business, and that thereupon it was agreed by and between

the plaintiff and defendant, that the latter should, and he did loan

and advance to the plaintiff the sum of $45,000, to be used in the

said business (see aflSdavit of plaintiff). That to secure the payment

of such loan and advance, the said plaintiff did on the 1st day of
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June, 1861, execute and deliver to the defendant an absolute bill

of sale of all and singular the plaintiff's interest in all the stock,

property and assets, real and personal, of the said firm of " A. Bin-

inger & Co.," securing and accepting the one-half interest of plain-

tiff in certain debts due the firm, a schedule of which was annexed

to the bill of sale, amounting nominally on their face, to about the

sum of $60,000.

And thereupon new articles of partnership were entered into

between plaintiff and defendant, reciting the existence of the former

partnership and that plaintiff had sold his interest as aforesaid to

defendant, and that defendant desired to retain the knowledge and

skill of plaintiff in this business. It was therefore agreed that said

partnership be continued upon the terms therein stated, viz. : The

same firm name to be retained, all fiscal transactions to be under the

exclusive control of the defendant ; that plaintiff Clark should not

sign the firm name to any bill, bond, note or specialty, except by the

consent and license of Bininger ; that all the stock and property

and effects of the firm should be the sole and exclusive property of

Bininger, which on the dissolution or termination of the firm should

be held by Bininger, subject to an accounting with Clark for his

portion of the net profits, as hereafter stated ; that an account and

statement of stock and partnership business to be taken on the 1st

day of March each year during the continuance of the partnership,

and the net profits ascertained and thereupon apportioned to

the parties as follows : $7,000 of the profits to be set apart to

defendant as compensation for the use of his capital, and the

balance to be divided equally between the parties and placed

to their credit respectively on the ioohs of the firm, share

and share alihe. Further, that Bininger might draw from

the concern as much of the profits standing to his credit as he

chose, and as much of the capital stock as he chose, but not

reduce the same below $100,000 ; Clark however, not to draw from

his share of the profits over $6,000 a year, each party to be credited

with interest on his profits remaining undrawn. The partnership

to continue until the 1st of March, 1866 ; subject, however, to be

dissolved by either party on fifteen days' notice to the other.

At the same time with the execution of these papers, the defend-

ant, Bininger, executed to the plaintiff, Clark, an instrument in

writing as follows, in substance reciting the sale of Clark's interest

in the partnership effects of the old firm, as before stated. Also,

that the parties had entered into new articles of copartnership,

" whereby it was agreed that the net profits shall be divided equally
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between the parties, after paying to Bininger therefor $7,000 per

year as compensation of his capital
; " also, reciting that Bininger

was desirous of giving Clark, the plaintiff, the right to repurchase

the interest, stock, effects and assets of the firm which he had so as

aforesaid sold to Bininger. Therefore, it was agreed that if Clark

should pay, or cause to be paid, to Bininger the said sum of $45,000,

on or before the dissolution of the partnership, either by limitation

or by notice in the partnership articles provided, then Bininger

would reconvey to Clark all the said interests in said partnership

effects by Clark sold to Bininger on the " proceeds thereof," and
Clark therein agrees that he will so repurchase said interest as

aforesaid, " and for that purpose will appropriate all his share and
proportion of the net profits of the said copartnership, over and
above the annual sum of $6,000, specified in the articles of copart-

nership " (the sum Clark was authorized to draw).

The foregoing facts appear from the articles of agreement, and

the affidavits annexed to the complaint. The plaintiff then alleges

in the complaint, that the partnership thus formed continued in bus-

iness until the 4th day of November, 1869, when the defendant,

Bininger, served plaintiff with written notice of dissolution, pursu-

ant to the articles of copartnership, for and from the 19th of said

November. The plaintitf alleges that he had reported the articles

of copartnership on his part. That the good-will of the business was

very valuable. That of the $45,000 to be loaned by defendant as

capital, but $40,501 was paid in. That of the schedule of bills

receivable which were excepted from the sale of assets by plaintiffto

defendant, there had been collected and received, and paid into said

firm, during its continuance, the sum of $35,000, one-half of which

belonged to the plaintiff, and which he claims as a payment on

account of the $40,501 loan. That, on the 22d of July, 1865, plain-

tiff paid to the defendant in real estate $22,363.13, which now
stands to his credit on the books as a payment on account of said

loan. That, on the 9th of November, 1869, the plaintiff notified

defendant that he thereby appropriated, out of the profits belonging

to him in said firm, so much as would be necessary to liquidate any

balance unpaid on said $40,501 loan, and demanded a retransfer of

his interest in the partnership business, which defendant refused to

execute or make.

The complaint then proceeds to charge the defendant with various

acts of misconduct, among which was drawing and appropriating to

his own use large sums of money from the profits and capital of the

firm, much more than was authorized by the articles of copartner-
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ship. That he borrowed, and appropriated to his own use, large

sums of money, and gave the firm notes as security. In consequence

of which acts of defendant the cash resources of tlie firm were crip-

pled, and it was compelled to suspend payment about ifovember

4th, 1869.

That the defendant was absent in Europe during the years 1865

and 1866, and that during that time plaintiff had the sole charge

and control and management of the business ; that it was profitable,

and during that time netted over $60,000 profits ; that, since the

suspension and dissolution, defendant and plaintiff have disagreed,

and defendant has " usurped " the eatire control of the property

and threatens to exclude plaintiff by force if he attempts to interfere

in the settlement of the partnership affairs ; that defendant has

opened a new bank account in his individual name, as " executor,"

and deposits partnership moneys in that account ; that the partner-

ship assets and property amount to over $500,000, and the debts do

not exceed $200,000. That, at the time of the execution of the

bill to defendant, in June, 1861, the stock on hand of the part-

nership was $156,227.78; real estate $165,000, subject to mort-

gages for $28,000 ; books of account (sold to defendant) $50,000.

That at the time of dissolution there were large profits coming to

plaintiff. All these allegations are unanswered by defendant, and

so far as they are properly verified, must on this motion be taken

as true. The defendant moves on these papers to vacate the

order of injunction, an order appointing a receiver, and the

first alleged ground for the motion is that the complaint is

not accompanied by a sufficient affidavit of verification. The
Code, section 220, provides that it must "satisfactorily appear

to the judge by the affidavit of the plaintiff or of any other

person that sufficient grounds for an injunction exist, or it will not

be granted." It has been held that a complaint with the ordinary

and usual jurat or verification alone is not a sufficient affidavit to

authorize an injunction. BostwicJc v. Elton, 25 How. 342. But

where the allegations in the complaint are made positively, and not

on information and belief merely, and which allegations are sworn

to be true, may be taken and treated as an affidavit. This seems to

be the result of the authorities : Badger v. Wagstaff, 11 How. 502

;

Woodruff V. Fisher, 17 Barb. 229 ; Jones v. Atterbury, 1 Code,

87 ; Levy v. Levy, 1 Abb. 89 ; 15 How. 395.

In this complaint, with one or two trivial and immaterial excep-

tions, the allegations are all positive, and not on information and
belief. The complaint is accompanied by the usual verification, and



TEIAL OP JOHN H. MoCUNN. 319

also a special affidavit of the plaintiff to the effect that the action

had been commenced by the complaint and summons which he

annexes to and makes a part of his affidavit. That, to his actual

knowledge, he knows the contents of the complaint and of the mat-

ters set forth in the complaint, except such as are therein stated on

information and belief, and that from such knowledge he knows
that the matters of fact therein stated are true. The affidavit is

somewhat inartificial, but I think it is substantially an oath that all

the matters in the complaint alleged as facts, and not therein stated

on information and belief are true. I think this is sufficient within

the authorities. No such affidavit, however, is required for the

appointment of a receiver. There is no provision of the Code pre-

scribing in what mode or manner the facts authorizing the appoint-

ment of a receiver shall be made to appear to the court or judge.

That is left substantially to the rules and practice of the court.

The next objection is that the plaintiff has failed in his papers to

show or " establish " (as required by section 244 of the Code) any

apparent right to or interest in the property the subject of the litiga-

tion. That, upon plaintiff's own showing, he had no right or inter-

est whatever in the partnership property or effects, but only an

interest in the profits as compensation for services rendered. With-

out attempting to review or comment in detail upon the able and

learned argument of the counsel for the defendant, it must suffice to

say, briefly, that I am unable to concur with him in that view of the

case. In my opinion, the several articles of agreement upon their

face, together with all the surrounding circumstances, preclude the

idea that either of these parties intended that this plaintiff, who had

been an equal partner in this business for forty years, and who was

then an owner of one-half interest in real and personal property in

the firm, valued at $370,000 and upward, should divest himself

wholly and absolutely of all that interest in order to borrow of his

copartner, for the use of the business, $45,000, and he remain merely

as a clerk. The contracts executed between the parties will bear no

such construction. On the contrary, I am clearly of opinion that

upon those three agreements, taken and construed together as they

must be, the plaintiff remained, and now is the joint owner with the

defendant of an undivided one-half of all the partnership property,

and effects, real and personal, subject only to a mortgage lien on

such one-half in favor of defendant for the amount remaining un-

paid of the sum advanced to plaintiff. This mortgage lien has never

been foreclosed or the plaintiff's equity of redemption cut off. That

equitable interest was, at the execution of the mortgage, and now is
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alleged to be, wortli four times the amount of the mortgage.

It is asserted that this mortgage became absolute, and forfeited on

the 1st of March, 1866. Suppose that were true, the defendant must

still foreclose his mortgage lien, either by suit in court, or a sale

under the mortgage. That is to say, he must in some way resort to

the property to realize for his debt. Equity will not permit him to

keep it all ; and if he sells or converts it into money, he must account

for the proceeds over and above the amount ot his mortgage debt,

etc. But the mortgage did not become due at the time before

stated. The partnership was not then dissolved. It was continued

by mutual consent, and finally dissolved in the manner provided by

the articles of copartnership. And, now, there is to be an accounting

and final settlement of the property and affairs of this firm ; and

that this $45,000 loan is to enter into that accounting is clear, be-

cause a part of the mortgaged property is the profits which may
remain in the firm belonging to the plaintift' after dissolution (see

agreement to reconvey). These profits cannot be ascertained until

an accounting be had. All this is upon the assumption that the

mortgage is still outstanding and unpaid, but the complaint alleges

that before the dissolution it was substantially paid and satisfied.

If, therefore, a partnership be shown to exist in the profits and

property of a firm, and there be a dissolution, and the partners are

unable to agree among themselves as to the disposition and control

of the property, upon a bill, filed by one partner to close up the

concern, it is a matter of course to appoint a receiver. Low v. Ford,

2 Paige, 310 ; Goulding v. Baig, 4 Sandf. 717 ; Whitwright v.

Stimpson, 3 Barb. 579 ; Dayton v. Wilks, 17 How. 510. Accord-

ingly, there must be a receiver in this case.

The very unpleasant relations apparently existing between

plaintifE and defendant, together with the acts of misconduct and

misappropriation of funds, charged against the defendant in the

complaint, indicate the impropriety of appointing him such receiver,

as desired by the defendant's counsel. As regards the person here-

tofore appointed receiver, while no direct charges of unfitness are

alleged against him, yet it is said he is a stranger to the parties, and

has not given adequate security, and indicating a fear and anxiety

on the part of defendant and his counsel that the funds would not

be safe in his hands and control. While I do not feel at liberty, on

the grounds above, to put upon this receiver the stigma of a removal

for personal unfitness, I am desirous, nevertheless, that there should

be no reasonable ground for suspicion or anxiety, as to the entire

fitness of the person so appointed, and the absolute security of the
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fund. I have concluded, therefore, to appoint an additional or co-

receiver. And I do accordingly direct that Thomas J. Barr, whom
I personally know to be a fit person in all respects, be appointed co-

receiver of the property and effects of such firm, with fall powers as

such receiver ; and that he give security for the faithful performance

of his duty in the sum of $50,000, with two sureties to justify before

the court or a judge, if required by defendant. That order must

contain a clause, however, that the fund be charged with the fees

and expenses of but a, single receiver, such fees to be divided between

the two, as the court may direct.

The motion to vacate injunction and order appointing receiver is

denied, without costs, ^nd let an order be entered as above directed.

(A copy.) T. EASTJSrOR BENISTETT,

Special Term Clerk.

Hr. Seldbn— I offer in evidence, also, this order denying the

motion. The paper was marked Exhibit Ko. 15.

, Exhibit ISTo. 15.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held at Chambers in the City Hall of said city on the 27th day of

November, 1869.

Present— Hon. F. J. Fithian, Justice.

Abraham B. Olabk
agst.

Abraham BimNGER.

A motion having been made in this cause for an order vacating

the injunction order and the order appointing a receiver in this

action, made on the 19th day of November, 1869, and on hearing

Mr. Titus for the motion, and Mr. Clark and Mr. Compton opposed,

iit is ordered that the said motion be, and the same is hereby denied,

without costs.

And it is further ordered that Thomas J. Barr be and.he is hereby

appointed an additional or co-receiver with Daniel H. Hanrahan, of

all the debts, property, equitable interests, rights and things in action

of all the partnership heretofore existing between the plaintiff and

defendant ; and it is further ordered that the said Thomas J. Barr,

before he enters upon the execution of his trust, execute to the clerk

of this court a bond, with sufficient sureties, to be approved by a

justice of this court, in the penalty of $50,000, conditioned that he

41
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will faithfully discharge the duties of such trust, and file the same

with the clerk of said court.

And it is further ordered that both the said receivers shall together

receive or be entitled to only the fees allowed by law to one

receiver.

And it is further ordered that the said receivers, or either of them,

may at any time apply to this court for directions and orders in this

action.

F. J. FITHIAN,
Jxistioe.

Q. You speak of seeing Judge McCunn at Hanrahan's office ; I

understood you to say that you don't recollect of seeing him there

but once ? A. But once ; I wouldn't undertake to say I had seen

him more than once.

Mr. Selden—The opinion and the two orders should be numbered.

Q. Do you recollect any thing about what took place on that

occasion % A. No, sir.

Q. At the time of the meeting when the proposed settlement was

introduced at Clark's house, did Judge McOunn give any reason why
he didn't approve of the settlement ; didn't he say that it would take

the property out of the State courts ? A. He expressed himself in

this way : that he thought it was a trick of my opponents, my
adversary, to get possession of that property— to get it out of the

hands of the receiver ; I think he so expressed himself.

Q. To get it out of the hands of the State courts, into the Federal

courts ? A. He so expressed himself.

Q. That was the ground of his objection ? A. That is my remem-

brance now.

Q. Had there been, before that time, a good deal of controversy

before the State and the United States courts, in regard to the con-

trol of this property ? A. "We were at it almost every day, from

about the 5th of December to about the 30th of March, I think

;

several days after the amended agreement ; the agreement had been

engrossed, several days after ; I think about the 30th, and it might

have been a day or two earlier.

Q. There had been a very severe strife in the courts down to that

time ? A. I think almost every day ; I know they kept me at

work night and day, and sometimes all night.

Q. What was the ultimate decision of the courts on that subject,

as to which had the right to control the property ? A. Both courts

decided that the title was vested in the receiver of the State court.
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Q. That was ultimately conceded by the United States court?

A. There was a very severe struggle over it, though.

Q. Did you ever get any allowance, as counsel, from Judge
McCunn in the case ? A. 'So, sir.

Q. Did any of the persons connected with the matter get any

allowances from him ? A. Not that I am aware of.

Q. Do you know that applications were made by other counsel

to him ? A. I am not aware of it ; there may have been ; I have

no recollection of any one myself.

Q. Did you make an application ? A. I did.

Q. Did he deny it ? A. No, sir.

Q. Did he grant it? A. No, sir; I submitted it to him, and I

have never hoard of his decision yet ; I spoke to him once about it

and he told me that he had made up his mind not to make any

further orders in that case ; I have never said any thing more about

it to the judge.

Q. Did young Mr. Clark, Melville B. Clark, ever tell you that

Judge McGunn promised to make you an allowance of $10,000 if

you would divide it with his father ? A. I think he did ; some-

body told me so ; I know I calculated that when I got that allow-

ance, that I would get $10,000, and I supposed I would have to

divide half or give half of it to the old gentleman ; I should have

done so if I had got it.

Q. You never got any allowance from Judge McCunn ? A. No,

sir ; nor any other judge in that case.

Q. Didn't you tell the young man that you would be entitled to

an allowance, and you would allow a part of it to his father ? A. I

may have told him that I would be entitled to an allowance of

$10,000 ; I supposed I would.

Q. That you would be legally entitled to it ? A. Under the

Code
;
perhaps more ; I may have said to the young man, that I

would be entitled to $10,000, but I don't recollect of saying so.

Q. You have no distinct recollection on the subject? A. No,

sir.

jRe-exammation by Mr. Sticknet :

Q. The bond given by the receiver has been shown to you, and

you have been referred to the date of tlie acknowledgment ; what

date does it appear to have been executed ?

Mr. MoAK— The paper itself shows, I suppose ?

A. It purports to be made on the 18th ; acknowledged on the

19th ; I see the 18th in the bond.
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Q. Who is the Mr. Clark who is mentioned as one of the counsel

in the order by Judge Fithian ? A. Lucius B. Clark.

Q. Whose partner was he or had he been ? A. He had been

Judge Fithian's partner before Judge Fithian was appointed judg6.

By Mr. Selden :

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Titus made a claim for a large

allowance in this matter? A. I don't recollect now; I may have

heard so ; it seems to me I do recollect something about Titus ; I

have no distinct recollection about it.

By Mr. D. P. Wood :

Q. Were you examined before the committee of the Assembly in

this proceeding ? A. I was.

Q. Did you not there testify, " this order appointing the receiver,

and for the injunction, was seized by the judge in that interview at

his house that evening?" A. I think I stated there that was my
impression.

Q. Didn't you state it in unqualified terms ? A. I got the order

signed then ; I don't think I did ; I may have done so ; then I inter-

rupted him and handed him the papers ; that is, after 12 o'clock^

and he looked at them and signed my order appointing the receiver

and the injunction.

Q. Tou presented the papers and got the order signed then ? A.

I got the order signed then.

Q. Did you not also testify on that occasion that you took the

order appointing the receiver away with you that night, when you

and Mr. Clark went away ? A. My recollection is, that that was my
impression ; I may have stated it as it is so stated there.

Q. When you and Clark went away, had you the order ? A. I

think I had.

Q. Tou had the order appointing the receiver ? A. I had ; I

think I got those papers that night ; I don't recollect distinctly

about it ; I couldn't say distinctly whether I did or didn't take the

papers away with me ; I may have done so.

The Senate thereupon adjourned until to-morrow, Wednesday,

June 26, 1873, at 9 o'clock.
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FIFTH DAY'S PKOCEEDINGS,

The Senate met at 9 a. m., June 26, 1872.

A quorum present. Messrs. Van Cott, Parsons, Stickney, and

Harrison appearing for the prosecution; Messrs. Selden, Dev-

lin, Davis, Moak and Hevenor for the respondent.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I move that the Senate go

into private consultation.

The question was put on said motion and declared carried.

Upon the reopening of the doors, Mr. Selden said : Mr. Presi-

dent— I move to strike out of the proceedings of yesterday the let-

ter of Mr. Hanrahan, as incompetent. I think it appears that

Judge MeCunnhad no connection with that letter, and I think it is

not proper evidence against him. I don't wish to argile it,

Mr. Parsons— Mr. President : "We think that the evidence in the

case shows such intimate relations between Judge McCunn, Hanra-

han and Morgan as to entitle us to put in evidence all the action of

either of those parties in respect to the matter in question.

The question was put on Mr. Selden's motion and declared lost.

Geoe&e E. Hioket, being duly sworn on behalf of the prosecu-

tion, testified as follows :

Exammsd hy Mr. Paesons :

Q. Do you know Judge McCunn ? A. I do, sir.

Q. How long have you been acquainted with him, personally?

A. Five or six years.

Q. What, during that five or six years, has been your occupation ?

A. 1 have been a deputy sheriff in the sheriff's office, under Sheriff

O'Brien, three years ; at the present time I am one of the clerks in

the clerk's office of the Superior Court of New York city.

Q. What has been the nature of your acquaintance with Judge

McCunn ; socially, politically, professionally, or what ? A. Politically.

Q. When did it commence ? A. Five or six years ago.

Q. Did you know Daniel H. Ham-ahan ? A. I did, sir.

Q. When did you first become acquainted with him ? A. Two

and a half or three years ago, I suppose.

Q. Was it subsequent to his appointment as receiver of the prop-

erty of A. Bininger & Co. ? A. No, sir, it was at that time ; at the

time he became appointed receiver.

Q. Did you at any time have any charge of the property of that

firm ? A. I did, sir.
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Q, Can yon tell when your charge commenced ? A. At the same time

that Hanrahan was appointed receiver ; from that time ; the very day.

Q. Were you at that time a deputy sheriff ? A. I was, sir.

Q. In acting in respect to that property, or taking charge of that

property, did you have any authority from the sheriff ? A. No, sir

;

I went there as a private individual.

Q. Who went with you, if any one ? A. I brought five men
there with me at that time.

Q. Was John E. McGowan one ? A. He was.

Q. What was his occupation ? A. Clerk in the sheriff's office.

Q. Did he go there under any authority from the sheriff? A. No, sir.

Q. In what capacity did he go there ? A. As I did ; as a private

individual.

Q. How long did you and the five persons whom you say you

took there continue in charge of that stock ? A. Fom* or five

months ; I can't tell the exact length of time.

Q. Can you by looking at that bill I show you ? A. Tes, sir

;

from December 4, 1869, to April 9, 1870 ; 126 days.

Q. Do you know the handwriting of Judge McCunn ? A. I do.

Q. Will you look at those words written on the back of the paper

now handed you :
" In this case the three deputies placed in charge

by me should be paid, and no more. Order to that effect. John H.

McCunn," and state in whose handwriting it is ? A. It is Judge

McCunn's handwriting.

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : We offer in evidence that indorse-

ment and the papers upon which the indorsement is made.

Mr. Paesoks read them to the Senate.

Q. State whether you signed the affidavit purporting to be signed

by you ? A. Tes. sir ; that is my signature.

Mr. Paesons— I would like to have the affidavit marked.

(Marked Exhibit No. 16).

The paper was in the words following

:

ExHffiiT No. 16.

SUPEEIOE COUKT OF' THE CITY OF NEW TOEK.

Abraham B. Clajrk

agst.

Abraham Biningbk.

City and County of New Yoek, ss. :

Daniel H. Hanrahan, of said city, being duly sworn, deposes and

says, that he was the receiver in the above entitled action ; that as
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Buch receiver this deponent on or about the 6th day of December,

A. D. 1869, made application that the sherifE of the city and county

of New York shoidd protect this deponent in the possession of the

property levied on by him in the above entitled action ; that such

action in calling on said sherifE to aid this deponent in the protec-

tion of said property, was had by order of this court to protect its

jurisdiction, and to protect the property against the United States

marshal of this district and his deputies, who claimed the possession

of the same, and had attempted to take possession thereof by force

;

deponent verily believes that the only persons placed by the sherifE

in custody of said property were Lawrence Delmour, John McGowan
and Gr. E. Hickey ; that there may have been other persons depu-

tized by the said sherifE, but deponent does not recollect their names,

nor does he believe that any others than the above named so aided

this deponent in such protection of said property. That deponent

believes the above named deputies were in possession of said prop-

erty night and day from said 6th day of December, A. D. 1869, to

the 27th day of April, A. D. 1870, both inclusive.

DAN'L H. HANRAHAN.
Subscribed and sworn before me this 1

16th day of June, A. D. 1870. f

Michael Kellt McCartee,

Notary Public, New York County.

At a Special Terra of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held at the Court-house in said city. May 31, 1870

:

Present— Hon. John H. McCtjnn, Justice.

Abbaham B. Clakk
agst.

Abraham Biningbe.

The sheriff of the city and county of New York having applied

to the undersigned, Hon. John H. McCunn, one of the justices of

this court, to tax, adjust and allow to him certain fees and expenses

in keeping and preserving certain property in the above action,

under orders from this court, and notice having been duly given to

the attorney for the plaintiff, to the receiver, Thomas J. Barr, to the

receiver Richard Hanrahan, but due notice not having been given

to the attorney for the defendant's assignee in bankruptcy, and not

having been given to the attorney for the defendant, it is ordered

that said application stand adjourned to the 1st day of June, 1870,
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at 10 A. M., at the Special Term of this court, and that, mean time,

notice thereof he given to the attorneys for said defendant and his

assignee.

(A copy.) JAMES M. SWEENEY, Cleric.

NEW YOEK SUPEKIOR COUET.

Abeaham B. Clask
agat.

Abraham Biningek.

Sheriffs fees cmd disbursements.

Eor keeper's fees of Joseph Perroy, from December 4, 1869, to

April 9, 1870, being 126 days and nights, he being employed

under order of the court directing sherifiE to keep charge and pre-

vent removal of property from 92 and 94 Liberty street, in

ciistody of receiver appointed by the court, $10 per day and

night $1,260 00

For like fees of Patrick Tannen, for like time employed

under same order 1,260 00

For like fees of Lawrence Delmour, for like time em-

ployed under same order 1,260 00

For Kke fees of Thomas Baker, for like time employed

imder same order 1,260 00

For like fees of George E. Hickey, for like time employed

under same order 1,260 00

For like fees of John E. McGowan, for like time employed

under same order 1,260 00

$7,560 00

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held at the new Court-house, May 30, 1870.

Present^Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice.

I, the undersigned, a justice of the Superior Court of the city of

New York, do hereby tax and adjust and allow to the sheriff of the

city and county of New York the sura of for the services

within mentioned, rendered pursuant to the orders of the said court,

which sum I hereby certify to be reasonable and proper for his trouble

and expenses in keeping and preserving the property within men-
tioned, pursuant to said orders. And I hereby direct the said sum



TKIAL OF JOHN H. McOTJNN. 329

to be paid to the said sheriff, by the receiver in the within entitled

action appointed by this court, out of the funds in his hands.

Indorsed :
" New York Superior Court. Al)raham B. Clarh v.

Airaham Bminger. Sheriff's fees for keeping property, arid certifi-

cate and order of adjustment. Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel, attor-

neys for sheriff." "

Gents— Take notice, that upon the annexed affidavit, and upon

the orders and proceedings in the within action, I shall present a

bill, of which the within is a copy, to the Hon. John H. McOunn,

one of the justices of this court, for taxation and allowance, on the

31st day of May, 1870, at 10 o'clock, a. m., or as soon thereafter as

counsel can be heard, at a special term of this court, in the new
Court-house, in the Park in this city.

Dated New Yoek, May 30, 1870.

' JAMES O'BElElSr, Sheriff, etc.

To TH0SIA.S J. BAEJEt, Esq., liecewer.

RiCHAKD HANEAHAjfr, Esq., Receiver.

C. W. Bangs, Attorney for Assignee of Defendant.

M. CoMPTON, Esq., Attorneyfor Plaintiff in Ba/nliriiptcy.

Geoegb N. Titus, Esq., Attorneyfor Defendant.

SUPERIOE COUET.

Abraham B: Clabk
agst.

Abraham Biningbk.

City and County of New Yoek, ss. :

Joseph Purroy, Patrick Tannem, Lawrence Delmour, Thomas
Baker, George E. Hickey and John E. McGowan, being severally

duly sworn, each for himself, deposes and says : That lie was on the

4th day of December, 1869, appointed and deputed by the sheriff

of the city and county of New York, to take charge of certain prop-

erty at Nos. 92 and 94 Liberty street, in the city of New York,

under the orders of the Hon. John H. McCunn, one of the justices

of the Superior Court of the city of New York, and thereafter, under

said orders, and the order of the said Superior Court, dated the 6th

day of December, 1869, he continued in charge and custody of the

property at the said premises, arid each deponent says, that he, and

his co-deponents, each kept faithful watch of the said property, from

the said 4th day of December, 1869, to and ' including the 9th day

42
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of April, 1870, and that the presence of so large a number of keep-

ers was absolutely necessary, from the fact that the sheriff was com

manded by said orders to preserve the said property, and from and

after said fourth day of December Tarious attempts were made by

persons calling themselves United States deputy marshals, to seize,

take possession of and carry away the said property from the re-

ceiver, who had been appointed by the Superior Court receiver of

the said property. And, further, each deponent for himself says in

view of the constant care required, and the character of the services

rendered, the sum of ten dollars for each day and night for keeping

eaid property is a reasonable and proper charge, and is the charge

this deponent has made against said sheriff for said services.

THOS. BAKEE,
PATEICK TANNEM,
LAWEENCE DELMOUE,
JOSEPH PUEEOY,
JNO. E. McGOWAN",
GEOEGE E. HICKEY.

Sworn to before me this 30th |
day of May, 1870.

)

W. E. W. Ghambees.

Indorsed : li. Y. Superior Court. Abraham B. Clark v. Abra-

ham Bininger. Due service of a notice of which the within is a

copy hereby admitted. New York, May 30, 1870. James F. Mor
gan, attorney for Hanrahan, and of the receivers. Exhibit ISo. 16.

C. E. D. June 26, 1872.

Q. Do you know the signature of James O'Brien, sheriff ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. State whether the notice with this paper purporting to be

signed Jas. O'Brien is sigTied in the handwriting of Jas. O'Brien ?

A. No, sir ; it is not signed by him.

Q. Do you know whether at that time there were terras of inti-

macy, or what were the relations between James O'Brien, then

sheriff of New York city and county, and Judge McCunn ?

Mr. Selden— That is objected to.

Mr. Paesons — I desire to furnish such evidence as is within the

power of the witness bearing upon the probability that Judge Mc-

Cunn knew that was not the signature of Jas. O'Brien.

Mr. Selden— I presume it is not ; likely some clerk in the office

of Brown, Hall & Vanderpoel, who prepared those papers on

behalf of the sheriff; presented them to the judge.
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Mr. Parsons—We offer the testimony in connection with the

testimony which came out yesterday, from Clark, Jr., that Judge

McCunn recommended Clark to go to Yanderpoel, because Vander-

poel had influence with the sheriff, and we propose to show in

pursuance of that arrangement stated by Judge McCunn himself, the

name of Sheriff O'Brien was asked in connection with this occasion,

by the attorney to whom McCunn recommended Clark, and without

the action or participation on the part of Mr. O'Brien, and we pro-

pose to show this is a pretense from beginning to end, concocted by

the judge with a view of saddling the estate with these expenses.

Mr. Selden— I don' t see what bearing that has with the case, it

is not a fact.

Mr. Paesonb— I desire to show the relations between Sheriff

O'Brien and Judge McCunn at that time were of the utmost inti-

macy, so that Judge McCunn could be, or was informed that

O'Brien's name was being used without any apparent authority

from him.

Mr. Seldeh— The counsel wants to prove a fact, that a certain

thing was done by merely showing there was an intimacy between

these parties ; that is not the way to prove it ; if the fact exists let

him show it.

The question being put upon the objection, it was announced the

objection was sustained,

Q. Did you read the affidavit which bears your signature before

you verified it ? A. It is so long ago now that I can hardly remem-

ber whether I did or not at the time, but I suppose I did ; I don't

believe I put my signature to a paper unless I did at the time

I read it.

Q. Had any of the six persons mentioned in that affidavit, either

Joseph Purroy, Patrick Tannem, Lawrence Delmour, Thos. Baker,

Geo. E. Hickey, John E. McGowan, been appointed or deputized by

the sheriff of New Torlc city to take charge of that property or to

assist Hanrahan ? A. No, sir ; it was strictly outside of the sheriff 's

office.

Q. The whole proceeding ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Who was it that procured Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel to act

in making this application, so far as you know ; do you know any

thing on the subject ? A. I believe we retained Mr. Cummings, of

the firm of Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel, to tax our bill before the

judge; before Judge McCunn.

Q. "Why before McCunn ? A. I dont know ; I suppose he was

sitting at the time.
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Q. Have you any knowledge that he was sitting at the time ? A.

I believe he was ; I can't say that I have.

Q. Have you any knowledge that Cummings of that firm was

retained ; had you any thing to do with retaining him ? A.

Yes, sir. i

Q. Had you personally to do with it ; toward taxing your bill

;

toward employing Cummins to procure the taxation of your bill ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. YoiT personally had to do with that ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you ever seen the order of the 4th of December, 1869,

which is mentioned in your affidavit or a copy of it, that he was on

the 4th day of December, 1869) appointed a deputy by the sheriff of

the city and county of New York, to take charge of certain property

at Nos. 92 and 94, Liberty street, in the city of New York, under the

orders of the Hon. John H. McCunn, etc. ; I read from your own
affidavit ; look at that paper and state whether that is a copy of the

order you refer to ? A. It is the order of Judge McCunn.

Q. Whether you can identify that as a copy of the order of

December 4, 1869, mentioned in your affidavit ? A. If I swore to

that at that time, it must be so, my memory at that time was fresher

than at the present, and must be so.

Q. Do you mean that must be a copy of the order ? A. I have

seen an order to that effect.

Q. What is your recollection as to whether this is a copy ? A.

To the best of my knowledge, that is a copy of the order.

(Marked, Exhibit No. IT. Head in evidence in the words fol-

lowing :)

Exhibit No. 17.

SUPEEIOE COUET.

Abraham Clark
)

agst. y
Abraham Bininger.

I

Whereas, It has been made to appear to this court, upon oath,

that certain persons unknown, but calling themselves United States

deputy marshals, have taken forcible possession of the partnership

property belonging to the plaintiff and defendant in this suit, which

they are not entitled to take possession of;

Be it known, therefore, that I hereby direct the sheriff of the city

and county of New York to take possession forthwith of the said

property belonging to the said firm, now in the store Nos. 92 and
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94 Liberty street, or wheresoever the same may be found, and keep

the same safely until the further order of this court.

Witness my had and seal this 4th December, 1869.

(Signed) JOHN' H. McCUNN,
Justice Superior Gov/rt.

Q. Mr. Hickey, did the sheriff do any thing under that order, or

was any thing done under that order except what you have stated,

that you and others went down and took possession ? A. The
sheriff had nothing to do with it, sir.

Q. Who are the three persons mentioned in Judge McGunn's

memorandum in this case ;
" the three deputies placed in charge by

me ;
" who are those three deputies ? A. Well, I can't tell, sir

; I

was acting strictly under the receiver at that time, unless he may
mean Mr. McGowan and myself, and Mr. Delmour.

Q. Were you the deputies? A. I know I was a deputy at that time.

Q. But were you acting as deputies' in being placed in charge of

that
:

property ? A. No, sir.

Mr. Parsons— We next offer the order made by Judge McCunn
in conformity with his fiat indorsed upon the papers, being the

order upon that application ; this is one of the papers produced by

Mr. Boese from the files of the court, and I will read it.

Mr. Paesons here read the same in the following words

:

Exhibit No. 18.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held at the new Court-house in the city of New York, June

1, 1870.

Present— Hon. Jno. H. McCunn, Justice.

Abraham B. Clark
|

agst.

Abraham Biningbr.

An application being made to the undersigned, John H. McCunn,

a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, to tax and

adjust the sum to be allowed to him for his services in keeping and

preserving the property in the hands of the receiver appointed by

the court pursuant to orders issued out of this court, and presented

the items of his claim with the joint affidavit of Thomas Baker,

Patrick Tannem, Lawrence Delmour, Joseph Purroy, John E.

McGowan and George E. Hickey ; and due notice having been given

of this application to Thomas J. Barr and Richard Hanrahan,
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receivers in this action, to the attorneys for the plaintiff and defend-

ant, and of the assignee in bankruptcy of the defendant ; and said

receivers and said plaintiff appearing, by their respective attorneys,

James Henderson, James F. Morgan and M. Compton, and being

heard, and the affidavits submitted by them considered ; and the said

assignee in bankruptcy and defendant not appearing, on motion of

Brown, Hall & Vanderpoel, plaintiff 's attorneys, I do hereby tax

and adjust, and hereby allow to said sheriff the sum of $4,230, being

ten dollars for each day and night that officers Delmour, McGowan
and Hickey were in charge, for his said services ; which sum I

hereby certify and allow as reasonable and proper for said services,

in keeping and preserving said property, pursuant to orders from

this court. And it is hereby ordered that Richard Hanrahan, Esq.,

receiver in this action, after paying his own fees, if he is entitled to

such, pay the said sum last mentioned to said sheriff, if sufficient

funds are in his hands, and if sufficient funds are not in his hands,

then that Thomas J. Barr, Esq., the other receiver in this action,

pay any deficiency which may remain (after said Hanrahan's apply-

ing the moneys in his hands, as aforesaid) to the said sheriff.

January 16, 1870. J. M., Jus.

Indorsed: Charge 1, "D." N. T. Superior Court. Abraham
B. Clark v. Abraham Bininger. No. 4. Order taxing sheriff" 's fees.

Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel,att'ys for plff. E. Filed June 20, 1870.

Q. (Showing paper.) You say you know the handwriting of Judge
McCunn ; state in whose handwriting are the words filling a blank

in this order, as originally prepared, " $4,230, being ten dollars for

each day and night that officers Delmour, McGowan and Hickey

were in charge," and also these words, interlined, " after paying his

own fees, if he is entitled to such ; " look at that and state your

opinion as to whether they are or are not in the handwriting of

Judge McCunn ? A. I can't swear that is Judge McCunn's hand-

writing, Mr. Parsons ; not that (indicating).

Q. Can you testify as to the interlined words, " after paying his

own fees, if he is entitled to such ? " A. It looks like Judge

McCunn's handwriting, to the best of my belief.

By Mr. Benedict:

Q. You think it is his handwriting ? A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Parsons :

Q. What is your opinion as to the words filling the blank ? A. I

couldn't say, sir.
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Cross-examination hy Mr. Devlin :

Q. Mr. Hickey, do you know whose handwriting this order is in ?

A. JSo, sir.

Mr. Paesons— Do you desire to know the handwriting ?

Mr. Devlin— Yes, sir.

Mr. Pajbsons—We admit it is in the handwriting ofMr. Gumming,
of Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel's oflSce.

Q. Mr. Hickey, how long were you deputy sheriff before this

proceeding in regard to the Bininger estate? A. About two
years, I guess.

Q. During that time were you in constant attendance at the

sheriff's office ? A. I was, sir.

Q. The rule of the office, I believe, is to give executions and other

papers to be served or executed by deputy sheriffs in certain order,

as they come ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the deputies remain there to receive them and then go
and execute them ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. At the time you were acting as custodian, 92 and 94 Liberty

street, you were not a regular deputy sheriff, were you ? A. I was

not the leading deputy ; I had the transportation of prisoners to

Sing Sing ; at that time I had an associate to do it, and all along.

Q. Isn't it a rule, or wasn't it a rule of the sheriff"'s office, that

when any opinion was to be taken upon questions of law, or any

motion was to be made in court for the deputy who had charge of

that particular matter to go to the office of Brown, Hall & Vander-

poel, as a matter of course, without consulting the sheriff; for

instance, to have your fees taxed in an attachment case, and a motion

had to be made in the matter, you went to Brown, Hall & Vander-

poel, without consulting the sheriff or under-sheriff? A. No, sir;

I would not consult them at all.

Q. Pursuant to that custom you called upon Brown, Hall & Van-

derpoel, to have the bills taxed ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you ever receive any thing ? A. Never received one dol-

lar for services rendered, nor the men brought with me.

Q. Did any of the men receive any thing ? A. None of them ever

received a dollar.

By Mr. Benedict :

Q. That is, for the services during the several months ? A. Yes,

for the services during the several months ; I am out of pocket out

of the whole arrangement ; I have paid money to the men myself

to keep them along.
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Q. Did the sheriff receive any thing? A. Not a dollar ; he was

not connected with this in any way.

Q. When you went down to take possession of the goods, or to

protect the receiver in possession of theni, who told you to go ? i A.

I went by the order of the receiver, Mr. Hanrahan.

Q. He told you ? A. Tes, sir ; I was acting strictly under him.

Re-direct examination by Mr. Paesons :

Q. Did you not state that you specially arranged with Mr. Gum-
ming to make this application for your associate ? A. It was among
us.

Q. Do you mean it was pursuant to the ordinary practice which

you pursued, when questions concerning the sheriff arise, to call

upon Mr. Cuinming % A. The deputies, as a rule, when they have

a bill to tax, always engage Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel ; we engage

Mr. Gumming of that firm.

Q. You speciallj' engaged him in this business ? A. Yes, sir ; it

was just for our bill.

Q. Ifot as a deputy sheriff ? A. No, sir, not at all.

By Mr. Benedict :

Q. Who was to pay Messrs. Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel for their

services ? A. We expected to pay them out of the fees when we

got them ; out of our money when we got it ; I have been running

for the last two years and a half after my money ; trying to find

Adam.

By Mr. Parsons :

Q. You found that Judge McGunn's order was not omnipotent,

although he put his name to it ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You stated in answer to Mr. Devlin, that you were sent down
there by Mr. Hanrahan ; do you remember when you saw Judge

McGunn on the subject ? A. Well, I had an appointment to meet

Mr. Hanrahan at Judge McGuim's house.

Q. Did you go there ? Q. Yes, sir, I did.

Q. Did you see Judge McGunn? A. Yes, sir, he was in the

room at the time.

Q. Had a conversation there in his hearing ? A. Yes, sir, with

Mr. Hanrahan.

Q. How shortly before you took possession of the property was

that ? A. Well, I suppose it was about six hours ; no, about 10

o'clock or about 10:30 o'clock I was there.
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Q. Is that the occasion to which you refer in saying that you got

your orders from Mr. Hanrahan ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. 10 o'clock in the evening or afternoon ? A. Evening.

Re-cross excMmnation by Mr. Devlin :

Q. Mr. Hickey, refresh your recollection and tell me whether you
did not testify that you did not see Judge McCunn at all, before the

House committee ? A. When I went before the House committee in

the Fifth Avenue Hotel, I didn't know what they required of me

;

I had no recollection at all, but I have had a chance in the mean
time to refresh my memory.

Q. Please to tell me this ; how often, if at all, persons represent-

ing themselves as deputy and United States marshals came to the

store, while you were in charge, to take possession of it from the

receiver ? A. I believe they made a raid there once or twice, to the

best of my belief.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. "Were you present at the time ? A. I was, sir.

Mr. Paesons—-We have supoenaed and have present here Mr.

McGowan, whose testimony would simply cover the same ground as

that of Mr. Hickey, and unless the Senate desire, we do not care to

call him, although we desire to put him in a way to procure his wit-

ness fees. We may consider he is entitled to his witness fees with-

out being examined.

Mr. MuKPHT— Is he present ?

Mr. Paksons— He is.

Mr. Mtjephy— Let him be called.

The witness here appeared.

Mr. Paesons— He appears, and it is not deemed necessary to call

him ; we don't desire to occupy the time of the Senate ; he was the

associate of the last witness.

Thomas Boese, recalled by the prosecution and testified.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. (Showing exhibit 18.) Mr. Boese, state, if you please, in whose

handwriting are the words filling a blank, in exhibit 18, " $4,230,

being ten dollars for each day and night that officers Delmour,

McGowan and Hickey were in charge," and also the words inter-

lined in that same order, " after paying his own fees, if he is entitled

to such ? " A. I don't think I could state positive as to that, Mr,

Parsons.

43
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Q. I don't ask you to state positively, but I ask you whether you

are familiar with the handwriting, and what your opinion is in refer-

ence to whose handwriting it is ? A. My opinion is, that it is Judge

McCunn's handwriting, but I couldn't say positive as to that ; it is

somewhat different from his usual style of writing.

Q. Are you quite familiar with his handwriting? A. Yes, sir;

I should say what I know of his handwriting that it is ; I would

not be positive as to it; it is a better writing than he usually

employs.

Cross-excumination by Mr. Devlin :

Q. Mr. Boese, will you tell us in whose handwriting are the

words, " on motion of Brown, Hall & Vanderpoel, attorneys for the

sheriff," interlined between the last and next to the last line on the

first page here ? A. I couldn't tell you, sir.

Q. Is it not Judge McCunn's ? A. I should say not ; there is

some interlineation here ; the words " Richard Hanrahan," I think,

are a little different from McGowan and Hickey.

Q. There are two kinds of writing there ? A. Yes, sir ; one in

the filling up, and the other in the interlineation.

Mr. Paesons—We know the handwriting, if you desire ; it is

clearly Mr. Gumming' s ; that is clearly his handwriting.

Mr. Devlist— Of Brown, Hall & Yanderpoel's ofiice ?

Mr. Parsons— Yes, sir.

Mr. Sticknet—We next produce, if the Senate please, a paper

which was mislaid before, and which is a certified copy of the order

appointing a receiver on the 19th of November, and we pro-

duce it in order that the preceding copy which has been put in evi-

dence is perfectly correct ; the amount of the bond required is

$1,000 ; this is a certified copy.

Geo. N. Trrus, a witness sworn on behalf of the prosecution,

testified as follows

:

Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Mr. Titus, your profession is what ? A. Counselor at law.

Q. In ]S"ew York city ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have been so for how long ? A. Since 1835 or 1836.

Q. What connection did you have with the case of Clarh v. Bin
inger f A. I was Mr. Bininger's counsel from the commencement
of that litigation, up to some time in the latter part of the spring oi

1870.
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Q. (Shown paper.) I will show you now the receiver's bond, which
has been produced in evidence and marked Exhibit 7 ; will you
look at that bond and state whether you examined that early in the
litigation on the files of the clerk's office of the Superior Court ? A.
I can't state the first time I saw it.

Q. Did you examine it early in the litigation ? A. I saw it in
the course of the winter of 1869 and 1870, or certainly in the month
of March, 1870.

Q. In the clerks office of the Superior Court ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Benedict— What is that, Mr. Stickney?

Mr. Stioknet— They have received his bond, which has been
put in evidence.

Q. This bond now reads in this way : " "Whereas, by an order
made by the Hon. J. H. McCunn on the 18th of November, 1869,
the above bounden Daniel H. Hanrahan was appointed receiver,"

etc., and then follow " a judgment debtor " with aline dravra through
them ; state whether the words " a judgment debtor " were erased

at the time you saw that bond in the clerk's office ? A. I am confi-

dent they were not erased.

Mr. Devlin— Is that material, unless you connect it with the

erasure ?

Mr. Stioknet—We consider it material in this way, that the

bond of the receiver is approved by Judge McCunn, reading that

he is appointed receiver of the property of Mr. Bininger, " a judg-

ment debtor."

Mr. Devlin— Mr. President : May it please you and the Senate,

that cannot prove mal or corrupt conduct upon the part of Judge
McCunn ; it would be simply carelessness or omission to read the

bond ; the omission to leave those words in would not be malfeas-

ance or corruption in office, and I cannot see how that would be

material unless they connect with making the erasure ; if it was, why
then it was wrong for us to have done it ; but imtil they lay the

foundation that we perpetrated the wrong of making the erasure,

I do not see how the matter can be proper at all. The mere blun-

der of the judge is very common, I presume, in the country ; cer-

tainly it is in the city. The man takes the bond and looks at the

amount, and relies upon the accuracy of the practice and the gentle-

man who presents the paper to him, knowing that if any informality

results the order can be set aside, and therefore it is in the interest

of the client that he should have the paper properly drawn, and the

judge relies upon the client's counsel drawing the paper correctly,

and I have never known a case scarcely in which the judge examined
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all the words in a bond presented to him for approval. It is only

the sufficiency of the surety which is looked at. In the old chancery

practice the vice-chancellor approved the form of the bond as vrell

as the sufficiency of the surety. Judge McCunn relied upon the

bond being formally drawn, and if by that confidence, that is uni-

TOrsally observed by the judges toward the bar, it was an error that

any other judge might have fallen into, and it does not point to, and

much less prove, any malfeasance in office, and therefore, unless the

counsel connects us with the erasure, I claim that fact is not com-

petent evidence in this case. I do not mean to take any technical

objection. Putting it in the most liberal sense, it is not evidence

against us. All these matters go down upon the record, and they

will be published. They will be published, no matter what was the

opinion of the court. Therefore, all evidence which is not material

(not in a technical point of view, but generally), it is the duty of

this Senate to exclude, in order to enable us to be relieved from

this public condemnation which may be inflicted upon us by reason

of improper matter appearing upon the record.

Mr. Mtjepht— Do these bonds come from the records of the

coart ?

Mr. Sticknet— Yes, sir.

Mr. MuBPHT— Do you seek to impeach it ?

Mr. Sticknet— We show its condition at the time it was presented

to him, and at the time he approved it ; we intend to claim there was

no security from this receiver, who was appointed receiver of this

$500,000 worth of property ; do I understand that counsel take any

objection, because otherwise there is no other point before the

Senate.

Mr. Devlin— I argued the objection before the Senate.

The Peesident— Is the Senate ready for the question ?

Mr. Benedict— What is the objection ?

Mr. Devlin— The objection is to proving by this witness, or any

witness, that there was any erasure made in that bond or any words
stricken out of the bond, unless the act be connected with us ; if the

counsel says he will connect us with it, I will take his word fov it

that he will do so ; but if he does not make that avowal or connect us

with it, I think all evidence in regard to the change of the bond
ought to be ruled out.

Mr. Benedict— It seems to me that is a part of the papers in this

transaction, but as to its materiality, I don't think there is the

slightest materiality in it, but I think there is competent proof,

nevertheless.
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The PftBsiDENT then put the question upon the objection and the

objection was overruled.

Mr. MoAK— The stenographer, we suppose, will take our objec-

tions, BO they may appear upon the record.

The President— The stenographer will take every thing that is

said.

Mr. MoAK—I assumed that was bo, but on looking over the record

I think it lacks some few things that were said.

Mr. T>. P. Wood—I would like to make a suggestion to counsel on

both sides, that these proceedings are conducted with such rapidity,

sometimes two or three talking at a time, that I have been informed

that it is almost impossible for the stenographer to get every thing

down. If the counsel will give sufficient time, they will get it down,

I have no doubt.

Mr. MoAK— If the stenographer will indicate it, we will give him
time.

Mr. D.P. "Wood— The stenographers intend to take every thing.

They are sworn to do so. I have no doubt they will take every

thing it is possible to be reported.

Q. Mr. Titus, do you remember making an application to Mr.

Justice Jones, in the month of March, in relation to the sale of the

partnership property? A. I remember making an application to

Justice Jones, in March, 1870, to enjoin the sale that was advertised

by the receiver, Hanrahan.

Q. (Showing paper.) Will you look at this paper and see whether

that is Judge Jones' order? A. Yes, sir ; it is.

Mr. Stickney— This is from the files of the court, and we will

read this order in evidence, and I suppose the counsel for the other

side will wish all the papers upon which it was granted to go in.

Mr. MoAK—We should prefer they should be in evidence, because

we claim that was an ex parte order, granted on quite as insufficient

ground as any charge against us.

Mr. Sticknet— Then we will offer, as it is desired, Judge Jones'

order of the 30th of March, 1870, in the suit of Cla/rk v. Bininger,

with the papers on which it was granted.

Mr. Sticknet here read the same as follows, which is marked

Exhibit No. 19.
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Exhibit No. 19.

SUFEEIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF JSTEW TOEK.

Abraham B. Clark
agst.

Abraham Bininger.

Upon the petition of said Bininger and other papers annexed, and

upon the proceedings and pleadings in this action
;

It is ordered that the plaintiff, and Daniel H. Hanrahan, receiver,

and Thomas J. Barr, co-receiver in said action, respectively show

cause before one of the judges of this court at Chambers, in the Court-

house in the city of ISTew York, on the 2d day of April, at 12 o'clock

A. M., why the prayer of said petition should not be granted, and in

the mean time, and until the hearing and decision of the motion to

be made under and pursuant to this order, the said Daniel H. Han-

rahan and Thomas J. Barr, and their and each of their attorneys,

agents and servants, or employees, are and each of them is hereby

ordered and directed absolutely to desist and refrain from making or

causing, or permitting to be made, any sale or other disposition of any

of the stock, property or effects embraced in the order appointing a

receiver in the above entitled action, or claimed to be held by them

or either of them as receiver or co-receiver, as aforesaid.

And it is further ordered that said defendant may, this day, serve

additional papers to be used on said motion.

Dated March 30, 1870.

J. H. M., Judge.

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Abraham B. Clark, Plaintiff,
J

agat.

Abraham Bihikger, Defendant.

To the Honorable Judges of the Superior Court

:

The petition of the above-named defendant respectfully shows

:

That, on or about the 1st day of June, 1861, your petitioner and said

plaintiff made and entered into a copartnership agreement for con-

ducting business, in the city of New York, under the firm name of

A. Bininger & Co., and that such business was carried on by them

untn the month of November last, when said firm was dissolved.



TEIAL OP JOHN H. McCUNN. 343

That said firm business was conducted before, and at the time of

said dissolution, at Nos. 92 and 94 Liberty street in said city.

That, on the 19th of said month of November, said plaintiff

commenced this action against your petitioner, demanding judgment
that said partnership be disolved, that a receiver of the partnership

property be appointed, and that the proceeds of such property, after

payment of all just debts of the parnership and the costs of this

action, be divided between the parties hereto, according to their re-

spective rights, and that your petitioner be enjoined and restrained

from interfering with such property.

That, on said 19th day of ITovember last, an injunction

order, of which a copy is annexed and marked A, also an order for

the appointment of a receiver, of which a copy is annexed and

marked B, were served upon your petitioner at his store JSTos. 92 and

94 Liberty street, and one Daniel JEL. Hanrahan, named in said last-

mentioned order, then took possession of the store, books of account,

property and effects of your petitioner's said firm, and that said

Hanrahan and those acting under or in connection with him still

retain exclusive possession thereof.

That said injunction order was obtained, and said Hanrahan was

appointed receiver in and by said order marked B, without the

knowledge of your petitioner and without notice to him of any

application to be made therefor.

That the stock of said Bininger & Co., in their said store in

Liberty street, at the time said receiver took possession thereof as

aforesaid, consisted of wines, liquors of various kinds, etc., etc., of

the value of about $120,000. That said firm also then owned and

had notes, bonds and mortgages, and book debts against different

parties amounting to about $35,000 to $40,000, which were taken

possession of by said receiver, a considerable part of which has been

collected by him, as your petitioner is informed and believes ; and

that said firm at the time said receiver was appointed, owned certain

real estate in the city of New York and elsewhere ; that all said firm

property was fairly worth, at the time said receiver was appointed,

more than $300,000.

That the debts and liabilities of said firm then amounted to about

$215,000.

That a motion was made to vacate said injunction order, and order

appointing receiver, before Judge Fithian, upon the papers on which

said orders of the 19th of November, 1869, were made ; that said

motion was denied by Judge Fithian, and an order was made by

him of which a copy is annexed and marked C.
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That said appointment of Thomas J. Barr, as co-receiver with

Daniel H. Hanrahan, was not made at the request or by the pro-

curement of your petitioner.

That, as your petitioner is informed and believes, an undertaking

was filed by or on behalf of said Thomas J. Barr, of which a copy is

annexed and marked D, and that this is the only undertaking exe-

cuted or given by him under said order C.

That your petitioner is uninformed to what extent, if any, the said

Barr has acted as such co-receiver.

That your petitioner has answered the complaint in this action
;

that the same has not been brought to trial, but is still pending in

this court, and that no order or other proceeding has been had

therein to ascertain or determine who are the creditors of the firm of

A. Bininger & Co. entitled to be paid from the proceeds of the firm

property, or the amount of debts justly owing by said firm, to the

knowledge or belief of yonr petitioner.

That said Hanrahan, receiver as aforesaid, on or about the 26th

instant, advertised the wines, liquors, etc., etc., the store fixtures and

furniture, iron safes, etc., constituting the stock of said firm, for sale

at auction by Henry B. Hertz, auctioneer, on the 31st day of March

instant, and that the value of such property so advertised was, when

taken possession of by said receiver, about $120,000, and that there

has been but little depreciation in the value thereof since that

time.

That in the best judgment of your petitioner, a sale of said prop-

erty at auction, as advertised, must result in a heavy sacrifice of the

property ; that no part thereof needs to be sold for its preservation

nor to provide the means for the present payment of any of the firm,

debts, and your petitioner is assured by many of the creditors of said

firm that all, or a large majority of them in amount, are ready and

willing to take the firm property as it is in payment and satisfaction

of their debts against said firm, and that they are opposed to the

contemplated sale thereof hj said receiver.

That, as your petitioner is informed and believes, the said receiver

Hanrahan has collected from five to ten thousand dollars of the debts

owing to said firm at the time he took possession as aforesaid, and

has sold at private sale, or taken away from said store, Nos. 92 and

94 Liberty street, within the last ten days about one hundred and

twenty-five barrels of whisky, of the value of from twenty-five

thousand to thirty thousand dollars, and has not accounted therefor.

The said firm of Bininger & Co. have an interest in the lands

and premises Nos. 92 and 94 Liberty street, and No. 18 Thames
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street, in the city of JSTew York, of the value of at least sixty thousand
dollars, and that said receiver Hanrahan threatens to sell the same.

That the paper annexed and marked E, is a copy of the under-
taking given by said Hanrahan as receiver in this action.

And your petitioner further shows that at the time said receiver

took possession as aforesaid, various parties had wines and liq^uors

in said store of A. Bininger & Co., of large value, upon storage, in

which said firm had no interest, and that the same is in danger of

being sold by said receiver in the mass of property advertised byhim
as aforesaid.

Your petitioner is informed and believes that a large quantity of

the whisky taken from the store of said firm as aforesaid has been

stored by said receiver at some place or places in the city of New
York, subjecting the estate to unnecessary expense of storage and

hazard to such property.

Your petitioner is advised by his counsel and believes, that said

receiver and co-receiver have not, nor has either of them, the right

or authority by law to sell the property of A. Bininger & Co., or

any part thereof; that the property is advertised by said Hanrahan
aloncj who is, as your petitioner is informed and believes, unable

pecuniarily to respond for one-tenth part of the value of the prop-

erty held by him as aforesaid, and that a sale thereof, if permitted,

will result in great loss to the creditors of said firm, and the parties

in this action.

Your petitioner therefore prays that the said Daniel H. Hanrahan

and Thomas J. Bai-r, and that each of them, may be ordered by this

court to give new or additional bonds or undertakings for the faith-

ful performance of their and each of their duties as receiver and

co-receiver as aforesaid, to the amount of at least two hundred and

twenty-five thousand dollars, to be duly approved by one of the jus-

tices of this court, upon and after notice of justification of the sure-

ties to the attorneys of the respective parties in this action, and that

all proceedings and acts of said receiver and co-receiver be stayed

and forbidden until such bonds or undertakings shall be given, and

the sureties therein shall have justified in the manner provided by

law ; also, that said receiver and co-receiver, and their and each of

their attorneys and agents, be forbidden by the order of this court to

make the sale of said property advertised for the 31st instant, or to

make any sale or sales of said property except by and under the

order and direction of this court, to be made and given upon and

after notice of application therefor to the respective attorneys of

your petitioner, and said plaintifi: in this action, to be given at least
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five days before such application ichall be made. And that your

petitioner may have such furtner, other or diiferent relief in the

premises as the nature of this case may require. And your petitioner

will ever pray, etc.

ABKAHAM BINmGEE.
Edwaed W. Cone, Attorney for Petitioner.

Geokge W. Titus, Of Counsel.

City and CouNTr or IsTew Yoek, ss. :

Abraham Bininger, the above-named petitioner being sworn,

saith, that he has read the above petition and knows the contents

thereof, and that the same is true of his own knowledge, except as to

the matters therein stated on information and belief, and as to those

matters that be believe it to be true.

ABRAHAM BIOTNGEE.
Sworn to before me this 29th )

day of March, 1870.
j

Thos. Coopek Campbell,

Notary Public, City and County of New TorTe.

(A.)

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Abraham B. Clark
|

agst. V Injunction Iry Order.
Abraham Bininger.

J

It appearing satisfactorily to me, by the affidavit and complaint of

Abraham B. Clark, the plaintiff, that sufficient grounds for an order

of injunction exist, I do hereby order that the defendant, his agents,

attorneys, counselors or employees, refrain from interfering in any

manner with the property, store, stock, debts, dues, demands or

money belonging to the firm of A. Bininger & Co., or the books

thereof wheresoever situate, until the further order of this court

;

and in case of disobedience to this order, you will be liable to the

punishment therefor prescribed by law.

Dated New Yoek, November 19, 1869.

JOHN H. MoCUNN, Justice.
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(B.)

SUPEEIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW TOEK.

ABBAHAM B. CLABK ' /-t j j} a • ± ± J!
\ Order of Appovntment oj

ABRAHAM^BiNiNGER.
[

Recewev.

The above named plaintiff having commenced an action against

the said defendant for a settlement of partnership, and for an

accounting, and it appearing to my satisfaction by the complaint and

affidavits hereto annexed that a cause of action exists against the

said defendant, and that the acts and doings of the said defendant

have been and are contrary to equity and good conscience, and that

no equitable division of the assets and good-will of said partnership

can be made without loss to both parties, except by sale thereof, and

a division of the proceeds ; I do hereby order that Daniel H. Han-

rahan, Esq., of the city, county and State of New Tork, be and he

is hereby appointed receiver of all the debts, property, equitable

interest, rights and things in action of the said partnership, with

power to dispose of the same for the benefit of all parties concerned,

according to law ; that such receiver, before he enter upon the exe-

cution of his trust, execute to the clerk of this court a bond, with suf-

ficient sureties, to be approved by me, in a penalty of $1,000, condi-

tioned that he will faithfully discharge the duties of such trust, and

file the said bond with the clerk of said court, and that the said

receiver, upon filing such bond, be invested with all rights and

powers as receiver according to law.

Dated New Toek, November 19, 1869.

J. H. McGUNN, Justice.')

(0.)

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, held at chambers, in the City Hall of said city, on the 27th

day of November, 1869.

Present, Hon. F. J. Fithian, Justice.

Abbaham B. Clabk
agst.

Abbajiam Biningbb.

A motion having been made in this cause for an order vacating

the injunction prder, and the order appointing a receiver in this
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action, made on the 19th day of November, 1869, and on hearing

Mr. Titus for the motion, and Mr. Clark and Mr. Compton opposed,

it is ordered that the said motion be and the same is hereby denied

without costs.

And it is further ordered that Thomas J. Barr be and he is hereby

appointed an additional or co-receiver, with Daniel H. Hanrahan,

of all the debts, property, equitable interest, rights, and things in

action of the partnership heretofore existing between the plaintiff

and defendant ; and it is further ordered that the said Thomas J.

Barr, before he enter upon the execution of his trust, execute to the

clerk of this court a bond, with sufficient sureties, to be approved by

a justice of this court, in the penalty of $50,000, conditioned that

he will faithfully discharge the duties of said trust, and file the same

with the clerk of said court.

And it is further ordered that both the said receivers, shall

together, receive or be entitled to only the fees allowed by law to

one receiver.

And it is further ordered that the said receivers, or either of them,

may, at any time, apply to this court for directions and orders in

this action.

F. J. FITHIAN, Justice.

(D.)

Know all men by these presents, that we, Thomas J. Barr, of the

city and county of New York, State of New York, and of

the same city and State, are held and firmly bound unto James M.
Sweeny, clerk of the Superior Court of the city of New York, in

the sum of fifty thousand dollars, lawful money of the United

.States, to be paid to the said James M. Sweeny, clerk as aforesaid,

for which payment, well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves,

our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally, firmly

by these presents, sealed with our seals, dated the day of

December, in the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-

nine.

Whereas, by an order made by the Honorable F. J. Fithian, one

of the justices of the Superior Court of said city of New York, on
the 27th day of November, 1869, the above bounden Thomas J.

Barr was appointed receiver of all the debts, property, equitable

interests, rights, and things in action of Abraham Bininger,

defendant.

Now the condition of this obligation is such, that if the said

Thomas J. Barr shall well and faithfully discharge the duties of this



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN. 349

trustj as such receiver, then this obligation to be void, otherwise to

be in full force and effect.

THOS. J. BAEE,
WALTER ROCHE.

STATE OF NEW YORK, )

City aijd County of New Yoek, j

**

'

One of the obligors named in the foregoing bond, being sworn,

says that he is a resident and freeholder within this State, and is

worth the sum of one hundred thousand dollars, over and above all

his debts and liabilities.

WALTER ROCHE.
Sworn before me this 8th day )

of December, 1869.
j

R. E. Selmbs, Notwry Pvhlic.

STATE OF NEW YORK, )

Cnr AijD County of New York, j
'

'

On the 8th day of December, 1869, before me personally appeared

Thomas J. Barr and Walter Roche, known to me to be the indi-

viduals described in, and who executed the foregoing bond, and

severally acknowledged that they executed the same.

R. E. SELMES, Notary Fvhlic.

(E.)

Know all men by these presents, that we, Daniel H. Hanrahan,

as principal, and James F. Morgan, of the city of New York, and

William R. Gorham, of the city of New York, are held and firmly

bound unto the clerk of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, in the sum of ten thousand dollars, lawful money of the

United States, to be paid to the said clerk of the Superior Court of

the city of New York. For which payment, well and truly to be

made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors and administrators,

jointly and severally, firmly by these presents, sealed with our seal,

dated the 18th day of November, in the year one thousand eight

hundred and sixty-nine.

Whereas, by an order made by the Honorable John H. McCunn,

on the 18th day of November, 1860, the above bounden Daniel H.

Hanrahan was appointed receiver of all the debts, property, equitable

interests, rights, and things in action of Abraham Bininger, a judg-

ment debtor.

Now the condition of this obligation is such, that if the said

Daniel H. Hanrahan shall faithfully discharge the duties of this trust.
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as such receiver, then this obligation to be void, otherwise to be in

full force and effect.

DANIEL H. HAN"EAHAN, [l. s.]

JAMES F. MORGAlSr, [l. s.]

WM. E. GOEHAM. [l. s.]

Crrr and County of New York, ss. :

James F. Morgan, one of the obligors named in the foregoing

bond, being sworn, says, that he is a resident and householder within

this State, and is worth the sum of twenty thousand dollars over

and above all his debts and liabilities.

JAMES F. MOEGAN.
Sworn before me this 19th day

)

of November, 1869.
j

Levi Geat, Notary Pvhlic, iV. T. City and County.

CiTT AND County of New Toek, sh. :

"William R. Gorham, one of the obligors named in the foregoing

bond, being sworn, says, that he is a resident and householder within

this State, and is worth the sum of $20,000, over and above all his

debts and liabilities.

WM. E. GOEHAM.
Sworn to before me this 19th day )

of November, 1869.
f

Levi Geay, Notary Pvhlic, N. Y. Oily and County.

STATE OF NEW YOEK, )

CrrY AND County of New York, j
'

'

On the 19th day of November, 1869, before me personally appeared

James F. Morgan and William E. Gorham and Daniel H. Hanrahan,

known to me to be the individuals described in and who executed

the foregoing bond, and severally acknowledged that they executed

the same.

LEVI GEAY,
Notary Public, N. Y. City and Coimty.

Indorsed : Superior Court, city of New York, Abraham B. Cla/rTc

V. Abraham Bininger. I approve of the within bond, and of the

sufficiency of the sureties. November 19, 1869. John H. McCunn,
Judge. Petition and papers to postpone sale. E. W. Cone, defend-

ant's attorney, 63 William street, New York city.

Mr. Titus :

Q. Where was Judge Jones sitting at the time the application

was made to him for that order ? A. In the court room.
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Q. In what part ? A. In special term for hearing applications of

this trial.

Q. Do you remember whether he was the judge regularly hold-

ing chambers at that time ? A. I do ; he was.

Q. Do you remember whether that order was modified or vacated
in any way, and if so by whom ? A. (Hesitating.) I was reflecting

how much I knew of the matter personally ; upon the subsequent
motion it comes to my mind that that order was recorded by Judge
McOunn, so far as to permit the sale to go on ; I think until the

second motion made by me was heard, I didn't know, although I

had perhaps some information ; but I can't state positively as to any
knowledge before that time ; on the making of that second applica-

tion, which was made before Judge Monell the following month of

April, it appeared by the affidavit of Hanrahan that Judge McCunn
had modified that order so as to permit that sale to go on, and it did

go on.

Q. You were the attorney to Mr. Bininger ? A. "Well, whether

I had at that time been substituted attorney upon the record I can-

not say from memory, but I had entire charge of those motions.

Mr. Bininger came to me and requested that I would make an

application for him to stay that sale if it were possible.

Q. Did you have any notice, or was any notice as far as you know
given to the defendant or his attorneys, of any application to be

made to Judge McCunn, for a modification of Judge Jones' order ?

A. None to me ; and I never had heard any was given to Mr.

Edward Cohn, who had been his attorney of record, and perhaps was

at that time ; I can't say as to that.

Mr. Stickney—We will now read in evidence the order of Judge

McCunn, dated the same day (March 30, 1870), produced from the

files of the court, modifying and annulling this stay.

Mr. MoAK— You will read the papers upon which the modifica-

tion was made ?

Mr. Stickney— It appears in this shape ; reciting no papers ex-

cept those used in obtaining the order from Judge Jones.

Mr. Hevenoe— It recites the aflSdavit of Daniel H. Hanrahan,

also.

Mr. Stickney— That we will produce here.

Mr. MoAK— That is considered read, is it ?

Mr. Stickney — I will offer it the next thing.

Mr. Stickney here read the order marked " Exhibit JSTo. 20," as

follows

:
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Exhibit No. 20.

SUPERIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abbaham B. Clakk
agst.

Abraham Bikingbb.

On the petition of Abraham Biningerj dated the 30th day of

March, 1870, and the order to show cause, and injunction made by

Mr. Justice Jones, dated the 30th day of March, 1870, the affidavit

of Daniel H. Hanrahan, copies of which are hereto annexed.

It is ordered that the order to show cause herein, dated March 30,

1870, made by Mr. Justice Jones, directing Daniel H. Hanrahan

and Thomas J. Barr to desist and refrain from making or causing or

permitting to be made, any sale or disposition of the property of A.

Bininger & Co., be and the same is hereby annulled, vacated, set

aside and discharged, so far as to allow such sale to proceed and be

completed.

It is further ordered that said Daniel H. Hanrahan, by Henry B.

Hertz, Esq., auctioneer, sell and dispose of all the personal property

of said A. Bininger & Co., held by said Hanrahan or Mr. Barr, at

public auction, on the premises Nos. 92 and 94 Liberty street, on

the 31st day of March, 1870, commencing at 10 o'clock a. m., for

cash, and to continue such sale, on such other' or farther days, until

the entire stock of said firm shall be disposed of.

And it is further ordered, that the proceeds of such sale shall be

paid to Daniel H. Hanrahan, and by him deposited in the New York

Life and Trust Company, or in the Shoe and Leather Bank of the

city of New York, subject to the order of this court, after first

paying the expenses attendant upon such sale.

Dated New York, March 30, 1870.

JOHN H. MoCUNN, Justice.

Indorsed : Charge 1, " C." W.W. M. Superior Court. Abraham
B. Clarh v. Abraham Bininger. Order modifying order of 80th

iust. No. 3. Filed March 23, 1870. Exhibit No. 20. C. E. S.

Mr. BowEN— Is that a special term order ?

Mr. Steokney— It is a judge's order, and not a special term

order.

Mr. Stiokney—We now produce from the files of the court the

affidavit of Mr. Hanrahan, which is the one attached to the certified

copy of the order I have just read ; that is the order of the 30th of
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March, Mr. Hanrahan's aiSdavit being sworn to before James F.

Morgan on the 31st of March, the day subsequent. Then we read,

particularly to the Senate, on the back part of the certified copy of

the order I last read, this indorsement, in Judge McCunn's hand-

writing :
" Let the within order be so far modified as to allow the

proceeds of sale be deposited in joint names of Hanrahan & Barr as

receivers in the Trust Co.'s, or in any bank said receivers may
select," with Judge McCunn's initials, and dated March 31. Those

papers we will put in evidence.

Same marked Exhibit 21, and read as follows

:

Exhibit ISTo. 21.

SUPERIOR COCRr OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abraham B. Clark
agst.

Abraham Biningbr.

City and County of I^ew Yoek, ss. :

James F. Morgan being duly sworn, says that he is the person

referred to in the affidavit or petition of Abraham Bininger, made
on the 7th day of April, 1870, and on which a motion has been made
to punish, among others, deponent, for contempt for violating an

order made by this honorable court, dated March 30th, as referred

to in said petition of said Abraham Bininger.

Deponent further says it is true, as alleged in the petition of said

Bininger, that deponent acted as the counsel of Daniel H. Hanrahan,

one of the receivers, as alleged by him, said Bininger ; and deponent

further says that, in pursuance of his duties as such counsel, he did

and has advised the said Daniel H. Hanrahan in relation to his

obligations, and what was required of him in the execution of his

trust as such receiver.

Deponent further says that he is not aware that a large portion of

the creditors of A. Bininger & Co. objected to the sale of the part-

nership property of said firm, as referred to in the petition of said

Bininger, but states, from his own personal knowledge derived, that

the persons representing themselves as creditors, and whom deponent

believes are referred to in the petition of said A. Bininger, are not,

nor were they desirous that such sale of the partnership property

should take place, because, as deponent is informed and believes,

and charges, were from the time of the appointment of said Daniel

H. Hanrahan, receiver, in collusion with said Bininger, to obtain

45
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the possession of the property of said Bininger & Co., and have

also been acting in concert with said Bininger and one John S.

Beecher, an assignee in bankruptcy, appointed by the district

court of the United States for this district and sitting as a court

of bankruptcy.

Deponent further says that late on the 30th day of March last, he

was, as the attorney of said Hanrahan, served with a copy of an

order made by his Honor Justice Jones, which order this deponent

is now charged with violating, which said order, among other things,

enjoined the sale of the property of A. Bininger & Co., which sale

had already been extensively advertised to take place on the next

day ; and thereupon consulted his client, and on the morning of the

31st of March, between 9 and 10 a. m., obtained an order from his

Honor Justice McCunn, on the papers on which said order of his

Honor Justice Jones, was made ; also upon the additional petition

of Daniel H. Hanrahan, modifying the order of his Honor Justice

Jones, so far as to allow the sale as advertised for the 31st ult., to be

proceeded with ; which said petition and order modifying, are hereto

annexed, marked exhibits A. and B. respectively, and to which depo-

nent prays leave to refer.

Deponent further says that the said sale was had and made by

virtue of the said order of the 31st ult.

Deponent further says that he is aware of all that has been done

by Daniel H. Hanrahan, receiver, appertaining to his trust as such

that it is untrue that he has removed for storage any amount of

liquor or other property or effects of said firm, or that any property

has been taken from the said store or removed therefrom, except

such as has been disposed of by said Hanrahan in pursuance to law.

That the said Hanrahan has not made excessive or unlawful .claim

for fees, but on the contrary, said Hanrahan has been advised and is

also well aware that it is not in his power to fix his own fees, but

that the same can only be fixed by the court appointing him.

Deponent further says, that it is false, untrue, that the law firm of

Morgan & Hanrahan have unlawfully obtained and kept a large

amount of money, the property of A. Bininger & Co., or otherwise

;

or that said firm of Morgan & Hanrahan have received any money

at all, arising out of the sale of the property of the firm of A. Bin-

inger & Co., or in any way derived therefrom.

Deponent further says, that Abraham Bininger and the creditors

of his late firm, have been in collusion, and have conspired together

during the last four months, and have prosecuted, instituted and com-

menced all sorts of motions and proceedings, for the purpose ot



TEIAL OP JOHN H. McCUNJST. 355

getting into the possession of John S. Beecher the property of the

firm of A. Bininger & Co., and have kept deponent almost con-

stantly engaged m opposing motions and applications for orders, etc.

That the real object that the defendant, Bininger, has in view, on

this motion, is not to punish Thomas J. Barr, Esq., for contempt,

but to punish Daniel H. Planrahan, or remove him, and thus get the

property into the possession of his friend, and the friend of his bogus

creditors, represented in the person of John S. Beecher, assignee in

bankruptcy.

Deponent further says that he believes and charges that the said

Bininger's real object is to proceed against Mr. Hanrahan individu-

ally, on this motion as aforesaid, well knowing that the moment his

duties as receiver have ceased, although Mr. Barr may be still acting

as co-receiver, the whole of the property of the late firm rests in his

friend, John S. Beecher, assignee in bankruptcy as aforesaid, who
was appointed prior to Mr. Barr, co-receiver herein.

Deponent further says, of his own personal knowledge, that Daniel

H. Hanrahan has been scrupulous to preserve and keep, and conduct

the management of his trust, as required by law and the practice of

this honorable court, and will account for his acts when required.

JAMES F. MOEGAK
Sworn to before me )

April 18, 1870.
\

E. B. Baenum, Notary PvMic, ]V. T. County.

(A.)

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF N"EW YORK.

Abraham B. Clark
agst.

Abraham BirrnsraBR.

City and County of ISTew Yoek,

Daniel H. Hanrahan, being duly sworn, says that on the 19th day

of ISTovember, 1869, by an order made by the Superior Court of the

city of New York, he was appointed receiver of the estate, chattels

and effects, and all property of whatsoever kind of the plaintiff and

defendant, then doing business under the firm name of A. Bininger

& Co. ; and by virtue of such appointment duly filed his bond,

approved by one of the justices of this court, as required by law,

and thereupon took possession of such property as such receiver, and
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still remaius in possession of the same, wliich consists of a large

stock of wines and liquors of every description, valued at about

$75,000, and also real estate of the value of say $150,000.

Deponent further says th,at the said plaintiff and defendant, as

such copartners, are indebted to varioiis parties, amounting in the

aggregate, as near as deponent can ascertain, in the sum of about

$200,000.

Deponent further says that he is under considerable expense, and

has so been since his appointment, in preserving the said property

from loss, and also in employing counsel to defend the possession of

the same, which was sought to be taken from deponent in various

ways by reason of a petition filed in the District Court of the United

States, in bankruptcy, wherein deponent was enjoined by their

Honors Judges Blatchford and Woodruff. Subsequently, however,

and on the day of February, 1870, Judge Blatchford refused to

further enjoin deponent, and filed his opinion to that effect, in

writing ; and the matters above set forth were dismissed before his

Honor Judge Woodruff, after hearing counsel.

Deponent further says that issue has been joined in this action
;

that the personal property is fast decreasing in value by leakage and

evaporation ; that a large portion of said personal property consists

of Hungarian wines ; wines which, deponent is informed by persons

engaged in that business, will not keep much longer, and if allowed

to remain in the store will result in a total loss.

Deponent further says that, on the 26th day of March, he caused

to be inserted a daily notice for six days, in the ISTew York Herald,

World, and Journal of Commerce, also in the Boston Post, and

Staats Zeitung, that he would dispose of the said personal property

at auction, on Thursday, March 31, at 10 a. m., for cash, on the

premises of said late firm, 92 and 94 Liberty street, and also caused

to have printed catalogues of all of said wines and liquors, and an

inventory taken of the same, which said catalogues have been sent

to all the principal dealers in the city of ISTew York, and Boston,

Philadelphia, Baltimore, Washington, Albany, and other large cities,

as well as to numerous connoisseurs who would be likely to pur-

chase liquors of the quality and kind in possession of deponent, as

such receiver.

Deponent further says that it is widely known throughout the city

of ISTew York and vicinity, also Boston, by liquor dealers, by reason

of such advertisements and catalogues, and is expected that the stock

is intended to be sold on Thursday, the 31st inst., as aforesaid, and

deponent believes that said stock will sell at high prices.
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Deponent further says that an order was made and served late this

30th day of March, granted by this court, a copy of wliich, as

well as the petition on which the same was granted, are hereto an-

nexed, which said order directs that deponent, as such receiver,

desist and refrain from making the said sale aforesaid, and that if

said sale is not to be proceeded with, a great loss will ensue by reason

of the costly advertisements, catalogues, labor, etc., bestow in arrang-

ing the said stock for sale.

Deponent further says that he has not taken from the store 125

barrels of whisky, or any number of barrels of whisky, and stored

the same, as set forth in the petition referred to aforesaid ; but, on

the other hand, has been scrupulous to preserve the property and

effects of said firm, and has used more than ordinary exertion to have

them bring a high price at said auction sale, which, if adjourned- oi

restrained, will excite suspicion in the minds of those who may come

to the premises for the purpose of purchasing, which cannot be

allayed, and that on a future sale it will be hard to get persons to

attend the same, and then to oifer small prices, whereby the property

held by deponent will be sacrificed.

Deponent asks that the order made by this court, dated March 30,

1870, returnable 2d of April at 11 a. m., enjoining deponent as

aforesaid, a copy of which is hereto annexed, be vacated and set

aside.

DANIEL H. HAlSriiAHAN".

Sworn and subscribed before me
this 3l8t day of March, 1870.

Jamks F. Mokgan, Oommissioner of Deeds, N. Y. C.

Indorsed : JST. T. Superior Court. Abraham B. Olarh v. Abra-

ham Binvnger. Affidavit of D. H. Hanrahan.

(B.)

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Abeaham B. Clark
agat.

Abbaham Biningek.

On the petition of Abraham Bininger, dated on the 30th day of

March, 1870, and the order to show cause, and injunction made by

Mr. Justice Jones, dated the 30th day of March 1870, the afiidavit

of Daniel H. Hanrahan, copies of which are hereto annexed :

It is ordered that the order to show cause herein, dated March 30,
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1870, made by Mr. Justice Jones, directing Daniel H. Hanrahan

and Thomas J. Barr to desist and refrain from making, or causing

or permitting to be made, any sale or disposition of the property of

A. Bininger & Co., be and the same is hereby annulled, vacated, set

aside and discharged, so far as to allow such sale to be proceeded with

and completed. It is further ordered that said Daniel H. Hanrahan,

by Henry B. Hertz, auctioneer, sell and dispose of all of the personal

property of said A. Bininger & Co. , held by said Hanrahan or Mr.

Barr, at public auction, on the premises Nos. 92 and 94 Liberty

street, on the 31st day of March, 1870, commencing at 10 a. m., for

cash, and to continue such sale on such other or further days, until

the entire stock of said firm shall be disposed of ; and it is further

ordered that the proceeds of such sale shall be paid to Daniel H.
Hanrahan, and by him deposited in the New York Life and Trust

Company, or in the Shoe and Leather Bank of the city of New
York, subject to the order of this court, after first paying the

expenses attendant upon such sale.

Dated I^ew Yoek, March 30, 1870.

JOHN H. McCHJSriSr, Justice.

(A copy.)

James M. Sweeney, Clerh [l. s.J

Indorsed : Superior Court. Abraham B. ClarJc v. Abraham
Bininger. Order vacating stay. James F. Morgan, attorney at

law.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abkaham B. Clark
|

agst.

Ajbkaham Bininger.

City and County of New York, ss. :

Daniel H. Hanrahan, of said city and county, being duly sworn,

deposes and says, that he, this deponent, has read the petition of said

defendant, Abraham Bininger, filed in this action on the 7th day of

April, A. D. 1870, and the schedules and papers thereto annexed

;

that the verification to said petition is made on information and

belief, and not on positive knowledge. That, on the 19th day of

November, A. D. 1869, this deponent was, by an order duly made
by one of the justices of this honorable court, and duly entered

therein, appointed a receiver of all the goods, property, assets and

effects belonging to the firm of A. Bininger & Co., then doing bus-
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iness in said city of New York, and, having first filed the bond
required by such order, this deponent entered upon his duties as

such receiver, and, in pursuance thereof, took possession, on said 19th

day of JSTovember, A. D. 1869, of a very large stock of wines, liquors,

etc., belonging to said firm, and of certain buildings and real estate

in said city, also being the property of said firm.

That, upon so taking possession of said property, this deponent,

on said 19th day of November, A. D. 1869, found the premises under

the control of Abraham Bininger, the defendant, and a number of

clerks and employees of him, said Bininger.

That this deponent is informed and verily believes the truth to be,

that said firm of A. Bininger & Co. was composed of the plaintiff

and the defendant in the above entitled action, and had been for a

great number of years engaged in the business of importing and

selling wines, brandies and other liquors and merchandise, at Nos.

92 and 94 Liberty street in said city of New York.

That this deponent, upon taking possession of said premises and

property, discovered that by closing the doors of said premises, and

omitting to continue the said business, the same would be entirely

ruined, and that very great loss, waste and injury would occur to

the said business of said fl:rm, and to the said property. That this

deponent, upon so taking possession of said property, retained for

some weeks the clerks, cashier, book-keeper and other employees of

said defendant Bininger, and expressed to said defendant the desire

of this deponent not to injure or interfere with the business of said

firm, further than might be absolutely necessary for the proper exe-

cution of this deponent's duties as such receiver, and this deponent

allowed said defendant, Bininger, as well as said plaintiff, Clark, to

enter said store and premises at all times, and to exercise supervision

over all the acts and doings of this deponent as such receiver.

And this deponent further says that although he, this deponent,

in all of his actions as such receiver, endeavored to prevent loss,

waste and injury to said property, and the business of said firm, the

said defendant Bininger, disregarding and in contempt of the orders

of this honorable court, illegally colluded and conspired with certain

creditors of said firm, and commenced, or caused to be commenced,

and prosecuted various proceedings in bankruptcy, and endeavored,

by force and violence to eject this deponent from the premises and

property, and to that end and purpose caused various orders to be

made in the District Court of the United States for this district, and

in the Circuit Court of the United States for this circuit, and caused

orders to be procured in said District Court, directed to the marshal
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of the United States for said district, and commanding him to eject

this deponent from the possession of said premises and property, and

thus prevent this deponent from properly executing the duties of his

trust as such receiver.

And this deponent further says that said defendant Bininger has

illegally and improperly, and in utter disregard and contempt of the

orders of this honorable court, and without asking leave of this hon-

orable court, thereto instituted various suits and proceedings against

this deponent, as such receiver, and has, in conjunction with the

creditors of said firm, made extraordinary and incessant efEorts to set

aside the orders of this court, and has, ever since this deponent's

appointment as receiver as aforesaid, annoyed and harassed this

deponent in the execution of his said trust, and has rendered it neces-

sary for this deponent, in the execution of his said trust, to expend

large sums of money in employing a number of persons to resist the

attempts of said marshal of the United States to eject this deponent,

as such receiver, from said property, and also to expend large sums

of money in securing counsel to defend the various suits and pro-

ceedings commenced and carried on by said defendant Bininger and

by said creditors against this deponent as such receiver.

That this deponent, at or about the time of the commencement of

the said proceedings in bankruptcy, informed the defendant Binin-

ger that the result thereof would be to cause the expenditure by this

deponent as such receiver, large sums of money in resisting the

illegal and collusive proceeding of said Bininger and said creditors

to prevent this deponent from executing his duties as such receiver,

but that said Bininger, utterly disregarding and in contempt of the

orders of this honorable court, persisted in his said collusive and

illegal acts and proceedings, and has delayed and hindered this

deponent for more than three months from selling and disposing of

the said property, as required by the said order so appointing this

receiver as aforesaid.

And this deponent further says that he is informed and verily

believes that the said defendant has, through his agents or attorneys,

prevented tenants and others owing moneys to said firm from paying

such debts to this deponent as such receiver, and has, in various other

ways, harassed and annoyed this deponent in the execution of his

said trust.

And this deponent further says that, by reason of the aforesaid

illegal and collusive acts of said defendant Bininger, this deponent

was compelled to employ various keepers to hold and defend this

deponent's possession of said property as such receiver, and that, in
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order that no waste or loss should occur to said property, this deponent

selected one William R. Gorham to act in this deponent's absence, as

a head keeper, but this deponent expressly denies that he has ever

deputized or authorized said "William E,. Gorham to, in any way,

exercise any control over said property, excepting under this depo-

nent's direction and orders ; that this deponent selected the said

William R. Gorham to act as such head keeper for the reasons that

the said Gorham is a man of respectability and experience.

That said William E.. Gorham was formerly sheriff of the city and

county of San Francisco, in the State of California, and as such, to

this deponent's knowledge, had at various times under his control a

very great amount of property and moneys, and had great experience

and knowledge of the duties of keepers of property', under such cir-

cumstances ; and this deponent denies that said William R. Gorham
is utterly or at all unsuitable to take charge of such property ; but

this deponent avers, that the said William R. Gorham has never held

any control or authority over said property, save and except as a

keeper, under this deponent as such receiver.

And this deponent further says that, at the time of the making of

said order of the 30th of March, 1870, by the Hon. Samuel Jones,

one of the justices of this court, and for some weeks thereafter, this

deponent was confined to his house, and was under treatment foi-

congestion of the lungs.

That this deponent was not served with said order, or with a copy

thereof That this deponent is informed by James F. Morgan, Esq.,

the counsel of this deponent, and verily believes the same to be true,

that after the making of said order of the 30th of March, 1870,

and before the sale in said petition mentioned, an order was made by

one of the justices of this honorable court modifying said order of

the 30th of Marcli, 1870, so far as to allow the said sale to be pro-

ceeded with, and the moneys received therefrom to be deposited in

the ISTew York Life and Trust Company, a copy of which said order

and petition are hereto annexed, and to which deponent prays leave

to refer on this motion.

And this deponent further says that he admits that, soon after the

commencement of this action, he, this deponent, was required by an

order of this honorable court in this action, made upon the ajpjjlica-

tion of this deponent, to deposit moneys collected, or received by

deponent as such receiver, in one of the life and trust companies in

the city of New York, but this deponent alleges that in and by the

said order this deponent was expressly authorized to retain in his

hands sufficient moneys to meet the necessary expenses of this trust

46
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as such receiver and of litigation, as by reference to said order will

more fully appear.

That this deponent did open an account with said trust company,

and that immediately thereafter the said defendant, Bininger, col-

luding as aforesaid with said creditors, caused an injunction to be

issued for the purpose of preventing this deponent, as such receiver,

from being able to meet the expenses of the vexatious and harassing

litigation and proceedings the said defendant had caused to be insti-

tuted against deponent as such receiver.

And this deponent further says that he admits that no accounting

has been yet had of the various moneys received by deponent in the

execution of his said trust, but this deponent avers that the vexatious

and illegal and improper proceedings instituted as aforesaid by said

defendant, Bininger, against this deponent as such receiver, have

delayed and prevented the sale and disposition of said property, and

have rendered it impossible thus far for deponent to complete the

execution of his said trust as such receiver.

That this deponent is at all times ready and willing to account for

all moneys received by him in the execution of his trust as such

receiver, and that such an accounting has not been had, because no

order for such an accounting has been applied for or made.

That but a small portion of the assets of said firm have been real-

ized, by reason of the delays and obstacles interposed by the defend-

ant and by said creditors of said firm and their respective attorneys

and agents.

That the opposition thus made to the execution of this deponent's

said trust has been unusual, and has for four months last past occu-

pied the whole time and attention of this deponent, and of his coun-

sel, and that this deponent, were it not for this opposition, could

have long since completed the execution of said trust, and made an

accounting in accordance with law.

And this deponent positively denies that this deponent, or any

other person whatever, has removed or caused to be removed for

storage in any other place, from said premises 92 and 94 Liberty

street, fifty-four casks of whisky marked (A), or forty-three other

casks of whisky marked (O. K.), or ten other casks of whisky

marked (R), or seven other casks of whisky, or any amount of whisky

or liquors of any kind soever.

And this deponent denies that he has made, or now makes, any

excessive or unlawful claim for fees or compensation for their ser-

vices in the said trust, and also denies that by any act of this depo-

nent any settlement or attempted settlement has been defeated

;
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but this deponent avers that he, this deponent, claims no further

compensation than such is usually granted under the rules and prac-

tice of this court in similar cases, the amount whereof, as this depo-

nent avers, is not and cannot be fixed by this deponent as receiver,

but is settled by said rules and practice.

And this deponent denies that he, this deponent, has violated any

of his duties as such receiver as aforesaid, and avers that, in oppos-

ing the illegal and improper proceedings and actions brought by

said defendant to eject this deponent from the possession of said

premises, he, this deponent, has prevented the said property from

being wasted and altogether lost ; and this deponent avers that the

present proceeding has been instituted by said defendant, for the

purpose of carrying out his former illegal and improper attempts to

remove said property out of the possession of this honorable court,

and get it into the possession of John S. Beecher, assignee in bank-

ruptcy, who was appointed at the instigation of said Bininger and

various alleged creditors, with whom said Bininger has acted in

collusion, for the purpose of ousting not only deponent, but his late

partner, Mr. Clark, the plaintiff in this suit, from all possession and

control over the property, as deponent has satisfied himself from

their acts and doings, and charges the truth to be.

DANIEL H. HANEAHAN.
Sworn to before me, April

)

18, 18T0.
)

E. B. Baenum, Notary P^Mio, W. Y.

Indorsed : N". T. Superior Court ; Abraham B. GlarTc v. Abror

ham Bininger. Affidavit of D. H. Hanrahan. James F. Morgan,

of counsel, 14 and 16 Wall street, N. Y. city. Filed June 27,

1870.

Know all men by these peesents, that we, Daniel H. Hanrahan as

principal, and James F. Morgan, of the city of New York, and Wil-

liam E. Gordon of the city of JSTew York, are held and firmly bound

unto the clerk of the Superior Court of the city of New York in

the sum of ten thousand dollars lawful money of the United States,

to be paid to the said clerk of the Superior Court of said city of New
York. For which payment, well and truly to be made, we bind our-

selves, our heirs, executors and administrators, jointly and severally,

firmly by these presents, sealed with our seals, dated the 18th day

of November, in the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-

nine.

Whereas, by an order made by the Honorable John H. McCunn, on
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the 18th day of JSTovember, 1869, the above bounden Daniel H.

Hanrahan was appointed receiver of all the debts, property, equit-

able interests, rights and things in action of Abraham Bininger

;

Now, the condition of this obligation is such, that if the said

Daniel H. Hanrahan shall faithfully discharge the duties of this

trust as such receiver, then this obligation to be void, otherwise, to

be in full force and effect.

DANIEL H. HAJSTKAHAN, [l. s.l

JAMES F. MORGAN, [l. s.]

WM. E. GOEHAM. [l. s.]

City ajsd County of New Yoek, ss. :

James F. Morgan, one of the obligors named in the foregoing

bond, being sworn, says that he is a resident and householder within

this State, and is worth the sum of twenty thousand dollars over and

above all his debts and liabilities.

JAMES F. MOEGAX.
Sworn to before me this 19th

day of November, 1869.

Levi Geat, Notary Public, New York City.and County.

CiTT AND County or New Yoek, ss. :

William E. Gorham, one of the obligors named in the foregoing

bond, being sworn, says he is a resident and householder within this

State, and is worth the sum of twenty thousand dollars over and

above all his debts and liabilities.

WM. E GOEHAM.
Sworn to before me this 19th

day of November, 1869.

Levi Geay, Notary Puhlio, New Yorh City and County.

STATE OF NEW YOEK, )

City and County of New Yoek, j

^^'

'

On the 19th day of November, 1869, before me personally ap-

peared James F. Morgan and William E. Gorham and Daniel H.
Hanrahan, known to me to be the individuals described in and who
executed the foregoing bond, and severally acknowledged that they

executed the same.

LEVI GEAY,
Notary Public, New York City and County.

Indorsed
: Superior Court of the City of New York ; Abraham,

B. Clark v. Abraham Bininger ; Eeceiver's Bond. I approve of
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tEe within bond, and of the sufficiency of the sureties. November
19, 1869. John H. McCunn, Judge.

Judge Selden— That is a modification of the order of March
30th.

Mr. Sticknet— Yes, sir.

Mr. MoAK— It is proper to say to the Senate that these affidavits

tliat show any sort of excuse, on the part of Judge McCunn, for

any thing, are not stated at all. This affidavit of Hanrahan is a long

affidavit, in which he states, in substance, that this sale has been

advertised for a long time in all the principal cities of the United

States, at large expense ; and that this order was served on him late

on the 30th, and that the sale was advertised to take place on

the next day, and there were likely to be purchasers from all parts

of the United States; and unless the order was modified, the entire

expense of advertising and posting would be lost, and that parties

would not come the second time when the property was sold. That

is the substance of it, as I understand. I believe I have stated, sub-

stantially, correct.

By Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Do you know whether the sale then proceeded, by auction, on

the morning of the 31st ? A. So I understood it ; I was not at the

sale, but it was a matter of public notoriety, and known to all the

parties in the controversy.

Gross-examination hy Mr. Moak :

Q. Mr. Titus, how long have you been a counselor of the

Supreme Court, practicing in New York 1 A. I stated on my
direct examination that it was some thirty-five or thirty-six years

since I was admitted.

Q. Was any motion made in this case at any time, on behalf of

Mr. Bininger, to set aside this order appointing a receiver, on the

ground that the appointment was without notice to Mr. Bininger ?

A. I made application in Mr. Bininger's behalf upon the papers on

which the orders were made to vacate the order appointing the

receiver and granting an injunction.

Q. That is not quite an answer to my question ; my question was

whether you made a motion to set it aside, on the ground that the

appointment was made ^aj^arfo.^ A. I have not the points with me
that I presented on that motion. Whether that was taken then or

not I do not remember.
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Q. Have you now any recollection that such a ground was urged

at any time on any motion on an application to set aside the order?

A, Well, I can only speak from present impression rather than from

distinct recollection.

Q. I ask you for your recollection, Mr. Titus? A. I shoiild

state

Q. Be kind enough to answer my question ; have you now any

recollection of any motion to set aside the order appointing a receiver,

of having made it on the ground, or made one of the grounds, that

the order was made ex parte f A. I have a general recollection

that among the points I presented on that motion, that it was an

extraordinary proceeding that an order of that kind should have

been made ex parte. I didn't remember of knowing of such an

order being made before.

Q. The motion which you made to set aside the appointment of

the receiver, was made before whom ? A. Judge Fithian.

Q. That motion was denied? A. Yes, sir.

Q. After a full hearing on both sides ? A. I presented it as fully

and ably as I could ; the counsel upon the other side said what they

deemed necessary to say.

Q. Tour order obtained from Judge Jones, staying the sale of

this property on the 31st of March, was obtained on the 30th, wasn't

it ? A. That appears to be the date of the order, and I have no

doubt it is the correct date.

Q. Do you recollect what time in the day of the 30th you

obtained that order ? A. I cannot mention the hour, but I know it

was during the session of Judge Jones upon the bench of the

Superior Court.

Q. Have you any knowledge of what time upon the 30th the

papers were served upon Hanrahan and Barr ? A. I cannot speak

from personal knowledge, because I did not personally make the

service ; but I directed service to be made.

Q. Tour order staying the sale next day, was obtained ex parte ?

A. Tes, sir.

Q. Ton gave no notice to the receiver or counsel of the applica-

tion for the order ? A. No, sir ; I gave no notice to any one that

I remember.

Q. And did your orders state, or did your moving papers to

obtain the order, state any thing about the fact that the sale had been

extensively advertised in almost all the large cities of the United

States? A. I must refer you to the papers.

Q. Do you recollect that it did ; I will get your recollection ?
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A. I don't recollect that fact ; I am not aware now that it was
within my knowledge.

Q. "Well, it turned out on an investigation afterward that the sale

of this liquor had been largely advertised in Philadelphia and Bos-

ton, and in the papers in New York, New Orleans and Chicago,

and various other large cities ? A. I don't know.

Q. Wasn't that sworn to in the affidavits ? A. I don't remember

;

I heard Mr. Hanrahan's affidavit read with motion that I referred to

before Judge Monell, and it is only my general recollection of the

contents that I now speak from.

Q. Don't you recollect that it appeared in the affidavits on that

motion that such was the case ? A. It is difficult for me to separate

one fact from another ; I had that information in some way that

that had been largely advertised.

Q. I will get at it in another way ; was there any such fact stated

in the papers that were used before Judge Jones on your applica-

tion ? A. I state now that I do not recollect, but still must refer to

the petition.

Q. Do you recollect that any fact was stated before Judge Jones,

except such as appeared in your papers ? A. This additional fact

was presented to Judge Jones— that I think is not connected with

the petition, and it was this, the creditors—
Q. I didn't ask you what it was ; as . a lawyer you recollect ?

A. I am a witness now, and if I am wrong, you must correct

me.

Q. Lawyers make very poor witnesses sometimes ; do you recol-

lect that any fact was stated to Judge Jones, except such as appear

in your moving papers ? A. No, I don't remember any, except vfhat

appear in my moving papers.

Q. Have you now any recollection that it was stated in the mov-

ing papers that large sums had been expended by receivers in

advertising throughout the United States? A. I don't remember

that, sir.

By Mr. Benedict :

Q. Who were the counsel upon the other side in that case before

Judge Fithian ? A. Well, there were several counsel appeared there

on the motion ; first, Mr. Oompton appeared, and I think Mr. Morgan,

and an objection was made when the motion was first brought on,

that the receiver had no counsel there, and wished to be heard ; I

objected to any receiver being heard in the matter, and I supposed

he had nothing to do with it ; notwithstanding, it was postponed to
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a subsequent day, and then Mr. Clark and Mr. Oompton appeared

in opposition to the motion.

By Mr. D. P. Wood :

Q. "What Clark appeared ? A. He is a lawyer, and I understand

him to have been the gentleman who was mentioned here yesterday,

as a person recommended by Mr. Abraham B. Clark to be employed

;

he was a stranger to me, but, on inquiry, I learned his name was Mr.

Clark.

Q. Do you know his given name ? A. I have an impression it

was Lucius ; I may be mistaken about that ; the gentleman was

referred to yesterday by Mr. Melville B. Clark, in his testimony.

By Mr. Tiemahn :

Q. Was he the former partner of Judge Fithian ? A. I didn't

know that ; he was a stranger to me ; I don't remember to have seen

him in any stages of the controversy afterward.

Q. How soon after a receiver was appointed were you aware of

the bankruptcy proceedings being commenced ? A. I think it must

have been nearly a month after ; I may be in error as to the exact

time ; it was not until after the order of Judge Fithian was made, I

think.

Q. That was the order about which there was some controversy ?

A. That may be, but still it is my impression that the bankruptcy

proceedings were not commenced until after that time ; I can't state

the exact time ; I have not the data before me that will enable me
to do so.

Q. You said Mr. Hanrahan's affidavit was used in the motion

;

which motion do you refer to ? A. The motion that I made before

Judge Monell for the removal of both the receivers, Barr and

Hanrahan, in consequence of their making the sale of the property

in defiance of the injunction ordered by Judge Jones.

Q. That auction was denied, was it not ? A. It was granted ; it

was granted, absolutely, as to Hanrahan, and it was denied to Bavr,

conditionally ; the condition was that he should give the security

which Judge Jones had directed should be given by both receivers,

and then he should act as sole receiver.

Q. But it was not granted on the ground that the sale was

improper, was it ? A. I understand it was granted on the ground

that Hanrahan had, regardless of the order of Judge Jones, gone

on and made the sale.
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Q. "Without giving security ? A. No ; that he had gone on and
made the sale in defiance of the order of Judge Jones.

Q. Do you mean to say that this order of Judge McCunn's was
not decided to be illegal ? A. I don' t know that that order of Judge
McOunn's was ever brought up for adjudication ; Judge Jones had
made the order prohibiting that sale absolutely until an order of the

court, and Hanrahan made the sale notwithstanding the order, audit

appeared on his defense, in a motiom made before Judge McCunn,
that his justification was, that Judge MeCunn had authorized him
to make the sale.

Q. That this order of Judge McOunn's, modifying the order of

Judge Jones, was his justification ? A. That was his justification.

Q. Well, you understood Mr. Barr to have taken part in the sale,

didn't you, and to have sanctioned it ? A. I only know that here

with these two men, Hanrahan and Barr, in charge of that property,

and it had been advertised for sale, and I supposed then it was the

joint action of both.

Q. "Well, it was conceded on the motion, was it not ? A. ISTo, I

believe not ; Mr. Barr, I understood, disclaimed having sanctioned

that.

Q. Are you certain that Barr's affidavit was not read by Mr.

Cohn ? A. It may have been ; I have no recollection of the eon-

tents of his afiidavit ; I think there was an affidavit read by

him.

Q. And Mr. Barr was retained as receiver, on condition that he

gave the amount of bond which Judge Jones had fixed ? A. Yes,

sir ; that was the first order made by Judge Monell, and as he was

unable to give security to quite the amount. Judge Monell made a

modification reducing the amount, and he gave a bond and then

continued sole receiver after that.

Q. Do you recollect when that order was made ? A. It was made

in April, 18T0.

Q. And from that time down Mr. Barr continued the sole receiver

of the property ? A. He was sole receiver after that ; Hanrahan

was removed.

Q. How many motions do you think you made in that case ? A.

Do you mean in the Clark and Bininger case ?

Q. Yes. A. I do not now remember but three that I made.

Q. How many were made by other parties ? A. Well, Mr.

Compton's motions were quite frequent.

Q. Will you be kind enough to answer my question without com-

ments upon counsel ? A. You ask me a question that I have got to

47
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take a little time to answer ; I intended no comment on counsel and

made none.

Q. Your answer was that Mr. Compton's motions were quite fre-

quent, was it not? A. Yes, but I don't consider that a comment

upon counsel ; there were certainly two motions made by Mr. Comp-

ton to punish for contempt.

Q. I didn't ask you what they were ? A. "Well, I remember two

made by Mr. Compton ; also a third motion made by Mr. Compton.

Q. There was considerable feeling in that case, was there not, Mr.

Titus ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Both on the part of the parties, the counsel, and the attorneys 1

A. Yes, sir ; I think there was.

Q. You participated in that feeling to some extent, I suppose ?

A. Naturally, I think I did.

Q. "When was the last proceeding in that action that you now
recollect ? A. Well I can't tell you the date.

Q. About when ? A. The last that I remember was in June,

1870, in the action.

Q. Then the proceeding was pending on the action, and proceed-

ings taken in that and outside proceedings by other parties in the

United States Court from November 19, 1869, until some time in

June, according to your recollection? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were those proceedings in bankruptcy to your knowledge

instituted by the advice or arrangement of, or arrangement with

your client, Mr. Bininger, by the creditors ? A. Mr. Bininger knew
of the proceedings.

Q. Did he countenance them? A. I can only answer you in this

way ; he didn't oppose them.

Q. Do you know the fact that they were taken in his interest, and
were countenanced by Mr. Bininger, under his directions and counsel ?

A. I cannot say that they were done in his interest ; if you will

allow me to state—
Q. "Well, you have answered it so far, I will separate it ; were

they taken after a consultation with you ? A. My opinion was asked

as to whether proceedings in bankruptcy—
Q. Mr. Titus, you know what a consultation is, as a lawyer, do

you not ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, were these proceedings taken after consultation with you
by the creditors who took them, or their attorneys or counsel ? A.
Yes, sir.

Q. "While they were pending did you have, as counsel for Mr.
Bininger, consultations with the counsel or the attorneys for the
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petitioning creditors as to what course should be taken ? A. No,
sir, not as to what course should be taken ; he acted independently

of any counsel.

Q. Did they consult with you as to whether the proceedings would

be acceptable to you or to Mr. Bininger ? A. They consulted with

me as—no, I won't say " them y
" Mr. Cohn consulted with me as

to whether proceedings in bankruptcy would lie ; and I expressed

to him my opinion that they would under the circumstances of the

case, and from that time Mr. Bangs, who was the counsel for the

creditors, acted in all those proceedings of the bankrupt court ; I took

no part in them whatever, except that I knew they were going on.

Q. Mr. Oohn, who advised with you as to whether bankrupt pro-

ceedings would lie or not, was the same Mr. Cohn who was Binin-

ger's attorney of record % A. Yes, sir.

Q. How soon after he advised with you as to whether these pro-

ceedings would lie, and you advised that they would lie, were they

instituted ? A. "Within a few days.

Q. And after that time were you consulted either by Mr. Cohn,

by Mr. Bangs, or by any body else who was interested in the bank-

rupt proceedings, as to whether certain proceedings were acceptable

to Mr. Bininger or not ? A. I don't think I was consulted by either

of those gentlemen, or by any other person, after that time, upon that

subject ; the whole matter was dropped by Mr. Bangs as the counsel

for the creditors, and he adopted his own course of action ; Mr. Bin-

inger was helpless in the case, in the position which he occupied

;

he could do nothing.

Q. He didn't oppose any thing ? A. He didn't oppose any thing,

that I know of.

Q. After these bankrupt proceedings were commenced, did you

take any steps in that action in the Superior Court? A. ISTot until

this application was made to Judge Jones, that I now remember

;

I appeared in the Superior Court several times.

Q. I don't ask you what you did, but simply whether you did

any thing ? A. I did not initiate any proceedings then that I re-

member of.

Q. Before taking any proceedings in the action in the Superior

Court, did you consult with Mr. Cohn, or did Mr. Cohn consult, to

your knowledge, with the attorney in the bankrupt proceedings ? A.

Yes, sir ; I remember consulting with Mr. Bangs once in reference

to

Q. I don't ask you what it was in reference to ? A. Yery well,

sir; I remember once distinctly consulting with Mr. Oohn.
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Q. Did you consult with tliem iipon this subject more than once

diiring the pendency of the bankrupt proceedings ? A. I don't

remember that I did.

Q. Were you advised by Mr. Cohn that he had consulted with the

attorneys in the bankrupt proceedings? A. I remember hearing

Mr. Cohn say that he had seen Mr. Bangs in reference to such mat-

ters as were going on in the bankruptcy court.

Q. At different times ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Quite frequently ? A. Well, I can't say how frequently

;

several times.

Q. There was no step, I take it, that you were aware of that you

could take to get the property into the hands of Mr. Bininger, or

those who were in his interest, that occurred, that you didn't take,

was there ? A. I don't remember that I took any steps to get the

property into the hands of Mr. Bininger.

Q. "Well, into the hands of those whom you believed to be in his

interest ? A. The steps that I took, if I may be permitted to state

that in this connection, were to get the property into the hands of

the ci'editors of this firm ; that was Mr. Bininger's first aim and effort.

Q. Now, Mr. Titus, as a lawyer, you have not yet quite answered

my question ; my question was whether there was any one step which

you were aware of, which would get the property into the hands of

those who were friendly to Mr. Bininger, which occurred to you to

take, that you did not take ? A. I dont know that I took any

between the motion that I made for the dissolution of the injunction

before Judge Fithian and the time I made the application to J udge

Jones, saving what I did in the way of negotiating between Clark

and Bininger to settle the matter.

Q. That does not quite answer my question ; my question was

whether there was any step which occurred to you, which would tend

to get the property into the hands of those who were friendly to Mr.

Bininger, that you did not take ? A. Well, I told you that I did

not take any that I now remember, except those that I have men-

tioned.

Q. Do you regard that as an answer to my question ? A. Tes,

sir ; I do, if you will put it in a different form, perhaps, I can give a

better answer.

Q. Now, Mr. Titus, I take it from your reputation you are a gen-

tleman engaged in extensive practice in the city of New York ? A.

I have been.

Q. You went yourself personally to the clerk's office to examine

the bond ? A. I'did.
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Q. Is that an ordinary occurrence with you ? A. In a case like

this I should, I think, do it always ; I should not trust to a clerk to

make an examination of papers for the purpose for which I needed

these.

Q. Who made this copy which is now produced, aud which is

shown to you here ? A. I don't know who made it, it was an origi-

nal paper that was shown to me.

Q. I understood it was a copy ? A. !N"o, sir ; it was the original

bond that was shown to me.

Q. Have you any copy of that ? A. Yes, sir (witness produces

paper), I have a copy that I obtained from the clerk's ofSce.

Q. Did you see the original order for the appointment of a receiver ?

A. I am not clear whether I saw that order or not ; a copy of that

having been served upon Mr. Biniuger, with the papers that came

into my hands, in the early part of the case.

Q. Then you are not at all positive of the fact that the order pre-

scribed that the bond should be in the penalty of $1,000, instead of

$10,000 ? A. Of course I cannot be, as to the original order that I

never saw.

Q. Well, that is a very easy mistake to make in copying, from one

to ten, particularly when it is not very well written ? A. Well, I

should think it was rather extraordinary in copying a paper of that

kind, to copy one, for ten.

Q. If a word was not well written ? A. Well, under any circum-

stances, I should think that was rather an unusual mistake to make.

Q. Mr. Titus, did you present any claim for services in this action,

to the receiver ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. To what amount ? A. My impression is that the claim that is

pending before Mr. Darlington, is a little less than $5,000.

Q. Is it not over $10,000 ? A. No, it is not ; it does not exceed

$5,000 ; I will explain to you, sir, if you will permit me ; the claim

that was first presented by me before Mr. Darlington, under the

judgment that was entered in this action was nearly $10,000, but it

embraced many other controversies than those which are now before

him ; one of which was a suit that we brought in the second district

in the supreme court, to restrain Mr. Clark and his son from using

the firm name as "A. Bininger Clark & Co.," in the carrying on

of their business ; and there were various charges that were made

for services in the contempt cases, so-called, in the superior court.

Q. Those were in the bankruptcy proceedings ? A. Yes, sir ; but

I am telling you what was expressed in the whole bill that was pre-

sented before Mr. Darlington; and there were claims also for com-
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pensation for my services in the negotiations between Bininger and

Clark, during the months January, February, and a part of March,

to settle this matter. Objections were made to many of the claims

that I presented there, as not being embraced in the order or judg-

ment made by Judge Monell, and they were withdrawn to a great

extent ; in consequence, the claim was reduced before Mr. Darling-

ton, so that, I think, it is between $4,500 and $5,000.

Q. Tou do not mean that, with your fair practice, you left the

first district of ISTew York and brought a suit in the second district ?

A. I do ; I mean that exactly.

Q. Well, if I understand you rightly, there was one suit to re-

strain Clark from using the firm name ? A. Tes, sir ; not the firm

name, but the name I have mentioned.

Q. The name of the old firm ? A. No ; the name of the old firm

was A. Bininger & Co. ; Clark had opened a store near to them,

under the name of A. Bininger Clark & Co. ; it was to restrain the

use of that name.

Q. Well, his name was A. Bininger Clark, wasn't it ? A. So he

says ; I had known it as Abraham B. Clark, before that time.

Q. Where did Mr. Clark reside, at the time that you brought

this action in the second district ? A. In New York.

Q. Where did Mr. Bininger reside ? A. At Whitestown, on Long

Island.

Q. Where was the venue laid in that action ? A. In Kings

county.

Q. I understand you to say that this bill included for services in

the contempt proceedings ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Well, those contempt proceedings were against the assignee

in bankruptcy, were they not? A. Yes, sir; they were against

Bininger.

Q. What proceedings were taken against him ? A. These con-

tempt proceedings he was proceeded against. Motions were made

against him, against Mr. Bangs, against Mr. Beecher, and there were

other parties named, to punish them for alleged violations of injunc-

tions granted by Judge McCunn to restrain any proceedings in the

bankrupt court.

Q. For whom did you act on that proceeding? A. For Mr.

Bininger.

Q. For him alone ? A. For him alone.

Q. And in the order of judgment which provided that the ex-

penses and costs of the suit of Olarh v. Bininger, you, as a lawyer,

presented to Mr. Darlington charges for services in two difierent
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proceedings? A. I presented those charges that I have mentioned
under that judgment.

Q. Did you, as a lawyer, regard that as a legal charge ? A.I did,

or I should not have presented it.

Mr. Paesons—We should like to inquire whether it is Judge
McCunn or Mr. Titus that is being tried.

Mr. MoAK— The question of how much feeling the witness has

is perfectly competent, it seems to me, to be developed on the cross-

examination, for the purpose of showing how far his feelings may
have colored his evidence. There is no question but what Mr. Titus

is a fair gentleman, but we are all liable to have some feeling, of

course.

Feangis N. Bangs, called in behaK of the people, having been

duly sworn, testified as follows

:

By Mr. Stickney :

Q. Your profession is what ? A. Lawyer.

Q. How many years have you been so ? A. Twenty years and
upward.

Q. Will you state what connection you had with the Clark and

Bininger litigation ? A. If that question is applicable only to the

suit in the superior court, it was this—
Q. Just state what connection you had with all those litigations ?

A. I was employed by creditors of Clark and Bininger, who were

then said to be insolvent, to procure the application of their prop-

erty— their individual property— to the payment of their debts, by

proceedings in bankruptcy ; I was also employed to have an assignee

appointed for the purpose of getting control of the suit then pending

in the Superior Court, so that Mr. Clark should cease to have control

of the suit, and should cease to be able to obtain orders concerning

the disposition of the joint property ; after the proceedings in bank-

ruptcy, which were instituted in pursuance of that employment,

were over, so far as that an assignee was appointed, I was employed

by the assignee to recover the property of Bininger and Clark, Mr.

Bininger's property amounting to about $50,000; Mr. Clark's

property, as it was believed, amounting to $200,000 ; and I was

also employed by the assignee, under the bankruptcy law, to apply

to the Superior Court to be admitted to prosecute and try the suit

then and there pending, so that that suit might be wound up and

the property delivered to him ; I was also employed in the earlier

stage of the proceedings, by petitioning creditors, to defend three
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suits brought in the Superior Court against them, in which Judge

McCunn had issued an injunction against those petitioning credi-

tors ; that was my professional connection with these litigations.

Q. Tou have mentioned that the object of the creditors was to

hinder Mr. Clark from obtaining orders in relation to the joint

property of the firm : orders from whom ? A. From the Superior

Court.

Q. From what judge of the Superior Court?

M. MoAK— That I object to. The acts of some body else out of

court, as to what they desire to do, are not material.

Mr. Stioknet:

Q. Who had granted orders in relation to the joint property, prior

to this time? A. As I understood, Judge McCunn and Judge

Fithian.

Q. Will you state who was the assignee appointed ? A. John

S. Beecher.

Q. Do you remember the occasion of the arrest of Mr. Beecher,

under an order of Judge McCunn ? A. I was not a witness to his

arrest, sir ; I was a witness to his detention under the alleged arrest.

Q. Will you state what took place in your presence, in relation to

that ? A. Yes, sir ; Mr. Beecher's election, which is not precisely

the same as his appointment, took place on the 18th of January,

1870, that is, the creditors met on that day and designated him as

their choice for assignee; that had to be approved by the court;

after that approval I received from Mr. Beecher a paper, which I

now have in my hand, dated 19th January, 1870, signed "A copy,

James M. Sweeny, clerk." I advised Mr. Beecher concerning

that, and in the course of a few days after that received from Mr.

Beecher, as having been served upon him, this order, without date,

-signed " John H. McCunn," which reads as follows

:

The witness here read the following paper, which is marked

"Exhibit No. 23."

Exhibit No. 22.

SUPEEIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abraham B. Clark
agst.

Abraham Bininger,

It appearing satisfactorily to me, by the affidavit of Daniel H.
Hanrahan, receiver of the property and effects of A. Bininger &
Co., and duly appointed such receiver on the 19th day of Novem-
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ber, A. D. 1869, that John S. Beecher and Paul J. Armour, claim-

ing to be assignees in bankruptcy of the said firm of A. Bininger

& Co., are about to attempt to eject the said Daniel H. Hanrahan,

receiver, as aforesaid, froni the possession of certain goods and

property taken into his possession, under and by virtue of said

order of appointment

;

Now, therefore, I do hereby order that the said John S. Beecher

and Paul J. Armour, and each of them, and any other person or

persons who may claim to be acting as assignee of said firm in

bankruptcy, be and they and each of them, their servants, agents

and all persons whomsoever acting under them or either of them,

are herebj' enjoined and restrained from in any manner interfering

with or disturbing the said receiver in his possession of said prop-

erty as such receiver, whether such interference be made as assignee

or assignees, or otherwise.

And for a violation of this order they and each of them shall be

liable to the punishment prescribed by law.

Dated New Yoek, Janua/ry 19, 1870.

JOHN H. McCUNN, Justice.

Indorsed: Charge 1, "E." C. P. Y- Should be "E." Supe-

rior Court of the city of New York. Abraham B. Olarh v. Abra-

haiih Bininger. Order of receiver for injunction. James F.

Morgan, of counsel for receiver. Filed January 19, 1870.

Mr. Sticknet :

Q. At that time were Mr. Beecher and Mr. Armour parties to

that suit at all ? A. No, sir.

Q. Had they received any notice of any kind of an application

for that order ? A. Not that I am aware of.

Q. Then what took place next ? A. Then was served this order

without date requiring cause to be shown on the 25th why Beecher

should not be punished for contempt of court in disobeying that

order of the 19th of January ; the papers I hold in my hand are the

order and the papers upon which it was granted.

Mr. STioKiirET

:

"We will put these papers in evidence, and I will read, particularly,

one portion of the order :
" Now, therefore, I do hereby direct that

the said John S. Beecher show cause before me, at part one, trial

term of the Superior Court, State of New York, at the new court-

house in the said city, on the 25th day of January," etc.

47
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The papers referred to were marked Exhibit No. 23, and read as

follows

:

Exhibit No. 23.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW TORK.

Abkaham B. Claek
agst.

Abraham Bikingeb.

It appearing satisfactorily to me, by the affidavits of Charles L.

Morgan and James F. Morgan that John S. Beecher, an alleged

assignee in bankruptcy, has attempted to take possession of the

property and effects of A. Bininger & Co., now in the possession of

Daniel H. Hanrahan, Esq., a receiver appointed by this court on the

19th day of November, A. D. 1869, and that said Beecher inter-

fered with and disturbed the receiver ia his possession of the said

property, in violation of an order granted by this honorable court,

dated January 19th, 1870, and duly served on said Beecher, on the

19th January, 1870

;

Now, therefore, I do hereby direct that the said John S. Beecher

show cause before me at part one, trial term of the Superior Court

of the city of New York, at the new Court-house, in said city, on

the 25th day of January, A. D. 1870, at 10|- a. m., why he should

not be punished for an alleged contempt of this court, for violating

the said order of January 19, 1870.

JOHN H. McCUNN, Justice.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Abraham B. Clark
]

agst.

Abraham Bininger.

CiTT AND County of New Yoek, ss. :

Charles L. Morgan, being duly sworn, says that he is in and upon

the premises Nos. 92 and 94 Liberty street, in the city of New York,

of the late firm of A. Bininger & Co., as one of the keepers or

representatives of Daniel H. Hanrahan, Esq., a receiver now in the

possession of said premises and property, under an order of the

Superior Court of the city of New York. That, on this 24th day of

January, 1870, a person representing himself as John S. Beecher,

an alleged assignee in bankruptcy proceedings, wherein the parties
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hereto are alleged debtors attempting to take possession of the said

property in possession of said Ilanrahan, receiver, as aforesaid.

That said John S. Beecher came to the doorway of said premises

and demanded admission in and possession of said premises, as

deponent has been advised, is informed and verily believes, in

violation of an order issued by this honorable court.

(Signed) CHAS. L. MOEGAN.
Sworn to before me this 24th )

day of January, 1870. j

(Signed) Thomas H. Baeowskt,

Notcvry Public, JV. Y. County.

NEW YOEK SUPEEIOR COTJET.

Abraham: BiNmoBR. I

CiTT AHD County of New Yoek, ss. :

James F. Morgan, being duly sworn, says that on the 19th day

of January, 18Y0, at No. 98 Front street, in the city of New York,

he served a certified copy of an order of injunction, with the seal

of this court attached thereto, on John S. Beecher, by delivering to

and leaving with said John S. Beecher the said certified copy.

Deponent further says that he knew the person so served to be the

John S. Beecher referred to in the annexed order, which is a copy

of the order so served on him as aforesaid.

JAMES F. MOEGAN.
Sworn to before me this 24:th )

day of January, 1870. j

Levi Geat,

Notary PuUio, New York City and County.

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Abraham B. Clark

agst.

Abraham Biningbr. I

It appearing satisfactorily to me, by the affidavit of Daniel H.

Hanrahan, receiver of the property and effects of A. Bininger &
Co., and duly appointed such receiver on the 19th day of Novem-

ber, A. D. 1869, that John S. Beecher and Paul J. Armour, claim-

ing to be assignees in bankruptcy of said firm of A. Bininger & Co.,
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are about to attempt to eject said Daniel H. Haarahau, receiver as

aforesaid, from the possession of certain other goods and property

taken into his possession under and by virtue of said order of appoint-

ment;

Now, therefore, I do hereby order, that the said John S. Beecher

and Paul J. Armour and each of them, and any other person or

persons who may claim to be acting as assignees of said firm in bank-

ruptcy, be and they and each of their servants, agents and all per-

sons whomsoever acting under them or either of them, are hereby

enjoined and restrained from in any manner interfering with or dis-

turbing the said receiver in his possession of said property as such

receiver, whether such interference be made as assignee or assignees

or otherwise.

And for a violation of this order, each of them shall be liable to

the punishment prescribed by law.

Dated New Toek, January 19, 1870.

(A copy.) JAMES M. SWEENEY, Cleric.

Indorsed: New York Superior Court. Abraham S. GlarTcY.

Abraham Bininger. Copy affidavits and order to show cause.

James F. Morgan, of counsel for Daniel H. Hanrahan, receiver, 14r

and 16 Wall street. New York city.

Mr. Sticknet— At that time was Mr. Justice McCunn holding

special term or chambers in the Superior Court ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you appear before him on the 25th ? A. I did, I think

on the 25 th.

Q. Where was he then sitting? A. He was sitting with a jury

at the trial term.

Q. Will you state what took place before him in your presence,

on that day ? A. On the receipt of this order to show cause, one of

my partners, at my request, went to court aiid returned, and in con-

sequence of his information, I went to court, where I found Judge

McCunn engaged in the trial of a case before a jury ; I sat down,

and while sitting an attendant upon the court, a person whom I

I'ecognized as such, came into the room and went behind the bench

and made a communication to Judge McCunn in a whisper, or a

subdued tone, that I did not hear ; Judge McCunn turned to him
and said :

" Go and take him," or " Go and bring him ; that is your

warrant ; take some one with you and bring him."

Q. In what tone was that said by his honor ? A. Well, as loud

as I have used
;
perhaps louder ; it was entirely audible ; the man

left the room, and within half an hour afterward, Mr. Beecher made
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his appearance in the court room with this man upon one side of
him and another person upon the other; I conversed with Mr.
Beecher ; shall I state the conversation ?

Mr. Stiokney—We ask that it be stated ?

Mr. MoAK—We object to it.

Mr. TiEMANN— Let us have it.

Mr. MoAK—We object to it, unless it is shown that it was in an
audible tone, or was heard by Judge McCunn.
The Witness— It was in an audible tone, but it was not heard

by Judge McCunn.
Mr. MoAK— Then we object to it.

Mr. Stiokney— We do not press it.

Witness— Mr. Beecher came in and sat down, and at the first

pause that occurred in the proceedings, I arose and adressed Judge
McCunn, saying that I wished to bring to his attention a matter

which would undoubtedly command his preference, inasmuch as it

affected the liberty of a citizen.

Q. How long had Beecher been there ? A. I should judge five

or ten minutes ; I was as prompt as I could be ; I said that a client

of mine, Mr. John S. Beecher, had been seized in the public streets

and brought to court by two men ; Judge McCunn said that they were
officers of his court ; I said that he was there kept against his will,

and I requested that his honor would inquire into the cause of his

detention ; he said I could sit down, that he should not interrupt the

trial then in progress ; I think that he intimated that he would take

it up some time or other ; Mr. Beecher sat there for a length of time,

that I cannot state definitely, I should say from one to two hours

;

he walked toward the door once, and one of the two men who had

accompanied him to the room, walked to the door after him and Mr.

Beecher returned and sat down ; I prepared a petition for a writ of

habeas corpus and Mr. Beecher swore to it before the clerk ot the

court, rising up as he did so, quite visibly ; and the judge inter-

rupted the counsel who was engaged in the trial of the cause and

stated that Mr. Beecher might go until the next morning ; he must

be there the next morning ; I cannot now give the exact order of

the conversation, though I think I can give pretty much all that

took place ; Mr. Beecher, myself, and the judge spoke by turns ; I

said to the judge substantially that Mr. Beecher would be there in

the morning, if there was any legal order compelling him ; the

judge said, "]S"o fear, sir, no fear; we will bring him;" when he

said Mr. Beecher might go, Mr. Beecher asked where he might go

;

the judge said he might go to Ludlow street jail or he might go to
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the bosom of his family, just as he chose ; Mr. Beecher pressed him

for a more categorical direction ; he said he would go where the

court should direct him ; the court said he might go to his family

and Mr. Beecher went away and went from the room; I don't

know where he went ; on the next morning I attended, and the

trial before Judge McCunn was still in progress ; that is, it was

still unfinished ; the trial was not resumed the next morning, that

I am aware of, until the proceedings that I am about to state were

finished ; Mr. Beecher was not there ; Judge McCunn addressed

himself to the audience generally and inquired, " Is Mr. Beecher

here ? " there was no answer ; he inquired again, " Is Mr. Beecher

here ? " and there was no answer ; he addressed himself to me and

said, " Mr. Bangs, is Mr. Beecher here ? " I said, " Not that I am
aware of," and at that moment Mr. Pryor, who appeared, or an-

nounced himself as appearing for the receivers, addressed Judge

McCunn, saying that there was no necessity for the personal attend-

ance of Mr. Beecher, and that they did not require it ; upon which

Judge McCunn, turning toward his right, I should think, said,

" Is the sheriff here," raising his hand ; and a burly young man
came up, and the judge said, " You can go, we don't want you any

more," and the proceedings went on ; there were affidavits and

papers read upon both sides, and discussion upon both sides, which

ended in the postponement of the decision until two or three days

after, when an opinion was delivered, published as delivered, and

that is the last I ever heard of that.

Q. What was this proceeding that was then before Judge

McCunn ? A. It was a proceeding founded on this order of his,

requiring Mr. Beecher to show cause why he should not be punished

for contempt of court in violating the order of the 19th of January.

Q. At the time Mr. Beecher was arrested by these two officers,

was there any one paper or warrant of any kind, as far as you know 1

A. No, sir ; that was a part of my statement to the court, that he

had been arrested without warrant, and was brought to court by

two men and kept against his will.

Q. Was it claimed or stated on behalf of any one, and, if so, by

whom, that there was any warrant of authority for his arrest ; any

written authority ? A. Well, there was nobody there to make any

claim ; all that was said upon the subject of any justification of his

being brought there was what the judge said, as I have stated ; he

said those men were officers of his court.

Q. Will you state what points you stated before Judge McCunn,

on behalf of Mr. Beecher, on this hearing, and what disposition he
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made of each one ? A. The first objection was, that this order to

show canse was returnable at part one of the trial term of the
Superior Court, when, by the rules and practice of this court such
an order should be made returnable before the judge at chambers
or special term. The judge said, " I overrule the objection ." The
second objection was, that the order which Mr. Beecher is accused
of violating is void. It is an order dated the 19th of January
18Y0; it is not capped as having been made anywhere in court,

or as having been made by any judge of the court; it is signed
" James M. Sweeny, clerk; a copy." It recites that "it appears

satisfactorily to me," James M. Sweeny, clerk, "by affidavits,

that John S. Beecher and Paul J. Armour, claiming to be assignees,"

and so on, " are about to attempt to eject Daniel H. Hanrahan, re-

ceiver, from the possession of the property," etc. " Now, therefore,

I," that is, James M. Sweeny, clerk, " order that Paul J. Armour
and John S. Beecher, and each of them, desist and refrain "

To which the judge said, " that ' I ' means the court." I said, " it

does not purport to be made by the court." To which the judge
said, " I overrule the objection." The next objection was that Mr.
Armour and Mr. Beecher are not parties to this action ; that no
undertaking was given upon that injunction, and that, so far as

appears, no process in the action of any kind has ever been served

upon them, and no action commenced against them. The judge

overruled the objection. The next objection was that this was a

proceeding against an officer of the United States District Court, as

assignee ; as such he is entitled to the benefit of the bankrupt law,

which is the paramount law of the land, and which provides that

actions and proceedings shall not be commenced against an assignee

in bankruptcy until after twenty days' notice. The judge overruled

the objection. The next objection was that the acts complained of

in the moving affidavits did not amount to a contempt of this court,

nor to a violation of any order of this court. That was expanded

considerably. And then arose a discussion, and papers were read

upon both sides. I don't know that there were any other printed

objections besides these ; there is none that I find.

Q. Was there any undertaking on file so far as you know ? A.

Not so far as I know ; I did not personally examine ; I wish to say,

Mr. Stickney, you asked me what my connection with the litigation

was, and it occurs to me that I have omitted one statement. After

obtaining from the Superior Court, on the 14th of June, 1870, a

judgment in the case of ClarJc v. Bininger, that the assignee in

bankruptcy was entitled to the property, subject to certain liens, I
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was employed by the assignee to prosecute a reference of that judg-

ment before Mr. Darlington, for the purpose of determining the

extent of those liens and the quantity of the property that was

deliverable to Mr. Beecher as assignee. That was the judgment of

the Superior Court of the 14th June, 1870.

Mr. Sticknet:

Q. Is the paper that is now shown you the judgment that is

referred to ? A. Yes, sir,

Mr. Stickney—We will ask that the judgment itself, not the

entire judgment roll, but past the judgment of June 14, be put in

evidence.

The paper was marked Exhibit ISTo. 24, and read as follows

:

Exhibit No. 24.

NEW YOEK SUPERIOR COURT.

Abraham B. Clark
agst.

Abraham Biningbr.

At Special Term, held the 14th day of June, 1870.

Present—Hon. C. L. Monell.

John S. Beecher, as assignee in bankruptcy of Abraham B. Clark,

having been admitted to prosecute this action and defend the same,

now, on motion of F. N. Bangs, of counsel for said Beecher, assignee,

it is ordered that this action, except for the purpose of carrying this

order into effect, be and the same is hereby discontinued, and that

the said John S. Beecher, as assignee in bankruptcy, as aforesaid, is

entitled to the delivery and possession of all the partnership property,

estate and effects of the partnership of A. Bininger & Co., existing

on the 19th day of November, 1869, being the day of the com-

mencement of this action, and the proceeds thereof, in whatsoever

shape the same exist, subject only to the lien thereon, if any, of the

receivers heretofore appointed in this cause, for their lawful com-

missions, compensation and expenses, and of the attorneys and

counsel for the respective parties, if any, and that the said assignee

is entitled to the benefit of all orders for an accumulating hereto-

fore made in this cause against the said receivers, or either of them,

and to the benefit of all bonds and securities heretofore in this

cause, by the said receivers, or either of them.



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN. 385

And it is further ordered that the said receivers, and each of

them, do forthwith, upon the service upon them, respectively, of a

copy of this judgment, pay, transfer and deliver over to said as-

signee, possession of all and singular the property and effects of the

late partnership of A. Bininger & Co., remaining in the hands of

said receivers, or either of them, and the proceeds of all such

properties which have been disposed of by the said receivers, or

either of them, in whatsoever shape the said proceeds may now
exist, reserving only such portions of such property and proceeds as

shall be sufficient to satisfy the costs and expenses of the references

had and to be had in this cause, and the claims of the receivers for

their lawful commissions, compensation and expenses ; and the

respective claims of the attorneys and counsel for the respective

parties in this cause, namely, M. Compton, G. N. Titus and E. W.
Cohn, Esqrs., such claims to be specified as hereinafter directed, and

that it be, and it is hereby referred to Thomas Darlington, Esq.,

of the city of New York, counselor at law, to ascertain and report

what property came into the possession of the said receivers, or

either of them, at the time of the commencement of this action, or

at any time thereafter ; and the value of such property, and what

disposition has been made of such property, or any portion thereof

by the said receivers, or either of them, and how much of said

property remained in the hands of said receivers, or either of them, at

the time of the entry of this judgment, and the value thereof, and how
much of said property has been disposed of by the said receivers, or

either of them, and the value of the property so disposed of, and the

manner and means by which such disposition was effected, and the

proceeds thereof, and what were the proceeds of such properties so

disposed of, and in what shape such proceeds existed at the time of

the entry of this judgment, and the amount of the lawful commis-

sion, compensation, any expenses, if any, of the said receivers, and

each of them, and the amount of money, if any, for which they, or

either of them, is or are liable to the said assignee in this cause under

this judgment, and whether or not the said receivers had, or either

of them has, been guilty of any neglect, violation or omission of duty

as such receivers, and the amount, if any, of the damage sustained

by the said assignee, in consequence of such omission, neglect or

violation of duty; and also, what would be a proper allowance to

G. W. Titus, Esq., as counsel for the proceedings heretofore had in

this cause, for the purpose of procuring the removal of the said

receivers, or either of them, from office ; and for the pui-pose of com-

pelling the said receivers, and each or either of them, to give or to

49
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renew their security, or the security of either of them, in this cause,

or for any other proceedings in this action specially instituted by

said Titus.

And it is further ordered and adjudged that the said receivers,

Daniel H. Hanrahan and Thomas J. Earr, do attend from time to

time before the said referee, as they may be required by his order

or summons for that purpose, then and there to furnish and deliver

to the plaintiff, in writing and under oath, under the direction of the

said referee, a statement, in dollars and cents, of the amounts claimed

by them respectively for their fees, compensation and expenses as

such receivers, and an inventory and statement of all the property of

the said partnership of A. Bininger & Co. which has come into their

possession or under their control, or into the possession or under the

control of either of them, since the said nineteenth (19th) day of

ITovember, eighteen hundred and sixty-nine (1869), and also an

account, in writing and under oath, of th-e disposition made by them

of said property or any part thereof, and of all sums of money

received by them, or either of them, from any sale or disposition of

the same made by them, or either of them, of said property, and

of the payments made by them out of the proceeds of such property,

and that they do bring with them and produce and deliver to said

referee, to be delivered by said referee to the said assignee, all the

books of account of said firm of A. Bininger & Co. which have at

any time come into their possession or under their control, or in the

possession or under the control of either of them, and all books of

account relating to said property kept by them, or either of them, and

all certificates of deposit, bank books, vouchers and evidences of

debt in their possession or under their control, or in the possession or

under the control of either of them, as such receivers or such receiver

as aforesaid ; and that such receivers, and each of them, do, under the

direction of said refei'ee, pay, transfer and deliver over to the said

assignee all sucli sums of money, property and estate, and all books,

vouchers and accounts relating thereto, which were the property of

said firm of A. Bininger & Co., or are the proceeds of such property,

so far as the same shall not be necessary to satisfy any alleged claim

of said receivers for their compensation, commissions and expenses

as aforesaid, as said receivers, and the aforesaid claims of the said

attorneys and counsel in this cause, and the costs and expenses of said

references, so far as such property shall not have been already deliv-

ered by the said receivers to said assignee, pursuant to the command
of this judgment ; and that the said referee do ascertain what would

be a proper and reasonable compensation to the respective attorneys
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and counsel in this cause, for their services therein, to the end that

whenever the referee's report shall come in, the court may make
such order for the payment thereof as may be proper and equitable

;

and that unless each of the receivers do, upon being required by said

referee, and within the time specified by him, file with said referee

a statement, in writing and under oath, in dollars and cents, of the

amount to which he believes himself entitled for his fees, compensa-

tion and expenses, then the delivery and payment hereinabove ad-

judged to be made by said receiver shall be without any reservation

in favor of the receiver so omitting or neglecting to file such state-

ment and claim.

And it is further ordered that the said referee do report upon the

matters so referred to him with all convenient speed.

And it is further ordered and adjudged that the said assignee have

leave, and leave is hereby given to him, to apply to the court for

such further directions as may be advised upon the footing of this

judgment, and leave is hereby given to him to continue the prose-

cution of a motion heretofore made in this cause to punish the said

receivers, or one of them, for an alleged violation of the orders of

this court, and alleged contempt or contempts of this court.

(Enter this.)

C. L. MONELL, Judge.

Cross-examination ly Mr. Moak :

Q. Was there any opposition to this judgment by any body, Mr.

Bangs ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Who opposed ? A. "Well, sir, I must caution you, that I may
seem to say something not responsive to your question ; it requires a

long answer, which may seem to you not responsive ; it would be a

long story.

Q. Then you need not answer it at all; there were several

motions and proceedings had by you on the part of Mr. Beecher,

were there not, in the Federal courts ? A. Quite a number, sir.

Q. One of them was to compel the receiver in the Superior

Court to deliver over the property to Mr. Beecher, the assignee in

bankruptcy? A. No, sir.

Q. In substance that ? A. ISTo, sir.

Q. Is there not a case of that character reported in the Bank-

ruptcy Kegister ? A. Not that I am aware of, sir ; I made no such

motion.

Q. "Was there such a motion made ? A. Not that I am aware of, sir.

Q. "What was the first motion you made ? A. The first motion
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I made was in the United States Circuit Court, founded upon a

bill in equity, brought by Mr. Beecher against the two bankrupts,

and against the two receivers, for the appointment of a receiver in

the case, and for an injunction against Hanrahan and Barr execut-

ing trust professed to be imposed upon them by the State court.

Q. That motion was denied, on the ground that the Circuit Court

had not jurisdiction, was it not ? A. It was denied, but not on that

ground ; the ground was, that I had not made a case for a pre-

liminary injunction and receiver.

Q. "What was the next proceeding that you took in the Federal

court ? A. The next proceeding in the Federal court was a motion

in the district court, founded on a petition for an order that the

marshal deliver the property to Mr. Beecher ; that the marshal take

the property from the receivers, and deliver it to Mr. Beecher.

Q. That motion was denied, was it not ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. On the ground that the court had no jurisdiction to order

that ? A. No, sir.

Q. On what ground was it denied ? A. On the ground that I

had not made a case for the remedy.

Q. On the ground that the law did not allow it ? A. On the

ground that the facts stated did not justify the remedy asked for.

Q. Will you state again the first proceeding which you took ? A.

I filed a bill in the Circuit Court of the United States, in equity,

against the two bankrupts and against the two receivers ; on that

bill, I am not certain whether accompanied by affidavits or not, I

made a preliminary motion for an injunction against these two

receivers from executing their trust, and for the appointment by the

United States court of a receiver, pendente lite, of the property ; that

motion was denied ; I proceeded in the District Court by summary

petition for an order that the marshal take the property and deliver

it to the assignee ; that motion was denied.

Q. "What was the next proceeding that you took in any of the

Federal courts ? A. I don't think there was any proceedings in the

Federal courts after that.

Q. "What proceeding did you take in the Federal court against

anybody connected with this case, after that time ? A. "Well, I have

taken proceedings against Mr. Bininger, to punish him for contempt

of court in withholding his property, and obtained an order there-

upon ; I have proceeded against Mr. Clark to recover property of his,

and have recovered, and there has been distributed among creditors

some forty odd thousand dollars, I think ; there is considerably more

remaining undistributed ; I have commenced a suit against him and
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his wife to recover property in Park avenue, in the city of New
York, that is valued by witnesses at $145,000 ; I have commenced

proceedings against him in the Federal courts to recover some lands

and land contracts in "Wisconsin that are variously estimated at from

$20,000 to $40,000, and in those suits have obtained a receiver of

this land and contracts ; I have a non-bailable attachment out now
against Mr. Clark, founded on a judgment against hitn in the

district court convicting him of contempt ; I am not aware of any

other proceeding.

Q. Was an appeal taken from any proceeding instituted by him

from the district court to the circuit court ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was that? A. An appeal from an adjudication in

bankruptcy.

Q. Was there any other appeal ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was that? A. I cannot tell you; that is, I cannot

state what order that appeal applied to ; but those appeals have not

been pursued since, so that my memory has not been refreshed

about it.

Q. Who consulted you with reference to instituting these bank-

rupt proceedings ? A. Edward W. Cohn.

Q. The same gentleman who was counsel for Mr. Bininger in

the Superior Court ? A. The same gentleman, sir.

Q. Who next consulted you upon the subject? A. John S.

Beecher.

Q. The same gentleman who was afterward appointed assignee ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who was present when he consulted you besides yourself ? A.

I can't say that any body was ; I don't mean to say that nobody was,

but I have no recollection of any body being present.

Q. How long after you were first consulted was it that you com-

menced the first proceeding ; took the first step in the bankruptcy

proceeding ? A. I may be wrong a trifle about dates, but my
impression is the first laankruptcy proceeding was commenced the

4th of December, and I was consulted somewhere between the 26th

and 30th of November.

Q. You think the first paper in the bankruptcy proceeding was

filed on the 4th of December ? A. Either prepared or filed.

Q. How long after that was it that the papers were sei-ved on

Clark & Bininger, in the bankruptcy proceeding, or about how

soon ? A. I can only answer upon hearsay ; by the return of the

marshal, they were served in time to require their appearance on the

11th of December.
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Q. That doesn't quite answer the question ? A. You are aware

the riile required the service of the papers five days before the

return
; the fourth was seven days before ; whether they were seven

days or five days before I don't know.

Q. They were served as early as the 6th ? A. I should say so.

Q. How soon after that was it that the election was held for

assignee ? A. From the 11th of December to the 18th of January

would be five weeks.

Q. It was the 18th of January that the assignee was elected? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. How soon after the assignee was elected was it that the elec-

tion was sanctioned by the Court of Appeals ? A. Within a couple

of days.

Q. It must have been about the 20th that the election was

approved by the court ? A. About that.

Q. When was the first proceeding before Judge MeCunn against

Beecher for contempt ? A. On the 25th of January.

Q. Between the time when the assignee was elected and approved

and the 25th of January, had there a controversy arisen as to

whether the assignee in bankruptcy or the receiver in the Superior

Court was entitled to the possession of the property ? A. I should

say not ; not in the sense in which you ask the question ; if you

refer to the controversy before any court, the answer is " no."

Q. I refer to a controversy by going to the store, for instance, and

both of them claiming possession ? A. I shouldn't call that a con-

troversy.

Q. Between the 20th of January and the 25th of January had

Beecher, as you understood it, gone to the store and claimed posses-

sion of the property as assignee in bankruptcy, to*the exclusion of

the receiver in the Superior Court ? A. As I understand it, he

hadn't.

Q. Or any one in his behalf? A. Or any one in his behalf ; I

didn't understand that he had ; I understood that he hadn't ; that is,

so far as your question refers to a claim heard by him ; I don't mean
to deny ; on the contrary, I mean to say that he, under my advice,

had gone to the store, but made no claim, for he had no opportunity

to make any, the door being shut in his face.

Q. He had gone for the purpose of taking possession ? A. He
hadn't, that I know of; we went there to inform the persons there

that Beecher had become assignee of Clark & Bininger, and there-

fore had acquired title to the property, and to ask what property

there was, and to get possession of it.
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Q. Tou had gone for the purpose of getting the possession of the

property ? A. Ultimately.

Q. You or Beecher claimed, or you for him claimed, that the

assignee in bankruptcy was entitled to the possession, to the exclu-

sion of the receiver ? A. I don't think we did ; I have no recollec-

tion of having made that claim between the dates you named.

Q. There was a time when there was a conflict between the men
employed by the receiver and the men employed by Beecher ? A.

No, sir ; not that I ever heard of ; never heard of any men being

employed by Beecher to take possession of that property.

Q. Judge McCunn's order required Beecher to show cause, on the

25th of January, why he shouldn't be restrained from interfering

with the receiver in the Superior Court ? A. No, sir.

Q. "What was that order, as you understand it ? A. Required

him to show cause why he shouldn't be punished for contempt of

court, for violating the order of the 19th of January.

Q. I see in 7 Blatchford's Circuit Court Reports, at page 159, a

proceeding taken on the 11th of January, 1870, before Judge Wood-
ruff, in which the report states that you appeared for the application,

and Roger A. Pryor opposed, for a writ of prohibition ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That you didn't state ? A. That wasn't a proceeding against

any of the parties.

Q. I asked you for the proceedings in regard to the matter ? A.

That did escape my recollection.

Q. You asked to prohibit the receiver from interfering with— ?

A. No, I asked, under the section of the judiciary act, to prohibit

that court from interfering with property that had been vested in

the receiver ; that motion was heard.

Q. That was denied ? A. Yes, sir ; but not on the ground that

—

Q. I don't ask that ; I only ask whether that is an authentic

report ? A. I suppose I did.

Q. I see an appeal from an order reported in 7 Blatchford's

Reports, at page 165, in which you are reported as making the

motion, and Roger A. Pryor opposing it, in the matter of Abraham
Bininger and Abraham B. Clark, in which it was held by the court.

Judge Woodruff writing the opinion, that the court has no power to

execute the decrees of the district court, or to assume the primary

exercise of jurisdiction conferred on the district court by the first

section of the bankrupt act ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was that motion made ; that proceeding taken ? A. The pro-

ceeding you state was an appeal from an order ; there was no such

proceeding taken.
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Q. There was an order to appeal from ? A. I did not say that;

if you say an appeal from an order I don't know any thing about

it ; there was no appeal from an order.

Q. Was there a proceeding taken from the district court before

Judges Woodruff and Blatchford, as reported in this case in 7

Blatchford ? A. Which case ? There are four cases reported there.

Q. On page 165? A. I don't know the pages by memory; the

report commences on page 165 and ends on page 176, and was an

appeal from an order.

Q. I didn't ask that ; I asked if such a proceeding was taken in

that court ? A. As what ?

Q. As is there reported ? A. This is a petition of Beecher founded

on it ; such a proceeding was taken.

Q. I now show you a report in 7 Blatchford, page 262 ; did such

proceeding as there stated in that report occur ? A. I cannot answer

that question with absolute certainty, unless I read the whole of it

;

if you allow me to assume it is a report of the proceedings, I can

say yes, that proceeding did take place, and I believe it to be a

report ; I have seen the report frequently, and it is entirely in accord-

ance with my recollection.

Q. I now show you 7 Blatchford, page 170 ; is that a correct report

of the proceedings had in that matter 1 A. I believe it is, sir
;
yes,

sir ; I know so ; I say it is, because I see it agrees perfectly with my
statement of it that I made some time ago.

Q. I show you a report in the 3d Bankruptcy Register, page 130

;

was that proceeding as there reported substantially ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. I show you a report in the 3d Bankruptcy Register, page 121

;

is that a correct, or substantially a correct report of the proceeding,

as there detailed ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. I show you a report in the 3d Bankruptcy Register, page 123

;

is that a correct, or substantially a correct report of the proceedings

had ? A. Yes, sir ; it was under that decision that we got possession

of the suit in the Superior Court.

Q. Did you understand me as asking what the decision was ? A.

I don't know that my attention was directed to that point, by any

question of yours.

Q. I ask you again if you are counsel in the case ? A. No, sir

;

not in any sense.

Q. How many proceedings in bankruptcy did you commence ?

A. Do you mean to get people adjudged bankrupts?

Q. Yes, sir. A. Two.

Q. You said you were employed to get into the case, in the Supe-



TEIAL OF JOHN" H. McCUNK 393

rior Court ? A. Yes, sir ; to get an assignee appointed who would
get into that.

Q. Did you make such a motion ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Before whom ? A. Judge Monell.

Q. Was that granted ? A. If you will let me use the judgment-
roll I can tell you more accurately ; I have not looted at the judg-

ment-roll, and I have the order made on that motion, the 20th of

April, 1870, by Judge Monell, and, as I understand it, he did grant

that motion.

Q. Was there an opinion by Judge Monell delivered on that ques-

tion ? A. Yes, sir ; I would like to read it.

Q. No, sir. A. I would like to read the order ; I said, as I under-

stand it, he granted my motion.

Q. Have you any idea that the Senate and counsel can read ? A.
'No, sir.

Q. Do you know whether the opinion of Judge Monell on that

motion is reported or not ? A. I do.

Q. Where is it reported ? A. I cannot say that it was reported

elsewhere than the papers.

Q. Was it not reported in Abbott's Practice ; my impression is

that on these contempt proceedings you stated the fact that Judge
McCunn's opinion said the fine should be six cents ? A. I think I

so stated
;
yes, sir ; allow me to say I am not sure that his opinion

did so say, but that is my impression.

Q. You understood the main part of the proceedings to determine

which was entitled to the possession of the property, the receiver or

assignee in bankruptcy ? A. I don't so understand it at all.

Q. That opinion does say that the title is in the receiver, in sub-

stance ? A. I think so
;
yes, sir.

Q. When you had adjudicated as to which of the parties was en-

titled to the possession of the property, did you consider the ground

of the fine that was imposed very material ; did you understand the

main object of the adjudication to be as to who was entitled to the

possession? A. I have answered that; I don't understand the

object of the proceeding to be as you state, to have the adjudication

upon the title; on the contrary, I stated that the question did not

arise in the proceedings, and refused to discuss it.

Q. The question is, what was claimed on the other side to be the

object of it, and what was considered by the court to be the object

of it ? A. Did you ask me what was claimed on the other side ?

Q. Yes, sir ? A. Mr. Pryor did claim on the argument of that

motion that the question was presented as to which had the better

50
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title, and my recollection is, and I am quite coniident of it, that he

had not argued that question; that he stated it, and insisted the court

should decide it.

Q. Do you mean that Mr. Pryor claimed there for a moment that

any body could be interfered with, punished for contempt, for inter-

fering with the rights of the receiver, an officer of the court, unless

that receiver had attended to the property ? A. ISTo, certainly not;

I don't think my answer is quite correct ; I think that Mr. Pryor had

claimed that the possession of the receiver was enough to justify a

proceeding for contempt against any one, but not enough to inter-

fere with the possession.

Q. Suppose he had a better right ? A. My impression is, and my
belief is, and it strengthens as I recall it, that Mr. Pryor did insist

that the receiver's possession was a sufficient foundation for proceed-

ings for contempt; he did insist that the question of title arose, and

wanted the court to decide it, but I don't think he argued it.

Q. The court on that motion did decide, or by the opinion did

decide, as I understand you, that the receiver had the right to pos-

session, as against the assignee ? A. I so understood the opinion.

Q. After that he went on to adjudicate, or say that the fine should

be but six cents ? A. I think that was in the opinion.

Q. Didn't the opinion state that it was not claimed that there was

any intentional contempt of court, but that it was a mere conflict of

title, and when that was decided the question ofpunishment was not

very material, or in substance that ? A. I cannot say as to that ; my
recollection perfectly agrees with your statement ; I think the opinion

stated that the parties should act under the advice of counsel with-

out disrespect, and that the punishment would be nominal ; I think

that is the form of it.

Q. You say that Judge McCunn said to Beecher that he might go

and return to-morrow morning, in substance ? A. He said, without

addressing himself toBeecher, that Beecher must return in the morn-

ing ; addressing himself as much to me as to Beecher, I think.

Q. He did say that Beecher might go ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And must return in the morning ? A. Not in that exact con-

nection.

Q. He said that in the conversation ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "When he said that Beecher might go, did you understand that

it was any thing except a promise that he might leave the court ?

A. Certainly not.

Q. Then why did Beecher ask when he might go ? A. I cannot

tell you why.
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Q. Was there little something of contempt in that ; in his tone

and manner ? A. No, sir, not a bit.

Q. Did vou hear any thing that could lead any body to suppose
any thing but that he had permission to go where he should choose ?

A. I should think a doubt might arise in the mind of a laymau like

Mr. Beecher, what he was at liberty to do and where he was at lib-

erty to go ; I should think so.

Q. "Will you use Judge McCunn's language, as near as you can,

when he said he might go ? A. Judge McCunn stopped the counsel

who was examining a witness in the trial, I think, and requested him
to suspend or sit down, and Judge McOunn turned toward us where
we were sitting, and said that he could not go on with that, that

afternoon, and "Mr. Beecher may go now;" I think that Beecher's

question followed, but I am not certain. I don't think it was in that

connection that McCunn said he must return the next morning ; I

think the address of Beecher took place first ; Beecher said, " where
shall I go ;

" and after some time Beecher said, " I will go just

where the court directs," but whether it was before or after the

answer of the court, I don't recollect ; and Judge McCunn said,

" you can go to Ludlow street jail, or to the bosom of your family,

just as you choose." It may be then that he said, "I will go

where the court directs
;
" then J udge McCunn said, " Mr. Beecher

must return to-morrow morning ; " and I said, in continuation of

what I had already stated to the court, " Mr. Beecher will return

to-morrow morning, if there is a lawful order of the court

requiring it."

Q. Tour tone was very affable and respectful to the court ?

A. Entirely so.

Q. You intended it to be so ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You were in a very amiable mood ? A. Quite.

Re-directrexamination 5y Mr. Stickstet :

Q. You have spoken of the decision of Judge McCunn, as to the

right of the assignee in bankruptcy, to take possession of the part-

nership property in a case similar to this; in what suit was that?

A. Corey v. Long.

Q. What was that case ? A. Corey & Long had been partners

;

they dissolved ; they became insolvent ; Corey began a suit in the

Superior Court to have the partnership property, or what had been

partnership property, applied to the payment of the firm debts ; in

that suit James M. Gano was appointed receiver of the partnership

property by Judge McCunn; I commenced proceedings in bank-
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ruptcj agaiQst Corey & Long to get an adjudication of bankruptcy,

and get an assignee appointed, and went into the Superior Court,

and moved before McCunn for an order declaring the action.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President: We object to the counsel stating all

these proceedings that were done, in his way, because the counsel

with all due respect, has a great deal more of a vivid imagination

than I have got, and I had rather take them from the papers, in my
dull way ; I raise the objection, that the proceedings taken should

be shown by the papers, because then we could, at our leisure, get

out what they did say ; I have no doubt he intends to state them

correctly, but I prefer taking them the other way.

Mr. Sticknet— It would save going through a large mass of

papers.

Q. What was the date of that order ? A. In the month of May,

it was the day of May, 1870; the day of the month don't

appear in the order.

Q. What was the effect of the action of Judge McCunn ; was

it not to hinder the assignee in bankruptcy from reaching the

individual property of Clark ?

Mr. MoAK—We object to it, on the ground that it asks for a

conclusion of the witness, and not a fact, and that the question of

whether it was or not, has to be determined by the Senate, from

the facts in the case.

The Peesident put the question as to whether the Senate would

sustain the objection, and it was decided in the afSrmative.

Q. There has been mentioned a conflict of jurisdiction between

the State court and Federal courts ; was there any conflict, so far as

you know, except what was caused by the order of Judge McCunn,
in this suit and in the other suits ?

Mr. MoAK— I object to that on the same ground. The question

of whether they caused it has to be determined, we think, by the

facts in the case ; the question, what was done, is proper, of course

;

we object to it on the ground that, whether the fact was caused by

Judge McCunn's order or not, it is a question of fact which is to be

decided by the Senate from what occurred ; that the witness' deter-

mination on that question is not admissible.

The Peesident put the question as to whether the Senate would

sustain the objection, and it was decided in the negative.

A. There was plenty of conflict that was caused by other orders

than Judge McCunn's ; if the United States court had made no

orders, there would have been no conflict.
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By Mr. Benedict:

Q. The conflict came from both sides ; from both courts ? A. I

don't understand that there was a conflict between the courts ; there

was a conflict between parties.

Q. The question was about the conflict of jurisdictions ; a conflict

between the parties ? A. We claimed we had a better title to the

property than the receiver had, and that the United States court

had a right to enforce our better title ; the receivers claimed they

had a better title than we had, and that the State court had a right

to protect their title ; that was the conflict.

Q. "Was there any order or proceeding in the nature of a conflict

before this order of the 19th of January enjoining Beecher that was

put in evidence ? A. In a certain sense there was, and in a certain

sense there was not ; after Beecher's appointment there was no con-

flict whatever until the order of the 19th of January was served

upon us ; on the contrary, I was engaged at that time in drawing up

a petition on his behalf to the Superior Court, setting forth his

appointment, and asked that court for an order to admit him,

instead of Clark, as plaintiff in that suit, on the ground that we
had acquired an interest in that ; before the appointment and the

adjudication in bankruptcy, there was some diflSculty growing out of

the fact that in the bankruptcy proceedings the United States court

issued a provisional warrant to the marshal to take possession of the

property of Clark & Bininger; with that warrant the marshal

went to the store of Clark & Bininger, and claimed that the war-

rant entitled them to the possession of the property, and the mar-

shal's and the receiver's men, as I understood, remained in posses-

sion, and so very friendly, that the property and the party suffered

by it. If the Senate will allow me, I would like to explain one

answer that was drawn from me upon the cross-examination, because

I think it leaves myself, and the fact I meant to state, in a wrong

position. I was asked about what I understood to be the decision

of the United States courts upon the subject of jurisdiction ; I an-

swered, that in my opinion it hadn't decided against this jurisdiction.

I can make a very brief explanation ; I know that the circuit court

denied this jurisdiction to entertain certain proceedings which I

asked there, but so far as the circuit court is concerned, it has not,

to my knowledge, denied that it had jurisdiction to settle the ques-

tion of title between the receiver and the assignee. So far as I

know, the circuit court has never passed upon the question of title

between the receiver and the assignee. In respect to the district
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court, I mean to be understood as saying that I don't know that it

has ever decided this case, and in other cases it has decided the

contrary, that it had no jurisdiction to decide the question of

title between the assignee and receiver, and it did decide it had

no jurisdiction of certain proceedings, which I instituted for the

purpose of trying question of title, on the ground the proceedings

were wrong in form, and asked a particular remedy which it hadn't

power to grant ; I may be mistaken, but that is the way I mean to

be understood.

Mr. Moak:

Q. You mean to be understood that the reason why you didn't

succeed was that you didn't know how to get at it, and because the

court had not jurisdiction ? A. Just exactly so, and nobody else did

at that time.

Q. In the case of Oorey v. Long did you make a motion to dis-

solve the injunction ? A. I didn't.

Q. Did Mr. Hill ? A. I don't know.

Q. What did you have to do with that case, and when did you

come into it ? A. If you will allow me to see the papers, I will

speak by them.

Q. We haven't any ; my question was, when you came into the

case ? A. In May, 18T0.

Q. What had been done in the case? A. According to my
opinion, an injunction'had been granted and a receiver appointed.

Q. Was a motion, subsequently, made in the case to dissolve the

injunction ? A. I only know from hearsay.

J
Q. Have you seen a report of it ? A. I have.

Q. Did you understand the opinion ; I show you the opinion on

page 86 in the printed report of the Assembly proceedings;

did you understand the opinion of which that is a copy to have

been delivered by Judge Barker at special term ? A. I never saw

it until I saw it in this book ; then I understood such an opinion

had been delivered.

Q. And that that order was appealed from, and the decision of

the Superior Court upon that reported in 2d Sweeny, page 491?

A. I wasn't aware of that fact before this moment.

Q. I hope, then, I can enlighten j^ou ; do you understand that

to be a report of the case on appeal ? A. You so say ; I never saw

it before; I understood nothing upon the subject, until you showed

it to me ; I never saw it before.
•'
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Mr. Madden— Mr. President : It is necessary to have an executive

session, and I move that when we adjourn it be to 3:45 p. m.

The question was put on said motion, and it was declared carried.

John S. Beeohee, being duly sworn, on behalf of the prosecution

testified as follows

:

Examined lyy Mr. Paesons :

Q. Have you been present during the examination of Mr. Bangs ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you the gentleman, John S. Beecher, of whom he spoke

as having been appointed assignee in bankruptcy of the firm of A.

Bininger & Co. ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you hear the testimony of Mr. Bangs about your having

been brought, on one case, into the Superior Court, before Judge
McCunn, with an officer of the court on each side of you? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. State the circumstances which resulted in your being brought

there, on that occasion ? A. A gentleman— a man, I don't know
whether he is a gentleman— called at my office about noon, I should

think, of that same day, and said he wanted me to go up to the

Superior Court, before Judge McCunn.

Q. "Was he one of the two persons that subsequently accompanied

you when you went to the court ? A. Yes, sir, and I asked him
for his authority, and he showed me a badge and said he was a

deputy sheriff, I think ; I asked him if he had any other authority

and he said no ; I told him I was busy then and couldn't go with

him ; if he wanted to take me away from my business he must show

his authority ; he tried to argue it, and I told him there was no use

of arguing it, and I sat down to my desk to attend to my business

and left him standing there, and he went out.

Q. Was any thing said in that conversation about a warrant ? A.

I asked him if he had any warrant, any paper to take me, and he

said no, that he was a deputy sheriff', and I declined to go ; I was in

Wall street about an hour from that time I think ; it might have

been less, I don't remember the time, and it was between William

and Pearl streets ; near by Brown Bros., in the street ; I was going

to Brown Bros., as I had some business there, and it was raining hard,

I remember, and just as I was going in the door two men walked

up behind me and one took hold of one arm and the other of the

other and said, " we want you," and I turned around to see who

they were, and recognized one of the men that was in my office ; I
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mean the one man ; I asked him what they wanted, and they said

they wanted me to go to the court ; and I said, " if you will show me
your authority or warrant of any kind I shall go, but not without

you do;" and they said, "we are deputy sheriffs, and that is all

there is about it
; " and I said, " show me your authority," and I

declined to go ; and they took me by not much force, because I

didn't care to be seen in Wall street ; and I said, " you are two to

one, and I will go along with you, provided you will let go of my
arm," and they said, "you go in advance, and go up to the court

room."

Q. "Was the name of any judge mentioned in this conversation ?

A. Judge McCunn's name occurred ; they said he wanted my pres-

ence there ; that he had sent for me ; I think those are the words
; I

went with them up to the court ; when I went in, I found my coun-

sel (Mr. Bangs) sitting there.

Q. Had you any opportunity to communicate with Mr. Bangs?

A. No, sir ; he asked me what I was doing there, and I said, " these

two men have brought me here ; " I then remained there ; he said

" sit down," and I remained there, I should think, two hours, with

the exception of when I wanted to leave the court room for a

moment, and one of these officers went with me, and I wasn't gone

but a few moments ; I was gone perhaps five minutes, and I re-

mained there until Mr. Bangs had an opportunity to ask me why
I was brought there.

Q. I desire you to state what occurred while you were there ; in

the first place, were any arrangements made to procure a writ of

habeas corpus, and what took place in regard to that matter ? A. I

don't remember positively about that ; I don't remember the par-

ticulars about getting a habeas corpus.

Q. Take up the narrative where you do remember it ? A. Mr.

Bangs had this conversation with the judge which he stated, as near

as I can remember ; I think, the judge asked me to stand up ; I don't

remember, however ; I stood up very near him, as near as you are

from me, and he said then I could go ; the officers were there and I

didn't know exactly his meaning ; I said " where shall I go, if you

please."

Q. Where did these two men remain at the time of the colloquy %

A. As near as the table perhaps ; and he said " you can go to Ludlow
street jail, or to the bosom of your family, just as you like," and I

replied I shall do whichever you direct, and he said " weU I should

advise you to go home," and I went home.
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Cross-examined ty Mr. Moak :

Q. "What day was it you went up there with these two men ? A.
I don't recollect the day of the month ; I couldn't have told the day
of the month, only by this testimony, by these papers here which I

believe was the 25th of January.

Q. Previous to that time, there had been papers served on you to

show cause before the court held by Judge^ MeCunn, on that day?

A. One signed by Sweeny, I think.

Q. Requesting you to show cause before McCunn or the court, on
that day ? A. I don't think there were any proper papers served

on me.

Q. Without determining whether it was proper or not, will you
answer whether there had been a paper or not served on you ? A.

I think there had.

Q. Did that paper require you to show cause the same day you
went there with these men, or on the day before ? A. I couldn't say.

Q. There was a paper served upon you, whether good or not,

requiring you to show cause before the court of Judge McCunn 1

A. I think there was some paper.

Q. That paper required you to show cause on the 25th of January ?

A. I don't remember the date.

Q. Wasn't it the day before you went up with these men that you

were required to show cause? A. That I don't remember; I

shouldn't have remembered this date, except from listening to the

evidence here.

By Mr. Peeet :

Q. Do you know the names of these two men that went up with

you that day ? A. I knew them at the time, because I asked them

their names, and they gave me their names, because I wanted to be

sure, and I found they were sheriffs or officers of the court.

By Mr. Peeet :

Q. Can you state their names ? A. I could not ; I put their names

down at the time, but I don't remember them now.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. Which do you mean, sheriffs or officers of Judge McCunn's

court ? A. They told me they were sheriffs ; each man showed me
a badge, I remember, and that is all I know about it.

Abeaham BmiNGEE being duly sworn, on behalf of the proseca-

tion, testified as follows :

51
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Q. You were defendant in the action of Glmrk v. Bininger in

the Supreme Court? A. Yes, sir.

Q. At the time receiver, Mr. Hanrahan, was appointed, what was

the fair marliet value of your stock then in the store ? A. Between

$100,000 and $120,000.

Q. Which consisted of what ? A. Of old wines, liquors, etc.

Q. What kind of wines? A. Of old wines; wines of every

country in the world;' brandy, whisky, gin, rum; many of them

very old.

Q. What other property was taken possession of by the receiver,

besides the actual stuff in the store ? A. Took possession of the

book debts, bonds and mortgages.

Q. How much did they amount to ? A. Between $40,000 and

$50,000.

Q. At wliat time did you first see Mr. Hanrahan, the receiver ?

A. On the morning of the 19th of November.

Q. Where ? A. At my store, between 10 and 11 o'clock, I

think.

Q. Were the papers then served upon you in that suit ? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. By whom? A. Hanrahan.

Q. Do you remember examining the copy of the order appointing

the receiver, which was served upon you ? A. I think I read it

through.

Mr. Sticknet— Mr. President : I may state here that the copy of

the order appointing the receiver, which was served upon Mr. Bin-

inger himself, has already been put in evidence, bat it has gone to the

printers, as I am informed, so that I cannot show it to the witness.

Q. What was the amount of security required of the receiver, as

appeared by the copy served upon you ? A. $1,000.

Q. Is your recollection very clear on that point ? A. Very clear.

Q. What took place between you and Hanrahan ? A. Nothing

;

I of course was very much astonished ; I had no intimation of any

legal proceedings having been commenced, and I scarcely knew
what to do ; I communicated with my friend

—

Q. I don't ask that ; what conversation took place between you

and Hanrahan ? A. At that moment very little ; I didn't know at

that time what the papers were ; he told me that he was a receiver.

Mr. MoAK— What the gentleman didn't know we object to, and

in the second place, we object to the conversation that occurred.

By the Witness— There was none.

Q. When did you next see Hanrahan? A. The next morning.
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Q. At your store ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What then took place between you?

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President: We object to that, on the ground

that conversations between the receiver and this witness, in the ab-

sence of Judge McCunn, are not admissible as against him.

Mr. Sticknet— Mr. President : The evidence thus far shows that;

at the beginning of this aifair, Hanrahan says to Compton, " go to

Judge McCunn ; apply to him and he will appoint me receiver ;
"

under an agreement that arrangement is made ; under an agreement

between Hanrahan and Compton that they shall divide their fees,

we find Clark and Compton going to McCunn's house, at night, and

McCunn going continually to Clark's house ; and we find McCunn
meeting Morgan and Compton at Planrahan's office, as the testimony

shows, in pursuance of an arrangement made in Hanrahan's note to

Compton, and we think that note clearly establishes, all through

this aifair, that McCunn, and Clark, and Compton, and Hanrahan,

were combined to deprive the parties entitled to this property out of

the property.

Mr. MoAK — Mr. President : It is undoubtedly true that any body

can imagine, that gentlemen can imagine almost any thing ; but I

have failed to see, and I think any one who considers it for a

moment, without prejudice or passion, will see that the simple fact

that a man who at the time was concededly a respectable attorney,

says to another gentleman of the profession, who is about commenc-

ing a suit, " If you apply to Judge McCunn, he will appoint me
receiver." Is that the slightest evidence of a conspiracy ? I have

no doubt there are in this city a dozen who could say, confidentially,

to an attorney who is about commencing a suit, and desiring to have

a receiver appointed :
" If you will go to Judge Leonard, and if you

suggest my name, I have no doubt he will appoint me receiver." I

don't see how that shows any thing. I don't see any thing, thus far,

in the proceedings that Judge McCunn was acting in a conspiracy.

The only fact shown is, that he visited Clark's house, and there had

conversations with him and with his son. Assuming it all to be

true, I fail to see how that shows any conspiracy to cheat any one,

or do any thing particularly wrong. It may be the Senate will think

otherwise, but it strikes me there is no evidence here of any con-

spiracy, within the meaning of that term, as understood by lawyers,

which would let in acts and declarations of a third person in Judge

McCunn's absence.

Mr. Stickney— We are now content to leave the decision of the

question to the Senate.
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The question being put it was overruled.

Q. Will you state the couversatiou that took place between your-

self and Hanrahan 1 A. The next morning, after I had read the

papers, I knew what they were, and Mr. Hanrahan and myself had

some conversation in connection with the very extraordinary pro-

ceeding, entirely exparte, without my having an opportunity to be

heard, that he should be put in possession of the various stock, which

Mr. Clark swore was between $400,000 and $500,000, upon a bond

of $1,000, and without any knowledge that I could have an oppor-

tunity of stating my side of the case.

Q. I understood you stated this to Hanrahan ? A. I said that to

Hanrahan ; he then informed me that he had raised the bond volun-

tarily from $1,000 to $10,000, and had been accepted in that way

;

I then saw counsel, and the proceeding before Judge Fithian took

place ; after the return from court, Mr. Hanrahan had a conversa-

tion with me again, and told me it was utterly useless for me to

attempt to remove him from his receivership, and at the same time

handed me a card, upon wlaich was printed, Morgan & Hanrahan,

successors to John McGunn ; " he stated he had been in business

some time as a lawyer, and that he considered himself the successor

of a highly respectable gentleman which I did not deny ; and,

moreover, it was utterly useless for me to atempt any proceeding by

which to turn him out, as Judge McCunn would grant any order

that it was necessary to grant, in order to keep him in possession of

the estate.

Q. Was any thing said there about Judge Fithian's order staying

the sale of the property ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was said about that? A. He said that he would have

that reversed in about the time that it would take to go to the City

Hall and return.

Q. Do you know whether that was done? A. Yes, sir, it was

done ; and, not only that, but after proceedings in bankruptcy com-

menced, there was an injunction served on them from the circuit or

district court preventing his going on with the sale of the goods ; he

at first decided they would not pay any attention to it, and after-

ward they did, and he told me that would be set aside, and it was

set aside by an order.

Q. Order made by whom ? A. By Judge McCunn.
Q. At the time this receivership was appointed by Judge McCunn,

how much was owing by your firm ? A. About $200,000.

Q. What was the amount of assets of the firm, excluding indi-

vidual property ? A. About $400,000, we estimated it.
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Q. And, after the receivership, was there sufficient property to pay

the debts of your firm ?

Mr. MoAK— Wait a moment ; that is objected to ; if the Presi-

dent please, we chxim in the most enlarged view that could be taken

of this case, that the only question that the Senate can investigate on

this subject is, whether any of this property taken possession of by

the receiver was wasted. Upon the question whether their property

would pay their debts or not, I never knew any gentleman who
went into bankruptcy who did not insist he could pay his debts.

Mr. Stioknkt— We withdraw it.

Q. Will you state what you know of your own knowledge as to

the management and conduct of the receivers and the men who
were with them in the charge of j'our store ?

Mr. MoAK— If the President pleases, we object ; we object on

the ground that it is not admissible as against us ; certainly, the

conduct of parties, other than thereceivers, who were not appointed

by Judge McCunn, and who were selected by the receivers, is not

admissible.

Mr. Sticknet— The question may be answered in this view, that

having proved, as we claim, a clear wrong on the part of the judge,

we are entitled to show what was the damage resulting to the parties

from this wrong ; the wrong being, as we claim, in the appointment

of an improper person for receiver, and we claim we are entitled to

show just what those persons in charge did.

The President put the question upon the objection, and the

objection was overruled.

Q. You will now state, sir? A. I know, judge, Mr. Hanrahan

to be an exceedingly improper person.

Mr. MoAK— That we object to, most certainly.

Q. State matters within your own knowledge ? A. It must be

from observation ; I suppose he hadn't been in the store half an

hour, before from sixty to a hundred drinks had been taken by him

and his friends.

Q. State other matters ? A. It was continuous ; day by day the

property was wasted by treating himself and his friends, and as long

as I remained there.

Q. How long did you remain ? A. I remained about a fortnight,

and then I was forced out of the store.

Q. How much of the fortnight was you in the store ? A. All the

time ; every day.

Q. Where were the drinks taken from ? A. From the shelves

;

the bottles were opened and the liquor drank up ; always selected
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the oldest and best ; tliey asked the young men which was the best,

and they helped themselves to it.

Q. How long did this continue ? A. As long as I was there

;

fourteen days.

Q. As far as you know, was any account taken ? A. There was

an account attempted to be kept by some of the young men.

Q. By whose direction ? A. By my direction.

Q. Did the receiver keep any ? A. No, he did not.

Q. That is, as far as you know ? A. Not as far as I know.

Q. At the end of the fortnight, how often did you go there ? A.

Never was in the store again.

Cross-examination hy Mr. Moak :

Q. You were examined before the Assembly judiciary committee,

were you not? A. I was, sir.

Q. I now call attention, which is on page 96 of report ; before

that committee, did you say a word upon the subject of Mr. Han-

rahan saying that he had voluntarily raised the bond from $1,000

to $10,000 ? A. No, sir ; that has been called to my recollection

since I have been here in Albany.

Q. Ton didn't say a word then about it? A. No, sir.

Q. Before that committee did you say a word upon the subject

of his saying that Judge McCunn would grant any order that was

necessary ? A. My impression is that I did.

Q. Will you say you did ? A. No, sir, I will not swear positively,

unless I see the book.

Q. Is not this what you said :
" Q. Can j'ou remember any con-

versation that took place then " [that is, speaking of the time when

you first saw him] ? "A. At that moment, I do not ? " A. That is

correct.

Q. " Q. When did you next see him ? A. I next saw Hanrahan

the following morning. Q. State what took place between you

then ? A. In a general conversation, I, of course, was expressing

my astonishment at being served with process, entirely ea; ^arfe y

that I had not been heard, and that it was not true, the disposition

upon which it was made. I liad read it through." Did you pro-

ceed to state any thing on the subject of his saying that you could

not turn him out ? A. Not at that moment.

Q. Did you at any time during that examination? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he then say that you could not turn him out ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You are sure of that? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Didn't you say a moment ago that it was after Judge Fithian
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made the order that it happened ? A. It all happened within three

days.

Q. Didn't you say, not more than five minutes ago, that he did

not say that until after Judge Fithian's order was made ? A. Yes,

sir ; I said so.

Q. Which statement was right ; what you said five minutes ago,

or whiit you now say ? A. What I said just now ; my recollection

has come to me as my attention has been called to this case.

Q. Did you say any thing before Assembly committee that you
had any conversation with him after the order of Judge Fithian ?

A. No, sir ; Judge Fithian's name was not mentioned in my tes-

timony at all.

Q. Then that portion of the testimony jou have never given,

that he told you after Judge Fithian's order was made, that it would

not do you any good
;
you did not tell that before the Assembly

committee? A. JSTo, sii-.

Q. Ifot a word of it ? A. No, sir ; not a word of it.

Q. You have had some little feeling in this matter, I take it, Mr.

Bininger ? A. I should suppose, sir, I might have a little feeling

;

very naturally would.

Q. That is not the question ; have you had ? A. Yes, sir, I have

;

a feeling of having been wronged and robbed.

Q. I didn't ask you what kind of feeling you had ; I simply

asked you if you had feeling ? A. Well, sir, I told you what it was.

Q. Did you state any thing before the Assembly committee of

this liquor being drank by Hanrahan, and those who were there

with him ? A. No, sir ; I did not.

Re-direot exammation hy Mr. Stioknet :

Q. Were you asked on your examination before the judiciary

committee any thing about Mr. Hanrahan's remark, as to his raising

the amount of the bond ? A. No, sir.

Q. Were you asked any thing as to drinks that were taken while

the receiver was there ? A. No, sir.

Q. Or was Judge Fithian's name mentioned to you in the ques-

tions which were put ? A. No, sir.

Q. I will call your attention to another portion of your testimony,

which the counsel did not choose to read to you ; I mean which he

did not read to you, on page 96 ; the question was, " Q.Who handed

you that? A. Hanrahan. Q. What did he say? A. It was in

reference to his high respectability, and being the successor of Judge

McCunn, and a proper person to have charge of the establishment.
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which had commenced so far bact as ours ; I told him that T should

resist, to the best of my ability, having my property taken from my
hands ? he informed me it would be useless, with his connection

with Judge McCunn, to try to turn him out as receiver ;
" do you

remember giving that testimony ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember giving this testimony :
" By Mr. Prince :

Q. That was not the question ; what did he say at that time ? A.

He said that it would be of no avail ; that he could have it set

aside ? " A. Yes, sir ; I remember giving that testimony.

Q. Do you remember giving this testimony :
" Q. Is that all the

conversation you had with him that you remember ? A. I had no

other of any consequence that I recollect ; the only other matter of

interest connected with him was after the United States officer had

served an injunction upon him to restrain him from selling goods

;

he told me that he could have that revoked in about the time it

would take to walk to the City Hall and back, which he did ? " A.

I do.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President: I would like to ask the wit-

ness a question. I understood the witness to say that the property

taken possession of in the store was valued at from $100,000 to

$120,000, and that book accounts and bonds of the concern were

from $40,000 to $50,000 ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You afterward stated that the indebtedness of the concern

was about $200,000, and the assets of the concern about $400,000?
A.. Yes, sir.

A. In what did the assets consist besides the stock of goods ? A.

Peal estate ; the store we occupied ; we owned two buildings.

Q. Did that pass into the hands of the receiver? A. They
claimed so ; I don't think they ever had possession ; they collected

some of the rents.

Q. All beyond the book accounts and bonds, etc., was real estate ?

A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President : I would like to ask the witness

.a question.

Q. Do you recollect whether you said at that time :
" Q. "When

!I say troops I mean roughs ? A. There were troops of drinkers

when I left there." You said something then about the drinkers ?

A Yes, sir, in that way I did.

Re-cross examination hy Mr. Moak :

Q. "Were you asked, on the former examination, to state the con-

verefition, and all the conversation, between Hanrahan in this Ian-
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guage: " Q. State what took place between you th 3n ? " A. I was
asked that.

Q. And under that question you went on to state what took place,

and then stated—that was all ? A. As far as I recollect, that was
the oath I took.

Joseph A. Hoffmiee, a witness called in behalf of the prosecu-

tion, being duly sworn, testifies as follows

:

By Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Mr. HofFmire, what relation are you to Abraham B. Clark ?

A. Son-in-law.

Q. Where did you live the latter part of the year 1869 and the

year 1870 ? A. 47 Park avenue.

Q. In the same house with Mr. Clark ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember the suit of GlarJc v. Bininger ? A. Yes,

sir ; I recollect something about it.

Q. "While that suit was pending, did you at any time see Judge

McCunn at Mr. Clark's house ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How often did you see him there % A. Quite often.

Q. Did you at any time see him there in company with Mr.

Compton ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How often did you see him there in company with Mr. Comp-
ton ? A. Quite often.

Q. Is that your recollection of the whole ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. At what time of the day or night did Judge McCunn usually

come there ? A. Generally, came there in the evening.

Q. At about what hour ? A. It was always rather late in the

evening.

Q. Do yoii remember hearing Judge McCunn say any thing as to

being confidential in regard to his visits there, or not mentioning

any thing about them ? A. I heard him mention it once or twice.

Q. Will you state what he said ? A. I think, he said on one

occasion that he would not like to have it known that he visited the

house.

Q. Did he give any reason ? A. Well, I don't recollect whether

or not he did ; it strikes me he did, though.

Q. What, according to your best recollection, did he say ? A. I

think he said it would not be proper, or something to that efi'ect ; it

would not be proper to have it known that he was at the house,

being a judge, or something to that effect ; I don't recollect the

exact words.

52
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Q. "Was this said by him more than once ? A. I think it was

said about twice ; at one time he mentioned it in the hal], just as he

was leaving, and that he would like to have it confidential.

Q. Was any officer ever there at the house with Judge McCunn ?

A. He called there one evenirig with the shei'iff.

Q. Do you remember the name ? A. Sheriff O'Brien ; he was

sheriff at that time.

Q. More than once? A. Only once.

Q. Do you remember what took place that evening ? A. I do not.

Q. Did you ever hear Judge McCunn speak to Sheriff O'Brien ?

A. I don't think I did.

Q. Were you present at the giving of the testimony of Melville

B. Clark before the Senate? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you notice his testimony ; did you listen to it ? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. And did you listen particularly to his testimony as to inter-

views held with Judge McCunn at Mr. Clark's house ? A. I did
;

yes, sir.

Q. Was his testimony correct ?

Mr. MoAK—Wait one moment ? You needn't answer that. If

the President please, we do not desire to have the witness corrobo-

rated in that way. That question I object to, as entirely improper

as to what was said and done. Let the witness state it in his own
way.

Q. At which of these conversations that Melville B. Clark tes-

tified to were you present? A. I was present at a number of them.

I can't state exactly which ones.

Q. Were you present at the conversation when the agreement, or

settlement, or paper of that nature, was submitted to Judge McCunn ?

A. Yes, sir, I was.

Q. Was Mr. Clark's statement of what took place there accord-

ing to your recollection ?

Judge Sblden-—We submit that is not orthodox ; simply ask the

witness what he knows was said there.

Mr. Stioknet— It is merely corroborating testimony ; we did not

wish to take the time of the Senate in going over all these particulars.

We do not care to ask the witness particular questions about that

;

you may cross-examine him.

Cross-examination hy Mr. Moak :

Q. You were sworn before the Assembly committee ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you testify to this in answer to a question from Judge
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McCnnn :
" Q. And my going to Mr. Clark's house was about that

litigation in the United States court ? A. "Well, some of it was, and

some of it was in regard to keeping it in the State courts." A.

That is the way I testified
;
yes, sir.

Q. Mr. Clark yesterday testified that Judge McCunn was not there

that he recollected of, until the proceedings in the United States

court had been commenced; is that your recollection? A. I can't

tell the first time he was at the house.

Q. Do you recollect his being there—
Mr. Paesons— I wish to correct the counsel ; he stated just the

reverse ; he said he was there within five or six day« of the com-

mencement of the suit.

Mr. MuAK—The stenographer's minutes will show what that was.

It was discussed as to whether we should ask him, and we recollect

what it was.

Q. Do you recollect of his being there at all, until the pro-

ceedings were commenced in the United States court? A. He
was there shortly after the receiver took possession of the prop-

erty.

Q. That does not answer my question ; did you hear of his being

there before the proceedings in the United States court were com-

menced? A. I don't recollect what time the proceedings in the

United States court were commenced.

Q. Then you can't answer the question, as I understand you?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you testify to this on the former examination :
" Q. There

was a fight between them to get possession of the store ? A. Yes,

on Saturday afternoon " ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That is correct, is it ? A. Yes, sir ; that is correct.

Q. Did you testify to this :
" Q. Had he ever been there at the

house before the time you speak of when the fight was at the store ?

A. I do not recollect whether he was or not." A. I think I testi-

fied to that.

Q. That is correct now according to your best recollection ? A.

According to my best recollection, it is.

Q. You say the sheriff" came there once ; was that after the pro-

ceeding had been commenced in the United States court? A. I

can't say in regard to that.

Q. Didn't you understand it was after the proceedings ; that the

sheriff was there to see whether the property should be given up ?

A. No, sir ; I didn't understand it so.
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Re-direct examination hj Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Did Judge McOunn ever state any thing in your hearing about

his having seen the fight between the United States marshals and

the receiver's men? A. That fight between the United States mar-

shals and the receiver's men was on Saturday afternoon, and he

called, I think, either on Sunday evening or Monday evening ; I am

not positive which ; and he said he saw it ; he was somewhere out of

the way and he didn't want to be seen.

Q. At 1:50 P.M., Mr. Perry moved that the Senate take a recess

to 3:45 p. M., which was carrried.

Whereupon the Senate adjourned to 3:45 p. m.

Afternoon Session.

The Senate in extra session re-assembled at 4 o'clock p. m.

The Peesident— The counsel will call the next witness.

Mr. Sticknet— Will the Clerk call James F. Morgan.

The Clerk here called James F. Morgan, who failed to respond.

The Peesident— Is there not another witness who can be called

without this delay ?

Mr. Paksons— Mr. Abraham B. Clark is not here, although we

have been informed that he would be here, and we had expected to

find him here this afternoon. Mr. Morgan is in town.

The Peesident— If the Senate is willing I will say that the Chair

will order that this case shall proceed. It is not proper that the

Senate be kept waiting.

Dr. Paesons— The proceedings on our part will be to ask an

attachment for Mr. Morgan and that the sergeant-at-arms be in-

structed to compel his presence here. There are only two witnesses

further to examine in the Bininger case. One is Abraham B. Clark,

under an order looking to his attachment, and James F. Morgan, and

we desire to finish this case before proceeding with another charge.

Mr. D. P. Wood— I would like to inquire whether it is under-

stood that these witnesses are unwilling witnesses ?

Mr. Paesons—We do not wish to say any thing by way of reflec-

tion upon Mr. Morgan, but we suppose, under all the circumstances

of the case, that he is more or less an unwilling witness.

Mr. D. P. Wood— I inquired simply to ascertain whether it was

a matter of accident or not.

Mr. MoAK— Purely accidental, sir; he has been waiting here

upon the Senate all the time.
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Mr. Parsons— I think, in three minutes, that he can be brought

here, if the sergeant would step to Judge McCunn's room.

Mr. J. Wood— I will state that the sergeant-at-arms started

almost immediately upon the call, and I presume went after Mr.

Morgan.

The Peesident— If the Senate is willing to wait, the Chair has

no objection ; the sergeant-at-arms has returned, and reports that he

is unable to find the witness.

Mr. Paesons—^Will the President ask the sergeant-at-arms

whether he looked for him in Judge McCunn's room ?

Mr. Chatfield— I think it is quite evident that this witness

means to give us the slip, and I move that we proceed with the case

by examining some other witness.

Mr. Paesons—Why did not the sergeant-at-arms bring him?
Seegeant-at-Aems— I will state that I saw him coming up from

the lower part of the park, and he said that he would come up right

away. I told him he was wanted as a witness.

At 4:30 Mr. Morgan appeared.

Mr. Davis — It is proper to state that Mr. Morgan went to get

his bundle of papers, which he presumed would be wanted here.

The President— That is a poor excuse ; he has kept the Senate

waiting half an hour ; the Clerk will swear the witness.

James F. Moeg-an, a witness called on behalf of the prosecution,

being duly sworn, testified as follows

:

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. Are you an attorney and counselor at law ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When were you admitted to practice ? A. 1863.

Q. Are you related in any way, and, if so, in what way, to Judge

McCunn? A. Brother-in-law.

Q. Were you in his office at any time ? A. While practicing

law.

Q. Yes, sir ? A. No ; I was not in his office when he was prac-

ticing law.

Q. Have you been in his office at any time, whether when ho was

practicing law, or subsequently? A. Never in his office at any

time, either when practicing law or since.

Q. What is the fact in reference to your connection with him, or

with any office which he ever held ? A. The firm of Morgan &
Hanrahan were successors to the firm of Fine & Morgan; and

Fine & Morgan were successors to the firm of Fine, Chittenden &
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Morgan ; and Fine, Chittenden & Morgan were successors to

Fine & Chittenden ; and Fine & Cliitteuden were successors to

McCunn & Moncrief

.

Q. The office with which you were connected as a partner were

successors in business, through one or two removes, to McCunn ?

A. Througli the firm of Fine & Chittenden ; I was a member of

tlie firm of Fine, Chittenden & Morgan.

Q. Do you remember the appointment of Hanrahan as receiver

of Bininger & Co. ? A. I knew that he was appointed on the 19th

of ISTovember, 1869.

Q. How early in tlie day ? A. About 10 o'clock that day.

Q. Was lie your partner in business ? A. At that time.

Q. How long had he been your partner in business ? A. I don't

think more than six months, but I won't be certain as to the exact

time.

Q. Do you remember the execution of the bond ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were j'ou a surety on that bond ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long prior to that time had Judge McCunn known you ?

A. Since 1863, I think.

Q. That was some seven years, was it ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was he somewhat familiar with your circumstances ? A. I

don't know.

Q. AYhat opportunities had he for becoming acquainted with your

pecuniary situation? A. None.

Q. Do you mean to state that ? A. Yes, sir, I do positively.

Q. Knew nothing whatever upon the subject? A. Nothing
whatever.

Q. Is it the fact that you were worth $20,000 at that time?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who is Wm. R. Gorham, who was a surety upon that receiv-

er's bond? A. He is a gentleman who formerly resided in San
Francisco, and used to be sheriff of San Francisco.

Q. What was his occupation at the time the receiver's bond was
executed ? A. He had not been doing any thing, I think, for a year

prior to that time.

Q. Did he become an employee of Hanrahan as receiver of Bin-

inger & Co. ? A. He was acting, if I may use the term, as a deputy

receiver.

Q. Under whom ? A. Under Mr. Hanrahan, taking charge of

this stock.

Q. From what time ? A. I don't know ; I think within a few
days of his appointment.
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Q. What M'as his occupation at that time ? A. He was doing
nothing, except when Hanrahan called him in to look after this

property.

Q. Was he an acquaintance of Judge MeCunn? A. I don't

know.

Q. Had you ever seen Judge McCunn and he in company to-

gether? A. No, sir.

Q. Never? A. Never.

Q. Was he in the habit of frequenting your oiBce ? A. I had
seen Mr. Gorhara in our office, prior to this time, once or twice.

Q. Was he an acquaintance of j'ours ? A. No, sir; I don't think

that I had ever been introduced to him ; I had seen him in the

office, and had been told by Hanrahan who he was.

Q. Did ho execute the receiver's bond on the same occasion you
did ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Where was it ? A. Down at our oiKce, in Wall street.

Q. And at what hour in the morning ? A. I should say, at 10

o'clock ; certainly not earlier than 10 o'clock, because—
Q. No matter about the cause ; how mucl] later than 10, was it ?

A. That, sir, I can't say.

Q. Is that your best recollection ? A. Possibly 11 o'clock, and it

may have been 12 ; I am almost willing to say it was 11 o'clock in

the day.

Q. Was not the receiver's bond approved by Judge McCunn, sub-

sequent to the time that the receiver actually had taken possession

of the stock of Bininger & Co., under the order of Judge McCunn ?

A. No, sir.

Q. You will state that positively ? A. I will swear to that fact,

positively.

Q. Did you go with Hanrahan when he went to take possession

of the stock ? A. I did not.

Q. Do you know when he took possession of the stock ? A. It

may have been—
Q. Do you know ? A. I know when he left the office and said

he was going down to take charge of the stock.

Q. Who went with him ? A. I don't remember.

Q. Do you remember his going, about 10 o'clock that morning,

with Melville B. Clark, starting for the store of Bininger & Co. ?

A. I do not ; I say that is a mistake ; he certainly did not go down

at 10 o'clock.

Q. You mean to contradict Mr. Clark ? A. I mean to say Mr.

Clark is mistaken.



416 PEOCEEDINGS IN THE

Q. "Who procured the approval of Judge McCunn upon that

bond? A. I did.

Q. "Where ? A. At the Superior Court.

Q. How, shortly after it was executed ? A. Almost immediately.

Q. "Where did you find Judge McCunn ? A. I don't remember

whether he was in the chambers or trial term.

Q. Don't you remember very well that he was not at chambers ?

A. I don't remember that he was not at chambers.

Q. Do you mean to state that positively, that you don't remember

that he was not then sitting at chambers ? A. I don't remember

that he was not sitting at chambers ; the only knowledge I have

upon that point is from looking at the assignments.

Q. From looking at the assignments are you satisfied that he was

not holding chambers ? A. The presumption is, that he was not

holding chambers
;
yet he is not disqualified, because judges often

sit at chambers without assignment.

Q. Inform the Senate, without argument, where you found him ?

A. I found him at the Superior Court, but whether at chambers or

trial term I cannot say ; I do not now remember.

Q. Is that the best answer you can give ? A. That is the best

answer, Mr. Parsons, I -.in give.

Q. Had you seen the order appointing Hanrahan receiver before

the bond was executed ? A. I saw the order that morning, but I

can't say whether I saw it before or not.

Q. "Who drew the bond ? A. I think Mr. Hanrahan.

Q. Did you see him ? A. I think I was there
;
yes, sir.

Q. Don't you remember the order was drawn the previous day?

A. Do you mean the order appointing the receiver?

Q. I mean to say the bond ? A. I mean to say that it was not.

Q. Have you looked at the bond and seen that it is dated the

18th ? A. ISTo, sir.

Q. Has your attention been called to that circumstance ? A. It

has not, sir.

Q. Do you remember the execution of the bond ? A. I do, sir.

Q. "Where was the bond drawn ? A. It was executed on the fol-

lowing—
Q. That is not the question; when was it drawn? A. At the

time it was executed.

Q. That you mean to be sure about ? A. I do.

Q. Do you remember an order granted by Judge Jones, restrain-

ing a sale of the stock of Bininger & Co., by Hanrahan, as receiver ?

A. I do.
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Q. "When did that order come to your notice ? A. It was given

to me by Mr. Hertz, the auctioneer.

Q. "When was the sale to take place that that order restrained?

A. I think it was on the 31st of March.

Q. When did you receive the order ? A. The order came into

my possession the day before, or, possibly, may have been two days,

but I think it was the day before.

Q. Did you procure from Judge McCunu an order which modified

Judge Jones' order ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Where did you then find Judge McCunn ? A. At the Superior

Court.

Q. "Whereabouts is the Superior Court ? A. 1 can't say whether
it was at chambers, or whether he was holding the trial term at that

time.

Q. Don't you know that Judge Jones was then holding the

chambers ? A. I do not ; that is, from the assignment that he was

assigned to hold chambers.

Q. Do you mean to state to the Senate that you fail to remember
whether you then saw Judge McCunn at the chambers? A. I

didn't say so, Mr. Parsons.

Q. Did you then find him at the chambers ? A. I don't remem-
ber ; there were two orders granted there ; one of them signed by

Judge McCunn while sitting at special term, although during Judge
Jones' assignment, and whether it was this order or the subsequent

order I don't now remember.

Q. You have spoken of two orders. Do you remember one was

signed by Judge McCunn when he was not sitting at chambers ?

A. I do not.

Q. Do you mean to state that you have no recollection upon that

subject ?

Mr. MoAK— One moment; I submit to the President whether

that is a fair way to examine a witness, when the witness states it.

It is not fair to ask him whether he means to state it in repetition ?

Mr. Paesons—He has stated as to one order that he remembers

obtaining at chambers, and now I am asking him in regard to the

other order.

The PRESIDENT— The Chair understands it depends upon circum-

stances. The Chair will direct the counsel to proceed in his own
way.

Q. "Wm you answer where you procured that order from Judge

McCunn ? A. In the Superior Court, at the City Hall in the city

of l!^ew York.

53
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Q. Is that all you have to say 2 A. That is all I can say ; I can't

say whether I obtained it at special term or trial term.

Q. Can you tell the Senate why you went to Judge McCunn to

procure a modification of the order that Judge Jones had granted ?

A. Judge Jones was not at court.

Q. "Will you state that positively ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When did you apply for it ? A. I think in the afternoon.

Q. What time in the afternoon ? A. I don't know ; I didn't tax

my mind with it.

Q. Didn't you obtain that order at Judge McCunn's house ? A.

No, sir ; and never did obtain an order from Judge McCunn in my
life.

Q. Yon state that positively ? A. I do sir.

Q. Did you know of the sale by Hanrahan of portions of this stock ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did the proceeds of such sales come into your possession ? A.

Some of them were deposited in the Gallatin National Bank.

Q. Won't you answer the question, if you please ? A. I say some

of the proceeds were deposited in the Gallatin National Bank,

wherein the firm of Morgan & Hanrahan kept an account ; I will

say, too, in addition, that while Hanrahan was sick, some of these

moneys were paid over to me by Mr. Hertz, who was the auctioneer.

Q. Do you state that Morgan & Hanrahan kept an account in the

Gallatin National Bank at that time ? A. There was an account in

the Gallatin National Bank which was in my name, Jas. F. Morgan.

Q. Do you say that, at that time, Morgan & Hanrahan kept an

account in the Gallatin National Bank ? A. I say Jas. F. Morgan

kept an account there, but the moneys in there belonged to Morgan

& Hanrahan.

Q Will you state whether the proceeds of the stock of Bininger

& Co. came into your possession ? A. Some.

Q. Canyon state what amount? A. My bank-book will show.

Q. Don't you remember about the aggregate amount? A. I

can't say, Mr. Parsons ; I don't remember ; these books here will

show.

Q. Have you any recollection upon the subject ? A. Possibly

$6,000 or 18,000 or $10,000.

Q. Not more than that ? A. No, sir.

Q. Wasn't it more than the amount you received as fees ? A.

No, sir, not over $10,000 ; oh, yes, there was some money paid by

the order of the Superior Court to satisfy the mortgage ; some

$2,000 or $3,000 ;
probably, in all $14,000 or $15,000.
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By Mr. Morgan :

Q. Did you act as counsel to Mr. Hanrahan, your partner, as

receiver of this property ? A. Throughout the litigation.

Q. When did your partner appoint you as counsel ? A. At the

time of his appointment.

Q. How shortly after his appointment ? A. Oh, I don't know,
Mt. Parsons ; within a very short time ?

Q. How early in the day of the 19th day of November ? A. Oh,

I don't know ; I can't say.

Q. Was it before the bond was drawn ? A. Oh, yes, sir.

Q. Was it on that day ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you no recollection of the time ? A. l^o, sir.

Q. Did he employ you at all ; didn't you assume to act for him
without any employment at all ? A. No, sir ; I did not.

Q. How long did the suit of Clarh v. Binmger continue ? A.

The original suit in the Superior Court?

Q. The suit of Clarh v. Binvnger'i A. I have no knowledge of

the suit after Mr. Beecher was let in as a party to the suit, which

was in the fall of 18T0, some time.

Q. When did Planrahan cease to be receiver ? A. About that

time.

Q. Can you specify ? A. No, sir; I cannot, Mr. Parsons; I can

by referring to these orders.

Q. Don't you remember the order of Judge Monell which re-

moved him as receiver ? A. Yes, sir ; I know of the order of Judge

Monell; that required him to the further securities, and on non-

compliance to be removed.

Q. Did he file further security ? A. No, sir.

Q. When was that order made? A. I can't remember the time.

Q. Wasn't it in April, 1870 ? A. It may have been.

Q. That is your recollection, isn't it? A. It may have been;

yes, sir.

Q. Was he not restrained from further action, as receiver, by that

orderj unless he filed additional security ? A. I think he was.

Q. So that his receivership continued from November 19th, when

he was appointed, down to the month of April, 1870 ? A. Down
to the time of granting of this order, and the date I cannot remem-

ber now ; the order is here.

Q. How much of the proceeds of the stock of Bininger & Co.

went to you, as fees as counsel for the receiver ? A. $10,000.

Q. Wasn't it $11,000? A. It may have been; I forget; either

$10,000 or $11,000.
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Q. How was that money that came to you as fees, paid to you ?

A. By Hanrahan.

Q. How i A. In checks and money.

Q. Do you mean Hanrahan's checks ? A. No, sir.

Q. What do you mean by checks, and quote the word checks 1

A. Checks received by him from Mr. Hertz, the auctioneer, mostly.

Q. Do you mean the proceeds of sale ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. The proceeds that you had deposited in the Gallatin National

Bank? A. No, sir; I had deposited only a few; I say that I

deposited a portion of them.

Q. Do you know who prepared the account of Hanrahan, as re-

ceiver ? A. I think I prepared it myself; possibly I may have.

Q. Can you tell by looking at the account now shown you, the

dates of the payments to you, of this sum of $10,000 or $11,000 ?

A. I can, sir.

Q. Look at the account and specify the dates and amounts ? A.

November 26, 1869, $1,000; April 2, isTu, $6,500.

Q. How near was that to the date of 'Jiu order removing him ?

A. I cannot specify the date without looking at the order.

Q. Don't you kuow that it was after the proceedings had been

taken for his removal ? A. I do not.

Q. You have no recollection on that subject ? A. No, sir.

Q. Proceed and state the further amounts making up the $10,000

or $11,000 ? A. Not from this account, Mr. Parsons ; I cannot.

Q. State from recollection, then ? A. I cannot remember.

Q. Have you no recollection ? A. My bill shows it, which is also

with the referee ; if I should see the bill I could state.

Q. Can't you state when the date was, as compared with the time

Hanrahan ceased to be receiver ? A. No, I cannot.

Q. "What was the additional amount ? A. The additional amount

was making up the sum of $11,000.

Q. Do you mean to answer $11,000? A. No, I think there was

$500 or $600 less than $11,000.

Q. Is the paper which you have just had in your hands the

account of Hanrahan as receiver ? A. This is the account as first

presented.

Q. Down to what page does that account extend ? A. May the

1st, 1870, I suppose.

Mr. Paesons— "We desire to have it noticed as testimony in the

case, that the account shows that down to that time the total receipts

were $22,704, and the total expenditures, $17,046.44; leaving a

surplus of $5,657.56.
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Q. During this period between the appointment of Hanrahan, as

receiver, or rather the time when you first received $1,000 from him,

down to the time of the last payment by him to you, did you have
any pecuniary transactions with Judge McCunn ? A. I purchased

from Judge McOunn on the 4th of January, 1870.

Q. Did you make him a payment upon that house ? A. I did.

Q. "What did you pay him for the house ? A. $14,000.

Q. How did you make your payment to him ? A. In a check on

Jay Cooke & Co. for $7,000 and odd, and the balance in cash or

check (referring to book) $1,630 in my own check, January 4, 1870

;

check on Jay Cooke & Co. for $7,670 ; I held back $500 for taxes on

the premises and, afterward, I gave Judge McCunn $500 in a check.

Q. What is the date ? A. The check book doesn't show the date
;

it was in January, 1870.

Q. Does that complete the cash payment ? A. Yes sir.

Q. Was the balance paid in mortgages ? A. $4,200.

By Mr. Moak :

Q. Do you mean mortgages that you gave back or that you

assumed ? A. There was a mortgage on the house for $4,200.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. Were Jay Cooke & Co. private bankers ? A. No, sir.

Q. What was their business ? A. They were general bankers and

brokers.

Q Were they not private bankers as contra-distinguished from an

incorporated bank ? A. Yes, I suppose, in that sense they were.

Q. I wish you now to state to the Senate what amount of pro-

ceeds of A. Bininger & Co.'s stock had come into your possession,

prior to the time that you made these payments to Judge McCunn.
A. $1,000.

Q. Is that all which had come to your possession ? A. There was

some more of this money which was deposited in the Gallatin

National Bank.

Q. I want to know if you can state any other amount that was

deposited in the Grallatin National Bank, prior to this payment that

you made to Judge McCunn ? A. Definitely, I cannot say.

Q. Can you answer this question, whether the $6,500 which you

say was paid him on the 2d of April, 1870, was paid in one specific

sum, or whether it consisted of a debit against amounts then on

deposit ? A. To some extent it did, because there was money in

the Gallatin National Bank at that time.
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Q. Are you correct in stating the 2d. of April, 1870, as the date

when you gave credit for the $6,500 ? A. Tes, April 2d.

Q. How near was that to the procurement by you of the modifi-

cation, by Judge McCunn, of Judge Jones' order, which enabled

the sale to take place ? A. Within a couple of days.

Q. If you had not procured that modification, and so enabled the

sale to take place, would the receiver have had money enough to have

paid you that amount ? A. I don't know that he had $6,500 at

that time ; I don't think he had.

Q. How much of that $6,500 was procured by the receiver, from

the sale which Judge McCunn thus permitted to take place 1 A.

Not a dollar.

Q. How do you reconcile that statement with the answer you

have just given? A. In this way; here is the receipt by Mr.

Hanrahan, on the 23d of March, of $8,114.

Q. Do you know where that came from ? A. That came from

the sale of 111 barrels of whisky.

Q. Do you know any thing about the circumstances of that case ?

A. Well, I know something about it.

Q. Were you here during the examination of Mr. Melville B.

Clark, about a proposed settlement which Judge McCunn prevented

just after that time? A. I heard a portion of that testimony; I

could not now say exactly what he testified to.

Q. Did you know of the sale of that 110 barrels of whisky on

the day succeeding the evening when Judge McCunn was at Mr.

Clark's house ? A. I don't know anything about Judge McCunn's

being at Mr. Clark's house.

Q. Well, the visit of Judge McCunn to Mr. Clark's house, accord-

ing to the testimony ? A. I don't know the time, Mr. Parsons.

Q. State what you know in regard to the sale of that 110 barrels

of whisky ? A. I know that Mr. Hanrahan sold this whisky to

Mr. Woodro for the sum of $8,114.

Q. What did you have to do with the sale ? A. Nothing.

Q. From whom did you learn it ? A. I learned it from Mr.

Woodro, at the time ; I saw him when he came to the office.

Q. How much of that $8,000 went to you in fees ? A. I could

not say whether that was deposited in the Gallatin National Bank

or not ; I can very easily tell you (referring to memorandum book)

;

I couldn't say what particular portion of that $8,000 went to me ; I

know that I was paid these moneys out of these receipts, as shown

by that account.

Q. Look at the item under date of April 2d, 1870, " paid Eoger
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A. Pryor, counsel fee $2,500," and state whether that was paid to

Mr. Pryor by direction of Judge McCunn, for services claimed to

have been rendered by Mr. Pryor to Hanrahan, as receiver.

Mr. MoAK— That is objected to, unless they produce the order of

Judge McCunn directing the payment.

By Mr. Paesons :

Q. "Was there any such order of which you knew ? A. No, sir.

Q. Then answer the question ? A. The money was not paid by

any order ; there was no order ; it was not paid at the direction of

Judge McCunn.

Q. Well, it was paid to Mr. Pryor for services rendered to the

receiver? A. It was.

Q. Who employed Mr. Pryor ? A. Mr. Hanrahan.

Q. Were not you counsel for Hanrahan ? A. I was.

Q. Was Pryor added as counsel, also? A. He was; the motions

came thick and fast in that case ; one man could not attend to them.

Q. Were you not present on the motions ? A. I was.

Q. Mr. Pryor also ? A. Yes, sir ; Mr. Pryor was present on the

motions in the Superior Court, and on this review matter in the

Circuit Court of the United States.

Q. Wasn't you present at the motions in the Superior Court ?

A. I was in court the day of the motion to punish Mr. Beecher for

contempt.

Q. Was your attendance upon that motion among the services

which you rendered Mr. Hanrahan ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you present on the motion before Judge McCunn ? A.

I think I read the affidavits.

Q. Was that all the professional services you rendered upon that

motion ? A. I think so.

Q. Have you been appointed, upon any occasion, by Judge

McCunn as receiver, or have you acted as counsel for other persons

who have been appointed by Judge McCunn, as receivers ?

Mr. MoAK— That we object to ; there is no such charge in this

case.

Mr. Paesons—We ask it as bearing upon the main charge. What
we claim, Mr. President, is that here was a scheme on the part of

this judge, through his brother-in-law, to plunder this and other

estates, and that corresponding transactions in regard to other estates

near this time bear upon the principal charge.

The question being put as to whether the objection should be sus-

tained, was decided in the negative.
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By Mr. Pabsons :

Q. Answer, please, whether you yourself have been appointed

receiver in any case by Judge McCunn, and, also, whether you have

acted as counsel for other persons than Hanrahan who have been

appointed receivers by Judge McCann? A. I was appointed

receiver in the case of Stevenson v. Turner, and I acted as counsel

for Mr. Gano, in the case of Corey v. Long.

Q. Is that all ? A. Those are the only cases that I remember now.

Q. Have you forgotten the case of Mliott v. Butler ? A. I didn't

act in that case.

Q. Do you mean to state that you didn't act in that case ? A.

Nothing to do with it, Mr. Parsons.

Q. Do you mean it to be understood that you have now stated the

only cases in which you have been appointed by Judge McCunn
receiver, and in which you have acted as counsel for other persons

who have been appointed by Judge McCunn, receiver ? A. "Well, I

think there is another case ; at this moment, I do not remember what

case it was.

Q. "Who is Mr. Gano, of whom you spoke ? A. He is my brother-

in-law, and also a brother-in-law of Judge McCunn.

Q. Now present ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Was he receiver in the case of Corey v. Long ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was he receiver in the case of Elliott v. Butler ? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. Do you remember the case of Brandon v. BurJce ? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. "Who was appointed receiver in that 1 A. Mr. Hanrahan and

Mr. Mix.

Q. Was Hanrahan your partner at that time ? A. He was.

Q. Did you act as counsel for him ? A. I did.

Q. Why did you not mention that case ? A. That is the case I

could not call to mind.

Q. Have you ever read these charges ? A. I have, sir.

Q. And have forgotten that that case is among them ? A. I did,

for the moment.

Q. Now, Mr. Morgan, have you not forgotten other cases? A.

No, sir.

Q. Or may you not remember other cases ? A. I do not remem-

ber any others.

Q. I would like to have you inform the Senate how many cases in

court you had tried prior to the receipt by you of these large sums

from Hanrahan as receiver in the Bininger case.
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Mr. MoAK— That is objected to, on the ground that it is incom-

petent and improper.

The question being put as to whether the objection should be sus-

tained, it was decided in the negative.

By. Mr. Paesons :

Q. Answer the question, please ? A. Not many ; the firm of

Fine & Morgan had many cases in court, and they were tried by

Mr. Fine.

Q. Was the firm of Fine & Morgan counsel for Hanrahan in the

Bininger case ? A. No, sir; that firm had dissolved, about six

months or a little more, prior to the appointment of Hanrahan as

receiver.

Q. Will you be so good, then, as to answer the question I put

you ? A. Will you please repeat it ?

Q. How many cases in court had you tried before Hanrahan's

appointment as receiver ? A. Well, I tried the cases for the firm

in the marine and district courts.

Q. 'I.'hose are called minor courts in the city of New York ? A.

Yes ; they are not called courts of record.

Q. Was that the extent of your counsel, positively, down to that

time? A. Down to the dissolution of Fine & Morgan.

Q. I mean down to the time of your appointment as counsel for

Hanrahan ? A. After the dissolution of Fine & Morgan and the

formation of the firm of Morgan & Hanrahan, I tried the cases.

Q. What I want to know is, can you state how many cases you

did try ? A. I could not tell you ?

Q. Can't you tell the Senate whether you ever tried any case ?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. In a court of record ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. I)id you not testify on the subject before the judiciary com-

mittee of the Assembly ? A. I believe I did.

Mr. MoAK— I object to any evidence of what he testified to

there.

Mr. Paesons— Do you object to my showing him that he was

mistaken ?

Mr. MoAK— No, sir.

Mr. Paesons— I do not propose to ask him what he testified to

there ?

Q. Can you state to the Senate any case that you had tried in a

court of record prior to your appointment by Hanrahan as counsel ?

A. I don't remember ; the time was very short between the disso-

U
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lution of Fine & Morgan and the formation of the firm of Morgan

& Hanrahan.

Q. Have you now answered the question as well as you can ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Tou cannot remember the name of any case ? A. No, sir.

Q. I asked you whether you had been appointed receiver by

Judge McGunn, or whether you had acted as counsel for persons

appointed as receiver by him
;

please answer, whether you had

i-eceived patronage from Judge MeCunn in your appointment as

referee in cases ?

Mr. MoAK— That I object to, on the same ground, and I desire

my objection to be noted ; that there is no charge of that character

here, or any thing upon the subject for trial ; that evidence, upon

that subject is not admissible. We have not been notified of any

such charge against us.

Mr. Paesons — Do you make any other objection than that ?

That was overruled before, Mr Moak.

Mr. MoAK— I don't know, sir; we claim this to be entirely dif-

ferent. You claimed that it was inadmissible before, because it was

business of the same character. "We desire to raise the further

objection that the orders of reference are the best evidence, if refer-

ences were made.

The question being put as to whether the objection should be

sustained, was decided in the negative.

Mr. Paesons :

Q. Answer, please ? A. I have been appointed by Judge McCunn
in numerous cases.

Q. And had you, prior to June, 18Y0 ? A. I think so ; I have made
out a detailed statement of those cases, which is in the printed book.

Q. Mr. Morgan, were you ever appointed by any other judge as

referee ? A. Only once.

Mr. MoAK— That we certainly object to.

Mr. Paesons— Well, he says only once. You may examine him,

Mr. Moak.

Mr. Moak— I ask, if the Senate please, that that evidence be

stricken out, or that the evidence be passed upon.

The question being put as to whether the evidence should be

stricken out was decided in the negative.

Cross-examination hy Mr. Moak :

Q. Mr. Morgan, what is your age ? A. Thirty-one years.
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Q. How long ago did you comnaeace the practice of tTie law ?

A. In 1863, I think.

Q. At that time, how long had you read as a student ? A. For
some three or four years.

Q. In whose office did you read ? A. A. & W. C. Pell.

Q. When you commenced the practice of law, in 1863, did you
commence the practice alone or with a partner ? A. In the first,

for a short period of time, I was a clerk with the firm of Fine &
Chittenden, and then, in the month of January, 1864, I went into

the firm of Fine & Chittenden.

Q. And from that time down you were a member of one of these

firms that you have named? A. Yes, sir.

Q. State the extent of the practice of those firms? A. Well,

my share as a partner in the firm of Fine & Morgan would amount

to about $8,000 or $9,000 a year.

Q. What proportion of the moneys received did you receive as

your share ? A. One third.

Q. And what was the amount of receipts of the firm of Fine &
Morgan? A. Fine & Morgan made not less than $16,000 a year.

Q. When were you married ? A. In June, 1864.

Q. You married a sister, I believe, of Judge McCunn's wife ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now, you said that in January, 1870, you purchased a house

of Judge McCunn ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When did you make the contract for that purchase ? A. Oh,

it was in the month of N"ovember, about the 1st or 2d.

Q. Was that contract made in writing? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you it here ? A. (After looking over a bundle of papers.)

No, sir, I have not got that contract here ; I will produce it, how-

ever.

Q. That contract you say was in writing, and was made in the

fore part of November, 1869 ? A. It was made, I think, on the

1st of November, 1869.

Q. Had you been living in that house for some considerable time

before that? A. I lived in the house from the 1st of May, 1865.

Q. How long had Judge McCunn owned it, if you know ? A.

Well, he owned it at that time, and I understood for years prior to

that time ; still, I have no knowledge on the subject.

Q. Had you been paying him rent ? A. I had, sir.

Q. How much per year? A. $900 a year, except the last year,

I

paid him $1,400.

Q. You have said that, on the 4th of January, 1870, when
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you took the deed, you paid $7,000 and over, in a cheek on Jay

Cooke & Co. ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. State how you received that money? A. That was from the

sale of ten-forty bonds which I had in my safe, which belonged to

me, and which I had saved up, from time to time.

Q. How long had you had those bonds ? A. Oh, some of them

for four or five years, and some of them two and three years ; I had

at that time $10,000 or $11,000 in bonds ; I did not sell them all.

Q. You sold a portion of them, from which you received the

amount of this check of Jay Cooke & Co., and turned that check

over to Judge McCunn? A. Yes, indorsed it over to Judge

MeCunn, in part payment for the house.

Q. Have you that check here ? A. No, sir ; we will have it

here, though.

Q. What did you pay the balance in ? A. Cash ; check of $1,630

on the Gallatin National Bank.

Q. Did you receive a deed from Judge McCunn, of those premises 1

A. I did at that time.

Q. Have you that deed here ? A. Yes, sir (witness looks over a

bundle of papers) ; well, I certainly had that deed when I came

here.

Q. Well, if you don't find that, you will have to look for it

hereafter. Did you receive this deed on the 4th January, 1870 ?

A. I did, sir ; it is strange where that deed has gone.

Q. Well, if you have not got it with you, there is no use worry-

ing over it. You retained $500, you say, to pay taxes ? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. Or, rather, retained that until a certificate was brought that the

taxes were paid ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When did you pay that $500 ? A. (Referring to the book.)

Ah ! here is the deed in this book ; that $500 must have been paid

after the 17th.

Q. It was either the 17th or 18th? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Well, from the fact that no additional date was given, probably

it was the 17th ?

Mr. MoAK—We now offer in evidence, the deed from Judge
McCunn to the witness. It is of the property known as No. 232

West 21st street. The consideration stated in it is $14,000. It is

dated the 3d day of January, 1870; executed by Judge McCunn
and wife to the witness; acknowledged January 3d, 1870; recorded

in the register's office, January 4, 1870.

The President— Do you desire the paper marked as an exhibit?
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Mr. MoAK— No, sir ; I only desire to state those facts.

Q. No
;
you have stated that some of the moneys collected by

the receiver, or received by him from the sale of some of the

property of Bininger & Olark, or Clark & Bininger, whichever it

was, went into the Gallatin National Bank. Can you state how
that money was received, and how it went into the bank, deposited

to the credit of James F. Morgan? A. It was received in bills

or in checks, and deposited, by Hanrahan, in the Gallatin National

Bank.

Q. To the credit of James F. Morgan, so far as the book showed ?

A. So far as the book showed.

Q. But you say the account was, in fact, a partnership account ?

A. Yes, sir ; on the end of the checks is written Morgan & Han-

rahan.

Q. That is, the checks that were drawn on the Gallatin National

Bank? A. Yes, sir.

Q. State how that money was received? A. It was money
received by Mr. Hanrahan, as receiver of the firm of Bininger &
Company.

Q. From what source ? A. From sales which were made ; every-

day sales in the course of business, and from a sale of 101 barrels

of whisky.

By Mr. Parsons :

Q. One hundred and one, or one hundred and ten ? A. (After

looking at a paper.) One hundred and eleven.

By Mr. Moak :

Q. Do you recollect what it was sold at per gallon ? A. I think

two dollars.

Q. You say, you first knew of Hanrahan's appointment on the 19th

of November ; was that after you had gone down to the office ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Up to that time had you heard of his appointment, or had any

intimation that he was to be appointed ? A. I did not know it

until he told me at the office, on that morning.

Q. Then the bond was executed ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was done with it ? A. It was taken by me from the

Superior Court.

Q. Where was your office at that time? A. 14 and 16 Wall

street.

Q. And was it there approved ? A. No, sir ; the first bond was
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not approved; the first bond was in the sum of $1,000, and Judge
McCunn said it was a small amonnt ; that the firm of Bininger &
Co. were possessed of a good deal of money, and then I drew a new
bond and executed in the sum of $10,000 ; that is the bond that

was approved.

Q. What was done with it then ? A. It was approved and filed.

Q. Do you know when this young man, Clark, went over to the

place, or when Mr. Hanrahan went; up to that time where had

Hanrahan been ? A. Down at the ofiice.

Q. State who was at the office when you left ? A. I think I left

him there wlien I went over to the court.

Q. Had he been away previous to that time, after, say half-past

9 or 10 o'clock ? A. No, sir.

Q. In there during the whole time? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Mr. Hanrahan came from California to New York, did he not ?

A. Yes, sir ; he came with the firm of Fine & Morgan, about two

or three years prior to this ; he was the managing clerk of the firm

of Fine & Morgan.

Q. How long had he been managing clerk for that purpose ?

A. About two years I should think, at the least.

Q. And then, on the going out of Mr. Fine, he was taken in as

partner ? A. I took Mr. Hanrahan at the time Mr. Fine went out.

Q. Up to that time, did you know the fact of his being intem-

perate? A. No, sir.

Q. Up to the time that he was appointed receiver ? A. No, sir

;

I never had heard that he drank any spirituous liquors or malt

liquors.

Q. Then, until the time he got into the charge of Clark & Binin-

ger's poor whisky, he was a temperate man, so far as you know ?

A. The most temperate man I ever knew, up to that time.

Q. What was his general conduct ? A. He was a very able man.

Q. What was his age ? A. Forty years of age.

Q. A man of family ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Where did he reside ? A. In Thirty-fifth street, New York.

Q. Keeping house ? A. Yes, sir

.

Q. During the time he was your partner, up to the time of his

appointment as receiver, was his conduct, as far as you know, per-

fectly exemplary ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. State his capacity for business ? A. Good.

Q. What share of the proceeds was he allowed ? A. One-third.

Q. The counsel asked whether, up to the time of your being

employed as counsel for this receiver, you had tried suits in court

;



TKIAL OP JOHlSr H. McCUNN". 43I

state whether, previous to that time, you had been a counsel for

various parties in the city of New Yorlc ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What department of the business had you had charge of, besides

the trial of cases in the law courts ? A. The usual office business.

Q. Had you been the managing partner of the concern ? A. Yes,
sir, in the oiSce.

Q. Managing all the financial affairs of the firm ? A. Yes, sir
;

real estate matters.

Q. You divided your business, then, I suppose ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. By certain members of the firm doing the court business ? A.
Mr. Fine did the counsel business.

Q. When Mr. Fine left you, what did he go into ? A. The firm

of Fine & Gallagher was formed.

Q. When he left, who then became the active court member of

your firm ? A. I did.

Q. From that time down to the present, have you been engaged
in practicing in all the courts of ISTew York ? A. I have, sir.

Q. In the trial of causes ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the argument of motions? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Arguing of cases at general term ? A. Not at general term

;

that is, I have not argued a case at the general term since the forma-

tion of the copartnership of Morgan & Hanrahan, except a case, a

couple of months ago, in the Supreme Court in Kings county.

Q. I see you are the counsel who argued most of the motions in

the United States court in these cases ? A. Several of them.

Q. In all of these motions you were successful ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You argued them alone ? A. I think in most of them Mr.

Pryor was with me ; I am speaking of motions in the district

court.

Q. You said, at the time that you signed tlie receiver's bond, you

were worth $20,000 and over ; state what that property consisted of?

A. Ten-forty bonds, my furniture in my house ; my yacht, moneys
due me by Charles Morgan, my father.

Q. Any thing further? A. I don't remember any thing else.

Q. You were asked whether you obtained the order from Judge

MeCunn modifying Judge Jones' order forbidding the sale ; state the

circumstances in regard to the service of Judge Jones' order ; what

had been done previous to that time by the receiver, if you know, in

regard to the sale and the circumstances under which jon received the

order from Judge McCunn ? A. An order had been made out a lit-

tle while prior to the day of the sale of his property, and Mr. Hertz,

an auctioneer, had been employed by Hanrahan to sell it, and had
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advertised it extensively, as I understand, and on the day on which

the sale was to have taken place, or the day before that, I think it

was the day before the sale, or the papers which were served, and on

the additional affidavit of Hanrahan, I made an application to Judge

McCunn and obtained this order allowing the sale to proceed ; the

sale did proceed, and then on the day of sale another order was

served enjoining the sale, and Judge McCunn also modified that

order so far as to allow the goods which had been sold to be deliv-

ered, with the direction that Hanrahan should deposit the moneys in

the New Tork Life Trust Company.

Q. About what realized from the sales which took place that day ?

A. About $12,000.

Q. Were you aware of the fact, at any time, that there was an

alleged waste of this stock of Binninger & Co. ; I mean at the time

when the sale occurred ? A. I am certain, sir, that there was no

waste.

Q. I don't mean that ; they claim that there was a great deal of it

drank ; were you aware that any of it was being drank or used up 3

A. Oh, I don't know that any of it was drank.

Q. Or used up in any way ? A. Oh, I liave seen, when I have

been in there, persons who were drinking ; that is to say, taking a

drink of brandy or something of that kind.

Q. Well, to any extent ? A. Oh, no ; there was no waste of this

property.

Q. How long had this sale been advertised, previous to the time

when it took place ? A. I couldn' t say specifically.

Q. For about how long ? A. For quite a number of days,

j; Q. Advertised in the New York papers ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And by handbills in JSTew York ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. To what extent, so far as you know, by handbills? A. I don't

know ; a great many out ; there were a great many persons at the sale.

Q. Were you present at the sale ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How many persons were present? A. I couldn't tell you;

the place was full of people.

Q. How large a store was it ? A. The ground floor was twice as

large as this room, almost ; as large and half as large again as this room.

Q. Where did the auction take place ? A. On that floor.

Q. State how the bidding was? A. Well, the bidding was

spirited.

Q. About what time did the sale commence ? A. I think it was

about 10 or 11 o'clock ; I forget the time.

Q. Was there a catalogue made out ? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. A circular? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you one of them ? A. (Producing paper.) That is one
of them.

Q. "Were these extensively circulated ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know any thing about how many copies were circu-

lated? A. I do not; I couldn't now say; I do remember at the

time, though, the sale was made very public and generally known.

Q. Now state how the receipts of Hanrahan, as receiver, came to

be deposited in the Gallatin National Bank ; if there was any partic-

ular reason for it ? A. No particular reason ; Mr. Hanrahan kept

no individual account.

Q. Now, will you give the Senate some idea of the amoxmt of

business that was done, the class of litigations, and the courts that

they were in, in connection with this matter, giving it in detail, as

much as you can ? A. Well, in the first instance, a few days after

Mr. Hanrahan was appointed receiver, a motion was made by Mr. Bin-

inger to vacate the order appointing Hanrahan, on several grounds.

Q. About what was the extent of the motion papers, Mr. Mor-

gan ? A. Well, they were not very extensive, but the motion was

argued at considerable length before Judge Fithian.

Q, Who appeared as counsel on the part of Mr. Bininger? A.

Mr. Titus and Mr. Cohn.

Q. Is Mr. Titus one of the best lawyers in the city of New York ?

A. Good lawyer
;
good lawyer.

Q. Well, what next ? A. This motion to set aside the appoint-

ment of Mr. Hanrahan, as receiver, was denied by Judge Fithian,

and I now hold in my hand his original opinion which was deliv-

ered on this motion, wherein he holds that the case of Clarh v.

Bininger, on the papers as presented to Judge McCunn, presented

a proper case in law for a receiver.

Mr. MoAK—We desire to put this in as an exhibit, for it is a

very exhaustive opinion upon that subject.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 25, and reads as follows

:

ExHinrr No. 25.

SUPERIOR COURT.

Abraham Claek
agst.

Abraham Bininobr.
j

This is an action by one copartner against another, for an accaunt-

ing and settlement of partnership assets and business) and praying

55
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for an injunction and the appointment of a receiver. Upon the

complaint, schedules, and exhibits, and affidavits annexed, an order

of injunction was granted, and a receiver appointed, ex 'parte, by one

of the justices of this court. The defendant now moves this court,

at special term, on notice and on the same papers, for an order dis-

solving suit, and setting aside the order appointing a receiver.

Mr. Geo. W. Titus and Mr. E. Cohn, for motion.

Mr. M. Gompton, and Mr. S. B. Gla/rk, opposed.

The papers on which the motion is made show, substantially,

among other things, the following facts, which I deem material

:

It appears that, as long ago as the year 1821, the parties to this

suit, together with one Fisher, entered into partnership in the wine

and liquor business in this city, upon what terms does not appear

;

that from 1821 to 1836, the defendant Bininger, although a partner,

took no active part in the business, but the same was conducted and

managed by plaintiff and Fisher; that, from 1836 to June, 1861, the

business was chiefly managed and conducted by the plaintiff himself;

from which I infer that Fisher went out, in 1836. That, in June,

1861, the firm was crippled by the stagnation of business, consequent

upon the breaking out of the war, and the suspension of the pay-

ment of debts owing to the firm by the South. That ior these

reasons it was found necessary to increase the capital to be used in

the business ; and that thereupon it was agreed by and between the

plaintiff and defendant that the latter should, and he did, loan and

advance to the plaintiff the sum of $45,000, to be used in the said

business (see affidavit of plaintiff ). That, to secure the payment of

such loan and advance, the said plaintiff' did, on the 1st day of June,

1861, execute and deliver to the defendant an absolute bill of sale of

all and singular the plaintiff's interest in all the stock, property and

assets, real and personal, of the said firm of "A. Bininger & Co.,"

securing and accepting the one-half interest of plaintiff", in certain

debts due the firm, a schedule of which was annexed to the bill of

sale, amounting, severally, on their face, to about the sum of $66,000.

And thereupon new articles of partnership were entered into

between plaintiff and defendant, reciting the existence of the for-

mer, partnership, and that plaintiff has sold his interest, as aforesaid,

to defendant, and that defendant desired to retain the knowledge and

skill of plaintiff in the business. It was, therefore, agreed that said

partnership he continued upon the terms there stated, viz. : The
same firm name to be retained ; all fiscal transactions to be under the

exclusive control of defendant ; that plaintiff", Clark, should not sign

the firm name to any bill, bond, note or specialty, except by the con-
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sent and license of Bininger ; that all the stock and property, effects

of the firm, should be the sole and exclusive property of Bininger
;

which, oil the dissolution or termination of the firm, should be held

by Bininger, subject to an aooounting with Clarhfor his portion of
the net profits, as hereafter stated ; that an account and statement of

stock and partnership business, to be taken on the 1st day of March
each year, during the continuance of the partnership, and the net

profits ascertained and thereupon apportioned to the parties, as fol-

lows : Seven thousand dollars of the profits to be set apart to defend-

ant as compensationfor the use of his capital, and the balance to be

divided, equally, between the partners, and placed to their credit,

respectively, on the hooks of the firm, share and shan^e alike ; further,

that Bininger might draw from the concern as much of tlie profits

standing to his credit as he chose, and as much of the capital stock

as he chose, but not reduce the same below $100,000 ; Clark, how-

ever, not to draw from his share of the profits over $6,000 per year

;

each party to be credited with interest on his profits remaining

undrawn ; the partnership to continue until the 1st of March, 1866,

subject however, to be dissolved, by either party, on fifteen days'

notice to the other.

At the' same time with the execution of these papers, the defendant,

Bininger, executed to the plaintiff:, Clark, an instrument in writing,

as follows, in substance : Eeciting the sale of Clark's interest in the

partnership effects of the old firm, as before stated. Also, that the

parties had entered into new articles of copartnership " whereby it

was agreed that the net profits shall be divided, equally, between the

parties, after paying to Bininger therefrom $7,000 per year, as com-

pensation for use of his capital." Also reciting that Bininger was

desirous of young Clark, the plaintiff, having the right to repurchase

the interest in the stock, effects and assets of the firm, which he had

so, as aforesaid, sold to Bininger. Therefore, it was agreed that if

Clark should pay, or cause to be paid to Bininger the said sum of

$45,000, on or before the dissolution of the partnership, either by

limitation or by notice, in the partnership articles provided, then

Bininger would reconvey to Clark all the said interest in said part-

nership effects so by Clark sold to Bininger, or the "proceeds

thereof." And Clark therein agrees that he will so repurchase said

interest as aforesaid, " am,dfor thatpurpose he will appropriate all

his share OMd proportion of the net profits of said copartnership

over and above the annual sum of $6,000, specified in the said arti-

cles of copartnership " {the sum Clark was authorized to draw).

The foregoing facts appear from the articles of agreement and the
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affidavits annexed to the complaint. The plaintiif then alleges in

the complaint, that the partnership thus formed, continued in busi-

ness until the 4:th day of November, 1869, when the defendant, Bin-

inger, served plaintiff with written notice of dissolution, pursuant

to the articles of copartnership, for and from the 19th of said Novem-
ber. The plaintiff alleges that he had kept the articles of copartner-

ship on his part. That the good will of the business was very valu-

able. That of the $45,000 to be loaned by defendant as capital, but

$40,501 was paid in. That of the schedule of bills receivable, which

were excepted from the sale of assets by plaintiff to defendant, there

had been collected, and received, and paid, into said firm during its

continuance, the sum of $35,000, one-half of which belonged to the

plaintiff, and which he claims as a payment on account of the

$40,501 loan. That, on the 22d of July, 1865, plaintiff paid to the

defendant, in real estate, $22,363.13, which now stands to his credit

on the book, as a payment on account of said loan. That, on the 9th

of JSTovember, 1869, the plaintiff notified defendant that he thereby

appropriated out of the profits belonging to him in said firm, so much
as would be necessary to liquidate a balance unpaid on said $40,501

loan, and demanded a retransfer of his interest in the property,

which defendant refused to execute or make.

The complaint then proceeds to charge defendant with divers acts

of misconduct, among which was dividing, and appropriating to his

own use, large sums of money from the profits and capital of the

firm, much more than was authorized by the articles of copartner-

ship. That he borrowed, and appropriated to his own use, large

sums of money, and gave the firm notes as security. In conse-

quence of which acts of defendant, the cash revenues of the firm

were crippled, and it was compelled to suspend payment about

November 4th, 1869. That the defendant was absent in Europe,

during the years 1865 and 1866, and that, during that time, plaintiff

had the sole charge, control and management of the business.

That it was profitable, and, during that time, netted over $60,000

profits. That, since the suspension and dissolution, defendant and

plaintiff have disagreed, and defendant has " usurped " the entire

control of the property, and threatens to exclude plaintiff by force,

if he attempts to interfere in the settlement of the partnership

affairs. That defendant has opened a new bank account in his in-

dividual name, as " executor," and deposits partnership moneys in

that account. That the partnership assets and property amount to

over $500,000, and the debts do not exceed $200,000. That, at tlie

time of the execution of the bill of sale to defendant, in June, 1861,
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the stock on hand of the partnership was $156,227.78 ; real estate

$165,000, subject to mortgages of $28,000 ; books of account (sold

to defendant), $50,000. That, at the time of dissolution, there were

large profits coming to plaintiff.

All these allegations are unanswered bj defendant, and so far as

they are properly verified, must, on this motion, be taken as true.

The defendant moves, on these papers, to vacate the order of injunc-

tion and order appointing receiver. And the first alleged ground

for the motion is, that the complaint is not accompanied by a suffi-

cient affidavit of modification. The Code, section 220, provides,

that it must " satisfactorily appear to the judge, by the affidavit of

the plaintifi", or of any other person, that sufficient grounds for an

injunction exist, or it will not be granted." It has been held

under this section, that a complaint with the ordinary and usual

jurat or verification alone is not a sufficient affidavit to authorize

an injunction. {Bostwiok v. Elton, 25 How. P. E. 362.) But

where the allegations in the complaint are made positively, and

not on information and belief merely, and which allegations are

sworn to be true, may be taken and treated as an affidavit. This

seems to be the result of the authorities. [Badger v. Wagstaff,

11 How. 502 ; Woodruff v. FisJwr, 17 Barb. 229 ; Jarvis v. Atter-

hury, 1 Oranch K. IST. S. 87 ; Levy v. Levy, 6 Abb. 89 ; 15 How.

395.) In this complaint, with one or two trivial and unimportant

exceptions, the allegations are all positive, and not on information

and belief. The complaint is accompanied by the usual verificar

tion, and also a special affidavit of the plaintiff, to the effect that

the action had been commenced by the complaint and summons

which he annexes to and makes a part of his affidavit ; that he

knows the contents of the complaint, and " has actual knowledge "

of the matters set forth in the complaint, except such as are therein

stated on information and belief; and that from such knowledge

he knows that the matters of fact therein stated are true. The

affidavit is somewhat inartificial, but I think it is substantially

an oath that all the matters in the complaint alleged as facts, and

not therein stated on information and belief, are true. I think this

is sufficient within the authorities. No such affidavit, however, is

required for the appointment of a receiver. There is no provision

of the Code prescribing in what mode or manner the facts author-

izing the appointment of a receiver shall be made to appear to the

court or judge. That is left, substantially, to the rules and practice

of the court.

The next objection is that the plaintiff has failed in his papers to
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sliow or "establish (as required by section 244 of the Code) any

apparent right to or interest in the property the subject of the liti-

gation; that, upon plaintifPs own showing, he had no right or

interest whatever in the partnership property or effects, biit only

an interest in the profits as compensation for services rendered."

Without attempting to review or comment in detail upon the

able and learned argument of the counsel for the defendant,

it must suffice to say, briefly, that I am unable to concur with

him in that view of the case. In mj opinion, the several articles

of agreement upon their face, together with all the surround-

ing circumstances, preclude the idea that either of these, parties

intended that this plaintiff, who had been an equal partner in this

business, for forty years, and who was then an owner of one-half

interest, in real and personal property in the firm, valued at $370,000,

and upwards, should divest himself wholly and absolutely of all that

interest, in order to borrow of his copartner, for the use of the busi-

ness, $45,000, and to remain merely as a clerk. The contracts execu-

ted between the parties will bear no such construction ; on the con-

trary, I am clearly of opinion that upon those three agreements,

taken and construed together, as they must be, the plaintiff remained,

and now is, the joint-owner with the defendant of an undivided one-

half of all the partnership property, effects, real and personal, sub-

ject only to a mortgage lien, viz., such one-half in favor of defendant

on the account remaining unpaid of the sum advanced to plaintiff.

This mortgage lien has never been foreclosed, or the plaintiff's

equity of redemption cut off. That equitable interest was, at the

execution of the mortgage, and now is, alleged to be worth four

times the amount of the mortgage. It is asserted that this mort-

gage became absolute and forfeited on the 1st of March, 1866.

Suppose that were true, the defendant must still foreclose his mort-

gage lien, either by suit in court, or a sale under the mortgage

;

that is to say, he must in some way resort to the property, to realize

for his debt. Equity will not permit him to keep it all. And if

he sells or converts it into money, he must account for the proceeds

over and above the amount of his mortgage debt, etc. But the

mortgage did not become due at the time before stated ; the part-

nership was not then dissolved ; it was continued by mutual consent,

and, finally, dissolved in the manner provided by the articles of

copartnership. And, now, there is to be an accounting and final

settlement of the property and affairs of this firm, and that this

$45,000 loan is to enter into that accounting, is clear, because a

part of the mortgaged property, is the profits which may remain in
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the firm, belonging to the plaintiif aftei- dissolution (see argument to

recover). These profits cannot be ascertained until an accounting

be had. All this upon the assumption that the mortgage is still

outstanding and unpaid, but the complaint alleges that before the

dissolution, it was, substantially, paid and satisfied.

If, therefore, a partnership be shown to exist in the profits and

property of a firm, and there be a dissolution, and the parties are

unable to agree among themselves as to the disposition and control

of the property, upon a bill filed by one partner to close up the con-

cern, is a matter of course to appoint a receiver. [Law v. Ford, 2

Paige, 310; Goulding v. Bain, 4 Sanford, 717; Wright v.

Stimpson, 2 Barb. 379 ; Dayton Wilhs, 17 How. 510.) Accord-

ingly, there must be a receiver in this case.

The very unpleasant relations apparently existing between plain-

tiff and defendant, together with the acts of misconduct and mis-

appropriation of funds changed against the defendant in the

complaint, indicate the impropriety of appointing him such receiver,

as desired by the defendant's counsel. As regards the person here-

tofore appointed receivei;, while no direct charges of unfitness are

alleged against him, yet it is said he is a stranger to the parties, and

has not given adequate security, and indicating a fear and anxiety,

on the part of defendant and his counsel, that the funds would not

be safe in his hands and control. While I do not feel at liberty, on

these grounds alone, to put upon this receiver the stigma of a re-

moval for personal unfitness, I am desirous, nevertheless, that there

should be no reasonable ground for suspicion or anxiety as to the

entire fitness of the person so appointed, and the absolute security

of the fund. I have concluded, therefore, to appoint an additional

or co-receiver ; and I do, accordingly, direct that Thomas J. Barr,

whom I personally know to be a fit person in all respects, be ap-

pointed co-receiver of the property and eff"ects of such firm, with

full power as such receiver. And that he give security for the

faithful performance of his duty in the sum of $50,000, with two

sureties, to justify before the court or a judge, if required by

defendant. That order must contain a clause, however, that the

fund be charged with the fees and expenses of but a single receiver,

such fees to be divided between the two as the court may direct.

The motion to vacate injunction and order appointing a receiver is

denied, without costs, and let an order be entered as above directed.

T. J. FITHIAJSr,

Justice.
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Indorsed : Superior Court. Abraham Clark v. Abraliam Bin-

inger. Opinion on motion to vacate orders. T. J. Fithian, Justice.

Exhibit Wo. 25. C. E. D.

The "Witness continued— From that there was no appeal taken,

and the order entered upon that decision stands now, and was in no

way reversed. Shortly after that, the Bank of America filed a

petition in bankruptcy against Mr. Clark and Mr. Bininger, and on

that petition a receipt of direction was issued by Judge Blatchford

of the district court, sitting as a court of bankruptcy, to the United

States marshal, to take this property. The marshal came down to

the store and got into possession, I commenced an equity suit in

the name of Mr. Hanrahan, as receiver ; wherein I obtained an in-

junction enjoining the Bank of America from prosecuting that

petition.

Mr. PAESoisrs— We desire to see these papers, in order that we
may know from whom this injunction was obtained.

The "Witness— I say that the injunction was obtained from Judge

McCunn. Hardy, Blake & Co. immediately filed another petition

in bankruptcy against Clark and Bininger, and a similar precept or

direction was ordered from the district court by Judge Blatchford

to the marshal ; I filed a bill in the first case and got an injunction

from Judge McCunn enjoining Hardy, Blake & Co., and they

obeyed that injunction.

Mr. Paesons :

Q. Do you state that those injunction suits were commenced in

the name of Hanrahan as receiver ? A. Tes, sir.

Q. Here are the three orders of injunction (showing witness

papers ) ? A. Yes, those were the orders.

Mr. MoAK

:

Q. What is the fact as to who was the plaintiff ? A. I see Mr.

Compton is on here as attorney
; these are not the papers to which

I refer.

Q. Have you the papers ? A. I have not ; they are on file.

Mr. Parsons— "We must be permitted to object to the witness

stating the contents of papers which are not produced, when we
have very good reason to suppose that he is mis-stating. If we
thought he was correct in his recollection, we would not raise the

objection.

The question being put, as to whether the objection should be

sustained, was decided in the afiirmative.
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Mr. Parsons—On any difference in the Senate, we will with-

draw the objection.

Mr. MoAK

:

Q. Go on, Mr. Morgan ? A. "When a petition was filed in the

district court, by the firm of Ives, Beecher & Co., an injunction

was granted by Judge McCunn, restraining them, which they dis-

obeyed
;
proceedings were then taken against Mr. Beecher for con.

tempt ; that motion came on before Judge McCunn, and Judge

McCiinn wrote an opinion and fined him ; I don't know how much,

whether six or ten cents.

Q. Is that opinion reported ? A. I think so.

Q. Do you recollect the title of the cause ? A. No, sir.

Q. Have you a copy of that opinion ? A. I have not.

Q. Go on ? A. The United States marshal and Mr. Hanrahan,

as receiver, were at this time in possession of the property ; a mo-

tion was then made by Mr. Bangs, in the District Court of the

United States, and also a similar motion in the Circuit Court of the

United States, praying for an order or a decree to the United States

marshal to remove all persons having possession, or claiming the

custody or control of this property, and that the marshal should

take absolute control ; that motion came on before Judge Blatch-

ford, was argued, and he rendered a decision ; Mr. Bangs then

renewed his motion, and that was argued on the question of comity

of relation between the State and the Federal courts, before Judge

Blatchford ; I hold in my hand an opinion which is certified, and

which is the opinion delivered on that motion by Judge Blatchford.

" I think when property is lawfully placed in the custody of a

receiver by the court which appoints such receiver, it is in the cus-

tody and under the protection and control of such court for the

time being, and no other court has a right to interfere with such

possession, unless it be some court which has a direct supervisory

control over the court whose process has first taken possession or

some superior jurisdiction in the premises. In the present position

of this case it does not appear that the court has such superior juris-

diction in the premises or such superior control," and he, therefore,

denied the motion for the direction to the marshal to take this

property. That decisions reported in the books, and on the ques-

tion of comity of relation between the State and Federal courts, and^

have often fancied, has more weight than all the decisions I have

ever read combined.

Q. "What next? A. The marshals were then withdrawn from
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the premises ; that motion I argued ; a similar motion came on in

the circuit court, wherein Mr. Pryor attended and also proceedings

upon review (if I understand right) of this motion, and the writ of

prohibition was also granted, which was also attended to by Mr.

Pryor.

Q. Granted or asked for ? A. Asked for ; he appearing, as I

understand, at that time ; in the month of April or about that time;

it was after that, I think ; the assignee in bankruptcy then came into

the Superior Court and asked to be substituted, nominally, as plaintiff

and defendant in the suit ; that motion was granted, and he was

substituted in the suit of Clarh v. Bininger / an order was

made directing Mr. Barr and Mr. Hanrahan, or Mr. Hanrahan, to

deliver over to Mr. Barr all the property which he had, which he

did, directing Mr. Barr to deliver over to the assignee in bankruptcy

all the property which he had, except and saving sufficient to satisfy

the liens which had accrued on this property in the State court ; Mr.

Barr did transfer to the assignee in bankruptcy all of the property,

excepting some personal property in Liberty street.

Q. What further, if any thing ? A. It was referred to Mr.

Thomas Darlington, as referee, to pass the accounts of Mr. Hanra-

han, and to pass the accounts of Mr. Barr, Mr. Titus, Mr. Compton,

and the sheriff's bill for fees ; that reference has been pending for a

year or more, and has been finally submitted to Mr. Darlington, and

he had not, up to the time I left ITew York, made his decision.

Q. From the time the proceedings were first commenced up to the

time they were finally wound iip by judgment in the Superior Coiirt,

there was a pretty active practice going on in all branches of the

Superior Court and of the Pederal courts in the city of New York?

A. Yes, sir ; both at the same time.

Q. What coimsel was engaged on the other side ? A. Mr.

Bangs.

Q. Bangs says his bill was $5,000 ? A. Mr. Titus—
Mr. Parsons— There is no such testimony, and I think it is

improper to state that.

Mr. MoAK— I didn't mean Mr. Bangs ; I meant the other gen-

tleman, Mr. Titus.

Q. Do you know what Bangs' bill was % A. Bangs, representing

the assignee in bankruptcy, of course, made no claim in the State

court.

Q. You don't know what his bill was ? A. No, sir.

Q. What counsel were engaged on the part of the receiver except

yourself? A. Mr. Pryor.
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Q. Anybody else ? A. That is all.

Q. Compton was not counsel for the receiver? A. ISTo ; Comp-
ton was attorney for Clark.

Q. So that you and Pryor were counsel against Bangs and Titus ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You state, prior to the time you made the payment to Judge

McCunn, on the ith of January, 1870, you had received of the assets

of the firm of Clark & Bininger, of the receiver, $1,000 ; when did

you receive that, and how ? A. It was November 26, 1869.

Q. You said you were appointed receiver in the case of Stevenson

v. Turner, in answer to a question put by counsel; state what

there was in that case ? A. The proprietors of a saloon on Banks

street in the city of E'eW York ; a billiard or drinking saloon, or a

sort of hotel ; I was receiver, and the amount of money in the case

I received was a couple of thousand dollars ; three thousand dollars

or something of that kind ; it was five or six years ago.

Q. Is that matter all wound up ? A. Long ago.

Q. "Without any pretense of unfairness or any thing else ? A.

Not at all.

Q. Mr. Gano was your brother-in-law? A. He married Miss

Waring, who was a sister of Judge McCunn's wife and my wife.

Q. He married a sister of the wife of Judge McCunn and your

own wife ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You were asked about the case of Hanrahan & "Weeks, as

receivers ; is that one of the cases referred to in the charges ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. The $6,500 that you received from the receiver; did you

receive that without any order from Judge McCunn for payment ?

A. Yes, sir ; Judge McCunn made no order ; and I may say, in that

connection, that I went to Judge McCunn for an order allowing

counsel fees, and he refused to grant it.

Q. When was the last time that Judge McCunn made any order

in the case, according to your recollection, as far as you know ?

A. That order of the 30th or 31st of April was the last.

Q. Thirtieth March you mean ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. On the 31st of March, whichever date it was, did you take any

part in arranging for the sale of liquors sold at auction ? A. ISTo.

sir ; I was in the habit of going there every day ; Mr. Gorham was

there ; a very responsible gentleman.

Q. Who was Mr. Gorham? A. He used to be sheriff of San

Francisco, and is not now in any business.

Q. Where does he reside ? A. In the city of New York.
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Q. Has resided there how long ? A. He came here shortly before

this Bininger suit.

Q. What is his pecuniary condition? A. He is a responsible

man ; no question about it.

Q. Where did you obtain the order from Judge McCunn modify-

ing the order of Judge Jones ? A. At the Superior Court
;
pos-

sibly at chambers or special term.

Q. Tou went there on that occasion, and found Judge Jones, who
had granted the order, had left ? A. Yes, sir ; or one of those

orders ; there are two orders, one on the 30th of March, and one on

the 1st of April, I think.

Q. Thirty-first, the other is, I think ? A. That was the first order.

Q. What is your recollection as to which one it was that was

obtained from Judge McOunn in Judge Jones' absence ? A. I think

that was the first order.

Q. What affidavits did you present to Judge McCunn? A. The
afiidavit here of Mr. Hanrahan.

Q. This afiidavit read and referred to here ? A. I have not heard

it read ; I have not been here all the while.

Q. Where is Mr. Hanrahan now ? A. I suppose ; I believe him

to be somewhere in Texas, or down in New Orleans, or in San

Francisco.

Q. When did you dissolve partnership with him ? A. last spring.

Q. Have you seen him since about that time ? A. He then com-

menced to practice law in Jersey City, and the first I knew he had

gone away, and had taken his family with him and gone on a

steamer which went to ISTew Orleans.

Q. Have you seen him since, or heard from him? A. No, sir;

yes, I did, I saw a gentleman who said he saw him in San Francisco.

Q. Tou dissolved partnership last spring ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. The spring of '71 ? A. Dissolved in the month of July, '71.

Q. That is not last spring ? A. It was about eleven months ago.

Re-direct exmnination hy Mr. Paesons :

Q. Who is Mr. J. T. Albright, whose name appears in Mr. Han-

rahan's account, as having received a counsel fee of $150, on the

2d April, 1870, on a motion before the Superior Court ?

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : We desire to object to that evidence

as immaterial ; there is no pretense that it was done by the order of

Judge McCunn, or that he ever knew of it or heard of it.

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President: That is no objection, merely on

the order of proof.
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Mr. MoAK— Mr. President: I do not understand the counsel to

announce that lie expects to prove it.

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : It seems to be pretty apparent, in

reference to all this testimony, and in fact to this whole case, we are

groping in the dark ; these transactions of which we are inquiring
were not in the broad day ; here is a circumstance we may be able

to conneet Judge McCunn with ; we think the employment of Mr.
Albright compares with the employment which was suggested by
Judge McCunn.
The question being put as whether the Senate would sustain the

objeetion, it was decided in the negative.

A. Mr. Albright is a lawyer.

Q. Had he at that time any relation to or association with any
justice of the Superior Court ? A. Not that I know of.

Q. Don't you know ? A. I know that he was in the office with
Mr. Bushnell, and that Mr. Bushnell had been oftentimes appointed

referee by Judge Jones.

Q. "What was the association between Judge Jones and Mr.
Albright ? A. None whatever.

Q. What motion was that for which Mr. Albright was employed ?

A. That was some motion before Judge Jones, I don't know what
it was.

Q. For whom did Mr. Albright act as counsel? A. For Mr,
Hanrahan.

Q. Who employed him ? A. Mr. Hanrahan.

Q. What had you to do with it ? A. Nothing.

Q. Did you see him ? A. I did.

Q. In connection with the employment ? A. I saw him in court

on this motion; it was some motion; I don't remember what that

motion was.

Q. Can you suggest to the Senate why it was that, for the motion

to come on before Judge Jones, Mr. Albright was the counsel

selected ? A. I cannot.

Mr. MoAK— Mr. President : We desire to object to that, on the

ground that Judge McCunn is not connected with that, in any way,

and there is no claim that they will connect it.

Q. Was that one of the motions, that motion upon which Albright

was employed, one of the motions upon which you represented Han-

rahan as receiver ? A. No, sir ; I don't remember now ; I can't say

what motion it was that was on before Judge Jones; oh, Mr.

Albright attended for Mr. Hanrahan ; he was employed, and what-

ever it was, I didn't interfere.
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Q. You stated, under the examination by the counsel for Judge

McCunn, that there was a receiver's bond in the penalty of a thou-

sand dollars ; when was that bond drawn ? A. At the same time.

Q. Do you mean at the same time of the second one? A.

Within a short space of time ; the first bond was in the sum of a

thousand dollars.

Q. "What day was the first bond drawn ? A. The same day the

second bond was
;
probably not more than half an hour before the

second one.

Q. Did you take that bond to Judge McCunn ? A. I did.

Q. Was the arrangement for the increase of the bond from $1,000

to $10,000 made on the occasion you called on Judge McCunn ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Was it for the insufficiency of the first bond ? A. No; all the

conversation that took place—I went up to Judge McCunn, and he

said, Mr. Morgan, this firm of Biniuger & Clark seem to be doing

a large business, and this bond is small, and you execute this bond

in the sum of $10,000 ; and I said your order is in the sum of $1,000

;

and he said, it makes no difference, you execute the bond in the sum
of $10,000 ; and that is why this bond came to be executed in the

sum of $10,000.

• Q. Were you right in saying to Judge McCunn's counsel, that

the bond given simply required a bond in the sum of $1,000 ? A.

Yes, sir.

By Mr. Benedict :

Q. Did you take these two bonds with you to judge McCunn ?

A. No, sir ; I did ultimately ; I first went with one bond to Judge

McCunn.

Q. And then he told you to make the affair one ? A. Yes, sir
;

I went back to Wall street again and did it, and I went up a second

time.

Q. You were asked for the counsel for Judge McCunn as to your

extensive practice in all the courts subsequent to the appointment of

Mr. Hanrahan as receiver ; whether down to the present time vou

have ever actually tried a case in court before a juiy in a court of

record ? A. I tried a case a few days before I was on the stand on

the last examination, which lasted four or five da^-s.

Q. Is not that the only case you have ever tried ? A. No, sir, I

have tried a good man^- cases.

Q. Prior to that time ? A. Yes, sir ; and argued more motions

than you have during the same time.
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Q. Prior to your examination before the judiciary committee i

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Didn't you state on j'our examination before the judiciary

committee, that one case was all that you had tried down to that

time ? A. I did not ; if the stenographer so took it down it was a

mistake.

Q. Can you name any other case prior to that examination ? A.

I tried the case of WTiitbeok v. Morgan a few weeks after that in

the Supreme Court in Kings county.

Q. Do you remember any other than those two in all the courts

ot record in this State ? A. I think that during this winter since I

was here, since I was on this examination, I tried the case of Harri-

son V. Toss in the Superior Court before Judge Monell, and the

trial was on two days, and a juror was taken sick and the case went

over ; it was a case in which one shot the other.

Q. You have stated Judge McCunn gave you a modification of

his own order modifying Judge Jones' order, which modification

required proceeds of the receiver's sale to be deposited in the New
York Life Insurance and Trust Company ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you explain how it is that when Judge McCunn had

made that modification the proceeds of the sale in point of fact got

into the Gallatin National Bank into your bank account % A. Not

after that time.

Q. Were not all the proceeds from the receiver's permitted by

Judge McCunn's order modifying Judge Jones' order receiver sub-

sequent to the 31st of March, 1870? A. Yes, sir ; there must have

been about $2,000 received since that time.

Q. The amount is not miich larger ? A. The amounts are over

$4,000 and $6,000.

Q. Explain how, if that order of Judge McCunn, requiring these

payments to be made into the New York Life Trust Company, that

the money got into your Gallatin National*Bank account? A. I

have not said the money got there.

Q. Didn't the money get there ? A. Some of it ; the explanation

of that is simply this : That that order directing this payment at the

same time provided for the payment of the expenses ; there was

money deposited in this bank to meet the expenses, and money

deposited there to pay this mortgage.

Q. Do you remember that you got another order, a third order

of modification from Judge McCunn, and that modification permit-

ted any use to be made by Mr. Hanrahan of money that he liked ?

A. I do not.
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Q. Is that tlie fact ? 1 don't know of any such order.

Q. Do you mean to say that you don't know of an order modify-

ing the order directing the deposit in the Trust Company ? A. I

Icnow of no order granted by Judge McCunn which did not require

the proceeds to be deposited in the Trust Company.

Q. Was there more than one such order requiring the funds to

be deposited there ? A. There were two orders ; the first order

was made on the 30th or 31st, as made, and there was another order

on the 1st or 2d of April.

Q. On the next day ? A. That or the day after.

Q. Wasn't there a subsequent order obtained by you from Judge

McCunn relieving the provision requiring the deposit in the Trust

Company ? A. No, sir, not that I know of ; these two orders re-

quired the proceeds to be deposited.

Q. You have spoken of services rendered by yon, among the

other services rendered by you to Mr. Hanrahan, as receiver, in the

preparation of bills of complaint, in three suits, upon which to

obtain injunctions against creditors who were proceeding in bank-

ruptcy ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Give the titles of those three suits ? A. Hanrahan, as

receiver, plaintiff, against Bank of America, and against Isaac

Beach & Co., and against Hardy, Blake & Co.

Q. Will you state whether there were any such suits brought by

Mr. Hanrahan, as receiver ? A. Yes, sir ; I drew three complaints

for Mr Hanrahan in three such suits.

Q. Complaints upon which judgment was obtained from Judge

McCunn « A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Do you state positively ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What did you do with the papers upon which these injunc-

tions were obtained ? A. When I come to think of this matter, it

may be possible that those injunctions of Compton have got in

there.

Q. Didn't you know perfectly well, when you were giving your

testimony, that the fact was that the suits were commenced by Mr.

Compton in behalf of Mr. Clark ? A. JSTo, sir.

Q. Will you still adhere to your statement that the suit was

brought in the name of Mr. Hanrahan ? A. Yes, sir ; if there is

a question about it I will get the^ papers now.

Q. There is, and you still adhere to the statement ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you apply to Judge McCunn, and in either of such suits

obtain injunctions? A. Yes, sir.

Q. There were three injunctions ; one in the suit of Abraham, B.
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ClarTt V. Milton B. Hardy and others ; another, Abraham B. Clarh

V. Banh of AmeriGa / another, Abraham B. Clark v. Frederioh

G. Ives and others ; state whether you procured from Judge Mc-
Cunn those injunction orders ? A. No, sir.

Q. Either of them ? A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know who did ? A. No, sir.

Q. Were they not all obtained from Judge McCunn ? A. Yes,

sir ; in Judge McCunn's handwriting.

Q. Was Judge McCunn holding the regular special term and

chambers part of the Superior Court when either of those three

injunctions, or when either of the three injunctions you prociired

from him were obtained? A. I don't remember ; I cannot say.

Q. Haven't you refreshed your recollection, and don't you know
very well that he wasn't ? A. I haven't refreshed my recollection

;

I cannot say whether he was holding the special term at that time

or not.

Q. Can you explain to the Senate how it happens that all these

six injunction orders were all got from one judge, and that one

judge was Judge McCunn, the orders being in six different suits

and obtained at diflEerent times? A. There is a question which

underlies this case, as I before stated, as to the relation of the two

courts, and Judge McCunn had taken the position that the posses-

sion of the State courts couldn't be interfered with, and the other

judges, in view of that fact, they being very grave questions, which

were not settled, didn't desire to grant any orders.

Q. How did you ascertain no other judges of the Superior Court

would give any of these injunction orders ? A. I didn't say that

wouldn't give injunction orders.

Q. How did you ascertain that the other judges of the Superior

Court desired that applications for such injunction orders shouldn't

be made to them ? A. I understood it generally.

Q. From whom ? A. From—I don't remember now.

Q. Did you ever hear any judge say so ? A. I think I did ; I

think Judge Jones told me so.

Q. Do you state that positively? A. I will not; I think Judge

Jones told me so.

Q. Did you ever apply to any other judge for any order in this

whole litigation ? A. I don't remember that I did.

Q. Don't you remember that you didn't ? A. I have no recol-

lection.

Q. There were so many proceedings, why did you always go to

Judge McCunn ? A. Because, as I say, there was a question in this

57
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case that a good many men didn't understand ; it was a new and

novel question, and they hadn't given it consideration, and didn't, in

all probability, feel like issuing these orders ; and I say now, as a

matter of law, these orders were all valid orders, and Judge McCunn,

when he enjoined the Bank of America, and Hardy & Co., and Blake

& Co. and Isaac Beach & Co., did so properly, and the orders were

valid ; had the right to issue them under the decision of Judge

Blatchford.

Q. Do you know Abraham B. Clark ? A. T do.

Q. Did you see hun pretty frequently fi'om November 16, 1869,

forward ? A. I saw Mr. Clark in the store.

Q. Did you see him pretty frequently ? A. I don't suppose I ever

saw Clark ten times.

Q. Did you ever see him and Judge McCunn together? A.

Never.

Q. Are you quite sure of it ? A. I am as positive of that as I am

that the sun shines during the day generally.

Q. When did you first learn that Judge McCunn was in the habit

of going to.Clark's house, and Clark in the habit of calling upon

Judge McCunn, about this litigation ? A. I never knew that until

I attended before the committee of the Assembly at the Eifth Ave-

nue Hotel.

Q. Didn't Judge McCunn on any of these occasions when you

called upon him for orders in suits in which Clark was interested,

didn't he ever raise the objection that he was in consultation and

advised with Clark ? A. Never.

Q. Never mentioned the matter ? A. No, sir.

Q. Never refused to sign any order upon that ground? A. Well,

yes; he didn't refuse on that ground.

Q. Didn't refuse to sign on any ground? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How did he overcome his scruples and finally sign the order ?

A. Because he made up his mind that it was his duty in his province

to use the injunctions which he did, and he was right; it is gener-

ally known in the civilized world—
Q. You have stated to the counsel of Judge McCunn that from

the time of your appointment as counsel for Hanrahan you were

actively engaged as counsel in proceedings in all departments of the

Superior Court and of the Federal courts ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Will you again make that statement ? A. That I was—
Q. Engaged as counsel for Hanrahan in all departments of the

Superior Court and Federal courts ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you appear as counsel, or take any proceedings as counsel,
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in the trial branch of the Superior Court ? A. On what motion, or

on what trial.

Q. That is what I want to know ? A. If you know tlie trial I

don't.

Q. Neither do I.

Q. You say that you acted as counsel for Hanrahan as receiver, in

all departments of the Superior Court, in the trial terms of the

Superior Court ; the departments of that court ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "What proceeding was it which toolc place at the trial term of

the Superior Court in which you acted as counsel for Hanrahan ?

A. The motion to punish* Beecher for contempt was on at Part

two.

Q. "Was that a proceeding in the trial term of the Superior Court ?

A. No, it was a judge's order.

Q. State whether you are correct, or whether you have not made

a mis-statement in respect to your having acted as counsel for Hanra-

ran in any proceeding which was at the trial term of the Superior

Court? A. I don't know that I have made any mistake ; it is very

certain that 1 was present on this motion at the trial term, when the

motion to punish Beecher for contempt was up.

Q. That was a proceeding before Judge McCunn as chamber

judge, he at the time holding the trial term of the Superior Court ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. There are two trial terms of the Superior Court ? A, Yes, sir.

Q. Is another department of the Superior Court the general term ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. State the proceeding in which you acted as counsel for Hanra-

han, which came on at the general term of the Superior Court ? A.

I don't know of any.

Q. Leaving out the general term and the two ti-ial terms, what

department of the Superior Court remains ? A. The special term.

Q. Is the special term the only branch of that court in which you

acted as counsel for Hanrahan ? A. I was there on the motion to

vacate the order appointing Hanrahan.

Q. "Why didn't you say to Mr. Moak, you acted as counsel for

receiver in all the departments of the Superior Court ? A. If I

stated I hadn't, it is clearly a mistake. There were no motions or

proceedings ever taken by Hanrahan, or against him, when I wasn't

in court.

Q. "Were any such proceedings at the chambers term ? A. Pro-

ceeding before Judge McCunn, holding, if I remember right, Part one.

Q. "Was he holding Part one in respect to this business? A. No,
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Q. "Were any of these proceedings, other than these proceedings,

.n the nature of chambers business ?, A. I don't understand that.

Q. What happens at Part one ? A. Trial term ; it was a motion.

Q. Do you mean that you didn't understand my question?

A. I mean to say I didn't the way you put it.

Q. Come to the Federal courts ? A. In that connection I will say,

that Beecher had violated an order made by Judge McCunn.

Q. I didn't ask that ; come to the Federal courts ; what proceed-

ings took place in either branch of the United States court, in which

you, as counsel for Hanrahan, did any thing other than to read one

or more affidavits ? A. On this motion, wherein this comity of

relation, between the State and Federal court, came up, the motion

was argued by me, and this certified copy of the opinion has this

indorsement.

Q. Wo matter about that. A. P. N. Bangs for the assignee, and

James F. Morgan for the receiver, and that motion I argued.

Q. Was Mr. Pryor present ? A. ISTo ; the motion ran through

two days, or it may have been in the morning, but, at any rate,

Pryor had made his motion before I got there.

Q. Did you open your mouth in that proceeding, except to read

some affidavits ? A. I argued that motion ; this question before

the District Court of the United States, as I have already testified

to, and there is no doubt about it.

Q. Bangs being opposed to you ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have stated, on your examination by Judge McCunn's

counsel, that the District Court decided that the view taken by Judge

McCunn was correct ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Maintaining the possession of the receiver against the right

of the assignee in bankruptcy
;
you have stated that ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have all those proceedings in the Superior and Federal courts

come to an end ? A. No.

Q. I mean so far as the custody of the property is concerned ?

A. They have come to an end in the Superior Court ; the assignee

in bankruptcy applied there for the property, and when the assignee

applied, the Superior Court directed the property to be paid for to

the assignee.

Q. That was on the ground the assignee was entitled to it, or

the receiver entitled to it ? A. That was on the ground that the

assignee was entitled to this property, when he came into the

Superior Court and asked for it.

Q. That is, as against the receiver, that he was entitled to it?

A. Yes, excepting the liens.
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Q. For commissioners ? A. That had occurred in the State court.

Q. For fees ; do you remember that when the order was made by
Judge Monell to remove Hanrahan, as receiver, and restrain farther

action by him, as receiver, there was a fund of about $4,000 in bills

which had been received by him on deposit in your safe ? A. No,

not in my safe.

Q. In the safe of Morgan & Hanrahan ? A. No.

Q. Where was the money ? A. Hanrahan had a safe of his own.

Q. In the office of Morgan and Hanrahan ? A. Yes, sir, there

were three safes there ; one was an office safe, and Hanrahan had

one and I had a safe.

Q. What became of tliat money ? A. Which 1

Q. That $4,000 ? A. That was in Hanrahan's safe.

Q. Yes, sir, if it was there? A. I don't know that it was there.

Q. That $4,000 about which you understood me to inquire ?

A. I don't know what $4,000 you refer to.

Q. Do you remember a sum of $4,000, or about that sum, which

came from the receiver to you pending the reference before Dar-

lington ? A. Yes, sir, I understand you now.

Q. Didn't you understand that before ? A. No.

Q. Was there any other $4,000 about which yon thought I was

inquiring? No.

Q. Tell about that ? A. Hanrahan paid this bill of mine as

counsel, amounting to whatever it was ; $11,000, or $10,000, or

$11,500, with this money.

Q. Was that after Judge Monell had restrained his making any

payments ? A. I don't remember as to the time.

Q. Don't you remember that ? A. No.

Q. Do you mean to say that you didn't remember whether that

$4,000 was paid to you, before or after that order restraining the

payments by Judge Monell ? A. I cannot at this moment say on

what day or time this $4,000 was paid to me.

Q. Is that the question I have asked you ? A. I presume that

is an answer to your question.

Q. Answer me the question I put to you ; do you not remember

that this sum, $4,000, or whatever it was, was paid by Hanrahan to

you, after Judge Monell's order removing him as receiver, and

restraining any action or payment by him as receiver? A. I doBr't.

Q. You mean to state that positively ? A. I do.

Q. Wasn't this the situation, that Judge Monell, in making his

order in April, I think April 26th, or whatever the date was when

Hanrahan came to make out his account, there remained a sum of
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about $4,000, and tliat that went to you and squared the account ?

A. I mean to say there was a balance of $4,000.

Q. Didn't that go to you 'i A. Certainly.

Q. So that all the proceeds of Clark & Bininger, as received by

Hanrahan, were used up in the expenses, with the exception of the

sum of about $4,000, and that you received as counsel, in addition

to the payments previously made ? A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. D. P. Wood :

Q. "What was the total amount received by the two receivers

from this estate of Bininger & Co. ? A. As near as I can say, Mr.

Senator, about $60,000; I think Mr. Barr received $40,000, as

near as I can remember.

Q. Mr. Hanrahan $20,000 ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Paesons— It is $22,000 ?

• The President— The Chair has received a communication from

the counsel for the accused, and from the accused to his counsel,

and which he deems proper to lay before the Senate, which the

clerk will read.

The communication is in the words following

:

Albany, June 26, 1872.

To the Honorable the Senate of the State of New YorJc

:

I inclose you herewith a letter just placed in my hands by my
counsel, who had been conducting, in my behalf, the investigation

now going on before your honorable body. It is impossible for me
to disregard the advice of these gentlemen, so distinguished at the

bar for ability and integrity. I therefore feel it my duty to yield

to the advice of my counsel, and leave it to your honorable body to

take such action in the premises as you may deem advisable.

Very respectfully,

JOHN H. McCUNN.

Albany, June 26, 1872.

Hon. John H. McCtjnn :

Dear Sik— The proceedings before the Senate of this State,

upon charges brought against you, and communicated to it by the

Governor, have reached a point where, as your counsel, we consider

it our duty to make the following communications to you

:

Before undertaking your defense we were entirely satisfied of

your innocence of intentional wrong in the transactions on which
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were based the charges against you ; and we have thus far seen

nothing to induce a change of the opinion with which we entered

upon the investigation.

Our examination of that part of the Constitution upon which

the proceedings against you are assumed to be based, viz.

:

"All judicial officers, except those mentioned in this section

(judges of the Court of Appeals and justices of the Supreme

Court), and except justices of the peace and judges and justices of

inferior courts, not of record, may be removed by the Senate, on

the recommendation of the Governor, if two-thirds of all the

members elected to the Senate concur therein," has led to the con-

clusion, in which we are supported, as we believe, by the action and

opinions of two former Governors, acting under the same, or similar,

constitutional provisions, that an unqualified recommendation by

the Governor of your removal was necessary to confer jurisdiction

upon thQ Senate. This recommendation the Governor has not, in

your case, made, and we are of opinion, therefore, that the pro-

ceedings before the Senate are not warranted by the Constitution.

The determination of the Senate to investigate charges for acts

alleged to have been done by you prior to the time of the election

under which you now hold your office, involves, of necessity, a mere

review of the propriety of your election by the people, a power

which, we believe, is not conferred upon the Senate. If it can be

done in one case, it can be done in all cases of the election of officers

coming within the provisions of the Constitution which we have

quoted, without reference to the conduct of the officers after their

election.

ISTotwithstanding these convictions, we were willing to aid you as

far as our assistance could be of service ; and the Senate having

determined that " all the rules, legal and usual, in courts of record in

this State, in regard to the introduction of evidence and the exami-

nation and cross-examination of witnesses," should be observed, we

hoped not only that the investigation might lead the Senate to the

conclusion that you ought not to be removed from office, but that

nothing for which you were not properly and legally responsible

would be admitted in evidence to operate elsewhere than before the

Senate to your prejudice. We beg leave, however, to state, without

intending any reflection upon the Senate, or upon the gentlemen

conducting the proceedings against you, that our views in regard to

the admissibility of much of the evidence produced against you differ

so widely from the rulings on the subject, that we are disposed to

question the propriety of our continuing longer in the position we
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have occupied, and to doubt whether our doing so would be of any

essential service either in your defense, or in excluding from the

record of the proceedings against you, of what we deem irrelevant

and improper evidence. We, therefore, with your approbation, are

disposed (and we would aviso you to that course) to leave it to the

Senators, unimpeded by you, or by us in your behalf, to make such

disposition of the charges against you as, in their judgment of their

power and duty, shall seem just and right.

If their judgment should be against you, which we earnestly

desire may not be the case, the jurisdictional question to which we
have alluded will, as we believe, be open to review by another tribu-

nal, if it should be your choice to present them there.

Yery truly yours,

II. E. SELDEN,
JOHlSr E. DEYLIN",
A. C. DAVIS, •

N. C. MOAK,
W. S. HEYElSrOR.

Mr. Chatfield— Mr. President : I move that the hour of adjourn-

ment be indefinitely postponed.

Mr. Peeet— I move to amend the motion of the senator by

adjourning until to-morrow morning at 9 o'clock.

Mr. EoBiNSON— Mr. President : I desire to inquire at what time

the case of Judge Curtis is returnable ; I think it was 1 o'clock this

evening.

The Peesident —- It was returnable before the committee, the

Chair is advised.

Mr. Palmee— Mr. President; I move an amendment to the

amendment, that we take a recess until 8 o'clock.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I don't see any occasion for

changing our course of proceedings in consequence of any thing that

has taken place here within the last few moments ; it appears to me
it is our duty to go on as we have begun and as we have ruled, fix-

ing the time of our session, the length of the session, and I think

we should take the usual adjournment until to-morrow morning,

unless there is other business ; it is suggested that this case may be

finished to night ; if any such encouragement as that can be given

by the counsel for the prosecution, I should have no objection to sit

until 8 o'clock ; I think we had better adjourn until to-morrow

morning, and that will give the counsel time to consult.

Mr. Paesons— Mr. President : I simply desire to express the
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hope that the Senate will abstain from taking a recess out of defer-

ence to any surprise which they may think has occurred on our side,

or any want of readiness to meet what we do not regard as an emer-

gency ; we are prepared to go right on.

By Mr. Peeey— I had intended, without reference to the com-

munication received, to make a motion to adjourn until to-morrow

morning at 9 o'clock ; we have been in continuous session eight

hours, and, on consultation with some of the senators, I am satisfied

it is the desire we should have some rest, without regard to any

communication or any matters that have come up recently ; I think

it is imminently proper we should adjourn until to-morrow morn-

ing and go to work in the usual way, and I insist upon my amend-

ment.

The President— The hour of 1 o'clock having arrived, the

Senate is adjourned until to-morrow morning at 9 o'clock.

Albany, June 27, 1872.

The Senaste met at 9 a. m., pursuant to adjournment.

The President Plon. Allen 0. Beach, in the chair.

The Clekk called the roll, and the following senators were found

to be present

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock, Dickin-

son, Foster, Graham, Lewis, Lowery, Madden, Perry, Robertson,

Tiemann, "Weismann, D. P. "Wood, J. "Wood.

Messrs. Parsons, Van Cott, Stickney, and Harrison, appeared as

counsel, in behalf of the prosecution.

The respondent did not appear, either in person or by counsel.

The President—A quorum being present, the prosecution will

proceed with the case.

Mr. Harrison— "Will the Clerk please call James M. Gano.

The Clerk called James M. Gano ; no response was made.

Mr. Harrison— "We ask that the sergeant-at-arms be instructed

to attach him and bring him into the Senate chamber,

George N. Bangs, called on behalf of the people, being duly

sworn, testified as follows

Bt Mr. Parsons :

Q. Are you an attorney and counselor at law ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Of what firm ? A. Of the firm of Bangs & North now.

58
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Q. Are you a partner, and for how many years have you been a

partner in the business of Francis N". Bangs ? A. Yes, sir ; for six

or seven years.

Q. Do you remember certain proceedings in the Superior Court

of the city of New York, before Justice J. H. McOunn, in the suit,

or growing out of the suit of Olarh v. Bininger against John C.

Beecher, as assignee of A. Bininger & Co. ? A. I do.

Q. State, if you please, any thing which came under you observa-

tion on the part of Judge McCunn with reference to any arrest of

Mr. Beecher ? A. Within a day or two of Mr. Beecher's appoint-

ment as assignee in bankruptcy of Mr. Bininger and Mr. Clark,

Mr. Beecher brought to the oiSce an order to show cause which had

been served upon him that morning about 10 o'clock, returnable

before Judge McCunn at half-past 10 ; the order requiring him to

show cause why he should not be attached for contempt in making a

claim to the property of Bininger & Clark as receiver ; I went to

the Superior Court in response to that order (as it was returnable

immediately) early in the morning ; Judge McCunn was holding

trial term ; Mr. Jas. F. Morgan appeared there ; before the calling

of the calendar, when Judge McCunn came in and took his seat, he

inquired of Mr. Morgan if he had any business in court ; Mr.

Morgan announced that he appeard in the matter of Bininger, and

Judge McCunn inquired if Mr. Beecher was in court ; no response

was made ; on his inquiry again, I announced that I appeared as

representing Mr. Beecher, stating the fact that an order had just been

served ; and the judge demanded that Mr. Beecher should attend,

and inquired where Mr. Beecher was ; I replied that I did not

know, and he then ordered an otiieer of the court, who was stand-

ing hj, to go and bring Mr. Beecher ; he directed him to go with

me ; I declined to go with the officer, and I immediately left the

court-room and went down to the office.

Q. Did the ofiicer leave on the direction of Judge McCunn ? A.

He did.

Q. "Was any warrant or any authority of any kind prepared,

wliile you were there and fm-nished to the ofiicer? A. JSTone

whatever.

Q. How shortly after the direction from Judge McCunn for him
to go and bring Mr. Beecher did he start ? A. Immediately.

Q. "Was there time for the preparation of any papers of any

kind ? A. No, sir.

Q. I have been informed, sir, that something, at some time,

occurred in your presence, on the part of Judjgre McCunn. to the
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effect that he would take certain action against Mr. Bininger ; do

you remember any declaration of that kind ? A. No, I do not

recollect.

Q, Any thing to the effect that he would drive him away, or any

such expression ? A. No, I don't recollect any sach thing in my
presence.

Edwaed Yan Ness, a witness, called in behalf of the people,

being duly sworn, testified as follows

:

Mr. Sticknet:

Q. Mr. Van Ness, your are a counselor at law in the city of New
York? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "What connection had you with the case of Van JVess v.

Taliaferro ? A. I was the plaintiff.

Q. Did you appear in person in that suit ? A. No, sir.

Q. Who was the plaintiff's attorney ? A. Sidney "W. Cooper.

Q. The case was pending in the Superior Court, was it? A.

The cause had been referred, by consent, to Thomas Edsall.

Q. It had been referred by consent ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was that by consent of the parties, or not ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And will you state what afterward took place? A. The
action was brought to test the title to about $3,000, which was in the

hands of Leeds & Miner, auctioneers ; all the defendants appeared

and put in answers ; the attorneys for all the parties referred this

action, by consent, to Thomas Edsall ; and all the parties appeared

before Thomas Edsall, and the plaintifi' rested.

Q. Howfar had the hearing before Thomas Edsall proceeded? A.

The plaintiff had produced his evidence and been cross-examined

and had rested ; one of the defendants then moved, on an affidavit,

that he had not personally given his consent to this reference.

Q. His attorney consented ? A. His attorney had consented.

Q. What was the motion then made ? A. He made a motion

before Judge McCunn to set aside this order of reference, on the

ground that the case was not referable ; that it ought to be brought

before the court.

Q. By whom had the order of reference been entered ? A. By
Judge McCunn, on consent.

Mr. Sticknet— I will read to the Senate, from the files of the

court, the original order to show cause, granted by Judge McCunn,

and ask to have that order, with the papers annexed, put in evidence,

and it will be marked exhibit No. 26 :
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Exhibit -No. 26.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court, held at the City Hall in

the city of New York, on the 5th day of June, 1869.

Present— Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice.

Edwakd Van Nbss

Sakah a, Taliaperko, Balthbzak Dbckek,
Hbnrt H. Leeds andAllbk B. Miner.

Upon the affidavit of Sarah A. Taliaferro, and the order made

herein and entered on the 4th inst., and on motion of Mr. Cooper,

plaintifE 's attorney, let the defendants Taliaferro and Deckert show

cause, before one of the justices of the court, at the City Hall, in

the city of New York, on the 7th day of June, instant, at 10

o'clock in the forenoon of that day, why the said order, made and

entered herein, on the 4th day of June, instant, should not be

vacated, and for such other and further relief as to the court may
seem just, with costs. In the mean time, let the reference now
pending before Thomas H. Edsall, Esq., stand adjourned until the

hearing and determination of this motion.

J. H. McCUNN,
Justice.

Indorsed : New York Superior Court. Edward H. Yan JVess

V. Sarah A. Taliaferro et al. Order to show cause. Motion

vacating order appointing a referee granted, and a new referee

appointed, together with a receiver. "Wm. M.. Tweed, Jr., new
referee, and Thomas J. Barr, receiver. J. H. M. received, June 6,

1869. Adjourned to Monday. June 8, 1869, at 10 o'clock. Dated

June 9, 1867.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held at the City Hall, in the city of New York, on the 4th

day of June, 1869.

Present— Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice. •

Edward Van Ness, PlaintiiF,

agst.

Sarah A. Taliaferro, Belthaser Decker
and others, Defendants.

Order to show cause andfor
stay of proceedings.

On the proceedings in this cause, the consent and order to refer,

and on the affidavit of Sarah A. Taliaferro, and the papers on which
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the motion to refer was founded (and on sneli other affidavits and
papers as may be served upon the plaintiff 's attorney within two
days prior to the time of the hearing herein mentioned), let the

plaintiff and his attorney show cause before any of the justices of

this court, at chambers thereof, on the 12th day of June, 1869, at

11 o'clock A. M., at the City Hall, in the city of New York,

why the consent and order of reference in this action should not be
set aside and vacated, and why the issues joined in said action

should not be tried by the court, or for such other or further order

as the said judge or court may deem meet.

And in the mean time, and until the hearing and determination

of the motion under this order, let all proceedings before the

referee, Thomas H. Edsall, be stayed.

JOHN H. McCUNN,
Justice.

Indorsed: New York Superior Court. No. 1. Edward Van
Hess V. Sarah A, Taliaferro, JBelthaser Decker and others. Order

to show cause and for stay of proceedings. Order of June 4, 1869.

Sidney H. Stewart, attorney of defendants Taliaferro and Decker.

Exhibit 26, June 27. 0. K. D.

Mr. Stioknet:

Q. Before whom did the hearing on that motion to set aside the

order of reference come ? A. Before Judge MeCunn.

Q. Did you appear ? A. Yes, sir ; counsel appeared for me ; I

was there.

Q. On the hearing on that motion, did any party, by counselor

otherwise, ask for any thing except that the original order of reference

should be vacated and set aside, and the case tried by the court ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Had you ever received any notice of motion, or any order to

show cause for any other relief than that ? A. No, sir.

Q. Did all of the other parties, except the moving party, oppose

the motion or not ? A. They took no particular interest in it

;

I was the only one that opposed the motion; we regarded the

motion as so frivolous that there was no particular opposition made

to it.

Q. Did you appear in opposition ? A. Yes, sir, we appeared in

opposition; we merely stated to Judge McCunn that the papers

appeared to be frivolous.

Mr. Stickn-et — I will read this indorsement on the paper, from
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the files of the court, in the handwriting of Judge McCunn :
" Motion

vacating order appointing a referee "—
Mr. Lewis— What evidence is there that this is the handwriting

of Judge McCunn ?

Mr. Stiokney— Mr. Boise testified generally—
Q. Mr. Yan N^ess, will you look at the indorsement upon the

paper, and state in whose handwriting it is ? A. I couldn't say ; I

suppose it to be Judge McCunn's ; I know Judge McCunn made

that order.

Q. Have you often seen Judge McCunn's handwriting ? A. I

have occasionally.

Q. Tour best opinion is, that that is whose handwriting ? A.

Well, I think that is Judge McCunn's handwriting; I couldn't

say; I know his initials appeared in the order made on that

motion,

Mr. Sticknet— Mr. Boise testified that all these papers produced

by him, bearing the signature or the initials of the judges, were gen-

uine.

Mr. MuEPHY— Does the witness say he is acquainted with the

handwriting of Judge McCunn ?

Witness— Well, I can't say that positively ; I have seen his

initials to papers.

Mr. MuEPHY— Are you acquainted with his handwriting ? A.

No, I can't say that I am ; I know the order that was entered on

that motion, was signed with Judge McCunn's initials.

Mr. Stiokney— As these papers came from the files of the court,

under Mr. Boise's testimony, we will ofi'er it in evidence, and I will

take the direction of the Senate as to whether I shall read it or not.

Mr. BowEN— Read it.

Mr. Stiokney— " Motion vacating order appointing a referee

granted, and a new referee appointed, together with a receiver

;

William M. Tweed, Jr., new referee, and Thomas J. Barr, receiver.

J. McC.

Q. Do you know that such an order was entered ? A. After this

motion was argued, a month or two elapsed, and one day I found an

order on file, written out in full, vacating this order of reference to

Mr. Edsall and appointing Wm. M. Tweed, Jr., a referee in his place,

and appointing Thomas J. Barr receiver, and ordering Leeds & Miner

to pay the money over to him ; that order, I know, had . Judge

McCunn's initials upon it, and was acted upon by all the parties

;

that order was not in the handwriting of either of the attorneys to



TRIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN". 463

that suit ; I think all of them told me that they had not written or

drawn that order, and were all opposed to it.

Q. And had any party asked for the appointment of the
referee ? A. No, sir, they were all opposed to it.

Q. And had any party asked for the appointment of a new
receiver ? A. No, sir, they were all opposed to it.

Mr. Stioknet— In order to satisfy the Senate on this point, on this

question of handwriting, I will read the testimony of Mr. Boise

taken here :
" State whether or not such orders or other papers

among those produced by you as purport to be signed either with
the full name or with the initials of Judge McCunn are signed in his

original handwriting ? A. They are."

Mr. Peeet— Is this one of the papers produced by you ?

Mr. Stiokney— It is one of the papers produced from the files of

the court.

Q. What additional expense did that entail upon your party ? A.
About three or four or five hundred dollars ; I can't state the amount
exactly.

Q. In what form ? A. We lost the interest on this money for a

year and a half; there were the receiver's fees of five per cent.

Q. Allowed by whom ? A. They were allowed by Judge Monell.

Q. And what else ? A. Then I had to litigate with the receiver's

counsel ; he wanted $400 or $500 fees, and they were cut down to

twenty-five dollars.

Q. And was this fund or not, in the hands of Leeds & Miner
secure ? A. They were responsible parties, and would have paid

interest on this money ; Mr. Leeds so told me.

Q. Did any of the parties wish it removed from their hands ? A.

No. sir ; all the parties wanted to remain with them.

Joseph Lajkocque, a witness called in behalf of the people, being

duly sworn, testified as follows

:

By Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Mr. Larocque, you are a counselor at law in New York city ?

A. I am.

Q. Have you been so for how many years ? A. Since 1852.

Q. Do you remember a case in the Superior Court in the city of

New York, Brandon v. Buck ? A. I do.

Q. What was your connection with that suit? A. I was one of

the attorneys of the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Co.

Q. When was that suit commenced? A. The first knowledge I
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bad of the suit was, I think, about the 23d of February, 1870, when
I was sent for to the oiEce of Duncan, Sherman & Co., and there

saw Mr. Hanrahan, claiming to be a receiver, and a few minutes

later Mr. James F. Morgan, claiming to be counsel for Hanrahan, as

receiver.

Q. What did Morgan and Hanrahan say ? A. Mr. Hanrahan had

with him an order made by Mr. Justice McCunn, of which the

paper handed me by the counsel, and which I hold in my hand, is, I

think, a copy, dated the 23d of February, 1870.

Q. It is a certified copy, is it not ? A. Yes, sir
;
purporting to

appoint Mr. Daniel H. Hanrahan receiver of certain moneys which

were referred to as " mentioned in the complaint," and directing

that Duncan, Sherman & Co. should pay this money over to

Mr. Hanrahan, as receiver ; I was sent for to advise with them as

to their action in the premises ; upon examining the order I found

that, in the first place, it did not appear on whose application the

order had been made ; there was an attorney for the plaintiff men-

tioned, and in the next place the money which was directed to be

paid was described as money " mentioned in the complaint." I called

Mr. Morgan's attention to the fact that the papers were incomplete

;

that, in order to advise my client properly, a copy of the complaint

should be served with the order. Upon that suggestion, he prom-

ised to send me a copy of the complaint, and the matter stood over

until the following day.

Q. Your clients, Duncan, Sherman & Co., were mentioned as

defendants in the suit ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Was any summons served upon them ? A. ISTot to my knowl-

edge.

Q. Or any paper except this order for the receivership, which was

presented by Mr. Hanrahan ? A. The first intimation, so far as I

know, that any one had of the pendency of any such a suit, was the

demand of this money by Mr. Hanrahan, under this order.

Q. "Will you state what finally appeared to be the money which

was alleged to be covered by the terms of that order ? A. By an

act of the Legislature, a charter had been granted to a company,

known as the Hansom Cab company, and under the act of the com-

pany, was authorized to organize when subscriptions to the capital

stock to a certain amount should have been made, and the percentage

of such subscriptions deposited ; my recollection is that the subscrip-

tions were twenty-four per cent ; I won't be positive about that.

Preliminary to the organization, books of subscription had been

opened in various places, among others, the oflice of Duncan, Sher-
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man & Co., and subscriptions toward the capital stock of this com-

pany had been there received, and deposits made of those subscrip-

tions ; those deposits amounted to about the sum of $12,000.

By Mr. Muephy :

Q. Are you stating this of your own personal knowledge ? A. I

am, so far as the papers and books have been under my view, and I

have been engaged as counsel in conducting that business of the

firm ; I didn't see the subscriptions or the parties making them.

By Mr. Stioknet :

Q. Go on ? A. The company failed to organize ; no satisfactory

evidence, as I am advised, ever being presented of enough subscrip-

tion having been made ; this suit in which this receivership was

made was brought by Mr. Brandon, who was one of the corporators,

and one of the promoters of this corporation ; claiming moneys due

him on account of expenditures made on account of the corporation.

Q. And was this money, so far as you understood it, then, money
for which Messrs. Duncan, Sherman & Co. were liable to the sub-

scribers, in case the full amount required by the act was not paid in

or on the subscriptions ? A. All I can say as to that is, that in a

subsequent suit brought for the purpose of adjudging the title to this

money, it was adjudged to belong to the persons who had paid it on

subscription.

Q. Was there in the papers, the complaint in the suit, or in any

other papers, any plea put forward on the part of the plaintiff, that

he was entitled from the corporation to certain compensation for

services rendered in organizing ; services and disbursements ? A.

My recollection is, that the claim was to compensation and reim-

bursement for services and disbursements in obtaining the charter,

and made subsequently on behalf of the corporation.

Q. The corporation never was organized? A. Eo, sir.

Mr. Stioknet— "We will put in evidence, if the Senate please,

the complaint with the summons in this action from the files of the

court, and ask to have them marked Exhibit 27.

59
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Exhibit No. 27.

SUFEEIOR COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW TOEK.

Edwabd W. Braudon, Plaintiff,

agst.

Jerome Buck, Henry Spbab, James Stuart
Pearsb, Jacob O. Seymour, Jambs W.
HusTED, William J. Kerb, James M.
Atjstik, Alexander Wilder,Hugh Mur-
ray, Thomas H. Landon, William B.

Avery, James M. Adams, Peter Qillbs-

piE, Walter Koche and George Murray,
and William B. Duncan, David Duncan,
William Watts Sherman, Francis H.

Grain, composing the firm of Duncan,

Sherman, & Ck)., and Sidney P. Slater.

Summons— relief— com.
ser., Defendants.

To the defendants above named and each of them : You are

hereby summoned and required to answer the complaint in this

action, of which a copy is herewith served upon you, to serve a copy

of your answer to the said complaint on the subscriber at his office,

No. 247 Broadway, corner of Murray street, in the city, county and

State of New York, within twenty days after service hereof, exclu-

sive of the day of such service ; and if you fail to answer the com-

plaint within the time aforesaid, the plaintiffs in this action will

apply to the court for the relief demanded in the said complaint.

Dated New York, March, 7th, 1870.

DUBOIS SMITH, Plaintifs Attorney,

JVo. 247 Broadway, New Yorh City.

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Edward W. Brandon, Plaintiff,

agst.

Jerome Buck, Henry Spear, Jambs Stuart
Pearsb, Jacob 0. Seymour, James W. Hus-
TBD, William J. Kerb, James M. Austin,

Alexander Wilder, Hugh Murray,
Thomas H. Landon, William B. Avery,
Jambs M. Adams, Peteb Qillbspib, Wal-
ter Roche and Geobge Mueray, and
William B. Duncan, David Duncan, Wil-
liam Watts Shebman, comprising the firm

of Duncan, Sherman & Co., and Sidney P.

Slatbb, defendants.

City xsn Countt of New York, ss. :

The plaintiff by this complaint states

:

First. That he procured and caused to be passed and enacted by
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the people of the State of New York, in Senate and Assembly rep-

resented, on the 6th day of May, 1869, an act, of which hereto

annexed marked " A," which forms a part hereof, is a copy.

Second. That thereupon, and on or about the 24rth day of May,
1869, it was mutually agreed between the plaintiff and the defend-

ants (excepting the defendants, "William B. Duncan, David Duncan,
William "Watts Sherman and Francis H. Grrain), who are individu-

ally mentioned in section one of said act, with the exception of

James Stuart Pearse, who represented Charles Roome, one of the

individuals mentioned in said section one of said act, who had

resigned his interest therein and assigned the same to said Pearse

;

and James W. Husted, who represented James B. Archer, one of

the individuals mentioned in said section one of said act, who had

resigned his interest therein and assigned the same to said Husted,

as follows : They accepted the said act and the franchise and powers

thereby conferred, and the conditions thereby imposed, and that

they would organize and conduct the business therein mentioned

under the corporatename of " The Hansom Cab Company," under and

in pursuance of the provisions of said acts, and for the purpose of

accomplishing the same, would purchase such office furniture, fittings

and fixtures, employ individuals, hire offices, advertise said project

any business in the newspapers, and disburse such moneys in and con-

cerning the same as should be necessary ; and that a book for the sub-

scription to the stock of said company to be organized under the pro-

visions of said act should be opened, and that the defendants Jerome

Buck and Henry Spear, and this plaintiff, who were thereby

constituted their agents for said purposes, shall receive all moneys

which should be paid as subscription for said stock to be issued

by said company, and that this plaintiff should hire such offices, pur-

chase such furniture, fittings and fixtures, and employ such individu-

als, and pay for the same ; and the moneys so disbursed should be

repaid to him out of all moneys, property and assets which they

should acquire jointly as aforesaid ; and that for said money, to be

disbursed by the plaintiff, the said defendants (excepting said WiUiam

B. Duncan, David Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Grain)

should be individually liable to pay to the plaintiff his share or pro-

portion thereof, to be determined as by an equal division of the same

between them.

That under and by virtue of this agreement, and by reason as

aforesaid, this plaintiff, for the joint benefit, on the joint account

and at the joint request of said defendants (excepting said William

B. Duncan, David Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Francis H.
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Grain) and himself, in said enterprise and business hug, during the

year 1869, advanced for said rent of oflBces which he has hired, office

furniture, advertisements in said business, and individuals employed

in said business, certain moneys amounting in the aggregate to the

sum of $11,175, and has also purchased certain gas fixtures, fittings,

and has caused certain painting to be done, amounting to the addi-

tional sum in the aggregate of $3,500, for which he is liable to pay
;

and is also liable and has agreed to pay for rent of offices, which he

hired as aforesaid, $2,325.

That the plaintiff has necessarily paid out and expended, on and

concerning the procuring and passage of said act, the sum of $9,000,

no part of which has been repaid to the plaintiff ; that at or about

the time ot the acceptance of said act and said agreement, and on or

about the 24th day of May, 1869, it was mutually agreed between

the plaintiff and the defendants (excepting the defendants William

B. Duncan, David Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Francis H.
Grain) that the same should be borne and equally divided between

them and the plaintiff ; that each of them should repay to the plain-

tiff his said proportionate share thereof, and also that the same should

be paid out of any money or property which might be acquired by
them jointly in said business.

That no part of said sums so paid as aforesaid by the plaintiff, or

of said sums for which he has become liable to pay as aforesaid, has

been repaid to the plaintiff ; and he has not received any thine on
account thereof, excepting the sum of $4,200, which has been
received by the plaintiff, and, pursuant to the terms of said agree-

ment with them, has been applied on account thereof.

That by occasion as aforesaid there now remains due and owino-

and unpaid from the defendants (excepting said William B. Duncan,
David Duncan, William W. Sherman and Francis H. Grain) to this

plaintiff the sum of $21,800.

That the defendants (excepting said William B. Duncan, David
Duncan, William W. Sherman and Francis H. Grain) and this

plaintiff, have acquired, by occasion as aforesaid, in said business,

and which belongs to them jointly, the following money, viz.

:

$12,000 or thereabouts, in.the possession of the defendants William
B. Duncan, David Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Francis H.
Grain jointly, as composing the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Co.,

subject to the order and disposal of the said defendants, Jerome Buck
and Henry Spear, and the plaintiff, or subject to the order of Sidney

P. Slater, treasurer of the Hansom Cab Co., as appeal* with the

plaintiff and defendants, except Duncan, Sherman & Co., and said
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act and charter and the privileges therein conferred, which are the

total assets and property belonging to the defendants (excepting said

Duncan, Sherman & Co.) and the plaintifE jointly and acquired in

said business and under said agreements, which pursuant thereto is

subject to being applied to the payment to the plaintifE on account

of said indebtedness of $21,800.

That the plaintiff has demanded of the defendants that they apply

the said money to the payment of the said indebtedness due the

plaintiff pursuant to said agreement, but said defendants have refused

and still refuse to apply the same, or any part thereof, toward the

payment of the same or any part thereof, and through the defend-

ants, Jerome Buck and Henry Spear, threatened, and are about to

withdraw said sum of money now deposited with said Duncan, Sher-

man & Co., and so dispose of the same as to prevent the same being

applied toward the payment of said indebtedness due the plain tiff, or

any part thereof.

That said money and assets are not suificient to pay in full the

indebtedness and liabilities incurred in said business. That the

terms and conditions of said act have not been complied with, $100,-

000 not having been subscribed to said company, and twenty-four

per cent therein not having been paid in as required by section

four of said act. That said act, and the conduct of said business

therein mentioned as aforesaid, has been abandoned by said defend-

ants (excepting said Duncan, Sherman & Co.)

Wherefore the plaintiff demands judgment

:

First. That a receiver be appointed of all the said money and

assets belonging to the defendants (excepting said Duncan, Sherman

& Co.) and the plaintiff jointly as aforesaid, and that an injunction

be issued by this coiirt, enjoining and restraining the defendants, and

each of them, from disposing of, or in any manner interfering there-

with, except under the order of this court. And that such receiver

take possession of the same, and that the said defendants "William B.

Duncan, David Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Francis H.

Grain, jointly, as composing the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Com-

pany, pay in to the said receiver the sum. of money so in deposit

with them as aforesaid. That said receiver, under the order and

direction of this court, sell and convert into money all the other of

said assets and property, and that the same, together with said sum

of money now on deposit with said Duncan, Sherman & Company,

be paid the plaintiff, and be' applied toward the payment of said

indebtedness of $21,800 due him as aforesaid, and that the plaintiff

recover judgment against the defendants (excepting the defendants
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William B, Duncan, David Duncan, William Watts Sherman and

Francis H. Grain) for the sum of $21,800, with interest thereon

from the 5th day of March, 1870, and that the plaintiff have such

other and further judgment and relief in the premises as may be

proper, besides the costs of this action.

DUBOIS SMITH,
Plaintiff^8 Attorney.

CiTX AND County of New Toek, ss. :

EdwardW. Brandon, being duly sworn, says, he is the plaintiff in

this action ; that the foregoing complaint is true of his own knowl-

edge.

EDWAED W. BKANDOJSr.
Sworn to before me this 7th )

day of March, 1870.
j

J. MtntEAT Langan, Nota/ry Public, JV. T.

SUPEEME COUET OF THE STATE OF NEW TOEK.

Edwabd W. Beandon
agst.

Jekomb Buck, Henry Speab and

others.

CiTT AND County of New Toek, ss. :

Edward W. Brandon, being duly sworn, says, that he is the plain-

tiff in the above entitled action ; that all the facts set forth in the

foregoing complaint, which complaint forms a part of this affidavit,

are within the personal knowledge of this deponent, and are true in

each and every particular.

EDWAED W. BEANDON.
Sworn to before me this 7th )

day of March, 1870.
\

J. MUEEAY Langan, Notary Pitblic, iT. Y.

"A."

Chaptee 618.

AN ACT to incorporate the Hansom Cab Company.

Passed, May 6, 1869.

The People of the State of W^ew York, represented in Senate and

Assembly, do enact as follows

:

Section 1. Jerome Buck, Charles Eoome, Edward W. Brandon,

Jacob 0. Seymour, Henry B. Archer, William J. Kerr, John H.

Anthon, James M. Austin, Guernsey Sackett, H. Wilder Allen,
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1

Henry Spear, Austin Myres, Hugh Murray, John E. Crowley, Hen-
ry Yandewater, Thomas H. Landon, Edward Brown, John J. Walsh,

Frederick S. Massey, William Goldsborough, William Drennan,

Walter Eoche, John Kaiser, Jr., George Murray, Henry Suydara,

William B. Avery, Nathaniel Jarvis, Jr., Thomas Tileson, Kobert

Cochran, James M. Adams, Hezekiah D. Robertson, John H. Hyatt,

Peter Gillespie, are hereby constituted a body politic and corporate,

by the name of " The Hansom Cab Company, " by which title they

are invested with the rights, powers and liabilities of corporations, as

prescribed in the constitution of this 8tate, and also as set forth in

the eighteenth chapter of the Revised Statutes, so far as the same

are applicable.

§ 2. The said corporation is hereby authorized and empowered to

run cabs for hire in the counties of New York and Kings, for the

conveyance of passengers, and for that purpose may purchase, con-

struct, or cause tq be constructed, cabs suitable for such uses ; to

purchase horses, and all other property necessary for the transaction

of business, and also to purchase and hold such real estate as may be

necessary for stables, office and stations for the proper management

of such business.

§ 3. The said corporation shall be permitted to station its cabs at

such places upon the streets in the cities of New York and Brooklyn,

for the convenient access of passengers, as may be assigned for the

purpose by the respective mayors of said cities. The corporation

shall keep its cabs on hand at those places, at all hours of the day

and night, and shall be subject to their use and management, to all

laws and ordinances now in force, or which may hereafter be made

in reference to the licensing, numbering, control and management

of said vehicles. The mayors of said cities, respectively, shall apply

and enforce said laws and ordinances.

§ 4. The capital of said corporation shall be $250,000 in shares of

fifty dollars each, but may be increased not exceeding $150,000 for

every additional 100 cabs that may be put in use by said corporation

;

and the corporation may organize and begin business when $100,000

are subscribed, and twenty-four per cent, thereon paid in. The stock

shall be considered as personal property, and shall be transferable

on the books of the company as may be prescribed by the by-laws.

§ 5. The business of said corporation shall be managed by a board

of directors, nine in number, which number may be increased by a

vote of two-thirds of the members of the board. The said directors

shall be elected on the firpt Monday of June in each year ; and every

stockholder shall be entitled to one vote in person, or by proxy, for
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each share of stock paid in and held by him for at least

ten days before such election. The board of directors shall elect a

president, vice-president, secretary and such other officers as shall be

deemed necessary, and may remove such officers at pleasure. Said

board shall make such by-laws and regulations as they shall consider

necessary for the management of their business, which shall not be

inconsistent with the laws and ordinances in force. The anuual

election of directors shall be held at such hour and place, and after

such notice as the by-laws may prescribe. Jerome Buck, William J

.

Kerr, Austin Myres, Henry Vandewater, Charles H. Eoome, Edward

W. Erandon, Thomas H. Landon, Jacob O. Seymour, and Henry B.

Archer, are hereby constituted the first board of directors, and shall

hold office tiH the first annual meeting, and till their successors are

chosen. Any vacancy in the board of directors may be filled by the

remaining directors till the next annual election. In case of any

failure to elect officers on the day appointed, the corporation shall

not be dissolved for that cause ; but an election may be held on

another day, in such a manner as may be prescribed by the directors,

or as provided in the by-laws.

§ 6. The drivers of each vehicle belonging to said corporation shall

be entitled to demand and receive for the hire of such cab the fares

here prescribed, as follows

:

1. For any distance within and not exceeding one mile, for a single

passenger, thirty cents ; and for two persons, forty cents.

2. For any distance additional to one mile, for each mile and frac-

tional part of a mile, for a single passenger, thirty cents ; and for

two persons, forty cents.

3. For any time within and not exceeding one hour, for a single

passenger, seventy-five cents ; for two persons, one dollar ; and for

any time additional, for each hour and fractional part of an hour, for

a single person, seventy-five cents; and for two passengers, one

dollar.

4. In addition to said fares, as here set forth, the said drivers are

authorized to demand and receive one-half of the same in addition,

when the passenger or passengers are so conveyed by them between

the hours of twelve o'clock in the evening and six o'clock in the

morning.

§ 7. No driver of a cab belonging to said corporation, who is sta-

tioned at or near a railway station, steamboat landing or ferry, shall

leave the seat of the cab on the arrival of the cars, steamboats, or ferry

boats, nor shall he leave his stand till he shall be engaged by a pas-

senger, or some person authorized by a passenger.
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§ 8. Within ten days after the organization of said corporation,

the president and secretary shall cause to be prepared, and stall file

in the office of the Secretarypf State, and also in the oflSces of the

county clerks, in the counties of New York and Kings, copies duly

attested of the articles of association of the company, setting forth

the amount of its capital, its terms of duration, and its purposes. All

subsequent resolutions authorizing an increase of capital, shall be

attested and filed in like manner. Each stockholder shall sign his

name to such articles, ~with his residence, and the amount owned by
him.

§ 9. This act shall take efiiect immediately.

State of New Yoek, ) ,

Office op the Seceetaet of State, f
"

I have compared the preceding with the original law on file in

this office, and do hereby certify that the same is a correct tran

script therefrom, and of the whole of said original law.

Given undermy hand and seal of office, at the city of Albany,

[l. S.J this seventh day of May, in the year one thousand eight

hundred and sixty-nine.

D. "WILLEES, Je., Deputy Secretary of State.

Indorsed : Superior Court, No. 3. Edward W. Brandon against

Jerome Buck et al. Summons, complaint and injunction order.

Dubois Smith, plaintiff's attorney. Exhibit 27, C. D. K. Filed

March 21, 1870.

Mr. Stioknet—We will also put in evidence the order appoint-

ing Hanrahan receiver, and I will read these few lines from it.

" On the annexed summons and complaint and affidavit, I do hereby

order that Daniel H. Hanrahan, attorney and counselor at law, of

No. 14 Wall street, in the city of New York, be and he is hereby

appointed a receiver of all the money, property, debts, equitable

interests, rights and things in action belonging to the plaintiff and

the defendants (excepting the defendants hereinafter named), jointly,

or in which they are jointly interested, arising out of the business

and transactions mentioned in said complaint, and particularly of the

sum of money, amounting to twelve thousand dollars or thereabouts

in the possession of the defendants William B. Duncan, David

Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Francis H. Grain, composing

the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and referred to in said

complaint, and I do further order and direct the said defendants last

named to pay and deliver to the said Daniel H. Hanrahan as said

60
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receiver, on demand by him, said sum of money in their possession,

amounting to twelve thousand dollars or thereabouts, and refei-red to

in said complaint ; and the defendants and each of them are enjoined

and restrained from parting with or in any manner interfering with

the said money or property, excepting in obedience to this order.

"JSTew Toek, February 23, 1870.

" JOHN H. McCimisr,
" Justice.''''

Indorsed : IT. T. Superior Court, No. 2. Edward W. Brandon
V. Jerome Buck and others. Order of injunction and order

appointing receiver. Filed March 3, 1870. Dubois Smith, attorney

for plaintifE, 247 B'way, E". Y. city.

Mr. MuEPHT— Who is the plaintiff in that suit ?

The Witness— Mr. Dubois Smith : the name does not appear on

the order.

Mr. Sticknet— The order does not state that it is made on the

motion of any counsel.

Q. Will you state, whether or not a consent was given by the

attorneys on both sides to vacate that order appointing a receiver

and to discontinue the suit, and what took place in relation to that ?

K. Between the time of my meeting Mr. Hanrahan, as counsel, at

Duncan, Sherman & Co.'s office on the day of the service of this

order and demand of the money, and noon of the following day, I

ascertained that Mr. Dubois Smith was the attorney for the plaintiff

and communicated with him on the subject ; he expressed himself

as unaware that any order had been made ; he at once joined with

me in a consent to the entry of an order vacating this receivership

;

my impression is that the consent also covered a discontinuance of

the suit, but I won't be positive about that without refreshing my
recollection by looking at the papers ; that order was entered at

once, and that terminated that receivership.

Q. And when did you next hear any thing about this suit ? A.

The next thing that I heard about this suit was some time in the

month of March ; I think on the 21st of March, 1870 ; from a letter

which I hold in my hand, when I was sent for under precisely simi-

lar circumstances to attend at the office of Duncan, Sherman & Co.

Q. This was about how long after the suit had been discontinued?

A. About a month ; the former one was about the twenty-third of

February, and this one was about the twenty-third of March.

Q. Had there been any application to the court for any order or

proceeding whatever ? A. Not to my knowledge ; I found that
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another order appointing Mr. Joseph "Weeks, the deputy clerk of

the Superior Court, receiver, in the place of Mr. Hanrahan, had

been made, and that a copy of the order had been served and a

demand made orally and also in writing by the new receiver for the

payment of this sum of money.

Q. Had this money ever been paid over by Duncan, Sherman

& Co. to Hanrahan ? A. No, sir.

Q. "What had he done ? A. Nothing except to call upon them

for the money ; which they didn't pay.

Mr. Sticknet put in evidence the following papers, which were

marked Exhibit No. 28

:

Exhibit No. 28.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held in the City Hall of said city, on the 21st day of March, A.

D. 1870.

Present, Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice.

Edward W. Brandon

agst.

Jerome Buck,Henry Spear, James Stuart
Pbarsb, Jacob 0. Seymour, Jambs W. Hal-
STBD, William J. Kerr, James M. Austin,

Alexander Wilder, Hugh Murray,

Thomas H. Landon, William B. Ayery,

James M. Adams, Peter Gillespie, Wal-
ter Roche,and GeorgeMurray and Wil-

liam B. Duncan, William Watt Sher-

man and Francis H. Grain, composing the

firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and

Sidney P. Slater.

A motion having been made in the above-entitled action for the

appointment of John J. Murphy as receiver therein, and it appear-

ing satisfactorily to me that Daniel H. Hanrahan, was, by a former

order of this court, appointed receiver in the said action ; now, upon

the summons and complaint in said action, and upon the annexed

consent of said Daniel H. Hanrahan it is ordered that upon payment

to said Daniel H. Hanrahan, of the sum of $500, the amount of the

fees due to him as such receiver, and not otherwise, Joseph Meeks,

Esq., deputy of the court, be and he hereby is appointed receiver of

all the moneys, debts, property, equitable interests, rights and things

in action, belonging to the plaintiff and the defendants (excepting

the defendants "William B. Duncan, David Duncan, "William "Watts

Sherman and Francis H. Grrain, composing the firm of Duncan,
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Sherman & Company, and Sidney P. Slater) jointly, or in which

they have any interest, and also mentioned in the annexed complaint,

and particularly of a certain sum of money amounting to $12,000 or

thereabouts, now in the possession of William B. Duncan, David

Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Francis H. Grain, composing

the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and subject to the order

of the plaintiS and the defendants, Jerome Buck and Henry Spear,

or subject to the order of the defendant, Sidney P. Slater, treasurer

of the Hansom Cab Company, being the sum of money referred to

in the complaint hereto annexed.

And it is further ordered that the said defendants, William B.

Duncan, David Duncan, William Watts Sherman and Francis H.

Grain, as composing the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and

also that the said defendant, Sidney P. Slater, on demand of the

said Joseph Meeks, pay over to him, as such receiver, said sum of

money.

And it is further ordered that the said defendant in this action,

and each of them, be and they are hereby enjoined and restrained

from disposing of, or from in any way interfering with any of the

said money, or of the debts, property, equitable interests, rights and

things in action belonging to the plaintiff and said defenda,nts (ex-

cepting said defendants William B. Duncan, David Duncan, Wil-

liam Watts Sherman and Francis H. Grain, composing the firm of

Duncan, Sherman & Company, and said defendant Sidney P. Slater,

referred to in said complaint), until the further order of this court.

Dated March 21, 1870.

(Enter) J. McC.

SUPEKIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF JSTEW YOEK.

Edward W. Brandon

agst.

Jerome Buck and others.

I, Daniel H. Hanrahan, receiver in the above action, do hereby

consent that Joseph Meeks be substituted as receiver therein in my
place and stead, upon payment to me of my fees therein, amounting

to the sum of $500.

Dated New Yok, March 19, 1870.

DAN'L H. HANRAHAN.

Indorsed : New York Superior Court. Edward W. Bramdon v.

Jerome Buck and others. C. R. D.
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The "WiTKESs— Tlie order appointing Hanrahan. receiver had been
vacated on the tvrenty-fourth of Febrnarj, according to my recol-

lection, by the consent of parties.

Mr. Lewis— Had he notice of the vacation? A. Yes; on the

same day.

Mr. MtJBPHT— I think the contents of these orders ought not to

be established in this way ; the orders ought to be produced.

Mr. Stiokney— I read from the original order.

Mr. MuEPHT— Where is the order vacating ?

Mr. Stiokney— That we had produced (D) before the committee

;

the original order does not appear to be on the files now ; it was pro-

duced before the Assembly committee ; it has been called for, but

does not appear among the papers produced by Mr. Boese. I now
read from the back of the summons, complaint and injunction order,

the following :
" In this case, if the first receiver consents, 1 order

that Mr. Meeks, deputy clerk of this court, be appointed in his

place. See order. J. H. McC.
Q. Will you state what then took place with Mr. Meeks ? A. I

saw Mr. Meeks, the new receiver ; called his attention to the nature

of the suit and the previous proceedings ; informed him that he need

not make an application to set aside this order, and asked him to

delay taking any action until I could have an opportunity, to which

he cheerfully assented ; I then prepared an affidavit and obtained an

order to show cause why this order should not be vacated ; before the

return day of the order I again had an interview with Mr. Dubois

Smith ; in fact on the 2l8t of March, 1870, the day on which this

was dated, I received a letter from Mr. Dubois Smith, which I hold

in my hand.

Mr. Sticknet—We will ofier that letter in evidence.

Q. Do you know the signature to that ? A. I am acquainted with

Mr. Smith ; have seen him write ; am familiar with his handwriting

;

I believe that to be his handwriting.

Mr. Stiokney—My associate thinks that we will not offer it in

evidepce ; it may be questionable.

Q. Have you Mr. Meeks' letter which was received ? A. I have,

also a letter which was received by Duncan, Sherman & Co., together

with a copy of the order.

Q. And that is from whom, whose is the signature ? A. That is

Mr. Meeks' signature.

Q. Are you familiar with his handwriting ? A. I am ; he is

deputy clerk of the Superior Court.
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Mr. Sticknet—I will read this letter and have it marked as an

exhibit.

The letter was marked Exhibit 29.

Exhibit 29.

Chambers of the Judges of the Supeeioe Coukt,
|

New Yokk, March 21, 1870.
(

Messrs. Dunoai^, Sheeman & Co.

:

Deae Sies—As receiver in the suit of Brandon against Buck

and others, I herewith demand the sum of $12,000, or thereabouts,

now on deposit in your hands to the credit of Messrs. Buck and

others. The Hansom Cab Company, or its treasurer, in pursuance of

the order I have served upon you. I will call upon you on Tuesday,

at 11 A. M. (to-morrow), and if the money is not paid over to me, I

shall take such steps to compel such payment as I shall be advised

by counsel, and shall move to convict for contempt of the order of

the Superior Court, appointing me receiver.

Kespectfully,

JOSEPH MEEKS,
Receiver.

Mr. Sticknet—The order, you remember, appointing Mr. Meeks,

provided for his appointment on payment of $500 fees to Mr. Han-

rahan ; did Mr. Meeks furnish you any evidence that the $500 fees

to Hanrahan had been paid ? A. He did not.

Q. Had you any evidence, then, that his appointment had ever

taken effect ? A. !No evidence that that condition of his appoint-

ment had ever been complied with ; a certified copy of the order

appointing him receiver, was left with Duncan, Sherman & Co.

Mr. Sticknet—We will then produce from the files of the court

Mr. Meeks' bond, as receiver, in which James F. Morgan appears as

surety, and swears that he is worth the sum of $10,000, over and

above all his liabilities ; the aflSdavit of verification being dated the

21st of March, 1870.

Q. Is there any statement in any of the papers, so far as you know,

or had it ever been claimed by any one, so far as you know, that

this fund was entirely secure in the hands of Duncan, Sherman &
Co. ? A. No, sir.

Q. How long have you known that firm? A. Ever since its

organization, I think.

Q. Do you consider them responsible to the amount of $12,000 ?

A. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Sticknet—I now oflEer in evidence a certiiied copy of the

first order appointing Hanrahan a receiver.

The paper was marked Exhibit 30, and read as follows

:

SUPERIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Edwakd W. Brandon, PlaintiflF,

aggt.

Jbrome Buck, Henry Speab, Jambs Stew-
AKT Peabbb, Jacob O. Sbymouk, James W.
HusTBD, William J. Eerr, James M.
Austin, Alexander Wilder, Hugh Mur-
ray, Thomas H. Landon, William B.

Avery, James W. Adams, Peter Qillbb-

piE, Walter Rochb, George Murray and
William B. Duncan, David Duncan,
William Watts Sherman and Francis
H. Grain, composing the firm of Duncan,

Sherman & Company, Defendants.

On the annexed summons and complaint and affidavit, I do hereby
order that Daniel H. Hanrahan, Esq., attorney and counselor-at-law,

of No. 14 Wall street, in the city of New York, be and he is hereby

appointed a receiver of all the money, property, debts, equitable

interest, rights and things in action, belonging to the plaintiif and the

defendants (excepting the defendants hereinafter named) jointly or in

which they are jointly interested, arising out of the business and

transactions mentioned in said complaint, and particularly of the sum
of money amounting to twelve thousand dollars, or thereabouts, in

the possession of the defendants William B. Duncan, David Duncan,

William Watts Sherman and Francis H. Grain, composing the firm

of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and referred to in said complaint

;

and I do further order and direct the said defendants last named to

pay and deliver to the said Daniel H. Hanrahan, as said receiver, on

demand by him, said sum of money in their possession, amounting

to twelve thousand dollars, or thereabouts, and referred to in said

complaint, and the defendants, and each of them, are hereby en-

joined and restrained from parting with or in any manner interfer-

ing with the said money or property, excepting in obedience to

this order.

Dated New Yobk, February 23, 1870.

[L. S.J JOHN H. McOUNN,
Justice.

(A copy.)

JAMES M. SWEENEY,
Clerh.



480 PEOCEEDINGS IN THE

Indorsed : New York Superior Court. Edward W. Brandon v.

Jerome Buck and others. Certified copy. Order appointing

receiver. Exhibit 30. 0. E. D.

Mr. Stickney— If Mr. Larocque will step from the stand a

moment, we desire to recall Mr. Morgan.

Mr. Lewis— I want to ask the witness a question before he goes

away.

Q. Do I understand you to say that that action was discontinued ?

A. I have not the paper before me, but my recollection is, that the

consent that was signed, provided for the discontinuance of the

suit as well as for the vacation of the receivership ; I will not be

positive about that however, without seeing the paper.

Q. At the time you made the motion to vacate the order appoint-

ing Meeks, was it one of the grounds of that motion that the

action had been discontinued ? A. No, sir ; I think not ; the ap-

plication which I prepared showed that the proper parties were not

before the court, and that the order had been improperly granted

;

those were the grounds on which we asked to vacate it.

Q. Do you know whether Judge McCunn had been informed

that that action had been discontinued at the time he made this

second order ? A. Not to my knowledge, sir.

By Mr. Muepht :

Q. Is Mr. Dubois Smith living ? A. I believe so, sir.

Q. Practicing in New York ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Sticknet— He hag been subpoenaed, I will state to the

Senate.

James F. Morgan re-called. Examined by Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Mr. Morgan, did you have any connection whatever with the

suit of Brandon v. Buck f A. I went down to the office and

made a demand of the sum, whatever it is ; $12,000.

Q. Did you have the order, or a copy of the order appointing

Hanrahan receiver at that time ? A. I think so.

Q. From whom did you receive that order ? A. Mr. Hanrahan.

Q. Have yon any knowledge where or from whom he received

it % A. I have no knowledge ; my presumption is, there is no

doubt about it, that the order was given him by Mr. Dubois Smith.

Q. Do you know anything of that? A. No, sir; I couldn't

swear to it.

Q. I didn't ask you for your presumption, did I ? A. No, sir.

Q. Did you have anything to do with the getting of that order
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from Judge McCunn ? A. Mr. Dubois Smith came to me at my
house and wanted me to get this order from Judge McCunn ; I

told him I would not, and would have nothing to do with it ; he

said he wanted to have Mr. Murphy appointed receiver ; I told

him, you will have to go to Judge McCunn yourself, certainly I

cannot go, because if I should go to Judge McCunn's house with

you, or have any thing to do with the case, Judge McCunn would

not appoint him receiver, if it is a proper case for a receiver; he

went to court the next day and Judge McCunn appointed Hanrahan

receiver ; he became angry, it seems ; came down to see me and

said he wanted Mr. Murphy appointed receiver, and the next I

knew he had concluded to set Hanrahan aside ; in the meantime I

had gone down and made this demand in compliance with the

order, and I saw Mr. Larocque.

Q. Do I understand that your reason for not complying with that

order was the impropriety of applying to Judge McCunn for orders 1

A. The impropriety of my applying to Judge McCunn for any

order.

Q. Did I not understand you to testify yesterday that you got

several orders from Judge McCunn ? A. In the Clark and Binin-

ger case, but in no others ; I had been applied to to go to Judge

McCunn every week in my life for orders ; never did so.

Q. Ifever have done it ? A. Except in the Clark and Bininger

case.

Q. Never applied to him for any order ? A. I say except in the

Clark and Bininger case.

Q. (Showing paper) Will you look at the order just now shown

you, produced from the files of the court, and dated February 27th,

upon Mr. Hanrahan, receiver, and state whether you know the

handwriting in which that order is ? A. I don't know the hand-

writing.

Q. Will you look at the name " Daniel H. Hanrahan," and see if

you know that handwriting ? A. That is the handwriting of James

F. Morgan ; that is my handwriting.

Q. The name of " Hanrahan " in that order appointing him

receiver is in your handwriting? A. Yes, sir.

Q. But you had nothing to do whatever with the procuring of

that order from Mr. Justice McCunn? A. ITothing.

Q. You state that lawyers have frequently applied to you to make

application to Mr. Justice McCunn for orders ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have the;y ever applied to you to make application to any

other judge for orders ? A. 'Ho, sir.

61
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Q. What do you suppose the reason to be ? A. I am sure I don't

know.

Mr. Stickney— That is all, sir. "We shall require you, however,

in another case.

James M. Gano, a witness called on behalf of the prosecution,

being duly sworn, testified as follows

:

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. Where do you reside Mr. Gano ? A. New York city.

Q. Where, in New York city ? A. I now reside at No. 309 West

22d street.

Mr. Haeeison— This is the Corey & Long case, which is the

second of the charges presented against Justice McCunn.

Q. What is your occupation, Mr. Gano ? A. I am a dentist.

Q. Are you a relation or any connection of Justice John H.

McCunn, of the Superior Court ? A. I married his wife's youngest

sister.

Q. How long have you resided at your present house ? A. About

four days.

Q. Where did you reside previous to that time ? A. Most of the

time at Judge McCunn's residence.

Q. How long were you a resident in Judge McCunn's family ?

A. About four years.

Q. Were you ever appointed receiver by Judge McCunn ? A.

1 was.

Q. Were you not appointed receiver in the case of Corey against

Long ? A. I was appointed receiver by Judge McCunn, but that

order was vacated by Judge Barbour, and I was re-appointed by

Judge Barbour.

Q. Did you act as receiver in that case? A. I did.

Q. Had you any personal acqiiaintance with either of the parties

to that action ? A. I knew Mr. Corey slightly, and Mr. Long also.

Q. Mr. Corey was the plaintiff? A. Yes, sir.

Q. (Showing paper) Do yoa recognize the signature to the paper

which I now show you purporting to be the signature of John H.

McCunn ? A. I do, sir.

Q. Is that his handwriting ? A. That is his signature.

. Q. Do you recognize the handwriting of the words interlined " let

James M. Gano be appointed ? " A. I think that is his writing.

Mr. Haeeison—We offer in evidence the paper to which I have

just referred, and I will indicate it by reading portions of it. It is

an order signed by Mr. Justice John H. McCunn, with many inter-

lineations and erasures. The erasures show that it was an applica-
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tion for a judge's order to show cause why a receiver should not be
appointed by the court. The interlineations show that after erasing

portions of the order which gave the former character to it, it became
an absolute order in these terms :

" On reading and filing the com-
plaint in this action, and the affidavits of Albert B. Corey and
Jacob Buck, and on motion of Roger A. Pryor, Esq., let James M.
Gano be appointed receiver of all the property and assets of what
kind soever of the late firm of "Walter P. Long & Co. , with the

usual powers and authorities of a receiver in such case provided."

Mr. D. P. Wood— May I inquire whether that is one of the

orders proved by Mr. Boese ?

Mr. Haeeison— It is one of the original papers produced from
the files of the clerk's oQice of the Superior Court, and proved by
Mr. Boese to be an authenticated record of the court.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. Gano proves it also.

Mr. Haeeison— Yes, sir. It is dated the 15th day of January,

1870 ; we suppose it to be the 15th. There is an uncertainty in the

figures, which indicate that it may be the 15th or 18th, but we
think it is the 15th. With that paper we offer in evidence the

papers to which it refers, which are the originals produced by Mr.
Boese and authenticated as the records of the court, viz. : the com-
plaint and the affidavits ; it is all one exhibit.

The papers were here marked as Exhibit 31, and read as follows:

Exhibit No. 31— C. R D.

*At a Special TerTn of the Superior Court of tJie city of New
York, held at the new Court-house in said city on the IMh
day of January, 1870.

t [NEW TOEK SUPERIOR COURT.]

Present— Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice.

Albbkt B. Corby
|

agst.

Walter B. Long.

On reading and filing the complaint in this action, and [on] the

affidavit[s] of Albert B. Corey and Jacob JBecTc, and on motion of

Roger A. Prior, Esq., [let the defendant show cause, on the 22d

day of January, 1870, at a special term of this court, to be held at

the new court-house, in the city of New York, at 10 o'clock in the

* All tlie words above printed in italics were interlined in tlie original order,

f All the words above printed in brackets were in the draft, but were erased in

the order.
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forenoon of that daj, or so soon thereafter as counsel ^[can be

heard why a] *let James M. Oano he apjxnnted receiver [should

not be appointed] of all the property and assets, of what kind

soever, of the late firm of " Walter P. Long & Co.," with the

usual powers and authorities of a receiver in siich case provided.

JOHN H. McCUNW,
Justice.

f [Dated ITew Toek, January , 1870.]

SUPEKIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF ]S"EW YOEK
AiiBERT B. Cobby

1

affst. y
Walter p. Long.

J

Summons—for relief— com. served.

To the defendant above named : You are hereby summoned and

required to answer the complaint in this action, a copy of which is

herewith served on you, and to serve a copy of your answer to the

said complaint on the subscriber, at his office No. 37 Nassau street,

in the city of New York, within twenty days after the service of

this summons on you, exclusive of the day of such service ; and if

you fail to answer the said complaint within the time aforesaid, the

plaintiff in this action will apply to the court for the rehef

demanded in the complaint.

Dated January Ibth, 1870.

EOGEE A. PEYOE,
Plaintiff^s Attorney.

SUPEEIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Albert B. CoEEy
)

agst. y
Walter P. Long.

|

The plaintiff complaining of the defendant alleges

:

That on or about the first day of January, 1868, the plaintiff and

defendant entered into a copartnership in the sewing silk business,

conducted in New York city, under the firm name of " Walter P.

Long & Co."

That the defendant was without capital or credit, and the business

of the partnership was substantially built up by the means and

energy of the plaintiff".

* All the words above printed in italics were interlined in the original order.

f All the words above printed in bracliets were in the draft, but were erased in

the order.
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That, on the 7th of December, 1869, the plaintiff sold out and
assigned his interest in the said copartnership to the defendant; and
the defendant, by the terms of the said sale and assignment, agreed

and undertook to indemnify and hold harmless the plaintiff from all

claims and debts then existing against the said copartaership.

That, in consideration of said agreement and undertaking, the

plaintiff retired from the said copartnership and delivered the pos-

session and control of all its property to the defendant.

That due notice of said dissolution was given to customers and

the public.

That, at the time of said dissolution the assets of said copartner-

ship were abundantly sufficient to satisfy all its liabilities.

That, in violation of said agreement and understanding, the

defendant, immediately on getting control of the said copartnership

property and assets, proceeded to turn them into money, and appro-

priate them to his own individual use.

That he has neglected and refused to pay any of the copartner-

ship debts against which he agreed to indemnify and hold the

plaintiff harmless.

That he has incited creditors who hold said debts to institute

actions thereon jointly against the plaintiff and defendant, in which

actions, by collusion between defendant and said creditors, service of

summons was made on the plaintiff only.

That said actions were commenced at the instigation of the

defendant, are conducted by defendant's attorney, and the expenses

of their prosecution are to be paid by the defendant.

That the defendant's object in these proceedings is to exempt him-

self and the late copartnership property from liability for the debts

against which he undertook to indemnify the plaintiff, and to throw

the entire burden of their payment on the plaintiff.

That the defendant is insolvent, and after payment of the said

debts of the late copartnership by the plaintiff the plaintiff will be

unable to recover any indemnity or contribution from the

defendant.

That the said debts of the late copartnership amount to about

$10,000.

That the property and assets of the late copartnership now held

by the defendant are equivalent to about $10,000.

That if said property and assets are now put into the hands of a

receiver they may be sold for enough to satisfy the said debts.

That if said property and assets be left in the possession or under

the control of the defendant they will be dissipated and appropriated
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by the defendant to his own use, in fraud of plaintiff and of the

copartnership creditors.

That in default of the relief herein solicited, the plaintiff will be

wholly remediless ; wherefore the plaintiff prays judgment against

the defendant

:

1st. That the defendant be enjoined from disposing of, or in any

way intermeddling with the property and assets of the late firm of

Walter P. Long & Co.

2d. That a receiver, with the usual and necessary powers, be

appointed to take possession of said property and assets, to convert

them into money, and out of the proceeds to pay the said debts of

the said copartnership of " Walter P. Long & Co. ; " and for such

other and further relief as to the court may seem just and proper

;

and for costs.

KOGER A. PETOR,
Plaintiff^s Attorney.

City and Cottntt of ITew York, ss. :

Albert B. Corey, being duly sworn, says that he is the plaintiff in

this action, and the foregoing complaint is true of his own knowl-

edge, except as to the matters therein stated on information and

belief, and as to those matters he believes it to be true.

ALBERT B. COREY.
Sworn to before me this 15th

day of Jcmuary, 1870.

Alfred Eebe,

Notary Pvhlic.

NEW YORK SUPERIOR COURT.

Albert Cokey,

agst.

Walter P. Lon&.

CiTT AND County of New Yoek, ss. :

Albert B. Corey, being duly sworn, says he is plaintiff in the

above entitled action ; that he has read the complaint herein, and

that of his own knowledge said complaint is true ; that in the pur-

chase of deponent's interest in the copartnership of " Walter P. Long

& Co.," defendant expressly agreed and stipulated to indemnify and

hold deponent harmless against all claims, debts and demands, on

account of said copartnership, as will more particularly appear by the

exhibit hereto annexed, and marked " A ;
" that in violation of his

said agreement, and in fraud of deponent's rights, defendant has

refused since the 28th day of December, 1869, and still refuses to



TKIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNK 487

pay any of the said debts of said copartnership ; that defend-

ant has permitted, and continues to permit, outstanding paper of said

copartnership to go to protest, the defendant at the time having

sufficient funds in the Park Banls to take up said paper ; that he has

incited, and is now inciting, creditors of said copartnership, especially

one William Macfarland, to sue deponent jointly with himself, and

has procured said creditors to serve process only on deponent ; that

defendant employed his own attorney, and at his own expense, to

commence said actions ; that meanwhile defendant is making away

with the property and assets of said copartnership and is convert-

ing them to his own use ; that judgment against deponent will be

recovered in said actions which deponent will have to satisfy ; that

defendant is insolvent and wholly irresponsible, in so much, that if

the said property and assets of the said copartnership be dissipated

defendant will be unable to exact indemnity or contribution from

defendant ; that the indebtedness of said copartnership amounts to

about $10,000 ; that the assets and property of said copartnership

now in the possession of defendant are of the value of about $10,000

;

and deponent further says, that besides, and in addition to the said

copartnership debts, the defendant owes individual debts to the

amount of $7,800.
ALBEET B. COEEY.

Sworn to before me this 15th )

day of January, 1870,
)

Alteed Eebe, JVotary PuUic.

SUPEEIOE COCTET, CITY NEW YOEK.

Albert B. Cobby
agst.

Walter P. Long.

Cnr AND CoTJNTT New Yoek, ss.:

Jacob Beck, being duly sworn, deposes and says, that he is the

lawful owner and possessor of two certain promissory notes made by

the defendant, Walter P. Long, which said notes were duly presented

for payment by one Howard Campbell, notary public, on the 11th

day of January, 1870, and that payment thereof was refused. That

the said notes amount to the sum of $3,850 beside the interest due

thereon, and said notes have not been paid, nor any part thereof, but

remain still unpaid.

JACOB BECK.
Sworn to before me this 15th )

day of January, 1870, )

Stewakt S. Caee, Notary Public, New York City.
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A.

This agreement made the 7th day of December, 1869, by and

between Walter P. Long, of the city of Brooklyn, county of Kings,

and State of ISTew York, and Albert B. Corey, of the city, connty and

State of JSTew York, witnesses that the said parties to these presents

hereby agree that the copartnership heretofore existing under the

iirm name and style of Walter P. Long & Company be dissolved?

from and after this date, by mutual consent.

And it is further agreed, that Albert B. Corey shall receive as his

share of the capital, business and good-will of the said firm the

amount heretofore agreed upon by the said Walter P. Long and

Albert B. Corey.

And the said Albert B. Corey does hereby assign, transfer, and set

over to the said Walter P. Long, all his right, title, and interest, in

and to all debts, claims, dues and demands whatever, due, owing and

payable to the said firm of Walter P. Long & Company, and also all

his right, title and interest in and to all the property, effects, capital

and good-will of the said firm.

And in consideration of the said Albert B. Corey agreeing to

accept the consideration agreed upon, and also in consideration of

the aforesaid assignment, the said Walter P. Long hereby agrees

that he will pay all and every debt, due, claim and demand of all

and every kind and nature whatever against the said firm of Wal-

ter P. Long & Company, and will hold the said Albert B. Corey

free and clear of and from all claims and demands whatever thereon.

WALTER P. LONG, [l. s.j

ALBERT B. COREY, [l. s.]

Signed and sealed in presence of

S. H. DOUGHTT.

CiTT AND CoiJNTT OF HeW YoEK, SS.:

Albert B. Corey being duly sworn, says that the foregoing is a

(true copy of the original agreement of dissolution of the late copart-

inership of the firm of " Walter P. Long & Co."

ALBERT B. COREY.
Sworn to before me, this 17th

day of January, 1870.

John H. Tuenee,

Notary Public, City cmd County ofN Y.

Indorsed : New York Superior Court. Albert B. Corey v.

Walter P. Long. Sum's compl't. Injunction order ; order app't,
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receiver and affit's. E. A. Pryor, plffs. atty., 37 Nassau St. Filed

January 17, 1870.

Q. Did you perform the duties of receiver in that case yourself,

Mr. Gano, or did you employ a substitute to carry on the business

and make sales ? A. I did not make sales ; I employed men who
were acquainted with the stock to make sales.

Q. Whom did you place in charge as your principal deputy to

make the sale of that property ? A. Mr. Isaac A. Conklin.

Q. "Who else did you employ there for the purpose of making

sales ? A. Mr. Corey.

Q. The plaintiif ? A. Yes, sir ; and several others that had been

in their employ, and understood the stock.

Q. And Mr. Corey, the plaintiff, under your employ, conducted

that business by making sales of property ? A. He sold some of the

property.

By Mr. Bowen :

Q. What was this stock ? A. Spool silk ; sewing silk.

By Mr. Haeeisoit :

Q. Had you ever carried on the business of a dealer in spool silk ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Had you ever been admitted as an attorney-at-law ? A. ~No, sir.

Q. Had you ever been appointed receiver in any case previous to

this ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was the case ? A. Mliott v. Butler.

Q. Who appointed you in that case ? A. Judge McCunn.

Q. Is that the only case in which you had previously been

appointed? A. ISTo, sir.

Q. What case was it ? A. I don't know.

Q. Who appointed you ? A. Judge McCunn.

Q. Have you made any accounting of your proceedings, as

receiver, in the case of Corey v. Zong f A. I have, sir.

Q. That accounting was before Mr. Ambrose Monell, was it not ?

A. It was.

Mr. Haeeison—We produce from the files of the court, the

original papers filed there by the referee to pass upon that accounting,

showing the referee's report and account, and the vouchers produced

by the receiver upon the accounting. This is one of the papers

which was produced here by Mr. Boese, the clerk of the court, and

by him authenticated as one of the original records of the court.

62
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The Witness—May I be allowed to state that all of this was done

under the direction of an order from Judge Barbour, and not Judge

McCunn ?

Mr. Haeeison—This accounting is very voluminous, and we shall

ask the attention of the Senate to only two or three items contained

in it.

Q. Do you remember the aggregate proceeds of the sale of that

property ?" A. About $8,000.

Q. How long were you in selling that property? A. About two

months.

Q. And were all the assets of the firm sold ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were all the assets which came into your hands, as receiver,

sold? A. They were.

Q. Converted into money ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. (Showing paper) Do you recognize that signature to that

paper which appears among the papers attached to the referee's

report upon that accounting? A. I should say it was Judge

McCunn's.

Q. Do you remember to have seen that paper before ? A. I do.

Mr. Haeeison—I will read the paper, if the Senate please

:

SUPERIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Albert B. Coebt
|

Waltkb p. Long. i
On reading and filing the application of Eoger A. Pryor, Esq.,

counselor at law, ordered that James M. Garno, the receiver herein,

pay to said Pryor, for professional services herein, the sum of $350.

(Enter.) J. H. McO.

The $350 is in figures, and appears to have been written with a

heavy stroke over the other figures, and then changed ; it does not

refer to any afiidavits or petition, or other paper, upon which the

order could have been made by the court, or by the judge of the

court, and it is not entitled as an order of the court, though it is

signed by the judge's initials, with the direction to enter.

Q. What were the circumstances under which that paper caine to

you? A. It was brought to me by an agent from General Pryor,

as I understand it.

Q. How do you know he was an agent from General Pryor ? A.

Well, I liave been in the habit of going to the office, and I have re-
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freshed my memory since I testified ; it was Albert B. Corey and
George L. Simonson who brought the order to me.

Q. Corey brought it to you, accompanied by Simonson ? A. Yes,
sir.

Q. What occurred when the order was brought to you ? A. I

looked at it and saw it was an order, as I supposed of the court, and
I paid the money.

Q. How much money did you pay? A. $350.

Q. To whom did you pay it ? A. To both of them, or to one of

them ; I don't know which one of them.

Q. "Who was George L. Simonson ? A. He was a man employed

by the concern.

Q. What concern ? A. I employed him to help make some sales.

Q. In the business of your receivership ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was Simonson's business ? A. He was a lawyer.

Q. Didn't Mr. Simonson appear in various proceedings in court

in this case, either as counsel or attorney for the receiver or for the

plaintiff? A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Wasn't he Mr. Corey's lawyer ? A. ]^ot to my knowledge.

Q. Had you ever met him previous to the receivership in this

ease ? A. I don't think I ever did ; I don't remember to have.

Q. How came he to be employed in effecting the sale of this pro-

perty ? A. I first employed him to assist in taking account of stock,

and figuring, etc.

Q. How came you to employ a lawyer to assist in taking an

acount of stock in a merchant's establishment ? A. I don't quite

remember how it came about that I employed him ; he happened to

be present, or some thing of that kind ; we had to take an account of

stock at night, and we wanted all the assistance we could get.

Q. Where was Mr. Simonson's office at that time, if you recollect ?

A. It was in the same building.

Q. Same building with what ? A. With the ofiice of my receiv-

ership.

Q. Where was the office of your receivership ? A. Corner of

Kead street and Broadway.

Q. Was that the store of Long & Co. ? A. Yes, sir.

Q, In which the plaintiff, Mr. Corey, had been a partner? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Was that item of $350 so paid to Corey and Simonson, entered

upon your account submitted to the referee in the case to pass your

account ? A. It was.

Q. (Showing paper.) Will you look at that paper, and at the entry
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there, and inform me whether the handwriting of that entry is the

same as the handwriting of the rest of the account ? A. It is

not.

Q. In whose handwriting is that ? A. That I don't know.

Q. Can yon explain how that came to appear there in a hand-

writing other than the handwriting of the rest of the account ? A.

I think it was entered there by counsel when I first went before the

referee.

Q. After the account had been made up and put into his hands ?

A. The order was sent with the account, I think, and it was a court

matter, and knowing nothing about law, I didn't know whether

that should be put in there or not, or how it should be.

Q. Then it was put in there after the account had been made out,

and after it had passed into the hands of your counsel ? A. It was

put in, I think, by my counsel, before it was sworn to, or was sub-

mitted to Mr. Monell.

Q. Who was your counsel in that case ? A. James F. Morgan.

Q. Do you mean James F. Morgan, the brother-in-law of Judge

MeCunn ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Haeeison—We call attention to the fact that it appears by

this account, that out of the aggregate sum of $8,000, the proceeds

of the sale of the property which came into the hands of the receiver

in this case, $3,888.49 are charged as expenses of the receivership.

Q. What became of the balance of the proceeds of the sale of that

property, Mr. Gano ? A. Mr. Bookmaster received some of it, and

the balance of the accounts are not passed yet.

Q. Who is Mr. Bookmaster ? A. He is the assignee in bank-

ruptcy.

Q. How much of it did he receive ? A. $2,500, 1 believe.

Q. $2,500 was paid over by you to the assignee in bankruptcy 'i

A. Tes, sir.

Q. And the remainder is still in your possession ? A. Tes, sir

;

with the exception of some fees of Monell, that I paid by order of

the court.

Q. How much? A. $350.

Mr. Haeeison— The report of the referee is dated May 15th,

1871, rather more than a year ago, and it is marked by the clerk of

the court as filed May 16th, 1871.

Q. Then all of that $8,000, except $3,888.49, charged to this

account as expenses of the receivership, and the $2,500 paid to the

assignee in bankruptcy, and the $350 paid to the referee as his fees

upon this report, is still in your hands ? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Where do you keep your receiver's account ? A. At present

in tlie Broadway Bank, and also in the Second IN'ational Bank.

Q. Did you keep any separate account of the receivership in this

account ; separate bank account ? A. I did.

Q. Where ? A. At the Union Square Bank ; it has failed.

Q. Do you still keep a separate account of these moneys, as

received in this case ? A. I do.

Q. Where is it ? A. It is now in the Excelsior Bank.

Q. It has been, during all the period since the money came into

your hands, and up to this date, a separate and distinct account, in

the case of Corey v. Long ? A. Not entirely so.

Q. During a portion of the time, at least, then, these moneys

which came into your hands, as receiver, have been mingled with

your other moneys and your own bank account ? A. A little ol

my private bank account, I think, in the Excelsior Bank ; I deposited

one or two small checks of mine and drew on that account.

Q. Drew on that account as receiver, and checks you gave against

your account of money as receiver ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And tlie checks you drew, to draw out your private account,

were also checks of the receiver? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why was that ; in drawing out private money you gave checks

against the receiver's account ? A. I deposited, as receiver, but there

was no other way to get it out.

Q. Why did you deposit it as a receiver's account, if you had a

separate account ? A. I had another separate account there.

Q. You had another bank account ? A. It happened to be handy

to do so is the reason.

Q. Have you been in the habit of keeping any other moneys

whatever with your private account, except those mentioned ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. What moneys? A. Judge McCunn's; I collected his rents.

Mr. MuEPHT—Mr. President : The witness has stated that he was

appointed as a receiver by Judge Barbour. I have not heard any

explanation of that matter. I wish to ask the witness a question

:

Q. Did you act as receiver under appointment by Judge McCunn ?

A. I simply took possession, and an order was granted, vacating my
appointment, and I left the building.

Mr. Haeeison—I am going to put in the documentary evidence

on that subject.

Mr. Mdephy—Well, let us have all the facts on that subject.

Mr. D. P. Wood—Mr. President : I would like to ask the witness

a question

;
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Q. Is Judge Barbour one of the justices of tiie Superior Court?

A. He is the chief justice of the Superior Court.

Q. On what ground did he vacate the appointment of you as

receiver ? A. That I don't know, sir.

Q. On whose motion was it done ? A. Tliat I don't know ; I

am no lawyer.

Q. Was your appointment vacated and your re-appointment made

by Judge Barbour, without your knowledge ? A. It was.

Q. Both done the same day? A. No, sir, I think not; I think

about a week elapsed.

Mr. D. P. Wood—I would ask the counsel if they have the

orders of Judge Barbour.

Mr. PIaeeison—I have the orders, and I am just trying to lay my
hands upon that order upon which the receivership was vacated.

We now put in evidence the order of Judge Barbour [original],

produced from the files of the Superior Court, as one of the

authenticated records of the court. It is entitled as follows

:

Exhibit No. 31.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court, held at the City Hall,

New York, on the 22d day of January, 1870.

Present—Hon. John M. Baebode, Chief Justice.

Albbbt B. Cobby
agat.

Walter P. Long.

On the complaint herein, the affidavit of Albert B. Corey and

Jacob Beck, and on the further affidavits, on the part of the plaintiff,

of George W. Simonson, and on the affidavit of Walter P. Long,

after hearing James K. Hill in favor of the motion and Eoger A.

Pryor in opposition, it is hereby ordered that the order made herein

on the 15th day of January, 1870, appointing James M. Gano
receiver of all the property and effects of Walter P. Long & Co., be

and the same is hereby vacated and set aside ; the decision as to the

injunction herein being reversed.

(Enter.) J. M. B.

Indorsed: No. 28. N. T. Superior Court. Albert B . Coreij ^.

Walter P. Long. Order vacating order appointing receiver, etc.

James K. Hill, defendant's attorney. Exhibit No. 31. C. R. D.
Filed January 22, 1870.
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Mr. D. P. Wood—What is the date of that?

Mr. Haeeison—The 22d of January. The order of re-appoint-

ment is also here, and is dated the 29th of January, I think.

Q. Do you know upon what grounds that order made by Judge

McCunn, appointing you receiver in this case, was vacated and set

aside ? Have you not heard Judge McCunn say ? A. I have, but

that is all I know about it. I was under the impression that it was

not legal, on account of being a brother-in-law of Judge McCunn.

Q. Did you not hear Justice McCunn state before the Assembly

committee why it was vacated ?

A Senatoe—Why ask him in regard to that ?

Mr. Haeeison—Judge McCunn stated in our presence, before the

Assembly committee, that the real ground was that just stated by

the witness.

Q. Did you hear Judge McCunn say that he would procure Judge

Barbour to appoint you receiver upon a new motion ? A. ISTo, sir.

Q. Are you not aware of the fact that the re-appointment by Jus-

tice Barbour was made upon solicitation of Justice McCunn ? A.

No, sir.

Q. Did you have any personal acquaintance at that time with

Judge Barbour? A. It appears to me I had been presented to him

once or twice.

Q. Who by ? A. That I don't remember.

Q. Where was it you were presented to him? A. I don't know

that; I am not positive that that was the case; whether it was

before or after this that I was present.

Q. Do you know how Justice Barbour got hold of your name as

a person to be appointed receiver in this case ? A. I think it was

proposed by the attorney, Roger A. Pryor.

Q. By the attorney for whom ?

Mr. Van Cott—He says that it was Eoger A. Pryor who opposed

his discharge.

Q. Who did Pryor appear for? A. The plaintiff, Albert B.

Corey.

Mr. Haeeison—We also put in evidence as one of the papers

produced by Mr. Boise, clerk of the Superior Court, the order of

injunction in this case, issued by Justice John H. McCunn, and

signed by him, and dated January 15, 18Y0, enjoining the defendant

from, in any manner, interfering with the property which was in his

hands, and which, at one time, belonged to the copartnership of

Walter P. Long & Co.

The same was here marked as Exhibit 32, and is as follows

:
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Exhibit ISTo. 32.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Albert B. Coeet
]

agst. V Injunction order.
Wambr p. Long.

J

It appearing satisfactorily to me by the alBdavits of Albert B.

Corey, Jacob Beck, and the complaint, verified of the plaintiff, that

sufficient grounds for an order of injuction exist, I do hereby order

that the defendant, Walter P. Long, above named, refrain from dis-

posing of, interfering or intermeddling with, in any manner whatso-

ever, the property and assets of every description of the late firm

of Walter P. Long & Co., and from all matters arising out of and

connected with the business of said late firm, until the further order

of this court, and, in case of disobedience to this order, you will be

liable to the punishment therefor prescribed by law.

Dated New Yokk, January 15, 1870.

JOHN H. McCUNN, Justice.

Indorsed : Exhibit No. 32. Copy.

Mr. Haeeison—We also offer that the order of the Superior Court,

dated Jannuary 28, 18Y0, present John M. Barbour, chief justice,

which was made upon a motion to vacate that order of injunction.

That motion was denied. Also the order of the general term of the

Superior Court in March, 1870, upon an appeal from the order of

Chief Justice Barbour vacating the motion to vacate the injunction.

The general term reversed the decision of the special term, and

vacated the injunction, the receivership having been previously dis-

charged. We also offer another order produced here by the clerk of

the court, an original record from the files of the court, of the 27th

January, 1870, made before Chief Justice Barbour. We ask that

these papers be marked separately.

[The same were here marked respectively as Exhibits 33, 34 and

35, and read as follows
:]
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Exhibit JSTo. 33, C. E. D.

At a special term of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held at the new City Hall, New York, on the 27th day of

January, 1870.

Present—Hon. John M. Baeboue, Chief Justice.

AliBEBT B. COSEY
agU.

Walter P. Long. J
The motion to punish the defendant for misconduct in disobeying

the orders made herein by Mr. Justice McCunn on the 15th day of

January, 1870, in interfering with the property and assets of the late

firm of Walter P. Long & Co. , and the possession thereof of the

receiver under said orders, and in otherwise disobeying said orders,

as for a contempt of this court, having come on for hearing ; on

reading and filing the order to show cause made herein on the 21st

of January instant, by Mr. Justice McCunn, the injunction granted

herein on the 15th day of January instant, the order appointing a

receiver, the affidavits of George L. Simonson, of Cornelius B. Cory

Philip Cosgrove and Albert B. Corey, after hearing Poger A. Pryor

of counsel for the plaintiff, in favor of said motion, and J. K. Hill

of counsel for defendant appearing in opposition thereto :

Ordered that the said motion be, and the same is hereby denied,

with five dollars costs to the defendant.

(Enter) J. M. B.

Indorsed : N. Y. Superior Court. Albert B. Corey v. Walter P-

Long. Order denying motion to punish, etc. J. K. Hill, defend-

ant's attorney. Exhibit ISTo. 33. C. P. D. Filed January 27, 1870.

Exhibit No. 34, C. E. D.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, held in the new Court House in said city of NewYork,
on the 28th day of January, 1870.

Present— Hon. John M. Baeboue, Chief Justice.

Albbkt B. Cokey
agst.

Walter P. Lons
J

On reading and filing the affidavit of Walter P. Long, and order

made by John J. Freedman, justice of the court, vsrhy the order of

injunction made by Hon. John H. McCunn should not be vacated

63
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on part of defendant, and on reading and filing the complaint in

this action, and the affidavits of Albert B. Corey, Cornelius B.

Corey, James S. Blake, Jacob Beck, Alfred Mellen, and order of

injunction made by Hon. John H. McCunn, justice of this court,

and the order of Hon. John H. McCunn, made on the ITth day of

January, 1870, modifying the order of Hon. John J. Freedman,

justice of this court, on part of ]DlaintifI; and after hearing J.

K. Hill, Esq., on part of defendant, and Roger A. Pryor, Esq., in

opposition thereto, ordered that the motion to vacate the order of

injunction heretofore made be, and the same is hereby denied, with

ten dollars costs, to abide event of action.

(Enter.) J. M. B.

Indorsed : jSTo. 9. New York Superior Court ; Albert B. Corey

V. Walter P. Long ; order denying motion to vacate order of

injunction. Eoger A. Pryor, att'y, pl'fE, 39 Nassau st., N. Y. city.

Exhibit No. 34. C. E. D. Filed January 28th, 1870.

Exhibit No. 35, C. E. D.

At a General Term of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, held at the new county Court-house in the city of New
York, on the — day of March, 1870.

Present— Hon. Claudius L. Monell, J.

" John H. McCunn, J.

" J. J. Fekedman, J.

Albbkt B. Coket, respondent,
|

ags,t. Y
Waltbr p. Long, appellant. I

The appeal from the order entered herein on the 28th day of

January, 1870, denying a motion to dissolve an injunction herein,

coming on to be heard on the printed papers hereto annexed, after

hearing James K. Hill of counsel for the appellant, and Roger A.

Pryor, Esq., of oouhsel for the respondent, ordered, that said order

be and the same is hereby reversed, and that the appellant recover

tlie costs and necessary disbursements of this appeal from the

respondent.

(Enter.) C. L. M.

Indorsed : No. 1. N. Y. Superior Court. Albert B. Corey v.

Walter P. Long. General Term order reversing order denying

motion to vacate injunction. James K. Hill, defendant's attorney.

Exhibit No. 35. C. R. D. Filed August 26, 1870.
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Q. Had you any personal acquaintance with Roger A. Pryor ?

A. I have been presented to him.

Q. Had you ever seen him at Judge McCann's house? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know what tlie relations were that existed between

Jiidge McOunn and General Pryor ? A. Friends, I believe.

Q. Intimate friends ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Together very frequently ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Haeeison—That is all, sir, at present.

Mr. MoEGAN—Dr. Gano desires to make a statement in explanation.

Mr. Haeeison—An explanation as to his testimony?

Mr. MoEGAN—Yes, sir.

The Witness—The moneys which I had in the bank, belonging

to other parties, were Judge McOunn's ; they were collected by me,

as his agent, for rents.

By Mr. Moegan :

Q. Doctor, you took charge of Judge McCunn's house, did you

not '{—
Mr. Van Corr—Well, wait a moment, and let us understand about

this.

Mr. MoEGAN—O, I will waive it then.

William Yan Wyck, a witness called on behalf of the prosecu-

tion, being duly sworn, testified as follows :

Mr. Haeeison—This witness will be examined in the case of

Ulliott V. Butler^ which is the third charge, I think.

Q. What ia your occupation, Mr. Yan Wyck ? A. Attorney and

counselor at law.

Q. Where do you reside ? A. New York city.

Q. Do you know Justice John H. McGunn, of the Superior

Court? A. I do.

Q. Have you any knowledge of the case of Elliott v. Butler ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you appear in that case for either party as attorney ? A.

I did.

Q. For whom ? A. For the plaintiff.

Q. Please state what your connection with that case was ? A.

Well, sir ; I drew^—do you wish a statement of the case ?

Q. No, sir; not of the case, but what your connection was with

it; and you will please recite any application you made to any

judge for an order ? A. I made an application for an injunction
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and receiver in that case upon the summons and complaint and

afSdavit attached to the complaint.

Q. Who did you make that application to ? A. Judge McCunn.

Q. (Showing paper) Look, at that paper, if you please ; do you

recognize it ? A. I do, sir.

Q. Is that an order which was made vipon the application for the

appointment of a receiver ? A. It was, sir.

Mr. HAitEiBON—That is an original paper produced by the clerk

of the court, from the files of the court, with Justice McCunn'

s

signature in full ; and I will read it as appears in Exhibit 36, from

the words, "ordered that James M. Gano be, and hereby is

appointed receiver," etc., to the end of the order, dated December

10, 1869.

The plaintiff is Anna M. Elliott v. Mary P. Butler.

The following papers were here marked Exhibit 36.

Exhibit No. 36.

SUPEEIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

Anna M. Elliott \

agst. Y
Injundio7i ly order.

Mary P. Butler. I

It appearing satisfactorily to me, by the affidavit of C. C. Cox, on

behalf of, and the sworn complaint of the plaintiff, tliat suificient

grounds for an order of injunction exists; I do hereby order, that

the defendant, Mary P. Butler, her servants, agents, attorneys,

counselors, and other persons in any manner claiming any right or

authority from her, refrain from in any manner receiving, collecting

or interfering with any of the income or revenues arising, or in

any manner connected with or from that certain boarding house, in

said complaint described, or from any of the boarders or inmates of

said boarding house, living and liable to pay for board or other

accommodations in said boarding house, No. 54 West Twenty-fourth

street, in the city ofNew York, until the further order of this court,

and in case of disobedience to this order, you will be liable to the

punishment therefor prescribed by law.

Dated New York, Becemher 10, 1869.

JOHN H. McCUNN, Justice.

Indorsed : Superior Court : Anna 2f. Elliott v. Mary P. Butler.

Injunction order. Wm. Van Wyck, plaintifPs attorney, 6 Wall

street.
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Anna M. Elliott
j

agst.

Maby p. Btjtlek.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, held at the City Hall, in said city, on the 10th day of

Deeemher, 1869.

Present—Hon. John H. MoCunn, Justice.

Upon the summons and complaint and affidavit of C. C. Cox,

thereto annexed, and on motion of William Yan Wyck, for the

plaintiff in this action, ordered, that James M. Gano be and

hereby is appointed receiver, to collect, receive and hold, subject

to the order of this court, all moneys now due or to become due,

from the boarders in the boarding house in said complaint

mentioned, upon the said receiver executing and filing

with the clerk of this court a bond in the usual

form, to the people of this State, in the penalty of five

hundred dollars, with two sufficient sureties, freeholder or house-

holder of said city and county, to be approved as to its form and

manner of execution by a justice of this court.

And it is further ordered that the boarders and lodgers in said

house pay all sums, due from them to the defendant, to the receiver

herein appointed, upon production of a certified co]3y of this order,

and upon demand therefor.

JOHJSr H. MoOUNN, Justice.

Indorsed : Superior Court of the city of New York. No. 1.

Anna M. Elliott v. Mary P. Butler. Order appointing receiver.

Exhibit 36. C. R. D. Filed December 10, 1869. Wm. Van Wyck,

plaintiff's attorney, 6 Wall street, New York.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Anna M. Elliott, Plaintiff, I

agst r Summons for Relief.

Mabt p. Btjtlbb, Defendant. \

To the Defendant

:

You are hereby summoned and required to answer the complaint

in this action, of which a copy is herewith served upon yon, and to

serve a copy of your answer to the said complaint on the subscriber

at his office. No. 6 Wall street, city of New York, within twenty
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days after the service hereof, exdusive of the day of such service

;

and if you fail to answer the complaint within the time aforesaid, the

plaintiif in this action will apply to the court for the relief demanded

in the complaint.

Dated New Yoek, December 10, 1869.

WILLIAM VAN WYCK,
Plaintiff 's Attorney.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Anna M. Elliott

agst Y
Maby p. Btttlbe.

I

The complaint of the above-named plaintiff respectfully shows

to this court:

That at the time hereinafter mentioned this plaintiff was and now
is a married woman, and the wife of one Beaufort Elliott, and was

possessed of certain property consisting of an unexpired term in a

lease of certain premises known as No. 54 West Twenty-fourth

street, in the city of New York, and of certain furniture and other

personal property therein, subject only to a certain lien thereon.

That on or about the 25th day of October, 1869, the said plaintiff,

being so possessed as aforesaid, the said defendant did, by certain

false, wicked, and malicious representations, induce this plaintiff to

enter into a certain contract with her, and that the sole object of the

said defendant in entering into the same and inducing this plaintiff

so to do, was that she (the said defendant) might defraud this plain-

tiff out of the possession thereof, and reap all profit arising there-

from.

That, by the terms of the above-mentioned contract or agree-

ment, the said defendant agreed to hire and take from this plaintiff

the said house and the furniture therein for the unexpired term of

said lease, to wit: until the 1st day of May, 18Y1, at the monthly

rent or sum of $800, payable monthly, in advance ; and did further

agree to put up a sum or forfeit of $800 for faithful performance of

the covenants on her part to be performed in said lease contained.

That, by the terms of said lease, the said defendant was to enter

into the possession and enjoyment of said leasehold premises and

furniture on the 1st day of November, 1869, before which time the

said defendant was to put up the said deposit of $800, and pay the

said $800 rent for the said first month's rent, in advance.

That on or before the said day the said defendant did put up the
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said $800 deposit, biit did, by means of certain maliciously false and

wicked statements, made by her with the intent to deceive and

defraud this plaintiff, induce this plaintiff to extend the time for the

payment of the said $800 rent due as aforesaid.

That this plaintiff, being so deceived by the said false, wicked, and

malicious statements, and the tricks and devices of the said defend-

ant, did allow the said defendant to enter into the possession and

enjoyment thereof, without first exacting the payment of the said

$800 rent due as aforesaid.

That the said defendant having then, by cheat and device, as

aforesaid, succeeded in obtaining the temporary possession and

enjoyment of the said household premises and furniture did enter

into the occupation and use thereof, for the use of the same as a

boarding house (for which purpose this plaintiff had for a consider-

able time used the same), and did thereupon and immediately there-

after come into a very large revenue paid to her by the boarders in

said house.

That the income which this defendant had received from her

boarders in said house, during the time she kept the same, had been

her only support, and also the only means she had with which to pay

the amount due the landlord of said premises for the rent reserved

to be paid on his lease.'

That after the said defendant had secured possession of the said

premises, and come into the enjoyment of the said large revenue,

in the manner hereinbefore narrated, she did wholly and entirely

neglect to keep and perform the promises made by her as aforesaid,

and also the covenants and agreements in said lease contained on her

part to be performed.

That at first she merely made promises from time to time to pay

within a few days, all of which said promises were totally false, and

were never meant to have been kept or performed by her ; that her

object in making the same was to deceive this plaintiff, and thereby

obtain as long a stay as possible in the said house, and derive as

much income as possible therefrom.

That after the said defendant had obtained all the extension pos-

sible in this manner, and this plaintiff had become satisfied that the

same had been made falsely and maliciously, and for the purpose of

deceiving and defrauding this plaintiff, and this plaintiff was deceived

thereby no longer, but refused to grant any longer extension of the

time for the payment thereof, that thereupon the said defendant

entirely changed her manner and refused to pay this plaintiff the
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same, although she retained and still retains the possession of said

property.

That this plaintiff thereupon caused summary proceedings for the

dispossession of said defendant from said demised property to be

taken before the Hon. Thaddeus H. Lane, a justice having jurisdic-

tion thereof, and that in the said proceedings the said defendant has

taken every means in her power to delay said proceedings.

That among other proceedings taken therein she, the said defend-

ant, upon the return of the summons in said summary proceedings,

did file an affidavit in which she denied, among other things, that

she holds over in the possession of said premises, as in said summons
and in the affidavit on which the same was granted is alleged,

although the said defendant now is, and ever since the 1st day of

^November, 1869, has been in the enjoyment of the said premises and

property, and in the receipt of a large revenue and income from the

boarders thereof as aforesaid, and has paid no rent therefor.

That the said proceedings are still pending, and that the said

defendant is still in the possession and enjoyment of the said prop-

erty, and the revenue thereof, and is now inflicting and continues to

inflict by false, wicked and malicious statements, to this plaintiff,

and this plaintiff's confidence therein, great and irreparable injury,

and she, the said defendant, reaps great and undeserved benefit,

advantage and profit from her said fraud and wickedness.

That in consequence thereof, this plaintiff is deprived of the means

of her support, and is left without any means of support whatever
;

that she is cut off from her resources with which she should pay the

rent due to her superior landlord; that said landlord is now pressing

for the payment of his rent, and that this plaintiff has no means of

paying the same, although she knows the same to be justly due.

That in this, plaintiff verily believes the said defendant is a person

of no pecuniary responsibility whatever, that she has no visible

means of support, except that obtained from the boarders in said

house, of which she obtained possession by fraud and deceit, as

hereinbefore alleged, and that no court of la^v could grant this plain-

tiff adequate redress for the wrong and injury she has sustained from

the said defendant as aforesaid.

That should this court refuse to interfere, by its equitable power

of injunction, the said defendant will continue to reap, as she now
reaps, the full benefit of her fraud, to the great injury of this plain-

tift".

Wherefore, this plaintiff prays this court to restrain the said

defendant, her servants, agents, attorneys, counselor, and other per-
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sons, in any manner deriving any right or authority from her, from

in any manner receiving, collecting or interfering with any of the

income or revenue arising, or in any manner connected with any
boarder or other person hiring or paying for accommodations in said

house, No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street.

That a receiver be appointed to take, receive and hold all such

sums, due or to become due, subject to the order of this court.

That the court decree that the said lease or agreement, executed

between the plaintiff and this defendant, be delivered up to be can-

celed, and that the plaintiff have such damages as she shall have

sustained by reason of the acts of the defendant hereinbefore set

forth, and that the court grant such other or further relief, or both, in

the premises, as may be just and proper, together with the costs of

this action.

wm. van WYCK,
Plaintiff''s Attorney, No. 6 Wall Street.

OiTT AND County of New Yoek, ss. :

Caroline C. Cox, being duly sworn, says, that she is the agent for

the plaintiff herein ; that the foregoing complaint is true of her own
knowledge, except as to the matters therein stated on information

and belief, and as to those matters she believes it to be true.

That the grounds of this deponent's knowledge in this matter are,

,/ that she has read and examined the lease entered into between the

plaintiff and defendant herein, and that this deponent has personally

had charge of the said matter for the said plaintiff ever since the

said defendant entered into the possession of said premises on the

1st day of November, 1869, and that all the transactions therein set

forth as having occurred since that time have occurred between

deponent as the agent of the plaintiff and the said defendant or her

agent.

That the grounds of this deponent's information and belief in this

matter are statements made to deponent by the plaintiff and her

attorney and by the said defendant and her agent.

That the reason why this verification is made by deponent, rather

than the plaintiff, is because deponent has large personal knowledge

of the facts in said complaint set forth, and that the said plaintiff is

not now in the city and county of New York, or in the same county

with her said attorney, but is temporarily absent in the State of

Georgia, and that the necessity for immediate action renders it

64

5>
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impossible to delay these proceedings until the same can be for-

warded to her for verification.

C. C. COX.

Sworn to before me, this 10th

day of December, 1869,

Edwaed McKinlet,

Notary PuUio, New Yorh City and County.

City and County oi' New Yobk, ss. :

Caroline C. Cox, being duly sworn, says that the foregoing com-

plaint is true.

C. C. COX.

Sworn to before me, this 10th
]

day of December, 1869, f

Edward McKinley,

Notary Puhlic, New Yorh City and County.

Indorsed : Superior Court of the city of ITew York. Anna M.
Elliott V. Mary P. Butler. Summons and complaint. Exhibit

No. 36. C. R. D. William Van Wyck, plaintifE's attorney, 6

Wall street. New York. Filed Decemiaer 10, 1869.

Q. Did you take any steps in that action for procuring the

appointment of receiver ? A. I did not, sir.

Q. Did you have any personal acquaintance previous to that time

with James M. Gano ? A. I think not, sir ; I think I met him for

the first time on that occasion, after he was appointed receiver, to

take charge of the house, but will not be positive as to that ; certainly

had no acquaintance with him.

Q. Did you suggest his name as a person to be appointed receiver ?

A. I am under the impression that I did not.

Q. Who did ? A. No one, that I know of.

Q. Was anybody present except yourself and Justice McCunn
when the order was signed? A. I think there was quite a number

in the court room.

Q. And nobody appeared in this case % A. No, sir.

Q. Then the intimation that Gano would be receiver was Judge

McOunn himself ? A. As far as I recollect, sir.

Q. Did you see the receiver afterward in this matter ? A. Yes,

sir.

Q. Whereabouts ? A. I am not positive whether I served that

order upon him or not, but if I did I saw him at his office on
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Twenty-fourth street ; but I am certain that afterward I saw him in

possession of the house.

Q. What house ? A. No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street ; in pos-

session of the furniture of that house.'

Q. That was the house occupied by the defendant as sub-ten ant

of the plaintiff? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was he there as receiver under this appointment, do you
know ? A. I don't concede exactly that he was receiver under that

appointment, for that only orders him to collect rents ; if he was in

possession of the house he was extra of that order.

Q. Beyond the scope of that order? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know whether he did any thing under this order by
way of collection of board bills from boarders in that house ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Did you ever see anybody there with him ? A. Yes, sir

;

there was a young man who took the part of assistant ; I believe

they called him a deputy-receiver.

Q. Did you ever see anybody else withhim ? A. No, sir; I think

not.

Q. Then I understand you to say, that after procuring the appoint

ment of receiver in this case, you threw it up and had nothing more

to do with it ? A. No, sir ; nothing more whatever ; however, I

will say this, that there was an attorney who appeared and demurred

to the complaint, and he asked for an extension of time, which he

gave.

Q. Nothing more was done in court in regard to that suit ? A.

No, sir.

Q. There has been no accounting by the receiver so far as you

know? A. No, sir.

Q. There has been no order discharging this order, or discharging

this receiver from his liabilities ? A. No, sir ; not that I have had

any notice of.

Q. Have you had any notice of application for leave to sue the

receiver in this ease ? A. No, sir.

By Mr. Peeet :

Q. What was the name of this deputy receiver ? A. I think the

name was Conklin, sir.

Mr. Harbison—We offer in evidence the complaint in this case,

and we merely call the attention of the Senate to two features of it.

The one that the plaintiff recites that the house which was held by

tha defendant as her sub-tenant, is the house No. 64 West Twenty-
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fourth street ; and that, unless the plaintiff could collect from the

defendant the moneys mentioned in this complaint, the plaintiff

would be unable to pay her own superior landlord.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— May I ask you whether those papers have

been authenticated by Mr. Boese ?

Mr. Haeeison •— This is an original paper, produced from the files

of the court, and brought by the clerk of the court.

Q. Who was the superior landlord of these premises ? A. Judge

McCunn ; at least I always understood so ; I believe it was well

understood ; if I thought of it at all at the time, 1 understood he

was.

By Mr. Bowen :

Q. Was this brought to Judge McCunn's attention? A. He
looked over papers as a judge usually does when you present papers;

whether he read them or not is more than I can say.

By Mr. Peeet :

Q. Do you know who your client paid rent to ? A. Well, I can

say that I do, sir; though I think it was well understood that

Judge McCunn was the superior landlord, sir.

Mr. Haeeison—We expect to prove by the next witness, Mr.

President and Senators, that Justice McCunn was present upon the

premises with the receiver almost as soon as the receiver himself got

there.

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. Was there not an injunction applied for at the time you

applied for an order appointing a receiver ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Judge McCunn granted your order of injunction? A. Yes,

sir.

Mr. Haeeison— That paper we will put in evidence as soon as

we can lay our hands upon it. We shall hand to the clerk, in a

moment, all the papers upon which the order appointing a receiver

was made. We now have the original here. This which I hold in

my hand is a copy merely, but I now produce an order of injunction

to which I referred, granted by Judge McCunn on the 10th of

December, 1869, being the original order produced from the files of

the court by the clerk, which is in these words as appears in the

injunction order, marked Exhibit No. 36 :
" It appearing satisfac-

torily to me by the affidavit of C. C. Cox, on behalf of, and the

sworn complaint of the plaintiff, that sufficient ground for an injunc-
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tion exists," to the end of the order. This shows that the number
of the house was indicated in the order of injunction.

By Mr. Muephy :

Q. "Whose handwriting is that order in? A. This order was
made in my office.

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. Do you recognize the signature as that ? A. That is the sig-

nature of Judge McCunn.

Q. That is the original order of injunction? A. Yes, sir.

The order of injunction was here marked as Exhibit 36.

Lewis Henry Gutlaous Erhardt, a witness called on behalf of

the prosecution, being duly sworn, testified as follows

:

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. What is your occupation, Mr. Erhardt ? A. Physician.

Q. Where do you reside ? A. New York city.

Q. How long have you resided there ? A. For five years.

Q. Do you know either parties to the suit of Elliott v. Butler ?

A. I know Mrs. Elliott ; I know both parties.

Q. Have you any relationship to either of the parties to that

suit ? A. Mrs. Butler is my mother-in-law.

Q. Where did you reside in December, 1869 ? A. In the house

No. 64 West Twenty-fourth street.

Q. That was a boarding-house kept by Mrs. Butler, was it not ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know James F. Morgan ? A. I do.

Q. Did you ever see him at your house ? A. Several times.

Q. Did you see him at your house during December, 1869 ? A.
Yes, sir.

Q. What were the circumstances of his presence at that time ?

A. He came there one evening and was introduced by Judge
MeCunn as receiver of the premises, as I understood.

Q. How long did he remain there ? A. He didn't i-emain long,

though he came from time to time through the day and evening

;

he appointed another man; I don't know whether he or Judge
McCunn appointed him ; it was a man named Conklin.

Q. What was his full name ? A. I don't know ; I don't remem-
ber ; I never was told, only I heard it accidentally.

Q. Was Judge McCunn there with him? A. I don't know
whether they came together ; when I saw them both Judge McCunn
was with him at the house.
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Q. What did Judge McCunn say in reference to the matter ? A.

He told me that a receiver was appointed ; he spoke to me as having

charge of Mrs. Eutler's things there, and told me that he had

appointed a receiver and would not allow any one to remove any

thing from there— any of the boarders— unless they paid hira or

the receiver.

Q. Paid what? A. The rent that was due Mrs. Butler; he

even called a policeman to prevent any one going out.

Q. Judge McCunn did ? A. Yes, sir ; he went out and came

back with a policeman ; I then told him I certainly would not allow

a policeman in there, where there was no cause for it ; and after a

while he told the policeman to go away.

Q. The policeman did so ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you ever have occasion after that to see Judge McCunn
in reference to the receivership at all ? A. Yes, sir, several times

;

I went several times to him to indiice him to let some trunks go

which belonged to a gentleman named Pinkhurst ; to allow him to

have them, as he had paid me ; several of the boarders had paid

me.

Q. When had he paid you ? A. Several days before the receiver

was appointed ; two days before.

Q. He had paid up to that time ? A. He was owing a couple of

days' board, which he was willing to pay, but the receiver wanted

two months' or six weeks' board.

Q. Do you mean he demanded that ? A. Yes, sir ; at least, I

don't know whether it is true ; Mr. Pinkhurst told me that by pay-

ing Judge McCunn

—

Q. Nothing except what occurred in Judge McCunn's presence ?

A. Judge McCunn said he M'ould not let the things go ; after see-

ing him several times he gave me a verbal order to the receiver to

let the things go.

Q. To allow Mr. Pinkhurst's trunks to leave the house ? A. Yes,

sir ; that order I gave to Mr. Conklin and Mr. Gano ; they both

said, all right ; in the evening I came there, and there was Judge
McCunn, and he said he would not let the trunks go ; that is, not

unless the amount was paid over again ; even if he had paid me, he

should pay the money over again, and whenever the thing wss
decided he should have the money back.

Q. How long was Pinkhurst detained there by the custody of his

trunks ? A. About a week, or longer.

Q. Have you ever had any conversation with Gano in reference

to this case ? A. I have ; I have asked him several times what (lis-
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position was made of the money, and told him that Mrs. Butler

would get done before long with the suit, and he said, " it is no

use," you will get along with it ; it is Judge McCunn's matter, and

he, of course, will keep it.

Q. Do you know on what terms Mr. Pinkhurst finally got his

trunks? A. I am not sure of it.

Q. You have no knowledge of it yourself? A. No, sir; I

understood he paid $50.

Mr. Yan Cott— Not what you understood, Mr. Erhardt.

Witness— I do not know, then; by hearsay.

By Mr. Hakeison :

Q. Did you ever see Judge McCunn at the Superior Court ? A.

Yes, sir ; several times I went there.

Q. In this matter I A. Yes, sir.

Q. What occurred there at that time with him? A. He would

promise me in the evening, or in the morning, when I saw him
there, that he would have every thing; that every one who wanted

to go could retire, and all the trunks would be delivered ; he

retained Mrs. Butler's trunks, and every thing, more than a week,

and would not let them go out of the house ; at last he used to

take me in his carriage from his chamber to the house ; from the

chamber of the Supreme Court.

Q. Superior Court, you mean ? A. Superior Court.

Q. He would take you in his carriage to the house, No. 54 West
Twenty-fourth ? A. Yes, sir ; he would give an order to Conklin

or Mr. Gano, to let the trunks go out of the house, and when I

would have a man there to take the trunks out, there would be an

order not to have them go, and so it went for a week, and finally I

got them.

Q. Do you know whether or not the judge was the owner of

that house ? A. I do.

Q. Did Judge McCunn offer to rent that house to you ? A. Yes,

sir.

James M. Gano recalled.

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. Did you act as receiver in the case of Elliott v. Butler ? A.

I did.

Q. I understood you to say, during your previous examination,

that you acted as the agent of Justice McCunn in collecting his

rents ? A. I did.
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Q. Do you know who was the owner, in December, 1869, of the

house No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street? A. I always under-

stood it was he.

Q. Have you been in the habit of collecting the rents due for that

house, for Justice McCunn ? A. I have.

Q. Did you enter upon the discharge of your duties under the

order appointing you receiver in the case of Elliott v. Butler f A.

I did.

Q. Did you collect board bills due by boarders in the house ? A.

Some of them.

Q. "What became of the moneys that you collected as receiver in

that case ? A. I paid some of them to Mr. Conklin, the deputy or

assistant receiver ; I paid the servants in the house, not all of them,

but all that called upon me ; and the sheriff attached the balance,

and I paid it over.

Q. How do you know that the sheriff attached the balance? A.

There was an attachment served on me, signed " James O'Brien,

sheriff," and I handed over the moneys.

Q. You handed over the moneys to whom ? A. To the man who
presented the warrant of attachment.

Q. Who was he ? A. He was a deputy sheriff, I understood ; I

do not remember his name.

Q. How do you understand that he was a deputy sheriff? A.

From his bringing the warrant.

Q. Had you ever had any acquaintance with that person before ?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. And you have no knowledge that he was a deputy sheriff,

except from the fact that lie presented you that warrant of attach-

ment ? A. I have not.

Q. Who was the plaintiff in that suit in which the warrant of

attachment was issued ? A. That I do not remember.

Q. Don't yon remember that that was the suit of John H. McGunn
V. Anna M. Elliott ? A. No, I do not ; I have forgotten the title

of it entirely.

Q. Did not you knoM^ who got those moneys ultimately ? A. No,

sir ; the sheriff, I understood, ate them up as a fee ; there was not

very much.

Q. Was there an order of the Superior Court to authorize you, as

an officer of that court, to pay over moneys to the sheriff? A. I

think there was an order of the Supreme Court.

Q. Where is that order ? A. I do not know.

Q. How do you know there was any such order? A. I just
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indistinctly remember it ; I do not know positively that there was

such an order, but it occurs to me that there was.

Q. In what court was that suit brought in which there was an

attachment issued 2 A. I have just stated that I think it was the

Supreme Court, but I am not positive.

Q. Have you ever filed any accounting of your receivership in

that case ? A. I have not.

Q. And you have no knowledge as to what became of those

moneys, except that you paid them over to a man who handed you

what he said was a warrant of attachment ? A. That was all.

Q. Where were you when this person called upon you ? A. I

think I was at my office, but my assistant, Mr. Conklin, was in the

building, 54 West Twenty-fourth street.

Q. Where was your office? A. 40 West Twenty-fourth street.

Q. In what shape did you pay over this money upon that paper

which you call a warrant of attachment ; in bills, or by a check, or

how ? A. That I do not remember.

Q. When did you pay it over ? A. The time that the attach-

ment was served ; I do not remember the time, but it was some two

or three weeks after I took possession.

Q. Then it was probably in January, 1870 ? A. I do not know
exactly when it was.

Q. Have either of the parties to that suit, or any of the attorneys,

ever conferred with you about your right to pay over money under

those circumstances ? A. I think not ; I think the matter was set-

tled; I simply obeyed the sheriff's order; I do not know whether I

did right or wrong.

Q. Has Judge McCunn ever said any thing to you in regard to

your paying it over ? A. I think not.

Q. Were you not examined before the assembly committee in the

Fifth Avenue Hotel, with reference to this matter ? A. I was.

Q. Do you recollect that Justice McCunn was present during

yonr examination ? A. He was.

Q. Don't you remember that he there stated that that suit in

which the warrant of attachment issued was a suit in which he was

plaintiff and Mrs. Elliott was defendant ? A. I have forgotten that.

Q. Don't you remember it now ? A. I do not.

Q. Do you remember that he stated that he sued Mrs. Elliott to

collect his own rent which she owed him ? A. I do not.

Q. Is not that a fact ? A. I do not know.

Q. Is not Mrs. Elliott in debt to Judge McCunn for rent of that

house ? A. She is, I believe, to this day.

65
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Q. What steps had there been taken to collect it ? A. She was

sued, but the matter was eventually settled at considerable loss to

us ; $500 or $600 a raonth ; the house stood idle.

Q. Ton say she was eventually sued ; by whom
;
you or Judge

McCunn ? A. I think it was by me.

Q. Do you mean to say that you, as agent, began a suit against

Mrs. Elliott for rent, when Judge McOunn himself was in town ?

A. I very often —

-

By Mr. Benedict :

Q. In whose name was she sued ? A. I am not positive that I

commenced any suit in that matter ; we have some twenty-five

houses, and out of that number I presume I commence proceedings

as often as twenty times a year.

Q. In your own name ? A. In my own name, as agent for Judge

McCunn.

By Mr. Ha-reisow :

Q. In your own name as plaintiff, or as an agent instructed to

bring the actions ? A. I do not understand enough of law to know
how to answer that question.

Q. Don't you mean that you, as agent of Judge McCunn, insti-

tuted proceedings to dispossess persons who are in possession of

premises under leases ? A. I do.

Q. That is all ? A. I don't know whether there is any more or

not ; I have a power of attorney to sign his name in all matters ; to

sign notes or any thing of that kind ; I have a full power of attorney.

Q. And the proceedings which you speak of are the proceedings

which you institute against tenants of Judge McCunn
;
you acting

under that power of attorney as his agent ? A. Tes, sir.

Q. Don't you remember testimony of this sort that you gave

before the committee of the Assembly ? (No answer.)

Q. You say that you were appointed receiver because you had

been Judge McCunn's agent for collecting the rent ? A. I didn't

say so.

Q. You presume that was the reason? A. Mr. Yan "Wyck

selected me ; I don't know why.

Q. Was a copy of the attachment that you have mentioned

delivered to you in the suit of MoGunn v. Elliott f A. It was.

Q. Where is that ? A. I don't know.

Q. Is it anywhere ? A. It must be among my papers.
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Q. "Will you swear that one was delivered to you ? A. I will,

positively.

Q. Do you remember that testimony ? A. Well, I presume I

made a mistake there as to whether it was the suit of McCunn
V. Elliott / that I don't know ; I simply referred to an attachment

;

I remember an attachment, but I don't know whether it was in

McCunn v. Elliott or not, though I am under the impression that

it was.

Q. Do you know of any suit brought by anybody else against

Mrs. Elliott, in which an attachment was served upon you? A. I

heard of one.

Q. One in which an attachment was served upon you? A. N'ot

upon me ; upon the furniture ; I would like to state here, that Judge

McCunn did not go with me to the house when I took possession
;

nobody went but Mr. Conklin and myself, and probably Mr. Van
Wyck's brother, who, I think, brought the order to me ; I think

J^^dge McCunn was not in the house within four or five days or a

week ; but I sent for him and he did come.

Q. You sent for him and he did come ? A. Yes ; he told me
" for God's sake to settle it ;" that was his expression ; said he, " I

didn't read all the papers, and I didn't know that this was my house

and for God's sake settle it, or you will get me into trouble."

Q. Settle what ? A. Settle up the case.

Q. What case ? A. Settle up my receivership.

Q. Did you do any thing in obedience to that direction ? A. I

tried to make arrangements with Mrs. Elliott to pay the rent.

Q. That is to say, to have her pay that rent to you, as Judge

McCunn's agent? A. No, sir; I did not understand that that

money was hers at all.

Q. Well, what arrangement did you try to make with Mrs.

Elliott? A. It was rather with Mrs. Cox, Mrs. Elliott's sister-in-

law ; I believe Mrs. Elliott was not in town ; but it amounted to

nothing, and I had nothing more to do with it.

Q. At the time that Judge McCunn made that remark to you,

had you collected any of the board bills due upon the premises ? A.

I had.

Q. All that you could get, up to that time ? A. Yes, sir ; I think

so.

Q. Was it after that that the attachment in the suit which you

supposed to have been the suit ol McCunn v. Elliott, was served

upon you ? A. I think it was.

Q. You have no moneys of that receivership in your possession
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now? A. I have not; I think I stated there that I had retained

the money, but I remembered afterward that the deputy sheriff

took it from me ; attached it.

Mr. Haeeison—We put in an official return from the sheriff's

office, signed by James O'Brien, late sheriff, made in answer to a

requisition upon him, which appears as part of the exhibit. The
paper was marked Exhibit No. 37, and is as follows

:

Exhibit l^o. 37.

Please search for warrants of attachment against Elliott at the

suit of John H. McOunn, from December 1st, 1869, to January 1st,

1871, and certify the result to

April 1st, 1872.

DAVID B. OGDEN,
187 Fulton street.

December 17th, 1869. John H. MoGurm v. Elliott. War. S.

C, $500. ISfo return.

December 17th, 1869. John H. McCunn v. Elliott. War. S.

C, $5,000. JSTo return.

I hereby certify that the above are all the warrants of attachment

found on my books from December Ist, 1869, to January 1st, 1871,

against Elliott at the suit of John H. McCunn.
JAMES O'BRIEN,

Late Sheriff.

Indorsed: Sheriff's search. David B. Ogden, 187 Eulton st.

Exhibit No. 37. 0. E. D.

By Mr. Peeet :

Q. Do you know the name of the deputy sheriff that called for

this money ? A. No, sir ; I do not.

Q. Would you recognize him if you saw him? A. No, sir; I

don't think I should.

Q. Tou stated, I think, that you did not know how you paid that

money, whether by a check or in money? A. I do not.

Q. Do you know the amount you paid ? A. I do not ; I have

forgotten that.

Q. Have you any means by which you can state the amount

;

have you any account or record of it ? A. No, sir ; I have not ; I

had but

—

Q. Have you ever rendered an account as receiver in this case 1

A. No, sir.
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Q. Do you ever propose or intend to ? A. I don't see how I can,

unless Mr. Conklin has the book.

Q. According to your present testimony you cannot render any
account as receiver ? A. No, sir.

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. Is this Mr. Conklin one of the same persons who acted as your

deputies in the case of Corey v. Long ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Who is Mr. Conklin ? A. He is simply an acquaintance ; a

trustworthy young man, as I thought ; one that I could rely on.

Q. An acquaintance of yours, or of Judge McCunn's ? A. Of
mine.

Q. Also of Judge McCunn? A. I don't think that Judge
McOunn knew him at that time.

Q. He knows him now, though ; is he in the habit of meeting

him since ? A. He has seen him, but I don't know whether he

would know him by name or not.

Q. Did you take the advice of counsel in that suit of Elliott v.

Butler ? A. I don't remember that I had counsel.

Q. You acted merely under the directions of Judge McCunn ?

A. No, sir.

Q. What other directions did you have except those given you by

Judge McCunn ? A. I acted under the directions of the order.

Q. What order; the order issued by Judge McCunn, under

which you were appointed ? A. 1 would like to say here that I

never received any fees in the matter as receiver.

By Mr. Peeet :

Q. When you paid the money to the sheriff, did you take any

receipt or voucher for it ? A.I am not positive ; I don't think I

did.

By Mr. Madden :

Q. Did you charge it to Judge McCunn ? A. No, sir ; I did not

understand that he had any control of it whatever.

Q. What was the actual rent of those premises ? A. $6,000 a

year ; $500 a month.

Q. My question is, whether you kept any books, as a rule, in rela-

tion to these moneys that you collected for Judge McCunn, and

whether, when you paid him, you took receipts \ A. Yes, sir ; I

misunderstood you.

Q. Did you do that in the case of the money that you paid over

to the deputy sheriff ; did you charge it to him, so that you have

some memorandum of the amount ? A. No, sir.
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Q. How did you account to Judge McOuun for that money that

you received ? A. I guess I don't understand you.

Q. You collected certain moneys for Judge McOunn in this case,

as receiver, and in other cases as agent, as I understand you ? A. I

don't think I did collect any money as receiver for Judge McCunn.

Q. We understood you to say that you had moneys in your hands

which you paid over to the sheriif ? A. I did pay that money to

the sheriff, but I did not collect it for Judge McCunn or pay it to

him, as I understood; I understood that the sheriff had a superior

right, and I let him take the money.

Q. "Well, how did you account for that money to Judge McCunn
or to the plaintiff in the case? A. I did not account to anybody

;

I have not been asked to.

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. Did you know before the sheriff got there that there was to

be any such proceeding as that ? A. No, sir.

Q. Had nobody ever told you to pay over that money to the

sheriff when he would come there ? A. 'No, sir.

Q. Tou had no knowledge except that a person turned up there

and handed you a warrant of attachment, as he called it? A. No,

sir.

Q. And you gave him the money without further question ? A
Yes, sir.

Q. And you never accounted for it to anybody ? A. No, sir.

By Mr. Madden :

Q. And you don't remember the amount ? A. No, sir.

By Mr. Haeeison :

Q. Had you ever seen warrants of attachment before that time ?

A. I think I had.

Q. In what case had you ever seen a warrant of attachment

before that time ? A. I can't remember.

By Mr. Madden :

Q. Did you consult with counsel or with Judge McCunn, or with

any other person before you paid over the money to the sheriff's

agents ? A. No, sir ; with nobody at all.

Q. And you say you had no recollection of the amount ? A. It

seems to me that it was something over a hundred dollars ; I am not

positive, but there was about $300 collected, and I think there was

about $105 or $106 paid to the deputy receiver for fees ; and then
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there was sixty odd dollars paid to the servants j I don't know that

I should have paid them, but they said they had not been paid.

By Mr. Haeeisok- :

Q How much did you pay to the deputy receiver ? A. $105 or

$106.

Mr. Stioknet— Before we go on with the next witness, I merely

wish to call attention to the fact that, in the appointment of a

receiver in the case of Corey v. Long, and also in the case of Elliott

V. Butler, there was no bond or security whatever exacted from the

receiver for the faithful discharge of his duties, or that he should

account for the moneys. The order appointing the receiver did not

in either case require any bond from him at all.

Joseph Lcurocque testified

:

By Mr. Sticknet :

Q. Do you remember the suit of Jolin 0''Mahony v. August

Belmont and others f A. I do.

Q. At what time did that suit commence ? On the 30th of June,

1869.

Q. It was in the Superior Court of the city of ISTew York ? A.

Yes.

Q. What was your connection with that suit? A. I was one of

the ordinary attorneys and counsel for the firm of A. Belmont &
Co., and, on that day, I think (June 30, 1869), copies of a summons,

complaint, aifidavit, and an order to show cause why a receiver

should not be appointed, were placed in my hands by Mr. Belmont's

partner, Mr. Lucke.

Mr. Sticknet
—"We produce from the files of the court the origi-

nal summons and complaint.

The papers were marked Exhibit J^o. 38, and are as follows

:

Exhibit No. 88.

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF JSTEW YOEK.

John O'Mahont, Plaintiif,

agat.

August Belmont and Eenst B. Lttckb,

Defendants.

Summonsfor Belief.

To the Defendants

:

You are hereby summoned and required to answer the complaint

in this action, of which a copy is herewith served upon you, and to
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serve a copy of your answer to the said complaint on the subscriber

at his ofSce No. 7 Murray street, New York, within twenty days

after the service hereof, exclusive of the day of such service ; and if

you fail to answer the complaint within the time aforesaid, the

plaintiff in this action will apply to the court for the relief demanded

in the complaint.

Dated June 2dth, 1869.

EOGEK J. PAGE,
Plaintiff^s Attorney.

S. Y. SUPERIOE COURT.

John O'Mahony, Plaintiff,

agst.

August Belmont and Ernst B. Luckb,

Defendants.

The plaintiff, complaining by Roger J. Page, his attorney, against

the defendants, alleges : That during the several times hereinafter

mentioned the defendants were, and are now, copartners and

bankers, doing business in the city of ISTew York under the name
and firm of August Belmont & Company.

That heretofore, and on the 1st, 12th and 19th days of September,

one thousand eight hundred and sixty-five, at the city of ISTew York,

the plaintiff deposited with the aforesaid firm sundry sums of gold,

amounting in all to nineteen thousand five hundred and ninety-two

dollars and forty-four cents ($19,592.44:) in gold of the United

States, or thereabouts, his money and gold ; and at his special

instance and request, and for him, the aforesaid August Belmont &
Company drew in their said name, and became the drawers of four

certain bills of exchange, as follows : One dated first of September,

'one thousand eight hundred and sixty-five, for one thousand pounds

.sterling; another dated eighth of September, one thousand eight

iiundred and sixty-five, for one thousand pounds sterling ; another

-dated the twelfth day of September, one thousand eight hundred

.and sixty-five, for one thousand pounds sterling, and the other dated

the nineteenth day of September, one thousand eight hundred and

sixty-five, for one thousand four hundred and eight pounds six

; shillings and two pence sterling, all addressed to N. M. Rothschild &
Sons, London, payable to the order of John O'Leary sixty days

; after sight thereof, at the respective dates, and there delivered the

said bills of exchange to the plaintiff.

The plaintiff further states that the said several bills of exchange,

.and each of them, were drawn by said August Belmont & Company
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at his, the plaintiffs special instance and request ; that he paid and

delivered to said August Belmont & Company his money to the

amount represented by said several bills of exchange, in considera-

tion, each and all, of and for the same, and that said bills of exchange

were delivered to him, the plaintiff, for said valuable consideration,

and that he is the real owner thereof.

The plaintiff further states that, after said bills of exchange came

into his possession as aforesaid, he endeavored to transmit the same

by mail to said John O'Leary, who was the mere agent of the

plaintiff, and without any interest, ownership or other considera-

tion in said bills ; that said bills or parts of each set of the same

were abstracted from the mail, by some person or persons to the

plaintiff' unknown, or destroyed and never came into the possession

of said John O'Leary, were never presented for payment and still

remain unpaid. That the defendants were duly notified of such

abstraction and the loss of the aforesaid bills of exchange, imme-

diately upon the discovery of the same, and the plaintiff' then

and there countermanded and stopped the payment thereof by the

defendants and their agents. That the plaintiff further says, on

information and belief, the said August Belmont & Company have

withdrawn the funds or moneys placed to the credit of said bills of

exchange with said N. M. Rothschilds & Sons, and now hold the

same. That the plaintiff has duly demanded of defendants the

return of the moneys so paid for the consideration of the said bills.

And the plaintiff further states to the court that he, at the special

instance and request of the said August Belmont & Company, and

according to the statute in such cases made and provided, did

execute a bond, in double the amount represented by said several

bills of exchange, to well and truly indemnify and save harmless the

obligees above named, and each of their heirs, executors and admin-

istrators, and also the drawers of said bills of exchange, their and

each of their heirs, executors and administrators, against and from

the said several bills of exchange and each and every of them, and

all claims, demands, damages, suits, actions, costs, charges and

expenses based upon or arising out of or in any way connected with

the said bills of exchange and each and every of them, on the part

of any and all sovereigns, corporations, persons or firms whomsoever.

That the plaintiff tendered said bond, with good and sufficient sure-

ties, to said August Belmont & Company.

That they refused to receive the same, and to pay to the plaintiff

said sums of money represented by said several bills of exchange or

any part thereof, or to receive any other bond of like nature, unless

66
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the sureties thereto were worth at least the sum of $500,000 ; aud

that such bond and security so required by the defendants are excessive

and exorbitant, and more than required in such cases by the statutes,

and that August Belmont & Company unlawfully withholds the

said sums of money represented by said several bills of exchange

and have wholly failed to pay the same or any part thereof to the

great damage of the plaintiff, to wit : in the sums hereinbefore stated,

with the interest thereon. And the plaintiff for a further and sepa-

rate cause of action states that, on or about the 1st day of June,

1869, at the city of E'ew York, the defendants were indebted to the

plaintiff in the sum of nineteen thousand five hundred and ninety-

two dollars and forty-four cents ($19,592.44), in gold of the United

States, or thirty-one thousand six hundred and nine dollars and

thirteen cents ($31,609.13), or thereabouts, in currency of the United

States, for so much money before that time, had and received by the

defendants, and at sundry times, between August 31, 1865, and

September 20, 1865, and to and for the use of the plaintiff.

That thereafter and before the commencement of this action the

plaintiff demanded payment of such sums of the defendants, and

that no part thereof has been paid. Wherefore the plaintiff prays

judgment in this action against the defendants, for the damages

aforesaid, to wit : the sum of $19,592.44 in gold, or its equivalent

in the currency of the United States, together with the interest

thereon from the 20th day of September, 1865 ; that the said sum

in gold be paid and deposited, by defendants, into this court. That

an order be made herein by this court, appointing a receiver to take

charge of and receive the gold or money aforesaid, with full power

to discharge the defendants from the payment of the said bills of

exchange, and each of them and all obligations thereof upon the

defendants paying over and depositing with such receiver the

amount of gold or the money aforesaid. That the aforesaid bills of

exchange, when found or discovered, be delivered up and the pay-

ment thereof canceled. And that the plaintiff have such other and

further relief in the premises as to this honorable court may seem

just and equitable.

EOGER J. PAGE,
Plcdntiff^s Attorney, Wo. 7 Murray street.

City and County of New Tore, ss. :

John O'Mahony, being duly sworn, deposes and says, that he is

the plaintiff named in the above action ; that he has read the fore-

going complaint therein, and knows the contents thereof, and that
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the same is true of his own knowledge except as to the matters
therein stated to be on information and belief, and as to those
matters he believes it to be true.

JOHN O'MAIIONT.
Sworn to before me, this )

30th day of June, 1869,
j

David I. Chatfield,

Notary Public in andfor JV. Y. City and County.

Indorsed : N. Y. Superior Court. No. 2. John O'Mahony v.

August Belmont et al. Eoger J. Page, plaintiff's attorney, No. 7
Murray street, N. T. Exhibit No. 38. C. E. D. Filed July 17,

1860. Original.

Mr. Stioknet— We produce also from the iiles of the court the

affidavit of Eoger J. Page, and the original order to show cause

granted by Mr. Justice McOunn, dated June 30, 1869. The papers

were marked Exhibit No. 39, and are as follows

:

Exhibit No. 39.

N. Y. SUPEEIOR COUET.

John O'Mahont, Plaintiff,

agst.

August Belmont and Ernst B. Luckb,

Defendants.

City and County of New Yoek, ss. :

Eoger J. Page, being duly sworn, deposes and says, that he is the

attorney for the plaintiff in this action, that he has read the com-

plaint therein and knows the contents thereof, and that the same is

true ; that all the material allegations of said complaint are within

the personal knowledge of this deponent, and that his knowledge is

derived from the admissions of the defendants to this deponent, as

hereinafter set forth. And this deponent further says that the

defendants admitted to this deponent that the plaintiff deposited

with the said firm the moneys and considerations paid for the afore-

said bills of exchange, and such bills were drawn, as in the com-

plaint mentioned, at the instance and request of the plaintiff ; that

the said bills have never been paid
;
payment thereof was counter-

manded and stopped by the plaintiff for the reason such bills of

exchange had been lost or destroyed ; and that the defendant Lucke

further admitted to deponent that the funds or moneys placed to the

credit of said bills with the said N. M. Eothschild & Son, the
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drawers, had been withdrawn by the defendants, and Buch moneys

were now in defendants' possession.

And this deponent further says that nearly four years have elapsed

since such bills were lost or destroyed, and within the time aforesaid,

and even then, the same have never been presented for payment or

heard of by this deponent or the plaintiff, and this deponent verily

believes such bills are destroyed, etc., before coming into notice or

possession of said O'Leary. That the allegations in respect to the

bond and sureties in the complaint stated, each and all of the same

are true and within the personal knowledge of this deponent ; that

he caused to be executed or presented to the defendants the said

bond and sureties, and tendered the same to them, and the same

were refused by the defendants ; and that the bond and sureties

required by the defendants for identifying them and the drawers

against the said bills, the same is excessive and more than required

by law in such cases made and provided.

EOGEJR J. PAGE.
Sworn to before me, this 30th

]

day of June, 1860,
j

Douglas A. Levien, Jr., Notary Publio, N. Y. Co.

]Sr. T. SUPEETOE COUET. — "

Order, eta.

John O'Mahont, Plaintiff,

August B. Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke,
Defendants.

Upon the verified complaint in this action ; also on reading the

affidavit of the plaintiff's attorney therein, and also upon the service

of this order upon the defendants therein

:

On motion of H. E. Tallmadge, of counsel for the plaintiff, it is

ordered that the defendants in the said action show cause before me
at chambers of this court, court-house, at the city of New York, on

the 2d day of July, 1869, at ten o'clock, a. m., why a receiver herein

should not be appointed to take charge of and receive the gold or

moneys deposited by the plaintiff with the defendants in considera

tion of the bills of exchange mentioned, such bills alleged to be lost

or destroyed, with full power to discharge the defendants from the

same, and the payment thereof, upon the defendants paying into

this court, or to such receiver, the amount of gold so deposited with

them, or its equivalent in the currency of the United States ; that
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such receiver be so appointed with iisual powers and directions, and
that the plaintiff have such other further order and relief in the

premises as may be just and proper.

Dated June BOth, 1869.

JOHN H. McCUNN,
JusUoe Sujperior Court.

Indorsed : No. 1. N. Y. Superior Court. John G'Mahony v.

August Belmont et al. Affidavit, order, etc. ; " original." E. J.

Page, pl'ff 's att'y. H. E, Tallmadge, of counsel for pl'ff, No. 7
Murray street. Filed July 31, 1869. Exhibit No. 39. C. E. D-
Motion for a receiver granted. See opin. J. McOunn.

Q. Did the complaint show any thing else, or upon the hearing of

this motion was any thing else stated to the court, as the ground for

the receivership, than that the plaintiff had paid for certain bills of

exchange, which were drawn by the defendants, Belmont & Co.,

which were not drawn to the plaintiff's order, which had never been

indorsed to him, and which had never yet been presented for pay-

ment to the defendants? A. The claim was that the plaintiff, John

O'Mahony, had purchased of A. Belmont & Co., certain bills of

exchange, described in the complaint, and that he had paid the con-

sideration for those bills; that the bills had been drawn to the order

of one John O'Leary ; that O'Leary was really not the owner, but

was a servant or representative of the plaintiff, and had no interest

in the bills, and that the bills, or some part of them, while in course

of transmission to O'Leary, had either been lost, mislaid or destroyed.

The suit was to recover the consideration paid for those bills of

exchange.

Q. So far as appeared by the papers, were Belmont & Co. still

liable on those bills to the holder ? A. There was no allegation of

any presentation or demand for payment on the drawees, or that any

of the ordinary steps had been taken to charge the drawer of the

bills.

Q. And was there any tender of security under the statute.on the

motion papers, or in the complaint ? A. The complaint alleged that

a bond had been tendered.

Q. Did it still make that tender ? A. It did not ; there was no

tender of a hew or further bond upon the application for a receiver-

ship. *

Q. "Was there any thing appearing in the papers, or was the state-

ment made at any time, that Messrs. Belmont & Co. were not
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responsible for this amount of money, or that the fund was at all

insecure? A. No, sir.

Q. How long have you known that firm yourself? A. I have

known Mr. Belmont since about 1849.

Q. Do you consider him and all his firm responsible for $26,000 ?

A. I have always so considered them.

Q. State what took place on the 2d of July, and before what

justice this order was returnable ? A. On the 2d of July, the day

when this order to show cause was made returnable (the papers

having been served late on the 30th of June), I attended at the

Superior Court, Judge McCunn holding the court, and applied to

him for a postponement of the time for showing cause, upon the

ground that I had had no opportunity of procuring the necessary

affidavits upon which to oppose the motion, or of conferring with

counsel about the course to be pursued.

Q. That was how many days after the date of the order ? A.

Two days ; I won't be certain about the days of the week, but I

have running in my mind that the 1st of July was Sunday.

Q. State what Justice McCunn said ? A. He insisted that the

matter should be considered as before him ; he said that we should

have reasonable time and opportuidty to present papers, and to be

heard to our hearts' content, but that the plaintiff should submit his

papers to him, so that the case would be considered as on before him

;

I had presented an affidavit on the application for postponement

;

and, finally, this order which I hold in my hand was drafted by me
in conformity with the direction which Judge McCunn had given to

the matter.

Mr. Stickney— This is the original order, produced from the files

of the court, made on the 2d of July, allowing the motion to stand

over to the 9th of July, with liberty to the defendants to put in

other afiidavits, and to be heard in showing cause why the relief

asked for by the plaintiff should not be granted. We do not put it

(the order) in evidence.

Q. State what took place on the 9th of July ? A. On the 9th of

July I attended, in company with my partner, Mr. McFarland ; no

papers had been served on Mr. Belmont, he actually being out of

the country; the only person served was Mr. Lucke, his then

partner.

Q. Had Mr. Lucke been Mr. Belmont's partner at the time those

bills were drawn ? A. The answer of Lucke denied that partner-

ship
;
personally I, of course, do not know.

Q. "Was that fact shown by papers laid before Justice McCunn on



TEIAL OF JUHN H. McCUKI^. 527

the hearing of the motion ? A. I will not be sure of that ; the

papers appear on the record ; on the 9th of July we read an affidavit

of Lucke's, in opposition to thig motion for a receiver ; Mr. Tall-

madge appeared as counsel for the plain tiflF; Mr. Page was the attor-

ney for the plaintiff, and my recollection is that both he and Mr.
Tallmadge were present ; after the reading of our affidavit Mr. Tall-

madge applied to have the motion stand over, on the ground that he
wished to introduce additional affidavits in answer to what was
claimed to be new matter set up in our affidavit, they claiming that

they were taken by surprise, if I recollect right ; it was then agreed

by counsel, in the presence of the court, that the motion should

stand over, that the plaintiff should have liberty to introduce addi-

tional affidavits, copies of which were to be first served upon us, that

we should, have an opportunity to reply, that he should also furnish

us with a copy of the points that he proposed to submit, and that we
should have a reasonable time to reply to those points before the

motion should be submitted to the court ; my recollection is that

additional affidavits were furnished us some days afterward, but that

no points were ever received by us, and therefore our time to reply

never arrived.

Mr. Sticknet— "We produce from the files of the court, and put

in evidence the original affidavit of Ernst B. Lucke, one of the

defendants, which was read at the hearing on the 9th of July before

Judge McCunn. The paper was marked Exhibit No. 39J, and is as

follows

:

ExHiBir No. 39^.

SUPEEME COUET.

John O'Mahony
agt.

AuGTisT Belmont and Another.

Ernst B. Lucke, one of the defendants in the above-entitled action,

being duly sworn, says

:

That he has read a copy of the affidavit of Eoger J. Page, made
in this action and sworn to on the thirtieth day of June last.

And deponent says that he never stated or admitted to the said

Page or any other person that the plaintiff ever deposited with the

firm of August Belmont & Co., or with either of the defendants, the

moneys or consideration paid for the bills of exchange mentioned in

the complaint, or that such bills or any or either of them were or

was drawn at the instance or request of the plaintiff, or that pay-

ment of the said bills had been countermanded or stopped by the
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plaintiff for the reason that the same had been lost or destroyed, or

made any statement or admission in relation thereto of the tenor

or effect stated in said affidavit.

And this defendant expressly denies that he ever stated or admitted

to said Page that the funds cr moneys placed to the credit of said

bills with the said N. M. Eothschild & Sons had been withdrawn by

the defendants or either of them, or that said moneys were in the

possession of the defendants or either of them. This deponent fm*-

ther says, that said moneys have not been withdrawn and are not

now in the possession of the defendants or either of them.

This deponent says, that the facts in regard to the alleged tender

of a bond of indemnity were as follows

:

Shortly prior to the commencement of this action, J. J. Marvin,

Esq., attorney and counselor at law, called upon the defendant Bel-

mont in respect to the said bills of exchange, and was referred by

the said Belmont to his counsel.

That, subsequently, Mr. Page called upon the defendants at their

place of business several times and had several interviews with this

deponent, said Belmont being present on one or two occasions.

That said Page expressed a desire that some arrangement might be

made by which the plaintiff in said action might get control of the

fund represented by the bills of exchange mentioned in the com-

plaint, without the production and surrender of the bills which he

admitted were not in the plaintiff's possession. That said Belmont,

without acknowledging or admitting any liability upon the said

bills or either of them, expressed a desire that whoever was entitled

to the moneys represented by the bills should have them, but at the

same time advised said Page that he would not be willing to pay

the same to any one without ample security against the claims of all

other persons, the form of which must be approved by his counsel.

A bond was subsequently prepared by Mr. Belmont's counsel, and

submitted to Mr. Page, who was requested to furnish the names of

the sureties they proposed to give. Mr. Page at first objected to

giving the bond, but finally approved of the bond submitted. He
subsequently furnished the names of the proposed sureties, but upon

investigation such sureties were not found to be persons of sufficient

responsibility and standing to warrant their acceptance, and there-

upon the said Page was notified that they would not be accepted.

Thereupon Mr. Page proposed to give a bond executed by a num-

ber of persons, no one of whom, as deponent believes, was worth the

amount mentioned in the bond, which proposition was declined by

this deponent, acting as the agent of Mr. Belmont. Mr. Page was
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informed by deponent that nothing conld be done unless the bond
should be executed by two persons, each of whom must be men of

sufficient responsibility and standing to make them undoubted

security for the whole amount of the bond, and that nothing further

was heard from Mr. Page or the plaintiff on the subject until the

service of the papers in this suit.

Deponent further says that he was personally present at the inter-

views had by the said Page with the defendant Belmont, who is

now absent in Europe, and never in the presence of the deponent

did the said August Belmont make any or either of the admissions

to the said Page alleged in the said affidavit of the said Page, or any

like admissions.

Deponent further says that the defendant, August Belmont, sailed

for Europe on the day of last, before the commencement

of this suit, and has not been served with any of the papers therein.

ERNST B. LUCKE.
Sworn and subscribed before me,

|
this 9th day of July, 1869, )

John W. Weed, JVotary Puilic, iV. Y. Co.

Indorsed : Superior No. 3. John O'Mahony v. August Belmont

and another. Affidavit of defendant Ernst B. Lucke. Bowdoin,

Larocque & Barlow, attorneys for said defendant Lucke, 35 Wil-

liam street. Exhibit 39Ja. 0. R. D. Piled July lY, 1869.

Q. What was the next proceeding that you had notice of? A.

The next thing that occurred was a demand made at the office of

Messrs. Belmont & Co., by Mr. Thomas J. Barr, as receiver.

Q. A demand made upon whom ? A. Upon Mr. Lucke, I believe

;

T was not present at the time that demand was made, but in the

history of the case the papers show it.

Q. Since the stipulation made in open court that the plaintiff

should have time to serve upon you his affidavits and brief, and that

you should have time to serve upon him affidavits in reply, had there

been any notice given to you of any further application in the

matter? A. JSTo, sir.

Q. Did you have any letter from the plaintiff's counsel in relation

to that matter, from Mr. Tallmadge ? A. In reference to which

matter ?

Q. In reference to the fact of this stipulation having been made

.

in court, and his having made no further application for this order

for a receiver 'i A. I think we had such a letter.

67



530 PEOCBBDINGS IN THE

Q. Have you a copy of it ? A. Ko, I have not it here ; my
recollection is that it is attached to the papers in the report of Mr.

Tallmadge ; we received a letter from Mr. Roger J. Page, the

attorney for the plaintiffs, the letter being dated, apparently, June

17fch, but the real date was Jvlj 17th.

Q. Had the action been commenced on the 17th of June ? A.

No, sir.

Mr. Stioknet read the letter in evidence.

Mr. Sticknet— JSTow, I will read in evidence the original order

appointing Mr. Barr receiver, dated July 16th, the day before the

date of this letter from Mr. Page ; the paper was marked Exhibit

Wo. 40, and is as follows :

Exhibit No. 40.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New York,

held in the new County Court House in said city of New York,

on the 16th day of July, 1869.

Present— Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice.

John O'Mahont, Plaintiff,

agst. I

August Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke,

Defendants.

Upon the summons and complaint duly verified in this action,

and on reading and filing afHdavits of Thomas N. Dwyer, Roger J.

Page, Michael Cavanaugh, William M. Curry and of the plaintiff in

this action, all sworn to on the 9th day of July, 1869, and used on

a motion made by the plaintiff in said action, to have a receiver

appointed, and after hearing E. H. Tallmadge, Esq., of counsel for

the plaintiff, and on reading and filing affidavit of Ernst B. Lucke,

one of the defendants, sworn to on July 9, 1869, and after hearing

Bowdoin, Larocque & Barlow, Esquires, for the defendants, in

opposition thereto, now it is hereby ordered, that Hon. Thomas J.

Barr, of the city of New York, counselor at law, be and hereby is

appointed receiver of the moneys and funds, or gold mentioned in

the said complaint, and deposited for said bills of exchange by the

plaintiff with the defendants, under the fii'm name of August Bel-

mont & Co.

It is further ordered that upon said receiver's executing, acknowl-

edging and filing with the clerk of this court a bond in the usual

form, to the people of the State of New York, in the penalty of

fifty thousand dollars ($50,000), with sufficient sureties, freeholders
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of said city and county of New York, to be approved as to its form

and manner of its execution by a justice of this court, that the said

receiver shall be vested with the usual rights and powers of receivers

under this court, that the defendants, August Belmont and Ernst

B. Lucke, pay over and deliver to the said receiver the amount

in gold coin of the United States, or its equivalent in currency of

the United States, upon his demand.

And it is further ordered that the aforesaid moneys, funds or

gold, remain with and in possession of the receiver above named

and mentioned, until the final determination of this action, except

so much thereof as shall be drawn therefrom before that time, under

the direction of the court, or a justice thereof, for the purposes of

counsel fees, expenses and disbursements therein.

(Enter.) J. McC.

Indorsed : No. 4. New York Superior Court. John G'Mahony

v. August Belmont et al. Order appointing a receiver. Exhibit

40. June 2Y. C E. D. Judgment, Feb. 16, 1869. Filed July 17,

1869.

Mr. Sticknet—We now produce from the files of the court the

stipulation entered into by the attorneys for both sides on the 17th

of July, the next day after the foregoing order was entered.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 41, and read in evidence, as

follows

:

Exhibit No. 41.

SUPEKIOB COUKT.

John O'Mahont
)

agst.

August Bblmont and Ernst B. Lucke.

The order in this action appointing a receiver and directing the

payment of money therein mentioned to such receiver by said

defendants, having been entered by mistake and contrary to the

stipulations of the attorneys lor the respective parties, it is hereby

agreed that the said order be set aside, and that the further hearing

of the said motion upon which said order was entered be and is

hereby adjourned to Thursday the 22d inst., at 11 o'clock.

New Yoek, 11th May, 1869.

KOGEB J. PAGE,
Plaintiff^s Attorney.

BOWDOIN, LAROCQUE & BAELOW,
Attorneys for Defendants.



532 PEOOEEDINGS IN THE

By Mr. STicKNBy

:

Q. Tou notice that the date on that paper is the 17th of May,

1869 ; is that correct, oris it a clerical error ? A. It should be July

;

that paper is in the handwriting of my late partner, Mr. Greo. J. W.
Bowdoin, now deceased.

Mr. Stickney—We now read in evidence the order granted by

Justice McCunn on the 17th of July.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 42, and is as follows

:

Exhibit No. 42.

NEW YORK SUPERIOE COUET.

John O'Mahont
|

agst.
f-

AtJGTJST Belmont and Eknst B. Lucke. I

City and County of New Toek, ss. ;

Thomas J. Ba/rr, being duly sworn, says

:

I. That by an order of this court made at a special term thereof at

the court-house in said city of New York, on the 16th day of July,

1869, and filed with the clerk of this court on the 17th day of July,

1869, deponent was appointed receiver of the moneys, funds or gold

mentioned in the complaint in this action and deposited for said

bills of exchange by the plaintiff with August Belmont and Ernst

B. Lucke, under the firm name of August Belmont & Company.

II. That, pursuant to said order, deponent duly filed approved

security and entered upon his trust as such receiver.

III. That in and by said order, among other things, the said

August Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke are directed to pay over and

deliver to the said receiver the amount, in gold of the United States,

or its equivalent in currency of the United States.

IV. That on the 17th day of July, 1867, deponent served an ofii-

cial copy of said order, duly certified by the clerk of this court, per-

sonally on the defendant, Ernst B. Lucke, one of the defendants

above named, and one of the firm of August Belmont & Company,

and at the same time served a written notice to the officer that

deponent had fully complied with said order to entitle him to receive

the money and property therein mentioned, and at the same time

demanded that the same be delivered to this deponent pursuant to

said order.

v. That the said Ernst B. Lucke then and there admitted to

deponent the possession and custody of such money, funds or gold.
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YI. That the said Ernst B. Lueke has refused and still refuses to

pay over and deliver to said receiver such moneys, funds or gold, or

any part thereof, or to comply with said order.

TPIOMAS J. BAEK.
Sworn to before me, this lYth )

day of July, 1867,
j

I. M. Dixon,

Notary Public.

NEW YORK SUPEEIOE COUET.

John O'Mahont

agst.

AUGTJST BbLMONT AND BbNST B. LuCKE.

Upon the papers and proceedings in the above-entitled action, and

on the affidavit of Thomas J. Barr, hereto annexed, of which a copy

is herewith served, ordered that August Belmont and Ernst B.

Lucke, the defendants above named, show cause before one of the

justices of this court, at a special term thereof to be held in the

court-house in the city of l^ew York on the 20th day of July, 1869,

at twelve o'clock, noon, or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard,

why the said August Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke should not be

punished for their disobedience to the order appointing a receiver

herein and requiring said defendants to pay over and deliver to

such receiver the moneys, funds or gold or property therein men-

tioned, and for such other or further order as may be just, and in

the mean time, and until the further order of the court, let all pro-

ceedings on the part of the defendants or their attorneys in this

action be stayed (except to answer or demur to the complaint herein)

not exceeding twenty days.

Dated JSTew Yoek, July 11th, 1869.

JOHN H. McCUNJSr,

Justice.

Hendeesou & Cakfibld,

Attorneysfor Beceiver, 195 Broadway, New Yorlc City.

Indorsed : No. 5. New York Superior Court. John G'Mahony
V. August Belmont c& Oom/pany. Order to show cause. Hender-

son & Canfield, attorneys and counselors, 195 Broadway, New York.

Exhibit 42. June 7. 0. E. D. Filed July 20, 1869.

By Mr. Stickney :

Q. That order to show cause, which I have just read, requires
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Mr. Belmont, among others, to show cause why he should not be

punished for contempt. Mr. Belmont was then in Europe, I under-

stand you ? A. It so appears.

Q. And he had never been served with any of the papers ? A.

He had not.

Q. State what next took place ? A. From my position as one of

the attorneys of record, and from having connection with this busi-

ness, I know as to what occurred between that time and the time

when the subsequent order was made, but I was out of town myself,

and not present either at Mr. Belmont's office, when the demand
was made, or in court when Judge McCunn directed the drawing of

the check in the court room. Mr. Tallmadge, who was present in

court, I believe, and who acted as counsel for the plaintiff, can

probably testify as to these matters.

Q. State whether or not you gave a statement as to what did

happen on that occasion in court, in the presence of Mr. Justice

McCunn, before the Assembly committee, and whether he then

admitted that that statement was correct ? A. I was examined as a

witness before the Assembly committee, in the presence of Mr.

Justice McCunn, and, being asked about these matters, I then said

that I was not personally present on these two occasions, at Mr.

Belmont's office and in court, when the check was ordered drawn,

but that, if the accused saw no objection, I would state the facts as

they afterward came to me. He said he was quite content that I

should make the statement, and I then proceeded, by authority of

the committee. He did not seem to object to it at all ; on the con-

trary, I understood that he was anxious to have the statement made.

Mr. Stioknet—We shall prove by the original order exactly what

was done, but, if the Senate make no objection, I will simply ask

the witness to give a statement of it now, so as to spread it upon

the record.

To the "WrrNESs

:

Q. Just state what took place ? A. As I was informed on my
return a day or two afterward, and as appeared from the order

which came to my knowledge then, an order to show cause had been

granted by Judge McCunn, requiring the defendants to show cause

why they should not be punished for contempt, for not paying this

money to Mr. Barr as receiver. Upon the return of that order my
partner, Mr. Macfarland, appeared and proposed to discuss the ques-

tion ; but the judge declined to hear any thing on the subject until

Mr. Lucke personally should attend before the court, and he then
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declared (as I was informed) that he, Mr. Lueke, must draw a check

for the amount of money claimed and pay it to the receiver there,

or be punished for contempt.

Mr. Yak Cott : A gold check ?

The Witness : I don't recollect that.

By Mr. Stioknbt :

Q. This was three days after the stipulation between the attorneys

on both sides, setting aside the order ? A. Yes ; the check was

drawn and the proceeding to punish for contempt dropped after the

payment of the money.

Mr. Stickney—We produce from the files of the court Justice

McOunn's order of the 20th of July, three days after the stipula-

tion between the attorneys of both parties.

The paper was marked Exhibit ISo. 43, and was read in evidence

as follows

:

Exhibit JSTo. 43.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of JSTew York,

held at the Court-hoi^se in said city, on the 20th day of

July, 1869.

Present— Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice.

John O'Mahoity
1

a(j»t.

August Bblmont and Ehnst B. Lucke.

On reading and filing the affidavit of Thomas J. Barr, the

receiver in this action, showing due personal service on the defend-

ant, Ernst B. Lucke, of the order made at Special Term of this

court on the 16th day of July, 1869, requiring the said Ernst B.

Lucke and August Belmont to pay over and deliver certain per-

sonal property therein specified to such receiver, and also showing

an account of said property of the said defendants, and their neglect

and refusal to deliver the same, or any part thereof, and, on motion

of James Henderson, Esq., counsel for the receiver, to punish said

defendants for disobedience of said order ; now, after hearing Wm.
W. Macfarland, Esq., of counsel for the defendants, and Roger J.

Page, Esq., for the plaintiff, it is hereby ordered that, upon said

defendants forthwith complying with the order made by this court

on the 16th day of July, 1869, appointing a receiver herein, by

paying to said receiver the sum of $16,738.70, in gold coin of the

United States, that the said defendants be purged of and from aU

contempt herein.
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And the said receiver is hereby directed to pay the sum of $2,500

in United States currency to the defendants' attorneys herein out

of said fund, as counsel fees and disbursements incurred herein.

And that, in default thereof, on the part of the defendants, said

Ernst B. Lucke stand committed to the common jail of the county

of New Tork until the said sum be paid to said receiver, and that a

warrant issue to carry this order into effect.

(Entered.) J. H. McO.

Indorsed : No. 7. New Tork Superior Court. John 0''Mahony

V. August Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke. Order directing defend-

ants to pay over funds. James Henderson, of counsel for the

receiver, Thomas J. Barr. Exhibit No. 43, June 27. C. E. D.

Eiled July 20, 1869.

By Mr. D. P. Wood :

Q. Had Judge McCunn knowledge of that stipulation between

the attorney, setting aside the order % A. As I am advised, his

attention was directed to it on the occasion of the return of this

order to show cause why Lucke should not be punished for con-

tempt, but he refused to hear any thing on the subject until the

money should be paid, and would not give any effect to the stipu-

lation.

By Mr. Lewis :

Q. Is this the same statement you made before the House com-

mittee ? A. Well, whether it is exactly the same or not, I cannot

be positive ; there are some facts which have come to my recollec-

tion since that time, and which were not then stated.

Q. Was any thing said before the House committee as to Judge

McCunn' s knowledge of the stipulation ? A. I think not, sir.

Mr. Lewis— Then I don't think it Droper that it should be stated

here.

The Witness—It was only in answer to the Senator's question

that I stated it.

Mr. Stioknet—We shall prove it ; we now produce from the files

of the court an order made on the same day, the 20th of July,

signed by Judge McCunn.
The paper was marked Exhibit No. 44, and put in evidence, as

follows

:
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Exhibit No. 44.

At a special motion term of the Superior Court of the city of New-
York, held at the Gourt-house in the city of New York, on the

20th day of July, 1869.

Present— Hon. John H. MoCunn, Justioe, etc.

. NEW YOEK SUPERIOR COURT.

JoHsr O'Mahont, Plaintiff,

agst.

August Belmont and Eknst B. Lugkb,

Defendants.

Upon all the papers, affidavits and pleadings in this action, and

on motion of Roger J. Page, the attorney for the plaintiff in the

above-entitled action, and after hearing Mr. W. "W". Macfarland, of

counsel for the defendants herein :

It is ordered that Thomas J. Barr, Esq., the receiver appointed

in this action, pay over to Mr. Roger J. Page, the said plaintifi's

attorney herein, the sum of one thousand dollars, as and for the

expenses and disbursements in the said action, and also pay to said

attorney of the plaintiff the further sum of one thousand and five

hundred dollars, as and for counsel fees; that such expenses, dis-

bursements and counsel fees be paid by such receiver out of and

from the funds and moneys with him as such receiver, and the same

be charged to the credit of such funds and moneys in his hands, and

to the credit of the same herein.

(Entered.) J. H. MoC.

Indorsed: New York Superior Court. John O'Mahony v.

August Behnont et al. Order, etc. Exhibit No. 44. C. R. D.

Roger J. Page, plaintiff's attorney. No. Y Murray street. FUed

July 29th, 1869.

By Mr. Stioknbt :

Q. Did you ever have aotice of an application for that order ?

A-. None, to my recollection.

By Mr. Peeey :

Q. To whom was the second sum paid; the $1,500? A. Both

sums were paid to the same person, Roger J. Page.

Q. You took an appeal from that order ? A. We did ; we took

appeal from all these orders; first from the order appointing a
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receiver; secondly, from the order directing the payment of the

money by Lucke, or that he stand committed ; and thirdly, from the

order to pay the money to Mr. Page.

Mr. Stickney—We produce an order of the General Term, made

on the 14th of ]S"ovember, 1870, reversing all these other orders.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 45, and is as follows

:

ExHiBrr ISTo. 46.

At a General Term of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, held at the Court-house in the city and county of JSTew

York, on the 14th day of November, A. D. ISTO.

Present— Hon. J. M. Babboub, Chief Justice.

C. L. MoNELL, J. J. Feeedman, Justices.

John O'Mahony
1

agat. V

AuGUST Belmont and Ernst B. Ltjckb.
j

The appeals taken by the defendant, Ernst B. Lucke, to the gen-

eral term of this court, from the following orders made in this

action, that is to say : Firstly, An order made and entered on the

16th day of July, 1869, appointing a receiver in this action.

Secondly, An order entered in this action on the 20th day of July,

1869, ordering the payment of certain moneys by the said defendant

to the receiver herein. Thirdly, An order made in this action,

dated the 20th day ot July, in the year 1869, and entered on the

29th day of July, 1869, directing the payment by the receiver to

JRoger J. Page, the attorney for the plaintiff, of $2,500 ; having

been this day called on for an argument, and no one appearing to

oppose ; now, on reading and filing notice of argument of said

appeals for this term, with admission of due service, signed by H.

E. Tallmadge, Esq., attorney for the plaintiff, and on motion of W.
W. Macfarland, Esq., of counsel for the defendant, Ernst B. Lucke,

it is now ordered and adjudged that the said orders appealed from,

each and every of them, be and the same are hereby reversed and

vacated, with ten dollars costs of said appeals to the appellant.

(Entered.) J. M. B.

Indorsed : No. 17. New York Superior Court. John O^Mahony
V. August Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke. Order of General Term
reversing order appointing receiver and other orders. Bowdoin

Larocque & Barlow, attorneys for defendant Lucke, 35 William

street. Filed Nov. 14, 1870. Exhibit No. 45. 0. E. D.
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Mr. Stioknet— "We now produce a further order made on the

16th of December, 1870, also at general term, denying the motion
of the receiver to open and set aside that last order which I have
just read. The counsel for the receiver moved to set aside the

order of the general term reversing these orders, and the general

term denied his motion, on the ground that he had no right to

come into court at all in the matter. I will read the order of the

general term to that effect.

The paper was marked Exhibit 46, and was read as follows

:

Exhibit ISTo. 46.

At a General Term of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, held at the Court-house in the city of New York on
the 16th day of December, A. D. 1870.

Present : — Hon. J. M. Baeboue, Chief Justice.

Samuel Jones, John H. McCtjnn, Justices.

John O'Mahont
1

agst.

AuausT Belmont and Eknst B. Lxjokb.

On reading and filing notice of motion, on part of the defendant,

bank receiver herein, to vacate and set aside the order of the genera!

term, entered therein on the 14th day of ITovember last, vacating

and reversing these orders of the special term, and Mr. Henderson,

of counsel for the defendant Barr, receiver, etc., now presenting him-

self and desiring to bring on this motion, the court declined to hear

him, or to allow them to make the motion, and thereupon dismiss

the motion, on the ground that the receiver has no standing in court

to make the motion.

(Enter.) S. JONES, Jud^e.

Indorsed : No. 35. New York Superior Court. John G'Mahony
V. August Belinont and others. Order denying motion to vacate

orders of General Term. Bowdoin, Larocque & Barlow, attorneys

for defendant Lucke. Exhibit No. 46. June 7. C. E. D. Filed

December 16, 1870.

Q. State whether an application was made to the court to make

the receiver a party to the action ? A. On the 27th of July, 1869,

there was an order made upon the application of Mr. Barr, the

receiver, making him a party defendant to the action in his capacity

as receiver.
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Mr. Stickney— We produce Judge McCunn's order of the 27th

of July, making the receiver a party defendant to the action,

marked Exhibit N"o. iT.

ExHrBiT No. 47.

SUPERIOK COUET.

John O'Mahont
agst.

Atjgtjst Belmont and othbhs. I

City Aim County of New York, ss.:

Thomas J. Barr being duly sworn says, that he is the receiver

herein, and that he has duly qualified and entered upon his duties

as such receiver.

That after his appointment as such receiver, H. E. Tallmadge,

one of the counsel for the plaintiff herein, called at the ofiice of this

deponent and stated to this deponent, in effect, that he would resist

and prevent the funds, mentioned in the complaint herein, coming

into this deponent's hands as receiver, and would discontinue the

action and commence another in the Supreme Court, unless this

deponent wonld distribute said funds as he, said Tallmadge, might

desire ; and that, although Mr. Page's name was used as attorney

for the plaintiff, he, Tallmadge, had drawn all the papers and had

all to do with the matter, and that he could contract the same.

Deponent further says, that several suits have been commenced
against him and others, and are still pending for said fund.

THOS. J. BAEE.
Sworn to before me this 21st

)

day of July, 1867,
j

J. M. Dixon, Notary Public N. Y. Co.

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW YOEK.

John O'Mahont
agst.

AtTGTJST Belmont and Ernst B. Ltjcke.

City and County of New York, ss.:

Thomas J. Barr of said city, being duly sworn, says, that by an

order of this court made at special term thereof at the court-

house in said city, on the 16th day of July instant, he was duly

appointed receiver of the moneys, funds or gold mentioned in the

complaint in this action.
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That pursuant to said order, deponent duly filed approved security,

and entered upon his trust as such receiver, and has received the

sum of $16,738.70 in gold coin, less $2,500 in currency deducted

therefrom.

That in order to protect his rights as such receiver, and for the

protection of such trust funds, he has been informed by James Hen-
derson, his counsel, that he the said receiver, should be made a

party defendant in this action.

THOS. J. BAEK.
Sworn to before me this 21st

)

day of July, 1869.
j

J. M. Dixon, Notary Public N. T. Co.

SUPEEIOE COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK
John O'Mahony

aggt.

AuGuaT Belmont and Ernst B. Ltjckb.

TJpon the foregoing affidavit of Thomas J. Barr, and such other

papers as may be served, and on all the papers and proceedings in

the above entitled action, let the attorneys for the respective parties

in said action show cause before one of the justices of this court, at

a special term thereof, to be held at the court-house in the city of

New York, on the 27th day of July, 1869, at 12 o'clock noon, why

said Thomas J. Barr should not be made a party defendant to this

action, and allowed to answer therein, if he may be so advised, and

why he should not have notice of all proceedings in said action,

and for such further or different relief in the premises that the court

should be competent to grant, and in the meantime, and until the

hearing and decision of this motion, let all proceedings in this

action be stayed, not exceeding twenty days.

Dated New York, July 21, 1867.

JOHN H. MoCUNN, Judge.

JAMES HENDERSON,
Counselfor the Receiver.

Indorsed : C. 334. New York Superior Court. John O'Mahony

v. August Belmont and Ernst B. LucJce. Affidavit and order to

show cause why receiver should not be made a party to the action.

James Henderson, counsel for receiver, 195 Broadway, New York.
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At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of l!few York,

held at the Court-house, in said city of New York, on the 27th

day of July, 1869.

Present—Hon. John H. McCtrtfN, Justice.

John O'Mahony
)

agat. >

Atjgtjst Belmont and Eenst B. Luoke.
J

Upon reading and filing affidavit of Thomas J. Barr, and order

to show cause founded thereon, dated July 21, 1869, and on reading

the pleadings and proceedings in this cause, on motion of James

Henderson, Esq., of counsel for the receiver, Thomas J. Barr, after

hearing Roger J. Page, Esq., counsel for the plaintiff, and Wm. W.
Macfarland, Esq., counsel for the defendants;

Ordered, chat Thomas J. Barr, the receiver in the above entitled

action, be made a party defendant herein, and that all papers in this

action be served upon him or his attorney, James Henderson, by the

plaintiff's attorney herein, within ten day after the service of this

order.

(Enter.) J. McC.

Indorsed : Ifo. 8. New York Superior Court. John O^Mahony
V. August Belmont and Ernst B. Luoke. Order making the

receiver a party defendant in this action. Henderson & Canfield,

attorneys and counselors, 195 Broadwaj^, New York. Exhibit No.

47, June 27. C. E. D. Filed Aug. 2, 1869.

Q. The appeal was taken from that order % A. Yes, sir.

Q. That was reversed ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did Henderson appear to oppose that ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What did the court decide on the point ? A. Said that the

order was in substance something unheard of from the fact of a man
being receiver, and a man being made a party being a receiver

;

there was no opinion.

Q. State what the judge said orally ? A. I don't know that I can

say any thing more ; the fact was, they directed the order to be

reversed, and it was reversed, and either on this occasion or on the

hearing of some of the other appeals, when Mr. Henderson claimed

the right to be heard, the court declared the receiver had no right to

appear, or to be heard upon any of the questions affecting the rights

of parties litigant to the suit ; we produce the order of the general

term reversing this order of Justice McCunn's, bringing the receiver
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in as a party defendant ; this order of the court was filed January

13, 1871, and entered on that day.

Q. And on any of these papers, the application for the appoint-

ment of receiver, and on any of these appeals from the orders

appointing Mr. Barr as receiver, directing the payment of money,

or the order making the receiver a party, did the counsel for the

plaintiff make any opposition to this reversal ? A. ITone whatever.

Q. The counsel for neither party wished these things done, nor

asked for them at any time ? A. The counsel for the plaintiff, in

the first place, asked for the appointment of a receiver ; from the

time that motion was ordered to stand over, if I recollect right, all

these proceedings were had upon the application of the receiver

himself, and against the wishes of the counsel for the plaintiff as

well as the defendant.

Q. The court decided they had no power to move or take action

in the premises, as I understand it ? A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Peeet :

Q. Do I understand you, that the order appointing the receiver,

was reversed ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Sticknet—Mr. President : I introduce in evidence the order

of the general term of the Superior Court, dated January 3, 1871,

marked Exhibit ISTo. 48.

Exhibit ISTo. 48.

At a General Term of the Supreme Court of the city of ISTew York,

held at the Court-house in the city and county of New York,

on the 13t-h day of January, A. D. 1871.

Present— Hon. C. L. Monell, Samuel Jones, James C. Spencer,

Justices.

John O'Mahont
agst.

AuGTJST Belmont, Ernst B. Luckb and

Thomas J. Baer, Receiver, etc.

The appeal taken by the defendant Ernst B. Lucke, from the

order made in this action, bearing date the 27th day of July, A. D.

1869, making Thomas J. Barr, theretofore appointed a receiver in

this action,- a party defendant herein, coming on to be heard, after

hearing Mr. Larocque of counsel for the said appellant and Mr.
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Henderson of counsel for the said Thomas J. Barr, receiver and

defendant, respondent ; it is now ordered and adjudged that the said

order appealed from, making the said receiver a party defendant to

this action, be and the same is in all things reversed and vacated.

(Enter.) C. L. M.

Indorsed : No. 42. N. Y. Superior Court. John G'Maho'ny v.

August Belmont and, ors. Order of General Term reversing order

making receiver a party. Bowdoin, Larocque & Barlow, att'ys for

defendant Lucke, Exhibit ISTo. 48. 5, 27, 72. C. K. D. Filed

January 13, 1871.

Q. Did you subsequently take any steps to recover back the

money ? A. I made an application to the Superior Court for an

order to pass the accounts of the receiver, and such an order was

made, reserving all other questions until the coming in of that

account ; under that order proceedings were had before Mr. Calvin,

as referee, and the account of the receiver was presented and liti-

gated before the referee ; the referee subsequently made a report, to

which exceptions were filed on the part of Lucke, the defendant

;

those exceptions were heard before Justice Sedgwick shortly before

the commencement of this investigation, and no decision has been

rendered yet by him on that report ; the money has never yet been

returned.

By Mr. Bowbn :

Q. What has become of the case ; has it gone to judgment ? A. It

is also in the hands of Mr. Barr, the receiver, or it was deposited by

him in the Bowling Green Savings Bank as he testified ; whether he

has it does not appear ; in the suit itself an answer was interposed on

the part of Lucke, who was the only party served or that appeared
;

the plaintifif failed to appear when the case was reached and we took

a dismissal of the complaint, and it was after that the order was

entered directing the receiver to account.

Mr. D. P. Wood :

Q. Those two sums ordered paid by the order of Judge McCunn
to the plaintiff's attorney, were they paid before the orders were

reversed ? A. It is alleged that they were paid, and whether they

were paid or not, of my own knowledge I don't know.

.Q. They appear in the receiver's account as paid ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember the suit of Bailey v. O^Mahony? A.

After the appointment of Mr. Barr as receiver in the case of O'Ma-
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hony against some one, a suit was commenced by a person by the

name of Bailey, Wm. H. Bailey v. John O^Mahony, Thomas J.

Barr, August Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke, and on the 4th of

August, 1869, an order was made by Justice McOunn appointing

Thomas J. Barr, who was a defendant as receiver in the other action,

receiver in the case of Bailey v. O'Mahony et al.

Q. This was within a month ? A. This was on the fourth of

August of the same year ; the other orders were in July.

Q. Here is the original order ? A. I have a copy of it.

Q. Appointing him receiver of what ?

Mr. Benedict—Is this the same charge ?

Mr. Stickney— There is not a speciiic charge in relation to this

suit, but we put this in evidence to show the intent of the justice in

making the other orders in the suits which we charge were corruptly

made. "We offer this in evidence under the same charge.

The Witness—He was appointed receiver, as the order expressed

it, " of all the moneys and funds placed in the hands of August

Belmont & Co. by John O'Mahony, and derived from the sale of

Fenian bonds, and also all the funds and money deposited in the

hands of Peter B. Sweeney, the city chamberlain of New York city

in a certain action in the Supreme Court in which said O'Mahony is

a party, claiming to be entitled to receive said funds, and also all the

funds and money wheresoever situated and in whosoever hands the

same may be, which were derived and accumulated by the said

O'Mahony hy the sale of said Fenian bonds, mentioned and described

in this complaint in this action, and in the affidavit of the plaintifE in

this action." The order further directs that " Sweeney, the city

chamberlain of New York city, is hereby ordered and directed to

pay over to said receiver, upon due notice of this order, the sum of

$18,893.05, now in his hands as aforesaid, deposited in an action in

the Supreme Court, on the 20th of July, 1869, in which John Lawless

is named as plaintiff and August Belmont is named as defendant."

Mr. Sticknet : We will put in evidence the original summons

and complaint and injunction, from the Hies of the court.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 49, and reads as follows:

69
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Exhibit No. 49.

SUPEEIOE COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW TOEK.

William; H. Bailet

John O'Mahony, Thomas J. Barr, Attotjst

Bblmont and Ernst B. Luckb.

Injunction.

It appearing from the complaint in this action, duly verified, that

the plaintiff is entitled to the relief demanded in the complaint

herein, and that such relief consists in restraining John O'Mahony

from obtaining certain funds in the hands of Thomas J. Barr, or any

part thereof, until after the payment of the bonds or certificates

mentioned in the complaint, so far as the same will apply, and that

the defendant, Thomas J. Barr, should be restrained from paying

over to said O'Mahony, or to any other person or persons, said

funds or any part thereof.

Now, therefore, in consideration of the premises, I do hereby

command and strictly enjoin and restrain the said John O'Mahony,

his attorneys and agents, and all other persons acting in aid or assist-

ance of him, and each and every of them, under the penalties by

law prescribed, to absolutely desist and refrain from obtaining cer-

tain funds in the hands of Thomas J. Barr and August Belmont

and Ernst B. Lucke, or any part thereof, until after the payment of

the bonds or certificates mentioned in the complaint, so far as said

funds will apply, and that the defendant, Thomas J. Barr, be

restrained from paying over to said O'Mahony, or to any other per-

son or persons, said funds or any part thereof, until the further order

of this court.

JOHN H. McCUNN, Justice.

Dated July 21s<, 1869.

')

Indorsed : Superior Court. William H. Bailey v. John O'Mor

hony, Thomas J. Barr, August Belmont and Ernst B. Luclce.

Injunction order. E. S. Guernsey, plaintiff's att'y, 151 Broadway.
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SUPEEIOK COURT OF THE OITY OF NEW YORK.

William H. Bailbt, Plaintiff,

Summonsfor relief— Com,.
John O'Mahony, Thomas J. Babb, August

( served.
Belmont and Eunst B. Luckb, De-
fendants.

To the Defendcmts

:

You are hereby summoned and required to answer the complaint

in this action, a copy of which is herewith served, and to serve a

copy of your answer to the said complaint on the subscriber, at his

oflSce, No. 151 Broadway, New York city, within twenty days after

the service of this summons on you, exclusive of the day of such

service ; and if you fail to answer the said complaint within the time

aforesaid, the plaintiff in this action will apply to the court for the

relief demanded in the complaint.

Dated July 21st, 1869.

E. S. GUERNSEY,
Plaintiff^s Attorney.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

Compladnt.

William H. Bailey

John O'Mahony, Thomas J. Babb, August
Belmont and Bbnst B. Lucks.

The plaintiff herein shows to this court for a complaint in his own
behalf as well as on behalf of all other bondholders and persons

similarly situated, in the enterprise known as the " Fenian move-

ment," to establish the "Irish Republic," of which the defendant

John O'Mahony, claimed to be the agent, and received money as

alleged agent for said " Irish Republic."

First. That the plaintiff is a lonafide owner and holder of certain

bonds or certificates (a copy of one of which is hereunto annexed),

amounting in the aggregate to one hundred dollars, and that said

sums remain unpaid thereon.

Second. That on or about the I7th day of March, 1866, the said

defendant, O'Mahony, received from a large number of persons large

sums of money, and gave in return therefor at the par value therof,

in certificates of ten dollars each, signed by said O'Mahony as

aforesaid, said bonds or certificates and similar ones before referred

to, payable to bearer.
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Third. That no such nation or government was then known or

existed as the " Irish Kepublic " at the time of receiving said money
and giving said certificates or bonds therefore as aforesaid, and none

lias existed since that time ; and at the time said money was obtained

as aforesaid, the said O'Mahony well knew that no state of facts

existed to canse the said O'Mahony to have any probable reason or

belief that the said proposed attempt to establish an " Irish Eepxib-

lic " in Ireland against the wishes of the English government would

be a success.

Fourth. That said money so received as aforesaid by said O'Ma-

hony, was upon his own and his agent, representations and assur-

ances that the same was in good faith to be used by liim in behalf

of the " Irish Republic " in the struggle of the Irish people for

independence as a nation.

Fifth. That said defendant, O'Mahony, thereby obtained large

sums of money from various persons for the said purposes claimed

by him as aforesaid, amounting to many hundreds of thousands of

dollars, as this plaintiflE has been informed and believes to be true.

Sixth. That the said enterprise to establish said " Irish Republic,"

in Ireland, has been entirely abandoned by said O'Mahony and his

associates, as this plaintiff has been informed and verily believes to

be true.

Seventh. That a portion of said money, so obtained as aforesaid,

by said O'Mahony, in the hands of August Belmont and Ernst B.

Lucke, in ISTew York city subject to the order of said O'Mahony.

Eighth. That in an action in the Superior Court of the city of

New York, in which said O'Mahony is plaintiff, and said Belmont

and Lucke were defendants, such proceedings were had therein that

the defendant, Thomas J. Barr, was duly appointed a receiver therein,

as will more fully appear by the order of said court and all the papers

in said action. That under and by virtue of said order said Thomas

J. Barr has received a portion of said sum of money, amounting to

about $16,738, in gold coin of the United States, being some of the

funds and proceeds thereof obtained by said O'Mahony, as aforesaid,

and belonging to what is commonly known as the " Eenian fund,"

and were derived from persons paying money in exchange for said

bonds or certificates. Wherefore the plaintiff demands judgment,

as weU. in his own behalf as in behalf of all other bondholders and

persons similarly situated, that an injunction issue to restrain said

defendant, O'Mahony, from obtaining said funds or any part thereof,

and that said bonds or certificates be paid out of said funds in the

hands of said receiver, so far as the same will apply, and that the
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defendant, Thomas J. Barr, be restrained from paying over to said

O'Mahony or to any other person or persons said moneys, or any

part thereof until after such application, as aforesaid, and that the

plaintiff have such further or other or diiferent relief in the premises

as the court shall be competent to grant, together with the costs of

this action, payable out of said funds in the receiver's hands.

K. S. GUERNSEY,
Plaintiff''8 Attorney.

City and County of New Toek, ss. :

William H. Bailey, being duly sworn, says that he is the plaintiff

above named, that the foregoing complaint is true, of his own
knowledge, except as to the matters therein stated to be on infor-

mation and belief, and as to those matters he believes it to be true.

WM. H. BAILEY.
Sworn to before me this 21st

)

day of July, 1869. f

J. M. GrEEENE, Notary Public New York Co.

(Copy Bond.)

No. 1665. No. 836 E.

It is hereby certified that the Irish Republic is indebted unto

or bearer, in the sum of ten dollars, redeemable six months

after the acknowledgment of the independence of the Irish nation,

with interest from the date hereof inclusive, at six per cent per

annum, payable on presentation of this bond at the treasury of the

Irish Republic.

March 17, 1866.

JOHN O'MAHONY,
Agent for the Irish Pepvhlio.

Office of the Secretary of the Treasury, [l. s.j

Indorsed: Superior Court. No. 1. William R. Bailey v. John

O'Mahony, Thomas J. J3a/rr, August Belmont and Ernst B.

Lucke. Complaint and injunction. R. S. Guernsey, plaintiff's

att'y, 151 Broadway. Exhibit No. 49. Filed July 26, 1869.

By Mr. Stickney :

And we also offer in evidence the original order of the 4th of

August, 1869, with Justice McCunn's signature.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 50, and reads as follows

:
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Exhibit 'No. 50.

At a Special Term of tlie Superior Court of the city of New York,

held in the Court-house in said city, on the 4th day of August,

1869.

Present— Hon. John H. McCunn, Justice Presidmg.

'^

OrderAjpfointingltecewer.

William H. Bailey
agst.

John O'Mahont, Thomas J. Barr, August
Belmont and Ernst B. Lucke.

Upon reading the Terified complaint in this action, and on read-

ing and filing the affidavit of the plaintiff herein, and all the papers

and proceedings mentioned in said affidavit, and after hearing E.

S. Guernsey, of counsel for plaintiff, on a motion to appoint a

receiver in this action, and after hearing Roger J. Page, Esq., of

counsel for the defendant O'Mahony, in opposision thereto, and

James Henderson, Esq., appearing as counsel for defendant Barr,

and Wm. M. Macfarland, Esq., appearing as counsel for defendants

Belmont and Lucke, and due deliberation having been had thereon

;

Now, it is hereby ordered that Hon. Thomas J. Barr, of the city

and county of Nevr York, be and is hereby appointed a receiver of

all the moneys and funds placed in the hands of August Belmont

& Co. by John O'Mahony, and derived from the sale of Fenian

bonds ; and also all the funds and moneys deposited in the hands of

Peter B. Sweeney, the city chamberlain of New York city, in a

certain action in the Supreme Court, in which said O'Mahony is a

party claiming to be entitled to receive said funds, and also all the

funds and money, wheresoever situated and in whosesoever hands

the same may be, which were derived and accumulated by the said

O'Mahony of the sale of said Fenian bonds mentioned and described

in the complaint in this action and in the affidavit of the plaintiff

in this action.

It is further ordered, that said Thomas J. Barr, before entering

upon his said trust, shall execute and file with the clerk of this

court a bond, in the usual form given by receivers, to the people of

the State of New York, in the penalty of $50,000, witn sufficient

sureties, freeholders of said city and county of New York, to be

approved as to its form and manner of execution by a justice of

this court ; and that said Thomas J. Barr, upon filing such bond as

aforesaid, shall be invested with all the rights and powers of

receivers according to law.
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And the said Peter B. Sweeney, Esq., the city chamberlain of

New York city, is hereby ordered and directed to pay over to said

receiver, upon due notice of this order, the sum of $18,893.05, now
in his hands, as aforesaid, deposited in an action in the Supreme
Court on the 20th day of July, 1869, in which John Lawless is

named as plaintiff and August Belmont is named as defendant.

(Enter.) J. McC.

Indorsed : 'No. 2. Superior Court. WilUam H. Bailey v. John
CMahony, Thomas J. Barr, August Belmont and Ernst B. Luehe.
Order appointing receiver. E. S. Guernsey, plft's att'y. E. Filed

August 12, 1869. Exhibit Ko. 50. C. R. D.

By Mr. Stickeny :

Q. Had you appeared on the hearing of this motion ? A. Per-

sonally I had not.

HiEAM E. Tallmadge, being duly sworn on behalf of the prose-

cution, testified as follows

:

Exwmined hy Mr. Stioknet :

Q. Ton are a counselor at law in the city of New York ? A.
Yes, sir.

Q. Have been so how long ? A. Some eight years.

Q. Do you remember this case in the Superior Court of the

city of New York, of O'Mahony v. Belmont ? A. I was an attor-

ney and counsel for the plaintiff, O'Mahony.

Q. Do you remember the motion before Judge McCunn, on the

motion of the receiver, on the 2d of July, 1869 ? A. I do.

Q. The motion was adjourned to what day ? A. I remember it

as stated by Larocque ; I heard his testimony and what he stated is

substantially true, in reference to the adjournment.

Q. "Were you present in court before Justice McCunn on the

20th day of July, when Lucke, one of the defendants, was

brought before Judge McCunn on the charge of contempt ? A. I

wasn't.

Q. Do you remember the stipulation which has been put in evi-

dence here of the lYth of July, that the order appointing the

receiver be set aside ? A. I do ; I saw it signed ; directed it.

Q. Had you made any application ? A. I was going to say I

wrote the note referred to there.

Q. Which has also been put in evidence ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Had you made any application to Judge McCunn for that
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order appointing the receiver ? A. None ; I received' a note fronj

Henderson stating that the receiver had been appointed, and Hen-

derson presented me an order, and I told him I should not consent

to it ; didn't want one.

Q. What connection had Henderson with the receiver? A.

Seemed to be the counsel.

Q. Had he at any time been Mr. Barr's partner in business, a3

far as you know ? A. They had offices together.

Q. At that time ? A.. Tes, sir.

Q. Did you, after that consent on the 17th of July, which has

been put in evidence ; the consent to set aside and vacate that order

of the receivership ; did you take any proceedings at any time, or

were any proceedings taken at any time, as far as you know, on the

part of the plaintiff, for the appointment of receiver, or to enforce

the proceedings for the payment of that money ? A. None at all.

Q. Who was the moving party all through that ? A. It seemed

to be Mr. Henderson, the counsel for Mr. Barr.

Q. No party to the action, unless the receiver, moved those pro-

ceedings at all? A. I wasn't there at the contempt proceedings ; I

don't know any thing about them ; I wasn't present.

Q. You know whether you had given notice of any application,

or given any order to show cause ? A. I hadn't ; the order wasn't

obtained from the plaintiff on the part of the receiver.

Q. Tou remember, as has appeared by the papers, the fact of the

appeal being taken from the order appointing Mr. Barr receiver,

and the order directing the payment of the money to him ? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Did you make any opposition, or was there any opposition

made on the part of the plaintiff to the reversal of those orders at

the general term ? A. None at all.

Q. Do you remember the orders produced here making Mr. Barr,

the receiver, a party to the action ? A. I do.

Q. Was that order granted upon your motion ? A. Not at all.

Q. Do you remember the appeal from that order, making the

receiver a party, which has been put in evidence here ? A. Yes,

•eir.

Q. Did you oppose the order of the General Term, reversing that

order making him a party ? A. On the contrary, I moved to have

him stricken out as a party; that is, I assisted the defendant in so

doing.

Q. At any time after the 17th of July, was any opposition made

by the plaintiff to these proceedings, on the part of the defendant,
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looking to the reversal of all these orders about receivership ? A.
None at all.

Q. Or did the plaintiff make any application to the court, or

motion to the court, for relief in the matter in question ? A. No.

Q. Did the plaintiff make any opposition to the dismissal of the

complaint in the action ? A. No ; we had agreed to stop the action.

Q. He wished to get out of court ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you go to Belmont's office at any time in relation to the

payment of this money to the receiver ? A. I did.

Q. What for? A. To forbid the receiver taking the money, for

the matter had been settled.

Q. You told Belmont that ? A. Told the receiver and his

counsel.

Q. What did he say ? A. They said they couldn't help it ; they

were going to have the money.

Q. So that the demand for the money made on Lucke was made
after or before the stipulation between the attorneys, setting aside

the order and settling the whole matter ? A. It was after I had

notified Henderson ; refused to have the order, and I told him we
should not enter it contrary to stipulations we had made ; that they

had made arrangements to settle ; something of that kind ; I had

made them, with Mr. Macfarland ; Mr. Macfarland was one of firm

of the attorneys for Lucke.

Q. It was after that that the remark of Mr. Barr, the receiver,

was made, that they would have the money ? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Stickney— Mr. President : As to the sixth charge in the

case of Norbury Hicks v. Peter W. Bishop, the charge is, that in

a case wherein the plaintiff showed there was no cause of action on

its face against the defendant, and, at most, there was no claim for

more than the $1,500, Judge McCunn granted an order of arrest,

holding the defendant to bail in the sum of $40,000, and then, on

the order to show cause, which was returnable before him, an order

was made to show cause, which came on for hearing before Judge

McCunn. The order required the plaintiff to show cause why the

order of arrest should not be set aside and the bail reduced to the

ordinary amount ; we produce Justice McCunn's order denying the

motion.

Mr. Pebbt— Have you got the order ordering the arrest ?

Mr. Stickney— I have a copy of the order of arrest; I had it in

these papers and it appears to be mislaid now, but these facts all

appear on the motion papers, which were laid before Judge McCunn

on the hearing. I have the original bail bond, which I will put in

70
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evidence ; we will put in evidence the original undertaking upon

arrest.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 51.

Exhibit No. 61.

NEW YORK SUPEEIOR COURT.

NoHBUBT Hicks, Plaintiff,
)

«?«'• y Undertaking upon Arrest.
P. W. Bishop, Defendant.

J

The above named defendant, P. W. Bishop, having been arrested

by James O'Brien, the sheriff of the city and county of New York,

upon an order to arrest granted by the Hon. J. H. McGunn, in a

certain action commenced in the above named court, by the above

named plaintilf against the above named defendant.

"We, P. W. Bishop, of Troy, in the State of New York, by occu-

pation lawyer, and Joseph P. Brandy, ofNo. 131 South Oxford street,

in the city of Brooklyn, by occupation merchant, and Albert B.

Gibbs, of No. 227 Henry street, in the city of Brooklyn, by occupa-

pation manufacturer, and Marcus Ball, of Troy, in the State of New
York, by occupation farmer, hereby undertake in the sum of forty

thousand dollars ($40,000) that the above named defendant arrested

as aforesaid shall at all times render himself amenable to the process

of said court, during the pendency of this action, and to such as may
be issued to enforce the judgment therein.

P. W. BISHOP,
J. P. BRANDY,
A. B. GIBBS,
M. BALL.

Delivered in presence of

W. R. W. Chambers.

State of New York, )

CiTT AKD CoiENTT OF NeW YoEK. j
"

'

On this thirteenth day of July, in the year one thousand eight

hundred and sixty-nine, before me personally came P. W. Bishop,

Joseph P. Brandy, and Albert B. Gibbs, to me known to be the

same persons described in and who executed the foregoing under-

taking, and thereupon they severally acknowledged to me that they

executed the same.
W. R. W. CHAMBERS,

Commissioner of Deeds.
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State of New Toek,
CiTT AND County op New Yoek. ''

**'

On this thirteenth day of July, in the year one thousand eight

hundred and sixty-nine, before ine personally came M. Ball, to me
known to be the same person described in and who executed the

foregoing undertaking, and thereupon they severally acknowledged

to me that they executed the same.

W. E. W. CHAMBEES,
Commissioner of Deeds.

State of New Yoek,
\

City and County of New Yoek. j
'

'

Joseph P. Brandy, one of the within named sureties, being duly

sworn, says that he is a resident of the State of New York, and a

freeholder therein, and is worth the amount specified in the within

undertaking, over all his debts and liabilities, exclusive of property

exempt from execution ; owns saw-mill and timber land in Essex

county. State of New York, valued at $60,000, mortgage $500

;

also one vacant lot at Glen's Falls, value $1,000, free and clear of

incumbrance.

J. P. BEANDY.
Sworn to before me this 30th

day of July, 1869.

"W". E. W. Chambees, Commissioner of Deeds.

State of New Yoek, ) ,

City amd County of New Yoek.
j

Albert B. Gibbs, one of the within named sureties, being duly

sworn, says that he is a resident of the State of New York, and a

householder therein, and is worth the amount specified in the within

undertaking, over all his debts and liabilities, exclusive of property

exempt from execution ; owns personal property free and clear from

all incumbrance, valued at $30,000.

A. B. GIBBS.

Sworn to before me this 30th )

day of July, 1869,
(

W. E. W. Chambees, Commissioner of Deeds.

State of New Yoek, ) ^^ .

City and County of New Yokk. f

Marcus Ball, one of the within named sureties, being duly sworn,

says that he is a resident of the State of New York, and a free-

holder therein, and is worth the amount specified in the within
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undertaking over all his debts and liabilities, exclusive of property

exempt from execution; owns a farm one mile from tbe city of

Troy, valued at $25,000, mortgage of $2,500; owns land in St.

Lawrence county, free and unincumbered, valued at $80,000.

M. BALL.

Sworn to before me this 30th
day of July, 1869.

W. R. W. Chambees, Commissioner of Deeds.

Indorsed : C. L. Halberstadt. John H. Hand, 7 Nassau street.

1140. C. New York Superior Court. Norbury Hicks v. P. W.

Bishop. Undertaking upon arrest. $40,000. I certify that the

defendant in this action has been held to bail by me pursuant to

the order of arrest issued herein ; and I further certify that the

within is a trae copy of the undertaking of the bail taken by me,

under the said order. Exhibit 51. C. E. D. Filed August 17,

1869. C. B. S. July 30. "Within undertaking approved. C. L.

Halberstadt, plaintiff's attorney.

Mr. Sticknet—We then put in evidence an order to show cause,

granted by Justice Freedman, requiring the plaintiff to sliow cause

on the 31st July, 1869, why the order of arrest should not be

vacated and the bail reduced, with the affidavits upon which the

order to show cause was granted, and the affidavits read in rebuttal

on that motion ; affidavit to show cause is the affidavit of Philetus

Bishop, the defendant, and Justice Freedman's order to show cause.

The paper was marked Exhibit No. 52.

Exhibit No. 52.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE CITY OF NEW YORK.

NoRBDET Hicks

agst.

P. W. Bishop.

ClTT AND CODNTT OF New YokK, SS. :

Philetus W. Bishop, the defendant, being duly sworn says, that

the plaintiff has no cause of action against him whatever.

Deponent further says, that on or about March 1st, 1868, he was

not the owner of " Jones' Discovery " for cleaning and glazing

steam boilers, but that it was owned by the Manhattan Steam Boiler

Cleaning and Glazing Company, from about September, 1867 ; that

said company was regularly organized and is now in full operation.

That deponent was the owner of some of its stock ; that deponent
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never realized any profit upon the sale of said article. Deponent
further says, that the costs and expenses of the company were much
larger than the amount of profits received by the company. That
the company were always in debt to deponent from the time of its

organization down to the present time. That no dividend was ever

made upon the stock, for the reason that no profits were ever real-

ized sufficient for that purpose. That the affairs and business of

said company were fairly and honestly conducted in the best interest

of its shareholders.

Deponent further says, that on or about the 24th day of March,

1868, he gave to the plaintiif the shares of said stock (fifty dollars

per share), and that the plaintiff never gave or paid him to the

amount of one cent therefor ; that on or about the 24th of May,
1868, deponent gave to the plaintiff the further amount of twenty

shares of said stock, for which the plaintiff has never paid one cent.

That the plaintiff never paid one cent for all the stock he how holds.

Deponent further says that no factory was ever built, nor any

machinery ever puchased by the proceeds of the sale of the capital

stock. That the factory and machinery spoken of in the affidavit

did not cost to exceed the sum of seventy-five dollars, and actually

cost a less sum than seventy-five dollars.

That all the profits of said company, down to the 23d of April,

1869, had not been sufficient to pay the necessary reasonable

expenses. That, on said 23d of April, 1869, deponent sold all his

stock and all his interest in said company, and since that time has

had no interest whatever in the same or any connection therewith,

and no knowledge of its affairs except from mere hearsay.

Deponent further says that it is not true that he ever appropriated

any money or moneys belonging to said company or to its stock-

holders.

Deponent further says that the affairs of said company were fairly

and honestly conducted during all the time he had any connection

with it, but that it was never able to pay any dividend.

Deponent further says that, on or about the 2d of March, 1869,

he sold to Mr. Payn and Mr. Bonell and Mr. Johnson two thousand

shares each of said stock, but did not sell them any thing else, nor

transfer to them any thing else. The sale and delivery of said stock

was the entire transaction, and that deponent did not receive from

them or either of them any consideration for any thing except for

said shares of stock.

Deponent further says that it is not true that the plaintiff, or any

other stockholder, ever was defrauded by him out of the amount of
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one cent ; and deponent further says that it is not true that he ever

appropriated to his own use $25,000, or any other sums belonging

to said company or its stockholders. And deponent further says

that he has not defrauded the plain tifE in any way or manner what-

ever out of one cent.

Deponent further says that he has not purchased any real estate

in Troy, within the last year, and that his wife is not now the owner

or holder of any real estate, and has not been within the last fifteen

years.

Deponent further says that this action was brought against him

for the sole purpose of harassing and annoying him, away from his

home and among strangers, and for extorting money from him

unlawfully, and for no honest purpose whatever.

That deponent is not in any way whatever lawfully indebted to

the ]ilaintifFs for any amount whatever.

Deponent further says that he is now under arrest and in the cus-

tody of the sheriff of New York.

Deponent prays that said order may be vacated, or the bail

reduced to a nominal amount.
P. W. BISHOP.

Sworn to before me, this 29th

day of July, A. D. 1860.

John H. Hand, Notary Public, N. Y.

On the foregoing aflBdavit let the plaintiff or his attorney show

cause before me at the court room at the City Hall, on the 31st day

of July, 1869, at 12 o'clock m., why the order of arrest should not

be vacated or the bail reduced to a nominal sum.

JOHN J. FREEDMAlSr,
J.Supr. a.

Indorsed: Charge 6, C. Superior Court. No. 3. JVoriury

Eichs V. P W. Bishop. Affidavit and order to show cause.

Exhibit 52. C. E. D. Jno. H. Hand, counsel for defendant.

Filed August 10, 1869.

Exhibit 53 is the affidavit of Norbury Hicks, plaintiff.



TRIAL OF JOHIS^ H. McCUNJST. 559

Exhibit No. 53.

NEW YORK SUPERIOR COURT.

NoRBTjBT Hicks

agst.

P. W. Bishop.

CiTT AND County of New Toek, ss. :

ISTorbury Hicks, being duly sworn, says that he has a sufficient

cause of action against the above named defendant arising out of the
following facts, to wit

:

That heretofore, and on or about March 1, 1868, the above named
defendant was the owner of a certain preparation known as " Jones'
Discovery " for cleaning and glazing steam boilers ; tha't the said

preparation is and has been, since its introduction, a success, and is

highly recommended by the owners and engineers of steam boilers

;

that the cost of manufacturing the aforesaid preparation is very
small, and the defendant realized a very large profit upon the sale

of the aforesaid article.

That on or about the time aforesaid the above named defendant

organized a joint-stock company, under the laws of the State of

New York, for the purpose of manufacturing and selling the afore-

said article, under the name of the Manhattan Steam Boiler Clean-

ing and Glazing Company ; that, after the organization of said com-
pany, the defendant issued certificates of stock of said company,
signed by defendant as president.

That, on or about March 2ith and May 24th, 1868, at the city of

New York, the above named defendant delivered to deponent, for

value, two certain certificates of stock of the aforesaid company, by
which certificates deponent became the owner and holder of thirty

shares of the capital stock of said company, of the value of $1,500

;

that the said certificates of stock were duly signed by the defendant

as president, and said defendant caused to be affixed to each of said

certificates a United States internal revenue stamp of the value of

twenty-five cents, and duly canceled the same and delivered the cer-

tificates as aforesaid to deponent, who then became the sole owner

and holder of said stock, with all benefit and advantage accrued and

to accrue from the profits realized upon the sale of the aforesaid

preparation, according to the amount of stock held by deponent.

That out of the money realized from the sale of the capital stock
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issued as aforesaid, the defendant caused to be built a factory, and

purchased machinery for the manufacture of the aforesaid prepara-

tion, and tlie defendant thereupon commenced the making and sell-

ing of the said preparation, and the defendant manufactured and

sold said preparation from the time aforesaid until on or about

March 2d, 1869, during which time the business had been largely

profitable, and the defendant sold large quantities of said preparation

and realized a very large amount of money upon the sale of said

article ; that the cost of making the aforesaid preparation is about

twenty-eight cents per gallon, and sells in market for five dollars per

gallon.

Deponent further says, that the defendant has, at no time, paid to

him, deponent, any money whatever out of the proceeds of the

aforesaid sales, although deponent is entitled to a share of said

moneys iji proportion to the stock held by deponent ; that, as

deponent is informed and believes, the defendant has at no time paid

to any stockholder of said company any moneys out of the profits

of said sales, but said defendant, on the contrary, appropriated the

aforesaid moneys belonging to deponent and the other pei-sons hold-

ing the said stock, to his own use, in violation and fraud of their

rights as stockholders.

That on or about March 2d, 1869, at the city of E"ew York, the

said defendant, with the intent and for the purpose of cheating and

defrauding deponent and the other stockholders of said company,

and without giving deponent or any person notice, sold and trans-

ferred to J. T. Johnson and F. F. Borrell all the stock on hand,

factory and machinery and every thing belonging to said company,

and the property of the stockholders, and received from the said J.

T. Johnson and F. F. Borrell about the sum of $25,000, which

amount the said defendant appropriated to his own use, and refused,

and still refuses, to account for the same or any part thereof.

That deponent and the stockholders of said company have been

defrauded, by reason of the acts of said defendant, in the sum of

about $35,000.

That the defendant is a non-resident, and is a resident of Troy,

New York, and that as deponent is informed and believes, the

defendant has expended the money realized as aforesaid in the pur-

chase of property in Troy, and that the title and deeds of said

property have been given in the name of defendant's wife.
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Deponent prays that said defendant may be arrested and held to

bail, according to the statute in such case made and provided.

NOEBUKY HICKS.
Sworn and subscribed before me

this 30th day of June, 1869.

A. H. Ebavbt, Notary Public.

Indorsed : JSTo. 1. New York Superior Court. Norbury Ricks
V. P W. Bishop. Affidavit. Charles L. Halberstadt, plaintiff's

attorney, 1 Murray street. Exhibit E, 63. C. K. D. Filed August
2, 1869.

We put in evidence Justice McCunn's order of the 16th of

August, 1869, denying it, with $10 costs, with Judge MeCimn's
signature.

Exhibit No. 54.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of JSTew York,

held at the County Court-house on the 16th day of August,

A. D. 1869.

Present— Hon. John H. MoCunit, Justice.

NoBBTjKY Hicks

agst.

P. W. Bishop.

Upon reading and filing the annexed affidavits and order to show

cause, and after hearing counsel for the respective parties, ordered,

that the motion to vacate the order of arrest granted herein, or to

reduce the bail to a nominal sum, be and the same hereby is denied,

with ten dollars cost.

(Enter.) J. H. McC.

Indorsed : N. Y. Superior Court. Norhury HicTcs v. P- W.

Bishop. Order denying motion. Exhibit 54. C. R. D. Filed

August 16, 1869. No paper filed. T. E. B.

"We produce the order of Justice Jones, entered on the 30th

October, 1869, dismissing the summons, with an affidavit of John

H. Hand, upon which the same was granted.

The paper was marked Exhibit 55.

71
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Exhibit No. 55.

NEW YOEK SUPERIOE COURT.

At a Special Term of the Superior Court of the city of New
York, held at the City Hall, on the 30th day of October, A. D
1869.

Present— Hon. Samuel Jones, Justice.

Norbukt Hicks

agst.

P. W, Bishop.

The motion to dismiss the summons herein coming on to be heard,

and on reading and filing the affidavit of John H. Hand, and order

to show cause and proof of service, and on hearing John H. Hand,

Esq., counsel for the defendant, it is hereby ordered the summons

in this action be and the same is hereby dismissed, with costs. It is

further ordered, that the bond given by the defendant to the sheriff

to release him from the arrest, be delivered to the defendant, or his

attornev, to be canceled.

(Enter.) S. JOKES,
Justice.

Indorsed : Superior Court. No. 4. Norbury Micks v. P. W.

Bishop. Affidavit and order dismissing summons. John H. Hand,

attorney for defendant. Filed October 30, 1869.

SUPEEIOR COURT.

NoEBTiHY Hicks

agst.

P. W. Bishop.

City and County of New Toek, ss. :

John H. Hand, being- duly sworn, says that he is attorney for the

defendant, in the above entitled action.

Deponent further says that on the 24th day of August, 1869, he

served a notice of appearance and demand for complaint on the

plaintiff's attorney personally, in his office in New York, and

received from him an admission in writing of the due service of such

notice and demand on that day. That more than twenty days have

elapsed since the service of said notice of appearance and demand
for complaint, and that no copy of a complaint has been served on
deponent or received at his office.
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Deponent further says that more than ten days have elapsed since

he met the plaintiff's attorney in the street and informed said attor-

ney of his failure to serve any complaint, and said attorney told depo-

nent that he did not know where his client was, and that he should

take no further trouble in the matter. Deponent then told him that

deponent should obtain an order dismissing the summons.

JOHN H. HAND.
Sworn to before me this 15th day 1

of November, A. D. 1869. j

Edwaed F. Beowm-, Notary Public in JV. Y. City,

NEW YORK SUPERIOR COURT.

NoKBtTBY Hicks
agst.

p. W. Bishop.

On the foregoing affidavit, and the admission of due service of

notice and demand for complaint, and on the affidavits used on the

motion to vacate the order of arrest, let the plaintiff or his attorney

show cause before one of the justices of this court, at special term,

in the new City Hall in the city of New York, on the 25th day of

October, 1869, at 12 o'clock m., why the summons in this action

should not be dismissed with costs, and the bond executed and deliv-

ered to the sheriff, to release the defendant from arrest, should not

be delivered up to be canceled, and why such other or further order

should not be made as shall be just.

S. JONES, Justice.

October 19, 1869.

City and County of New Yoek, ss :

John H. Hand, being duly sworn, says that on the twentieth day

of October, A. D. 1869, he personally served the foregoing affidavit

and order upon Charles Halberstadt, the plaintiff 's attorney in this

action, by delivering copies thereof to a person in and having charge

of said attorney's office, in said city, and showing him the above

original order, said attorney being absent from his office at the time

of said service.

JOHN H. HAND.
Sworn to before me this 20th )

day of October, A. D. 1869. j

Edwaed F. Beown, Notary Public in JV. Y. City.

Indorsed : "Within motion adjourned to Saturday, the 30th inst.,

at ten o'clock a. m. S. Jones, Justice. October 25, 1869. Exhibit

65. C. R. D.
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Mr. Faksons— Mr. President : That brings the testimony in the

case to a close.

Mr. Peeet— Mr. President : I would like to inquire what was

the order introduced in this case under the sixth charge ?

Mr. Stioknet— If the Senate will allow us to read that in evi-

dence we desire to do so. The order was in my possession, and

appears to be lost or mislaid in some way.

Mr. Peeet— As 1 understand you, you have not got before the

court the order directing the arrest ?

Mr. Sticknet— Not the order of arrest, but all the facts on the

motion appear in the motion papers, and the opposing papers read

on a hearing of the motion. But still we will ask, under the cir-

cumstances, to be allowed to read from the record which is before

the senate, the printed copy of that order of arrest which was

admitted in evidence before the committee without objection. I

refer to the record transmitted to the Senate by the Governor, in

the testimony and exhibits taken before the Assembly committee.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Have you laid the foundation by showing the

loss of the paper ? On what ground do you base your application

to read this copy ?

Mr. Sticknet— I make the statement that I had a copy of the

order, and that I cannot now find it ; copy of the original order.

Mr. Benedict— This is an oflFer to put in secondary evidence.

Mr. Stioe:n"et— Yes, sir.

Mr. Benedict— The best evidence being lost.

Mr. EoBEETSON — I don't understand it to be on that ground.

Mr. Paesons— The question is, whether the Senate will receive a

copy of the original order of arrest upon the authentication furnished

by the transmission of that copy by the Governor to the Senate.

There has been here, during the progress of the investigation, a copy

which was served upon the defendant, as I iinderstand, but it was

laid among our papers, and Mr. Stickney is unwilling to prove the

fact of its loss by himself, as he is reluctant to be examined as a

witness. It might be proper' that I should say in regard to the

matter, that the papers on the motion to discharge the order of

arrest stated the fact of the order of arrest, and the amount of bail,

so that fact sufficiently appears before the Senate without the order

being actually here, and the bail bond itself is put in evidence.

Mr. Peeet— Do those papers contain a copy of that order of

arrest ?

Mr. Paesons— Not an exact copy ; no, sir.
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The Pebsident— The question is, whether so much of the record

as shows this order of arrest shall be read in evidence ?

The question was put, and declared carried. It was read as fol-

lows, at page 61 of the Exhibits.

Exhibit B.

SUPREME COUET OF THE CITY OF NEW TOEK.

NoRBiTRY Hicks, plaintiff,

agst.

P. W. Bishop, defendant.

To the Sheriff of the City and County of New York

:

It having been made to appear to me by affidavit that ISTorbury

Hicks, the plaintiff, has a sufficient cause of action against P. W.
Bishop, the defendant, it being one of the cases mentioned in section

179 of the Code of Procedure, you arc required forthwith to arrest

P. W. Bishop, the defendant in this action, for the cause aforesaid,

and hold him to bail.

Mr. Peeet— Mr. President: I would like to make a motion to

reconsider the vote by which the last evidence was admitted, with a

view of making a foundation for secondary evidence ; to reconsider

by which the Senate decide to receive evidence in reference to this

order of arrest from the record sent to the Senate by the Governor.

Mr. Peeey's motion was put and declared carried.

Mr. Peeet— If there is no objection I would like to examine

Mr. Stickney a moment ; Mr. Stickney will you take the stand ?

Mr. Stickney— Mr. President and Senators : If the Senate

choose to call me upon their own motion, as a witness, of course I

shall not refuse ; I cannot refuse ; we would prefer very much to

abandon the charge rather than that either of the counsel that appear

in behalf of the prosecution should be examined and give testimony.

We shall submit, of course, to the order of the Senate in the matter.

Mr. Peeey— I wish to say, if they abandon the charge, that dis-

poses of that charge; I was going to examine Mr. Stickney in

reference to the order, and that he has searched for it and cannot

find it, for the purpose of introducing this as secondary evidence of

that order, and if they abandon the charge, that is the end of it.

Mr. Paesons— I presume the order is in the Senate room, and if,

before the case is finally disposed of, it shall be found among the

papers, I presume the Senate will allow it to be put in, and we
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leave it in that condition ; the charge to be abandoned unless that

testimony is supplied.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President: In what position is the matter

now before the Senate ?

The Pebsidbnt— The motion is pending, the reconsideration

havinir been carried. The motion to admit the evidence—
Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I move—
Mr. MuEPHT— The offer is withdrawn.

Mr. D. P. Wood— I don't so understand it; I understand the

counsel for the prosecution propose to withdraw this article of the

charges, unless, before the case is finally closed, the original order is

not produced and placed on the files among the Exhibits.

Mr. Stioknet— Or unless the Senate will receive the printed

copy as it appears in the record transmitted by the Governor, in

either of those cases ; and we suppose the last method is still open

to the consideration of the Senate.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I move that the prosecution

be allowed to furnish this original paper, if they find it among their

papers, and place it among the evidence. In the failure to produce

the original paper, that the testimony be disallowed, or order that

the article be considered withdrawn.

Mr. Allen— Mr. President : I would like to inquire whether

the printed order of arrest has not already been admitted in evidence,

and whether it does not now stand in the evidence as recorded, and

whether the question is not to reconsider that action, and now is

whether the Senate shall receive that or not ?

Mr. D. P. Wood— That has been reconsidered.

The President— The motion to reconsider was carried.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Is the question whether they will now receive

this?

The President— The question is on the adoption of that resolu-

tion, it having been reconsidered, unless the Senate by unanimous

consent entertain the proposition of the senator from the twenty-

second.

Mr. D.P. Wood— I suppose my proposition could be received as

an amendment to the original motion to receive the evidence ? I

offer it in that view.

The President— It could be so offered; the question is on the

motion of the senator from the twenty-second.

Mr. Benedict— That order having been read in evidence, recon-

sideration cannot effect any thing, unless you move to strike it out.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I understand the effect of my
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motion to be to strike it out, and the charge with it, unless the

original is produced. The effect of it is to strike it out; the motion

being that, unless the original is produced, the article be stricken

out, and, of course, that neutralizes the evidence, whatever it is,

whether secondary or otherwise.

Mr. Sticknet—-Will the Senate allow me to make a suggestion ?

The charges come before you from the Governor ; we appear here,

and have examined witnesses who have attended pursuant to sub-

poenas of your body. But on further reflection, we concede we have

no power over the charges laid before you by the Governor ; that it

does not lie with us to abandon them at all. If your body decide

not to receive the evidence from the printed report, we can simply

leave the matter where it stands, for such action as you may deem
fit.

Mr. Allen— As an amendment to the motion of the senator from

the twenty-second, I move to strike out the evidence last received;

the printed evidence read by the counsel for the prosecution.

The question was put on Mr. Allen's motion, and was carried.

The PEEsroENT— The question then will be upon the amendment

offered by the gentleman from the twenty-second.

Mr. D. P. "Wood—-Mr. President: I understand the motion of

the gentleman from the thirty-second was adopted to amend the

motion, I made.

The President—• The Chair so understood it.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Amended so that this evidence that had been

received shall be stricken out. I would inquire of the senator if he

intends that as an entire substitute lor my motion, or as an amend-

ment to be added to it, and then my motion be put to the Senate,

to decide whether the case shall be held open for the putting in of

his original order when found.

Mr. Allen— Mr. President : I made my motion as an amend-

ment, intending thereby to cover the whole motion made by the

senator from the twenty-second. But I have no objection to his

original motion, or any subsequent motion he might make to author-

ize the introduction of his evidence, if presented afterward.

Mr. MuEPHY— Mr. President : The motion of the senator from

the twenty-second, I suppose, was entirely superseded by the amend-

ment or motion of the senator from the thirty-second. I voted for

it in that view, and inasmuch as they propose to abandon the charge,

we have nothing to do with that now ; we vote upon the charge

and it is entered. Whether it is proven or not proven, we are not

now to strike out a charge, and for that reason I suppose the amend-
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ment of the senator was a substitute, and therefore I hope the matter

will lie there.

Mr. D. P. Wood— I agree with the senator from the third, and I

thirit as it stands now it is better.

The Peesident— Then the matter is disposed of ; what course do

the counsel for the prosecution desire to take in reference to sum-

ming up 'i

Mr. Parsons— The course the counsel for the prosecution desire

to take is, that we shall not be heard. We think it quite unneces-

sary any thing should be said in support of this testimony. If,

however, the evidence, much of which has come in in documentary

form, needs any explanation, it will be a part of our duty to make
that explanation. We should prefer, Mr. President, to be guided

by the wishes of the Senate in the mattsr.

Mr. MuEPHY— Mr. President : I would like to inquire when we
are likely to have the documentary evidence printed and before us.

The Peesident— The Clerk informs the Chair the printers are at

'work upon it with all their force, and probably will not be able to

get it done before to-morrow morning.

Mr. MuEPHT— I move the Senate adjourn until to-morrow

morning.

Mr. D. P. Wood— Mr. President : I move the Senate go into

private consultation.

The question was put on Mr. D. P. Wood's motion and declared

carried.

In Senate— Albany, July 2d, 1872.

Senate met pursuant to adjournment.

The Cleek called the roll, when the following senators were

found to be present

:

Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chatfield, Cock,

Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lord,

Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Mui'phy, Palmer, Perry, Pobertson,

Ticmann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood
and Woodin.

The Peesident— The order of the Senate is that the matter of

the charges against Judge McCunn be considered at ten o'clock.

Mr. KoBEETSON— I believe the motion was that we adjourn until

this morning at ten o'clock ; that the counsel then be heard if they

so desire. I move they now be heard if they desire to be heard.

The Peesident— Do the counsel desire to be heard ?
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Mr. Parsons— Mr. President and Senators : The counsel who
appear to present the charges would have been very glad of any

expression from the Senate which would have relieved them of any
further duty in the prosecution ; the action of the Senate, the reso-

lution to which attention has been called, however, is such that in

the event of any adverse result, we feel that, perhaps, we can scarcely

be excused by those we represent, if we fail briefly to call the atten-

tion of the Senate to what we suppose the testimony establishes, and

it is in deference to that feeling of duty on our part that we attend

this morning at no great length to call your attention to what we
believe to be established by the evidence to which I think very

nearly all the senators now present have listened; this case has

assimilated very nearly to an impeachment trial; every right which

the accused judge could claim, if he were here with articles of

impeachment pending against him, has been conceded to him, and

we think that the Senate have gone even beyond what the accused

judge could claim if he were here to answer articles of impeach-

ment, and that privileges have been accorded to him which in that

case he could scarcely insist upon as a matter of strict right. Con-

sidered as an impeachment trial, this case differs from every other

impeachment trial of which I know, in this : the accused judge was

present during the first day that testimony was taken against him
;

he did not come here again ; his counsel continued through the

second day, and while a witness was under examination by them,

that witness necessarily called by us, but a witness who properly

should be placed upon the stand by and on behalf of the accused

judge, his counsel presented to the Senate a letter which can mean
nothing other than this ; which does mean simply this : that they

recognize the impossibility of meeting the charges and are

unwilling to share the responsibility of the result ; the letter to

which I allude— very guardedly drawn ; very carefully pre-

pared ; unique ; no such letter can be found in the history of

any such proceeding— contains this expression :
" before undertak-

ing your defense, we were entirely satisfied of your innocence of

any intentional wrong in the transactions on which were based the

charges against you." I wish that it might be my privilege to

ask the distinguished counsel, whose names appear to that letter,

what was meant by that expression, " before undertaking your

defense, we were entirely satisfied," satisfied by what ? Satisfied by

information communicated by witnesses who were to be called on

behalf of the accused judge ; why are no such witnesses here ? Satis-

fied by statements made to his counsel by the accused judge ; why is

27
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there no such evidence here to sustain any such statements ? Satis-

fied by an examination of the testimony taken by the committee of

the Assembly ; whj do not the counsel who signed that letter con-

tinue through this trial, that they may here produce the witnesses

whose testimony was then taken on behalf of the accused judge

;

taken, senators, with such results (I feel authorized to state) that

the counsel could not read that testimony and be willing to assume

the responsibility of again putting upon the stand witnesses whose

cross-examination completed the picture then drawn by tlie evi-

dence for the prosecution ? But listen again to the statement from

this letter, " before undertaking your defense we were entirely

satisfied of your innocence of intentional wrong." Intentional

wrong ; not satisfied by any thing that was said to them by the

judge himself; not satisfied by statements furnished by witnesses

who could be placed upon the stand for the accused judge; not

satisfied by statements furnished by these men, Morgan, Gano and

others, his friends, that the judge had not been guilty of wrong

;

but satisfied that the wrong perpetrated by him was unintentional

on his part ; let me again say that I wish it were my privilege to

ask the counsel why, when they put upon this record the statement

that they are satisfied of the innocence of the accused judge of inten-

tional wrong, they are not here by testimony or in such way as is

possible, to explain that the wrong which they concede, was unin-

tentional ; again I must be permitted to call attention to another

statement in this remarkable letter commenting upon and criticising

the action and ruling of the Senate, which of course concerns

senators, not me ; action of this Senate, whose jurisdiction they had

adopted ; the counsel, referring to the Senate, say (I quote the last

paragraph of the letter) :
" If their judgment should be against you

— which we earnestly desire may not be the case— the jurisdic-

tional question," etc. ; that is to say, this letter is sent here with the

expectation that the minds and judgment of senators may be influ-

enced on the subject of the judge's guilt, and I wish to know why
it is that counsel so shrewd, so sagacious, so distinguished, are not

here by testimony or argument, or in any way available to them to

assist the Senate in coming to that conclusion which they say they

earnestly desire, of the innocence of Judge McCunn. Senators,

I think in what occurred here can be found the motive which led

the counsel to adopt this course without any regard to whether the

testimony established the particular charges, without any reference

to the particular cases in support of which evidence was furnished.

There was left on the mind of every person present, disgust at the
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character aud conduct of the accused as exhibited by the testimony;

and that feeling was shared by his counsel. There is to be found

the reason- why this course, so entirely without precedent, was
adopted. The case was a nasty case. It had not even those circum-

stances to give it an appearance of dignity which are found, and

which impose upon the public mind when a man of great talent has

been guilty of correspondingly great wrong. This man, who had

procured himself to be placed in the position of judge, as represented

by this testimony, is a low, mean, sneaking man, crawling into a

house at the dead of night to perpetrate his miserable villainies, and

eminent counsel like Judge Selden and his associates were not

willing to see such a case through to the end. Of course, where

there has been such a procedure, it can scarcely be desirable, cer-

tainly cannot be expected, that we, at the close of the trial, shall

present the case in any such elaborate manner as would be appro-

priate were we meeting arguments from the other side, or were we
discussing the case upon testimony furnished first in support of the

charges, and then testimony opposed to or in explanation of them.

All that my associates and myself have deemed suitable is to assist

the investigation by senators who were not present during the entire

trial, by grouping somewhat the facts established by the testimony,

and then to ask the senators— to ask you, Mr. President— whether

the charges upon which Judge McCunn now stands arraigned have

not been sustained, and more than sustained, and whether senators

are not called upon to relieve the city of New York, and to relieve

that profession to which I and some of you belong, of such a scandal

and reproach as is this man McCunn. The first case, one which in

some of its features possesses perhaps more dramatic interest than

any of the others, is that based upon Judge McCunn's action in the

suit of Clarice v. Binninger.

I am at a loss to know what single outrage upon justice could be

perpetrated by a judge of which Judge McCunn is not guilty, accord-

ing to the testimony, in that case, with this single exception, that

possibly the testimony stops short of tracing money directly into his

pockets, as the reward of his judicial action. If it be not necessary,

and of course I need scarcely make the suggestion that it is not

necessary, to show corruption in the sense of pecuniary corruption,

money actually paid to a judge for his decision, I think I can satisfy

senators that the testimony of what occurred in this case shows this

judge to have committed every offense necessary for his removal,

which his position made possible. The firm of A. Binninger & Co.

had been established in business in the city of New York for a great



572 PEOCEEDINGS IN THE

mail}' years, the time is immaterial, but I think the testimony shows

that before Judge McCunn thrust his hand into the aifairs of the

firm it had been doing business for some ninety years. In the

month of November, 1869, their affairs were in this situation : They

had in round numbers about $500,000 of property, all of which,

with the exception of about $200,000, consisted of real estate ; there

was belonging to the firm a stock of valuable and costly wines and

liquors amounting in value to some $120,000, and some $50,000 or

$60,000 in notes, mortgages, and securities of that character.

Differences had arisen between Mr. Binninger and Mr. Clarke
;

senators listened with great patience to an examination by Judge

McCunn's counsel of Mr. Clarke's son, at considerable length, for

the purpose of showing— as if that could justify illegal acts by the

judge— that there was a want of harmony, that there was unfriendly

feeling between Mr. Binninger and bis partner. And here permit

me to observe, Mr. President, that there is not a single rule of evi-

dence which counsel for Judge McCunn have insisted should be

observed by the prosecution, which was not disregarded by them-

selves without remonstrance on our pai't. Mr. Binninger, on the

4th of November, had given notice, under power reserved in the

articles, that, at the expiration of fifteen days, he would terminate

the copartnership ; and that notice, in effect, fixed midnight of the

18tli of November— twelve o'clock of the 18th of November— as

the time when the partnership came to an end. It is claimed that

there is some justification for the action of Judge McCunn, in that

there was an intention on the part of Mr. Binninger to take action

corresponding to that taken by Mr. Clarke. Such is not the case.

There is no testimony to establish that there was ever any intention

of that kind on the part of Mr. Binninger. It does not matter

whether it was so or not. Permit me, Mr. President, to observe

that what is complained of in Judge McCunn's action in this suit is

not that he appointed a receiver in a partnership case. No senator

has ever heard us deny the power of his court to appoint a receiver

iu sucb a case ; the court has the amplest power, jurisdiction almost

as extensive as that of the Court of Chancery of Great Britain. We
complain of the circumstances under which the appointment was

made, and of the circumstances which surround and follow upon

the appointment. It must be perfectly apparent to senators that

where there are sitting, as in the Superior Court of the city of New
York, at all times six judges, there must be some arrangement of

business between the judges. It never will answer, a judge being

assigned to grant special term and chamber orders, that parties shall
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be at liberty at will to apply to a judge assigned to the trial term,

or to the general term, for orders proper to be granted at chambers,

thus selecting a special term. In the month of November, 1869,

the judge assigned to hold chambers, and holding chambers, was
Judge Fithian, an associate justice of Judge MeCunn; and unless

there was some reason creating a necessity or propriety for making
the application to some other judge, Judge Fithian was the person

who should be asked for an order of the kind which Judge McCunn
made. And nobody knew this better than Judge McCunn. No
one was called upon when the application was made to him at twelve

o'clock at night in his own house, to ask why it was that this appli-

cation had not been made to Judge Fithian. We all know from the

testimony why the application was made to Judge McCunn. We
obtained a little information from Mr. Compton, just as little as Mr.

Compton could give us. Mr. Compton came here as the determined

friend of the judge, with his mouth sealed so far as he could, to

prevent the disclosure of circumstances which might criminate the

judge. But we did get from Mr. Compton this fact ; first, that he

had a talk with Hanrahan (Hanrahan in such close relation to the

judge, the successor to his business, the partner of his brother-in-

law), and in this conversation Hanrahan said :
" If you will apply to

Judge McCunn, he will appoint me (Hanrahan) receiver." And
Compton says: "I didn't go to Judge Fithian, because if I had

called upon Judge Fithian he would not have appointed Hanrahan,

and the result would have been that I would not have made so good

a speculation." That is his language ; the speculation consisting in

the arrangement he had made with Hanrahan to divide his fees as

receiver.

Of course, the certainty with which Hanrahan assured Compton

that Judge McCunn would appoint him, resulted from something

which had transpired between Judge McCunn' and himself; resulted,

to a certain extent, from the fact as disclosed by this testimony, that

in other cases, in earlier cases, the same course had been adopted,

and an application for the appointment of a receiver being made to

McCunn, without suggestion of a name from anybody, he had

appointed Hanrahan. But it is necessary that the judge should be

forewarned of the call he is to receive, and at about nine o'clock

in the morning Compton calls upon Judge McCunn, and Judge

McCunn enters into an arrangement with him that at twelve o'clock

at night he will be at his house, prepared to receive Compton and

his clients, that the application may be made for this order, and

ready to grant it ; and at twelve o'clock at night they did go. Mr.
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President, can there be any better appreciation of the esteem in

which Justice McCunn is held in the city ol I^ew York than that

tills man Compton and these chents of his would venture at that

hour in the night to go to Judge McCunn's house and to take with

them two bottles of wine which were to smooth the way to the

granting of this order ? Does Judge McCunn remonstrate ? Oh,

no. A feeble joke came from our opponents that Judge McCunn
simply drank enough of the wine to exercise his functions as judge

of its quality ! This wine was taken because it was supposed it

would be acceptable to the judge. "What high-toned man would not

have resented such an insult? This man, McCann, who I have

described as a low, mean man, made no remonstrance; he j^ermitted

Mr. Clarke, at the close of the interview, to leave one bottle of wine

behind! Poor, miserable, feeble bribe, which he received for the

service which he had rendered !

jSTow, Mr. President, what is it which we insist cannot be excused

or palliated in the conduct of Judge McCunn on that occasion ?

Why, on papers which showed the value of the property of this

concern to be $4-00,000 to ^500,000, with no order to show cause

—

the poorest and least protection of tlie rights which Judge McCunn
invaded— without notice to Mr. Binninger, he appointed a man
whom he afterward himself describes as a drunken vagabond and

scoundrel— he appoints him receiver of this $400,000 or $500,000

worth of property. There is no possible excuse upon the ground

of ignorance ; that he did not know the value of the property
;

that he did not know the loss that would result from his act ; there

is no suggestion of the propriety of notice to Mr. Binninger, who
is in possession, before he can make this appointment. No ; he

grants the order putting the whole of that property in the hands of

this drunken vagabond and scoundrel, Hanrahan, and all that he

exacts for the protection of Mr. Binninger is a bond from Hanra-

han, a man without responsibility, in the sum of $1,000. I shall

show senators before I finish, that the loss entailed upon this firm

by that appointment was between $100,000 and $150,000 ; and

against that loss Judge McCunn, who knew his man, who knew that

what he was looking- to was the benefit of Morgan, his partner, indi-

rectly his own benefit — all that Judge McCunn did was to take a

bond in the penalty of $1,000, conditioned for the performance by

this receiver of his duties. The next morning, when Morgan took

the bond for $1,000, to be approved, McCunn was not so shameless

as that he did not suggest that the penalty be increased to $10,000
;

$10,000 as all the security required from a worthless vagabond,
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upon whicli he should be put in entire possession and control of from

$400,000 to $500,000 worth of property ; and so careless is this

judge in the examination of this bond, which his own order called

upon him to approve, and which he did by his order on the back of

it, approve— so careless or indifi'erent was he that for the bond, a

blank for a bond on the appointment of a receiver for a judgment

debtor was used, not at all applicable to this case, so that the bond

was not worth any thing as protection to Mr. Binninger, from whom
the property was thus taken. What did Judge McCunn say about

this man Hanrahan — say almost at the time— say a very few days

after this occurrence, when he makes one of his earlier visits to Mr.

Clarke's house? He says: "Hanrahan is one of my boys— one

of my boys." He was " one of his boys!" He had succeeded to

his business ; he was a partner of his brother-in-law ; he had been

managing clerk of the office which had been bis own office, and he

assures Mr. Clarke that he is one of his boys, and that ]je, a new
receiver, will take care that Mr. Clarke gets his rights. "We kno-w

from the whole progress of the case what was meant by Mr. Clarke

getting his rights. It meant that Mr. Clarke should be benefited

at the expense of Mr. Binninger, when bankruptcy proceedings

should ultimately be originated ; that Mr. Clarke should be

benefited at the expense of the creditors of tlie firm. It is

in this connection that he assures Mr. Clarke that Hanrahan is

one of his boys. Think of it Mr President, it is a judge— a judge

of a court having the same jurisdiction as the Supreme Court of this

State— assuring a party to this action, pending in his own court, a

suit before himself, that he has put in possession as receiver of the

property of this firm, a man who is " one of his own boys," and that

he can, therefore, give the assurance that the rights, at all events, of

that party shall be taken care of. On the 27th of November, 1869,

was the first proceeding in retaliation, or rather in the protection of

the rights of Mr. Binninger, a motion to set aside this order ; an

order which should have been set aside, having reference to the cir-

cumstances which surrounded it, and which was practically set aside

by Judge Fithian. That motion, of course, was on behalf of Mr.

Binninger, was controlled by his lawj^ers, and, therefore, was regu-

larly brought on at the special term, being held by Judge Fithian,

who was the judge to whom should have been made the application

for the order appointing a receiver. I ask you, senators and Mr.

President, whether you ever before heard of such a thing as that, a

motion of this kind coming on before an associate justice of the

court, the justice who had originally acted in the proceedings should
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suggest to the plaintiff', " This motion comes before Judge Fithian
;

you had better go and employ, as your counsel, Mr. Clarke, Judge

Fithian' s partner 1
" Why ? Mr. Clarke had his own lawyer, Mr.

Compton. Why did Judge McCunn think that the only person

who could suitably represent upon that application the side of Mr.

Clarke was a person who stood in this relation to Judge Fithian,

before whom the application was to be made ? Mr. President, it

indicates the low moral sense of this man, that he could suppose that

an honorable, upright judge, like Judge Fithian, would be affected

by a consideration of this kind. It shows that character of the man,

which displays itself through this whole testimony, and which

characterizes every proceeding on his part. " Gro and employ Mr.

Clarke," a stranger to the plaintiff in the siiit, " to i-esist this applica-

tion ; he was a partner of the jvidge before whom the application is

to be made." And as showing the guilty purpose of this man, con-

sider two or three other facts, which tlie testimony has developed.

While Judge Jones held court, a motion in this case was to be made
before him, and for that motion Mr. Albright, who was a partner

of Judge Jones, was employed. Where did the suggestion come
from, that led to the employment of Mr. Albright, if not from

Judge McCunn, in his same capacity as counsel for Mr. Clarke, in

which he suggested the employment of Judge Fithian's partner?

Bankruptcy proceedings were commenced, in which motions were

made before Judge Blatcliford and Judge Woodruff of the United

States court, in the city of New York ; and if senators will examine

the records that have been put in evidence by Judge McCunn'

s

counsel, they will find that when bankruptcy proceedings were to

come on before so distinguished, so faithful a judge as Judge

Woodruff, of the Circuit Court of the United States, the person to

represent Mr. Clarke was Mr. Sandford, well known as having been

the partner of Judge Woodruff.

I stand here for the bar of the city of New York, to call upon

you, senators, by your interference, to elevate, beyond the reach of

influence or temptations like these, the standard of professional

honor, applicable as well to the practice of my profession as to the

performance by the judges of the city of New York of their duties.

Again, it is desirable to secure the assistance and co-operation of

the sheriff and the power of his office to aid and effectuate the con-

trol which this man McCunn has obtained of the assets of this firm.

And then comes the same suggestion from Judge McCunn :
" The

person to be employed is Mr. Yanderpoel ; he has influence with

the sheriff." The sheriff had declined to interfere, had declined to
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recognize the process which Judge McCunn had sent him, and the

person to be employed in that case, according to Judge McCunn, is

Mr. Yanderpoel, the sheriff's lawyer, because he has so much influ-

ence with the sheriff. Observe what was running through the mind
of this man McCunn ; it was that by influence illegal, possession of

this property should be kept from Mr. Binninger, and from the

creditors of his firm, that certain benefits should be secured to Mr.

Clarke, of whose cause he had taken charge, to which the law did

not entitle him, and that he and his proteges should secure the

advantages, which they proceeded to realize.

And here Jet me say a single word in reference to one item of tes-

timony which has received more attention perhaps than its merits

have deserved. The motion before Judge Fithian was to be heard

on the 27th of November, 1869. On the 23d of JSTovember this

man Hanrahan writes a letter to Compton, the plaintiff's attorney,

arranging an interview with Judge McCunn, and according to

the appointment thus made the interview takes place. This man
Hanrahan's relations with Judge McCunn already appear in testi-

mony. He was a participant in a common scheme on the part of

Judge McCunn, for their own advantage to wrong that firm, and

the creditors of that firm, and yet it has been insisted that the letter

which makes the appointment is not competent testimony in a

proceeding of inquiry like this. Judge Fithian held, this being a

partnership case, that there was a right to appoint a receiver. But

he directed Mr. Barr to become co-receiver with Hanrahan, and to

give security in the amount of $50,000. That was the order which

he made, and of course the result of the motion made before him

was to secure an amount of security for future transactions some-

what adequate. Meantime what happens to Mr. Biiminger ? His

counsel came to the conclusion, that with Judge McCunn as Clarke's

counsel, and with this suit in Judge McCunn's court, with the dec-

laration which Hanrahan had made, and which has been verified on

several occasions, that all he needed was to apply to Judge McCunn,

who would give any order that he desired ; Mr. Binninger and his

counsel came to the conclusion that the better course was to invoke

a higher jurisdiction. The firm was insolvent, that is to say, insol-

vent in the sense of being unable to reach its property in time to

pay its debts. And, therefore, creditors, The Bank of America,

Ives, Beecher & Co., Harvey, Blake & Co., take proceedings for the

appointment of an assignee in bankruptcy of the firm, and those

proceedings go so far that John S. Beecher is appointed, and he

73
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calls upou Hanralian and claims possession of the assets that he may

go on and administer the estate.

It seems to me, then, when we have shown what is then done by

Judge McCunn, we have shown all that we are called upon to estab-

lish the charge.

On the 4th of December, and again on the 6th of December,

1869, he issues so-called orders to the sheriff of the city and county

of New York, which he signs with his own name, adding to his

name his seal, why, I cannot think, except that this man is as igno-

rant as he is bad. By these orders, he directs the sheriff to assist

the receiver in getting and holding possession of the property against

the assignee in bankruptcy ; one of these orders he takes, himself,

to Mr. Joel O. Stevens, then and for many years previous under-

sheriff of the city and county of IS'ew York. The utter lawlessness

of the proceeding is best illustrated by the answer which Mr.

Stevens gave to Jiidge McCunn himself: "You might just as well

tell me to go out into the street and to assassinate the first person

I meet, as to expect me to execute that order ; " and was it not so '5

Did those senators, who are lawyers, or did any one ever hear of a

process of that kind, directed against a person who was not a party

to the suit, but an officer of the bankruptcy court? Then what

happens? The sheriff declines to execute this order. Is Judge

McCunn satisfied ? No ? He has three men, Hickey, McGowan
and Delmar, then holding the position of deputy-sheriffs, but not

acting as deputy-sheriffs in this proceeding ; he has them brought

up to his own house ; Hanrahan is there ; and there, from Judge

McCunn, they receive directions to go down and assist Hanrahan in

keeping possession of this property. And subsequently there is

performed by this man, McCunn, an almost unparalleled feat. He
knew that Hickey and McGowan had been up to his house to receive

their instructions from him ; he knew that the sheriff had declined

to deputize these men under his process, and that all their authority

came from him, and yet, in the month of May, 1870, an application

is made to him, in the name of the sheriff, but without any proved

action of the sheriff, through the office of the sheriff's counsel (whom
Judge McCunn had himself suggested to be employed), to tax fees

to these men, and he allows them something over $4,000, to be paid

Hanrahan, as receiver ; the order directing this money to be paid to

the sheriff, and assuming that it was an application on behalf of the

sheriff, although, of course, Judge McCunn knew perfectly well

that such was not the case. This oarries the proceeding on to the

month of March. By that time Mr. Binninger had enough of this
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kind of litigation. Hanrahan was a true prophet. Every order,

however illegal or baseless, could be obtained from Judge McCunn,
and Mr. Binninger could not further stand up against a lawsuit

fought in that way. But there was another person who was satis-

fied. Mr. Clarke began to have his eyes opened about the sanae

time. He began to realize that this intervention of Judge McCunn
did not result in his interest, or for his benefit, and, therefore, the

lawyers on both sides arranged the terms of a settlement, which, if

it had been carried into effect, would have saved to that firm at least

$100,000. But Mr. Clarke says :
" I have received so much kindness

from Judge McCunn in this matter, I have been the subject of so

many kindnesses from him in this proceeding, that I must see what

he has to say about this settlement." So McCunn is invited to

Clarke's house, and, after being made aware of the settlement, what

he says is :
" If you sign this settlement it will be your death war-

rant;" so that he, himself, breaks up an arrangement which was

perfectly acceptable to the parties on both sides, and to the lawyers

as well. Why does he do it i I think it is not very difficult to dis-

cover the motive. What happened the very next morning? Down
to this time, by the action of Judge Fithian, and by an order which

had been obtained from Judge Jones, this man Hanrahan had been

prevented from making any other than ordinary retail sales in the

conduct of the business ; biit from the first there was the intention

on the part of Judge McCunn that his brother-in-law, Morgan, and

that Hanrahan should be largely benefited from this receivership,

and it was necessary that money should be obtained, in order that

there might be something to steal. Therefore, the very next morn-

ing 111 barrels of whisky are sold, and something over $8,000 goes

into Hanrahan's hands, and never leaves them, and a sale is

announced to come off on March 31, 18Y0, of all the rest of the

stock. $22,000 was the amount, in all, received by Hanrahan, and

every cent went to pay the expenses of this receivership, as they are

called. $11,000 of it went into the hands of Morgan ; how
much Hanrahan himself took we do not know. On the 30th

of March, on the application of Mr. Binninger, Judge Jones

stays the sale proposed by Hanrahan. Mr. Binninger thoroughly

understood that if this stock was turned into money, it would

be the last he would see of it, and he was right. He made an

application to Judge Jones, the judge who is then regularly

holding this branch of the court, for a stay of Hanrahan's proceed-

ings, pending an application for his reinoval. The next day

the sale takes place. ISTobody knows how. A few days afterward
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Mr. Titus makes application to punish Hanrahan for going on with

the sale in violation of Judge Jones' order, and then for the first

time learns that on the same day that Judge Jones gave the stay,

Morgan went up to McCunn and applied for and obtained an order

vacating it. This is the same Morgan who says that he realized the

impropriety of any application by him to Judge McCunn, Jndge

McCunn being his brother-in-law, and that he never did call upon

him for orders except in the case of Clarke v. Binninger. But in

that case Morgan does apply to Judge McCunn to vacate Judge

Jones' order on the same day that it is granted, and this pliant,

weak, miserable tool, gives an order which he knew Judge Jones,

if any one, was the judge to grant, which vacates Judge Jones'

stay of proceedings, and the sale takes place, putting $11,000

or $13,000 more into the possession of Hanrahan, of which,

when Hanrahan came to account, there was left a little over $4,000,

and the account was squared by Morgan putting that amount

into his pocket, where it remains to the present day. This man
Morgan, whom the counsel on the other side undertook to show to

be a lawyer of practice, character and responsibility, and whose own
testimony shows that his largest gains from his profession for any

one year up to that time were his one-third of $16,000— this man,

in the short time from the 19th of JSTovember, 1869, to the 26th of

April, 1870, when Hanrahan was finally removed through the order

of Judge Monell ; this man in that short interval plundered this

estate in the amount of $11,000. Fees to himself as counsel for the

receiver, he calls it ; when the only thing in court he ever did, was

on one occasion to read some affidavits. Wherever any counsel

service was to be rendered, counsel were employed. Mr. Pryor

received his $2,500 for services as counsel, Mr. Albright his fees,

and so with other counsel.

I have said nearly all that I propose to say about this ease, except

to state Judge McCunn's proceedings against Mr. Beecher ; a mere

statement of that is the strongest possible argument. Is it conceiv-

able that any thing further need be said, when the Senate of the

State of New York shall know the use to which this man McCunn
prostituted the power of his court in his action toward Mr. Beecher ?

Mr. Beecher was no party to any litigation before Judge McCunn.

He was the assignee in bankruptcy appointed by the District Court

of the United States, of the firm of A. Binninger & Co. He called

at their store, saw the receiver, informed him, or somebody there of

his appointment, and, without doing any thing toward taking pos-

session, he communicated his opinion that his right was superior to
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that of Hanrahan, the receiver. Injmediately, on the 19th of

January, 18Y0, an order is issued again by Judge McCunn— Judge

McCunn not holding the chambers branch of the court— enjoining

all action on Mr. Beecher's part. "What right had Judge McCunn
to issue any order affecting Mr. Beecher at all, Mr. Beecher not

being a party to any suit or proceeding in Judge McCunn's court ?

But this order was issued, and on the same day— so hasty is relief

when before Judge McCunn suits are presented by Messrs. Morgan

& Hanrahan— an order is again granted by McCunn, requiring

Mr. Beecher to show cause, on the 25th of January, 1870, why he

should not be punished for contempt for calling on Hanrahan and

informing him of his appointment as assignee. On the 25th Mr.

Beecher did not attend. I think he intended to be there. I think

there was some mistake about the hour ; but at all events he was

not there at the time appointed. Young Mr. Bangs, however,

the junior member of the firm which acted for Mr. Beecher,

was present. Mr. Beecher is called in court, and there is no

response ; and then, in his mightiness, Judge McCann calls an

officer of his court and sends him down to arrest Mr. Beecher.

Is there any process? No; Judge McCunn does not recog-

nize the necessity of process. Any procedure or form looking to

the protection of the rights of Mr. Beecher ? No, nothing of the

kind. An officer is sent down to arrest him, and he tells his

errand. It is one man against one man, and Mr. Beecher will

not come. The officer returns to the court, and then, in the hearing

of Mr. Francis "W. Bangs, the senior member of the firm, who has

by that time reached Judge McCunn's court, the judge says, " take

two officers down and bring Mr. Beecher here." When the first

officer calls, Mr. Beecher asks him for his warrant. The man com-

municates this to Judge McCunn, and McCunn says, "go and bring

him ; that is your warrant." Now, Mr. President and Senators, I

wish to know whether the rights of citizens are to be treated in this

•^pay— whether their liberties are to be at the beck and nod of a

man such as this man McCunn is, because he happens to have been

elected a judge? Mr. Beecher is taken from "Wall street and

brought to McCunn's court, and when he gets there McCunn finds

that he has caught a tartar, for Mr. Bangs is there and he knows

what Mr. Beecher's rights are, and finally Judge McCunn is obliged

to crawl out of the position in which he has placed himself, by tell-

ing Mr. Beecher that he can either go to the bosom of his family, or

go to Ludlow street jail, an exceedingly suitable remark for a judge

sitting on the bench to make to a man whom he had caused to be
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illegally arrested and brought before him. And in the short inter-

val of a month, according to the testimony of Morgan, Judge

McCunn grants six different orders enjoining the bankruptcy peti-

tioning creditors. Does he do it on notice ? Not in a single case

;

from beginning to end every proceeding on the part of Judge

McCunn is ex parte— the mischief of course following the act, with

no possibility of redress. This man, Morgan, in his exceeding zeal to

assist his brother-in-law and friend, discloses two significant circum-

stances. One is that no other judge of the Superior Court would

grant these orders. If the orders were legal there could be no

objection by any other judge to grant them; the reason given by

Morgan is that the other judges were not sufficiently informed of

the comity relations between the State and the federal courts, what-

ever that may mean ; that Judge McCunn had investigated that

subject, and that, therefore, he, Morgan, notwithstanding his sense

of the impropriety, applied to Judge McCunn, and that Judge

McCunn, though also aware of the impropriety, overcame his

scruples and granted the orders; the other circumstance is this;

Morgan tells it, apparently regarding it as a circumstance creditable

to Judge McCunn, viz. : that for years he, Morgan, has been in the

daily habit of receiving applications from other lawyers to apply to

Judge McCunn for ex parte orders ; senators, what feeling toward

Judge McCunn is entertained by the bar of the city of New York
particularly by such members who do it no credit, if this man, Mor-

gan, can truthfully state such a fact— that Judge McCunn is gene-

rally esteemed to be such a judge that applications made to him
by Morgan, his brother-in-law, will be entertained and granted when
the same application made by other competent lawyers will be

denied.

"What is the result of this whole case ? It is two-fold ; in the first

place during these three or four months Morgan receives anywhere

from $11,000 upward ; eleven thousand and some hundreds he con-

cedes, but how much more he received we do not know. At all

events, this man who says at the beginning of this case he was

worth $20,000 (and he furnishes rather a slim description of property

to make it up), is able at the close to buy a house from Judge

McCunn himself, and pay $14,000 for it. Thus it appears that this

money which came from the estate of Clarke & Binninger went

into the pocket of Judge McCunn himself. I don't care under what

pretext, it went into his pocket. That money bought that house

from him ; whether the house was worth what was paid for it, or

whether it was worth much less, we do not know. Morgan had
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been paying $900 rent for the house ; he got this receivership to

bleed, and the result was that he was able to pay $14,000 to his

brother-in-law. Judge McOunn, for the house.

My senior associate (Mr. Yan Cott) suggests this other position in

connection with this case. Of course, the suit between Clarke and
Binninger was simply a suit to adjust partnership rights as between
themselves, and was therefore entirely subordinate to the rights of

creditors
; and when the firm was put into bankruptcy, the contro-

versy between the partners should have been, and in law was,

Gveiridden by the proceedings in the interest of creditors. The
next case about which I have a few words to say is that of Elliott

v. Butler. Mrs. Butler was the occupant of a house belonging

to Judge McOunn, and there is no escape from the conclusion

that McCunn knew that the house, the rent of which was to go into

the hands of the receiver to be appointed by him in that suit,

was his own. The house was rented by him to Mrs. Elliott, and by
her it was rented to Mrs. Butler ; Mrs. Elliott filed her complaint

for the collection of the rent due her, setting forth that it was the

only source from which she could obtain the rent to pay the superior

landlord (Judge McOunn). Was there ever such a thing heard of

in any other case as the appointment of a receiver in a suit for the

enforcement of an ordinary debt?

Mr. Mtirpht— I understood you to say that it was stated in the

complaint that the only way of paying Judge McOunn was by get-

ting the money from Mrs. Butler ; on what page is that statement ?

Mr. Pajbsons— I do not mean that Judge McOunn's name is

mentioned ; but the number of the house is stated ; he of course

knew that he owned the house and that Mrs. Elliott was his tenant,

and therefore he knew that the receivership was to be of rent which

was to go to himself. The complaint of Mrs. Elliott does allege

that the only means of paying the superior landlord (who was Judge

McCunn) was by this suit against Mrs. Butler.

Judge McCunn appoints Gano, his own brother-in-law, receiver

of that rent. Gano is McOunn's agent to collect rent from that very

house ; and on the evening of the day that appointment is made,

Gano attends at the house to take possession, and Judge McOunn is

there to assist Gano ; it is he who sends out to employ a policeman

to prevent the baggage of the occupants of the house from being

removed ; and Mr. Elhardt, the representative of Mrs. Butler, is in

constant communication with McCunn. down to the close of the

transaction. In the end, when all the rent which can be collected

has been received by Gano, McCunn tells Gano that he had better
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get out of the transaction as soon as lie can ; but not until every

cent whicli the receiver could collect had been obtained, did Judge

McCunn come to the conclusion that he was in a wrong position in

the transaction. The appointment of this receiver was on the 10th

of December, 1869. On the 17th of December, Judge McCunn
issues an attachment in a suit against Mrs. Elliott for the collection

of the rent due him. The sheriff goes to Gano, who has retained

the money in his hands until it can be attached, and Gano pays it

over, and in that way it goes to Judge McCunn. From the very

beginning it was the intention of McCunn, by the proceedings, to

collect his own rent. He knew that the parties, his servants, were

not responsible; the complaint so informed him, but by putting

this money into the hands of Gano, his brother-in-law and agent, he

placed it where he could get his hand upon it when he wished ; and

the result was that it was turned over to him finally, with the excep-

tion of such leaks as occurred in the process, which, however, were

so considerable that McCunn got but little in the end.

The next case to which I call your attention is that of Van Ness

V. Taliaferro. The facts are in a small compass, and the case is a

very aggravated one. There was pending a reference before a very

respectable attorney in the city of New York, Mr. Edsall ; the con-

test being about a fund of $3,000, in the possession of a firm of

auctioneers, of New York, Messrs. Leeds & Minor, a perfectly

respectable and responsible firm.

Mr. D. P. "Wood— Under which charge does this case come?

Mr. Paksons— It comes under the 7th charge, and the testimony

relating to it will be found commencing at page 403. I have stated

ithat this fund of $3,000 was in the hands of Leeds & Minor, a

Tesponsible firm of auctioneers in the city of New York ; they were

willing to pay interest for it, pending this litigation, and the refer-

ence before Mr. Edsall had proceeded so far that the plaintiff had

rested his case, and the defendants were called upon to introduce

their testimony, when one of the parties to the suit made a motion

'before Judge McCunn to vacate the order of reference, upon the

grounds that the case was not referable, and that the consent given

was not that of the party, but only the consent of the attorney,

unauthorized by the party ; really, the result of this case is laugh-

able; senators, you must not think that these are isolated cases

which we have succeeded in bringing before you ; we cannot bring

here the mass of cases which are exemplified and illustrated by those

with which we have felt justified in occupying the attention of the

Senate ; in this case, as I have said, a motion was made before Judge
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McCunn to vacate the order of reference, on the ground that the

case was not a referable one ; Judge McCunn vacated the reference—
all that he was asked to do by the parties appearing or by the motion
papers ; but, by the same decision, he who thus held that the order

of reference before Edsall should be vacated upon the ground I have
stated, ordered another reference and appointed Wm. M. Tweed,
Jr., referee ; we all know why that was done ; but that is not all ; by
the same order Judge McCunn appointed Mr. Thomas J. Barr

receiver of the amount in controversy ; no such motion was pend-

ing ; no partjr applied for a receiver ; and the consequence was that

the parties were subjected to a further litigation, extending over

many months, and were obliged to pay receiver's fees and referee's

fees, in addition to the referee's fees previously incurred, and to

enable Judge McCunn to purchase political support and assistance.

This was immediately preceding his nomination to his present term

of office, and indicates the extent to which he holds his seat by the

will of the people.

I next allude to the case of Brandon v. Buck. The charge is

number four. The order in that case will be found on page 417.

The circumstances were these : An act of the Legislature had been

passed looking to the incorporation of, or providing for the incor-

poration of a Hansom cab company, in the city of New York, and a

fund of about $12,000 had been subscribed by persons who proposed

to take stock when the company should be incorporated, and that

money had been put into the hands of Messrs. Duncan, Sherman &
Co., and was, I suppose, as safe in their hands as in any place in

which it could be deposited. The president of the company, or the

man who proposed to be president when the company should be

incorporated, was Edward W. Brandon, and he had a claim against

the inchoate company, and, to recover the money, commenced an

action against Jerome Buck and others, subscribers to the company,

and the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Co., and applied to Judge

McCunn, who, without notice to Duncan, Sherman & Co., appointed

Mr. Hanrahan receiver of the fund. The fund was described in

the order to Duncan, Sherman & Co. as " being the fund described

in the coniplaint." It was not the intention of Hanrahan, or of

Morgan, who appeared as his counsel, to inform the parties upon

whom the order was served of the nature of the case, so as to facili-

tate vacating the order, and, therefore, no complaint or other papers

were served with the order. Duncan, Sherman & Co. could not

tell what the fund was of which Hanrahan claimed to be receiver

;

they sent for Mr. Larocque, their counsel ; he was as much mystified

74



586 PROCEEDINGS IN THE

as were his clients. Morgan and Hanrahan were compelled to

arrange to send the papers or copies of them to Duncan, Sherman &
Co., or to Mr. Larocque, so that he might be able to advise his

clients ; this gave Mr. Larocque time to discover that Dubois Smith

was the attorney for the plaintiff in the case ; he called upon him

and learned that he had nothing to do with the appointment of

Hanrahan ; Mr. Morgan was subsequently examined in regard to

the transaction, and said that Smith wished a man named Murphy
appointed receiver ; Judge McCunn would not appoint him, but

desired Hanrahan, and it was against Smith's will that Hanrahan

was appointed receiver, or took any step in the proceeding. As
soon as Mr. Larocque saw Mr. Smith, they arranged a discontinuance

of the suit, and that terminated the receivership ; he should have

terminated it. The order appointing Hanrahan was dated the 23d

of February, 1870. The consent discontinuing the suit and vacat-

ing the receivership was on the 24th of February, the succeeding

day. On the 21st of March, nearly a month after, Duncan, Sher-

man & Co. were again greatly surprised by receiving another order

appointing Joseph Meeks, the assistant clerk of the Superior Court,

receiver of this same fund, and it then transpires that, by some

arrangement between Hanrahan, Meeks and Morgan, and through

the instrumentality and by the action of Judge McCunn, Hanrahan

had given a consent in this discontinued suit that, upon the payment

to him of $500, Meeks be appointed receiver in his place, and Judge

McCunn had granted an ex parte order appointing him, on condition

that he paid Hanrahan $500, allowed to him as receiver's fees. One
of the senators asked for what the $500 was granted to Hanrahan

;

he had never taken possession of any thing, had been receiver only

one day? Yet, for calling on Duncan, Sherman & Co. on that

occasion. Judge McCunn directed $500 to be paid him as a suitable

sum for his receiver's fees ; not to cover the expenses of this receiver-

ship, but $500 on condition that the receivership be renewed and

continued in the person of Mr. Meeks, who would have the same

right to the fees of his receivership as had Hanrahan.

The next case is that of Corey v. Long. That makes the second

charge. It might be supposed by senators that the point of that

case was lost when the fact transpired that Judge McCunn making

the original appointment of Gano, his brother-in-law, as receiver,

Judge Barbour subsequently vacated that order, but such is not at

all the fact. The suit was brought by a man named Corey, who
had some time previously been in partnership with Walter P. Long,

for a settlement of partnership difFerences, which was claimed to
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exist between them. Long, it appears, had bought out Corey, and
was in possession ; Corey went to a lawyer who was an intimate

friend of Judge McCunn, and that lawyer called upon Judge
McCunn to obtain an order to show cause why a receiver should
not be appointed, without any suggestion from him. Judge
McCunn himself, in his own handwriting, changed that order

to an absolute order appointing Gano receiver of the $8,000

worth of property ; and he made it not only in violation of all

propriety, but in direct violation of an established rule of his own
court, not to appoint a relative in such a case ; a rule which com-
pelled Judge Barbour, when subsequently it transpired that Gano
was the brother-in-law of Judge MpOunn, to vacate that order. No
sooner had Judge Barbour thus vacated the appointment of Gano
than Judge McCunn procured him to re-appoint the same man.

What happened? We insist, senators, that Judge McCunn is

responsible for the results of his own action ; and one result in this

case of his action was, that whereas Long had been in possession of

this property, Corey the plaintiif was immediately appointed deputy

receiver by Gano, and Long was thrown out of possession by Judge

McCunn, and Corey put into possession ; and they ran the estab-

lishment for awhile until Judge McCunn by his own order was

compelled to admit the larger and superior right of the assignee in

bankruptcy ; but before what was left of the proceeds could be put

Into the hands of the assignee in bankruptcy, $3,880 had gone as

expenses of the receivership
; $350, by the order of Judge McCunn,

being paid or directed to be paid to his own intimate friend Roger

A. Pryor, who was the plaintift's attorney. It is a great disappoint-

ment that Mr. Pryor was compelled to leave and could not be

examined on our behalf, in support of a portion of Mr. Harrison's

opening, to prove who wrote Judge McCunn's opinions. After the

counsel for judge McCunn had abandoned the case, and when Mr.

Gano was examined, in his desire to assist Judge McCunn so far as

he could, senators may remember that he took the stand a second

time to make an explanation, and that explanation was that the funds

which came into his hands as receiver, in that case of Corey v.

Long, were not deposited by him in bank to the credit of the

account kept by himself as receiver, but that he deposited those

funds in- his general bank account, which was his account of the

moneys received by him as the agent of Judge McCunn, and it

therefore appears that this very $8, 000, which came into his hands

as receiver in the case of Corey v. Long, he immediately put

to Judge McCunn's credit in his own bank account. We do not
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mean to say that Judge McCunn was not perfectly responsible to

make good that amount, but it is very convenient at times to have

a full bank account, and $8,000 to his credit in the bank was so

much money which could be used by Judge McCunn until the

exigencies of the case should require the money to be paid over.

Before mentioning the last case, let me say a word about that of

Hicks V. Bishop. Senators will remember that, in that case, we
introduced an affidavit upon which, on a claim of $1,500, Judge

McCunn issued an order of arrest, requiring bail to be exacted of

the defendant in the sum of $40,000. We also introduced the order

made on an application to reduce the amount of bail, or discharge

the order of arrest. Judge McCunn denying the motion, an objec-

tion was taken that we had not proved the original order of arrest.

We were unable to find the original order, and we have been unable

to find the original order to this day ; it has become mislaid in some

way. What we urge is this : That, by the affidavit on the motion

to discharge the order, and by the order of Judge McCunn denying

the application, there is sufficiently supplied the fact of the original

order of arrest to justify action on the part of the Senate in this

case. Of course, we leave that to such action as the Senate shall

think suitable.

The case of O^Maliony v. Belmont was this : On the 30th day

of June, 1869, an order to show cause was granted, returnable on

the 2d day of July, 1869, why a receiver should not be appointed

of a fund claimed to be in the possession of the firm of Belmont &
Co., and amounting to the sum of $19,592.44. It is not necessary

for me to state the circumstances upon which the claim was based,

except to assert (and senators will easily satisfy themselves that such

was the fact if they examine the complaint), that it was no case in

which to appoint a receiver. Belmont & Co. were responsible

parties. This suit was a suit against them to recover the amount of

certain bills of exchange claimed to have been lost. It was an

ordinary common-law action, and of course there was no right, either

by the practice or the rules of court, for the appointment of a

receiver. On the 30th of June, 1869, Judge McCunn issued an

order to show cause, on the 2d of July, why a receiver should not be

appointed of the amount claimed to be due from Belmont & Co. to

the plaintiff. Judges are assigned, in the city of New York, to hold

court month by month, and just at that time the judge holding

chambers would be reaching the close of his monthly term, and

another judge was about to succeed to that branch of the court.

And, therefore, when, on the 2d of July, counsel for Belmont «fe Co.
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appeared and asked a postponement, Judge McCunn said " yes, but

on condition that these proceedings must be considered as before me."
Belmont & Co. could only procure a postponement by acquiescing.

On the 9th of July, they attended to resist the application, and Mr.
Lucke, the partner of Mr. Belmont, interposed, by way of objection

to the appointment of a receiver, that Mr. Belmont was in Europe

;

that he had not been served with the papers, and was no party to

the suit, and that Mr. Lucke was not a partner of the firm when
this cause of action arose, and that, therefore, there was no liability

on his part. That was conceded to be a good objection ; so con-

ceded by the plaintifE's attorney. He asked a delay, that he might

meet the objection which had been taken, and, at the plaintifiPs

request, there was an adjournment of the motion. On the 16th of

July, within the time covered by the adjournment, and before the

adjourned day, Mr. Thomas J. Barr called upon Belmont & Go. and

said :
" I have been appointed receiver of the amount in contro-

versy." Of course it seemed incredible ; counsel were sent for, and

it then was discovered that in the interim of this adjournment, in

violation of the compact between counsel, on the application of no

one. Judge McCunn had appointed Mr. Barr as receiver. The
plaintiff's counsel was acting in good faith, and he did what he was

called upon to do under the circumstances. The appointment of

Barr being on the 16th of July, on the 17th of July that appoint-

ment was vacated by consent of counsel. On the same day, Barr,

the receiver, obtained from Judge McCunn an order to show cause,

returnable a few days ahead, why Belmont & Co. should not be

punished for their contempt in not paying him the money when he

had called upon them for it. That order was returnable on the 20th

of July. Then, in spite of all attempts at resistance by both the

plaintiff's counsel and tJie counsel of Belmont & Co., Judge

McCunn, through his power to punish Mr. Lucke for contempt,

forced him to draw his check in court, transferring that money to

Barr. In the same order compelling Mr. Lucke to transfer this

fund to Barr the receiver. Judge McCunn directs $2,500 to be paid

to the counsel for Belmont & Co., who were resisting the proceed-

ings, of course, that they might not, by appeal, take the steps they

did take, and which resulted in the reversal of the order. On the

20th of July, the same day, out of this fund of $19,000, Judge

McCunn again made an order (and I think it drew from one of the

senators the remark that he was almost tempted to come down to

the city of New York and practice law), that Mr. Paige, the plain-

tiff's attorney in 'the suit, be paid $2,500. Thus, at the very
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threshold of the suit, ou the return of the proceedings for the

appointment of a receiver, the order was made by Judge McCunn,
without solicitation, that Mr. Belmont's counsel be paid $2,500,

fifteen per cent of the whole fund, and he then ordered a corres-

ponding sum to be paid to Mr. Paige. That was paid. On the

14th of IS^ovember, 1870, all those orders were reversed by the gen-

eral term of the Superior Court, reversed on the application of Mr.

Belmont's counsel, and, it appears, reversed without opposition by

Mr. Paige, who had received his $2, 500, and whose interest in the

suit seems thus to have become exhausted. Some one then made a

suggestion, upon which a man named Bailey, who held, or claimed

to hold, one bond for $100, issued by the Fenian Brotherhood, made
an application to Judge McCunn, and procured an order appointing

Barr receiver of the entire $19,000, it being insisted that the money
belonged to that organization, and, of course, when the first receiver-

ship failed, there was a second ready to take the place. He could

not very well retain the fund as receiver in the first suit, with no

right to be recognized in court, against the consent of the attorneys

on both sides to vacate the order of his appointment, and, there-

fore, he (Barr) made a special application to be let in as a party

defendant to that suit. Judge Jones, on another motion, held that

he had no right even to be heard in the suit, but Judge McCunn,
on July 27th, 1860, made an order permitting him to be a party.

That order was also appealed from and reversed.

And now, Mr. President and Senators, with this new statement

of the case, without argument in support of the prosecution, which

would be suitable were there opposition, all that remains is, that we
shall ask you whether we, who live in the city of New York, shall

be compelled further to live under the disgrace, and to submit to

the infliction of this man. Judge McCunn stands here chai'ged by

the unanimous action of the Assembly with mal and corrupt con-

duct in oifice. By the recommendation of the Governor, he is

charged with mal and corrupt conduct in oflice. If he has done

what the testimony establishes, is there doubt that the conduct of

which he has been guilty is mal and corrupt ?

Mr. MiJEPHT— Before the counsel sits down I would like to ask

him whether he has any thing to say in regard to the power of a

court to grant receiverships without notice.

Mr. Paesons— Mr. Senator : That such power does exist in the

court we shall not dispute, and I meant to be understood to make
that concession by my statement that the complaint against McCunn
for the appointment of Hanrahan receiver in the suit of Binninger



TEIAL OF JOHN H. McCUNN. 591

V. Clarice, did not depend upon the fact of the appointment, but

upon the circumstances under which it was made. The fact that it

was Hanrahan who was appointed ; that there was no reason why
notice was not given, and no notice was given ; that the application

was made at midnight, the parties taking with them the bottles of

wine ; the receivership wag a deed of such a large amount of pro-

perty on a bond of only $1,000.

Mr. Lewis—I would like to ask the counsel one question, whether

the counsel speaks of the subsequent orders made by Judge McCunn
in the case of the arrest— of the $40,000— do those orders or the

proceedings show that Judge McCunn made the order ?

Mr. Paesons—They do. Every fact necessary to complete that

case appears by the papers, with the exception that the particulars

of the order of arrest must be obtained from the proceedings to set

it aside, we not having the order of arrest here.

Mr. Lewis—I move that we go into private consultation.

Mr. Lewis' motion was put and declared carried.

Upon re-opening the doors at 12.10 p. m., the President said, the

Clerk will read the first charge against the respondent.

The clerk read the first charge, in the following words

:

Chaeqe Fiest.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 17th

day of JSTovember, 1869, and on the 1st day of July, 1870, then

being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New Tork, was

guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as a justice of said

court, in an action then pending in said court, wherein Abraham B.

Clarke was plaintifi", and Abraham Binninger was defendant, in

this : That said John H. McCunn continually, while said action was

pending in said court of which he was a justice, acted as counsel of

the plaintiff in said action, and in sundry actions growing out of it,

wherein the said plaintiff was plaintiff, and in relation to the mat-

ters therein involved, not being himself a party to the actions or to

either of them. That he so acted as counsel in and about sundry

and various motions then pending, or, with his advice, about to be

brought before him as such justice aforesaid. That said John H.

McCunn conspired with Daniel H. Hanrahan, James F. Morgan,

and other persons unknown, to prevent and obstruct justice, and the

due administration of the laws in regard to said action ;
and falsely

to maintain said actions before mentioned, and thereby to deprive

the parties thereto of their property without due process of law.
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That, in order to effect the object of said conspiracy, the said John

H. MeCunn, at his own private residence, a few minutes after mid-

night on the 18th, and on the 19th day of November, 1869, illegally

granted an ex parte order in said action, whereby he summarily

appointed said Hanrahan receiver of, and ordered him to sell the

partnership property (amounting to many thousands of dollars in

value) of said plaintiff and defendant, without requiring any security

in any due or legal form, or in any sufficient amount from said

Hanrahan, though well knowing him to be a man without pecuniary

responsibility, of bad habits, and utterly unfit for such a trust. The

said John H. McCunn thereafter gave written and verbal directions

to certain deputy sheriffs of the city and county of New York, that

they should take possession of said partnership property : and con-

spired with, instigated and procured them to do so, without any

process or authority known to the laws of the State of New York,

but falsely representing themselves to be acting therein as deputy

sheriffs, under directions of the sheriff, and with process from said

Superior Court. That said John H. McOunn, as said justice, there-

after, in said action, made an order allowing to the sheriff of the city

and county of New York fees to a large amount exceeding $4,000,

which said justice ordered should be paid to said sheriff by the

receiver out of the said partnership property, no process ever having

been issued to said sheriff in the action, and no legal or lawful ser-

vices having ever been performed by him therein. That said John

H. McCunn, in a proceeding in said action brought before himself,

by his own advice and direction, wrongfully and illegally caused one

John S. Beecher to be arrested and brought before him, said justice,

and deprived of his liberty without any process whatever, and with-

out any charge against said Beecher which would warrant said arrest.

That said John H. McCunn, as said justice in said action, when an

order had been regularly, for good cause, and duly made therein on

the 30th March, 1870, by Hon. Samuel Jones, a justice of said

court (who was then holding the special term of said court, where

an application for such an order should, according to the rules and

practice of said court, be made), staying and enjoining the sale of

said partnership property, illegally and corruptly granted an order,

purporting to modify said order of Hon. Samuel Jones, justice, but

really annulling and vacating it, and thereby directed said sale to

proceed in disobedience of said order of injunction. That said

John H. McOunn granted said last-mentioned order without notice

to any of the parties to said action, without just cause, upon no other

papers than those upon which the order it vacated had been granted,



TRIAL OF JOHN H. McOUNK 593

and contraiy to law. That by another order granted in said action,

said John H. McCiinn enjoined and prevented John S. Beecherand
Paul J. Armour, assignees in bankruptcy of said Clarke and Bin-
ninger, duly appointed by the United States district court for the

southern district of New York, from performing their duties as such
assignees. That he granted such order without any authority and
contrary to law, no facts being in evidence before him on which said

order could be granted, and said assignees never having been served

with summons or process in said action.

That all such acts, orders and proceedings, and others in said action

were done, made and had by said John H. McCunn, as justice afore-

said, with the intent and effect to accomplish the objects of said con-

spiracy. And, in consequence thereof, said plaintiff and defendant

and their just creditors suffered damage, and were wrongfully and
illegally deprived of their property, to an amount exceeding $200,000.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator, " Senator, how say

you, is the first item of the charge preferred against the accused

proven ? " when each senator rose in his place and responded as

follows

:

As proven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,

Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,

Lewis, Lowery, McGrowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Rob-

ertson, Tieman, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. "Wood, J.

Wood, Woodin. Ayes— 27.

Mr. Lord— I ask to be excused from voting; it is well under-

stood by every senator here that I have not had the opportunity of

hearing the testimony taken, neither have I had the opportunity of

reading it ; therefore I cannot vote understandingly upon the ques-

tion and ask to be excused from voting.

The question was put by the President and it was declared carried.

The Clerk then read the second charge preferred against the

accused as follows

:

Chaege Second.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 17th day

of January, 1870, and the 1st day of January, 1872, then being a

justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty

of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as such justice, in this

:

That in an action pending in said court, wherein one Albert B.

Corey was plaintiff, and Walter B. Long was defendant, the said

75
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John H. McCunn illegally, corruptly, and with, the intent and effect

of thereby enabling one James M. Gano, who was a brother-in-law

of said justice, to make himself large gains and profits, did on the

18th day of January, 18Y0, conspire with said Gano and other per-

sons unknown, to injure and defraud the defendant and others of

their property and just rights by maldng and entering an ea? pa/rte

summary order, falsely purporting to be an order of the said Supe-

rior Court, appointing said James M. Gano receiver of all the

partnership property (of many thousands of dollars in value) of said

Corey and Long— though no appointment of a receiver by said

Justice had been applied for, and though the only application in the

action therefor made to said justice was for a mere judge's order,

returnable before the court, to show cause why a receiver should not

on the return day of the order, be appointed by the court after

hearing the parties. That said justice so appointed said Gano such

receiver without requiring any security to be given by him, though

said justice well knew said Gano to be a man without pecuniary

responsibility and unfit for such trust, and dependent upon said

justice for support for himself and family. That the only bond

even purporting to be given by said Gano as such receiver for the

faithful performance of his duties, was executed by the obligors and

was approved by said justice before the said receiver was appointed,

to wit : on the 17th day of January, 1870. That said John H.

McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, illegally, and without jurisdiction

granted orders for the payment of a fee to the counsel for the plain-

tiff in said action, and of other fees to persons unknown by said

receiver, out of the fund in his custody, and such fees were there-

upon so paid by such receiver to persons unknown. That all said acts

of said justice were wrongful, illegal and corrupt, and were done

with the intent and effect thereby to deprive the plaintiff' and defend-

ant in said action, and their creditors, of their property, without

due process of law, contrary to the laws of the State of New York.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator the question:

" Senator, how say you, is the second item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " when each senator arose in his place

and responded as follows :

As proven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,

Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,

Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Palmer, Perry, Eobertson,

Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, "Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood,

Woodin. Ayes— 36.
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As svhstcmtiall/y prcyoen— Mr. Murphy.

Mr. EoBBETSoiT— I didn't understand that the senator from the

twenty-eighth was excused, except from voting on the one charge.

Mr. LoKD— I intended it to be in both cases.

The Peesidbnt— The senator's name will be called.

Mr. HoBEETSoif— I don't desire it to be called.

Mr. LoED— I intended it for all the charges. It will apply as on

the first charge.

Mr. EoBEETSON— I suppose the excuse should be made and granted

upon each charge as it is called. I don't see that the senator should

be excused from voting on any other question not then before the

Senate. I have no objection to his being excused if done in that

way.

Mr. LoED— I had intended, in my excuse, it should apply to all

the charges, and supposed it could be done in that way.

The Peesident— The application only relates to one charge.

Mr. LoED— Mr. President : I now ask to be excused from voting

upon any of the charges, for the reasons that I have given.

Mr. EosmsoN— I should prefer that an excuse should be made

to each charge, and the senator should be excused on each ciiarge.

There may be some charge upon which we may desire that he vote.

The Peesident— Does the senator make that application.

Mr. Loed— Mr. President : I made the application to be excused,

and intended to make it to be excused from voting upon any of the

charges ; nothing beyond that ; I don' t ask to be excused upon any

other action, whatever it may be.

Mr. Madden— I move that he be excused from voting under the

second charge.

The question was put on Mr. Madden's motion, and it was

declared carried.

The Oleek then read the third charge preferred against the

accused, as follows :

Chaege Thied.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 10th

day of December, 1869, and the 1st day of January, 1871, then

being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was

guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his ofl&ce as justice as aforesaid,

in this : That, in an action pending in said court, wherein Anna M.

Elliott was plaintiff, and Mary P. Butler was defendant, the said

plaintiff being then a tenant of said John H. McCunn, hiring from
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him tlie premises 'No. 54 "West Twenty-fourth street, in the city of

New York, sought to recover, by proceedings before said justice, the

rent alleged to be due for said premises from the defendant Butler

as sub-tenant to the plaintiff Elliott. That, in and by the complaint

in said action, it appeared that the said plaintiff was dependent on

the rents to be received from the said defendant for said' premises

to make the payment of the rents due from the said plaintiff to said

John H. McCunn, her superior landlord. That said John H. Mc-

Cunn, being a justice as aforesaid, and being so interested in the

result of said action, well knowing all the facts of the case, made
and entered, on the 10th day of December, 1869, an ex parte order,

falsely purporting to be an order of the court, whereby he sum-

marily appointed James M. G-ano, who was a brother-in-law of said

John H. McCunn, and the agent of said John H. McCunn for the

collection of the rents of said premises, receiver, to collect, receive

and hold all money due or to become due from the boarders of said

defendant, on said premises No. 54 West Twenty-fourth street.

That said order was made and entered by said justice illegally,

without jurisdiction and with the corrupt intent, and with the effect

thereby to enable said Gano to receive the moneys due to said

defendant, and deprive said defendant of the same without due

process of law, and to thereby secure the said moneys to the said

John H. McCunn himself, through his said agent, and in pursuance

of a conspiracy made and entered into by said John H. McCuim,
said Gano and other persons unknown, to deprive said defendant

of her property and illegally obtain possession of the same ; in all

of which said John H. McCunn thereby succeeded, to his own per-

sonal profit and gain, and to the great injury of both the plaintiff

and defendant.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator the question

:

" Senator, how say you, is the third item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " when each senator arose in his place

and responded as follows :

As pr.Tven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,

Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, BLarrower, Johnson,

Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Palmer, Perry, Eobertson,

Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood,
Woodin. Ayes— 26.

As substcmtiallyproven— Mr. Murphy.

Mr. MuEPHT— Mr. President : I make this qualification, because
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I am not satisfied in regard to the point of conspiracy set forth in

this as in other charges.

The Cleek then read the fourth charge preferred against the ac-

cused, as follows

:

ChAEGB FotTETH.

That the said John H. McOunn, at divers times between the 20th

day of February, 18Y0, and the 25th day of March, 1870, then being

a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New Tork, was guilty

of mal and corrupt conduct in his office as justice as aforesaid, in an
action then pending in said court, wherein Edward W. Brandon was
plaintiff, and Jerome Buck and William Butler Duncan, and other

members of the firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company, and others,

were defendants, in this : That the said John H. McCunn, as a justice

as aforesaid, in said action did, on or about the 21st day of February,

1870, make and enter an order falsely purporting to be an order of

the court, summarily appointing Daniel H. Hanrahan receiver of a

fund of twelve thousand dollars, more or less, then in the hands of

said Duncan, Sherman & Company, as bankers, on deposit. That

by the papers on which said order was granted, it clearly appeared

that there was no fund or property in the hands of said Duncan,

Sherman & Company, in which the plaintiff had any interest, legal

or equitable. That said order was so made and entered gratuitously,

not upon motion of the plaintiff or of any of the defendants in said

action, in opposition to the wishes of them all, and without notice

to any of them. That, though the said justice then well knew said

Hanrahan to be a man without pecuniary responsibility and unfit for

such trust, no legal or sufficient security was exacted from him for the

faithful performance of his duties as such receiver. That said action

was immediately and on or about the 23d day of February, 1870,

discontinued, without costs, by an order of the court, duly entered

upon the consent of all the parties, and the said order appointing

said receiver was thereupon vacated and set aside by an order of the

court upon such consent. That, thereafter, ou the 21st day of March,

1870, said John H. McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, gratuitously

and without notice to any of the parties in interest, and well knowing

the premises, nevertheless made and entered a further order, falsely

purporting to be an order of the court, summarily appointing one

Joseph Meeks receiver in the same action of the same money, and

directing said firm of Duncan, Sherman & Company to pay said

money to said receiver. That said orders were granted by said John

H. McCunn corruptly and without any jurisdiction or authority to
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grant them, and with the corrupt intent and with the efPect thereby

to wrongfully oppress and harass the members of said firm of Dun-
can, Sherman & Company and the other defendants, and to put them

to great and unnecessary expense, and to deprive them of their prop-

erty without due process of law, contrary to the laws of the State

of JSTew York, and with the intent thereby to enable said receivers

and their respective counsel to secure large gains and profits to them-

selves illegally.

The Peesedent then proposed to each senator the question :
" Sen-

ator, how say you, is the fourth item of the charges preferred against

the accused proven ? " when each senator arose in liis place and

responded as follows :

Asproven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,

Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,

Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Eob-

ertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J.

Wood, Woodin— 2Y.

Mr. LoED— I ask to be excused from voting.

The question was put upon motion and it was declared carried.

The Cleek then read the fifth charge preferred against the accused,

as follows:

ChAEGE FrFTH.

That said John H. McCunn, at divers times between the 20th day

of June, 1869, and the 1st day of January, 1872, then being a justice

of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was guilty of mal

and corrupt conduct in his said ofSce, in an action pending in said

Superior Court, wherein John O'Mahony was plaintiff, and August

Belmont and others were defendants, and in certain other actions

connected therewith, in this : That said John H. McCunn, as a

justice as aforesaid, wrongfully and illegally made and entered an

order in said action, on the 16th day of July, 1869, whereby he

appointed Thomas J. Barr receiver of certain moneys, amounting

to $16,000, more or less, in gold coin of the United States, and

ordered, directed and required the defendants, August Belmont

and Ernest Lucke, to pay over to said receiver an amount, in current

moneys, equivalent to said sum in gold. That it clearly appeared to

said justice, by the papers then before him, that there was no fund or

property in the hands of either of the defendants, whereof a receiver

could be lawfully appointed, and that there was no fund whatever

in the hands of the defendants or of either of them, to which the
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plaintiff had aay claim. That said John PI. McCnnn, as said jus-

tice, on or about the 18th day of July, 1869, illegally ordered and
compelled one of said defendants, said Ernest Lucke, to pay said

sum of money to said receiver. That he so compelled said payment
by threats of illegal imprisonment. That said justice so compelled

such payment, well knowing that he had no power to issue any war-

rant or any other process for the imprisonment of said Lucke in the

premises. That said justice granted said order, appointing said

receiver, of his own motion, and not on the motion of any party to

the action, and against the wishes and express stipulations, in writ-

ing of the respective counsel of both the plaintiff and the defend-

ants, and with the corrupt intent and with the eifect thereby to

enable said Barr to make for himself large gains and profits thereby,

and with the corrupt intent and with the eifect to thereby deprive

the said defendants of their property without due process of law.

That the said John H. McCunn, as a justice as aforesaid, thereafter

with the corrupt intent, and with the effect aforesaid made and

entered divers illegal orders in the premises, well knowing that they

were illegal. That all such orders and proceedings were so had and

made in collusion and conspiracy with said receiver and other per-

sons unknown, with the intent and effect to thereby wrongfully

oppress and harass said defendants, Belmont and Lucke, and to put

them to unnecessary expense, and to make illeofal gains to said

receiver and other persons, who had no claim whatever to the moneys

to which said actions related.

The President then proposed to each senator the question :
" Sena-

tor, how say you, is the fifth item of the charges preferred against

the accused proven ? " when each senator arose in his place and

responded as follows

:

As proven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,

Chatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson,

Lewis, Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Palmer, Perry, Robertson,

Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood,

Woodin.

As substantial^/ proven— Mr. Murphy— 27.

Mr. LoED— I ask to be excused from voting.

The question was put upon motion, and declared carried.

The Cleek then read the sixth charge preferred against the accused,

as follows

:
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Charge Sixth.

Tliat said John H. McCunn, in the months of July and August,

1869, then being a justice of the Superior Court, of the city of JSTew

York, was guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his ofSce of a jus-

tice of said court, in an action then pending in said court, wherein

Norbury Hicks was plaintiff, and P. W. Bishop was defendant, in

this : That he, John H. McCunn, on or about the 30th of July,

1869, did, in said action, grant an order directing and compelling

the sheriff of the city and county of New York to arrest said

defendant Hicks, and hold him to bail in the sum of $40,000.

That it clearly appeared by the papers then before said justice,

and on which said order of arrest was granted, that the plaintiff

had no cause of action against the defendant. That thereafter a

motion was made and heard before said John H. McCunn, as such

justice, to vacate the said order of arrest, or reduce the amount of

said bail, upon affidavits and papers that showed conclusively that

the court had no discretion to refuse the applications on the merits.

That said motion was denied by said justice, nevertheless. That

said John H. McCunn granted said order of arrest, and denied said

motion to vacate the same, cori-uptly, and with the intent and effect

thereby illegally and wrongfully to deprive the said defendant of his

liberty ; and iixed the amount of his bail at an excessive and exorbi-

tant amount, with the wrongful and corrupt intent, and with the

effect aforesaid, contrary to the constitution and laws of the State

of New York, and in pursuance of a conspiracy in the premises by

said justice, entered into and carried out with said plaintiff and other

persons unknown.

The Peesident then proposed to each senator the question

:

" Senator, how say you, is the sixth item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ? " when each senator arose in his place

and responded as follows :

As proven — Messrs. Benedict, Johnson, Madden, Tiemann— 4.

As not proven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Bowen, Chatfield,

Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower Lewis, Lowery,

McGowan, Murphy, Palmer, Perry, Kobertson, Wagner, Weismann,

Winslow, D. P. Wood, J. Wood, Woodin— 23.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President : I ask to be excused from voting,

for the purpose of making a remark. The senate will have remem-

bered, perhaps, that I always insisted that the testimony fowarded
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us by the Governor was before us, to avail whatever it might avail.

It appears on the 168th page of that testimony that, when this order

ot arrest was offered in evidence, Judge McCunn said, " I admit all

the papers in evidence."

Mr. Peeet— I rise to a point of order, as I understand we are

now governed by the rules which we have adopted in these proceed-

ings, and they do not admit of explanation on a request to be
excused from voting.

The Peesident— So far as the chair is informed, there is no rule

on this express point, and, there being none, the Chair will hold

that the ordinary rules prevail, and that a senator asking to be

excused may state his reason ; therefore the Chair rules the point of

order is not well taken.

Mr. Peeet— Mr. President: Is the decision made?
The Peesident— It is.

Mr. Peeet— I will call the attention of the President to the

rule ; the rule provides that the evidence shall be taken ; the

answer should be given, proven, or not proven without explanation.

The Peesident— Will the senator call the attention of the Chair

to the rule which so requires.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President : We have excused one senator

five times already.

Mr. Peeet— Rule 7, that is all the rule there is on the subject:

" The final vote of the Senate upon the charges preferred shall be

taken by the President of the Senate, who, upon each one of the

charges, as it shall be separately read by the Clerk, shall, with its

number, propose to each Senator, in the order in which his name

stands upon the division list, the question, ' Senator, how say you,

is the first (or second or whatever) item of the charges preferred

against the accused proven ?
' Each senator, when so questioned,

shall rise in his place and answer ' Proven,' or ' Not proven,' and

when the division list of the Senate shall have been gone through

with upon each charge, the result upon each charge shall be

announced, and shall be entered upon the records of the Senate.

If a majority shall agree on the finding ' proven ' upon any one or

more of the items of said charges, the President shall in the same

manner put, and the senators shall in the same manner answer, the

further question, ' Shall be removed from his ofiice

of , for the cause stated in the item (or items) of the charges

preferred against him, which you have found proven ?
' And the

final judgment of the Senate shall be certified by the Governor, by

the President and Clerk of the Senate."

Y6
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The Peesident— The Chair will hold under that rule, as he has

held before, that the senator can give his reasons.

Mr. Benedict— Mr. President : I have shown that order was put

in evidence by the express consent of Judge McCunn ; that order is

found on page 61 of the exhibits, holding the party to bail to the

sum of $40,000, and the proceedings to set it aside and show the

man was held to bail in the sum of $40,000. I withdraw may

request and vote " Proven."

Mr. LoKD— Mr. President : I ask to be excused from voting.

The question was put on said motion, and it was declared carried.

Mr. J. Wood— Mr. President: I asked to be excused from

voting; the senator from the fifth, in giving his reasons to be

excused from voting and afterward withdrawing them, states that

in a book, which he held up here, he read that Judge McOunn
admitted that he had made sxich an order ; but it was not proved

before this body that he had made any such admission, nor was the

order produced, nor was there any evidence before the Senate that

Judge McCunn made such an order. The senator says the Senate

had deliberately decided that testimony taken before the Judiciary

Committee of the House and printed, and now in the hands of some

of the senators, was not evidence upon which to base a decision of

the charges contained therein, and I suppose that is binding upon

this court. It seems to me, Mr. President, there is a failure of

proof here in regard to the making of this order, and there being a

failure of the proof I withdraw my request to be excused from

voting, and vote " not proven."

The Cleek read the Yth charge, as follows :

Ghasge Seventh.

That said John H. McCunn, on the 9th day of July, 1869, then

being a justice of the Superior Court of the city of New York, was

guilty of mal and corrupt conduct in his oflSce as a justice aforesaid,

in this : That in an action then pending in said court, wherein Edward

Yan ISTess was plaintiff and Henry Leeds and others were defendants,

an order had been made and entered by said court, upon consent of

all the parties, referring the issues therein to Thomas H. Edsall, Esq.,

as sole referee to hear and determine, and the hearings before said

referee had proceeded, all the parties had appeared before the referee,

the plaintiff had rested his case and large expenses had been incurred

therein. That, on a motion thereafter brought on before said

justice, by one of the defendants, for an order vacating and setting
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aside the said order of reference, and restoring the cause to the calen-

dar, to be tried at a regular term of the court in due course, upon
the grounds and allegations that the consent to the reference of said

moving defendant was insufficient, and that the action was not,

under the statute, referable without consent of all the parties, an

order was made and entered by said justice, granting the motion on
said grounds made, but arbitrarily and illegally referring the issues

to William M. Tweed, Jr. , as sole referee to hear and determine,

and summarily appointing one Thomas J. Barr receiver of the fund

and property concerning which the litigation had arisen. That said

order, so made and entered by said justice, was not drawn or sub-

mitted by or for either of the parties to the action, or the attorney

or counsel of either of them. That no reference to said Tweed, or

to any person other than said Edsall, as referee, had ever been

applied for by either of the parties. That neither of the parties

had applied for the appointment of a receiver of the fund and

property in question, which were then in the hands of the firm of

" Leeds & Miner," where all the parties desired, and had so

expressed themselves, that it should remain, pending judgment in

the action, and with regard to which firm it was not alleged or pre-

tended that the fund and property were in any danger of injury,

waste or loss, while in their custody. That said order was so made
and entered by said justice illegally, without jurisdiction, and with

the corrupt intent, and with the effect, thereby to enable said Barr

to receive and take possession of said fund and property to his own
use, and to wrongfully oppress and harass the members of said firm

of " Leeds & Miner," and said other parties to the action, put them

to great and unnecessary expense, and deprive them of their prop-

erty without due process of law, contrary to the laws of the State of

New York, pursuant to a conspiracy between said justice and said

Barr, Tweed and others unknown, and with the intent and effect

thereby to enable said Barr, receiver, and said Tweed, referee, and

their respective counsel, to secure large gains and profits to them-

selves illegally, to the personal advantage of said justice.

The Peesidbnt then put to each senator the question :
" How say

you, is the seventh charge against the accused proven ? " To which

each senator arose in his place, and responded with the following

results

:

Proven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen, Chat-

field, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis,
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Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Palmer, Ferry, Robertson, Tiemann,

Wagner, "Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood, S. Wood, Woodin.

Substantially proven— Murphy— 27.

When Mr. Lord's name was called, he arose and said :
" Mr.

President : I ask to be excused from voting."

The question was put on said motion, and it was declared carried.

The Cleek read the eighth charge as follows

:

Chaege Eighth.

That the said John H. McCann, a justice as aforesaid, by his said

and manifold other wrongful and illegal and corrupt acts, has repeat-

edly oppressed and harassed citizens of the State of New York, and

deprived them of their liberty and property without any or due pro-

cess of law, but to his own personal gain and advantage, pecuniary

and other, and has thereby brought the administration of justice

into contempt, and caused deep-seated and general distrust and fear

in regard to proceedings in the courts of this State.

The PiiEsiDENT then proposed to each senator the question:

" Senator, how say you, is the eighth item of the charges pre-

ferred against the accused proven?" To which each senator arose

in his place and responded with the following result

:

As proven— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Chatfield, Cock,

Dickinson, Poster, Graham, Harrower, Johnson, Lewis, Lowery,

McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Eobertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weis-

mann, Winslow, Woodin.

Essentiallyproven— Mr. D. P. Wood.

Substantiallyproven— Messrs. James Wood, Perry.

Not proven— Messrs. Benedict, Bowen, Palmer.

When Mr. Loed's name was called he arose and said: "Mr.
President : I asked to be excused from voting."

The question was put on said motion, and it was declared carried.

When Mr. Mtjephy's name was called, he arose and said : " Mr.
President, I ask to be excused from voting for the purpose of

making an explanation. This charge is, that ' the said John H.
McCunn, by his said and manifold other wrongful and illegal and
corrupt acts, has repeatedly oppressed and harassed citizens of the

State of New York.' The first part of that is proved, 'by his said
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wrongful and illegal acts ;
" but we have not had other wrongful

and illegal and corrupt acts proven ; I withdraw my excuse, and
therefore say, as I said before, ' substantially proven.' "

When Mr. Palmer's name was called, he said : " Mr. President,
I asked to be excused from voting

; I have hesitated a good deal
about my vote on this charge

; I think some portions of the charge
have been proven, and perhaps the last part of the charge is rather
too strong, and I feel in great doubt how to vote. I therefore with-
draw my excuse, and vote ' not proven.' I want to give the accused
the benefit of the doubt."

When Mr. D. P. Wood's name was call, he arose and said, " Mr.
President

:
I asked to be excused from voting. In the vote that I shall

give I wish to be understood that it is confined to the first proposi-
tion in the charge, that is, 'by his wrongful and illegal and corrupt
acts.' I don't .regard that the other branch of the charge has been
proven at all ; but the first branch of the charge has been proven,
as we voted on all the other charges. I therefore withdraw my
motion to be excused, and will vote ' essentially proven,' covering
only the first branch."

The PEEsroENT— Senators: Shall John H. McCunn be removed
irom the ofiiee of justice of the superior court of the city of New
York, for the causes stated in the charges preferred against him,

which you have found proven ?

The Cleek then called the roll, and each senator responded as fol-

lows: Ayes— Messrs. Adams, Allen, Baker, Benedict, Bowen,
Ohatfield, Cock, Dickinson, Foster, G-raham, Harrower, Johnson.

Mr. Lewis— Mr. President : I asked to be excused from voting.

Upon the question whether the Senate had jurisdiction over this ques-

tion, I voted in the negative, believing that the governor had not

made the recommendation in the language of the constitution. But
thinking or believing that the accused judge can, if a majority of

the constitutional number vote in favor of removing him from office,

review our action upon this question, I am disposed to vote in the

afiirmative. If I should vote in the negative and it should turn out

that a majority of the Senate voted against it, and we should fail to

get the requisite number, if I am wrong upon this proposition, then

there would be no remedy. Having voted that he is guilty of all

the charges except the sixth, I withdraw my request to be excused

and vote aye.

Mr. LoED— Mr. President : From the evidence that I have had

presented to me since I have been in the Senate that it is the judg-

ment of the senators here who have sat through this trial and have
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heard all of the testimony, I feel that I have evidence enough to

warrant me in voting for the removal of Judge McCunn. I vote

aye.

Messrs. Lowery, McGowan, Madden, Murphy, Palmer, Perry,

Robertson, Tiemann, Wagner, Weismann, Winslow, D. P. Wood,
J. Wood, Woodin— 28.
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